Monica G. Turner Robert H. Gardner



Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice

Pattern and Process

Second Edition



Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice

MONICA G. TURNER

ROBERT H. GARDNER

LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY IN THEORY AND PRACTICE

Pattern and Process

Second Edition



MONICA G. TURNER University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Zoology Madison, WI, USA

ROBERT H. GARDNER University of Maryland Center for Environmental Science Frostburg, MD, USA

ISBN 978-1-4939-2793-7 ISBN 978-1-4939-2794-4 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2794-4

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015945952

Springer New York Heidelberg Dordrecht London

© Springer-Verlag New York 2015

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer Science+Business Media LLC New York is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

DEDICATION



Frank B. Golley: Scholar, Mentor, Friend

There are people whom we encounter in life who make a real difference. They may influence us as individuals by their encouragement and guidance; they may affect their community through their untiring commitment to service and the greater good; or they may influence an entire profession by their scholarship, leadership, and example. We dedicate this second edition of *Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice* to Frank B. Golley (1930–2006) who made a real difference in all of these ways. Frank spent most of his career at the University of Georgia and was Monica's graduate advisor. We marked his many accomplishments previously (see Turner et al. 2007, *Landscape Ecology* 22:1–3) but note here his service as founding editor of *Landscape Ecology*, president of the Ecological Society of America and the International Association for Ecology (INTECOL), and director of the Biological Sciences Directorate at the National Science Foundation. But beyond his many academic achievements and the lasting influence he had on the development of landscape ecology, Frank was a wonderful person, a mentor, and friend who touched both of us deeply. We would not be where we are today without him. We thank him for all that he gave of himself, and we still mourn his loss. Frank, this is for you.

Preface to the Second Edition

Heterogeneity, pattern, process, scale, and hierarchy are intrinsically interrelated concepts...key to the theory and practice of landscape ecology. Wu (2013)

The literature of landscape ecology has expanded tremendously since the first edition of *Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice* was finished in early 2000. Indeed, the number and diversity of published landscape studies is staggering. It is wonderful that the field has blossomed, but synthesizing the advancements and literature of landscape ecology has been a very daunting task. Nonetheless, we have tried to capture key developments in the field, but we also recognize that this goal will probably be met only partially. Despite a large bibliography with well over 1000 references cited, there was no way to include all studies. By necessity, our examples and citations are illustrative, not comprehensive.

How is the second edition organized, and in what ways does it differ from the first edition? The first two chapters set the stage. Chapter 1 (*Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale*) introduces the field of landscape ecology and reviews its intellectual foundations, and it now includes a basic introduction to scale concepts and terminology. Scale remains important, but we no longer felt it required a stand-alone chapter; however, scale issues infuse the rest of the book. Chapter 2 (*Causes of Landscape Pattern*) has been much enhanced. Treatment of multiple and contingent causation is much expanded, along with the challenges associated with forecasting future landscape patterns in the context of multiple changing drivers.

Landscape development and landscape legacies are also treated in greater depth, reflecting advances in understanding of how land-use history affects contemporary landscapes.

After setting the stage, three chapters deal with quantitative methods in landscape ecology. These analysis methods are key tools for scholars and practitioners in landscape ecology and the means to the end in many studies. Chapter 3 (*Introduction to Models*) focuses on simulation modeling, providing an overview of spatially explicit landscape models, which are used widely in landscape ecology. Chapter 3 also presents neutral landscape models (NLMs), which were instrumental in early quantitative studies of pattern–process relationships. Some readers (especially those who are new to spatial pattern analysis) may prefer to read Chaps. 4 and 5 *before* reading Chap. 3. Chapter 4 (*Landscape Metrics*) covers the range of landscape metrics used with categorical data, including metrics calculated for the entire landscape and by cover type or patch. This chapter has been updated to introduce some newer approaches, but as in the past, it emphasizes proper use and interpretation of metrics rather than exhaustive coverage. Chapter 5 (*Spatial Statistics*) is new and was needed because of substantial advances in methods for analyzing spatial dependence in continuous data, and their wide use.

With the foundation established and quantitative methods presented, the next three chapters deal with particular pattern-process relationships. All three chapters have been substantially revised and updated to reflect the growth of knowledge in these areas. Chapter 6 (*Disturbance Dynamics*) now includes new topics such as landscape epidemiology and disturbance interactions. Chapter 7 (*Organisms and Landscape Patterns*) was extended to cover interactions among species, community structure, species invasions, and landscape genetics. Each of these topics has seen tremendous progress in the past 15 years. Chapter 8, *Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes*) distinguishes between ecosystem processes characterized primarily by vertical fluxes and processes that represent lateral transfers.

The last two chapters consider applications and synthesis. Chapter 9 (*Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World*) deals with applications of landscape ecology and has been thoroughly revised. This chapter now considers landscape indicators, climate change, and landscape sustainability, in addition to an expanded treatment of land-use change and landscape scenarios. The final and relatively brief chapter (*Conclusions and Future Directions*) summarizes key lessons from landscape ecology and directions for future research.

Acknowledgements

Research that we have conducted over the past 15 years has contributed to the writing of this book. Turner especially acknowledges research funding in support of this effort from the National Science Foundation, including the Long-Term Ecological Research Program (Coweeta LTER: DEB-0823293 and North Temperate

Lakes LTER: DEB-0822700) and Water Sustainability and Climate Program (DEB-1038759); the Joint Fire Science Program (Grants 09-1-06-3, 09-3-01-47, 11-1-1-7); the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation; the Department of Zoology and Graduate School of the University of Wisconsin-Madison; and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.

Turner thanks all the students and postdocs who have been part of my lab for many spirited and fun discussions about landscape ecology; I learn so much from you. I especially thank my recent lab members Pete Blank, Dan Donato, Catherine Frock, Rose Graves, Winslow Hansen, Brian Harvey, Jiangxiao Qiu, Kevin Rose, Amy Uhrin, Tim Whitby, and Carly Ziter, not only for their input but also their understanding when I have absented myself to write. My ideas and understanding of landscape ecology have also benefitted from long-term collaborations with valued colleagues, especially Bill Romme and Scott Pearson, and the outstanding group of excellent ecologists at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. Graduate students in my Advanced Landscape Ecology course at UW-Madison have been a tremendous source of inspiration and new knowledge. I also thank Sarah Gergel for her hard work and perseverance to complete the second edition of *Learning Landscape Ecology*, which makes a great companion to this text and offers many options for hands-on learning of the approaches we describe here.

Gardner thanks the faculty, staff, and students of the Appalachian Laboratory for their generous support and enthusiasm during the development of this new edition. Special thanks are due Katia Engelhardt, Andrew Elmore, and Matt Fitzpatrick for stimulating discussions, collaboration, and assistance in teaching landscape ecology. None of this would be possible without the love and support of wife, Kim S. Gardner, and family. The University of Maryland Center for Environmental Science (UMCES) is a unique institution of which the Appalachian Laboratory is a part. Faculty and students of other UMCES labs, especially the Horn Point Laboratory and Chesapeake Biological Laboratory, provided a stimulating environment for vetting concepts and ideas with particular thanks to Michael Kemp and Walter Boynton who listened critically and freely offered new ideas. The direct support provided by the UMCES and by the National Science Foundation grant DEB 0841394 is greatly appreciated.

We also recognize Bob O'Neill for his contributions to the first edition and for many great years of collaborative research at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL). At the time when landscape ecology developed rapidly in North America, we were fortunate to have been a part of exciting collaborations with Bob and others at ORNL. We are grateful to Janet Slobodien, our editor at Springer, for her patience, as it has taken longer than anticipated to complete the book. Finally, we thank friends and colleagues for constructive comments on various chapters, including Inger Auestad, Pete Blank, Jeff Cardille, Cat Frock, Sarah Gergel, Rose Graves, Winslow Hansen, Brian Harvey, Stein Hegland, Marte Lilleeng, Jiangxiao Qiu, Dean Urban, and Carly Ziter. Comments from Brian Harvey improved the discussion questions that complete each chapter. Many other colleagues graciously shared digital photographs or figure files. As with the first edition, the graphics and illustrations for this book were prepared by Michael Turner. Producing the graphics was a major effort that required generating new figures and also updating formats and increasing resolution for all figures, and this consumed months of weekends. We thank him for enhancing the visual content of this book, bringing color and consistency into all of the illustrations, and improving communication of our content with his careful attention to aesthetics. Finally, we thank our families for their understanding of the many hours we have spent working on this revision over several years.

MONICA G. TURNER Madison, WI ROBERT H. GARDNER Santa Rosa, CA June 2015

Preface to the First Edition

Landscape ecology is not a distinct discipline or simply a branch of ecology, but rather is the synthetic intersection of many related disciplines that focus on the spatial-temporal pattern of the landscape. RISSER ET AL. (1984)

The emergence of landscape ecology as a discipline has catalyzed a shift in paradigms among ecologists, ... resource managers and land-use planners. Having now seen the faces of spatial pattern and scale ... we can never go back to the old ways of viewing things. WIENS (1999)

This book presents the perspective of three ecologists on the concepts and applications of landscape ecology—a discipline that has shown expansive growth during the past two decades. Although landscape ecology is a multidisciplinary subject involving components as diverse as economics and sociology, the earth sciences and geography, remote sensing and computer applications, we focus here on what ecologists need to know about landscapes.

Landscape ecology served as the integrating theme of our collaborative research for nearly 15 years, including a 7-year period during which we worked together at Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL). We became acquainted in January 1986 at the first annual United States Landscape Ecology symposium held at the University of Georgia and organized by Monica Turner and Frank Golley. Landscape ecology was, at that time, a new subject in the USA. The first US workshop on landscape ecology, organized by Paul Risser, Richard Forman, and Jim Karr, had occurred less than 3 years prior (Risser et al. 1984). One of us (O'Neill) was a participant in that workshop, and two of us (O'Neill and Gardner) were research scientists in the Environmental Sciences Division of Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) who had collaborated for several years on many aspects of ecosystem ecology and ecological modeling. Turner had a newly minted Ph.D. and was continuing as a postdoctoral research associate at the University of Georgia, where Frank Golley (also a participant at the 1983 workshop and Turner's Ph.D. advisor) was actively engaging his colleagues in the developing ideas in landscape ecology. The mutual interests shared by Turner, Gardner, and O'Neill, coupled with the excitement and challenge of working in a newly emerging branch of ecology, led to Turner's move to ORNL in July 1987. The subsequent 7 years in which we collaborated so closely were among the most exciting times that any of us have had in our careers. There are times and places at which creativity seems to be fostered more than others, and that time and place had it. The writing of this book was precipitated, in part, by the fact that although we are now located at different institutions, we shared the desire to provide a synthesis of the field in which we have worked so closely together.

As ecologists embraced the challenges of understanding spatial complexity, landscape ecology moved from being a tangential subdiscipline in the early 1980s to one that is now mainstream. Indeed, a landscape approach, or the landscape level, is now considered routinely in all types of ecological studies. It is our hope that this text will provide a synthetic overview of landscape ecology, including its development, the methods and techniques that are employed, the major questions addressed, and the insights that have been gained. The companion volume (Gergel and Turner 2000) provides opportunities for "hands on" learning of many of the methods and concepts employed by landscape ecologists. It is our hope that our books might serve to inspire others to embark on landscape ecological studies, for there is much yet to be learned. As we begin this new century, we look forward to the many contributions that landscape ecologists will make in the future and to the continued growth of this exciting discipline.

Acknowledgements

Research that we have conducted over the past 15 years and that lead to the development of this book has been funded by a variety of agencies, and we gratefully acknowledge research support from the National Science Foundation (Long-Term Ecological Research, Ecosystem Studies, and Ecology Programs), Department of Energy, USDA Competitive Grants Program, National Geographic Society, Environmental Protection Agency (EMAP and STAR programs), and the University of Wisconsin-Madison Graduate School. Our ideas have evolved over the years and been shaped by fruitful, and often spirited, discussions with many colleagues. Among the most memorable of these were discussions with Don DeAngelis, Jeff Klopatek, John Krummel, and George Sugihara in the "pre-landscape" years at ORNL that crystallized much of the philosophy and approach adopted in our research. Virginia Dale, Kim With, Scott Pearson, and Bill Romme have been regular collaborators as well as supportive friends. Although it is impossible to mention everyone at ORNL that contributed ideas and assisted us with their expertise, we would be remiss not to acknowledge the valuable contributions of Steve Bartell, Antoinette Brenkert, Carolyn Hunsaker, Tony King, and Robin Graham. While at Oak Ridge we hosted a number of visitors from other institutions, including Bill Romme, Linda Wallace, Bruce Milne, Tim Kratz, Sandra Lavorel, Tim Allen, Eric Gustafson, and Roy Plotnick. Those colleagues made substantial contributions to and lasting impacts on our ideas, and we thank them all for engaging interactions and fruitful collaborations.

Special thanks are due to Richard Forman, Frank Golley, and John Wiens for long-standing collegial relationships, the sharing of their ideas (and students!) that often challenged our thinking, and their invaluable reviews and critiques over the years. Turner also sincerely thanks Hazel Delcourt (University of Tennessee) and David Mladenoff (University of Wisconsin), with whom she has jointly taught landscape ecology courses over the past decade; co-teaching has been inspiring, fun, and has certainly helped shape her thinking.

This book benefited tremendously from valuable critical comments provided by numerous colleagues. We especially thank David Mladenoff and Sarah Gergel, who both read nearly the entire manuscript and provided constructive criticism that has been enormously helpful. David Mladenoff actually read the whole manuscript twice, and Turner especially thanks him for being such a good colleague. In addition, we are grateful to the following friends and colleagues for reviewing one or more chapters: Jeff Cardille, Steve Carpenter, F. S. (Terry) Chapin, Mark Dixon, Tony Ives, Dan Kashian, Jim Miller, Bill Romme, Tania Schoennagel, Steve Seagle, Emily Stanley, Dan Tinker, Phil Townsend, and Kim With. Comments on draft chapters from the students in "Principles of Landscape Ecology," taught at the University of Wisconsin-Madison during the spring 1999 semester, were also very helpful.

The graphics and illustrations for this book were prepared by Michael Turner, and we are indebted to him for greatly improving the visual communication of the concepts and examples in this book. We are delighted with the clarity and consistency of the figures throughout the text. We thank Kandis Elliot (University of Wisconsin) and Michael Mac (Biological Resources Division, U.S. Geological Survey) for sharing visual resources. Sandi Gardner and Sally Tinker provided valuable editorial assistance in the final stages of manuscript preparation. Finally, we thank the two editors with whom we worked at Springer-Verlag, initially Rob Garber and then Robin Smith, for their patience and support of this effort, especially given the time it has taken us to complete it.

> MONICA G. TURNER Madison, WI ROBERT H. GARDNER Frostburg, MD ROBERT V. O'NEILL Oak Ridge, TN January, 2000

Contents

Chapter 1 \sim Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale 1

What Is Landscape Ecology? 2 7 Roots of Landscape Ecology Intellectual Foundations of Landscape Ecology 10 Landscape Ecology Matures 14 Scale and Heterogeneity 15 Scale Terminology 17 Hierarchy Theory and Cross-Scale Interactions 20 Upscaling and Downscaling 25 Objectives of this Book 29 Summary 30 Discussion Questions 31 Further Reading 32

Chapter 2 ~ Causes of Landscape Pattern 33

Four Key Drivers of Landscape Pattern 36 *The Abiotic Template* 36 **Biotic Interactions** 44 Human Land Use 48 Disturbance and Succession -53 Landscape Legacies and the Role of History 55 Why Is It Still Difficult to Explain and Predict Landscape Change? 58 Multivariate Interacting Drivers 58 Thresholds and Nonlinearities 59 Social–Ecological Systems 59 Limited Ability to Perform Experiments 60 Summary 60 **Discussion** Questions 62 Further Reading 62

Chapter 3 \sim Introduction to Models 63

What Are Models and Why Do We Use Them? 64 What Is a Model? 64 Why Landscape Ecologists Need Models 64 Strategy for Developing Models 67 Define the Problem and Develop a Conceptual Model 67 Tactics for Making the Model Work 73 Neutral Landscape Models 75 Neutral Models in Ecology 76 Neutral Models in Landscape Ecology 77 Insights and Applications of NLMs 87 Summary 89 Discussion Questions 90 Appendix: Classification of Models 91 Further Reading 95

Chapter 4 \sim Landscape Metrics 97

Why Quantify Pattern? 98Data Used in Landscape Analyses 101A Comment on Spatial Data Accuracy 105

Caveats for Landscape Pattern Analysis, or "READ THIS FIRST" 105
#1 The Classification Scheme Is Critical 107
#2 Scale Matters and Must Be Defined 109
#3 A Patch Is Not a Patch 112
#4 Many Metrics Are Correlated with One Another
(and Thus Redundant) 114
#5 There Is No Single, Magic Metric 114
Metrics for Quantifying Landscape Pattern 115
Metrics of Landscape Composition 116
Measures of Spatial Configuration 117
Fractals 122
Measures of Landscape Texture 124
Measures of Landscape Connectivity 126
Landscape Metrics: What Is the State of the Science? 131
What Constitutes a "Significant" Difference in Landscape Pattern? 132
Making Sense Out of Multiple Metrics 134
Metrics and Landscape Indicators 138
Some Additional Practical Advice and Parting Words 139
Summary 140
Discussion Questions 141
Further Reading 142

CHAPTER 5 ~ SPATIAL STATISTICS 143

Why Do Landscape Ecologists Use Spatial Statistics? 145
Spatial Independence 146
Nature of Spatial Structure 147
Spatial Interpolation 148
Caveats for Using Spatial Statistics, or "READ THIS FIRST" 149
#1. The Spatial Dependence in Landscape Data Must
Be Characterized and Considered 149
#2. Spatial Autocorrelation Is Not Always a Problem 149
#3. Coincidence of Scales of Spatial Dependence Among Multiple
Variables Does Not Prove Causality 150
#4. Scale Always Matters 151
#5. Stationarity Is an Important Assumption in Many Spatial Statistical
Analyses 152
#6. Interpreting Spatial Statistics Is Both a Science and an Art 152

Point Pattern Analysis 153 Autocorrelation and Variography 155 Autocorrelation 156 Variography 160 Cross-Correlograms and Co-variograms 165 **Optimized Sampling Designs for Spatial Statistics** 166 Examples of Spatial Statistics in Landscape Ecology 168 Summary 172 Discussion Questions 174 Further Reading 174

Chapter 6 \sim Landscape Disturbance Dynamics 175

Disturbance and Disturbance Regimes 178 Effect of Landscape Heterogeneity on Disturbance 182 Landscape Position and Vulnerability to Disturbance 182 *Effect of Landscape Heterogeneity on the Spread of Disturbance* 187 Effects of Disturbance on Landscape Heterogeneity 202 *The Disturbance-Generated Mosaic* 2.02 Disturbance and Spatial Patterns of Succession 209 Integrating Disturbance and Succession in Space and Time 213 Modeling Disturbance and Succession 213 Disturbance and the Historic Range of Variability 214 Concepts of Landscape Equilibrium 216 Looking Ahead: Interacting Disturbances and Changing Disturbance Regimes 221 Compound and Linked Disturbances 222 *Changes in Climate and Disturbance Regimes* 223 Summary 226 Discussion Questions 227 Further Reading 228

CHAPTER 7 ~ ORGANISMS AND LANDSCAPE PATTERN 229

Conceptual Development of Organism–Space Interactions 232 What Is Habitat? 237 Behavioral Landscape Ecology 242 Scale Matters 243 Effects of Organisms on Landscape Heterogeneity 248 Response of Organisms to Landscape Heterogeneity 251 General Insights, from Patch to Landscape 251 Landscape Heterogeneity and Species Interactions 264 Predator–Prey Interactions 264 Natural Enemies and Pollination in Agricultural Landscapes 268 Community Structure 270 Landscape Ecology of Species Invasions 274 Landscape Genetics 277 Summary 281 Discussion Questions 284 Further Reading 284

Chapter 8 ~ Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes 287

Conceptual Frameworks: Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes 289 Theoretical Development 289 A Practical Framework 291 Point Processes (Vertical Fluxes) 293 Biomass, Net Primary Production, and Carbon 293 Landscape Biogeochemistry 303 Landscape Limnology 308 Lateral Fluxes (Horizontal Transport) 311 Redistribution of Litter and Organic Matter 312 Nutrient Loading to Aquatic Ecosystems 313 Mobile Animals and Species Interactions 322 State of the Science: Challenges and Opportunities 326 Summary 329 Discussion Questions 330 Further Reading 332

Chapter 9 ~ Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World 333

Landscape Indicators 334 Climate Change 342 *Migration in Response to Climate Change 345*

Climate Effects on Disturbances 347 Land-Use Change and Landscape Scenarios 347 Landscape Scenarios 353 Land Use: Synthesis 362 Ecosystem Services and Landscape Sustainability 364 Landscape Heterogeneity and Ecosystem Services 366 Interactions Among Ecosystem Services 369 Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity 372 Ecosystem Services: Synthesis 373 Summary 376 Parting Comments 378 Discussion Questions 380 Further Reading 381

CHAPTER 10 ~ CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS 383

What Has Been Learned from Landscape Ecology? 384
Future Directions 386
Future Directions Revisited from the First Edition 386
Looking Ahead 388
Training the Next Generation of Landscape Ecologists 392
Conclusion 394
Discussion Questions 395
Further Reading 395

REFERENCES 397

INDEX 467

INTRODUCTION TO LANDSCAPE Ecology and Scale

andscape ecology focuses on the relationships between spatial pattern and ecological processes. From its emergence as a coherent area of research and application in the 1980s, the concepts, theory, and methods of landscape ecology have matured. Its central themes have been widely embraced and assimilated in many branches of ecology. Some authors (e.g., Wiens 2002) have even suggested that landscape ecology catalyzed a paradigm shift in ecology. Whether or not such a shift occurred (sensu Kuhn 1996) has been a great topic for spirited discussion, but there is no doubt that landscape ecology has influenced the way scientists and managers think about the environment. Interest in landscape studies remains fueled by many factors, especially the critical need to understand the rapid, broad scale, and profound changes that are happening all around us.

Most of us have an intuitive sense of the term "landscape"; we think of the expanse of land and water that we observe from a prominent point, and distinguish between agricultural and urban landscapes, lowland and mountainous landscapes, natural and developed landscapes. Any of us could list components of these landscapes—for example, farms, fields, forests, wetlands, and the like. If we have considered how organisms other than humans may see "their" landscape, our own sense of landscape may be broadened to encompass components relevant to a

LANDSCAPEhoneybee, beetle, vole, or bison. In all cases, our intuitive sense includes a varietyECOLOGY INof different elements that comprise the landscape, change through time, and influence ecological dynamics. In his 1983 editorial in *BioScience*, Richard T. T. FormanTHEORY ANDused tangible examples to bring these ideas to the attention of ecologists:

PRACTICE

What do the following have in common? Dust-bowl sediments from the western plains bury eastern prairies, introduced species run rampant through native ecosystems, habitat destruction upriver causes widespread flooding down river, and acid rain originating from distant emissions wipes out Canadian fish. Or closer to home: a forest showers an adjacent pasture with seed, fire from a fire-prone ecosystem sweeps through a residential area, wetland drainage decimates nearby wildlife populations, and heat from a surrounding desert desiccates an oasis. In each case, two or more ecosystems are linked and interacting. (Forman 1983)

In this chapter, we define landscape ecology, briefly review its intellectual roots, introduce key concepts related to scale, and present an overview of the remainder of the book. In addition, some commonly used terms in landscape ecology are defined in Table 1.1.

○ WHAT IS LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY?

Landscape ecology emphasizes the interaction between spatial pattern and ecological process—that is, the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity across a range of scales. The term "landscape ecology" was introduced by the German biogeographer Carl Troll (1939), arising from the European traditions of regional geography and vegetation science and motivated particularly by the novel perspective offered by aerial photography. Landscape ecology essentially combined the spatial approach of the geographer with the functional approach of the ecologist (Naveh and Lieberman 1984; Forman and Godron 1986). During the past three decades, the focus of landscape ecology has been defined in various ways:

Landscape ecology...focuses on (1) the spatial relationships among landscape elements, or ecosystems, (2) the flows of energy, mineral nutrients, and species among the elements, and (3) the ecological dynamics of the landscape mosaic through time. (Forman 1983)

Landscape ecology focuses explicitly upon spatial patterns. Specifically, landscape ecology considers the development and dynamics of spatial heterogeneity, spatial and temporal interactions and exchanges across heterogeneous landscape, influences of spatial heterogeneity on biotic and abiotic processes, and management of spatial heterogeneity. (Risser et al. 1984)

TABLE 1.1.Definition of commonly used terms in landscape ecology (adapted andexpanded from Forman 1995).

Introduction

to Landscape

Term	Definition	Ecology
Composition	What and how much is present of each habitat or cover type	and Scale
Configuration	A specific arrangement of spatial elements; often used synonymously with spatial structure or patch structure	
Connectivity	The spatial continuity of a habitat or cover type across a landscape	
Corridor	A relatively narrow strip of a particular type that differs from the areas adjacent on both sides	
Cover type	Category within a classification scheme defined by the user that distinguishes among the different habitats, ecosystems, or vegetation types on a landscape	
Edge	The portion of an ecosystem or cover type near its perimeter, and within which environmental conditions may differ from interior locations in the ecosystem; also used as a measure of the length of adjacency between cover types on a landscape	
Fragmentation	The breaking up of a habitat or cover type into smaller, disconnected parcels; often associated with, but not equivalent to, habitat loss	
Heterogeneity	The quality or state of consisting of dissimilar elements, as with mixed habitats or cover types occurring on a landscape; opposite of homogeneity, in which elements are the same	
Landscape	An area that is spatially heterogeneous in at least one factor of interest	
Matrix	The background cover type(s) in a landscape, characterized by extensive cover and high connectivity; not all landscapes have a definable matrix	
Patch	A surface area that differs from its surroundings in nature or appearance	
Scale	Spatial or temporal dimension of an object or process, characterized by both grain and extent	

Landscape ecology is motivated by a need to understand the development and dynamics of pattern in ecological phenomena, the role of disturbance in ecosystems, and characteristic spatial and temporal scales of ecological events.— (Urban et al. 1987)

Landscape ecology emphasizes broad spatial scales and the ecological effects of the spatial patterning of ecosystems.—(Turner 1989)

 LANDSCAPE
 Landscape ecology deals with the effects of the spatial configuration of mosaics on a wide variety of ecological phenomena. (Wiens et al. 1993)

 ECOLOGY IN
 Landscape ecology is the study of the reciprocal effects of spatial pattern on ecological processes; it promotes the development of models and theories of spatial relationships, the collection of new types of data on spatial pattern and dynamics, and the examination of spatial scales rarely addressed in ecology. (Pickett and Cadenasso 1995)

Collectively, this set of definitions clearly emphasizes two important aspects of landscape ecology that distinguish it from other subdisciplines within ecology. First, landscape ecology explicitly addresses the importance of spatial configuration for ecological processes. Not only is landscape ecology concerned with how much there is of a particular component, it also considers how it is arranged. The underlying premise of landscape ecology is that the explicit composition and spatial form of a landscape mosaic affect ecological systems in ways that would be different if the mosaic composition or arrangement were different (Wiens 1995). Previously, most ecological understanding had implicitly assumed an ability to average or extrapolate over spatially homogenous areas. Ecological studies often attempted to achieve a predictive knowledge about a particular type of system, such as a salt marsh or forest stand, without consideration of its size or position in a broader mosaic. Considered in this way, with its emphasis on spatial heterogeneity, landscape ecology is applied across a wide range of scales (Fig. 1.1). Studies might address the response of a beetle to the patch structure of its environment within square meters (e.g., With et al. 1999), the influence of topography and vegetation patterns on ungulate habitat use at multiple scales (e.g., Boyce et al. 2003), or the effects of land-use arrangements on nutrient dynamics in a watershed (e.g., Strayer et al. 2003b).

Second, *landscape ecology often focuses upon spatial extents that are much larger than those traditionally studied in ecology*—often, the "landscape" as seen by a human observer (Fig. 1.2). In this sense, landscape ecology addresses many different kinds of ecological dynamics across large areas such as the Southern Appalachian Mountains, the Mongolian steppe, Yellowstone National Park, the Mediterranean region, or rainforests of Brazil. However, it is important to note that although these areas are typically larger than those used in most community-or ecosystem-level studies, the spatial scales are not absolutes. We deal with issues of scale later in this chapter and throughout this book, but suffice it to say here that landscape ecology does not define, a priori, specific spatial scales that may be universally applied. Rather, the emphasis in landscape ecology is to identify scales that best characterize relationships between spatial heterogeneity and the processes or response variables of interest. These two aspects—explicit treatment of spatial heterogeneity and a focus on broad spatial scales—are not mutually exclusive and encompass much of the breadth of landscape ecology.



FIGURE 1.1.

Photos illustrating the concept of landscape as a spatial mosaic at various spatial scales. (a) An example of a microlandscape, or landscape complexity from the perspective of a grasshopper. Grass cover is *Bouteloua gracilis* and *Buchloe dactyloides*, and vegetation cover in the ~4 m² microlandscape is occasionally disrupted by bare ground. Photo by Kimberly A. With. (b) Set of experimental microlandscapes used to explore relative effects of habitat abundance and fragmentation on arthropod communities in an agroecosystem. System consists of a replicated series of 12 plots (each 16 m²) that vary in habitat abundance and spatial contagion based on fractal neutral landscape models (With et al. 1999). Photo by Kimberly A. With. (c) Clones of Gambel oak (*Quercus gambelii*) in Colorado illustrating heterogeneity within approximately 1 km². Photo by Sally A. Tinker. (d) Aerial view of a muskeg and string bog landscape, Alaska. Photo by John A. Wiens.

The role of humans, obviously a dominant influence on landscape patterns worldwide, is sometimes considered an important component of the definition of landscape ecology. Landscape ecology is sometimes considered to be an interdisciplinary science dealing with the interrelation between human society and its living space—its open and built-up landscapes (Naveh and Lieberman 1984). Indeed, in the landscape ecology approaches characteristic of China, Europe, and the Mediterranean region, human activity is perhaps the central factor in landscape



FIGURE 1.2.

Photos illustrating different types of landscapes across relatively large areas in the western United States:
(a) An undeveloped mountainous landscape in the Front Range of Colorado, USA. Photo by Monica
G. Turner. (b) Landscape mosaic of forest and agricultural land, south of Santiago, Chile. Photo by John
A. Wiens. (c) Urbanizing landscape outside Denver, Colorado. Photo by John A. Wiens. (d) Aerial view of clear-cuts in a coniferous (lodgepole pine, *Pinus contorta*) landscape, Targhee National Forest, Idaho.
Postharvest slash piles scheduled for burning can be seen in the clear-cuts. Photo by Dennis H. Knight.

ecological studies (e.g., Fu and Lu 2006; Pedroli et al. 2006). Landscape ecology draws from a variety of disciplines, many of which emphasize social sciences, including geography, landscape architecture, regional planning, economics, and forestry. The role of humans in shaping and responding to landscapes will be considered in many ways throughout this book. For the sake of generality, however, we do not think it necessary to include a human component explicitly in the definition of landscape ecology. Humans clearly create and respond to spatial heterogeneity, and the importance of spatial heterogeneity in linked social–ecological systems is considered throughout this book, along with the importance of landscape ecology for land management and land-use planning. What, then, is a landscape? We retain a general definition that does not require an absolute scale: *a landscape is an area that is spatially heterogeneous in at least one factor of interest*. Although at the human scale we may observe "a kilometerswide mosaic over which local ecosystems recur" (Forman 1995), landscape ecology also may deal with "landscapes" that extend over tens of meters rather than kilometers. And despite the "land" in landscape, the concepts of landscape ecology certainly are not restricted to terrestrial settings. Landscapes include aquatic elements and have been defined in freshwater, marine, and benthic systems (e.g., Teixido et al. 2002; Boström et al. 2006; Newton et al. 2008). In addition, one might observe a landscape represented by a gradient across which ecosystems vary but do not necessarily repeat. The above definition is general and flexible, emphasizing the central focus of landscape ecology on the effects of spatial heterogeneity of pattern and process on ecosystem dynamics.

→ ROOTS OF LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY

Although landscape ecology became more prominent in North America, Australia, and China beginning in the early 1980s, it did not begin de novo at that time but drew upon a rich history established on other continents. The first roots of landscape ecology were in Central and Eastern Europe where biogeographers viewed the landscape through the lens of the human living space, implicitly integrating the environment, the biota, and the human-created components of an area (Naveh and Lieberman 1984). Troll, who coined the term "landscape ecology," studied biology and then became a geographer. He was impressed by the ecosystem concept as defined by Tansley (1935) and fascinated by the comprehensive view of landscape units depicted on aerial photographs (Zonneveld 1990; Schreiber 1990). He viewed landscape ecology not as a new science, but as a special viewpoint for understanding complex natural phenomena (Schreiber 1990). Rather than taking a narrow view, Troll was remarkably inclusive in his perspective: "...we prefer to speak only of landscape ecology, whereby it can remain open whether this includes only the functional interrelations of the natural landscape or also includes the functional connection of human interferences in the cultural landscape" (Troll 1950, translated in Wiens et al. 2007). At about the same time, the Russian scientist Sukachef (1944, 1945) developed the very similar concept of a biogeocoenology, and the British ecologist Watt (1947) laid the foundation of spatial ecology within vegetation science. We strongly urge readers to consult FOUNDATION PAPERS IN LANDSCAPE ECOLOGYY (Wiens et al. 2007), which compiled many of the key primary papers that influenced the early development of landscape ecology in one volume. It is important to understand the foundations upon which any field has been built, and the Wiens et al. edited book provides explanations and commentary along with reproductions of the original papers.

Introduction

to Landscape

Ecology

and Scale

Landscape ecology gained wider acceptance and appreciation in the Germanspeaking countries of Europe throughout the 1950s and 1960s, and it became closely linked with land planning and landscape architecture (Schreiber 1990; Ruzicka and Miklos 1990; Haber 1990; Zonneveld 1995). There was a strong emphasis on land evaluation, classification, and mapping as the basis from which land-use recommendations could be developed. A Society of Landscape Ecology was founded in The Netherlands in 1972; its members included a wide variety of scientists and practitioners whose concerns ranged from conservation to planning (Zonneveld 1982, 1995). The major literature of landscape ecology from its inception until the early 1980s was predominantly in German and Dutch.

Despite the development of landscape ecology in Europe, the term was virtually absent from North American literature in the mid-1970s (Naveh and Lieberman 1984). A handful of scientists from North America began attending European symposia and workshops on landscape ecology in the early 1980s (Forman 1990) and disseminating these new ideas. Several influential publications in the early 1980s helped to introduce the developing field of landscape ecology to English-speaking scientists. Forman and Godron's (1981) article in BioScience asked whether the landscape was a recognizable and useful unit in ecology and provided a set of terms, such as patch, corridor, and matrix, which remain within the common parlance of landscape ecology. Naveh, an ecologist who focused on vegetation science, fire ecology, and landscape restoration, largely in Mediterranean climates, published a review that laid out a conceptual basis for landscape ecology (Naveh 1982); his writing emphasized the integral relationship between humans and the landscape and the importance of a systems approach. These ideas were developed further as a book (Naveh and Lieberman 1984) that delved into both concepts and applications of landscape ecology, and stimulated much discussion among ecologists. Forman's (1983) editorial in *BioScience*, from which we quoted earlier, identified landscape ecology as the candidate idea for the decade, with a richness of empirical study, emergent theory, and applications lying ahead. And although not part of the infusion of ideas from Europe to North America, Romme's study of fire history in Yellowstone National Park, USA (Romme 1982; Romme and Knight 1982) offered a breakthrough in the development of new metrics to quantify changes in the landscape through time.

Two pivotal meetings in the early 1980s helped define the scope of contemporary landscape ecology. A 1983 workshop held at Allerton Park, Illinois, brought together a group of North American ecologists to explore the ideas and potential of landscape ecology concepts (Risser et al. 1984). This meeting came soon after an influential meeting in The Netherlands that drew together landscape ecologists in Europe (Tjallingii and de Veer 1982), and it represented the coalescence of several independent lines of research in the United States. The report that emerged from the workshop (Risser et al. 1984) and subsequent reflections about its influence (Risser 1995; Wiens 2008) still make for good reading. Furthermore, themes discussed at that meeting included topics (e.g., heterogeneity, scale, dynamics, management) that still remain current (Table 1.2). In many respects, a focused

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

search for principles governing the interaction of pattern and process at the landscape scale began at these two meetings. The emphasis of landscape ecology in North America has been somewhat different from Europe, where the association with land planning is so much closer and the landscape more intensively managed. However, landscape ecology still acknowledges its intellectual roots that extend back many decades (Wiens et al. 2007) with questions that continue to revolve around the effects of spatial patterns on ecosystem processes (Wiens 1995). Next we highlight several of the important precursors to the concepts of landscape ecology because of the importance of appreciating the roots of the discipline.

Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale

TABLE 1.2.

Research foci in landscape ecology have changed over time, but commonalities remain in the focus on the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity.

Areas of research emphasis	
Relationship of landscape heterogeneity to fluxes of organisms, material, and energy	
Historical and present processes that form landscape pattern	
Effect of landscape heterogeneity on spread of disturbance	
Role of landscape ecology in natural resource management	
Ecological flows in landscape mosaics	
Causes, processes, and consequences of land-use and land-cover change	
Nonlinear dynamics and landscape complexity	
Scaling	
Methodological advances	
Relating landscape metrics to ecological processes	
Integrating humans and their activities into landscape ecology	
Optimization of landscape pattern	
Landscape conservation and sustainability	
Data acquisition and accuracy assessment	
Interactions: among multiple drivers, especially biophysical and socioeconomic; disturbances; scales; trophic levels	
Spatial nonlinearities, thresholds, and spatial extrapolation	
Ecosystem processes in heterogeneous landscapes	
Expanding the temporal horizons	

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Intellectual Foundations of Landscape Ecology

PHYTOSOCIOLOGY AND BIOGEOGRAPHY

Phytosociologists in Europe and the United States had long studied the spatial distribution of major plant associations (Braun-Blanquet 1932), even going back to the observations of von Humbold (1807) and Warming (1925). For example, it was well known that vegetation distributions in space responded to the north-south gradient of temperature combined with an east-west gradient of moisture. Vegetation pattern was further determined by topographic gradients in moisture, temperature, soils, and exposure. Thus, at broad scales, it was well established that ecological systems interacted with spatially distributed environmental factors to form distinct patterns.

Gradient analysis, an approach similar to the European phytosociology methods, developed in the US as a means for explaining vegetation patterns; Robert Whittaker's analysis of communities in the Great Smoky Mountains (southeastern USA) provides an excellent example (e.g., Whittaker 1952, 1956). In these mountains, distinct vegetation patterns have formed with elevation, due to temperature, and with exposure, due to moisture. In a classic analysis, Whittaker was able to decipher the environmental signals creating the pattern. The complex vegetation system was arrayed on a vertical axis of elevation and a horizontal axis representing exposure from moist sites (mesic) to dry, exposed sites (xeric) (Fig. 1.3). This simple two-dimensional diagram permits one to predict the vegetation type at any spatial location on the landscape based upon its elevation and exposure; such relationships remain quite useful (e.g., Bolstad et al. 1998). Although methods for predicting species distributions are now very sophisticated (e.g., Guisan and Zimmerman 2000; Guisan and Thuiller 2005), the influence of environmental gradients is usually incorporated. Interest in how species and communities may shift with continued global warming has renewed interest in developing and evaluating such approaches.

One line of theory was particularly influential in the development of landscape ecology: island biogeography, the analogy between patches of natural vegetation and oceanic islands. The British biogeographer Lack (1942) had early observed that smaller and more remote offshore islands had fewer bird species. From this, and similar observations, MacArthur and Wilson (1963, 1967) developed a general theory of island biogeography. The theory has two basic parts: (1) the probability of a species reaching an island is inversely proportional to the distance between the island and the source (mainland or source patch) and directly proportional to island size, and (2) the probability of extinction of a species on the invaded island is a function of island size. John Curtis, a Wisconsin plant ecologist, documented human modification of landscapes in the upper Midwest, USA, that produced "islands" of remnant forest and grassland in a "sea" of agriculture (Curtis 1956). Efforts in landscape biogeography that assessed population and community



FIGURE 1.3.

(a) Topographic distribution of vegetation types on an idealized west-facing mountain and valley in the Great Smoky Mountains. Vegetation types are: *BG* beech gap, CF cove forest, F fraser fir, G grassy balk, H hemlock forest, HB heath baldm, OCF chestnut oak-chestnut forest, OCH chestnut-oak–chestnut heath, OH oak-hickory forest, P pine forest and pine heath, ROC red oak-chestnut oak, S spruce, SF spruce-fir, WOC white oak-chestnut forest. (b) Vegetation of the Great Smoky Mountains, below the subalpine conifer forests, with respect to gradients of elevation and topography.

Adapted from Whittaker (1956).

b



LANDSCAPE responses to fragmented landscapes owe much to this body of theory, although metapopulation models (Hanski 1998) have largely replaced island biogeography ECOLOGY IN models as the theoretical framework within which issues of habitat fragmentation THEORY AND are considered (Baguette and Mennechez 2004). Some authors (e.g., Haila 2002) suggested that island biogeography acted as an "intellectual attractor" that constrained thinking about habitat fragments. As the ideas were increasingly applied to terrestrial habitat fragments, it became apparent that features not considered within island biogeography could be as or more important than fragment size and distance from a source population. Thus, contemporary studies of habitat fragmentation often consider changes in community composition and ecosystem properties over time, edge effects as possible drivers of local extinction, connections between habitat fragments, and the quality of the matrix that surrounds habitat fragments (e.g., Laurance 2008; Damschen et al. 2008; Collinge 2009; Thornton et al. 2011).

Spatial Pattern and Theoretical Ecology

A number of early theoretical population studies considered the interaction between spatial patterning and ecological dynamics for terrestrial (Clark et al. 1978, 1979; Johnson et al. 1992) and aquatic (Steele 1974a; Harris 1998) ecosystems. These studies demonstrated that population interactions are sometimes stabilized by the heterogeneous arrangement of ecological resources (e.g., Reddingius and Den Boer 1970; Hastings 1977; Scheffer and Boer 1995; Roff 1974). At the same time, ecological processes alone can generate complex patterns when resource patterns are homogeneous (Dubois 1975; McLaughlin and Roughgarden 1991; Molofsky 1994). The conclusion drawn by Clark (1980) was that management practices that reduce the spatial heterogeneity of resources may threaten the long-term persistence of ecological systems.

Spatial dynamics predicted by population theory were verified by the classic experiments of Huffaker (Huffaker 1958; Huffaker et al. 1963) who studied the interactions of frugivores and predatory mites in experimentally manipulated arrays of oranges. The oranges provided food for the fructivorous mites that, in turn, were consumed by predatory mites. Spatial manipulation of the oranges could shift dynamics between unstable (oranges placed close together allowing predators to locate and eliminate all prey) and stable (oranges formed into patches preventing predators from locating and eliminating all prey). These experiments provided convincing evidence that spatial relationships were essential if population dynamics were to be understood-a central theme of the work of Andrewartha and Birch (1954). Other studies combining theoretical and empirical approaches also demonstrated that population interactions such as competition could produce patchiness in species distributions, even in the presence of a homogenous template (Okubo 1974; Segal and Levin 1976; Yamamura 1976).

PRACTICE

Increased interest in spatial effects led to a series of theoretical studies exploring the biotic (Sprugel 1976) and abiotic (Levin and Paine 1974a, b) template that creates pattern. Levin (1976a) provided an excellent summary, identifying three essential factors: (1) local uniqueness of sites on the landscape caused by variations in microhabitat, soils, etc.; (2) phase differences, such that different points on the landscape are at different stages of recovery from localized disturbances; and (3) dispersal effects in which differential movement by organisms across landscapes leads to patchiness (e.g., Criminale and Winter 1974).

The interplay between spatial heterogeneity with species-specific patterns of dispersal was extensively studied (e.g., Levins 1970; Bradford and Philip 1970; Levins and Culver 1971; Kareiva 1990) and laid the foundation for numerous studies that assessed the effect of landscape heterogeneity on organism movement. Because the spatial pattern of resources provides refuges (Comins and Blatt 1974) that permit individuals to escape unfavorable conditions, the degree to which heterogeneity stabilizes relationships will depend on the relative dispersal ability of predator and prey (Vandermeer 1973; Taylor 1990) and differences in their reproductive rates (Hilborn 1975). The ability to disperse over a gradually changing environment can allow a population to survive extreme conditions (Roff 1974; Hamilton and May 1977). The conclusion from these studies seems clear: spatial pattern can affect both the stability (Jones 1975) and size of populations (Steele 1974b) with population dispersal enhancing persistence by spreading resource utilization over space and time (Myers 1976).

GEOGRAPHIC SCIENCES

The relevance for landscape ecology of concepts developed in geography has always been apparent (e.g., Meentemeyer and Box 1987). The geographic sciences also made rapid developments in landscape ecology possible through the geographic information sciences (i.e., GIScience) and the methods for management and analysis of spatial data. Although technology does not drive science, advances in geographic information systems (GIS) and remote sensing certainly opened new doors of inquiry. We now have the ability to observe, quantify, and efficiently answer questions about spatial patterns over large areas. Satellite imagery, which first became available (though expensive) in the late 1970s, is now relatively inexpensive and widely available. Although Newton et al. (2009) suggested that landscape ecologists were relatively slow to recognize the full potential of the rapidly evolving remote sensing technologies, the analysis of remote imagery has become an essential element in many landscape studies. Software developments (e.g., GIS and image analysis programs, spatial statistics, etc.) now provide the means to display, superimpose, and analyze spatial patterns. These analytical tools, and the geographer's experience in handling large spatial databases, collectively have been a stimulus and a critical resource for landscape ecologists.

13

Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale

LANDSCAPE LANDSCAPE PLANNING, DESIGN, AND MANAGEMENT

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

The relationship between human societies and landscape change has been a fundamental concern of ecologists in Europe since the inception of landscape ecology (see Naveh 1982). Indeed, the history of human-induced change is clearly apparent throughout Europe, with roads and viaducts constructed during the Roman Empire still visible in many areas. The initial emphasis of landscape ecological studies in North American was on relatively undisturbed systems (Risser et al. 1984), even though the effects of humans on landscapes have been evident for more than 140 years (Marsh 1864 as cited by Turner and Meyer 1993). The accelerating rate and consequences of landscape change are prompting greater similarity in the North American and European perspectives. A number of authors anticipated the need to integrate ecological studies with landscape planning, developing methods of map overlay (a precursor to current GIS methods) (McHarg 1969); an overview of the effects of ecosystem fragmentation in human-dominated landscapes edited by Burgess and Sharpe (1981); and the development of concepts of adaptive management by Holling (1978).

The goals of landscape planning, design, and management include the identification and protection of ecological resources and control of their use through plans that ensure the sustainability of these resources (Fabos 1985). Consequently, landscape planning is a primary basis for collaboration and knowledge exchange between planners and landscape ecologists (Ahern 1999; Opdam et al. 2001; Nassauer and Corry 2004). Some of the best early examples of the integration of landscape planning, design, and management were found in The Netherlands, where a national plan for a sustainable landscape was implemented (Vos and Opdam 1993). Designing extensive ecological networks for conserving different taxa has also been an important component of land planning across Europe (e.g., Bruinderink et al. 2003). In North America, early examples included plans for ecosystem management of crown forests in Ontario, Canada (Perera et al. 2006) and studies aimed at conservation design (Ando et al., 1998; Diamond and May 1976; Mladenoff et al. 1994). Managing landscapes to meet conservation goals will continue to be necessary (Cumming 2007; Lindenmayer et al. 2008) if ecological resources are to be preserved. Land-change science, which seeks to understand the processes of land-use/land-cover change to inform sustainability science (Turner and Robbins 2008), provides another area of research and application that shares much common ground with landscape ecology and aligns with many issues of land planning and management.

Landscape Ecology Matures

When landscape ecology emerged as a coherent science in the mid-1980s, ideas about the ecological importance of spatial heterogeneity and the importance of

studying ecological patterns and processes over large regions were far ahead of empirical studies. This remained true for many years because remotely sensed data were initially scarce, expensive, and difficult to manipulate; spatial data in digital form were not readily available; computing capacity was much more limiting; and attitudes within scientific and resource management communities about these "newfangled" ideas were skeptical (and sometimes even hostile). Now, three decades later, the "landscape" of landscape ecology is vastly different, even as the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity remain at the heart of the discipline (Table 1.2). The journal *Landscape Ecology* has been publishing since 1987; publications related to landscape ecology continue to increase and include syntheses (e.g., Fortin and Agrawal 2005); and in 2010, the US chapter of the International Association for Landscape Ecology hosted its 25th annual landscape ecology symposium. There is a well-developed body of concepts, sophisticated analysis methods and spatial models, numerous empirical studies, and a widespread recognition that spatial pattern matters. The ideas and approaches of landscape ecology have been widely assimilated within ecology and environmental science, writ large. Experimental studies have even been conducted at broad scales (e.g., Lindenmayer 2009). The remainder of this book provides a synthesis of the state of the science, but we first introduce terminology and key concepts associated with scale in landscape ecology to set the stage for subsequent chapters.

Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale

SCALE AND HETEROGENEITY

Understanding the issues associated with scale is essential in landscape ecology. The importance of scale became widely recognized in ecology only in the 1980s, despite a long history of attention to the effect of quadrat size on measurements and recognition of species/area relationships (Pielou 1969; Arrhenius 1921). The development and spirited discussions of conceptual frameworks that defined the issues of scale (Allen and Starr 1982; Delcourt et al. 1983; O'Neill et al. 1986; Allen and Hoekstra 1992) stimulated ecologists to reconsider how patterns and processes can change with space and time. It quickly became clear that no single set of dimensions in time and space were appropriate for the study of all ecological problems: Some problems required a focus on an individual organism and its physiological response to local conditions (Schreiber and Lloyd-Smith 2009), while other problems required a broad spatial scope to study how species distributions change with time (Guisan and Thuiller 2005). As landscape ecologists began to manipulate spatial data, conduct studies over a spectrum of scales, and develop spatial models, the profound effects of scale on landscape pattern and process simply could not be ignored.
LANDSCAPENearly all ecologists now recognize that "scale" is a critical concept in the physical and natural sciences. In his MacArthur Award Address to the Ecological Society
of America, Simon Levin noted "the problem of relating phenomena across scales
is the central problem in biology and in all of science" (Levin 1992). Elsewhere in
his address, Levin (1992) statedPRACTICENearly all ecologists now recognize that "scale" is a critical concept in the physical and natural sciences. In his MacArthur Award Address to the Ecological Society
of America, Simon Levin noted "the problem of relating phenomena across scales
is the central problem in biology and in all of science" (Levin 1992). Elsewhere in
his address, Levin (1992) stated

...we must find ways to quantify patterns of variability in space and time, to understand how patterns change with scale, and to understand the causes and consequences of pattern. This is a daunting task that must involve remote sensing, spatial statistics, and other methods to quantify pattern at broad scales; theoretical work to suggest mechanisms and explore relationships; and experimental work, carried out both at fine scales and through whole system manipulations, to test hypotheses.

As ecologists began addressing broad-scale questions, they also began to see the implications of selecting scales for research. Researchers became aware that the overall extent of the area studied would affect the numerical result or pattern obtained, and seemingly disparate results from different studies might be due to differences in the scales at which they were conducted. While understanding change in pattern with scale had strong historical roots (Greg-Smith 1952), the expanded application of the scale concept in the design and interpretation of surveys, comparative studies, and controlled experiments was new (Schneider 1994). Ecologists also realized that scales important to humans were not necessarily relevant for other organisms or ecological processes, and biological interactions occur at multiple scales (Wiens 1989). This increased focus on scale is an enduring change in how ecological research is pursued (Schneider 1998; Wu et al. 2006).

Three important publications laid the foundation for the treatment of scale in ecology. First, Allen and Starr's (1982) book on hierarchy theory laid out novel ways of considering scale that emerged from general systems theory and instigated tremendous discussion in all branches of ecology. Second, the Delcourt et al. (1983) article on scales of vegetation dynamics in space and time synthesized paleoecological changes in landscapes and graphically presented the positive correlation of spatial and temporal scales as a time–space state space that has been widely used (Fig. 1.4). Third, the book by O'Neill et al. (1986) reviewed the concept of an ecosystem, then proposed a hierarchical framework for ecosystems. In addition to these ecological studies, the new mathematical theory of fractals (Mandelbrot 1983) provided insights into the complicated patterns often seen in nature and offered novel approaches to extrapolate observations from one scale to another. Collectively, these events and insights engendered an appreciation for concepts of scale and a mandate to better understand its effects in ecology.



FIGURE 1.4.

Space-time hierarchy diagram proposed by Delcourt et al. (1983). Environmental disturbance regimes, biotic responses, and vegetational patterns are depicted in the context of space-time domains in which the scale for each process or pattern reflects the sampling intervals required to observe it. The time scale for the vegetation patterns is the time interval required to record their dynamics.

Modified from Delcourt et al. (1983).

Scale Terminology

Landscape ecologists must be unambiguous in their use of scale-related terms. *Scale* refers to the spatial or temporal dimension of an object or a process (Table 1.3). This is distinguished from *level of organization*, which is used to identify a place within a biotic hierarchy (Table 1.3). For example, a sequence of differing levels of organization might be: organism, deme, population, community, and biome. Each level of organization is characterized by a variety of processes that have their own scales of space and time. A population of a particular species may occupy a given amount of space, move or disperse a set distance, and reproduce within characteristic time period. However, the community to which that population belongs is characterized by the spatial and temporal scales of all populations within the community.

Scale is characterized by grain and extent (Fig. 1.5). *Grain* refers to the finest spatial resolution within a given data set; for example, grain refers to the cell size for gridded maps or the minimum mapping unit of maps drawn with polygons. *Extent* refers to the size of the overall study area. Grain and extent are easy to think

18

LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY IN THEORY AND PRACTICE	TABLE 1.3.Definitions of scale-related terminology and concepts	
	Term	Definition
	Scale	Spatial or temporal dimension of an object of process, characterized by both grain and extent
	Level of organization	The place within a biotic hierarchy (e.g., organism, deme, population)
	Cartographic scale	The degree of spatial reduction indicating the length used to represent a larger unit of measure; ratio of distance on the map to distance on the earth surface represented by the map, usually expressed in terms such as 1:10,000. In cartography, large scale = fine resolution, and small scale = coarse resolution
	Resolution	Precision of measurement; grain size, if spatial
	Grain	The finest level of spatial resolution possible within a given data set
	Extent	The size of the study area or the duration of time under consideration
	Extrapolate	To infer from known values; to estimate a value from conditions of the argument not used in the process of estimation; to transform information (a) from one scale to another (either grain size or extent) or (b) from one system (or data set) to another system at the same scale
	Critical threshold	Point at which there is an abrupt change in a quality, property, or phenomenon
	Absolute scale	The actual distance, direction, shape, and geometry
	Relative scale	A transformation of absolute scale to a scale that describes the relative distance, direction, or geometry based on some functional relationship
	Hierarchy	System of interconnections or organization wherein the higher levels constrain and control the lower levels to various degrees depending on time constraints of the behavior
	Holon	Representation of an entity as a two-way window through which the environment influences the parts, and parts communicate as a unit to the rest of the universe (Koestler 1967)

of when considering remote imagery. Different satellite sensors have different cell sizes or grain; for example, there is a 10-m by 10-m cell size for SPOT panchromatic imagery, 30-m by 30-m for Landsat Thematic Mapper imagery, 90-m by 90-m for the earlier Landsat Multispectral Scanner imagery, and 250-m by 250-m for MODIS. The detail that can be gleaned from these different sensors varies, in part, because of the differences in grain. Extent can vary independently of grain,



Schematic illustration of two components of spatial scale, (**a**) grain and (**b**) extent. The number of cells aggregated to form the new data unit (i.e., new grain size) is indicated by *n*; total area, or extent, is indicated by *a*. MODIFIED FROM TURNER ET AL. (1989B).

although there is some degree of correlation; for example, a small extent usually requires a small grain size. When we say that a pattern, process, or phenomenon is *scale dependent*, we mean that it changes with the grain or the extent of the measurement. Schneider (1994) defines scale-dependent processes as those in which the ratio of one rate to another varies with either resolution (grain) or range (extent) of measurement.

One source of confusion is that ecologists and geographers often mean the opposite when they say "large" or "small" scale. The long-standing use in geography of *cartographic scale* refers to the degree of spatial reduction indicating the length used to represent a larger unit of measure (Table 1.3). Cartographic scale is typically expressed as the ratio or representative fraction of distance on the map to distance on the surface of the earth that is represented on a map or aerial photograph, e.g., 1:10,000 or 1:100,000. When geographers and cartographers say "large scale," they mean very fine resolution (e.g., 1:500), which in practice means a very large map of a small spatial extent; similarly, when they say "small scale," they mean very coarse resolution, or maps of large areas that do not contain much detail (e.g., 1:250,000). This use of small and large is opposite to what ecologists usually mean by those terms! To avoid confusion, we recommend and use here the LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

terms "fine" and "broad" to modify scale, such that fine scale refers to small areas, greater resolution, and more detail, and broad scale refers to larger areas, lower resolution, and less detail. In practical terms, the scale at which you make any measurement—e.g., the size of the quadrat, length of transect, area of census, size of the grid cell in remotely sensed data—influences the numerical answer obtained and must be defined explicitly.

When we seek to extrapolate (Table 1.3), we attempt to infer from known values, that is, to estimate a value from conditions beyond the range of the data used in the process of estimation (Miller et al. 2004). For example, we extrapolate when we use a regression line to predict values of γ based on a value of x that is beyond our original data. We also extrapolate when we transfer information from one scale to another (either grain size or extent), often called "upscaling" or "downscaling," or from one system (or data set) to another system at the same scale. Upscaling is often done by adding or averaging fine-grained units to estimate a property of a larger area, such as estimating carbon stocks across a landscape by summing individual grid cells. An example of downscaling is translating climate data or projections from the large grid cells used in general circulation models to finer scales by incorporating additional information, such as topography. The search for techniques or algorithms to extrapolate across scales or among landscapes remains an important research topic in landscape ecology. In practical terms, this occurs because scientists never have all the data they need at all the "right" scales. Extrapolating may be straightforward in some cases when the relationship of a variable with changes in scale is linear, or additive; however, if the relationship is nonlinear and/or there are *critical thresholds* at which there is an abrupt change, then extrapolation is problematic. The extrapolation of estimates of species richness with increased size of a study area is a classic example of scale dependency: At fine scales (small areas) species richness increases linearly with area, but as area sampled continues to increase, the relationship will eventually plateau, causing simple linear extrapolations to greatly overestimate species richness for very large areas. Although the exact reason for the asymptotic species-area curve remains uncertain (Huston 1994), we have enough data for many species groups and landscapes to make reliable empirical extrapolations across scale.

Hierarchy Theory and Cross-Scale Interactions

Hierarchy theory is concerned with the ecological consequences of levels of organization in ecological systems (O'Neill et al. 1986) and has been influential in landscape ecology. In the simplest series (cell, organism, population, community), each level is composed of subsystems (e.g., the next lower level for organisms are cells) and is constrained by the level above it (populations constrain organisms). Ecological organizations do indeed show hierarchical structure (Rowe 1961), with emergent properties that affect ecological processes at a variety of scales.

Here, we briefly highlight some of the important take-home messages from hierarchy theory that are especially significant to landscape ecologists.

A *hierarchy* is defined as a system of interconnections wherein the higher levels constrain the lower levels to various degrees, depending on time constraints of the behavior. The concept of hierarchy has a long history in science, but Koestler's (1967) "The ghost in the machine" was a landmark publication. Koestler identified entities that were at the same time composed of parts yet also a whole that fits within its environment. At every level in a hierarchy there are these elements, termed *holons*, that are both wholes and parts.

Within a hierarchical system, the levels are distinguished by differences in the rates, or frequencies, of their characteristic processes (Fig. 1.6). Holons have characteristic rates of behavior, and these rates place them at certain levels in the hierarchy of holons. For example, an individual organism, as a holon, can interact with other individual organisms because both operate at the same space–time scale. But, an individual organism cannot interact with a biome—they are orders of magnitude different in scale. To the individual organism, the biome is a relatively constant background or context within which it operates. Thus, temporal scales serve as important criteria for identifying levels within a hierarchy, and there are different scales of space and time over which controls operate.

An important concept from hierarchy theory is the importance of considering at least three hierarchical levels in any study (Fig. 1.7). The focal level or level of interest is identified as a function of the question or objective of the study. For example,



FIGURE 1.6.

Value of variables associated with a level of an ecological hierarchy as they change through time. The *top line (line 3)* is a slow variable, one that would serve as a constraint to the lower levels; this may change so slowly that it is perceived as a constant by an observer. The *middle line (line 2)* might be the scale at which an observer measures change in the system. The *lower line (line 1)* is a fast variable, one that might change so quickly that it could be perceived as a constant.

REDRAWN FROM ALLEN AND STARR (1982:12).

Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale FIGURE 1.7.

Illustration of the three levels in a hierarchy. Upper levels constrain the focal level and provide significance; lower levels provide details required to explain response of focal level.

Adapted from O'Neill et al. (1986).



answering the question, "What is the effect of insect herbivory on tree growth rate" would require focusing upon individual trees, whereas, "What is the effect of insect herbivory on the distribution of live and dead trees across the landscape?" would require focusing on the forest as a whole. Two additional levels then must be considered. The level above the focal level constrains and controls the lower levels, providing context for the focal level. The level below the focal level provides the details needed to explain the behavior observed at the focal level.

A second important take-home message is that although the variables that influence a process may or may not change with scale, a shift in the relative importance of the variables or the perceived direction of a relationship often occurs when spatial or temporal scales are changed. There are numerous examples of this. For example, predicting the rate of decomposition of plant material at a very local scale requires detailed knowledge of the microclimate, variability in the environment, and characteristics of the litter such as its lignin content; however, effectively predicting rates of decomposition at regional to global scales can be done based solely on temperature and precipitation (Meentemeyer 1984). Studies of oak seedling mortality at local scales in the western US showed that mortality decreased as precipitation increased, whereas studies at regional scales demonstrated the mortality decreased in the drier latitudes (Neilson and Wullstein 1983).

Increasing the time frame of observation of a system may lead to different observations and conclusions about the function of the system (e.g., Sollins et al. 1983; Magnuson 1990). The results of different processes become apparent at different temporal scales (Fig. 1.8), and conclusions about the directional change may change qualitatively as observation time increases. The constraint of having a limited observation window has been characterized as "the invisible present" (Magnuson 1990), and this has been illustrated numerous times with long-term ecological data. This issue continues to play into current discussions of global warming, as inference about directional change in climate depends can vary depending on the decades of observation selected.



FIGURE 1.8.

Changes in the apparent dynamics of organic matter in the soil when the temporal scale of observation changes. An observation window of days (*lower panel*) reveals rapid fluctuations in litter due to wind and arthropod activity. Over a scale of years (*middle panel*), seasonal patterns of decomposition are apparent. Over a scale of centuries (*upper panel*), the accumulation of organic matter is observed with oscillations that relate to succession.

Adapted from Sollins et al. (1983).

Hierarchy theory suggests that multiple scales of pattern will exist in landscapes because of the multiple scales at which processes are acting. Consider the processes that may give rise to pattern in a hypothetical forest landscape. Over broad scales of space and time, geomorphological processes result in distributions of substrate and soil that influence what tree species might occur at what positions. Within the forest that develops, the pattern and frequency of large disturbances such as fire or pathogen epidemics may generate a coarse-grained pattern of different successional stages across the landscape. Local processes of individual tree death may result in LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

small "canopy gaps" distributed throughout the forest landscape. Collectively, then, the spatial pattern of forest communities at any given time in this landscape may reflect these three processes operating over different scales of space and time. An analysis of the spatial pattern of the forest communities across the landscape may well detect these multiple scales of pattern (e.g., Kuuluvainen et al. 1998).

Understanding how or when processes that operating at different scales interact with each other-currently referred to as cross-scale interactions-has seen recent renewed interest driven largely by numerous studies showing that spatial pattern affects ecological process (Peters et al. 2004b). Cross-scale interactions are important because they can generate emergent behavior that cannot be predicted based on observations at single or multiple, independent scales, and the interactions may produce nonlinear dynamics with thresholds (Peters et al. 2004b). These ideas build from hierarchy theory but incorporate space, recognize the possibility for a series of cascading thresholds and add two key considerations. First, Peters et al. argue that connectivity among focal units is very important for propagating changes through a system, and that thresholds in connectivity can lead to unexpected and rapid change. Second, the amount and spatial arrangement of focal units can influence the relative importance of the scales that may govern or constrain the dynamics of the system. Such cross-scale interactions and cascading thresholds provide a useful framework for understanding the widespread outbreaks of native bark beetles in western North America (Raffa et al. 2008). In social-ecological systems, the processes that operate at distinct scales, such as individual patches, farms, and entire regions, can interact to produce "cascading thresholds" wherein the crossing of one threshold may induce the crossing of other thresholds and lead to alternative states (Kinzig et al. 2006).

Thus, hierarchy theory tells us that attention should be focused directly on the scales at which phenomena of interest occur; there is no single correct scale for studying landscapes or any other ecological system; and that if we change the scales, the relevant processes or even the direction of relationships that we observe may well change. The scale of interest must be dictated by the question or phenomenon of interest. Finer-scale processes may be viewed as the details required to "explain" the phenomena at the focal scale while broader-scale patterns are the "constraints" that limit the potential range of rate processes. Processes that interact across scales, however, can lead to surprising outcomes. These concepts are rich and provocative, but still leave us with the critical challenge of identifying the proper scale at which to address a given problem.

Returning to Levin's (1992) MacArthur address, we read "That there is no single correct scale or level at which to describe a system does not mean that all scales serve equally well or that there are not scaling laws." Developing the rules for identifying the correct scale for a particular question continues to be an important topic of current research.

Upscaling and Downscaling

The quantitative issues associated with extrapolating to broader scales in space and time—"scaling up"—or to finer scales—"scaling down"—continue to present challenges in landscape ecology (see Wu et al. 2006). Most ecological measurements have been made at relatively fine scales (e.g., square meters or hectares), while predictions of effects are often needed at broad scales (e.g., habitat restoration and conservation, invasive species, disturbance regimes, and climate change).

The simplest approach to scaling across space is to multiply a measurement made at one scale (e.g., unit of area) to predict at a broader scale. For example, a standing biomass for a 10,000-ha forest might be predicted by multiplying the amount of biomass measured in a 1-ha stand by the factor of 10,000. Termed "lumping" by King (1991) and "direct scaling" by Miller et al. (2004), this approach assumes that the properties of the system do not change with scale, and that the broader-scale system behaves like the average value of the finer-scale system-i.e., the system is scale invariant. From a modeling perspective, this assumption holds only if the equations describing the system are linear. Direct scaling can lead to considerable bias because it does not account for additional variability (spatial or temporal) encountered in the scaling process and ignores nonlinear changes in the variable of interest that often occurs with changes in scale (Rastetter et al. 1992). The nature of the bias will depend on the specifics of the spatial dependencies and/or nonlinearities in the system (O'Neill 1979a, b). This approach should only be used with careful consideration of the potential errors and biases that may result.

An improvement upon the simple linear method to scaling is an additive approach that accounts for spatial variability within an area of relatively large extent. *Direct extrapolation* (sometimes referred to as "paint by numbers") uses data or model simulations from a tractable number of discrete elements within a landscape. For example, instead of assuming that biomass is the same throughout the 10,000-ha forest, we recognize that biomass varies with stand age and composition and that we can account for this spatial variability by mapping or using a remote image. In this case, we use empirical measurements to estimate the biomass in each of the types we define, then multiply by the area of each type within the 10,000-ha forested landscape and sum the results (e.g., Burke et al. 1990). This approach is widely used and works reasonably well for quantities such as biomass or net primary production, which themselves do not interact spatially and which can be related to attributes that can be measured remotely over large areas (e.g., color of the ocean, vegetation composition).

A more sophisticated variation on this theme is *extrapolation by expected value* (King 1991), or extending the analogy above, "advanced paint by numbers." This approach recognizes that multiple predictor variables may themselves differ across the landscape and incorporates those into statistical or simulation models.

to Landscape

Ecology

and Scale

25

LANDSCAPE The general algorithm for this approach entails (1) a model simulating local behavior of a system, (2) a larger landscape over which the model is to be extrapolated, ECOLOGY IN (3) the frequency distributions of variables that describe landscape heterogeneity, THEORY AND and (4) calculation of expected values of the system behavior as a function of the variables describing the heterogeneity of the landscape. The relationship between the predictors and response variable need not be linear, but the values for each predictor must be available for all locations across the landscape. Thus, a principle source of error in this approach lies in the estimation of the probability or frequency distributions of the landscape variables. Like direct extrapolation, the simpler approaches to extrapolation by expected value do not account for spatial interactions or feedbacks, although they can consider the landscape surrounding a focal location and thus represent some broader spatial context.

> It is important to note that the error, or variance, associated with the original measurements should also be scaled accordingly to estimate confidence in predictions at the broader scale. There are several excellent examples of mapping a predicted value and also providing a map of uncertainty (Fig. 1.9). However, the general problem remains easier to recognize than to resolve; confidence intervals around a measurement made at one scale may not translate directly to another scale (Schneider 1994). Some quantities increase in variance as scale increases—the so-called pink or red noise identified by spectral analysis (Caswell and Cohen 1995; Cohen et al. 1998; Platt and Denman 1975; Ripley 1978). This may occur when the extent of observations is increased and greater environmental heterogeneity is encountered. For example, the air temperature of a small area might be characterized by a mean temperature, say 11 °C, with a small range of values, say ±1 °C. As extent increases in topographically rough terrain, sites with temperatures ranging from 6° to 24° may be included, resulting in an increase in the variance even if the mean value remains constant. Thus, as the grain becomes coarser the cell characterized by a single temperature may also have greater variability.

> Rastetter et al. (1992) and Wiens et al. (1993) suggest that a combination of approaches is needed to scale up, and Miller et al. (2004) provide an overview of methods (Fig. 1.10). The multiplicative approach can be implemented as a first approximation with the recognition that it may work in some cases, but be widely off the mark in others. Additional detail can be added as needed, either through improving the computations at the finer scales (Wiens et al. 1993) to reduce the error that would be translated to the broader scale, or by identifying the spatial subunits across which extrapolations can be summed (Rastetter et al. 1992). From their review of scaling studies, Miller et al. (2004) also note that extrapolations tend to be most reliable when the response variables are closely associated with environmental features that can be mapped accurately. But another point emphasized by Miller et al. bears mention here-the numerous opportunities for learning through the process of scaling. Extrapolations represent spatially explicit predictions that can be tested and used to assess understanding. By examining the

PRACTICE



Introduction to Landscape

Ecology

and Scale

FIGURE 1.9.

Spatial extrapolation of patterns of aboveground net primary production in the western portion of Greater Yellowstone, Wyoming and Montana, USA (a) and the map of uncertainty associated with the predictions (b).

Adapted from Hansen et al. (2000).

conditions under which extrapolation fails or succeeds, we can enhance our understanding of the relationships between pattern and process (Miller et al. 2004).

Although our discussion has focused on processes associated with "scaling up"—that is, moving from fine scale measurements to predictions at broad scales the inverse process of "scaling down" is also an important. For example, the temperature and precipitation patterns predicted by the general circulation models FIGURE 1.10.

A basic framework describing the different components of ecological extrapolation. *Solid arrows* indicate steps that are typically included in the process, whereas *dotted arrows* indicate steps that are not included as commonly but should be. Adapted from Miller et al. (2004).



used to simulate potential changes in global climate typically have a coarse resolution of 1° or 2° latitude and longitude. However, precipitation and temperature vary considerably within areas that are 100 km × 100 km in size, and this variability is important for local ecological processes (Kennedy 1997; Lynn et al. 1995; Russo and Zack 1997). Using a rather different example, tabulations of population density or housing units for a census tract do not account for the spatial variability within the census tract, yet this variation may be most important for predicting future patterns of land-use change or the movement of nutrients from land to water. Recognition of the importance of developing methods for extrapolating information from coarse to fine grains has increased greatly with the wide use of GIS technologies. Progress in this arena lagged somewhat behind upscaling studies because of the immense data requirements for verifying such extrapolations, but recent developments are encouraging. For example, using data for four national parks in the

28

USA, Gardner et al. (2008) demonstrate a flexible new method for rescaling (either downscaling or upscaling) land-cover data. Unresolved issues in scaling revolve around the complex responses of ecosystems to change in multiple drivers, the insufficiency of measurements in time and space, and the diversity of approaches being employed across many disciplines. Thus, it is important for landscape ecologists to be informed about the importance of scale and the complexities of scaling, and to continue to make headway in resolving these issues.

○ OBJECTIVES OF THIS BOOK

Landscape ecology has a rich intellectual history, and it draws upon a wide range of natural and social science. The remainder of this book will deal with the concepts, questions, methods, and applications of landscape ecology with an emphasis on the ecological approach. This in no way diminishes the importance of the social sciences in the interdisciplinary study of landscapes, and we incorporate the human dimension in many ways; however, this text is written by ecologists, and our biases and expertise fall within the science of ecology. We hope that the book will be useful not only to students in ecology but also to students in disciplines such as conservation biology, resource management, landscape architecture, land planning, geography, and regional studies who wish to delve more deeply into landscape ecology as an ecological science. In addition, we hope this volume will complement other landscape ecology books that have different emphases (e.g., Bissonette and Storch 2003; Lovett et al. 2005; Farina 2006; Green et al. 2006; Lindenmayer and Hobbs 2007; Steiner 2008; Collinge 2009; Liu et al. 2011; Tongway and Ludwig 2011).

Landscape ecology may also serve as a source of new ideas for other disciplines within ecology. For example, aquatic ecologists have applied a landscape ecological approach to the study of riffle, cobble, and sandy substrates within streams (e.g., Wohl et al. 1995); patch distributions of fishes as measured by echolocation (e.g., Magnuson et al. 1991; Nero and Magnuson 1992); patterns and processes of rocky benthic communities (e.g., Garrabou et al. 1998); and spatial variation in coral bleaching (Rowan et al. 1997). Thus, landscape ecology benefits from and but also contributes toward the intellectual developments in other disciplines.

This is not a textbook for GIS or remote sensing, although landscape ecology makes extensive use of these technologies. There are many fine texts that are excellent resources for the landscape ecologist who needs a more thorough introduction to these subjects. For GIS, we suggest Thurston et al. (2003), Longley (2005), and Bolstad (2012); for remote sensing, we suggest Campbell (2006) and Jensen (2009).

We have organized the book in a sequence comparable to what we teach in a landscape ecology course. The first section includes two chapters that introduce landscape ecology and scale (Chap. 1) and consider the causes of landscape pattern, including both biotic and abiotic factors, and extended temporal scales (Chap. 2). The next section includes three chapters that cover quantitative approaches in landscape ecology, including landscape models (Chap. 3), landscape metrics (Chap. 4), and spatial statistics (Chap. 5). The next three chapters deal with particular pattern-process relationships that have received considerable attention in landscape studies: disturbance dynamics (Chap. 6), responses of organisms to spatial heterogeneity (Chap. 7), and ecosystem processes at landscape scales (Chap. 8). Finally, we deal explicitly with a myriad of applications of landscape ecology (Chap. 9) and suggest conclusions and future directions for the field (Chap. 10).

SUMMARY

Landscape ecology has come to the forefront of ecology and land management in recent decades, and it is still expanding very rapidly. Landscape ecology emphasizes the interaction between spatial pattern and ecological process—that is, the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity across a range of scales. Two important aspects of landscape ecology distinguish it from other subdisciplines within ecology. First, landscape ecology explicitly addresses the importance of spatial configuration for ecological processes. Second, landscape ecology often focuses upon spatial extents that are much larger than those traditionally studied in ecology. These two aspects—explicit treatment of spatial heterogeneity and a focus on broad spatial scales—are complementary and encompass much of the breadth of landscape ecology. Landscape ecology has a history, with its roots in Central and Eastern Europe. The recent search for principles governing the interaction of pattern and process at the landscape scale began with two influential workshops in the early 1980s in Europe and North America.

Scale is a prominent topic in landscape ecology because it influences the conclusions drawn by an observer and whether inferences can be extrapolated to other places, times, or scales. Scale refers to the spatial or temporal dimension of an object or a process, and this is distinct from "level of organization," which is used to identify a place within a biotic hierarchy. Scale is characterized by grain—the finest level of spatial resolution possible within a given data set, and extent—the size of the overall study area. The related concept of cartographic scale refers to the degree of spatial reduction indicating the length used to represent a larger unit of measure. In practical terms, the scale at which you make any measurement influences the numerical answer obtained. Hierarchy theory is closely related to scale and provides a framework for organizing the complexity of ecological systems.

A hierarchy is defined as a system of interconnections wherein the higher levels constrain and control the lower levels to various degrees, depending on time con-

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

straints of the behavior. The levels within a hierarchy are differentiated by their rates of behavior. Ecological studies should consider three levels within a hierarchy: the focal level, the level above, which provides constraint and context, and the level below, which provides mechanism. When scales change, a shift in the relative importance of variables or the perceived direction of a relationship may also change. In addition, understanding how processes operating at different scales in spatially heterogeneous landscapes may interact and produce unexpected changes has emerged as a topic of substantial current interest.

Scale issues often arise in attempting to extrapolate ecological studies to larger or smaller scales. The current understanding has led to a few useful "rules of thumb" for extrapolation. Scale changes may be ignored in homogenous space but not under conditions of spatial heterogeneity. Average dynamics can be applied to a larger area only when the area is homogeneous for the characteristic of interest. If the spatial heterogeneity is present but it is random rather than occurring with a structured pattern, then the average plus the variance can be used to apply local measurements to the broader area. When spatial heterogeneity combines with nonlinear dynamics and the possibility of major changes in constraints, then extrapolation becomes a very difficult problem that does not, at present, have any simple solution. However, substantial progress has been made in upscaling and downscaling data or predictions for specific applications.

There is no "right" scale for landscape ecological studies. Scales must be selected based on the question or objective of a study. However, identifying the appropriate scale remains challenging, and developing methods for doing so remains a topic of current research. Ecologists are still learning how to take the knowledge we have gleaned about patterns and processes at multiple scales into consideration when developing field studies and models, and develop the techniques for extrapolating across scales and landscapes.

$\sim\!\!\!\sim$ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- 1. Consider the two different ways in which ecologists use the concept of landscape—as a relatively large area composed of elements that we recognize, and as a theoretical construct for considering spatial heterogeneity at any scale (see Pickett and Cadenasso 1995). Are these notions mutually exclusive or complementary? Do they confuse or enhance our understanding? Do you think one view is better than the other?
- 2. Describe three contemporary issues that require consideration of the landscape, either as a driver of change in another variable, or as an element that responds to some driver. What information or understanding is lost if a landscape perspective is not taken?

31

Introduction to Landscape Ecology and Scale

LANDSCAPE	3. Is landscape ecology defined by its questions or by its techniques? Do you consider i	
ECOLOGY IN	to be a broad or narrow avenue of inquiry within ecology?	
	4. Select a landscape of your choice and list the important ecological processes that	
THEORY AND	occur in the landscape. Next, estimate the temporal and spatial scales over which	
PRACTICE	these processes operate and plot these in a time-space state space (see Fig. 1.4).	
	How might such a diagram assist you in selecting appropriate scales for a field study	

5. Describe how scale may be considered as both a problem and an opportunity.

or model? What scales are appropriate for different hypotheses you might test?

- Haila Y (2002) A conceptual genealogy of fragmentation research: from island biogeography to landscape ecology. Ecol Appl 12:321–334
- Levin SA (1992) The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73:1943-1983
- Miller JR, Turner MG, Smithwick EAH, Dent CL, Stanley EH (2004) Spatial extrapolation: the science of predicting ecological patterns and processes. Bioscience 54:310–320
- Peters DPC, Pielke RA Sr, Bestelmeyer BT, Allen CD, Munson-McGee S, Havstad KM (2004) Crossscale interactions, nonlinearities, and forecasting catastrophic events. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:15130–15135
- Pickett STA, Cadenasso ML (1995) Landscape ecology: spatial heterogeneity in ecological systems. Science 269:331-334
- Turner MG (2005) Landscape ecology: what is the state of the science? Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:319-344
- Wiens JA, Moss MR, Turner MG, Mladenoff DJ (eds) (2007) Foundation papers in landscape ecology. Columbia University Press, New York

Causes of Landscape Pattern

hen we view a landscape, we look at its composition and spatial configuration-that is, what elements are present and in what relative amount, and how these elements are arranged. In an agricultural landscape, we may observe forests occurring along streams and on steep ridges, whereas croplands and pastures occupy upland areas of gentler slope. In a fire-dominated boreal forest landscape, we may see expanses of old forest, young forest, and early successional vegetation. In a deciduous forest, we may observe small gaps in an otherwise continuous canopy of trees, and we may detect boundaries between forests dominated by different species of trees. In landscapes of small extent (e.g., 100 m by 100 m), we may observe complex patterns of vegetated and unvegetated surfaces. Observations of landscape patterns can trigger a number of general questions: How do all these different patterns develop? What is the relative importance of different causes? Do similar patterns emerge from similar processes? How do landscape patterns change through time? What conditions produce gradual vs. abrupt changes in landscape patterns? Can future patterns be predicted? For how long are patterns discernible after the processes creating the patterns have ceased?

Contemporary landscapes result from many causes, including variability in *abiotic conditions*, such as climate, topography, and soils; *biotic interactions*, such as competition, mutualism, herbivory, and predation, that can generate spatial pattern even when environmental conditions are homogenous; *natural disturbances and succession*; and past and present patterns of *human land use*. Broad-scale variability in the abiotic environment sets the constraints within which biotic interactions and disturbances act. The environmental template sets the stage, but landscape patterns result from multivariate causes that operate and interact over many scales in time and space.

Long-term changes have been profound in many landscapes (Fig. 2.1), yet such changes are often underappreciated. Landscapes are constantly changing, each with a unique history. Many historical studies have provided data that lead to reinterpretations of the contemporary landscape (Foster 2002). Landscape ecologists must account for these long-term changes, and reconstructed landscape histories are an invaluable resource for clearer interpretation of contemporary patterns and dynamics. Determining how and why these histories developed is also critical for anticipating the future (Jackson 2006).



FIGURE 2.1.

This aerial view of Dubai illustrates a profound change in a desert landscape. *Source*: http://flagvruki.com/ pictures/design-pic/dubay-s-vysoty-ptichego-poleta/

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Exploring the causes of landscape pattern is not so easy as it may seem. Every landscape is unique because the observed spatial patterns result from multiple drivers and include both deterministic and stochastic processes. In a thought-provoking essay, Phillips (2007) developed an analogy between the "perfect storm," which refers to the improbable coincidence of several different factors or forces that produces an unusual outcome, and the "perfect landscape." The perfect landscape results from the combined, interacting effects of multiple environmental controls and drivers that generate a landscape unlikely to be duplicated at any other place or time. In other words, any particular landscape is a singular outcome from a range of plausible outcomes that depended on the occurrence or timing of different driving factors. This view of multiple and contingent causation supports an understanding of landscape pattern that allows for multiple outcomes rather than a single, deterministic result from a given set of conditions (Phillips 2007). Landscape patterns are idiosyncratic because of contingent factors that are particular in time and space. The critical observation that "it depends" complicates the task of explaining and predicting landscape patterns: similar landscapes may develop from contrasting trajectories, and different landscapes may have originated from similar initial conditions (Ernoult et al. 2006).

Contingencies that affect landscape patterns may be manifest in several ways. *Historical contingencies* exist when the current state of a landscape is clearly dependent on a specific past event or sequence of events. The term *landscape legacy* is often used to denote a persistent effect of past events or patterns on the contemporary landscape. *Spatial contingencies* exist when the state of a landscape depends on local conditions as well as the surrounding area. That is, characteristics at a given place also depend on characteristics at other locations, and thus changes at a particular location may be propagated spatially through the landscape (Phillips 2007). In practice, the reality of multiple interacting drivers and plausible outcomes means that elucidating the causes of landscape pattern remains surprisingly difficult (i.e., explained variance may be low), and predicting future patterns is not a trivial challenge.

Important information about the causes and changes in landscape patterns comes from the field of *paleoecology*, the study of individuals, populations, and communities of plants and animals that lived in the past and their interactions with changing environments. Paleoecology offers a wealth of insight into the long-term development of today's landscapes and has reestablished its ties with *biogeography*, which seeks to explain patterns of species distribution. One of the most important reasons for understanding landscape history is that we are in a period of rapid global change, and the past can provide us with important insights. We do not attempt a comprehensive review of this rich field, but we draw upon paleoecological studies to discuss the role of climate in the spatial structuring of the biota and the role of prehistoric humans in influencing landscapes. The *Holocene Epoch* (approximately the past 10,000 years) is of particular importance for understanding long-term landscape dynamics because it spans the current interglacial period. Studies in *environmental history* have also produced tremendous insights into how landscapes develop and change. Causes of Landscape

Pattern

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

In this chapter, we discuss the general classes of factor that give rise to landscape patterns, provide a deeper temporal context for understanding present-day patterns, and elaborate the importance of landscape legacies. We then summarize some of the persistent challenges to explaining and predicting landscape change.

○ FOUR KEY DRIVERS OF LANDSCAPE PATTERN

The Abiotic Template

Landscape patterns develop on the template established by climate, landform, and soils. *Climate* refers to the composite, long term, or generally prevailing weather of a region (Bailey 2009), and climate acts as a strong control on biogeographic patterns through the distribution of energy and water. Climate effects are modified by *landform*—the characteristic geomorphic features of the landscape, which result from geologic process producing patterns of physical relief and soil development. Together, climate and landform establish the template upon which the soils and biota of a region develop.

Climate

General climatic patterns will be familiar to all ecologists from introductory classes in biology or geography (readers might also consult Ruddiman 2008). At the broadest scale, climate varies with latitude, which influences temperature and the distribution of moisture, and with continental position. Because of differential heating of land and water, coastal regions at any given latitude differ from inland regions. The distributions of biomes on Earth result from these broad-scale climate patterns. However, the effects of both latitude and continental position are modified locally by topography, leading to finer scale heterogeneity in climate patterns (Bailey 2009). Temperatures generally decrease with increasing elevation, and north- and south-facing slopes experience different levels of solar radiation and hence different temperatures and evaporation rates.

Landscape ecologists must appreciate the importance of climate (and climate variability) as a driver of pattern. If the currently estimated magnitude of climate change is realized, climate-induced effects will profoundly alter landscape patterns and processes. Even in the absence of intensive human influences, the distribution of plant and animal communities and of entire biomes have varied tremendously with past changes in climate (Jackson 2006). The spatial distribution of today's life forms as a function of latitude/longitude looks quite different than those of 5000 or 10,000 years before present (BP). Furthermore, present assemblages of plants and animals represent only a portion of the ecosystem types that have existed during Earth's history, and future rates of change suggest that "no-analog"

communities (i.e., communities that differ in composition from any that currently exist) will develop in the future (Williams and Jackson 2007). The Earth is warming rapidly in response to human-caused increases in greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, and this warming will continue into the foreseeable future (IPCC 2013). The rate and magnitude of expected climate change means that understanding climate as a driver will remain an active and critically important area for study, and we treat this topic in greater depth in Chap. 9. Already, studies have shown that organisms are rapidly shifting their distributions to higher latitudes and elevations (Chen et al. 2011); disturbance regimes are changing (Westerling et al. 2006); and permafrost, glaciers, and sea ice are melting (e.g., Perovich 2011). Thus, it is important for landscape ecologists to have a general understanding of climate variability and its potential effect on landscapes. We return to this topic in Chap. 9.

Earth's climate is dynamic. Glaciers have advanced and retreated several times during the past 500,000 years. Each glacial-interglacial cycle was about 100,000 years in duration, with 90,000 years of gradual climatic cooling followed by a period of rapid warming and 10,000 years of interglacial warmth. The peak of the last glacial period, or ice age, was about 18,000 years BP and ended approximately 10,000 years BP. These long climate cycles may be produced by cyclic changes in solar irradiance resulting from long-term and complex variation in Earth's orbital pattern (the Milankovitch Cycle) as the earth wobbles on its rotational axis (Crowley and Kim 1994; Overpeck et al. 2003). This orbital eccentricity results in approximately 3.5 % variation in the total amount of solar radiation received by earth and changes its latitudinal distribution.

During the past 150,000 years, the difference between the glacial and interglacial periods was described by a 5 °C shift in mean global temperature. To detect trends in the global climate system, climatologists remove spatial variability in climate by using mean global temperature, which is the only reliable expression of global surface air temperature. Thus, what may seem like small changes in mean global temperature can indicate very large fluctuations in temperature at many locations on Earth. For example, the *Medieval Warm Period* and the *Little Ice Age*, which lasted for >500 years, had large impacts on human populations and were only a 1 °C fluctuation in mean global temperature. Similarly, peak warming (about 1–2°C warmer than today) occurred between 9000 and 4000 years ago. This seemingly small increase led to a 70-km shift eastward in the prairie–forest boundary in the Upper Midwest (USA) compared to its present location. Recent studies suggest that direct and indirect effects of warming climate will result in "savannification" of the forest and once again shift this ecotone northward within the next 50–100 years (Frelich and Reich 2010).

An improvement in understanding the variability in Earth's climate and the ecological consequences of climate fluctuations has been documentation of globalscale climate anomalies, including the El Niño–Southern Oscillation (ENSO), Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO), and Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation (AMO). Causes of Landscape Pattern ENSO and the PDO represent variation in sea-surface temperatures and sea-level atmospheric pressure in the equatorial and northern Pacific Ocean that, in turn, affect climate—especially drought—in western North America through midlatitude teleconnections (e.g., Diaz and Markgraf 2000). The AMO reflects slowly varying temperature patterns in the Atlantic Ocean. Drought and wetter-than-usual conditions in different regions are often associated with different phases of these climate anomalies. The La Niña phase of ENSO and warm phase of the AMO both contributed to the extreme 2010–2011 drought in Texas, USA (Nielsen-Gammon 2011). The combined cool phases of the PDO and ENSO (negative PDO during La Niña) are associated with drought and promote large fires in the southern Rocky Mountains, whereas the combined warm phases (positive PDO during El Niño) have such associations in the central and northern Rocky Mountains (Schoennagel et al. 2005). Future warming in the region is expected to increase the frequency of large fires and produce substantial increases in the area burned each year (Fig. 2.2).

The Earth's biota obviously must respond to climate fluctuations. Each species has a unique, multidimensional *fundamental niche*, defined as the environmental envelope within which viable populations can be maintained (Araújo and Guisan 2006). As climate fluctuates, the geographic distribution of environmental conditions that are suitable for any given species to survive and reproduce also shifts. In general, organisms may respond to climate change in three ways (Cronin and Schneider 1990), all of which contribute to long-term changes in their distribution: (1) organisms may evolve and speciate in response to changing patterns of selective forces; (2)



FIGURE 2.2.

Increased area burned associated with climate warming is projected for the Greater Yellowstone region of Wyoming, USA. Projected annual area burned (median, interquartile range, and full range) is shown here based on 1000 simulations using one global climate model through 2100. Area burned increases and years without fire decline substantially by midcentury.

Adapted from Westerling et al. (2011)

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

organisms may disperse and migrate to track suitable habitat, each according to its limits of tolerance and movement capability; or (3) species may become extinct if they neither adapt or move. Paleoecological research offers windows to the past by describing the vegetation patterns and shifts that accompanied past changes in climate. For example, classic research by Margaret Davis revealed that range limits of tree species in eastern North America changed dramatically during the past 13,000 years (Fig. 2.3) (Davis 1983). Species have varied not only in their ranges (i.e., the geographic area over which they occur), but also their local abundances—and thus relative dominance. For example, the range of oak (*Quercus*) in eastern North America expanded northward during the past 20,000 years, and the population centers where



FIGURE 2.3.

Changes in northern and western range limits for four eastern North America tree taxa during the late Quaternary based on pollen records. Numbers indicate the time (in thousands of years before the present) at which pollen from each species was recorded at a given site. Shading indicates current geographic range. Causes of Landscape Pattern LANDSCAPE Ecology in

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

oak dominated the plant community also varied spatially (Delcourt and Delcourt 1987). More recent studies also provide examples from the paleoecological record of species assemblages that occurred in the Quaternary but are not observed today, and these co-occuring groups of species were often associated with no-analog climate conditions (Williams and Jackson 2007). The implication is that biotic assemblages of the future may be different from those observed in the past or present.

Although changes in mean climate through time are important, the influence of changes in climate variability is increasingly recognized (e.g., Thornton et al. 2014). Changes in the extreme values, such as maximum or minimum temperature or precipitation, may have large ecological effects, even if the mean value does not change. Increased variability could produce more record hot weather and more record cold weather with no change in mean temperature (Thornton et al. 2014). Extreme values may constrain where a particular species can survive or successfully reproduce. For example, in the Great Lakes region of the Upper Midwestern USA, declines in beech (Fagus grandifolia) populations occurred during times and locations of severe drought (Booth et al. 2012). Similarly, weather conditions at the tails of the distribution are often associated with infrequent severe disturbances, such as the very hot, dry conditions that are associated with large forest fires (Westerling et al. 2006). Recent decades have seen many records of maximum daily temperatures exceeded, especially during spring and summer. Such changes in climate variability are likely to have substantial impacts on food security, water supply, and other aspects of human well-being.

Climate is a driver of many natural disturbances (e.g., fire, floods, hurricanes, and landslides), and past changes in climate have altered disturbance regimes. For example, fire-return intervals in the Greater Yellowstone region (Wyoming, USA) varied between 100 and 300 years throughout the Holocene (roughly the past 10,000 years) in response to variability in climate (Millspaugh et al. 2000; Higuera et al. 2010). Similarly, the fire regime in northwestern Minnesota, USA, shifted from a 44-year fire cycle during the warm, dry fifteenth and sixteenth centuries to an 88-year fire cycle after the onset of cooler, moister conditions after 1700 AD and throughout the Little Ice Age (Clark 1990). At finer temporal scales, fire activity is also related to ENSO and PDO cycles (Schoennagel et al. 2005, 2007).

Several points that provide context for interpreting contemporary landscape patterns emerge from the many studies of past vegetation responses to climate. First, glacial–interglacial cycles have triggered the disassembly of communities followed by reassembly that is unpredictable in terms of either species composition or abundance. Compared to present-day communities, the past communities at many sites feature mixtures of species that are absent or very rare on the modern landscape (e.g., Barnosky et al. 1987; Williams and Jackson 2007). Second, the characterization of past plant communities indicates that the displacement of entire vegetation zones or communities is the exception rather than the rule. Species respond individualistically to climatic change, each according to its limits of tolerance, dispersal capability, and interactions with the surrounding biota. Third, disturbance regimes (discussed in detail in Chap. 6) have been very sensitive to past changes in climate. It is critically important for the landscape ecologist to appreciate the dynamic responses of the biota to variability in climate in space and time.

An important lesson from paleoecological studies is that climate has varied at nearly all ecologically relevant time scales, from among years to among millennia (Jackson 2004). The future implications of ongoing climate change for the distribution of Earth's biota and the patterns observed across landscapes are profound. The past decade has seen an exponential increase in the number and variety of studies that document changes that are already underway, with many species shifting northward and upward (e.g., Parmesan and Yohe 2003; Chen et al. 2011). Early evidence of recent climate change effects on tree distributions was detected in tree seedling distributions (Lenoir et al. 2009). For 13 of 17 tree species in French mountain forests, the elevation limit for seedlings was, on average, 29 m higher than the limit for adults (Lenoir et al. 2009). Many studies also forecast the potential ecological consequences of climate change (e.g., Coops and Waring 2011). The outputs from the suite of general circulation models and emissions scenario developed by the IPCC (e.g., IPCC 2013) form the basis for the vast majority of the forward-looking studies.

LANDFORM

Landforms range from nearly flat plains to rolling, irregular plains, to hills, to low mountains, to high mountains (Bailey 2009) and are identified on the basis of three major characteristics: (1) relative amount of gently sloping (<8 %) land, (2) local topographic relief, and (3) generalized profile, i.e., where and how much of the gently sloping land is located in valley bottoms or in uplands (Bailey 2009). Landforms may be described further by considering the topographic sequence of variation, or *soil catena*, of soils and associated vegetation types within each landform. For example, a mountainous landform may have a toposequence that includes ridgetops, steep slopes, shallow slopes, toe slopes, and protected coves. If different areas are composed of similar landforms with similar geology, then soil catenas and vegetation types may also be expected to be similar.

Four general effects of landform on ecosystem patterns and processes (Fig. 2.4) were categorized by Swanson et al. (1988) and still provide a useful classification:

 The elevation, aspect, parent materials, and slope of landforms affect air and ground temperature and the quantities of moisture, nutrients, and other materials available at sites within a landscape. For example, south-facing slopes receive more solar radiation than northward slopes, resulting in warmer, drier conditions. These topographic patterns are strongly related to the distribution of vegetation across a landscape (e.g., Whittaker 1956). Locally, the degree of concavity or convexity may also be important in Causes of Landscape

Pattern



FIGURE 2.4.

Examples of four classes of landform effects on ecosystem patterns and processes. (a) Topographic influences on rain and radiation (*arrow*) shadows. (b) Topographic control of water input to lakes. Lakes high in the drainage system receive a greater proportion of water input by direct precipitation that lakes lower in the landscape, where groundwater (*arrows*) predominates; also see Chap. 9. (c) Landform-constrained disturbance by wind (*arrow*) may be more common in upper-slope locations; also see Chap. 7. (d) The axes of steep concave landforms are most susceptible to disturbance by small landslides (*arrow*). MODIFIED FROM SWANSON ET AL. (1988)

determining microclimate or the rates of organic matter accumulation, and a landform index (also called a terrain shape index) is often used to characterize such local topographic variation (e.g., McNab 1993; Abella 2007). Methods also exist for estimating temperature variability in areas of complex terrain, such as mountainous environments, by explicitly accounting for topography (e.g., Lookingbill and Urban 2003). These methods are very useful because measurements at a single location (e.g., a weather station) cannot represent all locations in a topographically complex landscape with accuracy, and models that distribute such measurements at finer scales within a landscape are needed.

- 2. Landforms affect the flow of many quantities, including organisms, propagules, energy, and matter through a landscape. The funneling of winds, for example, may lead to dispersal pathways for wind-blown seeds. Many animal species have been observed to travel along riparian corridors (e.g., forest birds in tropical forests, Gillies and St. Clair 2008; wildlife along rivers, Naiman and Rogers 1997), and such corridors are also important for hydrochorous seed dispersal (e.g., Dixon et al. 2002). The position of lakes relative to groundwater flow pathways can strongly influence the chemical and biological characteristics of those lakes (Martin and Soranno 2006; Lottig et al. 2011). Fires are known to burn more rapidly in the upslope rather than downslope direction (e.g., Johnson and Miyanishi 2001).
- 3. Landforms affect the frequency and spatial pattern of natural disturbances such as fire, wind, or grazing. Across a New England landscape, susceptibility to damage from hurricanes varied with landscape position, with greater damage observed in more exposed topographic positions (Foster and Boose 1992; Boose et al. 1994). In coastal forests in Alaska, patterns of windthrow were also strongly influenced by topographic position (Kramer et al. 2001).
- 4. Landforms constrain the spatial pattern and rate or frequency of geomorphic processes—the mechanical transport of organic and inorganic material—that alter biotic characteristics and processes. Many different kinds of transport processes (e.g., by wind or water) move materials around landscapes (Reiners and Driese 2004) and are influenced by landform. Portions of a landscape may be more or less susceptible to landslides or to shifts in river channels.

Taken together, landforms significantly contribute to the development and maintenance of spatial heterogeneity across a landscape through their multiple effects on soils, vegetation, and animals (Swanson et al. 1988). Even in areas of relatively little topographic relief, such as the glacial landforms of the Upper Midwest of the US or riparian floodplains, physiography contributes to spatial variability in vegetation patterns (e.g., Turner et al. 2004a).

Soils

In terrestrial environments, soils provide the mineral nutrients, water, and support medium required by the vegetation. The substrate and soils of the surrounding landscape also affect the chemical qualities of the water in aquatic systems. Although it may be associated with particular landforms, there is tremendous spatial variability in *parent material* (i.e., the unweathered geologic material from which soil develops) across the surface of the Earth. Soils form, in part, through the process of weathering, in which chemical dissolution and physical abrasion break down Causes of

Landscape

Pattern

parent materials. Microbial activity is also important, and plant roots play an important role in soil formation. Soils are important in explaining landscape patterns because they differ substantially in many physical and chemical characteristics (e.g., texture, depth, pH, mineral composition) that influence the species that can be THEORY AND supported. For example, soils have different water-holding capacities, nutrient concentrations, and organic matter content, and such differences can lead to dominance by different plant species. In his classic plant ecology studies, Curtis (1959) described variation in plant communities or Southern Wisconsin that were associated with a soil-moisture gradient-mixed hardwoods on moist soils; Acer and Tilia on welldrained mesic sites, and a series of *Quercus* species on progressively drier sites.

> Studies of ecosystem development on Hawaii have provided convincing evidence for the role of substrate age on landscape patterns. Volcanic lava flows have occurred at varying times in the past, providing a unique opportunity to study ecosystem development on substrates of different age. Nutrient availability changes with long-term soil development (Vitousek and Farrington 1997). Young substrates (300 years BP) are relativity rich in available phosphorus, but plant growth is limited by relatively low nitrogen availability. Mineral phosphorus declines with substrate age, with nitrogen and phosphorus equilibrating in substrates of intermediate age. Eventually, plant growth becomes limited on old substrates (>150,000 years BP) by declining levels of phosphorus (Vitousek and Farrington 1997). These differences in soil development are, in turn, associated with substantial variation in forest structure and disturbance dynamics (Kellner et al. 2011). Although Hawaii offers a somewhat unique set of conditions, the general point is that substrate and soils have strong influences on vegetation and thus landscape structure. It is very important to understand these influences.

Biotic Interactions

Interactions among organisms—both positive and negative, such as competition, predation, and facilitation-can lead to spatial structuring of populations even when environmental resources are homogeneous in space. Theoretical population ecology focuses much attention on these dynamics (Tilman and Kareiva 1997; Ives et al. 1998), with an emphasis on how biotic interactions within and among populations can generate spatial patterns, and how these patterns, in turn, influence the outcome of further interactions. The product of these theoretical approaches often is a map of species distributions, or a time series of how these distributions may change in time and space.

Competition

Competition between two species in a landscape without any abiotic variation theoretically could result in homogeneous spatial distribution (i.e., one species remaining) through competitive exclusion (Gause 1934). The best competitor

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

would win out and establish itself throughout the landscape, resulting in a homogeneous distributional pattern. However, there are important exceptions to competitive exclusion.

Groups of competing organisms may interact in complex ways so that final distributions take on one of many alternative stable states. These *multiple stable states* (Sutherland 1974) may often occur when several different species can potentially occupy and dominate a site. Which species actually occurs on a specific site is determined by very small, stochastic changes in the initial conditions. But once established, the abundance pattern (and hence, the community state) may persist for many generations in spite of minor disturbances. However, a major disruption can shift abundance patterns and produce a new configuration that is also stable. This type of shifting, stochastic pattern is often observed near ecotones between major community types. For example, small, stable stands of trees may extend out into grassland, and small stable patches of grasses may intrude into the forest. Along this ecotonal edge, both communities are stable, and there are very small differences in the competitive advantage of one community over the other. Chance plays a role in which community is established, and once established that community can maintain itself until a major disruption occurs.

Gradients in resources, combined with competitive actions between species, can result in sudden shifts in vegetation types, or ecotones, even when the environmental resource gradients are small (Fig. 2.5). Along a north–south transect, for example, temperature and moisture may change gradually and continuously, with no sharp discontinuities. Conditions to the south may favor one species, while conditions to the north favor another. Somewhere along the transect, conditions will be suitable for the growth of both species. Competition for space may form a sharp ecotone between them, rather than a gradation or intermingling. Resource gradients may also influence mutualisms, such as plant–pollinator interactions, in ways that can produce spatial patterns. For example, the relative abundance of different flower morphologies varies along gradients of elevation and climate in response to variation in pollinator availability (Pellissier et al. 2010).

A different sort of pattern emerges from *reaction-diffusion* models of interacting populations (Okubo 1975). In these models, growth and competition occurs while species are also dispersing across a uniform environment. In many cases (Levin 1978), the initial uniform distribution of species is destabilized by the random diffusion, and the system spontaneously assumes a patchy, but periodic spatial distribution. For example, in *predator–prey models*, a patchy distribution results if the diffusion rate of the predator is sufficiently greater than that of the prey. A fixed spatial pattern with peaks and troughs in the density of both predators and prey can emerge with time. This mechanism of *diffusive instability* has been suggested as the cause of patchy distribution in plankton (Kierstad and Slobodkin 1953; Steele 1974a; Edelstein-Keshet 1986; Murray 1989). We might suspect this type of mechanism whenever a periodic or quasi-periodic pattern is detected on the landscape.

Causes of Landscape

45

46

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE



FIGURE 2.5.

Very slight differences in topography in the glaciated landscape of northern Wisconsin, USA, lead to substantial differences in soil water, creating a distinct ecotone between bog vegetation and upland forest.

Photo by M. G. Turner

Pattern also results from the activities of a *keystone species*. Paine (1974, 1976) studied the interactions between the mussel *Mytilus californianus* and its starfish predator, *Pisaster ochraceous*, in the intertidal zone. The mussel is a superior competitor, but predation by the starfish keeps the mussel population in check. Higher up on the shoreline, the starfish has difficulty reaching the mussels. The mussels completely dominate the rock surfaces and eventually grow too large for the starfish to handle. Further down the shoreline, the starfish consumes all young mussels. The result is a very distinct striped pattern on the rocks, with mussels above, but not below this line. When Paine (1974) experimentally removed the starfish, the mussels moved down the surface of the rock, outcompeting and eliminating 23 other species of invertebrates. The starfish is clearly the keystone predator that creates and maintains the spatial pattern. Holling (1992) believes that keystone species are a common cause of pattern, stating that, "All ecosystems are controlled and organized by a small number of key plant, animal, and abiotic processes that structure the landscape at different scales."

INFLUENCE OF DOMINANT ORGANISMS

In many respects, it is the dominant species that define spatial pattern on the landscape. Such organisms have been termed *foundation species*: a single species that defines much of the structure of a community by creating locally stable conditions for other species, by providing habitat, and by modulating and stabilizing fundamental ecosystem processes such as nutrient cycling (Ellison et al. 2005). Within the context of the abiotic template, foundation species alter the abiotic conditions and provide a resource base and substrate for the other populations in the ecosystem. This is not only true in terrestrial ecosystems; for example, kelp is the foundation species in some coastal ecosystems, and corals can be foundation species along tropical shorelines. The coral forms the substrate and resource base for the entire food web and its spatial distribution dictates the spatial pattern for the rest of the ecosystem.

Another source of landscape pattern derives from the activities of ecosystem engineers, organisms that physically create or modify habitat structure (Wright and Jones 2006). A notable example of an ecosystem engineer is the beaver (Castor canadensis), which alters riparian landscapes in much of North America. The beaver uses sticks and mud to dam a second- to fifth-order stream, impounding water behind the dam (Johnston and Naiman 1990a) and altering riparian vegetation and soils, forming extensive wetland mosaics. Aerial photography shows that as much as 13 % of the landscape can be altered in this way (Johnston and Naiman 1990b). Beaver activity increases landscape heterogeneity and can increase the number of herbaceous species in the riparian zone by over 33 % (Wright et al. 2002). In the northern portions of Yellowstone National Park, a decline in the stature and abundance of willows (Salix spp.) during the twentieth century was linked to reduced beaver activity (Wolf et al. 2007). Hydrologic changes, stemming from competitive exclusion of beaver because of overbrowsing by elk (Cervus ela*phus*), may have caused the landscape to transition from a historical beaver-pond and willow-mosaic state to an alternative stable state where active beaver dams and many willow stands are absent (Wolf et al. 2007). Recovery of willow in the landscape thus may depend on recovery of a key ecosystem engineer. A variety of other examples of ecosystem engineers creating landscape pattern include the American bison (Knapp et al. 1999), earthworm (Holdsworth et al. 2007), and white rhinos (Waldram et al. 2008).

LANDSCAPE CONSEQUENCES OF TROPHIC CASCADES

The concept of *trophic cascades* emerged from studies of within-lake communities and referred to the control exerted by a predator's influence "cascading" down the food chain (Carpenter et al. 1985). In landscape ecology, trophic cascades have been considered in the context of predators influencing the spatial patterns of herbivore presence or abundance, which can in turn affect vegetation patterns. Predators may affect herbivores directly by consuming them, or indirectly (i.e., nonconsumptive) by creating a *landscape of fear* that causes herbivores to alter their behavior. If herbivores avoid riskier areas of the landscape and use safer locations, the distribution and/or abundance of forage plants may also change. Thus, Causes of Landscape Pattern predators can initiate spatial trophic cascades by consuming and/or scaring their prey. Such dynamics were hypothesized in northern Yellowstone National Park, USA, following the 1995 reintroduction of wolves (*Canis lupus*) (e.g., Laundre et al. 2001), a landscape in which large populations of elk have been implicated in constraining the distribution of preferred browse species including aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) and willow (*Salix* spp.). After considerable study, some authors concluded that wolf reintroduction restored behaviorally meditated trophic cascades that allowed woody vegetation to grow taller and canopy cover or stem growth to increase in some locations (Beyer et al. 2007; Ripple and Beschta 2012). Other authors, however, found no evidence for recovery of aspen or willow, even where wolf populations were high (e.g., Creel and Christianson 2009; Kauffman et al. 2010; Kimball et al. 2011). The spirited scientific discussions surrounding this topic reflect the excitement associated with integrating behavioral ecology and trophic cascades as they may jointly affect landscape patterns.

Human Land Use

Patterns of land use can alter both the rate and direction of natural processes, and land-use patterns interact with the abiotic template to create the environment in which organisms must live, reproduce, and disperse. *Land use* refers to the way in which, and the purposes for which, humans employ the land and its resources (Meyer 1995). For example, humans may use land for food production, housing, industry, or recreation (Nir 1983). A related term, *land cover*, refers to the dominant habitat or vegetation type present, such as forest and grassland. Although they are related, it is important to note the distinction between these terms: an area of forest cover may be put to a variety of uses including low-density housing, logging, or recreation. We use "land-use change" to encompass all those ways in which human uses of the land have varied through time. The ways in which humans use the land are important contributors to landscape pattern and process.

PREHISTORIC INFLUENCES

Prehistoric humans had a major role in influencing landscapes (Fig. 2.6), and their past effects contribute to present-day landscape patterns. Using the pollen record, indications of human activities can be traced back thousands of years, and discrete episodes of human disturbance can be correlated with archeological data. Consider, for example, the historical expansion of human influences in Europe (Delcourt and Delcourt 1991). In the early Holocene, there was broad-based foraging throughout the Mediterranean region. The switch from a nomadic to a more sedentary way of life was just beginning ~10,000 BP, and by ~800 BP, when permanent settlements were established in Greece. These settlements included cultivation of crops and maintenance of livestock, and food production became more

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

FIGURE 2.6.

Using a high-resolution 130,000-year environmental record, Rule et al. (2012) helped to resolve the cause of extinction of Australia's megafauna. Results suggest that human arrival rather than climate caused megafaunal extinction, which then triggered replacement of mixed rainforest by sclerophyll vegetation through a combination of direct effects on vegetation of relaxed herbivore pressure and increased fire in the landscape. This ecosystem shift was as large as any effect of climate change over the last glacial cycle and indicates the magnitude of changes that may have followed megafaunal extinction elsewhere in the world.

Modified from Rule et al. (2012)



labor intensive. Cereal cultivation caused a major shift in patterns of land use because the permanent fields needed weeding and required nutrient replenishment, both of which were activities requiring considerable human labor. By about 6500 BP, farming expanded north of Greece as winters became warmer and precipitation increased. Development of more efficient technologies also contributed to the continued expansion of agriculture in Europe. Use of the "ard," a tool that used the angle between the trunk and roots of a tree to break through the soil and which was pulled by an oxen, became prevalent ~5000 BP. Further human expansion LANDSCAPEbecame based on the maintenance of work animals because oxen-drawn plows that
could both furrow and turn over the soil were developed and used by ~3000 BP.ECOLOGY INMore efficient bronze sickles also replaced wooden sickles.

What were the effects of this expansion of human activities in Europe on native vegetation? The impact of the axe and spade on ecosystems began to transform natural landscapes into cultural ones through plowing, burning, and trampling. The ard, because it did not overturn the soil, left perennial roots intact. The plow, however, removed perennials from the soil and encouraged establishment of annual plants. The process of deforestation and conversion of land to pasture or crop cultivation changed the landscape from a natural to a cultural mosaic (Delcourt 1987). This also occurred in North America, although early settlements of Native Americans were more restricted to floodplains; uplands were used much later than in Europe (Delcourt 1987). However, Native Americans in North America profoundly influenced the landscape by establishing settlements, practicing agriculture, hunting, and using fire to induce vegetation changes (Denevan 1992).

The influences of prehistoric humans on landscapes were characterized by Delcourt (1987) into five main types. (1) Humans changed the relative abundances of plants, especially the dominance structure in forest communities. In the pollen record from Crawford Lake, Ontario, land clearance and maize cultivation by the Iroquois is documented by pollen sequences spanning the fourteenth to seventeenth centuries. During this time, the dominance of tree species in the surrounding forest changed from late-successional species such as beech (Fagus grandifolia) and sugar maple (Acer saccharum) to forest of oak (primarily Quercus rubra) and white pine (Pinus strobus). (2) Humans extended or truncated the distributional ranges of plant species (woody and herbaceous). In Europe, for example, the range of olives (Olea europaea) after 3000 years BP was extended through cultivation from the Mediterranean coast throughout southern Europe. Truncation of the range of a native tree species by prehistoric humans has been documented for bald cyprus (Taxodium distichum) in the central Mississippi and lower Illinois valleys in eastern North America. Charcoal evidence suggests a preference for cyprus wood during the period from 2000 years BP to 1450 AD, with the species becoming locally extinct as human populations increased (Delcourt 1987). (3) Opportunities were created for the invasion of weedy species into disturbed areas. In many places, weedy species assemblages associated with cultivated fields increase in abundance in the pollen record, and these increases are correlated with archeological evidence of human occupation (Delcourt 1987). (4) The nutrient status of soils was altered through both depletion and fertilization. (5) The landscape mosaic was altered, especially the distribution of forest and nonforest. This last change is also easiest to detect in the paleoecological record by examining ratios of tree to herbaceous pollen.

A key point from this brief discussion of long-term development of the cultural landscape is that what we perceive to be "natural" today may be, in fact, the prod-

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

uct of human alterations that date back over several centuries. For instance, one Causes of can still see the imprint of Roman roads when fields lie fallow in Belgium. A wide range of ecosystem effects due to human activities may be found, from harvests of resources, agricultural development, and urban construction. Because humans have long been present in many landscapes, their role in creating landscape pattern should not be discounted.

HISTORICAL AND PRESENT-DAY EFFECTS

Both worldwide and in the United States, land-cover patterns today are altered principally by direct human use: by agriculture, raising of livestock, forest harvesting, and construction (Meyer 1995). Human society relies on natural habitats for a variety of services, including productivity; recycling of nutrients; breakdown of wastes; and maintenance of clean air, water, and soil. In North America, land-use changes have been particularly profound since Europeans settled the continent three centuries ago. Landscapes have become mosaics of natural and human-influenced patches, and once-continuous natural habitats are becoming increasingly fragmented (e.g., Burgess and Sharpe 1981; Harris 1984).

Land-use changes in the United States serve as a handy example. At the time of European settlement, forest covered about half the present lower 48 states. Most of the forestland was in the moister east and northwest regions, and it had already been altered by Native American land-use practices (Williams 1989). Clearing of forests for fuel, timber, and other wood products, and to open the land for crops led to a widespread loss of forest cover that lasted through the early 1900s. So extensive was this loss that by 1920 the area of virgin forest remaining in the conterminous United States was but a tiny fraction of that present in 1620 (Fig. 2.7). Some originally cleared areas, for example, New England, the Southeast and the Upper Midwest, have become reforested due to lack of cultivation. In other regions, clearing for agriculture has been more permanent (e.g., the Lower Midwest), or harvest of primary forest has continued until recent times (e.g., Pacific Northwest).

Through their activities, modern humans have often been shown to simplify landscape patterns, creating straighter and more regular spatial arrangements (Krummel et al. 1987). Roads, transportation corridors, and other linear features impose new spatial patterns in landscapes (e.g., Laurance et al. 2009; Forman et al. 2003). Urbanization results in profound changes to aquatic systems, burying firstorder streams (Elmore and Kaushal 2008), replacing vegetation that shades stream corridors and prevents erosion (Baron et al. 1998) with hardened surfaces producing high-intensity flows that transport greater levels of sediment and nutrients (Lookingbill et al. 2009).

Developed land in the United States has expanded as the population has grown in number, with most of the population now living in cities, towns, and suburbs rather than on farms. Americans spread out more across the land as transportation technologies improved, especially as the automobile became the primary mode of
FIGURE 2.7.

Approximate area of virgin old-growth forest in the contiguous United States in 1620, 1850 and 1920. Note that this does not depict total forest area because many forests, especially in the eastern United States, have regrown following clearing and the abandonment of agriculture. ADAPTED FROM MEYER (1995)



transportation. Present-day patterns of settlement take up more land per person than in the past, and homes and subdivisions are more dispersed across the landscape. Exurban development has increased in many North American landscapes as environmental amenities attract residents to more rural areas. The resulting increase in the *wildland–urban interface* (WUI) has received considerable attention (e.g., Radeloff et al. 2005; Theobald and Romme 2007). The consequences of increased residential development in forested regions (i.e., houses under the canopy) are not well understood but are receiving considerable study. Expansion of the WUI is associated with increasing conflicts between human values and ecological processes, such as natural disturbance and activities of large predators.

Urbanization is a strong trend globally, and a frontier of rapid and sometimes chaotic land-use change surrounds urban areas (Meyer 1995; Mcdonald et al. 2009). For example, changes in landscape pattern around Beijing, China, show increased fragmentation associated with the concentric rings of expanding urbanization (Shi et al. 2012). Trends in urban land are unique because they typically run in only one direction—that is, urban lands do not revert readily to other categories in the short term. Thus, the distribution of developed lands will leave a long-lasting footprint on the landscape (Turner et al. 1998a), and proximity to urban lands is strongly associated globally with increased threats to conservation lands (Mcdonald et al. 2009).

Emergence of the Anthropocene

The pervasive influence of humans on landscapes throughout the world is widely recognized, and there is growing consensus that humans have transformed ecosystem patterns and processes across most of the terrestrial biosphere (e.g., Foley et al. 2005). This recognition has led some researchers to suggest that the traditional depiction of global biomes based on climate and physiography is insufficient to depict the patterns of terrestrial ecosystems. Ellis and Ramanukutty (2008) introduced the concept of anthropogenic biomes, or *anthromes*, to assess the human-caused changes in the classic biomes. Globally, anthropogenic transformations of biomes between 1700 and 2000 resulted about equally from land-use expansion into wildlands and from intensification of land use (Fig. 2.8; Ellis et al. 2010a, b) See following note in figure legend. These authors report that the terrestrial biosphere made a critical transition from mostly wild to mostly anthropogenic early in the twentieth century (Ellis et al. 2010a, b). For landscape ecologists, it is clear that human activities and land use must be considered a key driver of landscape pattern.

Disturbance and Succession

Disturbance and the subsequent development of vegetation are key contributors to pattern on the landscape. By *disturbance*, we mean any relatively discrete event in time that disrupts ecosystem, community, or population structure and changes resource availability, substrate, or the physical environment (White and Pickett Causes of Landscape Pattern



Anthromes Used

Dense Settlements Urban

Mixed settlements

Villages

- Rice villages Irrigated villages Rainfed villages
- Pastoral villages

Croplands

- Residential irrigated croplands
- Residential rainfed croplands
- Populated croplands
- Remote croplands

Rangelands

Residential rangelands
Populated rangelands
Remote rangelands

Seminatural

Seminatural

- Residential woodlands
- Populated woodlands

Remote woodlands

Inhabited treeless & barren lands

Wild

- Wildlands
- Wild woodlands
 - Wild treeless & barren lands

FIGURE 2.8.

Anthropogenic biomes and changes in their global distribution between 1700 and 2000. From Ellis et al. (2010b) and available at http://ecotope.org/anthromes/maps/ 1985). Examples include fires, volcanic eruptions, floods, and storms. Disturbances are often described by a variety of attributes including their spatial distribution, frequency, spatial extent, and magnitude. The spread of disturbance and spatial patterns of recovery have received considerable attention in landscape ecology, and we devote a chapter to exploring these dynamics (see Chap. 6). Here, we briefly recognize disturbance as an important agent of pattern creation at a variety of spatial and temporal scales. As with the other factors discussed in this chapter, disturbances leave a heterogeneous imprint on terrestrial landscapes (e.g., Foster et al. 1998; Turner 2010) as well as within aquatic systems, such as riverine landscapes (e.g., Parsons et al. 2005).

LANDSCAPE LEGACIES AND THE ROLE OF HISTORY

A major development in contemporary landscape ecology has been confirmation of the role of history in today's landscapes and the widespread importance of landscape legacies. Since the 1980s, this recognition has grown along with the rise of environmental history (e.g., Cronon 1982) and an early recognition in ecology that history might explain contemporary patterns. Many scientists thought that the distant past had little effect on modern ecosystem patterns and processes (Foster et al. 2003). However, when ecological studies expanded to regional scales, it became difficult to avoid consideration of current and historical human activities-the role of people could no longer be ignored. There was also growing evidence that most "natural areas" had more cultural history than had been assumed previously, and there was acknowledgement that the legacies of historic land use were remarkably persistent. Finally, there was appreciation that history adds explanatory power to understanding the structure and function of contemporary landscapes. Numerous empirical studies have now documented effects of historical events on a wide range of attributes (e.g., species presence and abundance, forest stand structure, nutrient pools and fluxes, and vulnerability to nonnative invasive species). Vegetation and soils seem to be particularly sensitive indicators of historic land use. Although historic timber harvesting and agriculture [i.e., "the ghost of land use past" (Harding et al. 1998)] have received most attention, natural disturbances can also leave their mark on landscape patterns for decades or even centuries.

In well-developed forests of the northeastern US, David Foster and colleagues found that variation in soil characteristics and the plant community reflected land use that occurred over 100 years ago (Foster 1992). Although the regional distribution of forests was similar to that of presettlement, some tree species (e.g., birch, red maple) had increased over time while others (e.g., sugar maple, beech) had declined. Their analyses showed that the variety and abundance of Causes of

Landscape

Pattern

trees varied with past land use. Indeed, despite environmental variation in the region, studies have shown that the extensive nineteenth-century forest clearance and land use resulted in severe reductions or local extinction of forest plant populations and remains an overriding factor influencing modern vegetation composition and structure (Bellemare et al. 2002). In northern US Great Lakes forests, historical land use was associated with homogenization of forest communities across the landscape, and current forests that have lower species diversity, functional diversity, and structural complexity compared to pre-Euro-American forests (Schulte et al. 2007). In forests of the southern Appalachians, the legacies of historic land use also affected the likelihood that forest understories might be invaded by nonnative species (Kuhman et al. 2010).

Effects of historical land use were especially pronounced on forest herbs that have limited dispersal capability, a trend also reported in other regions (e.g., Southern Appalachians, Pearson et al. 1996; Mitchell et al. 2002; Ontario, Canada, Brown and Boutin 2009). While effects of historical agriculture on forest understory plants are partly mediated by establishment limitation (Flinn and Vellend 2005), mortality of seedlings and juveniles may also be higher in more recent forests (Jacquemyn and Brys 2008). Biomass allocation patterns also can differ with historical land use (Fraterrigo et al. 2006a). Soil nutrient concentrations sometime vary with land-use history (e.g., Bellemare et al. 2002), and Fraterrigo et al. (2005) found that historical land use altered the variance and spatial structure of soil nutrients. Soil microbial communities also showed a persistent legacy of land use history (Fraterrigo et al. 2006b). Geostatistical analyses (which are covered in Chap. 5) suggested that the spatial patterns of soil carbon, potassium, and phosphorus were homogenized in former pastures (Fraterrigo et al. 2005). Carbon storage can also be affected by land-use history. In Wisconsin, USA, total aboveground live forest carbon declined by nearly 75 % between presettlement times and the peak of agricultural clearing in the 1930s (Rhemtulla et al. 2009). Carbon stocks recovered subsequently to about 60 % of the presettlement value, but the landscape distribution of carbon storage shifted. Former savanna ecosystems in the south store more carbon, and forest ecosystems in the north store less (Rhemtulla et al. 2009).

In addition to the actual use land in the past, the spatial pattern of historic land use can influence contemporary patterns. In seminatural grasslands in Sweden, the spatial configuration of habitats in the landscape influenced plant species diversity for 50–100 years (Lindborg and Eriksson 2004). Species diversity was not related to current connectivity of the grasslands, and strong relationships were found with the historic patterns of the grasslands. Historic connectivity was positively related to estimates of species diversity, the total species richness, and species density, and the model with the highest explanatory power included the configuration from 100 years ago (Lindborg and Eriksson 2004). This study demonstrated that present-day

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

species composition was related to historic landscape structure and suggested timelagged influences of historical habitat patterns. Other studies have demonstrated similar consequences of historical habitat connectivity on contemporary species assemblages, including butterflies in European grasslands (Sang et al. 2010) and understory plants in pine woodlands on the coastal plain of the southeastern US (Brudvig and Damschen 2011).

For how long do land-use legacies persist? The answer varies among landscapes, of course, but studies in western Europe have revealed exceptionally long land-use legacies. In northeastern France, large areas were cleared of forest during Roman occupation, farmed, and then abandoned to forest. Using archeological evidence to reconstruct land-use patterns, Dupouey et al. (2002) tested the hypothesis that legacies of the ancient agriculture may last for millennia. The data supported this hypothesis: plant community composition was closely related to the intensity of ancient land use (Dupouey et al. 2002). These authors concluded that 200 years of farming during Roman times induced gradients in soil nutrients and plant assemblages that were still measurable almost 2000 years later! Further, the effects of Gallo-Roman occupation 1600 years ago were observed not only on current-day soils and plant communities but also in the seed bank (Plue et al. 2008). Historic land use was associated with persistent ruderal species in the seed bank, co-occuring with several ancient forest species that were at high abundance in the occupied sites. Clearly, the impact of ancient land use on forest vegetation in Europe must not be underestimated (Plue et al. 2008).

We have emphasized land-use legacies, but natural disturbances can also produce persistent legacies through their influence on spatial patterns of postdisturbance succession. Disturbances themselves produce patterns (e.g., Foster et al. 1998), and a stand-age mosaic is often observed across a landscape that has been subjected to disturbances at different times in the past. However, a single disturbance event can also create a long-lasting imprint on landscape pattern. Following the 1988 fires in Yellowstone National Park, WY, studies reported enormous variation in postfire stand density (0 to >500,000 stems ha⁻¹) within the burned landscape (Turner et al. 2004b). Chronosequence studies used to reconstruct the spatial variability of tree density in the past revealed that postfire variation in stand structure and function persists for nearly 200 years (Kashian et al. 2005a, b).

In sum, landscape legacies are ubiquitous and important. Current studies continue to explore the role of history, and many questions remain to be explored. For example, variation in agricultural practices (e.g., tillage, crop rotations, fertilizer applications) often is not well resolved in space or time, and arid lands can be more difficult to study. How do historical legacies constrain restoration alternatives? Under what conditions can reintroduction of historically natural processes (e.g., fire) restore historic landscape conditions? What will be the future legacies of today's patterns of land use? Causes of Landscape Pattern LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

WHY IS IT STILL DIFFICULT TO EXPLAIN AND PREDICT LANDSCAPE CHANGE?

At the beginning of this chapter, we claimed that predicting landscape change remains very challenging. It is much easier to explain patterns by looking back in time than it is to anticipate future rates, directions, and spatial patterns on a given landscape. Why does this remain so difficult? What approaches are useful? Returning to the notion of the perfect landscape, Phillips (2007) summarized three take-home points that we paraphrase here for landscape ecologists:

- A landscape at a given place and time is a particular, contingent outcome of deterministic, global laws operating in a specific environmental and historical context. Historical and spatial contingencies are very important, and landscape patterns may converge or diverge over time.
- 2. A given landscape is only one possible outcome of a given set of processes and boundary conditions, which is determined by a specific, perhaps irreproducible set of contingencies. However, the possible outcomes are constrained by deterministic controls that set boundaries on what outcomes are feasible.
- 3. Explaining landscape patterns requires the integration of global approaches that consider the deterministic controls and local approaches that account for the contingencies.

From this, it follows that predicting future landscape patterns is difficult because contingencies may be unanticipated or even unpredictable. When similar locations can arise from different histories, and similar histories can produce different outcomes (e.g., Ernoult et al. 2006), it is not easy to infer causation. Here, we highlight four key factors that make prediction landscape patterns difficult.

Multivariate Interacting Drivers

Landscape patterns are clearly not the result of single drivers. Multiple drivers are often operating across a wide range of spatial and temporal scales, and they may interact in unpredictable ways.

Statistical methods are increasingly employed to detect multivariate correlates of changing patterns (e.g., Turner et al. 1996; Black et al. 2003; Crk et al. 2009). One comprehensive analysis focused on changing spatial patterns in forest landscapes of the interior Columbia Basin, located in the northwestern US (Black et al. 2003). This study considered a wide range of social and biophysical correlates, including demographic, cultural, climatic, topographic, and geologic factors. The authors hypothesized that patterns of change would be explained by social and biophysical variables operating at a similar scale, but changes were not necessarily correlated to factors at the same scale. Broad-scale social variables, including land ownership,

economic market structure, and cultural values, were important covariates in all models. Biophysical parameters related to local growing conditions modified these influences (Black et al. 2003). Results confirmed the strong influence of humans on landscape patterns and identified interactions with biophysical variables that were difficult to predict; in the authors' words, "The story is overwhelmingly that of social system factors imposed on biophysical factors" (Black et al. 2003).

Interacting drivers are also key in wildland landscapes, and recent studies in the Serengeti ecosystem nicely illustrate this point while also demonstrating the use of simulation modeling to study pattern–process interactions. The Serengeti is a wellstudied savanna-grassland landscape in east Africa that is especially famous for its native wildlife. The spatial patterns of tree cover in the Serengeti landscape change over time and are difficult to predict. Using a spatial simulation model that included vegetation, fire and dominant herbivore dynamics, Holdo et al. (2009) detected interactions among multiple drivers of pattern. For examples, elephants and fire had synergistic negative effects on woody cover; fire increases the heterogeneity of tree cover when grazers are present, but decreases that heterogeneity when grazers are absent; the steep rainfall gradient in this landscape directly affects the pattern of tree cover in the absence of fire, but with fire, the woody cover is determined by the grazing patterns of migratory wildebeest (Holdo et al. 2009). Thus, as mobile consumers, grazers could greatly affect the spatial patterns of tree cover in the Serengeti via their effects on fire.

Thresholds and Nonlinearities

Another challenge to predicting landscape patterns involves nonlinear dynamics and thresholds. An *ecological threshold* is the point at which there is an abrupt change in an ecosystem quality, property, or phenomenon, or where small changes in an environmental driver produce large responses in the ecosystem (Groffman et al. 2006b). If a landscape is characterized by thresholds that have not been resolved, future changes are likely to be surprising. As we discuss in detail in Chap. 3, the connectivity (or fragmentation) of habitat patterns change nonlinearly with the proportion of the landscape occupied by the habitat.

Social-Ecological Systems

The past decade has seen a tremendous increase in the number of studies trying to integrate social and ecological drivers of landscape patterns and changes in meaningful ways. Given the dominant influence of human activities on global ecosystems, the importance of this is apparent. However, such interdisciplinary studies are difficult, in part because of the need to integrate quantitative and qualitative approaches, and in part because disciplinary traditions can be hard to bridge. Early approaches used quantitative proxies for social drivers, including land ownership, Causes of Landscape Pattern LANDSCAPEpopulation density, distances to nearest road or market centers (e.g., Spies et al.
1994; Turner et al. 1996; Wear et al. 1996). Contemporary studies attempt to inte-
grate institutions, governance structures, and cultural attitudes (e.g., see Turner
and Robbins 2008). Successful studies usually require multi-investigator teams that
include natural and social scientists. Furthermore, it remains important to continue
development of methods that allow qualitative and quantitative data to be com-
bined for analysis (Bürgi et al. 2004).

Limited Ability to Perform Experiments

Experimentation is often considered the "gold standard" for demonstrating mechanism and causality. In landscape studies, experimentation at broad spatial scales is often logistically impossible, and one is often limited to studying correlations (Bürgi et al. 2004). Hypothesized causalities between drivers and landscape patterns or changes can be evaluated statistically (e.g., Bürgi and Turner 2002; Crk et al. 2009). Another approach borrows from historical methods and reconstructs landscape history in narrative form using methods such as oral histories to augment archival data sources. For example, a case study of landscape history in a Peruvian Amazon landscape from 1948 to 2005 identified key socioeconomic drivers (e.g., boom and bust in demand for barbasco, a native plant that contains rotenone in its roots; commercialization of DDT; introduction of agricultural credit programs) that were related to observed landscape changes (Arce-Nazario 2007). Such place-based studies probe the complexity of landscape dynamics and are rich in detail and understanding, although they may not be general. To understand landscape pattern and change, landscape ecologists generally use a multipronged approach that includes comparative study of landscapes that differ in putative drivers, simulation models in which the consequences of different drivers can be explored, and "natural experiments" that may include disturbances or human land-use patterns.

In conclusion, landscape patterns are generated by complex relationships among multiple factors. Every landscape has resulted from multiple and contingent causation. History both shapes current conditions and constrains future responses, and current landscape patterns are creating legacies for the future. Landscape ecologists need a healthy appreciation for multiple causality, a lengthy temporal perspective, and an awareness of legacies.

SUMMARY SUMMARY

Today's landscapes result from many causes, including variability in abiotic conditions such as climate, landform, and soils; biotic interactions that generate spatial patterning even under homogeneous conditions; past and present patterns of human settlement and land use; and the dynamics of natural disturbance and succession. All landscapes have a history, and determining the conditions that gave rise to different landscapes in the past is critical for anticipating the future. Every landscape is unique because the combined, interacting effects of multiple environmental controls and drivers generate a landscape that is unlikely to be duplicated exactly at any other place or time. Any particular landscape is a singular outcome from a range of plausible outcomes. Historical and spatial contingencies play a big role.

Variability in climate and landform is observed over broad scales, and these abiotic drivers constrain other causes of landscape change. Climate effects are modified by landform—which includes both geology and topography, or physical relief. The distribution of plant and animal communities and indeed of entire biomes has varied tremendously with past changes in climate, even in the absence of human activities. Not only have species varied in their ranges, but also the local abundances—and thus relative dominance—of taxa have changed. Landforms are important influences on landscape pattern because they influence moisture, nutrients, and materials at sites within a landscape; they affect flows of many quantities; they may influence the disturbance regime; and they constrain the pattern and rate of geomorphic processes. Landscape ecologists must understand the influence of climate and landform on the biota and recognize the dynamic responses of the biota to variability in climate in space and time.

Interactions among organisms, such as competition, facilitation, and predation, may lead to spatial structure, even in the absence of abiotic variation. Keystone species or dominant organisms may define spatial pattern on a landscape. Disturbance and succession are key contributors to landscape pattern. Humans are also a strong driver of landscape patterns, as land-use patterns interact with the abiotic template to create the environment in which organisms must live, reproduce, and disperse. Nearly all landscapes, even those we perceive as "natural" today, probably have a history of human influence that dates back a long time. Many landscapes today have become mosaics of natural and human-influenced patches, and once-continuous natural habitats have become increasingly influenced by human activities. Effects of past land use (i.e., landuse legacies) are increasingly recognized as important determinants of the present-day biota that inhabit our landscapes. Studies in Europe have demonstrated legacies of land use that have persisted for over 1000 years. The future legacies of contemporary land-use patterns may shape landscapes for decades and centuries to come. Explaining and predicting landscape change remains challenging because of multiple interacting drivers, thresholds and nonlinearities, complex interactions with social drivers, and the limited ability to experiment at landscape scales.

Causes of Landscape

61

LANDSCAPE	~ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS						
ECOLOGY IN	1. What is meant by the concept of the "perfect landscape," and how does this concept						
THEORY AND	influence the way we explain contemporary landscape patterns or project future patterns?						
PRACTICE	2. Consider the variety of factors that create landscape pattern. How would you rank their relative importance? Do you think this ranking has changed through time? Explain your answers.						
	3. Why is it important to understand the history of a landscape? What types of effects of events from the past may remain in a present-day landscape patterns?						

4. As human influences intensify and climate change continues, how do you think landscape ecology should evolve so that it can help address key questions of the twentyfirst century?

\sim FURTHER READING

- Black AE, Morgan P, Hessburg PF (2003) Social and biophysical correlates of change in forest landscapes of the interior Columbia Basin, USA. Ecol Appl 13:51–67
- Jackson ST (2006) Vegetation, environment and time: the origination and termination of ecosystems. J Veg Sci 17:547–557
- Kramer MG, Hansen AJ, Taper ML, Kissinger EJ (2001) Abiotic controls on long-term windthrow disturbance and temperate rain forest dynamics in southeast Alaska. Ecology 82:2749–2768
- Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845
- Phillips JD (2007) The perfect landscape. Geomorphology 84:159-169
- Plue J, Hermy M, Verheyen K, Thuiller P, Saguez R, Decocq G (2008) Persistent changes in forest vegetation and seed bank 1,600 years after human occupation. Landsc Ecol 23:673–688
- Wright JP, Jones CG, Flecker AS (2002) An ecosystem engineer, the beaver, increases species richness at the landscape scale. Oecologia 132:96–101

INTRODUCTION TO MODELS

Models are essential tools in landscape ecology, as they are in many scientific disciplines. Spatial models, in particular, play a prominent role in evaluating the consequences of landscape heterogeneity for ecological dynamics. Because we refer to models throughout this book—and because we are aware that many students have had little training in modeling or systems ecology—the first part of this chapter presents an elementary set of concepts, terms, and caveats for students to understand what models are, why they are used, and how models are constructed and evaluated. We also define what we mean by a spatial model and indicate the circumstances where spatial models will be most useful. The second part of this chapter introduces neutral landscape models (NLMs) and illustrates the utility of simple models for understanding landscape heterogeneity and testing hypotheses linking pattern with process. There are many excellent texts that address modeling issues in greater depth. Students interested in the modeling process are referred to the recommended readings at the end of the chapter. LANDSCAPE

(

💊 WHAT ARE MODELS AND WHY DO WE USE THEM?

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

What Is a Model?

A model is an abstract representation of a system or process. Models can be formulated in many different ways. Physical models are material replicas of the object or system under study, but at a reduced size; for example, models of ships and airplanes are developed to better understand the forces that act upon them, and architectural models allow the space and structure of a building to be visualized. Physical models are used in many branches of engineering, but ecologists also build physical models of streams, ponds, and even whole ecosystems (Perez et al. 1991; Macilwain 1996; Petersen et al. 2003) providing an important bridge between experiments in natural systems and theoretical models (Stewart et al. 2013). In contrast, abstract models use symbols rather than physical devices to represent the system being studied. For example, verbal models are constructed out of words, graphical models are pictorial representations, and mathematical models use symbolic notation to define relationships describing the system of interest. We focus here primarily on mathematical models, which have played an important role in ecology since the beginning of the twentieth century (Fig. 3.1).

Why Landscape Ecologists Need Models

George E. P. Box (1979) stated in this oft-repeated quote, "All models are wrong, but some are useful." Models are useful because they allow us to precisely define the problem, articulate the relevant concepts, and then provide a means of analyzing data and communicating results. Most importantly, models allow us to predict the logical outcomes of how we think a system works and then explore the suite of conditions that vary in time and space. Because knowledge is always incomplete, and all data needed to build a model are never available, all models require assumptions to "fill in the blanks." Therefore, most models are used to explore the consequences of our assumptions and hypotheses rather than to represent system structure and dynamics definitively. Models should always be regarded as one of the scientific tools for achieving a specific end rather than as goals unto themselves.

When ecologists are faced with answering questions in a large and complex landscape, it is difficult—sometimes impossible—to sample every possible combination of conditions or to conduct experiments at the ideal spatial and temporal scales. The cost of landscape experiments in time and money is often prohibitive. Some management options have been evaluated using experimental methods (see Bowers et al. 1996; Mabry and Barrett 2002; Haddad et al. 2003; Joshi et al. 2006) while manipulations of microlandscapes have provided valuable insights into the

Introduction

to Models

1000-1050	Developments in Ecological Modeling	Related Developments in Technology					
1900-1999	Lotka-Volterra models (1912)	Aerial photography					
	Leslie matrix models (1945)						
1960 —	First ecosystem models	Analogue computers					
	International Biological Program (IBP)	Development of integrated circuits					
1970 —	Metapopulation model						
	Forest gap models (JABOWA/FORET)	ARPAnet (first inernet)					
	Watershed models	Landsat					
1980 —	Early landscape models	Digital computers					
1500	Patch dynamics models Spatially explicit models	Geographic information sytems (GIS)					
	General circulation models (GCMs)	Personal computers					
	Integrated ecological- economic-social models	Supercomputers					
1990 —							
	Gap analysis for biodiversity protection	Search engines					
	Individual-based models (IBM)	Linux					
	Online landscape data	of internet					
	FRAGSTATS released	Global Positioning Systems (GPSs)					
2000 —							
	Landscape genetics models	Landsat imagery available for free					
	Downscaled GCMs	Community-developed open software					
		Wireless communications					
2010		Social media					

FIGURE 3.1.

Timeline of the development of models in ecology, with important technological and programmatic developments that influenced ecological modeling highlighted. Developments shown are not comprehensive but selected for illustration.

response of insects, small mammals, and some plants to alternative patterns (e.g., LANDSCAPE Johnson et al. 1992; Glenn and Collins 1993; Imes et al. 1993; Wiens 1995; Wiens ECOLOGY IN et al. 1995; With et al. 1999; Brinkerhoff et al. 2005; Johnson and Haddad 2011). However, extrapolation of these results to large regions remains a perplexing prob-THEORY AND lem (see Chap. 1). Landscape ecologists more commonly use field studies to pro-PRACTICE vide correlative relationships-for example by comparing locations that vary in their degree of land-cover or connectivity of a specific habitat type. Natural disturbances have also been used as "uncontrolled experiments" with their effects expressed in quantitative terms (see Chap. 6). However, all these approaches are limited in the range of conditions, replication, or control. Under these circumstances, the unique features of each landscape or disturbance event may dominate results. Models can be used to relax empirical constraints, providing a means of systematic comparison across a broad range of conditions, but they do so at the cost of increased levels of unknowns and uncertainties.

> It has been more than 20 years since Baker (1989a) and Sklar and Costanza (1990) first reviewed landscape models. Focused reviews on specific topics have been published since then (e.g., Turner et al. 1994b; Lambin 1997; Fries et al. 1998; Perry et al. 2004a; Perry and Enright 2006; Keane et al. 2007; Scheller and Mladenoff 2007), but the ambitious task of assembling a comprehensive overview of the broad range of topics and applications found in landscape ecology has not been attempted. An informal survey of papers listed in ISI's Web-of-Science (2011) over the last 10 years (2001–2011) referencing both "landscapes" and "model" for a subset of journals (American Naturalist, Biological Conservation, CONSERVATION BIOLOGY, ECOLOGY, ECOLOGICAL APPLICATIONS, ECOLOGICAL MODELLING, LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY, and OIKOS) showed that over 1167 papers have been published within this topic area in the last 10 years. These papers represent a wide diversity of topics and approaches and illustrate the difficulty of placing landscape models into simple, discrete categories necessary for a coherent review. The volume and diversity of approaches are healthy signs of the continued growth of this field of research, but both also make a judicious choice of modeling approach even more challenging. A clear and simple paradigm for addressing this issue has yet to emerge. Consequently, useful modeling strategies and examples for studying pattern and process in changing landscapes will be presented throughout the remainder of this book.

> Models may be used to formalize understanding, define unknowns, guide field studies, develop theory, or make predictions. All these objectives will require a careful strategic and tactical approach. *Strategic issues* are those concerned with setting objectives and selecting an approach that minimizes errors; *tactical issues* are those concerned with the details of model construction, testing, and application.

STRATEGY FOR DEVELOPING MODELS

All models are simplifications of real systems (Risch et al. 2005; Hunt et al. 2007). Therefore, the first strategic issue is to define the purpose and scope for the model, the inherent limits of available information and measurements, and to consider the consequences of model error on results.

Define the Problem and Develop a Conceptual Model

A specific statement of model objectives provides the framework for model development and the context within which simulation results must be interpreted. Definition of the problem should be as specific as possible, allowing one to determine the form of the model, the degree of complexity needed, and the spatial and temporal scales at which it will operate (Grant et al. 1997). Once the problem is stated, a conceptual or qualitative model can be developed. The conceptual model identifies system boundaries (the temporal and spatial scales and associated inputs and outputs), the model components (state variables), and the relationships among the state variables. A conceptual model of sufficient detail allows the important variables and parameters (coefficients that control model processes), the system drivers (driving variables, see Table 3.3 in Appendix) and the required inputs and outputs to be defined. The appropriate level of spatial and temporal resolution for the model (i.e., model scale) is a key consideration in a conceptual model (Fig. 3.2). Once formally stated, the model developer should consider the following three issues that affect the adequacy of the approach defined by the conceptual model.

TRADE-OFFS AMONG GENERALITY, PRECISION AND REALISM

Levins (1966) stated that no model can be completely realistic, always precise, and generally applicable (but see Orzack and Sober 1993). Levins's provocative paper stated: "It is...desirable to work with manageable models which maximize generality, realism, and precision [in order to reach the goals] of understanding, predicting, and modifying nature" (Fig. 3.3). Consequently, a strategic approach to model development is one that is cognizant of these trade-offs. Levins used familiar models of population biology to illustrate this problem. We review Levins' list here, providing parallel examples from the recent literature of landscape modeling.

Sacrifice generality to realism and precision. Most models that trade generality for realism and precision produce place-based results. By specifying particular cases (or scenarios), a reduced parameter space may be defined and relevant measurements made. Models that emphasize realism and precision are often closely calibrated so that they closely mimic observed dynamics of the focal landscape.

Introduction

to Models

68

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE





Results may be tested (i.e., confirmed or rejected), but general conclusions across a broad spectrum of landscapes will be limited. Examples of this approach include landscape models that focus on specific locations where precisely measured parameters may be obtained (e.g., Jantz et al. 2004; Ferrari et al. 2009). Iterative application across a suite of conditions (e.g., Scheller et al. 2007; Sturtevant et al. 2009) may be used to introduce stochastic effects and increase generality.



FIGURE 3.3. Schematic representation of Levins (1966) conceptualization of the trade-offs between a model's generality, precision and realism usually encountered in the development and use of ecological models. Introduction to Models

Sacrifice realism to generality and precision. Landscape models often adopt this trade-off and strive for a correct average result rather than a specific prediction of what will happen at a particular time or place on a given landscape. Such models ignore highly detailed interactions and usually employ equations with a reduced parameter set. If the details excluded from the model have a minor effect on the results, or the sum of all ignored details cancel out, then a simple model may be more general and more precise. Examples of this approach include models that propagate disturbance over large areas and long time periods (e.g., Gardner et al. 1999; Keane et al. 2007). Models predicting equilibrium conditions may also sacrifice reality for generality (e.g., Chave and Norden 2007), using this theoretical endpoint as a measure of the effect of changing processes. The simple NLMs presented later in this chapter also exemplify this trade-off.

Sacrifice precision to realism and generality. This trade-off is often adopted when the desired result is qualitative rather than quantitative. Many theoretical models fall into this category, and they make very general predictions that are not directly applicable to a particular place or set of measurements. Examples include GAP models (Scott et al. 1993; Kiester et al. 1996), island biogeography, and neutral theory (Hubbell 2001) and extinction debt (Tilman et al. 1994).

It is the general consensus that Levins' trade-offs are general and may not be easily avoided. The form of the model and quality and quantity of available data define the domain over which model results may be reliably used for understanding, prediction, and/or management. The comparison of alternative models that differ in their assumptions and simplifications (see Gardner et al. 1999; Keane et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2008 for examples from the fire literature) are the best means for checking the limits and broadening the scope of conclusions drawn from a single model (Levins 1966). FIGURE 3.4.

A conceptual representation of the conjecture by O'Neill (1973) that simple models may have significant errors due to absence of important processes (*red line*) while complex models have error associated with unmeasured (or unmeasurable) parameters and processes (*blue line*). The conjecture is that there is an optimum level of model complexity that minimizes total error (*green line*).



TRADE-OFFS BETWEEN MODEL COMPLEXITY AND MODEL ERROR It has often been assumed that complex models are more accurate and simple models are more general because simple models may lack essential details, causing systematic bias in predictions—but adding detail to a model does not guarantee an increase in reliability unless the added processes are essential, well understood, and reliably estimated. The potential trade-off between complexity and error was first discussed by O'Neill (1973) who speculated that for any given problem and level of knowledge there may be an optimal level of model complexity (Fig. 3.4). Strayer et al. (2003a) also present a thoughtful discussion of the level of detail to include in models of heterogeneous systems.

Landscape models are often developed with the implicit assumption that the results will only be useful if they are completely realistic (i.e., highly detailed). Because landscapes are diverse and complex, a fully realistic model will be complex with significant data requirements for estimating all model parameters. A counterstrategy for reducing complexity while also improving model reliability is nearly always necessary (Beven 2002). The development of hierarchy theory (Allen and Starr 1982; O'Neill 1989) has shown that the aggregation of similar components into a single unit (i.e., numerous species into fewer functional types; Lavorel and Garnier 2002) reduces the number of parameters that must be estimated and may, therefore, substantially improve results. One may also take advantage of "the law of averages" by setting the realistic temporal and spatial scales for model resolution: If final results can be expressed in hectares and years, then the average values of fine-grained values (e.g., hours to days, meters to hectares) can be used to produce more precise results (Peters et al. 2004a).

In all cases, it is important to evaluate model error. The first step should be to compare model output with available data graphically, testing whether results fall within the confidence limits of empirical results. These comparisons should specifically focus on the model objectives: If the purpose of the model was to assess the direction of change (i.e., an increase in urbanization) then only the direction of change needs to be assessed; if the purpose was to locate areas where change has occurred (a more difficult task), then spatial statistics may be required to verify model response. The strategic issue is that model-data comparisons are most meaningful when objectives have been clearly and precisely defined. More formal methods of sensitivity and error analysis (Gardner et al. 1981; Jager and King 2004) are useful for identifying model components and parameters that most contribute to model errors.

WHEN SHOULD MODELS BE SPATIALLY EXPLICIT?

Most generally, a model should be spatially explicit when the inputs, the outputs, or the processes required by the modeling objectives and conceptual formulation vary spatially (Strayer et al. 2003a). If spatial pattern is a driving variable-that is, the model needs to predict the consequences of alternative configurations of *input* conditions or forcing variables-then a spatially explicit model is warranted. Examples include models of the effect of habitat arrangement (not simply amount) on population dynamics; the effect of arrangements of riparian buffer habitats on nutrient loading to surface waters; of the effects of alternative distributions of resources on the movement or foraging patterns of animals; and the positive (or negative) effects of pathways or corridors for animal dispersal (Lookingbill et al. 2010; Sullivan et al. 2011). A spatially explicit model is also warranted if predicting changes in spatial pattern is required—that is, the model *output* must be spatial. Examples include models that predict the distribution and abundance of animals in a landscape at a future point in time; future spatial patterns of habitat in response to animal movements and foraging patterns; and land-cover patterns that respond to alternative land-use activities or management strategies. Lastly, a spatial model is needed when the *processes* themselves interact within a local neighborhood to generate patterns, such as when competition between neighboring organisms generates distribution patterns, or when the process itself has a spatially explicit response, such as the actual flow path of water or nutrients, or the actual migration or dispersal pathway of an organism (Fig. 3.5). Thus, the model goals determine whether a spatial model is needed.

A fully spatially explicit model will have explicit spatial locations for all variables and inputs. Nonspatial or spatially implicit models may produce maps as output, making these approaches appear to be spatially explicit when, in fact, they are not. For instance, maps produced by a table look-up process (e.g., nutrient dynamics; Burke et al. 1991; 1999) do not consider location-specific effects and, hence, are spatially implicit predictions. The complexity required to develop and test a spatially explicit model is significantly greater than a spatially implicit model, making spatially explicit approaches only desirable when local effects are known to dominate results measured at landscape scales (Peters et al. 2004a).

Introduction to Models





FIGURE 3.5.

Comparison of temporal vs. temporal + spatial population dynamics. (a) Shows the change through time in a population of the green-winged orchid, *Orchis morio*, at one locality. In this case, changes are temporal only. (b) Shows the change in the spatial distribution in Great Britain of elder aphid (*Aphis sambuci*) between 1970 and 1977, where the density of the shading represents local population density. This illustrates changes through both space and time; predicting such dynamics would require a spatial model.

Adapted from Gillman and Hails (1997.)

To summarize the strategic issues: One should apply the law of parsimony when developing a model by precisely defining the models purpose, developing the simplest conceptual model possible, adding complexity only when it is necessary and supported by data, use a hierarchical approach to define model variables and processes; and planning on revisiting these strategic steps when model errors indicate the need for improvement.

○ TACTICS FOR MAKING THE MODEL WORK

The tactical steps for developing a working model are derived from the systems ecology approach to ecological modeling (Fig. 3.2) developed primarily by engineers for characterizing the dynamics of complex physical systems. The success of the systems approach had a strong influence in the early development of landscape ecology in both Europe (Opdam and Schotman 1987; Naveh and Lieberman 1990; Zonneveld 1995) and North America (Johnson et al. 1981; Gardner et al. 1987; Opdam 1987; Sklar and Costanza 1990) and continues to be the dominant paradigm for model development today (Wu and David 2002; Costanza and Voinov 2004; Lookingbill et al. 2008). The basic principles of the systems approach go back to the philosophy of holism formulated by Smuts (1926) and developed more rigorously by Von Bertalanffy (1968, 1969). Numerous works written more than 30 years ago describing the principles of general systems theory and their application to ecological systems are still relevant today (e.g., Watt 1968; Van Dyne 1969; Patten 1971). Here, we draw from the sequence of modeling steps outlined in Kitching's (1983) text on systems ecology. We also provide a reference table for terms commonly used in modeling (see Appendix, Table 3.3). Readers may wish to refer to Swartzman and Kaluzny (1987) and Haefner (2005) for excellent introductions to the tasks associated with model development.

Once the conceptual model has been developed, a wide variety of mathematical formulations may be used to transform the "concept" into an operational model. A wealth of model types has been used in landscape ecology (as discussed throughout the book), but it is beyond our scope to review and describe these techniques here.

The programming language or simulation software for implementing a model is usually selected based on local resources, experience and expertise. Often, a decision must be made between whether to program a new model or to use an existing model. For example, a number of existing models, such as the forest landscape simulator LANDIS (Mladenoff and He 1999; Sturtevant et al. 2009) and the ecosystem model Century (Parton et al. 1992; Gilmanov et al. 1997), have been used widely. The use of an existing model eliminates the need for massive amounts of programming and analysis, but the existing structure (and the developer's strategic decisions that led to this structure) may constrain the questions that a new user desires to LANDSCAPEask. Furthermore, it is difficult for new users to become deeply familiar with the
workings of complex models. Regardless of the software decision, all model imple-
mentations require systematic checking for the adequacy of relationships repre-
sented and the accuracy of methods employed. This phase, often referred to as
model verification, may require more time and energy than any other step repre-
sented in Fig. 3.2. An important adjunct to this stage is the production of adequate
model documentation and the ultimate public availability of the final source code.

The specification of values for the model parameters, model inputs, and initial values of the state variables within the model (see Appendix, Table 3.3) are typically estimated from data or obtained from published values. The process of parameter estimation differs from model *calibration*—the iterative adjustment of parameters to improve model fit to measured output variables. Calibration may be required when direct estimates of parameters are not available but net changes in system dynamics have been measured, providing the objective criteria for parameter adjustments. The errors associated with calibrated values are unknown unless a second data set is available to test the adequacy of calibrated (but unmeasured) parameters.

Once operational, a model must be evaluated for its utility. Does model behavior agree with empirical observations? Are the underlying assumptions reasonable? Do those assumptions result in realistic behavior? Objective comparison of model results with data, sometimes referred to as *model validation* (Rykiel 1996) provides the necessary confidence in predictions to make models useful and define the conditions over which the model will be most reliable. Although the term "validation" continues to be widely used (e.g., Scheller and Mladenoff 2004; Nuttle and Haefner 2007), because this term connotes "truthfulness," its unqualified use can be confusing and is generally discouraged (see Mankin et al. 1975 for a thoughtful discussion of validation issues).

When the steps illustrated in Fig. 3.2 have been completed, the ecologist has a tool that may be used to conduct experiments and predict outcomes. The verification of predictions across a range of conditions confirms or rejects the model hypotheses and assumptions, providing new insights into system behavior. As confidence builds, model applications may move from hypothesis testing to more serious applications such as conservation planning and planning. Care must be taken at each stage of model development to assure the accuracy and adequacy of the model. In spite of the availability of software that eases the process of model development, there is always the danger that insufficient attention to each step of development will produce unreliable results. Because no amount of care will guarantee that a model is a perfect representation of the ecological system it was intended to mimic, the comparison of results with alternative models (Levins 1966) continues to be sage advice for the careful scientist (Box 3.1).

Introduction to Models

BOX 3.1 CAVEATS IN THE USE OF MODELS

Wise application of modeling tools recognizes the pitfalls and problems of model development and interpretation. We review here, in concise form, what we consider to be the most important caveats for modeling in landscape ecology:

- Know thy model. The performance of each model is the logical consequence of the hypotheses and assumptions upon which that model is based. Alternative assumptions regarding systems behavior might be equally viable, but produce dramatically different results. Comparison among alternative model formulations is extremely desirable, and should be attempted where possible (see Kittel et al. 1996; Pan et al. 1998; Miranda et al. 2009 for examples).
- Errors propagate. Small errors in sensitive parameters can lead to large errors in outputs (Rose et al. 1991). Techniques for the analysis of effects of parameter errors are available (Metzgar et al. 1998) and should always be employed before predictions are made. Assessment of errors of spatially explicit models remains a challenge (Khan et al. 2006; Minor et al. 2008), largely because of the added complexity of evaluating qualitative and quantitative spatial predictions.
- All models are simplifications of reality. This is not a casual philosophical statement! It simply means that no single model will ever be a completely adequate description of reality. Therefore, the

goal of model studies should be to define the applications for which a given model provides reliable and useful results. New applications of old models are not released from this requirement.

- 4. There are never enough data. The incomplete nature of data often requires parameter values to be estimated from a diversity of sources. Inconsistency in the methods of data collection and parameter estimation may result in model biases that are difficult to identify. Gaps in empirical information that do not allow adequate estimation of key parameters are often the greatest source of uncertainty in model predictions.
- 5. High tech methods do not guarantee a "good" model. Technologically advanced methodologies, including the availability of higher level programming languages that facilitate model coding, do not assure the accuracy or reliability of results. When developing or interpreting models, it is critical for the user to understand fully the structure of the model, the assumptions that went into its development and the constraints (such as spatial or temporal scales) on its appropriate use.
- Keep an open mind. There is no single paradigm for spatial modeling of landscapes. Model development and testing requires a broad perspective of landscape ecology and systems analysis techniques.

○ NEUTRAL LANDSCAPE MODELS

As development of landscape ecology accelerated and spatial heterogeneity received increased attention, new models that could represent explicit spatial patterns and allow different aspects of pattern to be varied were needed. Also needed was a 76

yardstick against which the potential influence of different spatial patterns could be evaluated. NLMs were developed in the late 1980s to fill this gap (Gardner et al. 1987).

THEORY AND

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

Neutral Models in Ecology

The sequential development and testing of hypotheses is essential for progress in science (Platt 1964; Quinn and Dunham 1983). The simplest hypothesis that one should first construct is the null hypothesis of no effect (Fisher 1935)-i.e., landscape processes are not responsible for the observed pattern. A properly formed null hypothesis provides the required reference point against which alternatives may be contrasted. Because landscape analysis involves relating ecological patterns to complex histories of natural forces and events (e.g., climate, terrain, soils, water availability, biota, natural disturbances, etc.) as well as the consequences of human alterations (e.g., urbanization, agriculture, forestry management, etc.; see Chap. 2), the specification of appropriate null hypotheses is a challenge. Consequently, observational and correlational approaches tend to dominate over the experimentation and hypothesis testing more typical of sciences studying simpler systems (see Strong 1980 for further discussion). The difficulty with corroborative studies is that the uniqueness of each landscape (Phillips 2007) limits the use of experimental designs and the possibility of replicate measures. When treatment effects (i.e., processes dependent change in landscapes) are tested without true replication, the validity of these comparisons is often suspect (Hurlbert 1984; Hargrove and Pickering 1992).

Neutral models, which simulate dynamics in the absence of specific processes, have been widely used in ecology for testing the corresponding null hypothesis of statistics (the terms "null" and "neutral" are distinguished here, but are often used interchangeably). For instance, Cole (1951, 1954) used random numbers to construct cycles similar to those observed in natural populations; Simberloff (1974) used island biogeographic theory to examine community patterns; Istock and Scheiner (1987) used random landscapes to test patterns of species diversity; and Nitecki and Hoffman (1987) produced an edited volume on the subject. Other examples include niche shifts in Anolis communities (Haefner 1988a, b); community formation in fishes (Jackson et al. 1992); plant migration rates (Higgins and Richardson 1999); hemlock regeneration and deer browsing (Mladenoff and Stearns 1993); bird assemblages in fragmented landscapes (Sisk et al. 1997); tests of Holling's hypothesis of discontinuities in landscape pattern causing clumps and gaps in the distribution of body sizes within animal communities (Siemann and Brown 1999); and the continued investigations of the formation of structure in natural communities (Wilson 1995). Perhaps the most notable use of neutral models has been Hubble's provocative theory of biodiversity (Hubbell 2001, 2006) which continues to be widely discussed in ecology (e.g., Lowe and McPeek 2014; Warren 2012).

Neutral Models in Landscape Ecology

A simple standard for landscape pattern—and thus the basis for testing differences between landscapes—is a random map (Fig. 3.6) which lacks all factors that might organize or structure pattern (Gardner et al. 1987; Gardner and Urban 2007). Tests of observed landscapes against replicate random maps reveal the magnitude and significance of differences due to the structure of actual landscapes. Therefore, random maps are *neutral landscape models* (*NLM*) against which effects of processes that structure actual landscapes may be tested. Studies of NLMs have shown that surprisingly rich patterns can be generated by random processes alone—and their use has shown that actual landscapes may not always be measurably different from these random patterns (Gardner et al. 1993; Li et al. 2004).

With and King (1997) reviewed the use of NLMs and separated their uses into two categories: (1) to determine the extent to which structural properties of landscapes (e.g., patch size and shape, amount of edge, connectivity, autocorrelation) deviate from some theoretical spatial distribution, and (2) to predict how ecological processes, such as animal movement, seed dispersal, gene flow, or fire spread, are affected by landscape pattern. A third important use has also emerged: to evaluate new methods of numerical analysis, including the development and testing of landscape metrics (Li et al. 2005; Gardner and Urban 2007; Wang and Malanson 2007). We next provide a brief overview of the methods behind the generation of random maps and uses in landscape studies.

RANDOM MAPS: THE SIMPLEST NEUTRAL MODEL

The simplest method of generating a map is to randomly locate sites within a 2-dimensional grid. This may be efficiently accomplished by using a uniform random number generator (URN) found within most computer languages and mathematical software tools. The URN function typically produces numbers that vary randomly over the interval of 0.0–1.0. The generation of a random map with a single land-cover type is accomplished in two steps: (1) An array of *m* columns and *n* rows with $m \cdot n$ elements (sites) is constructed; (2) For each map site a single URN is generated: If the URN is less than a prespecified probability value, *p*, the site is set to 1; if not, the site is set to 0. For instance, if p=0.4 the grid site will be set to 1 if URN ≤ 0.4 , or to 0 if the URN is >0.4. For maps of sufficient size (*m* and *n* each >250) the proportion of sites set to 1 will be very close to the value of *p* while the number of sites set to 0 will be approximately 1-p (e.g., 1.0-0.4=0.6). The total number of matrix elements (i.e., grid sites or cells) occupied by the habitat (land-cover) type of interest will be approximately equal to $p \cdot m \cdot n$ while the number of sites of "nonhabitat" will equal $(1-p) \cdot m \cdot n$.

As the grid is filled with 0's and 1's, *clusters*, or *patches*, of the land-cover type will form (Fig. 3.6). Clusters are identified with rules defining contiguous sites. The simplest rule defines clusters as groups of sites of the same land-cover type with at

Introduction

to Models



FIGURE 3.6.

A random map (*m*, the number of rows and columns equals 64) generated with the probability, *p*, that grid cells contain the land-cover type of interest. The black cells represent (a) 0.3 and (b) 0.7 of the landscape. The user may determine, by hand, that the largest cluster of the black cover type percolates in (b).

least one horizontal or vertical (but not diagonal) edge in common. This rule for cluster (patch) identification is usually referred to as the "four-neighbor" or "nearest-neighbor" rule, and it is a conservative estimate of habitat adjacency (also see discussion in Chap. 4 and Fig. 4.9). When a series of maps is generated with increasing values of p, the number of patches increases over the interval 0.0 ; as <math>p continues to increase small patches coalesce into larger ones and the total number of patches declines (Gardner et al. 1987; Gardner 2011; Fig. 3.7a). The amount of edge on the map is also affected by p, with the maximum amount of edge occurring when p = 0.5 (Gardner et al. 1987; Fig. 3.7b).

The total extent of the map (i.e., the value of *m* and *n* representing the number of rows and columns, respectively) also affects measures of pattern. Smaller maps (i.e., lower values of *m* and *n*) will cause patches to be truncated by the map boundary. This effect is most noticeable when *p* is >0.6 (Gardner et al. 1987). Table 3.1 illustrates the truncation effect for a variety of map types and sizes (m=n=64, 128, 256). For random maps with p < 0.5 the size of clusters in smaller maps is approximately 80 % of the size of clusters in the larger maps—indicating that truncation effects due to map size result in systematic underestimation of patch size. The truncation effect becomes more noticeable as the value of *p* increases. At p=0.5 clusters are approximately 70 % that of the next largest map size; and at p=0.7 and 0.9 (Table 3.2) cluster sizes of the smaller maps are approximately 25 % the size of the next largest map!



FIGURE 3.7.

(a) The number of clusters and (b) size the largest cluster for random maps that vary in the probability, p, that a grid cell contains the habitat type of interest. Plotted from data reported in Tables 1 and 2 of Gardner et al. (1987) for maps with 200 rows and columns.

TABLE 3.1.

Percolation thresholds for 2-dimensional maps with different neighborhood rules.

Lattice geometry	Neighboring sites	₽c
Square	4	0.59275
*	8	0.40725
	12	0.292
	24	0.168
	40	0.098
	60	0.066
Triangular	6	0.5
	12	0.295
	18	0.225
Honeycomb	3	0.6962
	12	0.3

TABLE ADAPTED FROM PLOTNICK AND GARDNER (1993)

LANDSCAPE TABLE 3.2.

SITES OCCUPIED.

ECOLOGY IN

Average number of sites composing a cluster (i.e., patch size in grid cell units) as a function of map size (number of rows and columns) and p, the fraction of

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

		Þ					
Map size	Map type ^a	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9	
64 × 64	Random	5.2	21.4	167.0	2780	3680	
011101	H=0.2	124	574	1360.0	2620	3660	
	H = 0.8	216	908	1760.0	2760	3670	
128×128	Random	6.3	27.4	255.0	11,200	14,700	
	H = 0.2	482	2140	5600	10,500	14,600	
	H = 0.8	1110	3720	7160	11,100	14,700	
256×256	Random	7.6	33.4	350	44,900	58,900	
	H = 0.2	1760	9190	21,800	42,200	5860	
	H = 0.8	4450	15,000	28,400	44,300	58,800	

Averages based on 100 independently generated maps (Maps were generated and analyzed using RULE (Gardner 1999). Although the documentation of RULE is recent, this is the same program originally used to generate neutral models (Gardner et al. 1987)).

^aMap types are: Random = simple random map; H=0.2, a multifractal map with the value of H of 0.2; H=0.8, a multifractal map with the value of H=0.8. See text for discussion of multifractal maps.

Why does the truncation effect depend on the value of p? Are there general rules of pattern formation in simple random maps that provide insight into the analysis of landscape patterns? It is these types of question that have been a primary focus of percolation theory (Stauffer and Aharony 1992) from which the first NLM were derived (Gardner et al. 1987). A central concept to emerge from percolation theory was the strong dependency of pattern on the choice of value for p and the existence of a *critical threshold* where small changes in p would result in sudden changes in pattern. The existence of a critical threshold (symbolically defined as p_c) equals 0.59275 when maps are sufficiently large and clusters are defined by the nearestneighbor rule (Table 3.1). The reason for this threshold is that above p_c occupied sites are so abundant that nearly all sites contact neighbors along one of their four edges causing a single cluster to extend, or "percolate," from one edge of the map to the other. In our previous example (Table 3.2), maps with values of p > 0.59275*will always* result in truncation of the largest cluster on the map. If $p > p_c$ the percolating cluster will continue to increase in size as map dimensions increase. This

81

Introduction

to Models

truncation effect leads percolation theorists to develop the concept of the *infinite cluster*—a cluster that will continue to grow as map dimensions are increased. Thus, there is no finite map dimensions that will fully contain the cluster when $p > p_c$. Although no landscape will have infinite bounds, the practical implication of the "infinite cluster" is that a map 1/2 the size of another will have an average cluster size that is only 1/4 as large.

The general dependence of cluster size on p, and the existence of a critical threshold where small changes in p produce sudden changes in cluster sizes, has important implications for both material systems (the original focus of percolation theory) and pattern and process relationships within landscapes. The effect of a critical threshold may be easier to visualize by imagining the process of habitat loss and fragmentation. If a landscape exists with p = 1.0—that is a landscape entirely composed of a single land-cover type, say forest—then a gradual reduction in p on a random map is equivalent to poking holes in the forest. As the value of p slowly declines (i.e., the forested lands are randomly converted to other land-cover types) from 1.0 to 0.90, isolated gaps in the continuous forested landscape occur with little effect on the overall landscape pattern. As random clearing continues (i.e., values of p further decline from 0.9 to 0.6), forest gaps become more frequent and larger, the amount of edge increases, but never-the-less a single large forest cluster still dominates the landscape. It is still possible for organisms restricted to forests to move across the landscape—that is, the single large cluster still percolates. However, the single large cluster becomes more and more dendritic as the critical threshold is approached. It is now possible to find numerous sites that would disconnect the percolating cluster if they were converted from forest. The sudden disconnectance of the forest habitat resulting from the disturbance of a single site is most likely to occur when $p = p_c$.

The numerical value of a critical threshold depends on the neighborhood rule used to identify clusters (Plotnick and Gardner 1993). When an "eight-neighbor" rule is used to identify clusters, the value of p_c drops to 0.40725 (Table 3.1). Because diagonal neighbors are now also counted as cluster members, potential neighbors are further away from each other. With the inclusion of more distant neighbors within the cluster, large dendritic structures form and "percolate" across the grid at lower values of p. The ecological justification for the analysis of landscape pattern with different neighborhood rules should be process dependent. For instance, if the spread of a disturbance is slow and via immediate contact (e.g., some fungal diseases), then the nearest-neighbor rule might be applied and a critical threshold of the spread of the fungus would occur at p=0.59275. However, short distance dispersal of large seeds might cover a neighborhood of considerable area, resulting in a revised definition of connectance among neighboring sites. It may also be necessary to change the neighborhood rule if the resolution of the map were to change. For instance, a four-neighbor rule applied to maps with 90-m grid cells might be





Comparison of (a) the number of clusters and (b) total number of edges for random and actual landscapes. Adapted from Gardner et al. (1992B).

changed to a 21-neighbor rule if map resolution were increased to 30 m (other alternatives exist and may be explored in the lab exercises associated with this chapter). The value of the critical threshold has also been shown to vary with map geometry (Table 3.1) primarily because different map geometries have different number of neighbors (e.g., a triangular grid has three neighbors associated with each site while a honeycomb grid would have eight neighbors). Even though the value of the threshold may change, the general response of the system is similar no matter what rule is applied.

One of the initial misunderstandings in the use of random maps as NLMs was the idea that NLMs were intended to represent actual landscape patterns. That was never the case! NLMs do not represent actual landscapes, but provide the standard against which actual landscapes may be compared. The NLMs control for the amount of a land-cover type, allowing consequences of particular spatial patterns to be evaluated against the random pattern given comparable habitat abundance. The level and kinds of deviation in spatial pattern compared to random expectations may also help elucidate factors that generate patterns. Thus, it is valid to compare NLMs with actual landscapes-that is, compare patterns generated at random with patterns structured by landscape processes. For example, aerial photographs for nine counties in Georgia taken at three different times and representing different physiographic regions (Turner and Ruscher 1988) were used to develop 27 landscape maps. The number of clusters and total edge of forested areas were compared to NLMs (Gardner et al. 1992; Fig. 3.8). A number of points illustrated by this comparison have been subsequently confirmed by analysis of data from other areas (Gardner et al. 1993). The key points are:

- 1. It is trivially true that patterns of random and real landscapes are identical *Intro* when *p* is equal to either 0.0 or 1.0. It is important to remember that the nearer the value of *p* is to these limits the more similar random and real landscapes become.
- 2. The total number of clusters of actual landscapes and NLMs is greatest when p is within the range of 0.1–0.3. Over the range of p=0.1-0.5 the total number of clusters in actual landscapes is noticeably less than that of NLMs.
- 3. In actual landscapes and NLMs the total amount of edge is at a maximum near p = 0.5, but like the cluster numbers, the amount of edge in actual landscapes is much less than in random ones.
- 4. The degree of connectivity (as measured by the presence of a single cluster spanning the map) was equivalent to the NLMs in 25 of 27 actual land-scapes. The two landscapes which differed from NLMs either percolated at p = 0.43 or failed to percolate at p = 0.68. The cause of this deviation was due to the interaction of topography (ridge and valleys) and the process of human land-use conversion.

The qualitative trends in pattern in actual landscapes and NLMs are similar although the magnitude (e.g., number of clusters, amount of edge) is less and the variability greater in actual landscapes. These differences are produced by a complex suite of factors that organize patterns on actual landscapes (Chap. 2).

An important and very practical application of NLMs has been their use to test the performance of different landscape metrics (Li et al. 2005; Gardner and Urban 2007; Wang and Malanson 2007) across a range of conditions (i.e., number of habitat types, map sizes, values of p). The evaluation of spatial indices by NLMs before they are applied to actual landscapes, and the systematic comparison among similar landscape indices, provides important information on the reliability of different metrics to identify unique patterns on actual landscapes (Gardner and O'Neill 1990; Gustafson and Parker 1992; Gardner and Urban 2007; Nesslage et al. 2007). We revisit this topic in Chap. 4, but several lessons from these studies are worth highlighting here. The first is that the value of p (i.e., the amount of any land-cover type of interest) affects the value of nearly all landscape metrics. Indeed p often enters directly into the calculation of the metric itself (e.g., diversity, contagion) or indirectly as an indication of the amount of habitat found on the map. As p increases, the number of possible arrangements of land-cover decreases. Obviously, differences in landscape pattern as a result of differences in p are not surprising. But, the key point is that interpreting the patterns or relating them to processes must first account for the value of p! The second caveat is that the critical threshold causes a transition from many small to fewer large clusters on the map. Therefore, large differences in landscape metrics should be expected above and below this critical threshold. It is questionable whether metrics insensitive to this transition will provide useful insight into

Introduction to Models LANDSCAPE landscape pattern and process. Finally, it is quite clear that the introduction of new indices without prior testing by a series of neutral models should be regarded as a serious omission.

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

CORRELATED PATTERNS FROM FRACTAL MAPS

Landscapes composed of multiple habitat or land-cover types may require a more complex neutral model to characterize these patterns. Often the arrangement of multiple land-cover types is directly linked to the topography of the region; wetlands and riparian forests are usually associated with rivers and floodplains and found at lower elevations, whereas drier conditions and habitats occur along ridge tops. Conditions between these extremes are intermediate in elevation and usually intermediate in soil moisture and temperature levels. Because habitat characteristics (land-cover types) vary with these elevational gradients, many landscapes with multiple cover types are characterized by a strong autocorrelation between habitat types. Methods that can generate patterns of continuous change would provide a useful neutral model for landscapes with multiple land-cover types.

One method for representing continuous, autocorrelated variation of patterns is the generation of maps via fractional Brownian motion. A fractal Brownian motion in one dimension is produced by creating a series of steps, X_i , whose distance from the previous step $(X_{t+1} - X_t)$ is randomly determined from a Gaussian distribution. A 3-dimensional map may be produced by allowing steps to occur in both the X and Y directions with the random displacements recorded as elevation (the Zdirection). The midpoint displacement method (MPDM) for creating fractal surfaces has been extensively used to model 3-dimensional patterns (Barnsley et al. 1988). The "fractal" of fractional Brownian motion is controlled by two parameters: The variance of displacement of points, σ^2 (usually set to 1.0), and H, which controls the correlation between successive steps (Saupe 1988; Plotnick and Prestegaard 1993). Because the successive displacement of points results in an expected difference between any two points equal to $(E[X_1 - (X_1 - d)] \propto d^H$ (Plotnick and Prestegaard 1993), the difference between two points will be proportional to the square of the distance, d, and the correlation, C(d), between the points $[C(d)=2^{2H-1}-1]$ (Mandelbrot 1983; Feder 1988). The fractal dimension, D, of maps generated by the MPDM is equal to D = 3.0 - H (Saupe 1988). When H = 0.5, successive displacements in the Brownian walk are not correlated; when H < 0.5, successive displacements are negatively correlated and maps appear to have a very rough surface; and when H > 0.5 steps are positively correlated and the maps have a smooth surface (Fig. 3.9). Habitat maps may be generated from the continuous numbers produced by the MPDM by scaling the real numbers and assigning ordinal values to each grid square proportional to the fraction of the map, p_i , occupied by each habitat type (Gardner 1999, 2011). This process of generating a neutral

Introduction to Models

model with fractal maps is summarized in three steps: (1) generation of a topographic map with roughness controlled by H; (2) slicing the topography into contours with the area of each contour equal to the proportion of the map occupied by that habitat type; and (3) assigning ordinal habitat (land-cover) values to sites within each contour.

The realistic nature of the fractal maps is the direct result of the autocorrelated process of map generation (Fig. 3.9) which results in realistic associations between habitat types (i.e., riparian forests will not be found along ridge tops). Although the patterns are constrained by this autocorrelation resulting in frequency distributions of cluster sizes that differ from those of simple random maps, the map patterns produced by fractal methods are still random. The creation of multiple maps with the same set of parameters (map size, *H*, number of habitat types and the value of *p* for each habitat) produces dramatically different patterns. However, successive habitat types will always be associated with each other. The positive autocorrelation of maps with high values of *H* creates larger average cluster sizes than maps with smaller values of *H* when $p < p_c$ (Table 3.2). Above the critical threshold average cluster sizes are similar among all map types.

The generation of spatial patterns with fractal maps has had a number of applications. Fractal landscapes have been used to represent the degree of spatial dependence of actual landscapes (Milne 1991a, b; Palmer 1992); the effect of landscape fragmentation on population and community dynamics (With et al. 1997; With 2002; With and King 2004); the invasive spread of exotics (Lavorel and Chesson 1995; With 2002, 2004); and landscape disturbances (McKenzie et al. 2006; Wimberly 2006). In most of these examples the effect of "structure" on habitat arrangement was quantified by comparison of fractal maps with simple (nonstructured) random maps. For instance, the objective of With et al. (1997) was to examine how landscape structure affected the patterns of population dispersion of mobile organisms. Variation in landscape structure was created by generating maps that differed in the number and proportion of habitat types and the methods used to generate the spatial patterns. Simple random maps created pattern without an underlying structure, while fractal maps with different values of H created differently structured maps. The results showed that landscape structure had a large effect on the distribution of simulated patterns of species distributions. Although population size remained fairly constant over all simulations, patterns of distribution shifted owing to the aggregation of individuals within specific habitat types. The control of landscape structure created by the comparison of neutral models allowed the effect of pattern and scale to be evaluated.

Pearson and Gardner (1997) used randomly generated fractal landscapes for an entirely different purpose—to determine the consequences of spatial variation in the patterns of ¹³⁷Cs contamination in a Tennessee reservoir. The spatial





FIGURE 3.9.

Two examples of fractal maps with: (a) H=0.2 and (b) H=0.8. Each map has 128 rows and columns and the value of *p* (*green cells*) for each landscape type equals 0.33.

pattern of contamination was important because sites within the reservoir with high contaminant levels ("hot spots") could affect cleanup strategies. It was believed that contaminant hot spots should be spatially correlated, but the degree of correlation was not known. Fractal maps with varying levels of *H* were produced to assess the effectiveness of various sediment sampling schemes on the detected accurately in maps with a large degree of spatial autocorrelation using relatively few samples. However, as autocorrelation declined, the number of samples required to achieve the same degree of accuracy increased dramatically. A comparison of fractal maps with ¹³⁷Cs distributions estimated by a sedimentation model showed that contaminant levels were positively correlated within deposition zones (i.e., areas with similar hydrodynamics), but uncorrelated across different deposition zones.

Other applications of fractal landscapes as neutral models have included the effect of pattern on dispersal (Walters 2007), exploration of edge effects (With 1997; With et al. 1997) and source-sink relationships (Milne 1992; With 1997). Because multiple realizations of these neutral models can be generated, systematic application allows the effect of one component of landscape structure—the auto-correlation among habitat types—to be determined.

to Models

INSIGHTS AND APPLICATIONS OF NLMS

The most influential conceptual contribution of NLMs to landscape ecology revolves around the existence of critical thresholds-and the implications of these thresholds for relating landscape pattern to ecological processes (Homan et al. 2004; Groffman et al. 2006b). Although landscapes are not random, there are critical thresholds in connectivity where sudden changes in landscape pattern may occur with small shifts in disturbance regimes or changes in land-use. The factors that organize actual landscapes are not random making the prediction of the exact value of p_c for any given landscape uncertain (see Discussion Question 6.3). Never-the-less, critical thresholds for real landscapes do exist! Thus, above p_c we can expect landscape pattern to be dominated by a single very large cluster, while landscapes with values of p below p_c will be characterized by numerous, smaller, fragmented patches. Shifts in pattern that result from small changes in land-use may cross this threshold and have important implications for metapopulation dynamics and conservation of species diversity (Dale and Zbigniewicz 1995; Pearson et al. 1996; Gardner and Engelhardt 2008; also see Chap. 8). Metapopulation dynamics are possible in landscapes below p_c , while a single, large population dominates can occur in landscapes where the amount of habitat is above $p_{\rm c}$. Conservation efforts should be cognizant of the implications of critical thresholds and connectivity in actual landscapes. Because small changes in available habitat near the critical thresholds result in disproportionately large changes in the degree of landscape fragmentation, efforts to preserve continuous tracts of habitat are highly vulnerable to disturbance effects when the amount of habitat is near the critical threshold.

A second key insight from NLMs is that the amount of habitat on a landscape (so the value of p) will strongly influence the values of a wide array of landscape metrics (see Chap. 5). Stated simply, habitat amount constrains habitat pattern, or composition affects configuration. Other related lessons learned from NLMs include:

- Patch Structure: Simple random maps have the greatest number of patches, with the number of patches determined by p. When patterns with contagion are generated (i.e., positive or negative associations between sites on the map), then the number of patches decreases. For instance, curdled maps generally have fewer patches than random maps because the hierarchical structure of map generation affects the contagion between map sites.
★ Connectivity and Scales: Connectivity of sites across a map is defined by the relationships between map pattern and the process of interest, which "connects" adjacent sites. Therefore, connectivity is directly related to habitat abundance (p), the spatial arrangement of suitable habitat, and the resource utilization "rule" of the process being considered. On random maps, thresholds in connectivity occur near 0.6, 0.35, and 0.25 for successively larger neighborhoods of 4, 8, and 12 neighbors, respectively. Connectivity may be expected to vary most at intermediate levels of habitat abundance (e.g., 0.3–0.6).

Practical applications of NLMs often involve their coupling with dynamic ecological models that seek insight into the relationships between pattern and process within heterogeneous landscapes. The NLMs provide replicated manifestations of patterns from which measures of central tendency and variance can be obtained. The ability to generate replicate maps creates a control over the variation in spatial heterogeneity that simply is not possible with traditional sampling. The application of NLMs to landscape issues seems limited only by imagination, and is certainly an economical precursor to more expensive empirical studies. However, the use of NLMs for landscape studies also generated misunderstandings, and several caveats for the use of neutral models (with and King 1997; Gardner and Urban 2007) are important:

- Agreement of a NLM with a set of observations is not proof that the NLM is true (Caswell 1976). Agreement may suggest hypotheses that can be experimentally tested to establish their validity.
- ✤ The lack of agreement between an NLM and a set of observations does not prove that the excluded processes are responsible for the observed pattern (Caswell 1976).
- NLMs are theoretical constructs that may not be directly applicable to actual landscapes. For instance, it would be a misuse of NLMs to design a conserva-

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

tion reserve with the proportion of habitat equal to 0.59275. "On the other hand, approaching the design of the reserve with an appreciation of the importance of connectivity ... would be an appropriate application (With and King 1997)."

 It is a misunderstanding of the role of NLMs to reject them as "artificial" and hence misleading simply because they fail to be good predictors of a particular ecological process (see Schumaker 1996; Gardner and Urban 2007). No single NLM will be appropriate for all situations. Rather the NLM should be designed to provide the appropriate null hypotheses against which actual patterns may be tested.

SUMMARY SUMMARY

A model is an abstraction or representation of a system or process. There are many different kinds of models, and mathematical models are commonly used in ecology. In landscape ecology, model development is an important tool that complements empirical techniques. Models permit the landscape ecologist to explore a broader range of conditions than can usually be set forth experimentally. Landscape models help to formalize our understanding and develop theory about how spatial patterns and processes interact, producing general insights into landscape dynamics.

Models are characterized in various ways: for example, models may be deterministic or stochastic; analytical or simulation; dynamics or static; and represent time as continuous or discrete. A model is spatial when the variables, inputs, or processes have explicit spatial locations represented in the model. A spatial model is only needed when explicit space—what is present and how it is arranged—is an important determinant of the process being studied.

The process of building a model is multifaceted and includes the following steps illustrated in Fig. 3.2: (1) Define the problem. (2) Develop the conceptual model. (3) Select the model type. (4) Develop the model by writing out the mathematical equations and relationships. (5) Computer implementation, including verification and documentation of the code. (6) Estimate the parameters, and calibrate if necessary. (7) Evaluate the model by comparison with empirical observation and perform a sensitivity or uncertainty analysis. (8) Use the model for experiments and prediction.

Models are and will remain extremely important tools in landscape ecology. Wise application of these models requires care, however, particularly to the following points: (1) Performance of any model results from the hypotheses and assumptions on which it is built. Comparing alternative model formulations is extremely valuable. (2) Understanding the sensitivity of models to error in estimating

Introduction to Models LANDSCAPEparameters is critical; however, assessing error propagation in spatial models
remains challenging. (3) All models are simplifications of reality, and the domain of
applicability for each model must be defined. (4) Gaps in empirical data for esti-
mating key parameters are often a great source of uncertainty in model predictions.
The empirical database that contributes to a model must be understood. (5)PRACTICETechnologically advanced methodologies do not assure the accuracy or reliability
of model results!

A NLM is any model used to generate pattern in the absence of specific processes being studied. Predictions from NLMs are not intended to represent actual landscape patterns, but rather define the expected pattern in the absence of a specific process. Comparison of the results of NLMs against actual landscapes provides a standard against which measured departures may be compared. If real landscapes do not depart from a NLM then there may be no need for a more complex model. The types of NLMs that may be generated are diverse (see Keitt (2000) for a unified approach to the generation of NLMs). Random maps provide the simplest NLM, but more complex neutral methods including hierarchical random maps and fractal maps have been used to provide insight into the effect of structured patterns of land-cover on ecological dynamics.

Studies utilizing NLMs have been important in the development of theory and the testing of methods for the analysis of landscape patterns. Results of these studies have been helpful for exploring the implications of landscape patterns for ecosystem processes, population dynamics, disturbances, management decisions, and conservation design. Neutral models are particularly useful for testing differences between landscapes when experimental manipulation and/or replication is not feasible and also serve as an economical means for designing expensive empirical studies. NLMs also played an important role in the development of theoretical landscape ecology by identifying critical thresholds in landscape connectivity, and they have been crucial for understanding the behavior of metrics of landscape pattern NLMs will continue to have a role in landscape studies because of the challenges associated with manipulating spatial patterns in broad-scale empirical studies.

∼ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- 1. What are the distinguishing characteristics of landscape models? What is the difference between a spatially explicit and spatially implicit landscape model? Must all landscape models be spatially explicit?
- 2. What are the trade-offs (advantages and disadvantages) to using simple vs. complex models?

- 3. The survey of recent models presented in this chapter provides an overview of current modeling activities. Are models being applied in a balanced manner to the broad spectrum of landscape issues? What areas of landscape ecology are missing from the list of topics reviewed? Why?
- 4. Technological advances now allow complex spatial simulations to be easily performed and often linked with GIS software to produce mapped output. What should be the key concerns of landscape ecologists for the development, analysis, and application of these methods?
- 5. The statement was made in the text that "...it is not surprising that a (simple random) map one-half the size of another will have an average cluster size that is only onequarter as large." Provide an algebraic proof that this will always be the case for simple random maps when $p > p_c$. Is this a scaling rule? Explain why this is not the case for simple random maps when $p < p_c$ (see Table 3.2).
- 6. Can theoretical or empirical rules relating pattern to map size be defined for fractal maps? If not, how would you go about establishing an empirical scaling rule for fractal maps?
- 7. Percolation theory predicts a critical threshold when $p \ge 0.59275$. What are the assumptions behind the use and application of this value? Do these assumptions apply to actual landscapes?
- **8** Table 3.2 shows that average cluster sizes of random and fractal maps are nearly the same when p = 0.7 or 0.9. Why is this true? Will other measures of landscape pattern also be similar for these values of p? Will the effects of landscape change be undetectable unless p falls below the critical threshold?

APPENDIX: CLASSIFICATION OF MODELS

Models may be described or classified in various ways, and it is helpful to understand some commonly used terms. We review the terms often used to describe ecological models; similar distinctions are also presented by Grant et al. (1997).

Deterministic vs. *stochastic*. A model is deterministic if the outcome is always the same once inputs, parameters, and variables have been specified. In other words, deterministic models have no uncertainty or variability, producing identical results for repeated simulations of a particular set of conditions. However, if the model contains an element of uncertainty (chance), such that repeated simulations produce somewhat different results, then the model is regarded as stochastic. In practice, the heart of a stochastic simulation is the selection of random numbers from a suitable generator. For example, suppose that periodic movements of an organism are being simulated within a specified time interval. It may be likely that the organ-

Introduction to Models

LANDSCAPE Ecology in Theory and	TABLE 3.3.Terminology for model components and common procedures.		
	Term	Definition	
PRACTICE	Parameter	A constant or coefficient that does not change in the model	
	Variable	A quantity that assumes different values in the model	
	State variable	Major elements of the model whose rates of change are given by differential equations	
	Initial conditions	The values of the state variables at the beginning of a simulation	
	Forcing function, external variable, or driving variable	Function or variable of an external nature that influences the state of the system but is not influenced by the system	
	Output variables	Variables that are computed within the model and produced as results	
	Sink	A compartment in the model into which material or flow goes, but from which it does not return	
	Source	A compartment from which the material flowing in the model flows, but to which it does not return	
	Dimensional analysis	The process in which the units in a model are checked for consistency	
	Calibration	The process of changing model parameters to obtain an improved fit of the model output to empirical data	
	Corroboration	The process of determining whether a model agrees with the available data about the system being studied	
	Sensitivity analysis	Methods for examining the sensitivity of model behavior to variation in parameters	
	Validation	Term commonly used for the process of evaluating model behavior by comparing it with empirical data; we prefer corroboration because it does not imply "truth"	
	Verification	The process of checking the model code for consistency and accuracy in its representation of model equations or relationships	

ism will move, but it is not certain when this event will occur. One solution is to represent the movement event as a probability, say 0.75, and the probability of not moving as (1.0-0.75)=0.25. Selection of a random number between 0.0 and 1.0 is done to "decide" randomly if movement occurs during a specific time interval. If the simulation is repeated, the time-dependent pattern of movement will be differ-

ent, although the statistics of many movement events will be quite similar. InclusionIntroductionof stochastic events within a model produces variable responses across repeatedto Modelssimulations - a result that is quite similar to our experience of repeatedto Models

Analytical vs. *simulation*. These terms refer to two broad categories of models that either have a closed form mathematical solution (an analytical model) or lack a closed form solution and therefore must rely on computer methods (a simulation model) to obtain model solutions. For analytical models, mathematical analysis reveals general solutions that apply to a broad class of model behaviors. For instance, the equation that describes exponential growth in a population is an example of an analytical model (Table 1), as are many of the model formulations used in population ecology (May 1973; Hastings 1996).

experiments.

In contrast, the complexity of most simulation models means that these general solutions may be difficult or impossible to obtain. In these cases, model developers rely on computer methods for system solution. Simulation is the use of a model to mimic, step by step, the behavior of the system we are studying (Grant et al. 1997). Thus, simulation models are often composed of a series of complex mathematical and logical operations that represent the structure (state) and behavior (change of state) of the system of interest. Many ecological models, especially those used in ecosystem and landscape ecology, are simulation models.

Dynamic vs. *static*. Dynamic models represent systems or phenomena that change through time, whereas static models describe relationships that are constant (or at equilibrium) and often lack a temporal dimension. For example, a model that uses soil characteristics to predict vegetation type depicts a relationship that remains the same through time. A model that predicts vegetation changes through time as a function of disturbance and succession would be a dynamic model. Simulation models are dynamic.

Continuous vs. *discrete time*. If the model is dynamic, then change with time may be represented in many different ways. If differential equations are used (and numerical methods available for the solution) then change with time can be estimated at arbitrarily small time steps. Often models are written with discrete time steps or intervals. For instance, models of insects may follow transitions between life stages; vegetation succession may look at annual changes, etc. Models with discrete time steps evaluate current conditions and then "jump" forward to the next time while assuming that condition remains static between time steps. Time steps may be constant (i.e., a solution every week, month, or year) or eventdriven, resulting in irregular intervals between events. For example, disturbance models (e.g., hurricane or fire effects on vegetation) may be represented as a discrete time-step, event-driven model.

Mechanistic, process-based, empirical models. These three terms are frequently LANDSCAPE confusing. A "mechanism" is "...the arrangement of parts in an instrument." ECOLOGY IN When used as an adjective to describe models (i.e., a *mechanistic* model) the term implies a model with "parts" arranged to explain the "whole." In the best sense of THEORY AND the term, a "mechanistic" model attempts to represent dynamics in a manner con-PRACTICE sistent with real-world phenomena (e.g., mass and energy conservation laws, the laws of chemistry, etc.). Although there has been waning support for mechanistic approaches to ecological modeling (Breckling and Muller 1994), the use of "mechanistic" in the strictest sense distinguishes these models from "black box" models which grasp at any formulation which might satisfactorily represent system dynamics. Confusion arises when the term "mechanistic" is loosely applied to distinguish less detailed models from more detailed ones. Often the implication is that mechanistic models are more desirable than less mechanistic(less detailed) models. Unfortunately, the assertion that additional detail produces a more reliable model must be demonstrated on a case-by-case basis (Gardner et al. 1982).

> A "process-based" model implies that model components were specifically developed to represent specific ecological processes—e.g., equations for birth, death, growth, photosynthesis, and respiration are used to estimate biomass yields rather than simpler, more direct estimates of yields from the driving variables of temperature, precipitation, and sunlight. Although this concept seems clear, there is no a priori criterion defining formulations which qualify (or conversely do not qualify) as process models. Thus, depending on the level of detail, it is possible to have a "mechanistic process-based" model or an "empirical process-based" model.

> An "empirical" model usually refers to a model with formulations based on simple, or correlative, relationships. This term also implies that model parameters may have been derived from data (the usual case for most ecological models). Regression models (as well as a variety of other statistical models) are typically empirical because the equation was fitted to the data.

> The problem of distinguishing between types of model is illustrated by the simulation of diffusive processes based on well-defined theoretical constructs (Okubo 1980). These formulations of diffusion allow simple empirical measurements to define the coefficients estimating diffusive spread. Thus, there is a strong theoretical base along with empirically based parameters. Is such a model considered empirical or theoretical? Should complex formulations always be considered more theoretical or simply harder to parameterize?

> The essential quarrel with each of these three terms is that most ecological models are a continuum of parts, processes, and empirical estimations. Separating models into these arbitrary and ill-defined classifications lacks rigor and repeatability. One person's mechanistic model is the next person's process-based model, etc. There does not appear to be a compelling reason to use these vague and often confusing terms to distinguish between alternative model formulations.

~ FURTHER READING

Ecological Modeling: General References

ELLNER SP, GUCKENHEIMER J (2006) Dynamic models in biology. Princeton University Press, Princeton HAEFNER JW (2005) Modeling biological systems: principles and applications. Springer, New York Kot M (2001) Elements of mathematical ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Spatial Modeling

O'SULLIVAN D, PERRY GLW (2013) Spatial simulation: exploring pattern and process. Wiley, Chichester

- PERRY GLW, ENRIGHT NJ (2007) Contrasting outcomes of spatially implicit and spatially explicit models of vegetation dynamics in a forest-shrubland mosaic. Ecol Model 207:327–338
- SKLAR FH, COSTANZA R (1990) The development of spatial simulation modeling for landscape ecology. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 239–288
- TILMAN D, KAREIVA P (1997) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions, Monographs in population biology. Princeton University Press, Princeton, p 367

Neutral Models

- GARDNER RH (2011) Neutral models and the analysis of landscape structure. In: Jopp F, Reuter H, Breckling B (eds) Modelling complex ecological dynamics. Springer, New York, pp 215–229
- GARDNER RH, MILNE BT, TURNER MG, O'NEILL RV (1987) Neutral models for the analysis of broadscale landscape pattern. Landsc Ecol 1:5–18
- HAGEN-ZANKER A, LAJOIE G (2008) Neutral models of landscape change as benchmarks in the assessment of model performance. Landsc Urban Plan 86:284–296
- WITH KA, KING AW (1997) The use and misuse of neutral landscape models in ecology. Oikos 79:219-229

Introduction

to Models

LANDSCAPE METRICS

C tudies in landscape ecology are concerned with determining the causes, consequences, and functional importance of spatial heterogeneity. Success in accomplishing these ambitious goals requires meaningful, robust methods for quantifying spatial pattern. Landscape ecologists use numerous metrics, and readily available spatial data combined with user-friendly software have made such analyses routine. However, the goal of landscape ecology is not simply to measure landscape pattern, and spatial pattern analysis is but one tool used to unravel the complex phenomena and relationships forming landscapes. Nevertheless, quantifying spatial heterogeneity is a key tool of the trade, and this chapter explains how to select, compute, and interpret landscape metrics. The development of new metrics has slowed (thankfully!), but useful new approaches that have emerged in the past decade are included here. While the nuts-and-bolts of individual metrics and software programs will continue to evolve over time, there are general caveats that apply to any analysis of landscape pattern. We begin this chapter by discussing why pattern is quantified and where landscape data come from, then highlight key caveats and cautions that must be considered *before* landscape pattern is analyzed. We next present commonly used landscape metrics of composition and configuration, introduce surface metrics briefly, and discuss connectivity measures derived from graph theory. Finally, we address the challenges associated with detecting significant differences in metrics and interpreting multiple pattern metrics, then proffer some added practical advice. This chapter largely focuses on pattern analysis based on categorical data, and we cover spatial statistics in the next chapter.

LANDSCAPE WHY QUANTIFY PATTERN?

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Because landscape ecology emphasizes the interaction between spatial pattern and ecological process, methods by which spatial patterning can be described and quantified are necessary. There are numerous practical examples of where quantitative understanding of the pattern is important. First, landscapes change through time, and we may be interested in knowing whether the pattern is different at time t+1 than it was at time t. Furthermore, we may want to know specifically *how* landscape pattern has changed. Landscapes have undergone substantial change during the past two centuries, as illustrated by the changes in John Curtis' classic study of forest cover in Cadiz Township, Wisconsin (Fig. 4.1). Here, we observe



FIGURE 4.1.

Changes in forest cover (*shaded green*) since the time of European settlement for Cadiz Township in southeastern Wisconsin. This pattern can be observed in many areas and illustrates both the changes in the abundance and spatial arrangement of forest in the landscape.

Adapted from Curtis (1956).



FIGURE 4.2. Landscape Differences in landscape Metrics pattern are apparent along the western boundary of Yellowstone National Park in this false-color aerial photo. The national park lands with relatively continuous forest cover (in red) can be seen to the right. To the left, areas with dispersed patches of clearcuts (white) on National Forest and private lands are evident.

that the area of forest has declined through time, and forest patches have become smaller and more isolated. Second, we may wish to compare two or more different landscapes or areas within a given landscape and determine how different or similar they are. In some cases, a political boundary may result in dramatically different landscape configurations within close proximity, as seen along the western boundary of Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming (Fig. 4.2). Numerous small, dispersed clearcuts are evident to the west, where timber was harvested on the national forest, whereas forest is more continuous to the east, within the park. Landscape metrics allow us to determine whether spatial patterns have changed over time, or whether landscapes are different or similar in pattern. Third, when considering the effects of different drivers on landscape pattern or future scenarios, we may need to evaluate quantitatively the different landscape patterns that result. Spatial analyses have been especially informative for detecting differences in landscape pattern associated with different categories of landowner (Fig. 4.3). Finally, different aspects of spatial pattern in the landscape may be important for processes such as the movement patterns of organisms, the redistribution of nutrients, or the spread of a natural disturbance. That is, relating spatial patterns to ecological processes first requires the means to describe these patterns. Consequently, spatial pattern metrics play a key role in many landscape studies.

100

FIGURE 4.3.

Changes in conifer (*green*) and other forest types for a private and public landscape (2500 ha) with similar initial conditions and rates of change that are relatively high for the ownership types. Landscape metrics were used to quantify the differences in landscape pattern between ownerships. Redrawn from Spies et al. (1994).



Spatial analysis received a lot of attention as the concepts and methods of landscape ecology were first emerging in the 1980s (e.g., Romme 1982; O'Neill et al. 1988a). It is notable that even simple patterns can be difficult to describe quantitatively. Methods that are standard today were only being developed "back in the day" when researchers wrote their own computer code to compute and evaluate landscape pattern indices (e.g., Gardner et al. 1987; Baker and Cai 1992; Turner 1990). The development of metrics used with categorical data has largely stabilized, and the analyses are now easy to perform. Practitioners are now expected to understand the methods, use them appropriately, and draw proper inference from the results. It is important to be facile with the quantitative analysis of land-scape pattern and to understand the factors that influence the interpretation of landscape metrics.

🔊 DATA USED IN LANDSCAPE ANALYSES

Many analyses of landscape pattern are conducted on land-use/land-cover data that have been digitized and stored within a geographic information system (GIS). Four general classes of data are most common.

- 1. Aerial photography remains an important data source for landscape studies, particularly for detecting changes in a landscape during the twentieth century (before satellite data became available) or for examining patterns at fine scales. Black-and-white aerial photos are generally available back through the 1930s, although the quality and spatial coverage may be uneven. More recent aerial photos may be in true color or infrared, and depending on the source, the resolution may be very high. Once any geographic errors in the data are rectified, an analyst usually demarcates the features of interest manually (e.g., Fig. 4.4), which is a very time-intensive process.
- 2. Digital remote sensing data are now widely used and accessible to many researchers. The US Landsat and French Spot satellites have provided frequent and spatially extensive coverage worldwide and are a very useful source of digital data. These data were relatively expensive for many years, but the recent open access (for free) to the archive of Landsat imagery has facilitated numerous studies. For questions that are at regional-to-global scales, MODIS data are also widely used. Airborne imaging scanners (e.g., Lidar or hyper-spectral imagery) may be used to provide fine resolution data for a particular locale. Readers should consult a remote sensing text (e.g., Richards and Jia 2006; Mather and Koch 2011) for more detail on these data sources.
- 3. *Published data and censuses* provide another valuable source of landscape data, particularly for temporal comparisons that extend back beyond the record of aerial photography. For example, the U.S. General Land Office Survey data have been used extensively to describe vegetation prior to European settlement (e.g., White and Mladenoff 1994; Delcourt and Delcourt 1996; Friedman et al. 2001) and methods are available to improve the accuracy of spatially extensive reconstructions (e.g., Williams and Baker 2011). In some areas, other historical mapping efforts also provide data that can be used to infer landscape patterns prior to the advent of aerial photography (e.g., the Bordner Survey in Wisconsin, USA, provided data for the 1930s; e.g., Bürgi and Turner 2002).
- 4. Field mapped data may be used for landscapes of smaller extent in which the investigator might map the spatial patterns of particular vegetation classes or landscape elements of interest in a relatively small area. Field mapping is not generally feasible for studies that cover a large area (e.g., hundreds to thousands of ha). However, it may be the only way to assess patterns in certain habitats, such as coastal benthic communities (e.g., Teixido et al. 2002, 2007).

Landscape

Metrics





FIGURE 4.4

Example of aerial photography of the same location in the Yahara Watershed, near Madison, Wisconsin, for two different years (1967 and 1996) and the resulting classification of land cover used in an analysis of landscape change over time. Photos on the *left* were orthorectified to correct for geographic distortion and/or misregistration. Images on the *right* show the categorization of these photos into land-cover classes. *Colors*: agriculture=*yellow*; suburban=*gray*; forest=*green*

Whatever the selected data source, landscape metrics are generally computed on a spatial dataset in which the images or spectral data have been classified into some meaningful number of categories. In other words, a digital categorical map provides the baseline for the analysis. The land-use and land-cover scheme developed by the US Geological Survey (Anderson et al. 1976) and used for products such as the 1992 and 2001 US National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD, see http://www.mrlc. gov/; Vogelmann et al. 2001; Fry et al. 2009) is a widely used protocol and serves as an example. This scheme is a hierarchical arrangement of categories from general to specific (Table 4.1). For example, forest (a Level I of the Anderson classification system) may be subdivided into deciduous, evergreen, or mixed forestland (Level II). Further divisions (Level III) would distinguish dominant species groups; TABLE 4.1. THE USGS LAND-USE/LAND-COVER CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (ANDERSON ET AL. 1976). Landscape

Le	vel I	Level II	
1.	Urban or built-up land	 Residential Commercial or services Industrial Transportation, communication, or utilities Industrial and commercial Mixed urban or built-up 	
2.	Agricultural land	 Cropland and pasture Orchards, groves, vineyards, horticulture Confined feeding operations Other agricultural land 	
3.	Rangelands	 Herbaceous rangelands Shrub and brush rangelands Mixed rangelands 	
4.	Forest land	 41. Deciduous forest land 42. Evergreen forest land 43. Mixed forest land 	
5.	Water	51. Streams and canals52. Lakes53. Reservoirs54. Bays and estuaries	
6.	Wetland	61. Forested wetlands62. Nonforested wetlands	
7.	Barren land	 Dry salt flats Beaches Sandy areas except beaches Bare exposed rock Strip mines, quarries, gravel pits Transitional areas Mixed barren land 	
8.	Tundra		

9. Perennial snow or ice

This is an example of a hierarchical classification system that can be used in landscape analyses.

it is largely the second and third levels that are used in analyses of the NLCD. Landscape data classified into categories are presumed to be homogeneous within a given category—an important assumption that must be recalled when viewing and interpreting these data. There are methods in remote sensing image





FIGURE 4.5.

Illustration of the two principal methods for representing spatial data in a GIS: vector-based representation and raster, or cell-based, representation.

Adapted from Coulson et al. (1991).

analysis that do not require the user to determine landscape categories but rather describe the "texture" or "surface" of each image. Most of this chapter will focus on categorical data, but we briefly introduce texture measures.

Most researchers store their landscape data in a GIS for ease of manipulation and display (Fig. 4.5). Many computer programs for landscape analyses were developed for use with raster, or grid cell, data, although vector-based versions are sometimes available. In raster format, a landscape is divided into a grid of square cells of equal size (Fig. 4.5). Other cell shapes (e.g., hexagons) may be used, but square cells are most common because they match many remote-sensed data sources. The size of the grid cell determines the grain (resolution) of the mapped data. Irregularly shaped landscapes can be represented within a rectangular perimeter larger than the landscape itself by setting the "background" cells to a value that indicates "no data." In vector format, lines are defined by ordered sets of coordinate pairs defining the boundaries of polygons (Fig. 4.5). The polygons may be of variable size and shape, but the minimum mapping unit (i.e., grain size) corresponds to the minimum patch size that was mapped. Raster data are more commonly used in landscape analyses largely because the computer programming of the analyses is easier, and most satellite imagery is in raster format.

A Comment on Spatial Data Accuracy

It is very important to consider the accuracy of the spatial data or map upon which the analysis of landscape pattern is to be performed. Values returned for many landscape metrics will vary with the technique used to process the imagery, and care must be used when comparing results from images with even slight differences in processing methods (Mas et al. 2010). Often, an analyst may be using data classified by other individuals (or institutions), making the accuracy of the original data and subsequent data difficult to establish. Within GIS/remote sensing data, there are a number of recognized potential sources of error (Table 4.2) and every effort should be made to insure that each dataset has minimal error.

Understanding the sensitivity of landscape metrics to error in the input data has received some research attention (e.g., Cardille et al. 1996; Wickham et al. 1997; Langford et al. 2006; Mas et al. 2010), but more is warranted. Using simulated data to propagate error through a landscape change analysis, Burnicki (2012) found that metrics associated with fragmentation were consistently over-estimated and indicated smaller and more variable patches of land-cover change compared to the error-free data. Smoothing algorithms can improve classification error, but it can also have unexpected effects on the landscape metrics and change the direction of the errors (Langford et al. 2006). The key point is that classification error is under reported but can produce inaccurate descriptions of landscape pattern. The old maxim of computer programming, "Garbage in, garbage out," also holds for landscape pattern analysis; the end product is only as good as the data upon which the analysis is based.

CAVEATS FOR LANDSCAPE PATTERN ANALYSIS, OR "READ THIS FIRST"

The widespread availability of spatial data has created myriad opportunities for landscape patterns to be analyzed for many different purposes. It is easy to look up the calculation or equation for any given metric. However, having the framework for the correct use of metrics is critical. Important issues must be addressed before embarking on the analysis of landscape pattern (see Box 4.1). First and foremost among these is having a well-conceived question/rationale for the analysis. It remains easy to fall into the trap of generating a lot of numbers without a clear purpose for the study and recognition of the limitations of the metrics. Reporting metrics is not meaningful without an a priori statement of the objectives of the analysis and/or hypothesized pattern changes (i.e., disturbances will cause a decline in the diversity of land-cover types). Landscape comparisons can also be plagued Landscape

Metrics

106

LANDSCAPE Ecology in	Table 4.2. Sources of potential error in GIS data, adapted from Burrough (1986).		
THEORY AND	Source	Explanation	
	Obvious sources		
	Age of data	Some data change more rapidly than others, e.g., geological substrate vs. land use. Old data may have been collected under different standards	
	Aerial coverage	Coverage may be incomplete over a region of interest	
	Map scale	Does the map scale match the resolution at which the data were originally collected? Is it appropriate for the question?	
	Political boundaries	Data characteristics may change across political (e.g., county, state) or administrative (e.g., agency, landowners) boundaries on maps formed as a composite	
	Natural variation in original measurements		
	Positional accuracy	Boundary lines or distinctions may not be precisely located due to field mapping or conversion between data formats (e.g., vector to raster) or spatial resolution	
	Content accuracy	Are the cell attributes correct? In remote sensing interpretation, there are measurable errors associated with classification of the reflectance values	
	Variation in data sources	Different interpreters may generate different maps; protocols may not be standardized; errors in data entry; natural variability	
	Processing error	S	
	Numerical computation	Decimal precision and rounding errors in complex calculations	
	Topological analyses	When combining map variables or coverages, use of logical operators multiplies errors in individual layers; conversion between vector and raster also may lead to error	
	Classification	Errors in deriving the category assignments from aerial photos or satellite imagery; error typically estimated for entire map and for each category on the map	

by pseudoreplication (Hurlbert 1984; Hargrove and Pickering 1992), which occurs when comparisons are made among samples that are not truly independent. The dangers of pseudoreplication are relevant to landscape ecology because the unique attributes of each landscape make statistical controls difficult and independent replicate samples nearly impossible.

Landscape

Metrics

BOX 4.1 PRE-FLIGHT CHECKLIST FOR LANDSCAPE PATTERN ANALYSIS

Before embarking on an analysis of landscape pattern, we suggest answering the following questions to guide the analysis and to avoid known pitfalls.

- 1. What are the scientific or management questions motivating the study?
- 2. What qualities of spatial pattern are of most interest, and why (i.e., what is the ecological rationale)? How do you expect these qualities to change over time, differ among study areas, or affect processes of interest?
- 3. Which metrics are potential indicators of the spatial qualities you wish to quantify? Which metrics should be computed for the landscape as a whole, or by cover type, or for individual patches?
- 4. What spatial data are needed to answer the questions (and are these data available)? Are categorical or continuous data better suited for answering the questions? For categorical data, what classification scheme is appropriate, given the objectives of the study?
- 5. For analyses involving more than one study area or time period, are scales and classification schemes consistent across datasets?

- 6. What is the accuracy of the spatial data? Is error in the input data likely to affect the numerical results of the analysis? Are the source data and classification methods consistent when using results to compare landscapes?
- 7. How is each metric calculated (i.e., what is the equation)? What is its potential range (i.e., minimum and maximum value)? Is it a normalized, or are the values unconstrained? What are the units?
- 8. What is the correlation structure among the metrics computed in your analysis? (Provide the descriptive statistics of the distributions of each metric, and always check the correlation structure among metrics in your own study by inspecting scatter plots and calculating correlation coefficients!) What is the most parsimonious set of metrics that answers the questions?
- 9. What method will be used to determine whether metrics (or comparisons made through time or among landscapes) are significant both statistically and ecologically? How will the values, differences or trends of the metrics be interpreted ecologically?

#1 The Classification Scheme Is Critical

The number and type of categories selected for each dataset have a very strong effect on the numerical results of any pattern analysis. For example, consider the pattern of vegetation mapped from remote imagery for the same section of a land-scape but classified in different ways (Fig. 4.6). In one case, the vegetation is mapped by forest type, whereas in the other, the vegetation is mapped by forest age. It is clear that these two landscape representations look *very* different and that the quantitative descriptions of these two datasets would be quite dissimilar. Thus, the choice of what categories to include in a pattern analysis is a critical one! The question being asked must drive this selection; that is, the categories must be appropri-

108



FIGURE 4.6.

Example of how the same landscape looks very different under different classification schemes. Both panels show a $5\text{-km} \times 5\text{-km}$ section (100×100 grid cells) of southwestern Yellowstone National Park. (a) The landscape is classified based on the forest community composition. (b) The landscape has been classified based on the successional stage of the forest stands.

ate for the objective of the study. For example, general categories (e.g., Level I in Anderson et al. 1976) would be appropriate to study landscape patterns in the eastern USA, but to study vegetation patterns within a forested landscape such as the Great Smoky Mountains National Park, descriptions of a variety of forest community types may be more desirable. Furthermore, the classification scheme must be consistent across all landscapes being compared. For example, to compare changes in landscapes over time (e.g., Fig. 4.4), the categories must be the same, or classes must be aggregated to the level that provides consistency between the datasets. This issue has confounded some analyses of landscape change in the USA using the NLCD data from 1992 and 2001 (Fry et al. 2009).

After the decision is made about what categories to include in a dataset, the interpretation of those categories from a primary data source should be clearly described. For example, the threshold of tree cover used to separate "forest" from "woodland" can vary among classification schemes, as can the density of built structures that distinguish "high-density urban" from "low-density urban" areas. Gustafson (1998) poses the example of studying the distribution of aspen in north woods of Wisconsin (USA) and needing to specify how much aspen must be present in order to be classified as an aspen stand. The threshold density for classification should be specified, and the use of different density levels among similar maps should be avoided. Each decision in the mapping process will affect the determination and analysis of spatial structure (Gustafson 1998). For others to interpret your findings or compare the results with other studies, the classification scheme must be plain.

#2 Scale Matters and Must Be Defined

The grain and extent of the data used in any analysis of landscape pattern influence the numerical result obtained for a given metric (Turner et al. 1989b; Moody and Woodcock 1995; Wickham and Riitters 1995; Wu 2004; Ostapowicz et al. 2008) and must be defined explicitly. This sensitivity means that comparisons of landscape data represented at different scales may be invalid because results reflect the scale-related errors rather than differences in landscape patterns.

How are landscape metrics affected by scale? As *grain* size increases (i.e., resolution decreases), cover types that are rare on the landscape typically become less well represented or may even disappear (Fig. 4.7). The boundaries between differ-



FIGURE 4.7.

Effects of changing grain size on a landscape map. Panels show a $5\text{-km} \times 5\text{-km}$ section (initially 100×100 grid cells) of southwestern Yellowstone National Park aggregated sequentially following a majority assignment rule. (a) The original landscape is shown with $50\text{-m} \times 50\text{-m}$ grid cells. (b) Grid cell size is $100 \text{ m} \times 100 \text{ m}$. (c) Grid cell size is $200 \text{ m} \times 200 \text{ m}$.

ent cover types also become underestimated with increasing grain size as the shapes depicted become less complex and fine-grained details are lost (Fig. 4.7). By changing grain in a Landsat image from 30×30 -m to 1×1 -km, Moody and Woodcock (1995) showed that scale-induced changes in the proportion of the landscape occupied by different cover types influenced landscape metrics including patch size, patch density and landscape diversity. Some metrics are more sensitive to changes in grain size than others. In the Tennessee River and the Chesapeake Bay Watersheds, Cain et al. (1997) found measures of landscape diversity, texture, and fractal dimension were more consistent across analyses in which grain size and the number of cover types varied, whereas measures of average patch shape or compaction were subject to change. Analyses of forest patterns using morphological spatial pattern analysis in Guidos (see Box 4.2) confirmed a strong influence of pixel size on analyses that quantified features related to connectivity (Ostapowicz et al. 2008).

The spatial *extent* of the study area can affect landscape metrics independently of grain size. There are two key effects. First, when landscapes contain multiple cover types, increases in map extent will usually increase the representation of rare cover types, similar to the increases in species with increases in area sampled. The inverse is also true: the number of categories on a map declines with decreasing extent. Second, if patches are large relative to the size of the landscape, patches tend to get cut off by the boundary of the map. The smaller the extent of the map, the more serious this problem of artificial truncation of patches by the map boundary, resulting in biased measurements of patch size, shape, and complexity (Fig. 4.8).

What the minimum map extent should be to prevent serious measurement errors is not always clear. For example, imagine a square landscape of 400 × 400 cells created by the random placement of a single cover type among the grid cells (i.e., a random neutral landscape model; see Chap. 3). Further imagine that the goal of the analysis is to estimate the number of patches in this landscape by sampling with maps of 50×50 , 100×100 , or 200×200 cells. In the smaller maps, the truncation effect results in consistent overestimation of the total number of habitat patches. However, this bias is small (a maximum of 1.3 % for the 50×50 map) for all map sizes when p, the fraction of the map occupied by the single habitat type, is also small. This is because the patches themselves are small and distributed across the landscape. However, when p is greater than 0.6 (i.e., the 400×400 map has 60 % of the cells randomly occupied by the single habitat type), sampling bias climbs to 23 %, 9 %, and 3 % for the 50×50 , 100×100 , and 200×200 maps, respectively. The lessons from this example are: (1) it is difficult to specify for all situations what the biases will be for maps of different extent; (2) no single map extent is optimal for all analyses; (3) unless experiments can be performed to evaluate optimal sample sizes, one should sample with maps of the greatest possible extent.

In reporting results from any landscape pattern analysis, the extent and grain size (or minimum mapping unit) of the data must be clearly specified, and compari-

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Landscape

Metrics

BOX 4.2 THE PRACTICAL SIDE: SOFTWARE FOR LANDSCAPE PATTERN ANALYSIS

Getting started in landscape pattern analysis is now relatively easy, given the availability of user-friendly and powerful software programs. We highlight several widely used programs here, all of which are available for free from the developers; new users can also gain hands-on experience with landscape analyses and interpretation by using the second edition of LEARNING LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY (Gergel and Turner 2016).

FRAGSTATS is the most widely used package for landscape pattern analysis (McGarigal and Marks 1995). FRAGSTATS is comprehensive, powerful, easy to use, and the documentation is excellent. FRAGSTATS provides options for calculating metrics over the entire landscape (called "landscape metrics"), by cover type (called "class metrics"), or by individual patches (called "patch metrics"). Version 4 also includes texture measures. Users interested in running landscape analyses might begin with FRAGSTATS <http://www.umass.edu/landeco/ research/FRAGSTATS/FRAGSTATS.html>.

Conefor Sensinode is used widely to quantify the importance of individual habitat areas (i.e., patches) and the links among them to assess landscape connectivity (Saura and Torné 2009). Conefor includes an array of connectivity indices and was designed specifically to address landscape conservation questions <http://www.conefor.org/>.

Guidos is a graphical user interface for performing "morphological spatial pattern analysis" of an input image. It focuses especially on structural connectivity and identifying different classes of image components, including core areas, islets, perforations, edges, loops, bridges, and branches. Conefore Sensinode also is included within Guidos. The software can be downloaded from the European Commission Joint Research Centre <http://forest.jrc. ec.europa.eu/download/software/guidos>.

QRULE (Gardner 1999; Gardner and Urban 2007) is a FORTRAN-based program that allows users to generate a variety of different neutral landscape models and analyze the patterns of each landscape, and it can also provide the same analyses for user-input maps. QRULE is the current derivative of the program written by Gardner to generate the first neutral landscape models (Gardner et al. 1987) <http://www. umces.edu/al/program/gardner/Qrule>.

Geospatial Modelling Environment (formerly HawthsTools) are a useful set of tools that allows data structures developed within ArcGIS™ to be analyzed with a wide range of statistical tools available within R <http://www.spatialecology.com/gme/index.htm>.

METALAND is a database of landscape metrics that were already computed in FRAGSTATS for contiguous 6.5 km × 6.5 km landscapes (n= 193,705) of the 8-million km² conterminous USA (Cardille et al. 2005). This searchable database includes land-use/landcover maps for 1992 and 2001 and allows users to retrieve landscapes that match stated criteria for multiple landscape metrics <http://132.216.21.101/ currentprojects/metaland/index.php>.

sons among landscapes must control for any differences in scale. When grain sizes differ, one approach is to re-sample the fine-scale data to the coarser grain; often, this is done by assigning the category of the majority of the smaller cells to the single larger cell. When landscapes differ in extent and/or shape, normalizing metrics by area often allows comparison of many common metrics. This often entails



FIGURE 4.8.

Effects of changing extent on a landscape map of southwestern Yellowstone National Park. Note that the presence and relative proportions of the different land cover types change as the extent of the map varies.

dividing a value by area, such as the total length of edge in a landscape vs. an edge density. More sophisticated scaling rules can sometimes be used (e.g., see Wu 2004).

Is there a "rule of thumb" for selecting the appropriate grain and extent for an analysis? Using remotely sensed data for the southeastern USA and examining the effects of changing the grain and extent of the maps on landscape metrics, O'Neill et al. (1996) proposed the following to avoid bias in calculating landscape metrics: The grain size of the map should be 2–5 times smaller than the spatial features being analyzed and map extent should be 2–5 times larger than the largest patches.

#3 A Patch Is Not a Patch

The concept of a "patch" is an intuitive one—we all seem to understand what constitutes a patch of grassland or forest. However, this is yet another example of the need for clear definitions *before* analysis of landscape pattern can begin. Forman and Godron (1986) defined a patch as "...a nonlinear surface area differing in appearance from its surroundings." Converting this definition into a computer algorithm to identify patches on a gridded landscape, we have "...a contiguous group of cells of the same mapped category." But what does contiguous (or touching) mean? Different rules have been established to define this simple concept, and analysis programs usually allow variable patch-definition rules. The two most common methods consider either the four nearest-neighboring cells (i.e., horizontal or



FIGURE 4.9.

Illustration of the identification of patches (*shaded*) on the same map using either (**a**) a four-neighbor rule, in which the horizontal and vertical neighbors are considered but the diagonal neighbors are not, and (**b**) an eight-neighbor rule, in which the horizontal, vertical, and diagonal neighbors are all considered.

vertical neighbors only) adjoining the cell of interest or the eight nearest-neighboring cells (horizontal, vertical and diagonal neighbors). These different rules produce different results, including numbers of patches, mean patch size, and measures of habitat connectivity (Fig. 4.9). With a four-neighbor rule, there will be more patches of smaller size, and the habitat will appear less connected, compared to an eight-neighbor rule. The four-neighbor rule is conservative, and the eight-neighbor rule seems to be used more widely. The key point is that the user must specify the rule used to identify patches.

Other factors that influence patch analyses also must be considered up front. Patch identification is strongly affected by the grain size and classification scheme of the input data. In general, reducing grain size (i.e., 10-m vs. 100-m cells) will increase the number of patches that are identified because additional detail is resolved at the finer scale. Because classification of cover types or habitats can be very different among species or for different ecological processes, a single map may need to be reclassified to perform patch-based analyses for multiple species or processes. There is also a difference in whether patches are identified *structurally*, based solely on cover type, regardless of whether they are actually used; or *functionally*, in which patches are identified based on differences in expected function (e.g., Fahrig et al. 2011). The same "landscape" may look very different to different species or processes (Li and Reynolds 1993; Fahrig et al. 2011).

In sum, all quantitative analyses that are based on patches (e.g., average patch size, distribution of patches by size, perimeter-to-area relationships, as well as network models derived from graph theory) depend on all of the factors inherent in defining patches. Therefore, the patch-definition process should be well thought out. Patches are not fixed elements of the landscape, but rather are useful spatial constructs that vary with the objectives of a given study. LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

#4 Many Metrics Are Correlated with One Another (and Thus Redundant)

As with the classification scheme and spatial scale of the data, the metrics chosen for analysis must be selected based on the objectives of the study. However, many metrics are strongly correlated with one another. Correlated metrics are capturing similar qualities of spatial pattern, i.e., they are redundant. As with any other set of variables, care must be exercised to assure that the metrics used in a study reflect the desired quality of spatial pattern, and that they are independent from one another. Failure to account for correlation among landscape predictor variables (such as pattern metrics) can result in incorrect inferences about a response of interest (Eigenbrod et al. 2011a).

The correlation among multiple metrics has been well studied. Multivariate analyses have been informative (e.g., Riitters et al. 1995; Cushman et al. 2008), although resulting interpretations differ in their particulars. Riitters et al. (1995) examined the correlations among 55 different landscape metrics by factor analysis and identified only five independent factors. Thus, many typical landscape metrics are *not* measuring different qualities of spatial pattern. In the Riitters et al. (1995) analysis, the five independent factors represented: (1) the number of classes or cover types on the map; (2) whether the texture of the landscape pattern was fine or coarse; (3) the degree to which patches were compact or dissected; (4) whether patches were linear or planar; and (5) whether patch perimeters were complicated or simple in shape. Thus, the analyst should select metrics that are relatively independent of one another, with each metric (or grouping of metrics) able to detect ecologically meaningful landscape properties. It is usually necessary to have more than one metric to characterize a landscape because there simply isn't one number that "says it all." However, reporting ten highly correlated metrics does not yield new information. Just because something *can* be computed doesn't mean it *should* be computed!

Another issue regarding correlated metrics is that relationships among metrics can be nonlinear. Fortin et al. (2003) explored the spatial realization of simple stochastic processes on a landscape (i.e., using neutral landscape models) and interpreted the resulting patterns using landscape metrics. Inspection of pairwise scatterplots between seven landscape metrics revealed that many relationships were not linear, and several were not even monotonic (Fig. 4.10). Thus, the expectation of linear relationships among landscape metrics that has been implicit in most previous studies may be misleading.

#5 There Is No Single, Magic Metric

Despite wishful thinking and the numerous correlations among landscape metrics, there is not one metric that is sufficient to describe a landscape. How many metrics are needed depends on the key first steps (Box 4.1), which are to define the question and determine what qualities of spatial pattern are of interest. Practically speaking,



FIGURE 4.10.

(

Scatter plots of seven landscape metrics derived from 1000 simulated binary landscapes with high autocorrelation. Abbreviations are *NP* number of patches, *PD* patch density, *ED* edge density, *LSI* landscape shape index, *AWMSI* area-weighted mean shape index, *MSIEI* modified Simplson's evenness index, *CONTAG* contagion. The relationships are not monotonic and suggest that relationships among landscape metrics may be nonlinear.

Reproduced with permission from Fortin et al. (2003).

redundancy should be minimized, and a set of useful metrics must characterize composition and configuration. We re-visit the challenge of making sense out of multiple metrics near the end of the chapter.

🝆 METRICS FOR QUANTIFYING LANDSCAPE PATTERN

Caveats thus stated, numerous metrics can be computed for a landscape dataset too many for us to review in this text. The readings recommended at the end of this chapter provide excellent treatments of the calculation and interpretation of hun-

dreds of metrics. Practical information on several readily available software pack-LANDSCAPE ages that can be used to analyze landscape pattern is included in Box 4.2. In this ECOLOGY IN section, we review illustrative and commonly used metrics within five broad cate-THEORY AND

gories: metrics of landscape composition; measures of spatial configuration, including contagion and patch-based metrics; fractals; surface metrics; and spatial graphs.

Metrics of Landscape Composition

Landscape composition refers to the cover types present on the landscape and how much there is of each class. Metrics of landscape composition are not spatially explicit. That is, they measure what is present and in what relative amounts, or proportions, without reference to *where* on the landscape they may be located. Metrics of landscape composition are *very* important descriptors, especially because the relative amounts of cover types constrain the potential values of spatially explicit metrics. For example, the proportion of the landscape occupied by a given cover type limits the range of patch number and sizes that are possible (Gardner et al. 1987; see Chap. 3).

FRACTION OR PROPORTION (p_i) Occupied

A simple but extremely useful number to calculate is the proportion, p_i , of the landscape that is occupied by each cover type *i*, where i = 1, *s*, and *s* is the total number of cover types on the map. The p_i values are estimated by counting the number of grid cells of each cover type and then dividing by the total number of grid cells present on the entire landscape. The p_i 's have a very strong influence on other aspects of pattern, such as patch size or length of edge in the landscape (Gardner et al. 1987); thus, these proportions are almost always reported. The p_i 's are also used to calculate a variety of landscape metrics, contributing to correlations among those metrics sharing this information.

DIVERSITY AND DOMINANCE

Metrics based on the relative abundance of each cover type and derived from information theory were first applied to landscape analyses by Romme (1982) to describe changes in the area occupied by forests of varying successional stage through time in a watershed in Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming. Two of these indices are dominance and diversity (O'Neill et al. 1988a), which are inversely related and thus provide the same information about the landscape. Diversity, or relative evenness, refers to how evenly the proportions of cover types are distributed. For example, if there are three cover types present, does each occupy 33 % of the landscape or does one occupy 90 % and the others each only 5 %? The equation for the normalized version of this metric is given by:

$$H = \frac{-\sum_{i=1}^{s} (p_i) \ln(p_i)}{\ln(s)}$$

PRACTICE

where H = diversity, p_i = the proportion of the landscape occupied by cover type i, and s = the number of cover types present. Dividing through by $\ln(s)$ normalizes the index to range between zero and one. [Other forms of this index that are not normalized have maximum values that depend on the number of cover types and therefore will not scale similarly when the number of cover types vary.] A high value of H indicates greater evenness, and a low value indicates less evenness.

Closely related to diversity is dominance, which is simply the deviation from the maximum possible diversity:

$$D = \frac{H_{\max} + \sum_{i=1}^{s} p_i \ln(p_i)}{H_{\max}}$$

where D = dominance, $p_i = \text{the proportion of the landscape occupied by cover type } i$ and $H_{\text{max}} = \ln(s)$, which is the maximum possible diversity for a landscape having scover types. Again, this index ranges between zero and one with a high value indicating dominance by one or a few cover types, and a low value indicating that the cover types are present in similar proportions. Note that the summation in the numerator actually represents a deviation from H_{max} because the logarithms of values <1.0 are negative.

Three important points must be noted here. First, H and D are redundant, so an analysis reporting both is of little value. Second, and reflecting a more general issue for metrics of this type, H and D will return similar numerical values for landscapes that have similar proportions of different cover types but are qualitatively different. For example, a landscape occupied by 80 % agriculture, 10 % forest, and 10 % wetland would have the same values of H and D as a landscape occupied by 80 % forest, 10 % agriculture, and 10 % wetland. Thus, these metrics can be difficult to interpret ecologically. Third, these metrics require at least two cover types in the landscape, otherwise the resulting value will be undefined.

Measures of Spatial Configuration

The metrics described so far do not account for the spatial arrangement of habitat types. Given composition, the metrics of configuration provide quantitative descriptions of the spatial arrangement of cover types on the landscape. These include a wide variety of measures ranging from edge length and edge-to-area ratios; habitat adjacencies and contagion; and the number, size, and distance between patches.

Edge Length and Edge Density

For the overall landscape, total edge is computed by summing the number of horizontal or vertical "edges" between cells of different cover types and reporting that Landscape Metrics

FIGURE 4.11.

Illustration of how edges are calculated. Map contains three habitats (*black*, *gray*, *white*). The perimeter of the map is usually excluded from edge calculations. In this map, there are nine horizontal edges (*blue*) and eight vertical edges (*green*). Overall edge density can be calculated by summing edge length and dividing by the map area. Assuming 1-ha cells, edge density in this map is calculated by: [(9+8)*100]/25=68 m/ha. Edges can also be tallied by cover type.



number, or multiplying by the length units of the cell (Fig. 4.11). The edges along the boundary of the landscape map are usually not included in the calculation. Because the size or shape of landscapes may vary, reporting edge values as a density (length per unit area) is recommended. Because total edge may be difficult to interpret ecologically, it is often more informative to report edge length or density for particular types of edges (e.g., cropland-urban land, or forest-open).

Contagion

The contagion metric, *C* (O'Neill et al. 1988a; Li and Reynolds 1993) uses adjacency information and distinguishes between overall landscape patterns that are clumped or dissected. Like dominance and diversity, the index is derived from information theory, computed from a set of probabilities, and returns a single value that applies to the whole landscape. In this case, however, the values are the *probabilities of adjacency*—i.e., the probability that a grid cell of cover type *i* is adjacent to a grid cover type *j*. These probabilities (and thus the contagion index) are thus sensitive to the fine-scale (i.e., cell-to-cell) spatial distribution of cover types. These probabilities of adjacency, $q_{i,j}$, can be computed simply as:

$$q_{i,j} = \frac{n_{i,j}}{n_i}$$

where n_i = the number of grid cells of cover type *i* and $n_{i,j}$ = the number of instances when cover type *i* is adjacent to cover type *j*. Note that this initial calculation assumes a single one-directional pass through the data matrix, i.e., horizontal.

118

These probabilities can be computed directionally to detect directionality in the pattern (i.e., anisotropy), and average values can also be determined. If you calculate the probabilities simultaneously in four directions, the denominator must be modified to reflect the correct potential number of neighbors.

The set of $q_{i,j}$ values form the Q matrix and provide a lot of information. The $q_{i,i}$ values, which are the diagonals of the Q matrix, are particularly useful in measuring the degree of clumping found in each cover type. The $q_{i,j}$'s give the likelihood that cells of the same cover type are found adjacent to each other. High $q_{i,j}$ values indicate a highly aggregated cover type and low $q_{i,j}$ values indicate that the cover type tends to occur in isolated grid cells or small patches. Thus, this metric can be used to characterize relatively fine-scale detail of the spatial pattern and is useful in providing data on each of the cover types.

The contagion metric, *C*, can be formulated in different ways. By using the elements of the **Q** matrix as described above (O'Neill et al. 1988a, b), the equation is given by:

$$C = 1 + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \left[\left(p_i * q_{ij} \right) * \ln \left(p_i * q_{ij} \right) \right]}{2 \ln(s)}$$

Alternatively, a slightly different method of calculating the probabilities of adjacency can be used (Li and Reynolds 1993). Here, the probability of adjacency is given by P_{ij} =the probability that two randomly chosen adjacent pixels belong to cover types *i* and *j*, respectively: i.e., $P_{ij}=P_iP_{ji}$; and *s* is the number of cover types on the landscape. The equation for *C* is then given by:

$$C = 1 + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{j=1}^{s} \left(P_{ij}\right) \ln\left(P_{ij}\right)}{2\ln(s)}$$

The metric ranges from zero to one, with high values indicating more clumped patterns of cover types across the landscape, and low values indicating a landscape with a dispersed or fragmented pattern of cover types. In both cases, the maximum value is dependent on the number of cover types and is given by $2 \ln(s)$.

Contagion is useful in capturing fine-scale variation in patterns that relate to the "graininess" of the map. As with H and D, it is important to know what cover types are present, as the index can return a similar numerical value for landscapes that are functionally very different from one another. However, the index has been demonstrated to be effective at representing overall landscape change (e.g., Proulx and Fahrig 2010). With all of the metrics derived from information theory, it is important to remember that a lot of information is embedded in a single value, and explanations should not neglect composition.

Landscape Metrics

LANDSCAPEPATCH-BASED METRICS
Given a landscape dataset in which the grid cells are assigned to discrete categories,
patches, which are contiguous areas of the same cover type, can be identified and
their distributions described. Again, the importance of the classification scheme,
scale of the data, and patch-definition rules used in the analysis cannot be overstated!
PRACTICEPRACTICEPatch-based measures of pattern include patch number, size, perimeter, and shape.

Patch number, area and perimeter. Once patches are located, the number can be reported, and the area and perimeter of each patch can be computed and summarized. Patch information is most useful when it is reported for individual cover types (i.e., at the class level). It is difficult to interpret values reported for every patch of all cover types in a meaningful way, whereas changes in particular cover types make more sense ecologically. Common ways of reporting patch-level analyses include: a frequency distribution (or cumulative frequency distribution) of numbers of patches by patch size; the number or density of patches; the mean, median, and standard deviation of patch size; or the area-weighted mean patch size. It is useful to report the number of patches as a patch density value (i.e., number of patches divided by landscape area) because that facilitates comparisons among landscapes of different extent.

The frequency distribution of patch sizes on many landscapes is often skewed a few large patches will be found surrounded by many smaller patches. Under these conditions, the simple arithmetic average does not reflect the "expected" patch size that would be encountered by a simple random placement of points on the map. A more useful method of averaging is to weight patch sizes by area (Stauffer and Aharony 1992). If there are *n* patches on the landscape and S_k is the size of the *k*th patch, then the area-weighted average patch size is:

$$S_{\rm a} = \frac{\sum \left(s_k^2\right)}{\sum \left(s_k\right)}$$

Area weighting of other indices has been employed when skewed frequency distributions result in a disproportionate effect of small patches on the metric of interest (McGarigal and Marks 1995).

Perimeter-to-area ratios (P/A, also referred to as edge-to-area ratios) also serve as useful indices of shape complexity. For a given area, a high P/A ratio indicates a complex or elongated boundary shape and a low P/A ratio indicates a more compact and simple shape. However, P/A is sensitive to patch size, decreasing as patch size increases for a given shape. There are a variety of shape indices based on perimeter and area measurements, some of which correct for the size problem (e.g., see Baker and Cai 1992). If computed separately for each patch in the landscape, the mean, median, standard deviations, and frequency distribution can again summarize these ratios. Note that the P/A values can be reported for particular kinds of habitat adjacencies, and in some calculations, the user can specify the degree of contrast between particular classes. Two key points about P/A calculations bear mentioning. First, the calculation of the mean P/A ratio of n patches versus a calculation that uses total length of perimeter in the landscape divided by total area of a cover type are not necessarily the same. Second, remember from geometry class that the relationship of edge to area varies with patch size, even if the shape of the patch remains constant: P/A is greater for smaller patches than for larger patches. Area-corrected P/A ratios are available.

Largest patch index (LPI), also referred to as the relative size of the largest cluster, is another useful patch-based metric. This is a simple index computed for a given cover type that relates to fragmentation of that cover type. It calculates the size of the largest patch relative to the maximum size possible if the cover type occurred in a single patch:

$$LPI_i = \frac{LC_i}{p_i \times m \times n}$$

where LC_i = the size of the largest cluster of habitat type *i*, p_i = the proportion of the landscape occupied by habitat type *i*, and $m \times n$ gives the size of the landscape that contains *m* row and *n* columns. If all of cover type *i* occurs as a single patch, the value of the index = 1.0 indicating complete connectivity. When the cover type is dispersed into very small patches, the index approaches zero. Note that values of LPI are typically correlated with the $q_{i,i}$ values in the Q matrix of cell adjacencies.

Patch isolation. The degree to which patches in the landscape are isolated from other patches of the same cover type may be of importance, especially when species habitat-use patterns are of interest. The mean interpatch distance is a measure that relates to the connectivity (or its inverse, fragmentation) of a habitat type. This is often done in one of two ways. First, the distance can be computed from the center of one patch to the center of the next nearest patch. This method requires an algorithm for determining patch centroids. Second, the distance can be computed from the grid cells on each of two patches that are closest to one another, thereby providing a minimum interpatch distance. Although patch distances are usually done for individual cover types, it is also possible to compute these distances between two different cover types, e.g., for an organism that requires two habitats in close proximity.

Proximity index. The proximity index (Gustafson and Parker 1992) is another index that can be computed for each patch on a landscape to determine the relative isolation of the patches. This index is given by:

$$\mathbf{PX}_i = \sum \frac{s_k}{n_k}$$

where PX_i is the proximity index for focal patch *i*, and then within a specified search distance (which must be set by the user), s_k is the area of patch *k* within the search buffer and n_k is the nearest neighbor distance between a grid cell of the focal patch and the nearest grid cell of patch *k*. This index is not normalized but returns an absolute number. Low values indicate patches that are relatively isolated from

Landscape

Metrics

LANDSCAPE other patches within the specified buffer distance, and high values indicate patches

that are relatively connected to other patches.

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

THEORY AND Fractals

We consider fractals separately because they may be reported in various ways: overall for the whole landscape, overall for each cover type, or for individual patches. Fractals stirred up a lot of interest because of the promise that they might solve "scaling problems." Although they can be useful in scaling algorithms, their two common uses in landscape ecology have been as measures of shape complexity and as parameters used in generating neutral landscape models. We explain fractals briefly, focusing here on their use as a descriptor of spatial pattern.

Many years ago, the scientist Lewis Fry Richardson studied the relation between the measured length of a coastline or lake perimeter and the scale at which it was mapped. Fry found that the length of the coastline as estimated by the map increased logarithmically with increasing map resolution. Why did this occur? As the resolution of the map was increased, more and more previously unresolved features could be delineated; in the limit, the length of the coastline is infinite. For shapes like coastlines, the curves are never actually as smooth as the drawn lines would have us believe. These findings were incorporated into the theory of fractals proposed by the mathematician Mandelbrot (1983).

The essence of fractals is the recognition that, for many phenomena, the amount of resolvable detail is a function of scale. An important corollary is that increasing the resolution does *not* result in an absolute increase in precision, but rather it reveals variation that had passed unnoticed before. Consider, for example, two ideal fractal curves (Fig. 4.12). If we measure the distance from A to B and measure by units of length x, we observe that in Fig. 4.12a, the distance = 4. If we decrease the resolution by a factor of 3 so units are x/3 = y, more detail is seen; in Fig. 4.12b, the distance from A to C is now 4 units of y, but the total distance between A and B will be longer in units of y than in units of x. Because the curves in Fig. 4.12 behave similarly at all scales, once the properties are known at one scale they can be deduced from another merely by applying a scaling parameter. The level of variation present at all scales can be described by a single parameter, the fractal dimension, defined by Mandelbrot (1983) as:

$D = \log N / \log r$

where N=number of steps used to measure a pattern unit length and r is the scale ratio. In Fig. 4.12a, b, N=4 and r=3 so D=1.2618.

Mandelbrot (1985) defined a fractal as "a shape made of parts similar to the whole in some way." A fractal will look the same whatever the level of resolution used to observe the object. Fractals have two important characteristics: (1) they embody the idea of *self-similarity*, in which variations at one scale are repeated at another; (2)



FIGURE 4.12.

Ideal fractal curves: (**a**, **b**) *D* = ln 4/ln 3 = 1.2618; (**c**, **d**) *D* = ln 5/ln 3 = 1.4650. Redrawn from Burroughs (1986).

their dimension is not an integer but rather a fraction—hence the *fractional dimension*, from which these objects acquired the name. Euclidian dimensions are familiar (e.g., a line has a dimension of 1; an area has a dimension of 2; and a volume, such as a sphere or cube, has a dimension of 3.) The value of *D* for a linear fractal curve can vary between D=1 and D=2. When D=1, it implies that the curve is in fact Euclidian, i.e., a line. As *D* gets greater than one, it implies that the line has an associated band of "fuzziness" or uncertainty that eats up a little of the second spatial dimension. When D=2, the line has in fact become an area. The concept is easily extended from surfaces to volumes when the value of *D* ranges between 2 (a completely smooth 2-dimensional surface) and 3 (infinitely crumpled 3-dimensional object).

The idea of self-similarity embodied in the fractal concept implies that if geographical objects such as mountains or rivers are truly fractals, their variations should be scalable. That is, we should be able to predict the patterns at different scales from knowing the pattern at one scale and the fractal dimension. The variation seen in landforms over a few meters, for example, should be statistically similar to that seen over hundreds or thousands of meters when transformed by a simple scaling parameter. The mapped patterns of soils at multiple spatial scale (Burrough 1986) illustrate the way in which this concept might be applied Nested maps of soil patterns in northwest Europe at scales ranging from 100 km (a) to 100 m. (d) Note how natural variation may look similar across scales. Redrawn from Burroughs (1986).



(Fig. 4.13). However, in landscape ecology, their practical application for extrapolating patterns across scales remains limited—but fractals have been extremely useful in generating replicated maps with known spatial structure (see Chap. 3).

Fractal dimensions also have been used as a metric of the complexity of landscape patterns. For example, Krummel et al. (1987) found that forest patches showed a distinct change in fractal dimension, with smaller patches having a simpler shape than larger patches (Fig. 4.14). The reason appears to be that small patches were woodlots whose boundary was affected by human management; the large patches were more complex because they tended to follow natural boundaries, such as topography. A number of other studies have also found lower fractal dimensions in human-dominated landscapes or cover types (e.g., Turner 1990; Mladenoff et al. 1993). While the fractal dimension has been useful in these studies, the same result can often be obtained with simpler metrics, such as edge-to-area relationships.

Measures of Landscape Texture

The metrics described thus far require classification of landscape data into discrete categories. Because these metrics have been used so widely, much of our current


FIGURE 4.14.

(a) Fractal dimension (*D*) of forest patches in the vicinity of Natchez, Mississippi as a function of patch size. (b) Section of the original map illustrating how small patches tend to be simple in shape. (c) Section of the original map illustrating the more complex shapes associated with the larger patches. Redrawn from Krummel et al. (1987).

understanding of pattern-process relationships is derived from categorical representations of spatial heterogeneity. If landscape data are continuous rather than categorical, quantitative approaches that do not require the data to be categorized might be desirable. Such approaches include spatial statistics, which are covered in the next chapter, as well as a suite of methods that quantify the texture or surface characteristics of continuous data (McGarigal et al. 2009). Some of these approaches were introduced early in landscape ecology (e.g., image texture methods were suggested as landscape indices by Musick and Grover 1991), but the conceptual simplicity and intuitive appeal of metrics based on categorical data contributed to their widespread use (McGarigal et al. 2009).

To explore the potential of metrics based on continuous data to capture unique aspects of spatial pattern, McGarigal et al. (2009) presented 17 metrics that characterize surface topology and applied them to a sample of landscapes. They also created categorical maps for each sample landscape, computed a set of the standard metrics and compared the two groups of results. A clustering analysis was con-

ducted to determine how these metrics separated out. One group of surface metrics related to the overall surface diversity, analogous to edge density and contrast; the other groups did not correlate strongly to any of the categorical metrics, indicating that they may quantify different qualities of pattern. Attributes of surface topology that are measured by the metrics include surface roughness, the shape of the surface height distribution, angular texture, and radial texture (McGarigal et al. 2009). These metrics are intriguing, and their inclusion in the current version of FRAGSTATS means that many users can investigate their behavior. Their potential for generating new insights about pattern-process relationships in actual landscape ecology studies remains to be determined.

Measures of Landscape Connectivity

A complementary approach to the metrics discussed thus far focuses on measures of connectivity (Tischendorf and Fahrig 2000; Calabrese and Fagan 2004; Fall et al. 2007; Kindlmann and Burel 2008). In some landscapes, cell-based approaches are not good models for spatial structure, and alternative approaches (e.g., dendritic networks, Grant et al. 2007; road density, Heilman et al. 2002) may be used. When habitats become fragmented, the degree to which organisms can move among habitat patches becomes increasingly important. The importance of connectivity in conservation and reserve design has fostered a proliferation of connectivity metrics (Kindlmann and Burel 2008). Although its influence on population dynamics and genetic diversity is recognized, definitions of connectivity have been inconsistent. Connectivity can be defined structurally, based on habitat patterns and assumptions about organism dispersal, or functionally, based on where organisms actually move. Connectivity also can be considered a property of the entire landscape or of a particular habitat patch (Calabrese and Fagan 2004). We consider connectivity as the degree to which the landscape facilitates or impedes movement of organisms.

As noted by Calabrese and Fagan (2004), connectivity metrics come in a variety of flavors. Nearest-neighbor approaches are used widely and easy to calculate, but they do not perform well (Moilanen and Nieminen 2002). Patch connectivity metrics incorporate the number of patches or area of habitat within some radius of the patch, such as the proximity index described previously, may be indicators of connectivity. Such metrics depend on the radius, or buffer distance, selected by the analyst. It is advisable to distinguish between landscape connectivity and patch connectivity.

Spatial Graphs and Network Analyses

Another set of connectivity metrics derives from graph theory (Urban and Keitt 2001; Fall et al. 2007; Minor and Urban 2008). These approaches represent pattern across a landscape as a series of nodes (points, which typically represent habitat patches) and links (connections among the points). Landscape graphs can be used to examine patterns of connectivity, identify potential pathways for dispersal or movement, and prioritize patches for conservation. The approach was recognized early in landscape ecology: Forman and Godron (1986) suggested the Gamma index as a useful measure:

$$\gamma = \frac{L}{L\max} = \frac{L}{3(V-2)}$$

where L = the number of links in the network and V = the number of nodes in the network. This index can range between zero to one with low values indicating less connectivity and high values indicating higher connectivity.

Recent years have seen a considerable advancement in the types and sophistication of metrics that characterize connectivity based on the properties of a network. There is a whole lexicon for network analyses (Table 4.3) related to the number of nodes, the number of links, and the degree to which nodes are connected directly or indirectly (i.e., through longer paths) with other nodes. Nodes also may be weighted by characteristics such as area or habitat quality to better represent their importance for habitat connectivity in the landscape. Of particular interest in landscape ecology applications are metrics that characterize how the properties of a component or the overall network change when particular nodes or links are removed or added.

A suite of metrics have been developed by Saura and colleagues to assess habitat connectivity that incorporate the effects of habitat connectivity and area into a single metric (Fig. 4.15). The Integral Index of Connectivity (IIC, Pasqual-Hortal and Saura 2006) and Equivalent Connected Area (ECA(IIC), Saura et al. 2011) both do so. For example, consider the ECA(IIC) index:

$$\text{ECA}(\text{IIC}) = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{a_i \cdot a_j}{1 + nl_{ij}}}$$

where *n* is the total number of patches in the landscape; a_i and a_j are the areas of patches *i* and *j*, respectively, and nl_{ij} is the number of links in the shortest path between patches *i* and *j*. The units of this index are area (e.g., ha, m^2), and the index ranges between the size of the smallest and largest patches on the landscape. The maximum possible value occurs when all habitat is found in a single patch. This metric weights the nodes by their area, and other formulations incorporate weighting of the links based on the likelihood of dispersal (Saura et al. 2011). These metrics are widely used for conservation applications in Europe.

Network metrics rooted in graph theory nicely complement those that are based on categorical maps, but their statistical and ecological limitations must still be understood. The definition of what constitutes "habitat" (i.e., the way in which the landscape has been categorized for a given study) still has a fundamental effect on the numerical answers. However, potential limitations and biases in metrics derived from graph theory are not well recognized (Kupfer 2012). Research targeted toward understanding the behavior of these metrics at a level comparable to

Landscape Metrics

LANDSCAPE	Table 4.3. Terms and connectivity metrics derived from network theory (modified from Lookingbill and Minor 2015; also see Fall et al. 2007).		
ECOLOGY IN			
THEORY AND	Term	Definition	
PRACTICE	Network analysis terms		
	Nodes	Points or vertices representing habitat patches	
	Links or edges	Lines that connect nodes	
	Component	Groups of nodes (patches) that are connected to one another by links	
	Hub	A node that has many links	
	Isolated node	A node that has few or no links	
	Path	For a sequence of connected nodes, a walk in which no node or link is visited twice	
	Path length	The shortest distance between two nodes	
	Landscape-level metrics		
	Area of largest component (ALC)	Proportion of habitat that is contained within the largest component; calculated by dividing habitat area in the largest component, H_{LC} , by total habitat, H_T ; only patches above a minimum size appropriate for the organisms of interest are considered	
	Link density	Number of links (<i>L</i>) in the network divided by the maximum number of links, given by $L/[n(n-1)/2]$, where $n =$ number of nodes in the network. Reported as a proportion	
	Patch-level metrics		
	Degree centrality	Total number of links that connect to a given node; also called node degree; this measures local connectivity, as it accounts for nearest neighbors only, but can be reported as an average for all nodes	
	Domain	Total number of nodes that are reachable, through the network, from a given node; this measures larger-scale connectivity of patches because it extends beyond the immediate direct connections	

what has been learned about more traditional landscape metrics (e.g., from studies using neutral landscape models) would be informative. Further, empirical studies that compare the relative effectiveness of alternative representations of landscape patterns in relating to landscape functions are still needed (Kupfer 2012).

Social Network Models

Statistical models developed for social networks appear promising for incorporating actual movement into network models (Fletcher et al. 2011). Most spatial network analyses have been based on the landscape structure and assumptions



FIGURE 4.15.

A three-step process that converts the initial patch structure of a forested landscape (**a**) into a network of links and nodes (**c**); see Vogt et al. (2007) for the methods and software used to identify the different elements of map structure and connectivity labeled in (**b**). Figure adapted from Saura et al. (2011).

about movement among resource patches. For example, links in the network are assumed connected if the nodes (patches) are within the maximum known dispersal distance or dispersal kernels (Fletcher et al. 2012). Direct tests of whether network analyses provide meaningful estimates of actual movements (i.e., functional connectivity) are few. However, Fletcher et al. (2012)) sampled actual movement among patches for two different species (*Chelinidea vittiger*, a cactus-feeding insect; and a bird, *Rostrhamus sociabilis plumbeus*, the endangered Everglades Snail Kite), then tested the ability of network models to represent landscape connectivity. The network model based on maximum movement distance consistently had the lowest accuracy in predicting linkages and consistently over-predicted connectivity. Two kernel-based constructions were moderate in predictive accuracy, and the social network models that also accounted for directionality in movements were generally best at predicting linkages (Fletcher et al. 2012; Fig. 4.16). An important take-home message from this study is that the way in



FIGURE 4.16.

Alternative networks of landscape connectivity for within-field movements of *Chelinidea vitiger* (a cactusfeeding insect; *upper*) and breeding-season movements of *Rostrhamus sociabilis plumbeus* (Everglades Snail Kite, *lower*) across wetlands in Florida, USA. (a) The observed network, (b) the maximum observed distance moved, (c) theoretical kernel, (d) empirical kernel, (e) latent space, and (f) sender–receiver constructions for each species. Node size is proportional to log(patch size), and gray scale of links denotes intensity of observed and predicted movements. Light-colored nodes are habitat patches that are not connected to other patches.

Reproduced with permission from Fletcher et al. (2012).

which a network is constructed profoundly influences the resulting network and Landscape the inferences regarding landscape connectivity. Understanding potential vs. actual landscape connectivity remains a research frontier.

LANDSCAPE METRICS: WHAT IS THE STATE OF THE SCIENCE?

Since the review by Gustafson (1998) and the first edition of this book, the tools for analyzing landscape pattern have become well established, the behavior of most metrics is well understood, and landscape metrics are widely used. Landscape ecologists face no paucity of ways to quantify innumerable aspects of spatial pattern, and the number of metrics can be overwhelming (Fig. 4.17); we often kiddingly advocate for a moratorium on new metrics! Recent advancements also have contributed to increased rigor landscape pattern analyses, and we focus here on two



FIGURE 4.17.

Landscape metrics are now widely used, but interpretation can still be tricky. The purpose of any landscape-pattern analysis is what makes pattern metrics informative and useful. Users must understand the range, behavior, and meaning of any metric that is used in a study (cartoon adapted from Kupfer 2012).

LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY IN key areas: evaluating significant differences in landscape patterns and interpreting multiple metrics. We then discuss the use of metrics as landscape indicators and conclude with some practical advice and recommendations.

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

What Constitutes a "Significant" Difference in Landscape Pattern?

A long-standing challenge in landscape ecology has been ascribing statistical significance to differences in landscape metrics either through time or among land-scapes. In cases where a single number is reported for a landscape (e.g., a patch density or value of contagion), we often have little understanding of the degree to which landscape pattern must change to detect an ecologically important or statistically significant change in the numerical value of the metric (Wickham et al. 1997). This has led to a variety of challenges in studies that compare landscapes (e.g., is a Dominance value of 0.75 different from 0.80?), and some erroneous conclusions (e.g., inferring a landscape has become more fragmented when *C* declines from 0.88 to 0.86). In statistical analyses of empirical data, significance is typically assessed by estimating the variance among replicate samples. In landscape ecology, replication is challenging at the very least, and oftentimes impossible. Early comparisons among landscapes were limited because metric distributions were poorly known, and expected values and variances were not available for statistical comparisons and hypothesis testing (Remmel and Csillag 2003; Li and Wu 2004).

Recent advances provide practical ways of assessing differences in landscape metrics. Remmel and Csillag (2003) used neutral landscape models based on composition and configuration to assess the statistical properties of six widely used landscape metrics (number of patches, patch density, edge density, landscape shape index, area-weighted mean shape index, and contagion). They generated 1000 replicate landscapes for different habitat proportions and levels of spatial autocorrelation and analyzed these maps using FRAGSTATS. The results were used to describe the sensitivity of the metrics to composition and configuration, as done in previous studies, and to examine the nature of the relationship between metric pairs. Correlations were nonlinear for several pairs of metrics and strongly influenced by p (Fig. 4.10). However, the replication also allowed the authors to generate confidence intervals around expected values for each landscape metric, which permits statistical comparisons to be made.

Remmel and Csillag (2003) next compared the pattern of forest cover in four sample landscapes surrounding Prince George, Canada (Fig. 4.18) and used the confidence intervals for making robust inference about differences. They first estimated composition and configuration parameters (i.e., class proportion and spatial autocorrelation) from each of the four images (see Fortin et al. 2003) and used those parameters to simulate 1000 landscape realizations based on each pair of parameters. Each landscape replicate was analyzed in FRAGSTATS, and they com-



FIGURE 4.18.

Four forested landscapes from Prince George, Columbia, Canada with percent forest cover ranging from 4.6 (a) to 77.3 % (d). Forests are indicated in white while nonforested areas are shaded. Landscapes a through d correspond to those plotted in Figure 4.19. Pixel resolution is 30 m.

Adapted from Remmel and Csillag (2003).

puted the expected value and 95 % confidence interval for each metric. If the confidence intervals for a given metric overlapped between two landscapes, then the landscapes did not differ for that metric (Fig. 4.19). This approach lends much greater rigor to studies that seek to identify differences among landscapes or to detect changes through time in a given landscape, and methods for generating and analyzing neutral landscape models are readily available. Understanding of the statistical properties and behavior of many pattern metrics has improved, and best practices for appropriate statistical comparisons should become standard in landscape ecology.



FIGURE 4.19.

The 99 % statistical confidence intervals for measures of patch density and landscape shape index for four landscapes (*A*–*D* in Fig. 4.18) near Prince George, British Columbia, Canada. Solid circles are actual values measured from each landscape, and confidence intervals are derived from 100 realized simulations. Patch density did not differ significantly among the landscapes, but landscape shape index discriminated landscapes *A*, *B*, and *C*–*D*.

Reproduced with permission from Remmel and Csillag (2003).

Making Sense Out of Multiple Metrics

The description of landscape pattern does require more than one metric, so the question becomes how to select a relevant subset. Determining how many metrics to use and how to combine the metrics so that the results are meaningful and interpretable is not a trivial task. Several recommendations can serve as a guide. First, as we have emphasized repeatedly, metrics must be chosen to answer a particular question or objectives; reporting the whole "kitchen sink" is to be avoided. Second, the subset should explain pattern variability across the landscape, but redundancy should be minimized. Thus, metrics should be relatively independent of one another. Third, the measured values of the metric should extend over a substantial portion of the range of potential values. The analyst must know the potential range of the metric as well as how much of that range is represented in the study landscapes. If the metric does a poor job of detecting the differences in pattern and varies little, the metric will not be useful. Using only a portion of the potential range of a metric used as a predictor variable in a landscape study is a known pitfall that can lead to erroneous conclusions (Eigenbrod et al. 2011a).

STATE-SPACE METHODS

One method of combining information from multiple measures is to plot the values in a state space defined by a few independent metrics that capture different qualities of pattern that are relevant to the original question. For example, if one was quantifying a landscape and how it changed through time from the perspective of a particular animal, one might be interested in (1) the proportion of the landscape containing suitable habitat, (2) the number of patches of suitable habitat above the minimum size required by the animal, and (3) the connectivity of the suitable habitat as measured by interpatch distances. The condition of the landscape could be plotted through a 3-dimensional state space based on the coordinates of each of the three metrics considered. Furthermore, the volume within that state space that represented the zone of survival for the animal could be identified. One could then determine whether or not particular landscape changes result in a landscape trajectory that remains within or takes excursions beyond that zone of survival. Such an analysis could be done in *n* dimensions, though the visualization and interpretation will become increasingly complicated. What is particularly powerful about this approach is that the structure of a landscape can be plotted through time or compared to a desirable state, and the Euclidian distance between points quantified. Both direction and magnitude of change through time can be plotted if repeated measurements are made for the same landscape.

O'Neill et al. (1996) used a 3-dimensional "pattern space" to show three subregions of the southeastern USA as points characterized by landscape indices (Fig. 4.20). Use of the pattern space effectively separated these landscapes based on dominance, contagion, and shape complexity. Simple geometry can be used to compute the distance between landscapes in the pattern space. O'Neill et al. (1996) described two important constraints on this approach. First, the axes of the pattern space should as orthogonal, i.e., as independent from each other, as possible. Simple correlation analysis can be used to test for independence. Second, the sensitivity of the individual metrics used in the pattern space to landscape change must be established. The critical question is whether the indicator can detect small changes (i.e.,



FIGURE 4.20.

Three-dimensional "pattern space" in which three subregions of the southeastern USA are characterized by three landscape metrics.

Adapted from O'Neill et al. (1996).

Landscape

Metrics

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE changes that are not catastrophic or irreversible) such that it serves as a useful warning of undesirable landscape change (O'Neill et al. 1996).

THEORY AND MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES

Multivariate statistics also offer a means of making sense out of multiple metrics. Riitters et al. (1995) compared 55 landscape metrics across 85 land-cover datasets. Pairwise comparisons revealed that many metrics have correlation coefficients greater than ± 0.9 . Eliminating the redundant measures reduced the candidates to 26. Factor analysis revealed five factors that all had eigenvalues greater than 1.0 and explained about 83 % of the variance. Each factor contained several metrics. Based on the ease of calculation and interpretation, the following relatively independent metrics were recommended: (1) the total number of different land cover types on the map; (2) contagion, (3) fractal dimension, (4) average patch perimeter-area ratio, and (5) relative patch area (average ratio of patch area to the area of an enclosing circle), which indicates how compact the patches are. These five metrics provided a minimum set of independent measures of qualitatively different aspects of spatial pattern based on 85 landscapes scattered across the USA.

Other studies have suggested subsets of measurements that might characterize landscape pattern. McGarigal and Marks (1995) also conducted a principle components analysis of 30 different metrics calculated for late-successional forests in the northwestern USA. Their analysis revealed three independent factors: (1) patch shape and edge contrast, (2) patch density, and (3) patch size. Li and Reynolds (1994, 1995) used theoretical considerations to propose five different aspects of spatial heterogeneity that could be computed: (1) number of land-cover types; (2) proportion of each type on the landscape; (3) spatial arrangement of patches; (4) patch shape; and (5) contrast between neighboring patches. One would then select a metric to quantify each of these fundamentally different aspects of pattern to avoid redundancy among metrics. Hargis et al. (1998) found contagion and edge density were inversely correlated, but measures of interpatch distances were not highly correlated with other metrics.

The lack of concordance among multivariate analyses of landscape metrics prompted a recent study by Cushman et al. (2008). These authors used PCA on landscape metrics computed for multiple landscapes (>150) in each of three geographically isolated regions to identify independent components of landscape structure and to determine whether these were idiosyncratic or common across regions. In other words, are results differing among studies simply because different regions, or landscapes, have characteristic differences in pattern? They evaluated the strength of each component using thee measures: universality, strength, and consistency (Cushman et al. 2008). *Universality* was defined as the percentage of classes or regions in which a component is found. *Strength* assessed the average variance explained by a structure component across classes and regions. *Consistency* measured the stability of component interpretation among classes and regions. The analyses suggested seven

TABLE 4.4.

Highly universal and consistent class-level and landscape-level metrics derived from analysis of 531 landscapes across three different regions in North America (based on Cushman et al. 2008).

Component name	Description
Class-level metrics	
Edge contrast	Degree of "contrast," or the magnitude of difference in some feature, between focal class and its neighborhood (user defined)
Patch shape complexity	Shape complexity based on perimeter-area relationships defining focal patch shape
Aggregation	Degree and aggregation of cells of the focal class, where large, compact clusters are considered to be aggregated
Nearest neighbor distance	Proximity of patches of the focal class, based on average (or area-weighted average) distance between nearest neighbors
Patch dispersion	Spatial arrangement of patches across the landscape, from clumped to random to uniform, based on variability in nearest-neighbor differences
Large patch dominance	Degree of concentration of focal class area in few, large patches with large core areas
Neighborhood similarity	Relative isolation of focal patches from neighboring patches of the same class
Landscape structure metrics	
Contagion/diversity	Relative aggregation and diversity, respectively, of all cover types within the landscape
Large patch dominance	Relative measure of landscape dominance by large patches
Interspersion/juxtaposition	Relative intermixing of cover types
Edge contrast	Degree contrast among cover types, where contrast is user defined and represents the magnitude of difference among classes in one or more attributes
Patch shape variability	Variability in user-defined perimeter-area metrics
Proximity	Relative isolation of patches from nearby patches of the same class
Nearest-neighbor distance	Area-weighted average distance between patches of the same cover type

See text for additional explanation.

class-level components of landscape structure that were highly universal and consistent, and seven landscape-level components that were highly universal (Table 4.4). These results suggest that there are consistent combinations of landscape metrics that universally describe landscape patterns.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Although covariance among landscape metrics is often considered to be a "problem" in landscape analyses, it can also be informative and used to advantage. In their multivariate analysis of landscape patterns across the conterminous USA, Cardille and Lambois (2010) used the 1992 NLCD dataset to analyze >190,000 contiguous sample landscapes (each 6.48 km×6.48 km) that covered the entire 8-million-km² area. A total of 1921 landscape and class-level metrics were calculated for each landscape and stored on the publicly available METALAND server (Cardille et al. 2005). From this large set of metrics, a PCA was used to identify a set of independent axes, and then the similarity values among pairs of sample landscapes were computed. An affinity propagation algorithm identified 17 distinct clusters of landscapes based on their patterns of land use and land cover and a single "exemplar" that best represented that cluster. A striking result from this analysis was the ubiquitous human signature observed on landscapes of the conterminous USA (Cardille and Lambois 2010). The authors also noted that the total information content of landscape metrics is what enabled the objective classification of different kinds of landscape.

Metrics and Landscape Indicators

While the pros and cons of different metrics will be debated long into the future, there remains interest in using metrics as indicators of how landscapes are changing over time and what this may mean for the environment. The selection of individual metrics that act as indicators of spatial pattern and presumably relate to some aspects of ecological function (e.g., Jones et al. 2001; Gergel et al. 2002) is another way in which a landscape metrics can be used. Such landscape-indicator metrics measure structural heterogeneity—that is, the metrics are computed on the land-cover classes without a direct and explicit relationship to ecological processes. They can be especially useful for monitoring change over time and space, much as other aspects of the environment (e.g., temperature, water quality, water flow) receive routine monitoring. Ideally, indicators should be transparent, easy to understand by scientists and nonscientists alike, and easy to calculate.

As part of its 2008 STATE OF THE NATION'S ECOSYSTEMS, the Heinz Center (2008) proposed a set of eight landscape indicators, each with a well-developed scientific rationale, for tracking change across the USA. The indicators were meant to evaluate landscape structure through a lens that would ideally capture some aspects of ecosystem function by answering: how much are is occupied by each ecosystem or land-cover type? What are the shapes and sizes of patches of an ecosystem type, and how are they intermingled with one another? The indicators include some of the metrics we have described above (e.g., several include patchbased measures), and they also include variables such as housing density and distance of a particular land-cover type from residential development (Table 4.5). The Heinz Center (2008) report nicely addresses the question of why land managers or

TABLE 4.5.

Landscape Metrics

Landscape indicators			
System	Indicator		
Core National	Selected suite of pattern metrics for "natural" lands (lands relatively unaffected by human activities)		
Coasts and oceans	Selected suite of pattern metrics defining landscapes of coastal areas		
Farmlands	Measures of the relative proximity of croplands to residences; relative frequency of patches of "natural" lands within agricultural landscapes		
Forests	Suite of pattern metrics characterizing forested landscapes		
Fresh waters	Measures of natural in-stream continuity and connectivity		
Grasslands and shrublands	Suite of pattern metrics characterizing grassland-shrubland landscapes		
Urban and suburban landscapes	Housing density changes; relative frequency of patches of "natural" lands within residential and urban landscapes		

policy makers would care about tracking each indicator, and it serves as an example of how landscape pattern analyses can make important contributions to environmental policy.

Some Additional Practical Advice and Parting Words

Methods and metrics for quantification of spatial pattern on categorical maps abound. We have discussed a number of basic calculations here but have not attempted to present all metrics that have been proposed. Metrics will come and go, but study design is key, regardless of what metrics you use for an analysis. Known pitfalls should be avoided (e.g., Eigenbrod et al. 2011a, b), and carefully considering the questions provided in Box 4.1 can help you to steer clear of traps. Readers interested in gaining practical experience in computing metrics and becoming familiar with some of the widely used software programs can also consult Gergel and Turner (2016).

It is important to remember that metrics of composition and configuration are intertwined, even in the simplest landscapes. An early paper by Gustafson and Parker (1992) illustrated this nicely, showing how a variety of metrics change in interesting (and predictable) ways with habitat abundance. Given this tight relationship, under what conditions does spatial configuration matter? How much explanaLANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

tory or predictive power does configuration add to composition? Understanding the relative importance of landscape composition vs. spatial configuration is important in any study and remains a key question in many pattern-process relationships. When using landscape metrics in addressing this question, you must know what aspects of landscape pattern you are trying to quantify and why. The question, "when does spatial pattern matter?" continues to be open and interesting.

As a landscape ecologist, do not try to publish everything that can be computed be selective and strategic. Be wary of complicated metrics; many studies have shown that simple metrics that are easy to interpret can be as (or more) powerful than metrics that require many intermediate steps (Haines-Young and Chopping 1996; Li and Wu 2004). Parsimony is a virtue! Furthermore, metrics computed for individual cover types are often easier to interpret than if the values are computed for the whole landscape. It is difficult to figure out why single numbers are changing if the number comes from all cover types across the whole landscape, and ecological meaning often requires more information (what kind of patches increased or decreased?) Also be careful when comparing results for metrics that require decisions or parameters set by the used (e.g., edge contrast, core area, proximity index).

Interpreting landscape metrics ecologically and ascribing significance to them remains tricky. Landscape pattern analyses are often based on the implicit (and usually untested) assumption that the pattern metric(s) directly relates to the process of interest. The distinction between structural and functional heterogeneity (or connectivity) recognized this difference (Li and Reynolds 1995; Fahrig et al. 2011), but it bears repeating. As we will see throughout the rest of this book, landscape ecologists have made tremendous progress in building the library of empirical studies that provide empirical linkages between pattern and process.

SUMMARY

The quantification of landscape pattern is necessary for understanding the effects of pattern on ecological processes and for documenting either temporal changes in a landscape or differences between two or more landscapes. Numerous metrics are used by landscape ecologists to quantify landscape patterns, and readily available data and analysis software has made such analyses routine. Different groups of metrics used with categorical data characterize landscape composition (i.e., what cover types are present and in what relative abundance) and configuration (i.e., how are the cover types spatially arranged). Metrics derived from graph theory provide quantitative estimates of habitat connectivity at the patch and landscape level. One major limitation of overall metrics of pattern, i.e., those reported for a whole landscape rather than by cover type, is that the same numerical value can be returned for a variety of qualitatively different landscapes. One metric is insufficient to characterize a landscape, yet there is no standard recipe for determining how many and which ones are needed. A useful set of metrics to quantify landscape pattern should meet several criteria, including: (1) the metrics should be selected to answer a particular question or meet a particular objective; (2) the measured values of the metrics should be distributed over the full range of potential values and the behavior of the metrics should be known; (3) the metrics should be relatively independent of each other. Independence can (and should always) be tested by examining the correlation structure among a set of potential candidate metrics. In addition, the analyst must recognize (and carefully choose) the classification scheme used to categorize the data, the spatial scale of the data and any user-defined rules (e.g., patch definition). This set of decisions, along with the accuracy of the spatial data, places important constraints on the analysis and interpretation of landscape pattern. As a first approximation, the extent of the study landscape should be 2–5 times larger than landscape patches to avoid bias in calculating landscape metrics; grain size should be 2–5 times smaller than the spatial features of interest.

The development of landscape pattern analysis has been rapid, but metrics used with categorical data have stabilized and their statistical properties and behavior are better known. Advancements in landscape analyses methods have led to improved understanding of how suites of metrics related to one another and more robust methods for making statistical comparisons among landscapes. Ongoing research continues to address the relative sensitivity of different metrics to detecting changes in the landscape and to better document the empirical relationships between landscape patterns and ecological processes of interest. Continued progress will help landscape ecologists determine what is worth measuring and why, and when a change in a metric is significant both statistically and ecologically.

\sim DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- I. Imagine that two landscapes have been analyzed by a series of metrics, and a number of differences have been detected. What assurances regarding the reliability and usefulness of the data should be examined *before* conclusions are drawn about differences between the two landscapes?
- 2. Classification of landscape data is required for most spatial metrics. How will alternative classifications affect the analysis of pattern? Using a landscape dataset of your choice, design an experiment to test the effect of classification schemes on analysis results.
- 3. Imagine that you are charged with designing the protocol for monitoring change through time in a large region (you should select a region on which to focus). Describe the steps you would take to develop your monitoring scheme. How would you select the metrics to be included? Distinguish between "inventory" metrics (what's there and

Landscape

Metrics

LANDSCAPE	what it looks like) versus hypothesis-testing metrics (e.g., pattern change which may
	affect or respond to an important ecological process in your region).
ECOLOGY IN	4. Compare and contrast traditional landscape metrics based on categorical data and
THEORY AND	connectivity metrics derived from graph theory. Are these methods capable of answer
DRACTION	the same scientific questions? In what ways are they similar or different in terms of
PRALIILE	data availability and sensitivity to data accuracy?

$\ \sim \ F \ U \ R \ T \ H \ E \ R \ \ R \ E \ A \ D \ I \ N \ G$

- BURNICKI AC (2012) Impact of error on landscape pattern analyses performed on land-cover change maps. Landsc Ecol 27:713–729
- CUSHMAN SA, MCGARIGAL K, NEEL MC (2008) Parsimony in landscape metrics: strength, universality and consistency. Ecol Indic 8:691–703
- EIGENBROD F, HECNAR SJ, FAHRIG L (2011) Sub-optimal study design has major impacts on landscapescale inference. Biol Conserv 144:298–305
- FLETCHER RJ, ACEVEDO MA, REICHERT BE, PIAS KE, KITCHENS WM (2011) Social network models predict movement and connectivity in ecological landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:19282–19287
- GUSTAFSON EJ (1998) Quantifying landscape spatial pattern: what is the state of the art? Ecosystems 1:143–156
- KUPFER JA (2012) Landscape ecology and biogeography: rethinking landscape metrics in a post-FRAG-STATS landscape. Prog Phys Geogr 36:400–420
- McGARIGALK (2014) FRAGSTATS Help. Documentation for FRAGSTATS 4.0. University of Massachusetts, Amherst. http://www.umass.edu/landeco/research/FRAGSTATS/documents/FRAGSTATS_documents.html
- UUEMAA E, ANTROP M, ROOSAARE J, MARJA R, MANDER Ü (2009) Landscape metrics and indices: an overview of their use in landscape research. Living Rev Landsc Res 3:1–28

Spatial Statistics

n contrast to land-cover or habitat classes, some kinds of landscape data are recorded as continuous numbers rather than discrete categories. Such data include vegetation density or height; net aboveground primary production; nutrient mineralization rates; percent of biomass killed by a disturbance; and distances from lakes, roads, or other features of interest. Most landscape metrics covered in Chap. 4 are not appropriate for quantifying the spatial pattern of continuous variables, and a different set of methods is required. Spatial statistics, including geosta*tistics*, are used to quantify the spatial structure of continuous data, and they are widely applied in landscape ecology. Spatial statistics and geostatistics use point data for some property that is spatially distributed across the landscape; they do not require categorization of the landscape nor do they assume a patchy structure or the presence of boundaries. Observations, conventionally labeled as z, are made at specific x, y locations and referred to as regionalized variables (Palmer and McGlinn 2016). Spatial statistics then quantify spatial dependence in the regionalized variable, or the tendency of z measured at one x, y location to be correlated with, or depend on, values of z measured at another x, y location. If there is spatial dependence in z, then information about z at one place allows you to infer information about z at another place. Spatial statistics quantify the magnitude of variance in the data, the proportion of that variance that is spatially dependent (i.e., spatially autocorrelated), and the scales, or distances, over which variables are spatially dependent. These methods are powerful, but the terminology and methods can be daunting for those new to the subject.

Landscape metrics and spatial statistics are distinct but complementary methods of analysis. Gustafson (1998) illustrated this point nicely by considering two

different ways of describing the spatial distribution of aspen (Populus tremuloides), LANDSCAPE a widely distributed tree species in North America. If one converts measurements ECOLOGY IN of aspen tree density to categorical data by delineating patches where aspen is present above some minimum density threshold, the resulting map of aspen distribu-THEORY AND tion can be analyzed using patch-based metrics. Alternatively, if one uses the actual PRACTICE measures (continuous numbers) of aspen density at locations throughout the landscape, then the spatial structure of aspen density would be analyzed using spatial statistics. Both approaches characterize the spatial pattern of aspen on the landscape, but they do so in different ways. Quantifying patterns of disturbance in a landscape offers another example (Fig. 5.1). Areas in a landscape affected by fire can be categorized as discrete patches of burned vs. unburned areas (Fig. 5.1b) and analyzed using landscape metrics, or represented by continuous measures of fire severity (Fig. 5.1a) and analyzed using spatial statistics (see Turner and Simard 2016). Both approaches assess the spatial structure of fire effects on the landscape, but they allow different forms of analysis and inference.



FIGURE 5.1.

Example of two ways to depict fire patterns in a $5 \text{ km} \times 5 \text{ km}$ area of the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem, Wyoming, USA. The left map shows continuous estimates of fire severity based on the Differenced Normalized Burn Ratio, with warmer colors indicating higher fire severity. The right map classifies these data into burned vs. unburned cells. Although both depict fire patterns, these maps would be analyzed with different methods.

MAPS GENERATED BY MARTIN SIMARD.

The origin of spatial statistics is often traced to the South African mining engineer, D. W. Krige, who developed methods for locating ores within geologic formations and for whom the spatial interpolation method of *kriging* is named. In the 1950s, Krige pioneered statistical methods to predict the location of economically valuable ores (e.g., gold, uranium) using a limited number of boreholes. This work spurred development of methods for spatial evaluation of mineral resources based on geographically referenced point measurements and led to the field of geostatistics. These methods still provide a basis for *spatial interpolation*, which uses measurements at particular points to predict values in locations that lack empirical measurements and is discussed in detail below.

We begin this chapter by explaining several key uses of spatial statistics in landscape ecology, present important caveats for their use, and then provide a brief overview of major approaches. The literature regarding spatial statistics is large, diverse, and technical (Law et al. 2009), making a complete review well beyond the scope of this text (see Legendre and Legendre 1998; Fortin and Dale 2005 for broad coverage of spatial statistics). Our goal is to demystify the elementary jargon of spatial statistics and to provide illustrative examples emphasizing how these methods can be used in landscape ecology. We do this by focusing on two techniques that have been widely applied and that illustrate the general principles (and pitfalls) of the use and application of spatial statistics in landscape ecology. These two methods are (1) point pattern analysis, which analyzes observed "events" (e.g., nest locations, fire starts, etc.) and (2) spatial autocorrelation and variography, which use many spatially distributed measurements of continuous variables. We conclude the section on variography with a short discussion of efficient sampling designs that reduce the cost of acquiring sufficient data for using spatial statistics in landscape studies. But first, let's think about why these methods are useful and note key caveats to consider and pitfalls that may be encountered. The methods themselves are rapidly evolving as spatial data and analysis software become more available; therefore, as we did for landscape metrics, we first emphasize general considerations that should apply to most problems of landscape analysis.

WHY DO LANDSCAPE ECOLOGISTS USE SPATIAL STATISTICS?

The use of spatial statistics in ecology has become widespread and much more sophisticated since the first edition of this book, and access to computation software has increased. Why have these methods become so important, and why are they used in landscape ecology? Spatial Statistics LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Spatial Independence

As encapsulated in Tobler's first law of geography: "Everything is related to everything else, but near things are more related than distant things" (Tobler 1970). However, independence among data values is one of the most common assumptions of standard parametric statistics. As Tobler's law suggests, when data are collected within a spatial framework, values near one another are often correlated; this violates the assumption of independence and complicates data analysis (Ripley 2005). What is the primary statistical danger? When measurements are spatially autocorrelated (i.e., near things are related to each other, so the data are not independent), there is an increased risk of Type I error-finding a statistically significant difference when none actually exists (i.e., erroneous rejection of the null hypothesis). A simple example illustrates this problem. Imagine a transect along which measurements of plant height are made, and you wish to determine whether the mean plant height is 20 cm. Assume that the variance is known and equal to 5, and you calculated a mean height of 21.5 cm from ten measurements made at 3-m intervals along the transect. A computed Z statistic will reject the null hypothesis with p = 0.034, leading you to conclude that the measured mean plant height differs from 20 cm. Now assume that the adjacent sampling points were not independent, but rather they were correlated with r = 0.40 (i.e., spatially dependent). A correction to the Z test yields p=0.14, leading to the opposite conclusion that plant heights are not significantly different from 20 cm. Thus, spatial dependence in the data can cause the conclusions of a statistical analysis to change qualitatively. An important application of spatial statistics in landscape ecology is to determine the magnitude and scale of spatial dependence and to adjust either the sampling design or the statistical models to account for this lack of independence.

The plant-height example is a simple one, but spatial autocorrelation in landscape data is the rule rather than the exception. From a practical standpoint, reviewers of proposals or manuscripts routinely expect authors to have tested for spatial dependence and to have adjusted the analysis for spatial effects by using appropriate statistical methods and associated tests. When pilot data are available, spatial statistics can be used to describe the change in dependence with distance between samples and, from this analysis, set a separation distance beyond which measurements are spatially independent. This distance defines the minimal spacing required for future sampling locations that will allow the assumption of independence among measured values to be valid. For example, Pearson et al. (1995) used spatial statistics (semivariograms) to determine the scale over which measurements of winter grazing intensity by elk (Cervus elaphus) were spatially dependent, then subsampled data at distances beyond that scale to assure independent samples for analysis of how grazing intensity varied with environmental characteristics. When the degree of spatial autocorrelation in a dataset is not known a priori, spatial dependence can be evaluated in the raw data or from the residuals of a statistical analysis. When spatial autocorrelation is detected in the residuals, the statistical Spatial model must be adjusted to account for this dependency (see Legendre 1993; Fortin Statistics and Payette 2002; Ishihama et al. 2010).

Even when it may not have been welcomed, detection of spatial dependence can be a source of new insights about a focal variable. Spatial dependence in the residuals of a statistical model should alert the investigator to the potential importance of a spatial process that was not previously considered. For example, Anderson et al. (2013) examined the spatial distribution of a nonnative invasive plant across a large mountainous landscape. After accounting for the local and landscape-level variables that predicted presence of the invasive plant, spatial dependence was still present in the residuals up to a scale of 3 km. The residual spatial structure suggested a hierarchical process of invasion. The spatial pattern was consistent with infrequent, long-distance dispersal events resulting in new nascent subpopulations that subsequently spread via shorter-distance dispersal (Anderson et al. 2013). Thus, residual spatial autocorrelation, after accounting for other covariates, can be informative and not simply problematic.

Nature of Spatial Structure

Spatial statistics are also used in landscape ecology when an explicit goal is to understand the nature of the spatial structure of a particular variable, or set of variables, and to test hypotheses about that spatial structure. Quantifying variability in ecological measures over space (and time) is complementary to estimating average values or central tendency (e.g., Benedetti-Cecchi 2003; Fraterrigo and Rusak 2008). Variability can be highly sensitive and capture effects that are obscured by averaging. Although variance estimates are used less frequently than categorical landscape metrics for hypothesis testing in landscape ecology, use of measures of spatial variation are increasing (Legendre et al. 2002, 2004). For example, spatial statistics have been widely used to evaluate hypotheses about how disturbances or land-use history alter the magnitude or scale of variability in an ecological response (e.g., Gross et al. 1995; Lane and BassiriRad 2005; Mayor et al. 2007; De Jager and Pastor 2009, among others). For instance, Fraterrigo et al. (2005) found that historic agriculture in the Southern Appalachian Mountains was associated with altered spatial variability in soil resources, even though average soil variables were comparable with undisturbed areas. Soil resources varied over very fine spatial scales in undisturbed forests, but that spatial variability was homogenized in forests with historical land use such that soil resources were correlated over broader spatial scales (Fraterrigo et al. 2005). The magnitude and scale of spatial dependence in one variable also may be used as predictors for another variable, as illustrated by Gundale et al. (2006), who hypothesized that the spatial structure of variability in soil nitrogen would predict plant responses.

LANDSCAPE Spatial Interpolation

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Another use of spatial statistics in landscape ecology is spatial interpolation. Some variables simply cannot be measured everywhere, yet we may wish to estimate values at locations that were not sampled and/or produce a continuous surface, or map, of expected values. If the spatial structure of response variables is known, information about their autocorrelation can be used to predict their expected values at unmeasured locations—as Krige did to predict the likely locations of ore deposits. Landscape ecologists have developed spatial interpolations for a wide range of phenomena and scales. Bolstad et al. (1998) used kriging (among other methods) to predict vegetation patterns in a 2185-ha forested landscape in the Southern Appalachians. Smithwick et al. (2012) used kriging at much finer scales, predicting postfire rates of net nitrogen mineralization, abundance, and composition of soil microbes and aboveground vegetation within four 0.25-ha plots in Greater Yellowstone (USA) from point measurements (Fig. 5.2).



FIGURE 5.2.

Kriged maps of (a-d) in situ net nitrogen mineralization rate, (e-h) fungi:bacteria ratio, (i-l) total vegetative cover, and (m-p) microbial lipid abundance in four postfire study plots in Greater Yellowstone. Data were sampled at points, and semivariogram analysis was used for spatial interpolation.

FROM SMITHWICK ET AL. (2012).

Thus, in landscape ecology, spatial statistics provides important quantitative *Spatial* analysis tools to appropriately analyze continuous spatial data and to test new hypothesis regarding the magnitude, scale, and patterns evident in these data. Consequently, knowledge and use of spatial statistics are essential for studying pattern-process relationships in landscape ecology.

CAVEATS FOR USING SPATIAL STATISTICS, OR "READ THIS FIRST"

As we did for landscape metrics in Chap. 4, we begin by providing guidance about what to consider *before* embarking on an analysis using spatial statistics. As always, it is critical that the question or rationale for analysis be clearly specified at the outset. The importance of beginning with a good scientific question can never be overstated!

#1. The Spatial Dependence in Landscape Data Must Be Characterized and Considered

The need to recognize and test for spatial autocorrelation in data may be the most important take-home message from this chapter. The advances in spatial statistics and the understanding of how spatial dependence can affect conclusions drawn from data require a "heads-up" approach to this issue. Data recorded at intervals along transects and/or grids, especially along topographic or other environmental gradients, will often display spatial dependence over considerable distances (e.g., Everson and Boucher 1998; Nelson et al. 2005). In fact, it is difficult to imagine any landscape data that will not display spatial dependencies at some scale. As we showed with the simple example of plant heights, failure to characterize these dependencies can lead to serious biases in analysis and incorrect conclusions. It is incumbent upon the scientist to realize that spatial dependence is a potential issue, to appropriately test the data or models for spatial dependence, and to adjust the analysis accordingly. Such data exploration should be a routine component of statistical analyses, just like examination of other estimates of model strength and goodness of fit. If there is no spatial dependence, there should be a sentence in the manuscript stating that conclusion (e.g., Simard et al. 2012 do this). The old adage, "ignorance of the law is no excuse," will apply; be assured that reviewers and editors will follow up.

#2. Spatial Autocorrelation Is Not Always a Problem

Although spatial autocorrelation is often considered a nuisance that interferes with testing interesting relationships between predictors and response, it is important to recognize that spatial dependence can provide ecologically relevant information.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Changes or differences in the spatial scale of autocorrelation can indicate changes or differences in the processes that have generated the observed patterns. Early spatially explicit studies of soils demonstrated that nutrient pools and transformations varied tremendously over small distances (e.g., Robertson et al. 1988), and that spatial variability could change through time (Gross et al. 1995; Cain et al. 1999). A study of postfire succession and soils illustrates hypothesis testing using spatial dependence as a response. Turner et al. (2011) asked how the variability and structure of aboveground vegetative cover and soil nitrogen availability changed during the first 4 years following stand-replacing fire. They laid out a set of expectations that could be tested with spatial data. For example, they expected little initial spatial structure in soil nitrogen variables because fire effects were likely to be spatially random, but that spatial structure would develop with vegetation recovery during early postfire succession (Turner et al. 2011). Results revealed a surprising absence of spatial structure in soil nitrogen transformations at the scales sampled. For biotic cover, the scale of autocorrelation was expected to increase over time, but it remained similar during the first 4 years postfire.

Nested scales of variability can suggest that the environmental factors structuring variability operate at different scales (e.g., Franklin and Mills 2003). Processes that homogenize local variation at a particular scale can induce spatial autocorrelation that then emerges at coarser scales (as shown by Fraterrigo et al. 2005). Furthermore, the spatial scale over which two variables are correlated may indicate an underlying process that is worth exploring. For example, analyses by Keitt and Urban (2005) using *wavelets* showed how topographic variation in physical drivers (e.g., sunlight, water availability) interacted to produce complex, scale-dependent patterns in vegetation growth (Keitt and Urban 2005). In short, the analysis of spatial data by autocorrelation methods can provide important insights into the spatial structure of both response and driver variables.

#3. Coincidence of Scales of Spatial Dependence Among Multiple Variables Does Not Prove Causality

The coincidence of scales of variability of different ecological features, such as plants and soil nutrients (Grieg-Smith 1979) or seabirds and their prey (Schneider and Platt 1986) may indicate linkages worth exploring. However, it is important to remember that coincidence of the spatial structure does *not* prove causality, but rather suggests reason to test for causal mechanisms. As is always true when correlations exist among variables, statistical dependencies imply but do not prove pattern-process dependencies. In applying spatial statistics, it is tempting to surmise that variables having similar spatial structure may be responding to similar processes or that the variables may interact with one another. Here, the art of analysis will be instrumental for relating a coincidence of scales to potential mechanistic relationships.

#4. Scale Always Matters

The grain and extent of the data used in spatial statistics will influence the results, much as they influence landscape metrics. For continuous data, *grain* is usually the minimum or characteristic distance between sample points, whereas *extent* refers to the total area sampled, typically the linear dimension defining the sampled area. The characteristic distance between the points must be equal to or less than the scale at which the analyst wants to detect spatial structure. The overall linear extent of the dataset should be at least twice the maximum distance the analyst wishes to examine. Thus, to explore spatial dependence over scales of 1–100 m, sampling points should be separated by ≤ 1 m, and the overall data dimension should be at least 200 m. In general, fine-grained spatial structure cannot be determined from coarse-grained data, and broad-scale patterns cannot be adequately detected with data of limited spatial extent.

As for patch-based metrics, boundary effects are an important consideration when determining scale-dependent effects. All landscapes are of finite size and, because of this, edge effects dominate estimates derived from data that lie near boundaries. When these boundaries are artificial and the landscape is relatively small, truncation effects occur and may dominate estimates. Because these truncation effects are especially serious for point pattern analysis (discussed below), special correction factors may be required. Many of the scale issues associated with data collection can be reduced or eliminated if an optimal sampling plan can be devised ahead of time. Fortin and Dale (2005:14) provide guidance for developing landscape sampling designs, and we discuss some approaches later in the chapter. The purpose should be to obtain a match between the goal of the study, the spatial and temporal grain and extent of the data, and the validity of the statistical methods to be used for analysis.

Practically speaking, it is critical to check the analysis scales used when computing spatial statistics, especially when using readily available software. For ease of computation and display, software programs may automatically "bin" the data into 10–20 classes representing different separation distances among the data points. If the extent of the data is large, the characteristic bin sizes will also be large and may fully contain smaller separation distances that may be ecologically relevant. The unsuspecting analyst might obtain results using overly large bins that obscure, rather than detect, the finer-scaled variation. Therefore, the analyst must know the finest resolution needed for the analysis and the maximum separation distance that should be considered, then confirm these settings before results are determined. The bottom line is that you must carefully select the scales needed for data collection and analysis, then fit the models accordingly. Spatial Statistics LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

#5. Stationarity Is an Important Assumption in Many Spatial Statistical Analyses

The assumption of stationarity states that the mean and variance of a particular variable will not change with the location of measurements. This assumptiontechnically referred to as first- and second-order stationarity-often catches those new to spatial statistic unawares. Stationarity is likely to be violated when there is an unrecognized gradient in the data (e.g., increasing precipitation or soil nutrient availability), when the underlying sampling methods are of limited extent and fail to measure changes in variables with scale, or when patterns are anisotropic (a marked directionality in the data). When non-stationarity exists and is unaccounted for in a statistical analysis, essential statistical parameters (such as mean and variance) will not be universal but location dependent. In landscape data, topographic relief can impose gradients and directionality on spatial data, both of which can violate stationarity assumptions. The usual response to this issue is either to detrend the data (commonly done for time series analysis via linear regression) or to account specifically for these gradients in the statistical model. Spatial analysis programs often assist with this adjustment when correcting for simple, linear trends. However, the removal of nonlinear trends remains difficult and is a continued area of investigation (Fortin and Dale 2005). Some spatial analysis programs provide the option for either isotropic (all-directional) or anisotropic (directional) analyses; the latter allows the user to evaluate spatial dependence and compare model parameters across a range of compass directions.

#6. Interpreting Spatial Statistics Is Both a Science and an Art

As with other kinds of statistical methods, many analysis decisions are up to the user and can be perplexing. For example, some methods (including semivariograms, which are discussed in detail below) involve fitting a theoretical curve to the empirical data and then estimating parameters from this curve to describe the spatial structure in the data. There are a number of different standard curves that may be fit to the data (e.g., spherical, exponential, sinusoidal, linear models), but each may provide strikingly different parameter estimates for characterizing the spatial structure. Selecting the most appropriate model can be done in several ways, but the user ultimately must choose and justify her/his choice. If a study entails estimates of spatial dependence for multiple variables or among multiple landscapes, different variables or plots may achieve their best fit with different models. The analyst must then decide whether to use the best model each time, knowing that the models will vary; or to use the same model for consistency, knowing that the fit will vary. Either way, the quantitative estimates derived from the analysis can be considerably different. Another issue of interpretation is that empirical data can be very noisy and, thus, not conform nicely to the theoretical curves. How to interpret apparent cycles in the data, or points that fall outside broad confidence intervals, can be challenging. The results of spatial statistical analyses with real landscape data are often much more ambiguous than results of an ANOVA that are based on *F*-ratios with set probability limits. If you encounter such situations, you are not alone. Do not be deterred, but do seek statistical advice from someone experienced with the application and interpretation of these analyses. Because these methods have and will continue to advance, these tasks will soon become more convenient, efficient, and reliable. However, there is no single prescription or cookbook approach—rather each new problem may require novel methods with their associated sets of assumptions and restrictions. Therefore, the user must take care when applying statistical techniques and drawing conclusions from results and remember that the question or objective of the analysis must be unambiguously specified ahead of time.

○ POINT PATTERN ANALYSIS

The data for point pattern analysis methods are composed of records of eventbased spatial phenomena, such as the location of individuals of an invasive species (Schreiber and Lloyd-Smith 2009); the presence of kangaroo rat nest mounds (Schooley and Wiens 2001); or occurrence of lightning caused fire ignitions (Podur et al. 2003). Point data are irregularly distributed in space and characterized by x, y coordinates (the points) with variable supplemental information (the marks) to identify the type of event and relevant biological or physical attributes associated with that point (e.g., species, age, size, soil type, etc.). Once acquired, these spatial point pattern data allow hypotheses linking spatial pattern (the points) to ecological process (the marks) to be examined. Special techniques have been developed to describe these data and to test their association with relevant biological and physical attributes of the landscape (Perry et al. 2006).

Point pattern analysis has a long history of study in ecology. Clark and Evans (1954) first suggested that the mean distance to a nearest neighbor divided by the mean distance of randomly distributed points provided a normalized measure of the departure of spatial patterns from those expected by simple random processes. These calculations, when done by hand in the '50s, were computationally difficult, especially when data sets were large. A different approach was suggested by Greg-Smith (1952) who aggregated point data into quadrats and then used the differences in frequencies between adjacent quadrats as a measure of spatial pattern. Successive increases in quadrat size allowed scale-dependent changes in variance to be estimated (O'Neill et al. 1991; Levin 1992) (see Fig. 5.3). More efficient sampling methods have since been developed to provide more robust estimates (e.g., lacunar-

Spatial

Statistics

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPEity analysis; Plotnick et al. 1993, 1996), but the basic concept of change in varianceECOLOGY INwith scale as a measure of pattern-scale dependency remains useful.

The Clark and Evans (1954) nearest-neighbor calculation produced a single value for each dataset. Ripley (1977, 1979) introduced the K function, which examines nearest-neighbor associations over all distances within the dataset, providing a scale-dependent measure for point patterns without the need to aggregate data into quadrats. The K function, as described by Crawley (2007), is calculated as:

$$K(d) = \frac{1}{N^2} A \sum_{j} \sum_{i \neq j} \frac{I_{(d)} \langle d_{ij} \rangle}{w_{ij}},$$

where *N* is the number of points; *A* is the size of the study area that contains the points; d_{ij} are the subset of distances that are less than $I_{(d)}$ (values of $I_{(d)}$ will range successively from the minimum to maximum possible distance within *A*); and w_{ij} is an edge correction required to avoid truncation effects when a given point is near the boundary (w_{ij} = 1 when a circle of radius I_d around point *ij* does not contact the boundary of *A*, and <1 when boundaries are encountered).

All these calculations can be easily done within the *spatstat* library (Baddeley and Turner 2005) of R (R Development Core Team 2010). Baddeley and Turner (2005) provide an example of analysis with Ripley's *K* for a point pattern dataset of Swedish pine trees (Strand 1972; Ripley 1988). The nearest-neighbor analysis reproduced here (Fig. 5.4) shows two lines. The solid line is the expected value at each distance class, $I_{(d)}$, if all points were randomly distributed; the segmented line shows significant deviation of a range of $I_{(d)}$ from ~6 to ~12 (see Baddeley and Turner 2005 for the statistical methods used to test for significant departures from random), indicating that trees were more uniformly distributed than the "expected" (hypothetical) random pattern. The causes of spatial regularity over small distances may include processes such processes as nonrandom seed recruitment or mortality, competition or a nonrandom substrate. The results shown in Fig. 5.4 define the

FIGURE 5.3.

Variance in percent grassland in a landscape near Goodland, Kansas changes over a range scales. These changes created a stair-step pattern hypothesized to result from human activities that vary from fields to farms, townships, and counties.

Adapted from O'Neill et al. (1991).



scales over which future studies may concentrate to identify the specific processes set that have resulted in these nonrandom patterns. Of course hypothesis testing requires the uncertainty around these numbers to be estimated. The *spastat* library provides an example of how to estimate uncertainties using Monte Carlo methods.

Perry et al. (2006) and Diggle (2003) provide excellent discussions of other methods for analyzing spatial point patterns. No matter the choice of method, one should be aware that when the study area, A, is very large multiple (new) ecosystems or cover types may be encountered. If points are restricted to a single ecosystem or cover type, then patterns will always appear to be spatially heterogeneous with areas of aggregation within preferred habitats separated by areas of overdispersion; conversely, if spatial extents are very small, then edge effects will be large and results biased despite use of edge correction methods that adjust spatial weights, w_{ij} . As always, there is an intimate dependency between the nature of a dataset, the scale of analysis, and the adequacy of the statistical methods used for description and hypothesis testing.

🝆 AUTOCORRELATION AND VARIOGRAPHY

The heart of spatial statistics is the concept of correlation of spatially distributed variables. Autocorrelation and variography are two widely used methods for characterizing spatial dependence, or spatial structure, in a variable as a function of its position in a landscape. These methods are considered *global spatial statistics* because they estimate the intensity of spatial dependence for the entire study area (Fortin and Dale 2005). Both methods also provide estimates of the spatial scale(s) over which data are dependent. Factors that cause spatial dependence may be intrinsic to the system being studied, such as dispersal and competition in biotic



FIGURE 5.4.

Nearest neighbor analysis of the Swedish pine data using Ripley's *K* and the *spatstat* library of Baddeley and Turner (2005). See text for details of analysis.

Spatial Statistics

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

communities, and often manifested as fine-scale patchiness. This is certainly the case for measures of species abundances, which are always positively autocorrelated (Lichstein et al. 2002). Factors external to the system, such as topographic gradients of moisture, nutrients, and light, may also induce correlations (as noted THEORY AND above) but these are usually responsible for broad-scale trends (Legendre 1993; Lichstein et al. 2002). Conceptually, any observed spatial structure is a mix of induced spatial dependence (i.e., how the variable is responding to the spatial structure of an exogenous process) and inherent spatial autocorrelation (i.e., intrinsic to the variable or process of interest), but estimates of spatial autocorrelation coefficients cannot discriminate between these different components (Fortin and Dale 2005).

Autocorrelation

Spatial autocorrelation is estimated by taking the average squared difference between all points separated by a given distance, h, the "lagged" distance between points. If we assume second-order stationarity (constant mean and variance over the entire dataset), then the autocorrelation for each distance between points, $r_{(p)}$, may be calculated as a Pearson correlation coefficient:

$$r_{(h)} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-h} (z_i - \overline{z}) (z_{i+h} - \overline{z})}{\sigma^2},$$

where z_i is the value at location *i*; z_{i+b} is the value of a point at a distance of *b* from *i*; σ^2 is the overall variance; and *N* is total number of points. A graph of $r_{(h)}$ vs. *h* is a correlogram that provides a visualization of the change in the dependency between points as a function of the distance between them, h. In general, to assure numerical adequacy of estimates of $r_{(b)}$, *h* should never be calculated for distances greater than ¹/₂ the total distance that was sampled, and there should be at least 50 pairs of points for each lag distance (Rossi et al. 1992). Indications of ecological scale can be verified by statistically testing the peak values of the correlogram (both positive and negative) for significant differences from zero (Carlile et al. 1989). The conditions for valid tests for the significance of these peaks are restrictive, requiring (1) that only points separated by h are compared for each lagged distance, (2) that gradients of change or trends in the data be removed before correlations are estimated (see Legendre 1993 for other restrictions in the analysis of gradients and autocorrelated data) and (3) that the residuals be normally distributed (Legendre and Legendre 1998).

Because $r_{(b)}$ is normalized by its variance, values will always lie between -1.0 and 1.0, which can be advantageous when comparing correlograms for different variables and/or landscapes. When $r_{(h)}$ is near 1.0, the lagged values are positively related; when $r_{(b)}$ is near -1.0, the lagged values are negatively related; and when $r_{(b)}$ is close to 0.0, the values are spatially independent. Of course, statistical tests are spatial used to show when values of $r_{(h)}$ do not differ from 0.0 and to determine the minimal separation distance, h_c , beyond which the data can be considered spatially independent. Statistics

Let's consider an empirical example. In an area that was severely burned by the 1988 Yellowstone Fires, the density of postfire lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* var. *latifolia*) seedlings was recorded sequentially in 1-m^2 plots (N=3395) at every meter along a 3.4-km transect that spanned a large patch of burned forest. The raw count data (seedlings m⁻², depicted in Fig. 5.5a) clearly show variability along the transect. To quantify spatial structure of the postfire tree seedlings, autocorrelation of lodgepole pine seedling density was calculated for all pair plots separated by lag distances, *h*, ranging from 1 to 250 m to generate a correlogram (Fig. 5.5b). The analysis revealed very strong spatial autocorrelation over short distances and a



FIGURE 5.5.

(a) Continuus counts of postfire lodgepole pine seedlings in 1-m² plots at 1-m intervals along a 3.4-km transect in Yellowstone National Park in 1991, 3 years after the 1988 fires (Turner et al. 1997b).
(b) Autocorrelations and (c) partial autocorrelations of the lodgepole pine seedling counts

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

steady decline as lag distances increased. Correlation diminished with distance, declining to r = 0.40 at a lag distance of about 40 m, and to r = 0.20 at about 90 m. Because the sample size was so large, even very small correlations were statistically significant at p = 0.05, indicated by the blue dashed line in Fig. 5.5b. Thus, this example also demonstrates another important point: when sample size is very large, statistical significance doesn't always reflect ecological importance. Under such circumstances, one may set the limit of spatial correlation to a meaningful value; for instance, if $r_{(h)} = 0.2$ at a given distance h, then only ~4 % of the variance is accounted for by spatially correlated processes at that distance. Applying this to our example, we could infer minimal spatial autocorrelation between samples separated by at least 90 m.

Measures other than the Pearson correlation coefficient, such as Moran's I and Geary's c, can also be used to test for spatial dependence (Fortin and Dale 2005). Interpretation of Moran's I is very similar to interpretation of a correlation coefficient (Fig. 5.6). The magnitude of Moran's I, as well as the sign, are both important. The magnitude of the absolute value of Moran's I (on the y axis) in the correlogram of the random landscape (Fig. 5.6a) is about 0.12, indicating little spatial autocorrelation at any lag distance; in contrast, the maximum absolute value of Moran's I in a landscape with a gradient (Fig. 5.6b) approaches 1.0, indicating very high spatial autocorrelation over some lag distances. In a landscape with repeated patterns (Fig. 5.6c), the strength of the autocorrelation is intermediate. The sign of Moran's I is again informative. As with a traditional correlation analysis, a positive value indicates positive correlation, and a negative value indicates a negative correlation. When there is a repeated pattern, correlations will be positive at short distances, then become negative (peaks to valleys), then become positive again (peaks to peaks; Fig. 5.6c). Autocorrelation methods are useful for defining spatial dependencies and for discriminating between positive and negative autocorrelations, but they are unable to distinguish between certain kinds of spatial patterns, such as sharp step change vs. a gradient (Palmer and McGlinn 2016).

Pearson correlation coefficients may be used not only for their simplicity, but also because measures of the direct effect at each distance *h* can be estimated by the partial autocorrelation coefficient (Fig. 5.5c). The partial correlation coefficient is the autocorrelation between points separated by *h* that has first been adjusted for correlations at all other distances and therefore represents the unique effect of points z_i on z_{i+b} . Figure 5.5c shows that the range of distances with significant direct effects (as measured by the partial correlation) is small (~10 m) in the lodgepole pine transect data, although accumulated indirect effects (as measured by the simple correlation, Fig. 5.5b) extend to ~130 m. Thus, abundance levels correlated over relatively short distances (the partial correlation) nevertheless result in patches of high abundance at scales of ~130 m (Fig. 5.5b).

When data for a spatial autocorrelation analysis come from a linear transect, directionality is not a concern. However, if the data come from a two-dimensional



FIGURE 5.6.

All-directional spatial correlograms of artificial landscapes: (a) random landscape, (b) landscape with a gradient, and (c) landscape with a repeating pattern, the "nine fat bumps" shown below. Note that Moran's I behaves like a correlation coefficient.

Adapted from Legendre and Fortin (1989).

LANDSCAPEarea, directionality should be considered. For most analyses, the default is to derive
the coefficients from an omni-directional (isotropic) analysis, meaning that all pairs
of points at a given lag distance are used, regardless of the directionality between
them. However, it is possible that the intensity of spatial dependence differs by
direction, and analyses may be computed for pairs of points that lie in the same
direction (anisotropy). For example, autocorrelation could be measured in both an
east-west and a north-south direction and the two sets of coefficients compared.

Variography

Variography is also based on spatial dependence among pairs of observations at different lag distances, but it uses a direct measure of variance in the computation and allows for spatial interpolation of point data across a landscape. Kriging techniques have been developed for this purpose with the *semivariance*, $\gamma_{(b)}$, providing the needed estimate of spatially dependent variance. The semivariance is equal to half of the squared difference of all pairs of points separated by distance *h* (Rossi et al. 1992; Palmer 1992) and is calculated for each lag distance, *h* as:

$$\gamma_{(h)} = \frac{N_{(h)}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{(h)}-i} \left(z_i - z_{i+h}\right)^2$$

where z_i is the value at location *i*; z_{i+h} is the value of a point at a lagged distance of *h* from *i*; and $N_{(h)}$ is number of pairs examined at lag distance *h*. Plotting $\gamma_{(h)}$ over all values of *h* results in a *variogram*, the central tool of geostatistics (Rossi et al. 1992). In an idealized variogram (Fig. 5.7), semivariance is minimal when *h* is small, then increases steadily until a distance is achieved where further increases in *h* no longer cause the variance to increase. As with autocorrelation analysis, variography depends on several underlying assumptions, including absence of a trend in the *z* values across space, that variance is constant across the dataset, that the precise location of each observation does not matter (only the distance between

FIGURE 5.7.

Idealized semivariogram showing the nugget (C_0), sill ($C_0 + C$), and range (A_0); see text for explanation.


points is important), and (for an isotropic variogram) that the magnitude of hSpatial matters, but not the direction.

Interpretation of spatial dependence using variograms is based on several key parameters. The asymptotic value of $\gamma_{(h)}$ as h becomes very large is called the *sill*. The distance over which variance increases until the sill is reached is called the range $(A_0,$ Fig. 5.7). The range is one of the most important parameters extracted from a variogram because it defines the distance (or scale) of spatial dependence in the data; at distances greater than the range, the data are considered to be spatially independent. Finally, there is often some amount of variance that is not related to spatial structure in the data, at least over the scales that were examined. This variance is estimated by the y intercept of the variogram and is called the *nugget*, typically denoted as C_0 (Fig. 5.7). The nugget includes variance at scales smaller than the minimum separation distance between points and variance attributed to changes through time as data were sampled, measurement error, and random sampling error. The structural variance, C, is the difference between the sill and the nugget. The overall magnitude of spatial dependence in the data can be estimated by computing the proportion of structural variance, calculated as structural variance divided by the sill, or [C/ $(C_0 + C)$]. When there is no nugget or C_0 is small relative to C, the proportion of structural variance is high, and there is considerable spatial dependence in the data. When C_0 is nearly equal to the sill, there is no spatial dependence in the data. When the semivariance continues to increase with lag distance, *h*, and does not level off, it means that there is spatial dependence over all measurement scales. In this case, estimates of the range, A_0 , will exceed the maximum value of h; in other words, the range will be greater than the largest lag distance that was analyzed. Estimates of semivariance are unreliable when there are too few pairs of points for any given lag distance, which is often the case as h becomes large. Thus, the sampling restrictions for variogram estimation are the same as those given above for autocorrelation. Variograms should be calculated only for lag distances up to half the actual distance over which the data are measured, and it is best to include at least 50 pairs of points when calculating semivariance for each lag distance.

To estimate the nugget, sill, range, and proportion of structural variance from a variogram, a theoretical model must be fit to the plot of $\gamma_{(h)}$ vs. *h* (Fig. 5.8). Spherical, exponential, and linear models are commonly used theoretical models, and analysis programs will report C, C_0 , and A_0 values. Different models may produce different numerical estimates for these parameters, and the best choice for a theoretical model may be difficult to determine a priori. Most practitioners will inspect the shape of the empirical variogram, then fit several models to determine which one provides the best fit by comparing the proportion of structural variance among models and examining r^2 or AIC values. This can be straightforward when a single variogram is being evaluated. However, when a study involves multiple variograms, different theoretical models may fit best for different response variables or plots (Fig. 5.8). The analyst must then decide whether to use one theoretical model Statistics



FIGURE 5.8.

Illustration of six models for fitted semivariograms using data from the Luquillo Experimental Forest of Puerto Rico: (a) soil organic carbon, fit with a spherical model; (b) soil moisture, fit with a wave/hole model; (c) bulk density, fit with a spherical model; (d) elevation, fit with a wave/hole model; (e) slope angle, fit with a random model; and (f) aspect, fit with a linear model. The equations for the illustrated semivariance models are: Random γ = mean sample variance; Linear $\gamma(h) = C_0 + C[(h/A_0)]$; Spherical

 $\gamma(h) = C_0 + C(1.5(h/A_0) - 0.5(h/A_0)^3], h \le A_0; \gamma(h) = C_0 + C, h \ge A_0. \text{ Wave/hole } \gamma(h) = C_0 + C\{1 - [\sin(A_0 * h) * h/A_0]\}.$ Adapted from Wang et al. (2002).

(e.g., the spherical model) for all data, thereby minimizing the effect of changing the model on parameter estimates, or to use the best model fit for each dataset. In our experience, different models for different processes are appropriate, but statisticians will differ in their opinions, and thinking about this topic may change points the analyst should keep in mind.

Spatial Statistics

The idealized curve for a variogram with a distinct scale of spatial autocorrelation is asymptotic, but empirical variograms may take a surprising number of shapes (Fig. 5.8); real-world data can be messy! If a spatial dataset is nonrandom and has been adequately sampled (i.e., the spatial extent of the data provides an adequate representation of the pattern of interest) then we expect the variogram to ascend from an initial value at h = 0 to an asymptotic value (Fig. 5.8a, d). Variograms that do not asymptote, but rather continue to increase as h increases (Fig. 5.8e), indicate an underlying trend or nonstationary stochastic process (Crawley 2007) which must be accounted for before finer scale dependencies can be explored. A relatively flat horizontal variogram indicates a pattern that lacks spatial dependencies (i.e., a random pattern, Fig. 5.8c).

The form of the variogram does not lend itself to statistical testing, but confidence intervals for semivariance estimates can be calculated (Shafer and Varljen 1990; Zheng and Silliman 2000; Lin and Chen 2005; Xiao et al. 2005). Because the estimate of semivariance for each lag distance is obtained from multiple pairs of points, the variance around each estimate can be determined. It is increasingly common for a 95 % confidence interval to be plotted in empirical variograms. Although confidence intervals will often bounce around the sill, they are helpful in determining the range over which significant changes in variance may be expected (Xiao et al. 2005). Significance testing for each lag distance h is not commonly done in variography (in contrast to correlograms), but the occurrence of a semivariance estimates below the 95 % confidence interval usually corresponds to a significant autocorrelation at that lag distance.

Spatial interpolation, or kriging (Rossi et al. 1992), uses the semivariogram to predict an expected value at unmeasured locations. Kriging methods predict z by using a weighted average of the expected values based on the distance from other points, with the weights accounting for autocorrelation in the observed data. Results yield a best linear unbiased estimate of a variable at a given point. Kriging has found many ecological adaptations, including mapping vegetation community distributions (Arieira et al. 2011), determining patterns of exotic species invasion (Cilliers et al. 2008; Schreiber and Lloyd-Smith 2009) and locations of exotic weeds (Kalivas et al. 2012), and designing optimal spatial sampling methods (Xiao et al. 2005).

Although semivariance has many similarities to the autocorrelation function (Box 5.1, and see Fig. 1 in Palmer and McGlinn 2016 for helpful comparisons), there are several notable differences between these methods that affect their use and interpretation. Because correlograms emphasize the strength of the correlation

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

BOX 5.1 GENERAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE AUTOCORRELATION AND SEMIVARIANCE OF VALUES LAGGED BY DISTANCE *H* (ADAPTED FROM ROSSI ET AL. 1992)

lf the population mean and variance are constant (i.e., there no trend) and is $C(h) = \text{the covariance} = 1/N(h)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (z_{-h} - \overline{z}_{+h})(z_{+h} - \overline{z}_{+h})$, where -h and +h represent the head and tail of data points separated by distance h, then:

 $\gamma(h) = \sigma^2 - C(h)$ $\rho(h) = C(h) / \sigma^2$ $1 - \rho(h) = \gamma(h) / \sigma^2$

where $\gamma(h)$, $\rho(h)$ are the semivariance and autocorrelation, respectively, for points separated by distance h.



FIGURE 5.9.

Example semivariogram (a) and correlogram (b) computed for a landscape in northern Yellowstone National Park. Note that the shape of the correlogram is nearly identical, although inverted, to the shape of the semivariogram of the same data. These two approaches are complementary.

Adapted from Meisel and Turner (1998).

at each lag distance and variograms report the magnitude of the variation (Box 5.1), the empirical plots are of opposite shape (Fig. 5.9). The semivariance estimates, which are not normalized by either the mean or the variance, may take on any positive value as all forms of variance also do. However, the magnitude of the semivari-

ance is informative when comparing variables measured in the same units-for example, one could ask whether the total amount variance in plant biomass is increasing across a chronosequence of plots, or is greater in certain landscapes than in others. When comparing variograms for variables that are reported in different units (e.g., plant biomass in g and soil nutrient properties in ppm), the magnitude of variance cannot be readily compared. In such cases, variograms may be standardized by dividing by the maximum semivariance $(C + C_0)$ so that the y axis scales from zero to one. This normalization allows the shape of the curve and the range estimates (A_0) to be easily read and interpreted, regardless of the units in which semivariance was reported. In contrast to correlograms, semivariograms provide no information about whether spatial dependencies are positive or negative because variances are always positive. Lastly, one might expect that *range* estimates would be the same for correlograms and variograms. This is not always the case because the semivariance measures an asymptote where variance no longer increases with distance, whereas autocorrelation measures multiple distances where autocorrelation is present rather than extracting a single dominant scale.

Cross-Correlograms and Co-variograms

When multiple variables are recorded in either space or time then the correlations among these variables can be used to more accurately describe and predict the spatial patterns of one or more predicted variables (Kalkhan and Stohlgren 2000; Kalkhan et al. 2007). The additional information provided by these crosscorrelations allows a reduction in the total number of samples needed to detect significant effects (Fortin and Dale 2005). Covariance analysis has long been an essential element of regression methods (Cressie 1991) and may also be used to advantage with kriging (referred to as *co-kriging* when cross-correlations are used) to improve estimates of spatial interpolations. Although co-kriging is a more complicated process and long-regarded as a difficult computation (Deutsch and Journel 1998), advanced methods are now available making the use of spatial crosscorrelations among multiple predictor variables an attractive option (see gstat package in R Development Core Team 2010; Rossiter 2012). For instance, precise knowledge of the spatial distribution of perennial weeds, which flourish in cotton agriculture, would allow better-targeted management options to be developed and employed. If the distribution of weeds could be estimated as a function of environmental variables, measured at lower expense, then significant savings would be realized by the use of co-kriging methods (Rossiter 2012). Kalivas et al. (2012) used this approach to reduce prediction errors over ordinary kriging (Fig. 5.10) with co-kriging providing better estimates of the distribution of bindweed and purple nutsedge, two difficult weeds to control (Kalivas et al. 2012).

More advanced statistical methods hold great promise for landscape studies but, unfortunately, are beyond the scope of this chapter. The reader may wish to refer Spatial Statistics FIGURE 5.10.

Interpolated maps of field bindweed density with the use of ordinary kriging (a) and co-kriging (b) for three different years (Reproduced with permission from Kalivas et al. 2012).



to appropriate texts (e.g., Cressie 1991; Fortin and Dale 2005; Ripley 2005) and articles (e.g., Wagner and Fortin 2005; Perry et al. 2006), which provide guidance and caveats for use of additional multivariate methods to describe and predict spatial patterns.

Optimized Sampling Designs for Spatial Statistics

When landscape ecologists think about evaluating spatial dependence using a field study, the default plan is often to sample continuously along transect (as was done for the lodgepole pine seedlings in Fig. 5.5) or within a full uniform grid of points. However, these are inefficient, not only because they take a lot of work, but also

166

TABLE 5.1.

Examples of cyclic sampling designs (adapted from Burrows et al. 2002), where x is the length of the cycle and sample locations are given in the same units (e.g., meters).

Length of cycle (x)	Number of plots sampled per cycle	Sample locations (0 to $x-1$)	Illustration of sampling cycle (+indicates sample location, o is not sampled)
3	2	0, 1	+ + 0
7	3	0, 1, 3	+ + 0 + 0 0 0
13	4	0, 1, 3, 9	+ + 0 + 0 0 0 0 +
21	5	0, 1, 4, 14, 16	+ + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 + 0
	Length of cycle (<i>x</i>) 3 7 13 21	Length of cycleNumber of plots sampled per cycle3273134215	Length of cycle (x) Number of plots sampled per cycleSample locations (0 to $x-1$)320, 1730, 1, 31340, 1, 3, 92150, 1, 4, 14, 16

A 3/7 cycle indicates that three plots in every seven are measured. When repeated, the spacing of the three plots will give pairs of plots separated by one, two, three, four, five, six, and seven lag distances

because they produce data in which the point pairs for short lag distances are overrepresented, and the point pairs for long lag distances are underrepresented. Sampling designs that systematically vary the distances between sample points then repeat that sequence can produce a dataset with similar numbers of point pairs across all lag distances (Table 5.1). These clever designs will give comparable statistical power over a range of lag distances and are thus a valuable alternative to systematic sampling schemes. Because the repeated distances are considered to be a cycle, these sampling designs are often referred to as cyclic. As an example, consider sampling a 1000-m transect at 1-m intervals with traditional protocols that would produce 1000 data points. If 4/13 cyclic sampling was used instead in place of complete sampling (Table 5.1), then approximately 300 sampling points could efficiently measure a wide range of lag distances. There is detailed treatment of these methods in Cressie (1991), but we also recommend Burrows et al. (2002) for an accessible explanation and discussion. Burrows et al. (2002) compared different approaches (random, uniform, and cyclic sampling) for quantifying the spatial pattern of leaf area index (LAI) measures in terrestrial ecosystems that surrounded an eddy flux tower. They found a 60 % reduction in effort required for cyclic sampling designs vs. random and uniform sampling. As with all study designs, pilot data can be extremely valuable for figuring out the best cycle of distances to repeat.

In another example, Turner et al. (2011) used a cyclic design to determine how aboveground vegetation and soil nitrogen availability changed within forested plots following stand-replacing fires. Because these measurements are very labor intensive and the laboratory analyses costly, an alternative to sampling a full grid was desired. In each of four plots, they used a cyclic design (n=81 points) with a minimum separation distance of 2 m between sampling points and a cyclic sequence

Spatial

Statistics

FIGURE 5.11.

Illustration of how a 3/7 cyclic sampling design (see Table 5.1) was implemented to sample soils and aboveground vegetation in Greater Yellowstone (adapted from Turner et al. 2011). The 3/7 scheme is applied in the horizontal direction and reverses direction for the middle three transects.



of points that was repeated (Fig. 5.11). The grid covered an $18 \text{ m} \times 40 \text{ m}$ area positioned in the center of each 0.25-ha plot and included nine parallel rows, each separated by 2 m. The 2-m spatial resolution was based on the observed patchiness of aboveground vegetation given our focus on the relationship between vegetation and soil nutrients. Each row included three 3/7 cycles that were 14 m long in which 3 of 7 grid points (the 0, 1, 3 design in Table 5.1, which translated to samples at 0, 2 and 6 m in each cycle) were sampled; the middle three rows were offset by 6 m to account for potential anisotropy. Variography was then used to assess spatial dependence in vegetation and soil variables over 4 years. Using spatial statistics to improve sampling design is extremely valuable in any studies that include the goal of detecting the magnitude and scale of spatial variation in the data.

• EXAMPLES OF SPATIAL STATISTICS IN LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY

Because spatial statistics are less familiar than landscape metrics for many landscape ecologists, and therefore not used as frequently, we conclude this chapter with a few additional examples to illustrate the diversity of applications in landscape ecology. As is the case throughout this book, the selected examples are not intended to exhaustive but rather to illustrate how these methods can be used to gain insights into landscape-level questions. We also suggest software resources that readers may find useful (Box 5.2).

Spatial statistics have been used in several studies assessing organism responses to spatial variation in their habitat. The persistence of elephant populations in

168

Spatial Statistics

BOX 5.2 THE PRACTICAL SIDE: SELECTED SOFTWARE FOR SPATIAL STATISTICS

There are many options for computing spatial statistics, including utilities within widely used GIS software programs such as ArcGIS. We highlight a few here. There are many online resources that provide current developments in spatial ecology including Wikipedia http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spatial_ecology with lists and links to open-source GIS software (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Category:Free_GIS_software). For hands-on learning, we recommend two chapters in the second edition of LEARNING LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY. Exercises developed by Palmer and McGlinn (2015) lead students through the calculation and interpretation of correlograms and semivariograms using Excel and R; this is a great starting point. Exercises developed by Turner and Simard (2016) are more advanced, use GS+ (see below), and are designed to compare and contrast insights gained from traditional landscape metrics and spatial statistics.

R Software. There are a wide variety of utilities available for reading, writing, display, and analysis of spatial data in R. The R software and associated libraries may be explored and downloaded at http:// www.r-project.org/foundation/. An overview of the many resources within R may be found at http://cran.r-project.org/web/views/Spatial.html. Libraries used in this chapter include *spatial* and *spastat* for point pattern analysis and *gstat* for geostatistics.

GS+ is commercially available software published by Gamma Design Software, LLC; see http://www. gammadesign.com/. GS+ is a comprehensive geostatistics program that is menu driven and easy to use, and it readily produces kriged maps from empirical variograms. Users should take care to specify the minimum separation distance, however, as this program defaults to bins that may be larger than desired. Demo versions of GS+ can be downloaded for free and used for a limited time.

PASSaGE, which is an acronym for Pattern Analysis, Spatial Statistics, and Geographic Exegesis, is a free and integrated software package for spatial analysis and statistics (Rosenberg and Anderson 2011). It incorporates a wide range of analyses, including point pattern analyses, correlograms, semivariograms, and many more. The developers work in computational biology, bioinformatics, and landscape genetics. See http://www.passagesoftware.net/index.php

Zimbabwe is being threatened by continued conversion of natural habitat into agricultural lands. Murwira and Skidmore (2005) wanted to determine whether and how the spatial distribution of the African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) responded to the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation cover based on data obtained in the early 1980s and 1990s. The distribution of elephants was measured from direct counts, and vegetation cover was derived from remotely sensed data. Variography applied to these data produced measures of the dominant scale (i.e., the range) and intensity (the sill) of the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) in 3.84-km × 3.84-km windows distributed in a 61-km × 61-km landscape. The range and sill were then used as predictor variables of elephant occupancy within mixed-use landscapes and to determine mixtures that optimized probability of elephant occurrence (Fig. 5.12). Examination of trends in agricultural intensity

FIGURE 5.12.

The dominant scale and intensity of spatial heterogeneity in vegetation cover jointly influence the probability of elephant presence in (**a**) the 1980s and (**b**) the 1990s in an agricultural landscape in Zimbabwe.

Adapted from Murwira and Skidmore (2005).



were found to be moving vegetation patterns away from an optimum mixture towards uniform agricultural areas which would not allow continued persistence of elephants within these landscapes.

Another example comes from a study of winter habitat use by woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Newfoundland, Canada that blended geostatistical analyses with habitat selection (Mayor et al. 2007). Through careful analyses of multiple levels of habitat use (seasonal range, travel routes, feeding areas, and microsites) in response to snow depth and the abundance of lichens, Mayor et al. (2007) found that caribou reduced the variance in these key habitat features by selecting favorable habitat. By comparing variability of habitat components measured at four levels of habitat use (from feeding microsites to population winter

170

range) across a spectrum of spatial scales (from 1 to 28,000 m), Mayor et al. (2007) Spatial showed that caribou first selected for lichens at a broad scale (13 km) then selected areas with shallower snow at all scales. Statistics

In a landscape study of plant–animal interactions, De Jager and Pastor (2009) used spatial statistics to evaluate how available and consumed browse has changed with time in Isle Royale National Park, Michigan (USA) as the size of the moose (*Alces alces*) population declined. Four different variogram models were fit to measured levels of moose consumption, browse biomass, plant basal area, and soil fertility; each model representing a different type of landscape pattern from random to regularly arranged patches. The best models were then fit to patterns of browse availability, nitrogen availability, and conifer basal area. The low levels of moose populations have resulted in declining levels of annual consumption which, in turn, have resulted in random distributions of browse consumption: there were simply too few moose to impose detectable spatial patterns as occurred in the past. It appears that lower grazing levels have resulted in new process-pattern relationships with current vegetation patterns more related to variation in fertility, light availability through the canopy and canopy gaps, or seed dispersal patterns than to moose consumption (De Jager and Pastor 2009).

Spatial statistics are also useful in studying ecosystem properties such as nutrient pools and flux rates (e.g., Fig. 5.8, Wang et al. 2002). For example, Vasquez et al. (2012) explored the relationship between total soil carbon and hydrologic and biotic processes in a subtropical landscape in Florida, USA. They studied three nested regions and found that total soil carbon varied at two key scales, one over a relatively short range (5.6 km) in association with local soil and landscape variation, and another at a longer range (119 km) in association with regional variation. Spatial statistics have also detected pattern at multiple scales in a seascape and been used to map seagrass cover. In an estuary in eastern Canada, Barrell and Grant (2013) used acoustic data to detect aquatic vegetation, then used these data to map seagrass beds. Semivariograms were computed, and kriging was used to map seagrass cover and identify "hot spots" where seagrass cover was high relative to the mean.

The above examples employed methods related to variography. Many other examples may be found using autocorrelation (Ishihama et al. 2010; Liang 2012), spectral analysis (Jollineau et al. 2008; Huang et al. 2009), Bayesian statistics (Romero-Calcerrada et al. 2008; Fitzpatrick et al. 2010), and spatial modeling (Kellogg et al. 2008).

As the science of landscape ecology matures, studies will continue to rely on the considerable power of analysis available from methods based on spatial statistics. Because the data and methods of spatial statistics differ from those using landscape metrics, each approach will provide unique and important insights into the broad-scale patterns of ecological processes. The use and interpretation of categori-

LANDSCAPEcal landscape metrics are understood to a much greater degree than for spatial
statistics. The latter seem more difficult for many students to grasp, and the param-
eter estimates more abstract. Studies that systematically compare results from these
two approaches will be most effective in advancing our understanding of landscape
dynamics. There is tremendous opportunity for developing richer interpretations of
spatial statistics and exploiting the potential for hypothesis testing in landscape
ecology. As georeferenced data become more readily available (e.g., through sensor
networks and other remotely sensed measurements), there is much to be gained
from greater exploration of how to enhance the use of spatial statistics in hypoth-
esis testing.

SUMMARY

Spatial statistics are widely applied in landscape studies for quantifying the spatial structure of spatially distributed data represented by real numbers. The diversity of methods available and the proliferation of jargon used in spatial statistics makes their appropriate use a demanding endeavor. Spatial statistics do not require the a priori categorization of landscape data, nor do they assume a patchy structure with delineated boundaries. Spatial statistics quantify the magnitude of variance in the data, the proportion of that variance that is spatially dependent (i.e., spatially correlated), and the distances over which variables are spatially dependent. These methods differ from, but are complementary to, those based on landscape metrics (Chap. 4).

Landscape ecologists use spatial statistics for wide variety of purposes, but three are particularly important. First, spatial statistics are used to test for independence in spatially distributed data prior to use of parametric statistics for hypothesis testing. When data are spatially dependent (i.e., the degree of correlation between observations changes as a function of distance), statistical tests for hypothesis testing may lead to Type I error (false rejection of the null hypothesis) unless corrective measures are taken. When data are spatially correlated, an adequate separation distance between samples may allow the assumption of spatial independence to be met. Alternatively, methods that adjust and remove spatial dependence prior to statistical testing may be used. Second, spatial statistics are used to quantify the nature of the spatial structure in continuous variables. The magnitude and scale of spatial dependence can be informative and used explicitly to test hypotheses about spatial structure. Third, spatial statistics are used for spatial interpolation, using values at sampled locations to predict values at locations that were not sampled or to produce a continuous surface or map of expected values. There are several important points to keep in mind when analyzing spatial patterns. Reviewers of grant proposals and manuscripts now expect that the spatial dependence in a dataset has been considered and characterized. Although long considered a nuisance, spatial autocorrelation is not always a problem, but rather an informative attribute of the data leading to new insights and hypotheses. When multiple variables are considered, and similar scales of dependency are found, we now know that this, alone, does not prove causality. However, the coincidence of

multiple variables are considered, and similar scales of dependency are found, we now know that this, alone, does not prove causality. However, the coincidence of scales does suggest linkages that are worth exploring. As with all spatial data, the grain and extent of the data strongly affect results of any analysis. Of course, the analyst also must attend to the assumptions required for spatial statistics, including that of stationarity.

One set of methods used in spatial statistics is point pattern analysis, which is used for data formed from event-based records (e.g., location of nest sites). Geographically referenced events have had a long history of study in ecology, and approaches include quadrat-based measures that explore change in variance with scale. Ripley's *K* function provides a scale-dependent measure that does not require aggregating data into quadrats.

Another set of methods is based on correlation among spatially distributed variables. Autocorrelation and variography measure changes in the relatedness or variance of continuous measurements (such as a rate) as a function of the distance, h, between measured points. Correlograms and variograms provide similar but not identical insights; correlograms indicate the direction and magnitude of autocorrelation, whereas variograms change in variance with distance. Variograms provide the means to interpolate data across space using parameters such as the nugget, sill, and range.

The downside of spatial statistics is that very large datasets may be required to assess the change in pattern across space. However, efficient sampling designs can reduce sampling redundancies (i.e., numerous samples taken at short distances and few samples at long distances) by systematically changing the density of sample points as h increases. An illustration of the efficiencies gained using a cyclic sampling design is presented in this chapter and shows how samples may be arranged to greatly reduce sampling efforts.

As the science of landscape ecology continues to mature, studies will increasingly rely on the considerable power of analysis available from methods based on spatial statistics. Hypothesis testing based on spatial models and spatial statistical tests from replicate study areas is becoming the norm. There is much opportunity and considerable excitement for developing richer interpretations using spatial statistics and exploiting the potential for greater rigor in hypothesis testing in landscape ecology. Spatial

Statistics

LANDSCAPE ~ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

- Gradients due to elevation change often produce spatial correlations in ecological data. How would one design a sampling scheme to separate these correlations from other factors due to biological process of interest (e.g., effects of dispersal patterns on species abundance).
 - 2. Disturbances that change habitat will alter patterns of spatial association for species residing in those habitats. What methods of analysis would you use to characterize the change in scale following disturbance and then monitor the recovery of spatial dynamics with time? What data would be required for your selected method(s)?
 - 3. What will a correlogram of species abundances look like in: (a) continuous, optimal habitat; (b) a landscape with a steep elevation gradient; (c) in a patchy, disturbed landscape?
 - **4.** Why does normalization of a statistic (e.g., correlogram) allow statistical tests to be efficiently (and rigorously) applied? Why are such tests more difficult for nonnormalized statistics (e.g., semivariogram)?
 - **5.** What is the difference between interpolation and extrapolation? How will the errors of these two different estimates differ? (hint: consider the error bounds for a linear regression).

~ FURTHER READING

- BURROWS SN, GOWER ST, CLAYTON MK, MACKAY DS, AHL DE, NORMAN JM, DIAK G (2002) Application of geostatistics to characterize leaf area index (LAI) from flux tower to landscape scales using a cyclic sampling design. Ecosystems 5:667–679
- CRAWLEY MJ (2007) The R book. Wiley, Chichester
- DUNGAN JL, PERRY JN, DALE MRT, LEGENDRE P, CITRON-POUSTY S, FORTIN M-J, JAKOMULSKA A, MIRITI M, ROSENBERG MS (2002) A balanced view of scale in spatial statistical analysis. Ecography 25:626–640
- FORTIN MJ, DALE MRT (2005) Spatial analysis: a guide for ecologists. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- LEGENDRE P, DALE MRT, FORTIN MJ, GUREVITCH J, HOHN M, MYERS D (2002) The consequences of spatial structure for the design and analysis of ecological field surveys. Ecography 25:601–615
- PERRY GLW, MILLER BP, ENRIGHT NJ (2006) A comparison of methods for the statistical analysis of spatial point patterns in plant ecology. Plant Ecol 187:59–82
- SCHWARZ PA, FAHEY TJ, MCCULLOUCH CE (2003) Factors controlling spatial variation of tree species abundance in a forested landscape. Ecology 84:1862–1878
- ROSSI RE, MULLA DJ, JOURNEL AG, FRANZ EH (1992) Geostatistical tools for modeling and interpreting ecological spatial dependence. Ecol Monogr 62:277–314

Landscape Disturbance Dynamics

Disturbances are integral to ecological systems and affect landscapes across a wide range of scales. The causes of disturbance, the patterns and dynamics they produce, and their ecological consequences are major research topics in landscape ecology. Interest stemmed initially from recognition that disturbance was a conspicuous agent of pattern formation; they create complex landscape mosaics that we readily see. At the same time, disturbances were recognized as a natural agent of change within ecological communities, which contributed to the shift from an equilibrial to nonequilibrial view of the natural world that occurred in the late twentieth century (Wu and Loucks 1995; Perry 2002). Disturbances are key drivers of spatial and temporal heterogeneity because they alter the state and dynamics of a system. In landscape ecology, disturbances are ideal subjects for studies of pattern-process interactions because they both respond to and create landscape pattern.

Disturbance has been defined in numerous ways, and we follow the general definition offered by White and Pickett (1985): "any relatively discrete event that disrupts the structure of an ecosystem, community, or population, and changes resource availability of the physical environment." Natural disturbances include



FIGURE 6.1.

Illustration of two disturbances. (a) Standing dead spruce trees in the Bavarian Forest National Park, Germany, were killed by a high-severity bark beetle outbreak; note abundant natural regeneration. Photo by M. G. Turner. (b) Fire scar in South Africa in landscape where woody vegetation is expanding. Photo by E. A. H. Smithwick

familiar events such as wildfires, floods, hurricanes, windstorms (e.g., tornadoes, blowdowns), and avalanches (Fig. 6.1). Some ecological systems even require disturbances for maintenance of community structure and ecosystem function (White 1979; Collins et al. 1998). For example, hurricanes contribute to the maintenance of species diversity in many tropical forests, and regular fires may maintain species composition and age mosaics in some landscapes, like prairies and boreal forests. There has been considerable interest in determining whether human activities can be managed to mimic the patterns and effects of natural disturbances and thereby reduce undesirable deleterious effects (e.g., Hunter 1993; Attiwill 1994; Delong and Tanner 1996).

Disturbances produce mosaics of seral stages (Fig. 6.2) that ecologists have long recognized as essential drivers of landscape pattern (e.g., Cooper 1913; Leopold 1933; Watt 1947; Reiners and Lang 1979; White 1979). The literature on *patch dynamics* (Watt 1947; Levin and Paine 1974b; Whittaker and Levin 1977; Pickett and Thompson 1978; Pickett and White 1985; Levin et al. 1993), in which ecological systems were conceptualized as mosaics of patches generated by disturbances, was an important precursor to the more explicit treatment of disturbance in landscape ecology; a concise overview of patch dynamics can be found in Wu and Levin (1994). Patch dynamics implied a relatively distinct spatial pattern but did not establish constraints on patch size, persistence, composition, or geographic location, which may shift through time (Levin and Paine 1974b). In addition, spatial and temporal relationships among patches and with the surrounding matrix were implied. Finally, and perhaps foremost, patch dynamics emphasized change (Fig. 6.2).

FIGURE 6.2.

Diagrams illustrating patch dynamics. (a) Representation of a process that varies in space and time in a hypothetical landscape. Layers represent the site at different points in time, with the patches representing a disturbance impacting different parts of the landscape at each time interval, and the cumulative pattern of the disturbance. Each patch may differ in age, depending on the time it was last disturbed. (b) Representation of multiple processes acting on the same landscape through time and cumulatively. When viewed through time, the landscape looks like a changing patchwork in which patches result from disturbances that differ in frequency, intensity, size, and shape.

Adapted from Parker and Pickett (1998)



LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Interest in disturbance dynamics has intensified in the twenty-first century (Jentsch 2007; Turner 2010; Peters et al. 2011). Disturbance is a "hot topic" in land and resource management because many disturbance regimes (defined below) seem to be changing due to human activities-especially climate warming. For example, the risk of large fires is increasing in many areas of the world (Westerling et al. 2006; Chapin et al. 2008; Bowman et al. 2009; Girardin et al. 2009), including even the tundra on the North Slope of Alaska (Qui 2009). The Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) reported an increase in the frequency of wildfires as well as floods during the twentieth century in Europe, Asia, Africa, the Americas, and Oceania. Because disturbances can threaten human life and property, often with catastrophic effects on the built environment (e.g., Hurricanes Katrina, which hit New Orleans in 2005, and Sandy, which hit New York in 2012), the consequences of disturbance for human economies and wellbeing are of substantial concern. The potential for disturbances to catalyze major shifts in ecosystems and landscapes, and feedback to global cycles (e.g., carbon cycling), also contributes to the heightened sense of urgency.

In this chapter, we introduce disturbance terminology and concepts then focus on how disturbances interact reciprocally with landscape pattern. We first review how landscape pattern influences disturbance, including work in the emerging field of landscape epidemiology, and then how disturbances create a spatial mosaic in the landscape. We next cover key concepts that require disturbance and succession to be considered jointly and conclude by highlighting disturbance-related questions in contemporary landscape ecology.

CV DISTURBANCE AND DISTURBANCE REGIMES

Disturbance events happen over relatively short intervals of time: hurricanes or windstorms occur over hours to days, fires occur over hours to months, and volcanoes erupt over periods of days or weeks. In origin, disturbances may be abiotic (e.g., hurricanes, tornadoes, or volcanic eruptions), biotic (e.g., the spread of an exotic pest or pathogen), or some combination of the two (e.g., fires require conditions suitable for ignition and burning, which are abiotic, as well as sources of adequate fuel, which are biotic). Disturbances usually result in "open space," such as gaps in otherwise continuous vegetation, and they alter levels of resources such as light and nutrients. By producing these open spaces, disturbances create patchiness in a landscape and initiate secondary succession in the disturbed patches. In landscapes subject to large, infrequent disturbances, the spatial pattern imposed by a disturbance event can structure the landscape until the next disturbance occurs. The eruption of Mount St. Helens in 1980 and the Yellowstone fires of 1988 are examples where the large disturbance established the template for species and ecosystem processes in a landscape for decades or centuries to come. Consequences of disturbance for the biota depend not only on features of the disturbance but also on the state of the system before it was disturbed. For example, tree height influences the extent of uprooting and stem snapping that occurs in forests affected by catastrophic wind. The successional stage of a community when it is disturbed may control the availability of propagules that, in part, shape the composition of the post-disturbance community. The context of the surrounding landscape may also play an important role in post-disturbance succession. Disturbance dynamics and succession are intertwined in their effects on landscape patterns and change, and the successional changes that follow disturbance are main components of our understanding of disturbance in a landscape context.

Ecologists distinguish between a particular disturbance event—like an individual storm or fire—and the *disturbance regime* that characterizes a landscape (e.g., White and Jentsch 2001). The disturbance regime refers to the spatial and temporal dynamics over a longer time period and is described by characteristics such as the spatial distribution of disturbances; disturbance frequency, return interval, and rotation period; and disturbance size, intensity, and severity (Table 6.1). It is important to recognize that definitions of disturbance and disturbance regimes are

TABLE 6.1.

DEFINITIONS OF COMPONENTS OF A DISTURBANCE REGIME, ADAPTED FROM WHITE AND PICKETT (1985) AND TURNER ET AL. (1998b).

Term	Definition
Frequency	Mean or median number of events occurring at an average point per time period, or decimal fraction of events per year; often used for probability of disturbance when expressed as the decimal fraction of events per year
Return interval	Mean or median time between disturbances; the inverse of frequency; variance may also be important, as this influences predictability
Rotation period	Mean time needed to disturb an area equivalent to some study area, which must be explicitly defined
Size	Area disturbed, which can be expressed as mean area per event, area per time period, or percent of some study area per time period
Intensity	Physical energy of the event per area per time (e.g., heat released per area per time period for fire, or wind speed for storms); characteristic of the disturbance rather than the ecological effect
Severity	Effect of the disturbance event on the organism, community, or ecosystem; closely related to intensity, because more intense disturbances generally are more severe
Residuals	Organisms or propagules that survive a disturbance event; also referred to as biotic legacies. Residuals are measure of severity, and thus (at least within one disturbance) an index of intensity

Landscape Disturbance Dynamics LANDSCAPEinherently scale dependent (Allen and Starr 1982; Pickett et al. 1989; Turner et al.ECOLOGY IN1993; Wu and Loucks 1995; White and Jentsch 2001). A particular disturbance
may be a disruptive force at fine scales but a stabilizing force at broad scales,
where average values over large areas may show minimal change. Thus, as with
seemingly all aspects of landscape ecology, one must be cognizant of the scales of
the phenomena under consideration.

Comparisons among different disturbances and ecosystems are challenging because so many features, such as the assemblage of species and nature of the disturbance, vary so widely. Developing generality in disturbance ecology requires finding patterns amidst such diversity (White and Jentsch 2001). To support such comparisons, Peters et al. (2011) proposed a new conceptual framework that disaggregates a disturbance event into three measurable components: (1) environmental drivers and their associated characteristics, which interact with (2) initial properties and spatial structure of a given ecological system to determine (3) physical and biological mechanisms that result in a change in system properties (Fig. 6.3). This framework augments a tradition of disturbance research in ecology by focusing explicitly on underpinning mechanisms, disturbance legacies, and influences on future system state (Fig. 6.4, Peters et al. 2011). This disaggregated approach is valuable for land-scape studies because it facilitates a more explicit consideration of the multiple contingencies (see Chap. 2) that cause landscapes to respond in different ways.



FIGURE 6.3.

Disaggregated view of disturbance. The disturbance event consists of environmental drivers, initial system properties, and physical and biological mechanisms of effect. These result in a disturbed state with legacies that interact with subsequent drivers to influence system response.

Adapted from Peters et al. (2011)

180

Landscape

Disturbance

Dynamics

Components of a Disturbance E	vent
-------------------------------	------

Drivers	Mechanisms	Initial system
Drivers Climatic and atmospheric Wind Precipitation Temperature	Mechanisms Abrasion Combustion Biomass removal Harvesting Herbivory	nitial system properties Height Physiology Grazing tolerance Drought tolerance
Nitrogen deposition CO ₂ <i>Physical</i> Ocean and surface water movement Tectonic activity <i>Biotic</i> Invasive species Pests, pathogens <i>Anthropogenic</i> People, economics, culture	Defoliation Soil compaction Erosion/deposition Water logging Resource change	Biomass Flammability Density Patch size, spatial arrangement Soil properties Topography Phenological state

b

Driver	Disturbance Mechanism								
	Abra	Comb	Harv	Herb	Defo	Comp	Ero/Dep	Water logging	Resource change
Wind	X	X			X		X		X
PPT		X					X	X	X
Temp		X		X	X				
N-dep				X	X				X
CO ₂									X
Physical						X	X	X	X
Biota				X	X				X
People	X	X		X	X	X	X	X	X

Abra: abrasion Comb: combustion Harv: harvest Herb: herbivory Defo: defoliation Ero/Dep: erosion/deposition Comp: compaction PPT: precipitation Temp: temperature N-dep: nitrogen deposition

FIGURE 6.4.

Components of a disturbance event (a) and the mechanisms that underpin the effects of different disturbance drivers (b).

Adapted from Peters et al. (2011)

a

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

CV EFFECT OF LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY ON DISTURBANCE

Landscape pattern can influence disturbance dynamics in two general ways. First, the position of different locations in a landscape can affect susceptibility to a particular disturbance. Second, the configuration of habitats that are and are not susceptible to a particular disturbance can affect how the disturbance spreads through the landscape. We discuss both modes of influence, then consider the emerging area of landscape epidemiology, which bridges these modes and focuses on the role of landscape pattern for disease.

Landscape Position and Vulnerability to Disturbance

Are various spatial locations in the landscape differentially susceptible to disturbance? If so, can we predict which areas are more or less susceptible to particular types of disturbance? *Landscape position* typically refers to the topographic position of a site or group of sites, including relative elevation, landform, slope, and aspect (see Chap. 2). Susceptibility to disturbance at particular landscape positions can be evaluated by comparing the probability or frequency of occurrence of a particular disturbance at many places in a landscape. A variety of field studies have addressed these questions in different types of ecosystem.

Runkle (1985) studied the disturbance regime in cove forests of the Southern Appalachian Mountains and found it was determined by regional and local topographic position. Cove forests occur in sheltered areas at middle elevations and are dominated by mesophytic species (e.g., sugar maple, Acer saccharum; yellow buckeye, Aesculus sylvatica; yellow birch, Betula lutea; American beech, Fagus grandifolia; white basswood, *Tilia heterophylla*; and eastern hemlock, *Tsuga canadensis*). Wind-related disturbances were dominated by small disturbance events, resulting in the deaths of one or a few canopy trees (a forest gap) at any given location. Interestingly, the rate of repeat disturbance was high. Having initially sampled vegetation in 273 gaps, Runkle revisited these gaps 6-7 years later. New gaps often were forming close to the old gaps such that the changed environmental conditions (e.g., greater sunlight) were maintained, and the process of gap closure was slowed. Thus, landscape position influenced the disturbance regime, and new gap disturbances were more likely to occur in the vicinity of old gaps. Among forest types in the southern Appalachians, cove forests are also those most influenced by human land-use change (Turner et al. 2003a), indicating another interesting influence of landscape position on gap dynamics.

Subsequent research on disturbance in the Appalachian Mountains considered the interaction between landscape position and fire. Using mapped perimeters of fires that burned between 1930 and 2003 in two national parks (Great Smoky Mountains and Shenandoah), Flately et al. (2011) found that effects of topography on fire varied with climate. Fire was more frequent on dry south-facing aspects, on ridges and at lower elevations. However, this influence of landscape position on fire was weaker during dry years and in Shenandoah, the drier of the two parks. This study illustrates how broad-scale spatial variation in climate, which imposes regional-scale pattern on fire occurrence, can influence the fine-scale interactions of landscape position and fire. Such hierarchical interactions among drivers have long been recognized in disturbance ecology, but interest has resurged in the context of cross-scale interactions driving regional dynamics (discussed below).

Studies in old-growth forests of New England also demonstrated that disturbance acts selectively within a landscape, and sites can be arranged along exposure gradients. Foster (1988a, b) examined a natural disturbance regime characterized by frequent, local events, such as windstorms, pathogens, and lightning strikes, and occasional broad-scale damage by hurricanes and winds. Slope position and aspect controlled the susceptibility of a site to disturbance. For example, hurricane winds that affect the region typically come from the southwest and move eastward, and site susceptibility to hurricane damage was controlled by the degree of exposure to those winds (Fig. 6.5). Following a major hurricane in 1938, exposed southeastern slopes and northwest lakeshores had the greatest damage, and exposed hilltops were also strongly affected. Further work combined analysis of remotely sensed, historical and field data with a meteorological model and a topographic exposure model (Foster and Boose 1992; Boose et al. 1994). Results of these integrated studies demonstrated that forest damage due to hurricanes resulted from characteristics of the storm (e.g., wind directions and maximum gusts), exposure, and the height and composition of the vegetation.

FIGURE 6.5.

Tracks of six severe hurricanes that caused significant forest damage in New England. Adapted from Boose et al. (1994)



Landscape Disturbance Dynamics

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

Disturbance effects related to exposure have now been reported for many different landscapes. Levels of hurricane damage in Hawaii varied substantially along an elevational gradient (Harrington et al. 1997), and forest stands of similar composition in Minnesota suffered different amounts of windstorm damage based on their location (Dyer and Baird 1997). In coastal temperate rainforest in complex terrain on Kuiu Island, Alaska, long-term spatial patterns of windthrow (Fig. 6.6) were predictable based on slope, elevation, soil stability, and exposure to prevailing winds (Kramer et al. 2001). Twenty percent of the forests of Kuiu Island were affected by catastrophic windthrow (rather than by small gap disturbances), largely concentrated along ridges and valleys that run parallel to prevailing storm winds (Kramer et al. 2001). And in southwest Tasmania, Australia, fires were most likely to burn on flats, ridges, and steep north-facing slopes, and least likely to burn in valleys and on steep south-facing slopes (Wood et al. 2011). Landscape positions that were protected from fire (i.e., topographic fire refugia) were the locations preferentially occupied by rainforest.

FIGURE 6.6.

Spatial pattern of windthrow on Kuiu Island, Alaska, along with nonforest area and timber harvest. Patterns were used to determine how slope, elevation, soil, and exposure controlled vulnerability of forests to windthrow. FROM KRAMER ET AL. (2001);

REPRODUCED WITH PERMISSION



In landscapes subject to fire, landscape position may affect probability of ignition (e.g., Burgan and Hartford 1988; Chou et al. 1993.) In Glacier National Park, Montana (USA), lightning ignitions are greatest on ridgelines and south-facing slopes (Habeck and Mutch 1973). Human influences in the landscape may also affect vulnerability to fire. In the upper midwestern US, Cardille et al. (2001) investigated the relationship between wildfire origin locations and environmental and social factors for >18,000 fires between 1985 and 1995. Fires were more likely to occur in areas of higher human population density and road density. Fire occurrence was also related to size and nearness to roads in boreal forests of Alaska, USA (Calef et al. 2008), but with an interesting twist. Probability of fire was greater near roads because ignitions increased, but fire size was lower within 30–40 km of villages and roads because of fire suppression. Such effects can be surprisingly wide-spread; Calef et al. (2008) suggested that these human influences on fire pattern affected 31 % of interior Alaska!

Proximity to habitat edges is another way in which landscape position can influence vulnerability to disturbance. In tropical forests of Australasia and Amazonia, Laurance and Curran (2008) observed that fragmented forests were especially vulnerable to wind disturbance along the forest edges. Small forest fragments, with their high perimeter-to-area ratios, were more susceptible, although edge orientation relative to prevailing winds was also important. Land-water margins, another kind of edge, may also influence susceptibility to disturbance. Following a 1998 ice storm in the Adirondack Mountains of north-central New York (USA), Millward et al. (2010) studied damage to forests at the terrestrial-aquatic interface. Ice-storm effects depend on the amount and duration of ice accumulation, wind, and characteristics of the trees and stand. Using field observations and vegetation indices from satellite imagery, Millward et al. (2010) found that forests in riparian zones along large streams (fourth and fifth order) or within 25 m of lake shorelines had significantly more ice-storm damage than did interior forest positions. Furthermore, canopy disturbance declined (by as much as 3.5 times) with movement inland from the land-water margin (Millward et al. 2010). An interesting implication of these findings was that landscape position affected the inputs of wood from the terrestrial to aquatic ecosystem because it influenced susceptibility to ice-storm damage.

Although landscape position effects on disturbance have been reported for many landscapes, there are exceptions; some studies report a weak influence of exposure or find no evidence of significant effects of landscape position on disturbance. In Upper Michigan (USA), Frelich and Lorimer (1991) studied three tracts of oldgrowth forest in which the disturbance regime included effects of fire, wind, drought, insects, disease, ice storms, and lightning strikes. They tested for differences in the disturbance regime between: upland and lowland sites; aspect classes; slope classes; and the hemlock zone along Lake Superior and the interior forests dominated by sugar maple. Extensive field sampling was conducted, but no signifiLandscape Disturbance Dynamics

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

cant effects of these factors were observed. The upper Midwest has relatively little topographic relief, and Frelich and Lorimer (1991) suggested that the lack of topographical influence on the disturbance regime in this landscape may reflect the types of windstorms that occur in the Upper Great Lakes Region as compared to those that occur in the Eastern United States. The windstorms that do the greatest damage in the Upper Great Lakes have strong downward components, compared to the horizontal winds of hurricanes; even the Southern Appalachians, where Runkle conducted his work, are influenced by hurricanes, albeit infrequently. In coastal forests in southern Mississippi (USA) where topographic relief is also minimal, stand age rather than landscape position was the best predictor of forest damage following Hurricane Katrina, which made landfall on the central Gulf Coast in 2005 (Kupfer et al. 2008). Uplands in the region are broad and gently sloping, and in that setting, aspect was of modest importance and only in older stands (Kupfer et al. 2008). Studies of the spatial pattern of tornadoes have also demonstrated an absence of physiographic control (Peterson and Pickett 1995). Downbursts (strong downdrafts of air from a thunderstorm or large cumulus cloud that generate an outflow of wind that travels away from the point where it hits the ground) and tornadoes can hit any position in the landscape, resulting in little differentiation among topographic positions.

The extensive 1988 fires in Yellowstone National Park provide another example in which topographic position exerted little influence on susceptibility to disturbance. Topography can influence fire spread, as flames burn more readily uphill than downhill because of the tendency for hot air to move upward. Therefore, leeward slopes often burn with less intensity than windward slopes (Heinselman 1996). However, the burning conditions that occurred in Yellowstone during 1988 were so extreme that slope position, fuel, and even natural firebreaks (e.g., streams, rivers, and even the Grand Canyon of the Yellowstone River) did not impede the fire. Landscape position had little influence on susceptibility to fire because the extreme drought and wind that occurred in Yellowstone during the summer of 1988 overrode fine-scale variation in fuel burning conditions (Turner and Romme 1994).

Synthesis

Can general conclusions be drawn regarding how landscape position influences disturbance? Landscape position influences susceptibility to disturbance when the disturbance itself has a distinct directionality (e.g., hurricane tracks or prevailing winds) such that some locations are usually more exposed than others. In addition, landscape position may influence susceptibility if the disturbance is of moderate intensity, such that its severity is influenced by subtle differences in the landscape. However, if the disturbance itself has no spatial directionality (e.g., downbursts), or it is so intense that its severity is unaffected by differences in the landscape (e.g., high-intensity crown fire), then landscape position does not influence susceptibility to the disturbance. Understanding effects of landscape heterogeneity on the spread of disturbance was identified by Risser et al. (1984) as a fundamental question in landscape ecology, and this was the theme of the first US landscape ecology symposium, held in 1986 (Turner 1987b). Risser et al. (1984) noted that spatial homogeneity often enhances the spread of a disturbance; consider the spread of pests through agroecosystems, the perpetuation of wildfire or epidemics such as Dutch elm disease. They also noted that other disturbances may be enhanced by landscape heterogeneity; for example, fragmented forests harbor larger populations of deer that disturb surrounding crops or overbrowse native forest species. Landscape heterogeneity also enhances recovery rates by providing refuges for organisms that recolonize disturbed areas. Many studies suggest an interaction between landscape heterogeneity and the spread of disturbance, whether it enhances or retards spread differs among disturbance types (Turner and Bratton 1987; Castello et al. 1995). We'll consider several examples that illustrate aspects of this important interaction.

THEORETICAL DEVELOPMENT

An influential conceptual study by Franklin and Forman (1987) examined the probability of disturbance, e.g., wildfire, windthrow, and pests, as a function of spatial patterns imposed on a forested landscape by clearcutting. Franklin and Forman (1987) explored consequences along a gradient of forest conditions from "primeval" to a completely clearcut landscape. They used simple geometric models (Fig. 6.7) to evaluate how patch size, number of patches, and lengths of edge changed under different cutting patterns; temporal dynamics (e.g., succession) were not considered. Next, implications of these alternative arrangements of forest and cutover lands for disturbances were evaluated. Windthrow susceptibility was assumed to increase with the amount of edge, the isolation of forest in small patches, and with increasing wind fetch. Results of the model demonstrated that windthrow potential would increase initially with forest cutting and continue to increase as forest patches became isolated on all sides (Fig. 6.8a). Wind fetches progressively increased with cutting; after 80 % of the original forest was cleared, windthrow risk to all remaining patches peaked. Susceptibility to both fire ignition and spread, along with risk of particular pest and pathogen outbreaks, were also considered (Fig. 6.8b, c). These simple and insightful models suggested a striking influence of landscape heterogeneity on disturbances, although specific effects varied by disturbance type.

Another conceptual framework for studying effects of landscape heterogeneity on disturbance was developed by Turner et al. (1989a) based on the neutral landscape model approach (see Chap. 3). The landscape was represented as a grid of 10,000 cells containing habitat that either was or was not susceptible to a 187

Disturbance

Dynamics



FIGURE 6.7.

Patterns of clearcutting developed under various models by Franklin and Forman (1987). In (a-c), a dispersed cut pattern is used in which the amount of cutover area (*black*) varies but there is a regular distribution across the landscape. In (d-f), the cutover area is 50 % but it is arranged as a single nucleus, four-nucleus, or progressive parallel cutting system.

(e)

 (\mathbf{f})

Adapted from Franklin and Forman (1987)

(d)

given disturbance. Susceptible habitat was distributed at random and occupied different proportions, p, of the landscape ranging from 0.1 to 0.9. Disturbance was then simulated by two simple parameters: f, the probability of initiation of a new disturbance in a susceptible site, and i, the probability that the disturbance, once initiated, would spread to adjacent sites of the same habitat. Numerous simulations were conducted in which p, i, and f were varied, and the disturbance was allowed to progress until it was extinguished or could not spread any further. Final disturbance extent and landscape patterns were then analyzed. Simulation results demonstrated a qualitative shift in the influence of the landscape on disturbance spread with changes in p (Fig. 6.9). When p for susceptible habitat was less than the critical threshold of connectivity, the percent of available habitat that was disturbed was affected most by f, the probability of new disturbances being initiated, and i had little effect. That is, the fragmentation of susceptible habitat into

FIGURE 6.8.

Predicted susceptibility of forests in the Douglas-fir region to various types of disturbance as a function of the percent of the landscape that is clear cut, as shown by the checkerboard model (see Fig. 6.7b). (a) Potential for windthrow in residual forest patches. (b) Potential for wildfire ignition and spread. (c) Susceptibility to insect and fungus pests.

Adapted from Franklin and Forman (1987)



LANDSCAPE FIGURE 6.9. (**a**) p= 0.4 Simulated percent 100 ECOLOGY IN of susceptible habitat Probability of Spread (i) THEORY AND 80 disturbed as a function low PRACTICE of the *f*, the probability moderate 60 📃 high of disturbance initiation, and *i*, the probability of 40 the disturbance spreading Percent habitat disturbed 20 to adjacent susceptible sites. (a) Initial proportion, p, of the Moderate Low landscape occupied by (**b**) p=0.8susceptible habitat is 0.4, 100 below the threshold of connectivity. (b) Initial 80 proportion, p, of the landscape occupied by 60 susceptible habitat is 0.8, 40 above the threshold of connectivity. 20 ADAPTED FROM TURNER ET AL. (1989A) Low Moderate

Disturbance frequency (f)

High

High

small, isolated patches prevented disturbance spread across the landscape; the only means for affecting a large proportion of the habitat was to initiate disturbance in many patches. In contrast, once *p* for susceptible habitat was greater than the critical threshold of connectivity, the probability of spread, *i*, controlled the percent of habitat that was disturbed. Under these landscape conditions, susceptible habitat formed large, continuous patches, and even a single disturbance could potentially spread across the entire landscape.

Several additional theoretical frameworks consider the role of spatial pattern in disturbance spread. Under the umbrella of cross-scale interactions, Peters et al. (2004b) proposed a conceptual framework for understanding when a series of interactions and feedbacks among fine- and broad-scale processes lead to unexpected "catastrophic" events. This framework emphasizes conditions under which fine-scale processes propagate nonlinearly to have broad-scale impacts, as well as when broad-scale drivers simply overwhelm fine-scale processes. The model links the initiation of



FIGURE 6.10.

Conceptual framework proposed by Peters et al. (2004b) illustrating a series of spatial nonlinearities and thresholds that may lead to "surprises," or unexpected and even catastrophic events. Event initiation (T1) represents the initiation of a disturbance event, which is often stochastic because occurrence, timing and location are difficult to predict. Within-patch expansion of the disturbance (T2) depends is contingent on the state of the system and external drivers. Spatial spread of the disturbance (T3) is influenced by landscape composition and configuration, and by external drivers

a disturbance event, its within-patch expansion, and its spatial spread among patches (Fig. 6.10). The rate of disturbance spread depends on spatial configuration, connectivity, and flows within and among landscape elements.

The cross-scale interactions framework was used to evaluate dieback of piñon pine (*Pinus edulis*) in northern New Mexico, USA, in part because the dieback could not be attributed to a single cause (Allen 2007). Feedbacks between pattern and process were identified within three different spatial scale domains and included numerous nonlinear, synergistic interactions. Cross-scale interactions were also invoked by Raffa et al. (2008) to explain the series of thresholds that must be surpassed, at multiple scales, for populations of native bark beetles to transition from the endemic to outbreak phase. Another theoretical framework for disturbance that incorporates spatial heterogeneity focuses on self-organized patchiness and catastrophic shifts in ecosystems (e.g., Rietkerk et al. 2004). Regional disturbance regimes play a part in broader considerations of regime shifts, as they may be sensitive indicators of tipping elements (sensu Lenton et al. 2008) that exhibit threshold-like behavior. *Tipping elements* refer to subsystems that can be switched into different states by small perturbations (Lenton et al. 2008). The *tipping point* is the corresponding critical point—in

LANDSCAPEa forcing driver—beyond which the system is altered. As emphasized in hierarchy
theory (Allen and Starr 1982; O'Neill et al. 1986) and neutral landscape models
(Turner et al. 1989a), these theoretical disturbance frameworks emphasize scale,
threshold phenomena, and nonlinear dynamics as key determinants of landscape
dynamics. Further, the theoretical frameworks underscore the importance of spatial
heterogeneity for understanding the rates and patterns of disturbance.

EMPIRICAL STUDIES

Many studies have focused on the spatial spread of natural disturbances, with pest or pathogen dynamics and fire receiving most attention. There is a rich and varied literature on the subject, and examples discussed here are illustrative and by no means comprehensive.

Insect outbreaks. Landscape heterogeneity due to forest fragmentation enhanced outbreaks of the forest tent caterpillar (Malacosoma disstria) in northern Ontario, Canada (Roland 1993). Outbreaks in boreal mixedwood forests were of longer duration in areas that had higher landscape heterogeneity resulting from forest clearing and fragmentation. This caterpillar exhibits cyclic population outbreaks and declines with a period of about 10 years, and outbreaks occur in forests that have at least some aspen (Populus tremuloides). Following an outbreak, the decline from peak density is associated with high mortality caused by a virus and a parasitic fly. However, the duration of the high-density outbreak phase can vary between 2 and 9 years among regions. Using aerial survey data on the spatial extent of three complete caterpillar outbreak cycles over an area of 26,623 km², Roland (1993) calculated mean outbreak duration in 261 townships in eight forest districts and compared this to measures of forest and landscape structure. Results demonstrated a strong effect of forest fragmentation as measured by edge density (km forest edge per km²). Within townships, each 1 km/km² increase in edge density increased duration of the outbreak by 0.92 years. Outbreaks in townships with continuous forest cover lasted only 1-2 years, whereas townships with 2.0-2.5 km/km² of edge lasted 4-6 years (Fig. 6.11). Among districts also, the outbreaks were longer in those districts that had high average fragmentation (Fig. 6.11). At both levels, the amount or proportion of

REDRAWN FROM ROLAND (1993)

FIGURE 6.11.

⁽a) Areas of Ontario, Canada in which duration of forest tent caterpillar outbreaks were related to forest and landscape structure. (b) Example from one township
(MacPherson Township, North Bay District) showing the distribution of forest (green) and nonforested (*white*) land. (c) Mean duration of forest tent caterpillar outbreak for 261 townships as a function of edge density for all townships. (d) Effect of mean habitat heterogeneity on outbreak duration within the eight forest districts.



Landscape

Disturbance

Dynamics

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

aspen was not significant. Roland (1993) suggested several explanations for these results. Broad-scale fragmentation of the forest may affect the interaction between the natural predators on the caterpillar, in that dispersal of the pathogens may be limited by forest fragmentation. In addition, many species of Lepidoptera lay more eggs along the edges of host-plant patches than within the interior, so the forest tent caterpillar abundances may also be greater initially along the forest edges. Warmer microclimatic conditions along the patch edges may also lead to more rapid development of the insect.

In contrast, reconstructions of regional outbreaks of western spruce budworm (Choristoneura occidentalis) in the western USA during the past three centuries suggested that landscape heterogeneity decreases the spread of this pest. Swetnam and Lynch (1993) found that the twentieth century had the longest intervals of reduced budworm activity, and an outbreak that occurred through the 1970s and 1980s was unusually severe. Also, budworm infestations and epidemic periods appeared to be most synchronous during the twentieth century, meaning that they were likely to occur simultaneously in many different geographic locations. Budworm infestations develop and spread under conditions of high tree density and connectivity among forest stands, and this was pointed out by interesting variation in the chronologies. For example, a widespread outbreak that occurred during the 1900s-1920s was missing from the Colorado Front Range and the Sangre de Cristo Mountains. Swetnam and Lynch (1993) attributed this absence to the rapid changes that had occurred in the Southern Rocky Mountain mixed conifer forests during this period. Extensive logging and previous fires had reduced conifer densities substantially, and the resulting landscape heterogeneity, in which forests were sparser and less connected, retarded spread of the budworm. Subsequent fire suppression, reduced sheep grazing, and favorable climatic conditions allowed host-tree seedlings to become established, setting the stage for a dramatic future increase in tree density and forest connectivity. During the first part of the century (including the period of the widespread outbreak), these developing forests were less susceptible to budworm outbreaks because they contained few mature trees, and the open stand structure limited dispersal of the budworm. By the 1940s, however, these mixed conifer forests had greater canopy closure, the mature host trees became an important component of stand composition, and the forests were more spatially continuous across the landscape than they had been in presettlement times. Budworm outbreaks subsequently became more widespread and more severe than in earlier periods. Thus, decreased landscape heterogeneity, induced by human activities, resulted in increased spread and synchrony of spruce budworm outbreaks. Regional patterns of budworm outbreak, observed as synchrony among widely dispersed stands, were related to climate control on budworm dynamics—primarily through spring rainfall. However, differences in local patterns resulted especially from land-use history in which stand density, stand

age, and landscape pattern could override effects of the broad-scale climatic influences (Swetnam and Lynch 1993). Disturbance

Landscape heterogeneity also plays a role in bark beetle outbreaks in forest landscapes. During the first decade of the twenty-first century, the frequency, extent, and severity of outbreaks of native bark beetles (Dendroctonae) in western North America have exceeded those documented over the past 125 years (Fig. 6.12). Nearly every coniferous forest type was affected between 1997 and 2010 (Raffa et al. 2008; Meddens et al. 2012). Eruptions of individual species have been larger than previously reported, and temporal synchrony among species appears to be greater. A complex set of controls and feedbacks operate across multiple scales to control bark beetle population dynamics, and numerous thresholds must be exceeded for an outbreak to develop. Included among these is the landscape pattern of forest stands vulnerable to beetle attack. Abundant and well-connected stands of trees that are homogenous in species, age, and genetic structure can enhance the expansion of an outbreak, whereas more heterogeneous forest patterns can impede spread (Raffa et al. 2008). In western Canada, management practices resulted in forests in which nearly 70 % of the lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta) was >80 years old and in size classes vulnerable to mountain pine beetle (Dendroctonus *ponderosae*). This host abundance was three times the amount of susceptible pine observed in the previous century (Taylor and Carroll 2004). Along with environmental conditions (e.g., warmer climate increasing overwinter beetle survival and shortening the life cycle) that have become more favorable to bark beetles, the structure and connectivity of the forests increased the likelihood of beetle outbreaks spreading across the landscape.

Fire. The role of landscape heterogeneity in controlling fire spread has been explored in a variety of systems. In some coniferous forests, landscape heterogeneity in forest age classes can affect fire spread (e.g., Givnish 1981; Foster 1983; Foster and King 1986). If flammability is related to stand age (e.g., by affecting fuels), the spatial distribution of old and young stands may enhance or constrain fire spread. In California, fires in chaparral burned well in old stands, but diminished in patches of younger vegetation (Minnich 1983). There may be critical thresholds in environmental constraints that determine whether or not landscape heterogeneity will influence the spread of crown fire (Turner and Romme 1994; Renkin and Despain 1992). Landscape pattern may have little influence on crown-fire behavior when burning conditions are extreme (Turner and Romme 1994; Fig. 6.13). Under conditions of extreme drought and high winds, all fuels across the landscape become highly susceptible to burning and may render the occurrence of large stand-replacing fires inevitable (Fryer and Johnson 1988; Johnson 1992; Bessie and Johnson 1995).

For fire, the degree to which landscape factors affect fire spread or severity depends on the relative importance of *top-down* versus *bottom-up* factors (Littell et al. 2009). Top-down forces include the strong influence of regional climate and

Dynamics



FIGURE 6.12.

Major bark beetle outbreaks in the western United States and British Columbia, Canada between 2001 and 2010. Light shading depicts all forested areas. Reprinted with PERMISSION FROM MEDDENS ET AL. (2012)


FIGURE 6.13.

Interaction between hypothesized thresholds in both meteorological conditions and landscape pattern that interact to produce large crown fires. (a) If fuel moisture is high, lightning strikes (*stars*) are unlikely to initiate a fire, even if the strike occurs in highly flammable forest (*dark green*). Landscape pattern does not control fire spread. (b) If fuel moisture is low, but burning conditions are not extreme, then crown fires (*black*) are likely to be constrained by the spatial distribution of highly flammable patches in the landscape. (c) If fuel moisture is extremely low and there are strong winds, crown fires (*black*) are likely to burn through a variety of fuel types. Under these conditions, the patterning of more flammable stands does not constrain fire spread.

Adapted from Turner and Romme (1994)

regional geomorphology, which affect large areas and influence fire frequency, size, and severity. Bottom-up forces include local factors, such as stand and landscape structure and topography, which are more spatially variable. In general, bottom-up factors relate to the amount and connectivity of fuel in the landscape. Evaluating top-down and bottom-up controls on fire regimes has received much recent attention (e.g., Heyerdahl et al. 2001; Mermoz et al. 2005; Meyn et al. 2007; Morgan et al. 2008; Parisien et al. 2011; Parks et al. 2012). All fire regimes are influenced by both, but regimes characterized historically by infrequent, high-severity fire typically have strong top-down forcing and may show little influence of bottom-up factors (e.g., the 1988 Yellowstone Fires; Turner et al. 1994b). In contrast, regimes characterized by frequent, low-severity fire typically have strong bottom-up forcing and are more responsive to landscape pattern. For example, drier low-elevation and mid-montane forests in western North America historically experienced frequent fires that maintained an open forest structure. Such fires are very responsive to local fuel availability, and antecedent weather conditions that produce lush herbaceous growth are often associated with big fires. For example, large fires at lower elevations in southeastern Arizona, USA, occurred when antecedent conditions remained

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE wet until just before the fire season (Crimmins and Comrie 2004). In forests adapted to a low-severity fire regime, changes in forest structure, such as increased tree den-ECOLOGY IN sity from fire-exclusion, can increase wildfire spread and severity (Schoennagel THEORY AND et al. 2004; Miller et al. 2009). Some landscapes are characterized by mixed-severity fire regimes that contain areas of both high- and low-severity fire and are governed by a delicate balance between top-down and bottom-up controls (Perry et al. 2011). Indeed, the importance of mixed-severity fire is being recognized in more and more landscapes. The degree to which fire-prone landscapes can be managed to achieve desired management goals remains a hot topic in landscape ecology and natural resource management (Stephens et al. 2013; Moritz et al. 2014).

> Synthesis. Given the wide range of studies on the subject, can we generalize about whether landscape heterogeneity does or does not enhance the spread of disturbance? The answer depends on whether the disturbance spreads *within* the same cover type, such as the spread of a species-specific parasite through a forest, or whether it crosses boundaries and spreads between different cover types (Turner et al. 1989a). If the disturbance spreads within the same cover type, then greater landscape heterogeneity should retard the spread of disturbance. This was observed in the spruce budworm and bark beetle examples (Swetnam and Lynch 1993; Raffa et al. 2008), and the spread of fires under moderate burning conditions (Turner and Romme 1994). If the disturbance spreads between cover types or is otherwise enhanced by edge effects, then increased landscape heterogeneity should enhance the spread of the disturbance. This was observed in the forest tent caterpillar (Roland 1993) and windthrow (Franklin and Forman 1987) examples. Other studies suggest circumstances in which landscape heterogeneity does not influence disturbance spread because the broad-scale abiotic controls override the local landscape controls; large infrequent crown fires (Turner and Romme 1994) and tornadoes (Peterson and Pickett 1995; Frelich and Lorimer 1991) provide examples. In sum, there are important controls at multiple scales, and the role of landscape heterogeneity in enhancing or retarding disturbance spread strongly depends on whether other thresholds have been exceeded (e.g., Peters et al. 2004a, b; Allen 2007; Raffa et al. 2008). Clearly, landscape heterogeneity and disturbance remains an active and vibrant area of landscape ecological research, both in theory development and empirical study.

LANDSCAPE EPIDEMIOLOGY

Landscape epidemiology is an emerging interdisciplinary related to disturbance spread. Epidemiology deals with the spread of a disease from individual to individual through a population and predicts outcomes, such as rate of spread and the proportion of the population affected by the disease. Spatial epidemiology is the study of spatial variation in disease risk or incidence, and while many studies focus on the spatial dynamics of disease, the role of landscape structure has only recently received study (Ostfeld et al. 2005). Landscape epidemiology aims to identify the factors that influence the spatial spread of diseases among subpopulations of human, animal, or plant hosts (Plantegenest et al. 2007; Reisen 2010; Meentemeyer et al. 2012). Because research in landscape epidemiology comes from studies on a wide range of host taxa, relevant studies are also found under other names (e.g., *landscape pathology*, which focuses on tree diseases, is the intersection of forest pathology and landscape ecology; Holdenrieder et al. 2004).

How might landscape heterogeneity affect disease? Landscape structure (and thus land-use change) may affect disease dynamics through influences on abiotic conditions (such as changing edge conditions or environmental gradients) and on species interactions that contribute to disease prevalence or spread (Ostfeld et al. 2005). Landscape structure becomes important for disease risk or incidence if it influences disease vectors, reservoirs, or pathogens.

Parallels between the spread of natural disturbances and diseases have been apparent for some time. For example, O'Neill et al. (1992) developed a model derived from epidemiology theory and applied it to the spread of disturbance in a landscape. Results demonstrated that the spatial pattern of susceptible sites, particularly as related to their connectivity, could determine the total extent of a single disturbance event. Spatial models of disease spread proved useful for understanding and predicting the spread of pests, pathogens, and disease (e.g., Hohn et al. 1993; Liebold et al. 1993; Castello et al. 1995; Nicholson and Mather 1996). Since then, a growing number of empirical studies have elucidated ways in which landscape heterogeneity affects disease incidence and spread. These studies seek to relate the spatial patterns of disease dynamics to attributes of the landscape, much as ecologists relate spatial patterns of natural disturbance to landscape structure. Studies in landscape epidemiology often consider both the influence of landscape position (i.e., related to host landscape pattern) on disease incidence and the influence of landscape structure (i.e., connectivity) on disease spread.

Landscape epidemiology studies have revealed effects of landscape structure on the incidence of many different pests and diseases, especially if pattern affects pathogen dispersal vectors. Landscape position is important for passive transport of pathogens by wind or water, and landscape elements may be barriers or conduits for spread. For example, windbreaks surrounding vegetable gardens in Provence, southeastern France, acted as barriers that slowed the dispersal of vectors of cucumber mosaic virus (Marrou et al. 1979). In contrast, road and creek corridors were conduits that increased the dispersal of spores of *Phytophthora lateralis*, a nonnative root pathogen that causes "root rot" in Port Orford cedar (*Chamaecyparis lawsoniana*) in the Pacific Northwest (USA) (Jules et al. 2002). Spores were unintentionally transported in mud on vehicles traveling the road network, from which they dispersed along the stream network. Because the spores disperse by gravity, landscape position also played a role: uninfected trees also were more vulnerable when located downslope of infected trees, rather than upslope.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

The recent dieback of oaks (Quercus spp.) known as sudden oak death (SOD) provides another example of landscape influence on disease. Oak trees have died along hundreds of kilometers of the California coast, and a non-native pathogen, *Phytophthora ramorum*, was identified as the cause. The pathogen causes rapid development of cankers that girdle the tree and cause its death. Analyses of the spatial pattern of oak mortality revealed that proximity to forest edge was most important, and this effect was explained by the abundance of understorey hosts in edge environment (Kelly and Meentemeyer 2002). Increased diversity of other host species that are less competent appears to dilute transmission of the disease by competent hosts; disease risk was lower in sites with higher species diversity (Haas et al. 2011). However, landscape connectivity also plays a role. Ellis et al. (2010a) tested the importance of connectivity relative to other environmental variables in determining the spatial distribution of SOD. Among several measures evaluated, a connectivity term calculated with effective distances (Euclidean distance modified to account for how landscape structure can influence spread) performed best. Environmental variables were relatively more important, but connectivity still mattered (Ellis et al. 2010a, b).

In agricultural landscapes, crop damage due to pests and pathogens may depend on composition and configuration of the surrounding landscape. For example, an increase in landscape complexity in 1.5-km diameter landscapes around canola fields was associated with decreased damage by the canola pollen beetle (*Meligethes aeneus*) and increased parasitism of the pest by parasitoids (Thies et al. 2003). Patterns in the surrounding landscape also influenced the abundance of *Delphacodes kuscheli*, an insect known to transmit Maize Rough Dwarf Virus to maize fields in Argentina (Grilli 2010). The composition, configuration, and stability of patches in the surrounding landscape can influence potential pathogen reservoirs and the abundance of alternative hosts, which can affect damage levels on a focal species.

Landscape patterns related to habitat fragmentation and edges also play a role in the epidemiology of human diseases. Globally, the trend of emerging infectious diseases appears to be associated with ecotones, especially edges that are created or modified by humans (Despommier et al. 2007). Among emerging diseases, Lyme disease has been studied most thoroughly, and landscape structure has emerged as a particularly strong driver. Lyme disease is the most frequently reported vector-borne disease in the United States and Europe (Killilea et al. 2008, and references therein). In North America, Lyme disease is caused by *Borrelia burgdorferi*, a spirochete bacterium, which is vectored by ticks of the genus *Ixodes*. Many birds and small mammals are potential reservoir hosts, but the dominant hosts are rodents (e.g., white-footed mice, *Peromyscus leucopus*). Humans become infected when bitten by a tick that was infected previously when feeding on an infected host (Killilea et al. 2008). Incidence of Lyme disease requires reservoir hosts, ticks, and humans to occur in close proximity, and thus the factors that influence tick presence and abundance, the mammalian and avian community, and the presence of humans may all influence disease prevalence.

Landscape patterns influence the prevalence of Lyme disease in the tick populations, with fragmented forest landscapes (i.e., many small forest fragments and a lot of forest-edge habitat) having higher entomological risk (Allan et al. 2003; Brownstein et al. 2005). Tick density and infection prevalence were both higher in forest fragments that were smaller and more isolated. The elevated level of tick infection was linked, in turn, to changes in composition of the vertebrate community. The vertebrate community becomes less diverse as forests become fragmented, with many species disappearing in small forest patches. The species-poor communities have abundant white-footed mice, which is the most competent host for the disease-causing bacterium (LoGiudice et al. 2003). As new host species are added to a depauperate community, the tick infection rate declines (LoGiudice et al. 2003) because the nonmouse hosts are much less competent. Thus, the higher species diversity in the community of hosts dilutes the effects of the white-footed mice. Surprisingly, while the patterns of the host reservoir and tick infection rates are linked clearly to landscape structure, the patterns of Lyme disease incidence in humans remain to be explained (Brownstein et al. 2005; Killilea et al. 2008). However, the strong influence of total forest and forest edge on tick infection rates suggests that landscape designs that reduce the amount of forest edge could help mitigate Lyme disease risk (Jackson et al. 2006).

A landscape connection has been suggested for the spillover of bat viruses to human populations, including the 2014 outbreak of Ebola in West Africa. Much like the example discussed above for the series of thresholds that must be passed for endemic bark beetle populations to irrupt, a hierarchy of conditions is required for people to become infected by viruses that originate in bats (Plowright et al. 2015). At the landscape level, land-use changes that increase interaction between species, leading to more contact between human and bat populations, are associated with increased likelihood of transmission to humans. In areas of central and northwest Bangladesh with recurring outbreaks of Nipah virus, which is transmitted by fruit bats (Pteropus giganteus, also called flying foxes), landscape composition and structure influences disease incidence (Hahn et al. 2014a). Villages in the "Nipah Belt" have forests that are more fragmented than forest surrounding other comparable villages that had no reported outbreaks of Nipah virus. Detailed studies of habitat selection of the fruit bats, along with characteristics of the villages and landscape, are helping to develop land management strategies that can protect fruit bats while minimizing risks to public health (Hahn et al. 2014a, b).

The conceptual framework of landscape ecology promises to complement understanding of disease emergence and spatial dynamics in ways that may help to reduce the incidence of troubling diseases (Plantegenest et al. 2007). A landscape perspective on disease management also can contribute to sustainable land-use patterns (Holdenrieder et al. 2004). Ongoing studies in landscape epidemiology will reveal which site factors and landscape patterns affect susceptibility to a wide range of diseases in plants, animals, and people.

202		

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

EFFECTS OF DISTURBANCE ON LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY

Studies of how disturbances respond to landscape patterns have produced a rich understanding of one side of the reciprocal pattern-process relationship. We now turn to the other side this relationship: the role of disturbances in generating landscape patterns.

The Disturbance-Generated Mosaic

When a disturbance occurs, it does not act uniformly throughout a landscape. Rather, disturbances create very complex patterns across the landscape in which the disturbance may affect some areas but not others, and severity of the disturbance often varies considerably within the affected area. When we talk about the *disturbance mosaic*, or the spatial pattern created by disturbance, we refer to the spatial distribution of disturbance severities across the landscape. For example, the 1988 fires in Yellowstone National Park created a complex pattern of burned and unburned areas across the landscape (Fig. 6.14), and the burned areas themselves



FIGURE 6.14.

The landscape mosaic created by the 1988 Yellowstone fires as observed from the air in October 1988, shortly after the fires had been naturally extinguished (Photo by M. G. TURNER) had widely variable severities within them (Christensen et al. 1989; Turner et al. 1994a). Even very large crown fires rarely consume an entire forest because variations in wind, topography, vegetation, and time of burning result in a mosaic of burn severities (effects of fire on the ecosystem) and islands of unburned vegetation across the landscape. Complex mosaic patterns of disturbance have been described in many systems, including even benthic communities in the Antarctic for which ice scouring is the key disturbance (Teixido et al. 2007).

Many studies have made excellent use of landscape metrics to describe disturbance-created landscape patterns. In such studies, the proportion of the landscape that is disturbed or in different disturbance-severity categories is determined, and landscape composition and configuration metrics are computed. For example, the number, size and shape complexity of forest patches were used to describe changes in forest fragmentation following a mountain pine beetle epidemic in British Columbia, Canada (Coops et al. 2010). Understanding disturbance-driven changes in variability per se also can be insightful (Fraterrigo and Rusak 2008). Variability can be quantified using either absolute measures (e.g., standard deviation), which tend to increase with the mean; or relative measures (e.g., coefficient of variation), which are normalized and more comparable among different properties. Measures of variability can be highly sensitive and independent of the mean, thereby capturing effects that may be obscured by averaging. For example, spatial variability in forest stand structure (measured by the coefficient of variation in stand density among stands of similar age) increased following fire in the Yellowstone landscape, then slowly declined for the next 175-200 years (Kashian et al. 2005b). In contrast, variability in a range of physical, chemical, and biological properties (also measured by the coefficient of variation) decreased with flooding in a river-floodplain landscape (Thomaz et al. 2007). Thus, disturbances can both amplify and dampen variability, and not surprisingly, effects of disturbance on variability can differ with scale (Fraterrigo and Rusak 2008). Increased variability has been suggested as a leading indicator of qualitative changes arising from disturbance (e.g., van Nes and Scheffer 2005; Brock and Carpenter 2006). Quantifying and tracking changes in disturbance-induced variability through time may lead to new ecological insights about pattern-process dynamics as well as improved methods for anticipating big changes.

Considerable interest in large, infrequent disturbances (Turner et al. 1997a; Turner and Dale 1998) emerged following a number of natural disturbances that received considerable attention from the ecological research community and the general public (e.g., the eruption of Mount St. Helens in 1980, the 1988 Yellowstone fires, the 1993 floods in the Midwestern US, and Hurricanes Hugo in 1989 and Andrew in 1992). Foster et al. (1998) compared landscape patterns produced by different large, infrequent forest disturbances (Fig. 6.15). Here, we draw upon the synthesis by Foster et al. (1998) and more recent empirical studies to illustrate the variety of landscape patterns generated by wind, floods, and fires.

Landscape

Disturbance

Dynamics

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE



FIGURE 6.15.

Landscape and regional-scale patterns of forest disturbance resulting from five contrasting large infrequent disturbances: the 1938 hurricane in New England, the Yellowstone fires of 1988, the eruption of Mount St. Helens in 1980, the tornado at the Tionesta Scenic Area in Pennsylvania, and floods in the Mississippi River in 1993. The areas of greatest disturbance are shown in *black*. Lesser disturbance severity is shown in gray.

FROM FOSTER ET AL. (1998)

Hurricanes produce a patchwork of forest age and height structure, uproot mounds and downed boles, standing broken snags, and leaning and damaged trees (Fig. 6.15; Foster 1988a; Foster et al. 1998). Severe windstorms, such as the extensive windstorm that affected 150,000 ha in the Boundary Waters Canoe Area (BWCA) in northern Minnesota, USA, in 1999 have similar effects (Lain et al. 2008). In addition, increased accumulations of fine woody debris and leaves may increase the likelihood of fire occurring in the same area (Patterson and Foster 1990; Paine et al. 1998; Woodall and Nagel 2007). In contrast to hurricanes, tornadoes are relatively small and short-lived, although they are violent and unpredictable. A grouping of tornadoes that affected Pennsylvania, Ohio, New York and Ontario in 1985 illustrates the landscape pattern of severe tornadoes (Peterson and Pickett 1995). Tracks of the tornadoes were oriented eastward and northeastward, resulting in more than 800 km of tornado damage. Path widths averaged 500 m and ranged from <200 to >2750 m. The damage patterns of tornadoes are remarkable for the sharpness of the edges between intact forest and completely windthrown areas (Peterson and Pickett 1995). Hurricanes, blowdowns, and tornadoes are extremes in the gradient of size and severity of wind damage; however, all storm types have a gradient of intensities and severities and vary in the spatial extent of damage (Foster et al. 1998).

Seasonal flooding is a natural process in many river systems, and the suppression of floods is actually a major disturbance to most river–floodplain ecosystems. However, exceptional floods may create extensive and heterogeneous disturbance patterns in the riverine landscape. A case study of extreme flooding in the Sabie River, Kruger National Park (South Africa) provides an example (Parsons et al. 2005). High-resolution aerial photographs were used to quantify patch mosaics in different geomorphological channel types before and after flooding, and to determine whether flooding changed the extent of patches, generated new patch types, removed existing patch type, or altered patch shape or aggregation. The flood left a heterogeneous imprint of biotic and abiotic patches in the river landscape, and the effects on the mosaic different among channel types (Fig. 6.16; Parsons et al. 2005). In turn, these patterns influenced the riparian vegetation response. In large river–floodplain landscapes, flood duration varies spatially across the floodplain with land elevation and is a critical influence on survival of biotic populations (Sparks et al. 1998).

Many studies have quantified spatial patterns of fire throughout the world, and interest in understanding fire patterns has grown as the annual area burned continues to increase. An excellent synthesis of patterns and scales of heterogeneity created by large fires in US landscapes is provided by Keane et al. (2008). Large fires usually occur during moderate to extreme drought, often with high winds (i.e., strong top-down forcing). In northern and montane forest landscapes, large infrequent fires account for <3 % of all fires but more than 95 % of the land area burned (Johnson 1992). Large fires create a mosaic of patches that vary in size, shape, and severity, as illustrated by 1988 Yellowstone fires (Christensen et al. 1989; Turner et al. 1994a). Large fires may contain more high-severity fire within their perimeter as compared to small fires, but the extent of high-severity fire is often less than people expect. For example, consider burn severity and patch metrics for 25 small (<3000 ha) and 11 large (>10,000 ha) fires in the northern Rocky Mountains (Keane et al. 2008). There were few statistically significant differences in proportions of burned area for small and large fires, and even the large fires averaged only 25 % of the area in high-severity fire. However, spatial patterns differed (Keane et al. 2008).

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE



FIGURE 6.16.

Pre- (a) and post-flood (b) views of the Sabie River landscape. The riparian forest can colonize substrate across the entire width of the channel, as shown in the upper pre-flood photo.

FROM PARSONS ET AL. (2005)

In large fires, patches were fewer and larger, had less edge, and were more regular in shape than in small fires (Table 6.2). Landscapes of mixed-severity regimes have a wider range of spatial and temporal variability in the disturbance mosaic, but they typically include many small and few large high-severity patches (Perry et al. 2011). The complexity of the burn mosaic means that even areas of high-severity fire may

TABLE 6.2.

Selected landscape metrics describing the postfire landscape mosaic of burn severities for 25 small (<3300 ha) and 11 large (>10,000 ha) fires in the northern Rocky Mountains.

Attribute	Small fires	Large fires	P value			
Proportion (p) of fire by burn-severity class						
Unburned	0.21	0.15	0.105			
Low	0.25	0.21	0.273			
Moderate-low	0.18	0.18	0.273			
Moderate-high	0.19	0.20	0.702			
High	0.16	0.25	0.052			
Pa	tch metrics					
Patch density (patches 100 ha ⁻¹	91	67	0.003			
Landscape shape index (unitless)	23	103	0.0001			
Edge density (m ha ⁻¹)	306	247	0.0005			

DATA WERE DERIVED FROM LANDSAT TM (THEMATIC MAPPER) IMAGERY, FIRE SEVERITY WAS CHARACTERIZED USING

THE DIFFERENCED NORMALIZED BURN RATIO, AND LANDSCAPE METRICS WERE COMPUTED IN FRAGSTATS.

Source: Keane et al. (2008)

contain a substantial amount of internal edge and be surprisingly close to unburned or less severely burned areas (e.g., Turner et al. 1994a; Donato et al. 2009).

Analyses of disturbance patterns can provide insight into the processes controlling disturbance, and they may also be sensitive indicators of changing disturbance regimes. Increased access to remotely sensed imagery and algorithms for fireseverity mapping has facilitated such studies. For example, Collins et al. (2007) used satellite data and the differenced Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR) to describe landscape patterns of fire severity in two fires Sierra Nevada wilderness areas (USA). The dNBR index is calculated by comparing pre-fire and post-fire remotely sensed imagery (Key and Benson 2006) then categorizing values by burn-severity class. They then used FRAGSTATS to compute the area-weighted mean patch size for each burn-severity category. The two fires had similar proportions of burned and unburned, but the two fires produced very different disturbance mosaics. One fire had larger patch sizes of high-severity fire, whereas the other fire had larger patch sizes of low-severity fire within the fire perimeter (Collins et al. 2007). Weather was more important in explaining patterns in the higher-severity fire, and vegetation more important for the lower severity fire (Collins et al. 2007). In a southern African savanna, fire patterns were compared in areas that differed in

Landscape

Disturbance

Dynamics

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPEdominant land-use, and landscape metrics were computed from annual mapsECOLOGY IN(1971–2001) that included burned areas (Hudak et al. 2004). In the savanna, more
burning increased patch size, size variability, shape complexity, suggesting that fire
promoted landscape heterogeneity (Hudak et al. 2004).

Landscape patterns generated by human activities have also been well studied, especially patterns resulting from forest harvest strategies (e.g., Franklin and Forman 1987; Li et al. 1993; Gustafson and Crow 1996). Detecting differences in landscape mosaics resulting from forest harvesting vs. natural disturbances have been a primary research focus. Delong and Tanner (1996) compared the spatial characteristics of landscapes in British Columbia subjected to regularly dispersed 60-100 ha clearcuts with the historic patterns generated by wildfire. Wildfires created a more complex landscape mosaic that included a greater range of patch sizes and more complex disturbance boundaries. In addition, individual wildfires were often >500 ha in size, but unburned forest patches remained within the perimeters of the fire (Delong and Tanner 1996). Harvesting created more fragmented habitat than fire in western Canada (Wang and Cumming 2010) and Greater Yellowstone, USA (Tinker et al. 2003). In the Yellowstone region, timber harvesting on the Targhee National Forest produced landscape patterns in which the number of patches was three times greater and patch sizes were 70 % smaller than patterns produced from wildfires (Tinker et al. 2003). However, contrasting results were observed for forests in northwestern Ontario, Canada, where Gluck and Rempel (1996) observed that patches in clearcut landscapes were larger in size and more irregular in shape than patches in a wildfire landscape.

There has been much discussion in the literature about developing management strategies that mimic natural disturbances in a particular landscape (Hunter 1993; Attiwill 1994), with the implicit assumption that ecological processes will be better maintained in this way. Runkle (1991) suggested that temperate deciduous forest should be harvested in a pattern that mimics small treefall gaps, whereas Hunter (1993) recognized that boreal forests would require very large clearcuts if they were to imitate the size and arrangement of boreal fires. Improved understanding is needed of the nature and dynamics of disturbance mosaics in a wide variety of landscapes and how these differ from those generated by human disturbances. We re-visit this topic later in this chapter when discussing the historic range of variability.

Synthesis

The key take-home message regarding disturbance-created landscape patterns is that they are remarkably diverse and complex. This general conclusion comes from studies of many different disturbances in a wide range of landscapes. Disturbance is the key driver of spatial pattern in many landscapes, producing a mosaic of undisturbed and disturbed patches that vary in size, severity, shape, and arrangement. In turn, succession makes this mosaic pattern dynamic. Disturbance and succession are inextricably linked when we consider landscape dynamics. Ecologists have been trying to understand and predict vegetation change since the very beginnings of the discipline, and excellent treatments of the development of successional concepts can be found in Glenn-Lewin et al. (1992) and Walker and del Moral (2003), along with a wonderful synthesis and historical perspective by Christensen (2014). Recovery following disturbance can be very sensitive to spatial pattern created by disturbance and is strongly influenced by the spatial pattern of biotic residuals that are left behind.

The legacies and residuals that remain after the disturbance play a big role in post-disturbance succession (Turner and Dale 1998; Swanson et al. 2011; Donato et al. 2012). Ecological legacies of disturbance have both biological and physical components. *Biotic legacies*, or *residuals*, refer to the types, quantities, and patterns of organisms and biotic structures that persist from the pre-disturbance ecosystem. For example, residuals may include surviving individuals, standing dead trees, vegetative tissue that can regenerate, seed banks, litter, carcasses, and microbial and fungal soil organisms. These organic structures create habitat for surviving and colonizing organisms following disturbances (Swanson et al. 2011). *Abiotic legacies* are physical modifications of the environment that may result from the disturbance, such as mudslides or slope failures, lava flows, or movements of rocks or boulders in streams. Understanding the nature of the disturbance mosaic and the factors controlling these landscape patterns is essential for predicting ecosystem dynamics and vegetation development in disturbance-prone landscapes (Swanson et al. 2011; Donato et al. 2012).

A thorough understanding of succession must include understanding of how successional processes vary with respect to disturbance intensity, size, and frequency (van der Maarl 1993; Turner et al. 1998a; White and Jentsch 2001). Investigations into mechanisms of plant succession following fire and other disturbances often emphasized the autecology and life history attributes of individual plants and species (e.g., Connell and Slatyer 1977; Noble and Slatyer 1980; Peet and Christensen 1980; Pickett et al. 1987a, b; Halpern 1988, 1989). These studies also demonstrated that species responses may vary with different kinds and severities of disturbance and with the larger spatial and temporal context of the disturbance (also see Pickett 1976; Finegan 1984; Glenn and Collins 1992). Patch size, heterogeneity, and distance from undisturbed sites can affect species in a manner dependent on their life history characteristics (Denslow 1980a, b; Hartshorn 1980; Miller 1982; Malanson 1984; Green 1989; Peterson and Carson 1996).

Life history traits related to the ability of the pre-disturbance populations to resist or tolerate a particular type of disturbance interact with disturbance intensity to influence the species composition of residuals. For example, mobility and degree of adaptation to flooding were critical in determining the effects of the 1993 Mississippi River floods on taxonomic and functional groups of organisms in the

Landscape

LANDSCAPEmidwestern USA (Sparks et al. 1998). Virtually all individuals of tree species that
could not tolerate the anoxic conditions that developed under extended soil satura-
tion during the growing season died (Sparks et al. 1998). In contrast, some species
of aquatic plants survived by growing upward into the lighted zone as the flood
rose, and a rare species of false aster (*Boltonia decurrens*) that requires fresh mud-
flats for seed germination increased dramatically (Smith et al. 1998).

Residual plants that reestablish vegetatively following disturbance often achieve large sizes more quickly than those that start from seed, and species with abundant or larger residual seeds have a head start on those that must disperse into the disturbed area from the surroundings. One example comes from the regeneration of a large forest windthrow. In 1985, a powerful tornado created a 400-ha area of windthrow in the old-growth hemlock-northern hardwoods forest of the Tionesta Scenic Area in northwest Pennsylvania. During initial revegetation following the windthrow event, thickets of surviving advance regeneration of Fagus grandifolia and Acer pensylvanicum had a substantial size advantage over individuals that germinated after the disturbance, and that size advantage has been maintained (Peterson and Pickett 1995). These thickets of advance regeneration severely inhibited local colonization by Betula alleghaniensis, which is abundant in other areas of the blowdown with fewer residuals (Peterson and Pickett 1995). The relationship between disturbance severity and species-regeneration mechanisms (e.g., vegetative reproduction or seed dispersal and establishment) was nicely presented by Roberts (2004; Fig. 6.17). This framework emphasizes herbaceous vegetation, but it explicitly considers the relative abundance of biotic legacies and their role in post-disturbance succession.



FIGURE 6.17.

Conceptual model of disturbance severity with each of three major vertical layers in the forest ecosystem on a separate axis. Labeled polygons relate the ranges in condition on these three axes to common natural disturbances in North American forests. Adapted FROM ROBERTS (2004)

210

An interesting landscape question is whether, or under what conditions, the size of a disturbance patch influences successional rates or pathways. Following the 1988 fires in Yellowstone, vegetation sampling during the first 5 years after fire demonstrated significant effects of patch size and burn severity on early succession (Turner et al. 1997b, 2003b). These effects diminished through time as the herbaceous plant populations continued to fill in the burned areas, and the effects of soils and climate on plant communities became more pronounced (Turner 2010). However, an enduring legacy of the burn-severity mosaic was the spatial variability in postfire lodgepole pine density across the landscape (Kashian et al. 2005b; Turner 2010), which will persist for decades to centuries.

Why might disturbance size be important for succession? Disturbance-induced changes in the biophysical environment are subject to edge effects related to disturbance size (Turner et al. 1998b). The centers of large, disturbed patches are likely to experience quite different physical conditions than small patches or disturbed areas near intact vegetation. In tropical moist forest, for example, larger gaps experienced higher air temperatures, lower humidity, higher wind speeds, and reduced soil moisture (Denslow 1987). However, it is on the availability of propagules where disturbance size may exert its strongest effect (Turner et al. 1998b).

The availability of propagules is a fundamental determinant of successional patterns (Clements 1915; Pickett et al. 1987a, b) and one that can be especially sensitive to the combination of high intensity and large size (Turner et al. 1998b). In small disturbed areas, the surrounding intact community is likely to provide sufficient propagules for succession, even if biotic residuals are few. However, the density of propagule inputs from the surrounding undisturbed area into a disturbed area decreases with distance (Johnson 1992; Nepstad et al. 1990; da Silva et al. 1996), so the proportion of disturbed area beyond the zone of high propagule input decreases as disturbance size increases. If dispersal from outside the disturbed area is important, then the size, shape, and configuration of disturbed patches will influence propagule availability and thus vegetation composition. Distance from the edge of the disturbed patch, which is controlled in part by patch size, has a particularly strong effect (McClanahan 1986; Bergeron and Dansereau 1993; Galipeau et al. 1997). For example, spatial patterns of fire severity, and especially those of high-severity burn, were key determinants of postfire shift from coniferous to deciduous forest in boreal forests of interior Alaska (Barrett et al. 2011).

Synthesis

Effects of the landscape disturbance mosaic on succession must consider disturbance severity, which influences the abundance of residuals (Turner et al. 1998b). Turner et al. (1998b) suggested that succession will be relatively predictable following disturbances of any size when residuals are abundant and the effects of local environmental attributes (e.g., nutrient availability, soil texture, and soil moisture) are considered (Fig. 6.18). Spatial effects (disturbance size, shape, and arrange-

Landscape

Disturbance

Dynamics

LANDSCAPEment) become increasingly important when residuals are few or sparse and the
disturbance is large; under these conditions, colonization and hence succession
become slower and more difficult to predict (Fig. 6.18). Furthermore, if the fre-
quency of large, high-intensity disturbances increases such that residuals decrease
in abundance or change in composition with successive disturbance events, succes-
sional pathways may shift qualitatively (Fig. 6.18). Landscape context may interact
with species life history traits to initiate different successional trajectories within
similar abiotic environments because of local variation in disturbance intensity or
availability of plant propagules (Glenn-Lewin and van der Maarel 1992; Fastie



FIGURE 6.18.

Conceptual state-space diagram for succession following disturbances varying in size, intensity, and frequency. Succession is more predictable and spatial attributes of the disturbance are less important whenever disturbance intensity is low (such that residuals are abundant) or disturbances are small (*state A*). Succession is initially less predictable and determined by disturbance size, shape, and configuration when disturbance intensity is high (such that residuals are scarce) and disturbances are large (*states B and C*). Successional pathways may be qualitatively altered if high-intensity, large disturbance increase in frequency (*state C*).

Adapted from Turner et al. (1998b)

Dynamics

INTEGRATING DISTURBANCE AND SUCCESSION IN SPACE AND TIME

Modeling Disturbance and Succession

C

Spatial interactions and long time scales make it challenging to understand how disturbance and succession interact to generate landscape dynamics (He and Mladenoff 1999; Mladenoff and Baker 1999). Integrated models of disturbance and succession are useful tools that can reveal trends and dynamics in landscapes that cannot be easily observed empirically (see review by Seidl et al. 2011b). For example, Peterson (2002) wanted to understand how ecological memory (i.e., the degree to which an ecological process is shaped by its past modifications of a landscape) influences landscape dynamics. Empirical data that spanned multiple disturbance cycles over hundreds of years were not available, so he developed a model that linked fire and vegetation regrowth to predict landscape pattern dynamics. Simulation results revealed that the persistence of spatial patterns depended on the degree to which previous fires influenced the spread of subsequent fires (Peterson 2002). Increased ecological memory established a feedback between fire spread and landscape pattern; in the absence of this feedback, fireshaped landscape patterns but did not themselves respond to landscape patterns. This example illustrates use of an integrated model for addressing a general conceptual question on theoretical landscapes. Integrated models are also very useful for addressing questions of broad-scale disturbances or global change in real landscape settings.

One example of a widely used model of disturbance and succession is LANDIS, developed originally for a 500,000-ha landscape in northern Wisconsin, USA (Mladenoff et al. 1996; He and Mladenoff 1999; Mladenoff 2004). LANDIS operates on landscapes mapped as grid cells that contain different age classes of different tree species. The model represents landscape heterogeneity caused by spatial variation in environmental conditions and disturbance rates, as well as the effects of past human uses in the landscape. Multiple disturbance types are simulated, including fire, windthrow, and forest harvest, and succession is represented at the species level. Successional dynamics are based on life history attributes (e.g., shade tolerance, disturbance susceptibility, vegetative reproduction, time to sexual maturity, longevity) of up to 30 species, and spatial processes such as seed dispersal are included.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

An early application of LANDIS was initialized with current landscape pattern for a forest landscape in the upper Midwest, USA, and used to simulate landscape dynamics for 500 years with fire as the only disturbance (He and Mladenoff 1999). Results demonstrated that even when the presettlement disturbance regime was reestablished, some species, such as hemlock, yellow birch, oak and pine, did not recover their presettlement proportions of the forest community for 100–500 years. They also found that landscape recovery could be detected at broad spatial scales as composition of the forest communities became more differentiated on different land types. Interestingly, the landscape showed greater alteration on the more mesic landforms in which disturbances were infrequent but severe, as compared to the more xeric landforms in which disturbance was more frequent but less severe. Similar results have been observed in other systems (Gardner et al. 1996; Turner et al. 1998a).

Development of LANDIS has continued, and LANDIS-II introduced variable time steps, which allow greater flexibility in the model environment (Scheller et al. 2007). One application of the model nicely demonstrated the value of spatial simulation modeling to explore multiple influences on regional landscape dynamics. LANDIS-II was used to study interactions between climate change and disturbance on forest expansion along a prairie-forest ecotone in south-central Minnesota, USA (Berland et al. 2011). The study considered the potential influences of long-term climate changes, including the Little Ice Age; initial tree population distributions, seed dispersal, edaphic factors, and firebreaks; fire regimes; and human influences. Simulations ran for 600 years and covered a 25,000-km² landscape. Simulated forest expansion was very sensitive to initial conditions, and multiple pathways could produce similar patterns and rates of forest expansion (Berland et al. 2011). The relationship between fire and fuels (i.e., between disturbance and succession) was required to predict forest dynamics consistent with the historical record. Notably, this result is consistent with the general feedbacks between fire and vegetation that emerged from the more theoretical modeling approach used by Peterson (2002).

It is important to remember that these modeling approaches are not used deterministically to predict what will happen with specific individual events. Models such as LANDIS and Fire-BGC (Keane et al. 1996a, b) incorporate feedbacks among species, disturbance, and environmental variability and are valuable tools for examining complex interactions of species and disturbance over large areas and long time periods.

Disturbance and the Historic Range of Variability

An obvious consequence of the interaction between disturbance and succession is that landscape patterns constantly change. However, dynamic landscape patterns posed a practical problem for ecologists and landscape managers. If landscapes were not static, identifying reference conditions that indicated a functional or resilient landscape became problematic—a single snapshot could not represent the dynamic range of conditions that might be observed through time (e.g., Fig. 6.2). There was also recognition that keeping landscapes in a fixed state was neither possible nor desirable. The concept of the *historical range of variability (HRV)* was introduced as a means for incorporating spatial and temporal variability in ecosystem management (Cissel et al. 1994; Landres et al. 1999). The HRV refers to the variation of historical ecosystem characteristics and processes over time and space scales that are appropriate for a particular management application (Keane et al. 2009). The idea was that the recent history of a landscape, which would presumably include a broad envelope of conditions (e.g., disturbed area, patch-size distributions of different communities successional stages) that support landscape resilience, could be a yardstick for evaluating ecological status and change (Keane et al. 2009). The HRV could also provide guidance to forest managers who wished to emulate natural disturbance regimes (Long 2009).

Once again, scale is paramount: the HRV must be quantified for a particular space-time domain. Response variables will be entirely different when quantified for 100 vs. 500 years, or over a landscape of 1000 ha vs. 1,000,000 ha. Quantifying the HRV requires a time series of spatially explicit historical data. These data may come from digital maps of landscape characteristics obtained for multiple time periods, or from spatial simulation models run over a reference time period. Of course, not every attribute of a landscape can be quantified for its HRV. Response variables should be measurable across the relevant spatial and temporal extent; representative of the patterns, processes, and characteristics that govern landscape dynamics; and appropriate for the relevant management application (Keane et al. 2009). An excellent overview of these methods and the advantages and limitations of the HRV is provided by Keane et al. (2009).

Once quantified, the HRV can be used to guide landscape management. Actions such as forest harvesting can be scheduled such that responses of interest (e.g., amount and patch-size distributions of old and young forest) remain within the bounds of the HRV. This approach is frequently termed *emulating natural disturbance regimes* (*ENDR*), and it emerged as a dominant paradigm of forest management in North America (Long 2009). ENDR refers to management strategies and practices, at appropriate spatial and temporal scales, with the goals of producing forest ecosystems that are structurally and functionally similar to the ecosystems that would result from natural disturbances (Perera et al. 2004; Long 2009).

The HRV and ENDR concepts embody the shift from a static to dynamic view of landscapes. They are intuitively appealing concepts that have provided tremendous guidance for land management, but data limitations and scale dependence remain nontrivial issues. It is also difficult to decide exactly which characteristics of the disturbance regime and HRV are to be conserved in the future or emulated by land management. Whether current society will find the historic disturbance regime acceptable is also an issue (Thompson et al. 2009). Perhaps the greatest challenge, however, is that fundamental changes in environmental drivers (e.g., climate warming) may limit the ability of past landscape dynamics to guide the future.

LANDSCAPE

Concepts of Landscape Equilibrium

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Questions of whether or not equilibrium could be detected on landscapes subject to disturbance, and how large a landscape must be to incorporate a given disturbance regimes, have been important themes in landscape ecology (Shugart and West 1981; Romme 1982; Baker 1989a). Because these ideas were part of a fundamental shift in ecological thinking and are so relevant for basic and applied ecology, we review development of theses concepts as they apply to landscape ecology in some depth. Controversy regarding equilibrium stemmed in part from inconsistent definitions and criteria, and in part from disagreement about whether it was valid to define the existence of an equilibrium state at all (Turner et al. 1993). DeAngelis and Waterhouse (1987) provided an excellent review of the treatment of these concepts in ecological models, and Grimm and Wissel (1997) offer an informative user's guide to terminology.

The notion of equilibrium in ecological systems has inspired a long history of interest and controversy in ecology (e.g., Egerton 1973; Bormann and Likens 1979; Connell and Sousa 1983; Wiens 1984; DeAngelis and Waterhouse 1987). Pickett et al. (1994:159) identified equilibrium as one of few overarching paradigms in ecology, and one of the oldest and most pervasive, which affect the dialog between observable phenomena and conceptual constructs in all the more specialized areas of ecology. Among six tenets of this paradigm identified by Pickett et al. (1994) was that the system was essentially free of disturbance-a problematic assumption given the ubiquitous nature of disturbance and succession. The shift in ecology from an equilibrium view of nature to the nonequilibrium paradigm occurred gradually throughout the twentieth century. In the nonequilibrium paradigm, ecological systems are thought to be open, to be regulated by both intrinsic and extrinsic factors, to lack a stable point equilibrium, to be nondeterministic, to incorporate disturbance, and to admit human influence. Equilibrium might appear, but only at certain spatial and temporal scales (Pickett et al. 1994). Concepts of equilibrium are confounded by problems of scale, and landscapes can exhibit a suite of dynamics of which equilibrium is but one (Turner et al. 1993).

Equilibrium points can be precisely defined mathematically, but equilibrium and stability are not well defined when applied to real ecological systems (DeAngelis and Waterhouse 1987). Properties used to evaluate equilibrium fall into two general categories: *persistence* (i.e., nonextinction, or presence), and *constancy* (i.e., no change or minimal fluctuation in numbers, densities, or relative proportions). Persistence can be applied to all species or to the presence of all stand-age classes or successional stages in a landscape (e.g., Romme 1982). Constancy may refer to the number of species (e.g., MacArthur and Wilson 1967), the density of individual species (e.g., May 1973), the standing crop of biomass (e.g., Bormann and Likens 1979; Sprugel 1985), or the relative proportions of seral stages on a landscape (e.g., Romme 1982; Baker 1989a, c). There are fundamental differences in considering species composition vs. structural attributes such as biomass, age classes, and seral stages. Seral stages or age classes do not become extinct because they can be regenerated by disturbances, provided the species comprising each stage do not become extinct.

Equilibrium in the sense of *absolute constancy*, where there are no changes through time, is the simplest concept that might be applied to a landscape. However, disturbance and change are ubiquitous in ecological systems as disturbances reset succession back to earlier stages, and any concept of landscape equilibrium therefore must incorporate disturbance. Even in the absence of absolute constancy, there may be a particular aspect of a landscape that is invariant. In the *shifting mosaic* steady-state concept (Bormann and Likens 1979), the vegetation present at individual points on the landscape changes, but the proportion of the landscape in each seral stage is relatively constant, i.e., is in equilibrium when considered over a large area or long time period (Fig. 6.19). Bormann and Likens (1979) suggested that, prior to settlement in northern hardwood forests of New England, the standing crop biomass of a watershed or other landscape unit varied slightly around a mean, although the biomass present at any small plot within the watershed fluctuated through time due to treefalls and subsequent regrowth. The shifting mosaic steadystate concept has been difficult to test empirically, but it has been suggested to apply to other systems, such as wave-generated fir forests in the northeastern United States (Sprugel 1976; Sprugel and Bormann 1981) or the fire-created mosaic in the boreal forest in northern Sweden (Zackrisson 1977). The concept applies best



FIGURE 6.19.

Illustration of the shifting-mosaic steady-state concept. Upper panels show a landscape at different times in which the shadings indicate different stand ages (Y young, M mature, O old) and their locations through time. The lower panels depict the proportion of the landscape occupied by each age class, which remain constant through time. The shifts occur in response to disturbance and succession.

Adapted from Lertzman and Fall (1998)

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

when disturbances are small and frequent in a large area of homogeneous habitat (Pickett and White 1985). Shugart and West (1981) suggested that a quasi-steadystate landscape was likely only where the landscape was at least 50 times the average size of disturbances, although Baker (1989a) failed to find equilibrium in the BWCA even at a scale 87 times the mean disturbance-patch size.

Another concept considers landscape equilibrium to be a *stationary process* (i.e., a stochastic process that does not change in distribution over time or space) with episodic perturbation (Loucks 1970). Loucks (1970) suggested that communities may appear unstable at any particular point in time because community composition is changing, but that the entire long-term sequence of changes constitutes a stable system because the same sequence recurs after every disturbance. In firedominated landscapes, for example, the statistical distribution of seral stages, time intervals between successive fires, or similar parameters can be determined (e.g., Van Wagner 1978; Johnson 1979; Yarie 1981; Johnson and Van Wagner 1985; Johnson and Gutsell 1994). This concept explicitly acknowledges the stochastic nature of disturbance, but assumes that the distribution of disturbance intervals and the proportion of the landscape occupied by different seral stages remain more or less constant through time. However, the distribution of intervals between disturbances may not be the same, and the probability of disturbance may change with time since last disturbance (Clark 1989).

A concept related to the stationary process is that of *stochastic or relative constancy* through time. Botkin and Sobel (1975) suggested that a system that changes but remains within bounds is a stochastic analogue of equilibrium that is applicable to ecological systems. Harrison (1979) suggested that this concept of a system remaining within acceptable ranges in spite of environmental uncertainty was most relevant to ecology. The idea is akin to the HRV concept, with the dynamics of a response variable in the system remaining between some upper and lower historical bounds. As noted above, this concept is scale-dependent, and long-term directional changes in environmental drivers (e.g., climate) would eventually move a landscape out of its bounds.

The shifting-mosaic steady-state concept provided considerable impetus for studies of landscape dynamics in disturbance-prone landscapes. Romme (1982) studied a 7300-ha watershed on the subalpine plateau in Yellowstone National Park affected by a natural crown-fire regime. He used fire history methods to date fires, age forest patches, and reconstruct that landscape over a 200-year period. He found wide fluctuations in landscape composition and diversity during that time and failed to find any evidence for the existence of a steady-state mosaic (Fig. 6.20). The cycle of extensive fires occurring at intervals of approximately 300 years suggested a landscape characterized by continual change (Romme 1982; Romme and Knight 1982). Romme concluded that this landscape is more appropriately viewed as a nonsteadystate system characterized by cyclic, long-term changes in structure and function. Romme and Despain (1989) expanded this study to an area of 129,600 ha, but still found constant fluctuation in the patch mosaic during the past 250 years. Similarly, Baker (1989a, c) tested for a stable patch mosaic in the 404,000-ha fire-influenced



FIGURE 6.20.

(*Bottom*) Percent of a 129,600-ha study area within Yellowstone National Park burned by stand-replacing fires in each decade from 1690 to 1988. (*Top*) Percent of the study area covered by each successional stage from 1735 to 1985. Note the wide fluctuations through time. *LP0* is earliest successional stage in the lodgepole pine forests, extending to about 40 years postfire, *LP1* extends from approximately 40–150 years, *LP2* from ~150 to 250 years, *LP3* >250 years.

Adapted from Romme and Despain (1989)

BWCA, but did not find a stable patch mosaic at any of five spatial scales. He suggested that the lack of a steady-state mosaic was due to (1) spatial heterogeneity in the fire regime, whereby ignition sources, drought severity, fuel load, and fire spread probability, would vary across the landscape, and (2) differences in the scales of fire patches and environmental heterogeneity. Baker (1989a) concluded that the BWCA landscape was a "mosaic of different nonsteady-state mosaics." Indeed, crown-firedominated systems may generally be considered as nonequilibrium landscapes (Turner and Romme 1994; Boychuk et al. 1997).

Turner et al. (1993) developed a simple spatial model of landscape dynamics that considered the spatial-temporal scales of disturbance and the resultant landscape dynamics and which could be applied across a range of scales. The model incorporated four major factors characterizing landscape dynamics: disturbance frequency, recovery time, spatial extent of disturbance events, and size of the landscape of interest. These four factors were reduced to two key parameters representing ratios of time and space. The use of ratios in both parameters permits comparison of landscapes across a range of spatial and temporal scales.

The temporal parameter (T) was defined by the ratio of the disturbance interval (i.e., the time between successive disturbances) to the recovery time (i.e., the time

LANDSCAPErequired for a disturbed site to achieve recovery to a "mature" stage). Defining the
temporal parameter as a ratio permitted three qualitatively different states to be
considered, regardless of the type or time scale of the disturbance. These statesTHEORY ANDwere: (1) the disturbance interval is longer than the recovery time (T>1), so the
system can recover before being disturbed again; (2) the disturbance interval and
recovery time are equal (T=1); and (3) the disturbance interval is shorter than the
recovery.

The spatial parameter (S) was defined similarly by a ratio of the size of the disturbance to the size of the landscape of interest. Two qualitatively different states were of importance, again regardless of the type of disturbance. These states were (1) disturbances that are large relative to the size of the landscape, and (2) disturbances that are small relative to the extent of the landscape. As defined by Turner et al. (1993), the parameter S could range from 0 to 1; i.e., disturbance events larger than the size of the landscape were not considered. A state space was then constructed with T on the ordinate and S on the abscissa.

A wide range of simulations of disturbance and recovery were conducted, and results tabulated by tracking the proportion (p) of the simulated landscape occupied by different successional changes through time and its standard deviation (Turner et al. 1993). Landscape equilibrium was observed under conditions of small disturbance size and relatively quick recovery times relative to disturbance frequency (Fig. 6.21). A landscape could also appear relatively stable, exhibiting low variance in p values, if increases in disturbance size were offset by decreases in frequency. These conditions resulted in a stable system with low variance in which much of the landscape was still occupied by mature vegetation; this region of the state space may be comparable to the stochastic or relative constancy defined by Botkin and Sobel (1975). The landscape could also appear stable with low variance



Disturbance extent / Landscape extent

when disturbance sizes increase even further, although the early seral stages would then dominate. The landscape may be stable (sensu Loucks 1970) but show very high variance with intermediate values of S and T, and show extremely high variance when disturbance size exceeds 50 % of the landscape and the disturbance interval is very long. Landscapes in this region of the state space would likely be characterized as nonequilibrium systems.

This model was extremely simple and certainly ignored the biological complexity that would characterize disturbance and succession in real landscapes, and many landscapes are affected by multiple disturbances that occur at different spatial and temporal scales and which may interact. Nonetheless, determination of Sand T parameters for several known landscapes supported the general results (Turner et al. 1993; Fraterrigo and Rusak 2008) and clearly demonstrated the strong influence of scale.

Synthesis

Much of the disagreement surrounding equilibrium versus nonequilibrium, and stability versus instability, can be attributed to several factors: the ambiguity in various definitions, different views of spatial heterogeneity and its effects, the lack of explicit specification of scales, and differences in theoretical foundations (Wu and Loucks 1995; Grimm and Wissel 1997; Perry 2002). Landscapes can exhibit a variety of behaviors under different disturbance regimes, and the same landscape may shift among different regions of behavior. Landscapes that traditionally are considered as being in equilibrium are characterized by small and infrequent disturbance and rapid recovery. Stable systems with high variance are characterized by intermediate size and frequency of disturbance and intermediate rates of recovery. Potentially unstable systems are characterized by large and frequent disturbance and slow recovery. In these landscapes, a system crash or bifurcation to a qualitatively different system is possible (Paine et al. 1998; Romme et al. 1998). Conclusions regarding landscape equilibrium are appropriate only for a specified spatial and temporal scale. Failure to recognize this dependence can lead to sharply different interpretations about the same dynamics.

LOOKING AHEAD: INTERACTING DISTURBANCES AND CHANGING DISTURBANCE REGIMES

Ecologists have made tremendous progress in understanding individual types of disturbance, including quantifying disturbance regimes, describing and explaining the landscape patterns they create, and determining how and when those patterns affect succession. However, key questions remain to be answered. Multiple disturbances affect many landscapes, and understanding how distur-

LANDSCAPEbances may interact is an important topic of research in contemporary landscapeECOLOGY INecology. Interest in disturbance interactions is driven, in part, by concerns that
multiple disturbances could elicit nonlinear responses and unexpected feedbacks,
perhaps leading to fundamental system change. Whether global warming will
change disturbance regimes and fundamentally alter future landscapes is a related
and very important question. Climate change will alter disturbance regimes
because many disturbances have a significant climate forcing. Landscape ecolo-
gists have recognized these consequences for a long while, but there is an urgent
need for more comprehensive evaluations of scenarios of future disturbance
regimes (Turner 2010).

Compound and Linked Disturbances

Different disturbances can and will interact with each other. Despite the rapid increase in understanding of the consequences of individual disturbances, their interactions are poorly understood. One type of interaction occurs when prior disturbance exerts a strong effect on ecosystem response to a subsequent disturbance (e.g., Paine et al. 1998; Davies et al. 2009). Paine et al. (1998) suggested that particular co-occurrences or sequences of different disturbances could produce ecological surprises, or qualitative shifts in system state. This notion of compound disturbances describes the occurrence of two disturbances in a short window of time that have synergistic effects, which cannot be predicted by summing the effects of the individual disturbances. For example, fires in quick succession reduced seed availability in a black spruce forest (Picea mariana) and changed regeneration pathways (Brown and Johnstone 2012). Recent studies have indicated that sequences of extreme events may produce synergistic responses, and furthermore, the sequence itself (e.g., the order of flood and drought) matters (Miao et al. 2009). Understanding the ecological synergisms among disturbances is basic to future environmental management (Paine et al. 1998).

Whether increased disturbance frequency produces a qualitative change in the state of an ecosystem will depend in part on the state of the system when it is disturbed. The "double whammy" will be pronounced if the system has not yet recovered from the first disturbance when affected by the second (Turner 2010). Sequential fires in the same location could convert a forest to nonforest if the interval between the fires was less than the time required for the trees to be reproductive. The cumulative effects of repeated hurricanes could qualitatively change vegetation characteristics and C balance (Busing et al. 2009). However, there remains a paucity of empirical information about whether and when a disturbance will amplify or attenuate the effects of another (Turner 2010).

Another type of disturbance interaction occurs when one disturbance alters the extent or probability of occurrence of another disturbance (Kulakowski and Veblen 2007; Lynch et al. 2006), termed *linked disturbances* by Simard et al. (2011). The

first disturbance may either amplify or dampen the second. For example, the extent and severity of bark beetle outbreaks and wildfire have increased in western North America in recent decades (e.g., Westerling et al. 2006; Meddens et al. 2012). These increases re-ignited interest and debate regarding potential interactions between the outbreaks and fire (e.g., Bebi et al. 2003; Jenkins et al. 2008; Derose and Long 2009). Managers and scientists worried that the vast quantities of dead beetlekilled trees on the landscape could increase the risk of high-severity fire, and that fire-injured trees might, in turn, catalyze subsequent bark beetle epidemics. However, there were few empirical data with which to evaluate these potential consequences rigorously.

Emerging research has shown that beetle outbreaks can substantially change the arrangement, quantity, and composition of forest fuels (e.g., Page and Jenkins 2007a, b; Simard et al. 2011; Schoennagel et al. 2012; Donato et al. 2013). However, the potential influence of bark beetle outbreak on fire occurrence or severity depends on timing. Bark beetle outbreaks kill trees over several years, and tree mortality in the affected stand is not synchronous. Shortly after successful beetle attack, the needles on attacked trees become dry, and changes in foliar chemistry make the needles more flammable (Jolly et al. 2012). These factors could increase the likelihood of severe fire, but this effect could be mitigated because the trees also begin to shed their needles, reducing canopy fuels (Simard et al. 2011). Once the outbreak has subsided, however, the amount of canopy fuel is reduced substantially, and this is expected to reduce the risk of high-severity fire until the fuels are replenished through succession. Significant knowledge gaps remain with respect to this disturbance interaction (Hicke et al. 2012b), and the extent to which the behavior of actual fires differ in beetle-killed stands versus unattacked stands remains to be evaluated empirically (e.g., Jenkins et al. 2012). In a regionwide field study in northern Rocky Mountain forests that burned in 2011 and had experienced recent (2001-2010) beetle outbreak, Harvey et al. (2014) found few measures of fire severity were related to prefire outbreak severity. However, it is clear that landscape ecologists must incorporate interactions and feedbacks that may occur among multiple disturbances into their conceptual frameworks and account for superimposed disturbances when describing disturbance mosaics.

Changes in Climate and Disturbance Regimes

Because disturbances are such a key source of landscape heterogeneity, intentional or unintentional shifts in disturbance regimes are likely to alter landscape pattern. Disturbance regimes are remarkably sensitive to changes in key drivers (Fig. 6.3); for example, past climatic changes of small magnitude have caused significant changes in fire regimes in forested landscapes (Green 1982; Hemstrom and Franklin 1982; Clark 1988, 1990; Campbell and McAndrews 1993). Similarly, fire suppres-

LANDSCAPE sion during the past century has lengthened the fire return interval and altered successional pathways in many regions (e.g., Glitzenstein et al. 1995; Linder et al. ECOLOGY IN 1997). In European forests, intensification of disturbance regimes (wind, bark bee-THEORY AND tle outbreaks, and fire) from 1958 to 2001 was attributed to climate change plus changes in forest extent, structure and composition; disturbance severity was great-PRACTICE est when conducive weather conditions and increased forest susceptibility coincided (Seidl et al. 2011a). Future trends in disturbance size, frequency, and severity are difficult to predict, and changes in disturbance will vary among regions (Hassim and Walsh 2008; Dankers and Feyen 2009; Flannigan et al. 2009; Vecchi et al. 2008). Enhancing our quantitative understanding and ability to predict effects of changing disturbance regimes on landscape structure is a current topic of active research (Turner 2010).

> Climate change is expected to strongly influence disturbance regimes because many disturbance regimes have a strong climate forcing. However, key questions remain to be answered. What magnitude of climate change will alter different disturbance regimes? How much do disturbance regimes need to shift before landscape patterns are altered qualitatively? Answering these questions assumes increasing importance in the context of global change. Not surprisingly, changing fire regimes have received considerable attention (e.g., Flannigan et al. 2009; Johnstone et al. 2010; Wotton et al. 2010). In the western United States, the frequency of large fires has already increased in association with earlier spring snowmelt, warmer spring and summer temperatures, and longer fire seasons (Westerling et al. 2006). In portions of the Rocky Mountains, novel fire regimes that are well outside the historical and even paleoecological range of variability are predicted during the twenty-first century (e.g., Westerling et al. 2011). For example, Greater Yellowstone is projected to become much hotter and drier with ongoing climate change, possibly enough to produce substantially different fire regimes (Westerling et al. 2011). Large fires (>200 ha) are anticipated to occur much more frequently than in the past 5000-10,000 years. Years without large fires are expected to become rare with continued warming, and fire rotation is projected to shorten to <30 years from the historical 100-300 years (Westerling et al. 2011). Continued warming could completely transform fire regimes in Greater Yellowstone by the mid-twenty-first century, with profound consequences for patterns and processes. However, how, when, and where such changes might be manifest on the landscape remain to be explored. Once again, variability per se may be very important. For example, the mean annual number of tornadoes has not changed significantly since the 1970s, but variability in their occurrence has increased (Brooks et al. 2014). The number of days per year with tornadoes has declined, but the number of days per year with many tornadoes has increased, but whether this is related to climate change is not yet known (Brooks et al. 2014).

As climate conditions change gradually, disturbance can be the catalyst that triggers rapid ecosystem response to the slowly changing driver. Inertia in ecological communities may mask impending state change because long-lived organisms (e.g., trees) may make the system appear unresponsive to environmental changes even though the regeneration niche may be shifting (Johnstone et al. 2009). Retrospective studies have shown that, in a changing climate, the plant communities that become established following disturbance may differ from those present at the time of the disturbance. On Mt. Rainier, for example, Dunwiddie (1986) demonstrated that fires that occurred during the mid-1800s burned through an Abies amabilis and Tsuga mertensiana forest that had persisted for centuries. The mid-1800s were characterized by warming temperatures that caused earlier seasonal snowmelt and longer growing seasons. These climatic conditions allowed Tsuga heterophylla to become abundant briefly after the fires, and T. heterophylla was then replaced by Abies lasiocarpa. Because long-lived mature trees may survive short-term climatic fluctuations, species that are best adapted to the current climate may only be able to enter the forest in open habitats following severe fires, and forest composition may respond to climatic changes primarily after disturbance (Dunwiddie 1986). A study by Cwynar (1987) also suggests that, although the ultimate cause of postglacial vegetation change in the Pacific Northwest was climate change, the proximate cause of some postglacial vegetation changes was an altered fire regime.

Rapid post-disturbance ecosystem changes are not just interesting historical stories; rather, they portend changes that are already underway in contemporary landscapes. In the Yukon, Canada, lodgepole pine is extending its range northward following fire, colonizing burned sites previously dominated by spruce (Johnstone and Chapin 2003). In Alaska, white spruce (*Picea glauca*) is replacing black spruce (Picea mariana) following fire and permafrost decline (Wirth et al. 2008). In the southern boreal forest of North America, severe windthrow and fire are resulting in rapid shifts in dominant tree species (Frelich and Reich 2010). Forest harvesting may also trigger shifts; aspen (Populus tremuloides) has moved to cooler, higher elevations following harvest (Landhäusser et al. 2010). Disturbance may accelerate changes in species composition or even biome boundaries (Frelich and Reich 2010), and potentially hasten transitions to "no-analogue communities" (Williams and Jackson 2007). Such changes have enormous implications for the quantity, quality, and distribution of habitat and will influence the biogeography of many species. If major changes in biotic communities occur after disturbances, there may also be significant consequences for ecosystem processes. Understanding the sensitivity of disturbance regimes to environmental change and the landscape-level consequences of changing disturbance regimes will remain key goals in landscape ecology for the foreseeable future.

LANDSCAPE SUMMARY

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Disturbance creates patterns and is an integral part of many landscapes. The causes, patterns, dynamics, and consequences of disturbances are major research topics in landscape ecology. Disturbance and disturbance regimes are characterized by a variety of attributes, including size, frequency, intensity, severity, and shape. The definition of disturbance is scale dependent.

Are various spatial locations in the landscape differentially susceptible to disturbance? If so, can we predict which areas are more or less susceptible to particular types of disturbance? Results from many studies suggest that landscape position influences susceptibility to disturbance when the disturbance has a distinct directionality such that some locations are usually exposed more than others. In addition, landscape position may influence susceptibility if the disturbance is of moderate intensity, such that its spread is influenced by subtle differences in the landscape. However, if the disturbance itself has no spatial directionality or is sufficiently intense that its spread is unaffected by differences in the landscape, then landscape position does not influence susceptibility to the disturbance.

Understanding how landscape heterogeneity can influence the spatial spread of disturbance has long been a focus of landscape ecological research. Research from theoretical and empirical studies suggests that we cannot generalize to whether landscape pattern always enhances or retards disturbance spread, but its potential effects on disturbance spread may be substantial. If the disturbance spreads within the same cover type, then greater landscape heterogeneity may retard the spread of disturbance. If the disturbance spreads between cover types or is otherwise enhanced by edge effects, then increased greater landscape heterogeneity should enhance the spread of the disturbance. There also may be thresholds in environmental conditions beyond which landscape pattern will not affect the spread of a disturbance.

Landscape epidemiology is an emerging discipline that focuses on the spatial aspects of disease occurrence and spread and overlaps conceptually with landscape disturbance dynamics. Landscape epidemiology studies have revealed effects of landscape pattern on the incidence of many different pests and diseases. Ongoing studies will reveal which local factors and landscape patterns affect susceptibility to a wide range of plant, animal, and human diseases.

Disturbances create very complex heterogeneous patterns across the landscape because the disturbance may affect some areas but not others, and severity of the disturbance often varies considerably within the affected area. These resulting mosaics may show considerable persistence through time.

Disturbance and succession are inextricably linked when we consider landscape dynamics. A thorough understanding of succession must include understanding of how successional processes vary with respect to disturbance intensity, size, and frequency. The availability of propagules is a fundamental determinant of successional patterns and one that can be especially sensitive to the combination of high intensity and large size. If dispersal from outside the disturbed area is important, then the size, shape, and configuration of disturbed patches will influence propagule availability and thus vegetation composition. Spatial effects of disturbance (disturbance size, shape, and arrangement) become increasingly important when residuals are few or sparse and the disturbance is large; under these conditions, colonization, and hence succession, become slower and more difficult to predict.

Applying the theoretical and empirical advances in understanding of how disturbance and succession interact to large, heterogeneous landscapes is challenging because of the spatial interactions and the long time scales involved. Integrated models of disturbance and succession can reveal trends and dynamics in landscapes that cannot be easily observed empirically, and such models may be particularly useful for addressing questions of broad-scale disturbances or global change. Disturbance-succession dynamics are key components of understanding the historical range of variation in landscapes. Landscapes can exhibit a variety of behaviors under different disturbance regimes, and the same landscape may shift among different regions of behavior. Landscapes that traditionally are considered as being in equilibrium are characterized by small and infrequent disturbance and rapid recovery. Conclusions regarding landscape equilibrium are appropriate only for a specified spatial and temporal scale. Failure to recognize this dependence can lead to sharply different interpretations about the same dynamics.

Ecologists have made tremendous progress in understanding individual types of disturbance. Multiple disturbances affect many landscapes, and understanding how disturbances may interact is an important topic of research in contemporary landscape ecology. In addition, because disturbances are a key source of landscape pattern, changing disturbance regimes are likely to alter landscapes. Understanding the sensitivity of disturbance regimes to environmental change, especially climate change, and the landscape-level consequences of changing disturbance regimes will remain key goals in landscape ecology for the foreseeable future.

\sim DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- How can a disturbance both create landscape pattern and respond to landscape pattern? Use at least one example of a natural disturbance (preferably, one not discussed in depth in this chapter) to illustrate your answer.
- 2. Succession is generally defined as change in vegetation through time; thus, temporal dynamics are explicit. Is succession also spatial? Why or why not? Under what conditions will the spatial pattern of disturbance influence succession, and when might such patterns be unimportant?

LANDSCAPE3.How would you compare a natural and human-driven disturbance regime? What
criteria would you suggest for determining whether a human-driven disturbance is
comparable to a natural disturbance for a given landscape?THEORY AND4.Explain how scale dependence is important in understanding disturbance dynamics and
the effects of disturbances on a landscape. Consider both spatial and temporal scale.

- 5. You are charged with developing a strategy for monitoring the effects of disturbance on landscape structure for a large region over the coming century. What would you measure and why? How could you determine the sensitivity of your indicators to changes in the disturbance regime?
- 6. Are disturbance-driven landscapes stable? Define what you mean by stable, and justify your answer.

~ FURTHER READING

- FRATERRIGO JM, RUSAK JA (2008) Disturbance-driven changes in the variability of ecological patterns and processes. Ecol Lett 11:756–770
- KEANE RE, HESSBURG PF, LANDRES PB, SWANSON FJ (2009) The use of historical range and variability (HRV) in landscape management. For Ecol Manage 258:1025–1037
- MEENTEMEYER RK, HAAS SE, VACLAVIK T (2012) Landscape epidemiology of emerging infectious diseases in natural and human-altered ecosystems. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50:379–402
- PERRY GLW (2002) Landscapes, space and equilibrium: shifting viewpoints. Prog Phys Geogr 26:339-359
- PETERS DP, LUGO AE, CHAPIN FS III, PICKETT STA, DUNIWAY M, ROCHA AV, SWANSON FJ, LANEY C, JONES J (2011) Cross-system comparisons elucidate disturbance complexities and generalities. Ecosphere 2(7):art81. doi:10.1890/ES11-00115.1
- TURNER MG (2010) Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. Ecology 91:2833-2849

Organisms and Landscape Pattern

rganisms live in heterogeneous environments; they grow, reproduce, disperse, and die in landscapes that are spatially variable and temporally dynamic. Understanding the interactions of organisms with their environment is, of course, a major focus of ecology; understanding the interactions of organisms with the spatial heterogeneity in their environment is a key emphasis of landscape ecology. Much research relating organisms to landscape pattern was motivated by issues associated with *habitat loss* and *fragmentation*. In many landscapes worldwide, expanding human land use has caused natural habitats to decline, and remaining habitat often has been apportioned into small, isolated patches (Fig. 7.1). Landscape ecologists have mounted field studies, developed simulation models, and conducted experiments to understand and predict the consequences of habitat fragmentation for a wide variety of organisms (e.g., Debinski and Holt 2000; Fahrig 2003; Lindenmayer 2006; Collinge 2009). To maintain biodiversity (the abundance, variety, and genetic constitution of native animals and plants), ecologists also recognized the need for a landscape perspective to complement population, community, and ecosystem considerations (Franklin 1993). It is not only the local habitat amount and quality that matters for organisms, but also the composition and configuration of the surrounding landscape. John Wiens laid out many of

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE



FIGURE 7.1.

(a) Fragmented forest in a matrix of agriculture in the Montérégie, Quebec, Canada.Photo credit: Mont Saint-Hilaire Nature Centre. (b) Tropical forest fragments are surrounded by clearings and mixed land uses in Brazil.

Photo by Erica A. H. Smithwick

these considerations in 1976 in a seminal review article, "Population dynamics in patchy environments," which still makes for excellent reading. In the introduction, Wiens wrote:

In the real world, environments are patchy. Factors influencing the proximate physiological or behavioral state or the ultimate fitness of individuals exhibit discontinuities on many scales in time and space. The patterns of these discontinuities produce an environmental patchwork which exerts powerful influences on the distributions of organisms, their interactions, and their adaptations.— (Wiens 1976:81)

Interest in understanding interactions between organisms and spatial heterogeneity is shared among several disciplines, including population ecology, landscape ecology, wildlife ecology, and conservation biology. Spatial structure is now considered an essential element of theories for processes involving genes, individuals, populations, and communities (Kareiva 1990, 1994; Wiens et al. 1993; Hanski and Simberloff 1997; Zipkin et al. 2009; Lange et al. 2012). Even so, a synthesis among these related fields has yet to emerge. Conventional methods differ among subdisciplines, leading to different emphases on process-pattern dependencies (see Ives et al. 1998). For instance, research in population ecology typically addressed how interactions within and among populations (e.g., competition and predation) generated spatial patterns, which in turn could influence the outcomes of subsequent population interactions. Unlike landscape ecologists, population ecologists did not usually begin with a map describing spatially explicit patterns of resources, and more frequently employed more theoretical and analytical models that were not directly oriented toward a particular organism or management issue (Ives et al. 1998). In contrast, landscape ecologists typically addressed effects of habitat abundance and spatial configuration on a particular population and began with an explicit map of habitat, which might also change through time. Relatively complex simulation models of organisms acting on real (or realistically complex) maps were more frequently used in landscape ecology (e.g., Turner et al. 1995), but landscape ecology was not the only discipline to focus on these issues. A patch-based view of habitat derived from the highly influential theory of island biogeography (MacArthur and Wilson 1967; Haila 2002) became pervasive in landscape ecology. Conservation biology merged approaches from population ecology and landscape ecology to assess habitat and status of threatened or endangered species whose long-term persistence was in jeopardy. Consequently, there is a vast literature and much common ground in the numerous subdisciplines that consider how organisms interact with spatial heterogeneity in their environment.

Recent decades have seen tremendous growth in knowledge relating organisms to landscape pattern and significant expansion of research into many new and exciting directions. Studies have shed light on how landscape heterogeneity affects animal behavior, habitat selection, and movement rates and trajectories; how species interact with one another (e.g., predator-prey dynamics) in complex landscapes; and the patterns and rate of spread of nonnative invasive species. Research has also delved into how the genetic structure of populations varies with landscape structure, and landscape genetic studies have even traced species' migration routes over millennial time scales (e.g., Holderegger and Wagner 2008). Landscape ecologists are also focusing on how changing climate and land-use patterns will affect populations (e.g., Iverson et al. 2011). These topics were barely mentioned in the first edition of this book, but these exciting research avenues have provided important new understanding of organisms and landscapes. We begin this chapter with a brief history of conceptual developments, focusing especially on the paradigm shift from island biogeography to metapopulation biology, expanded views of "habitat" and behavior, and the influence of scale. We next discuss organisms as a cause of landscape pattern, review general understanding of organism responses to landscape pattern, then introduce species interactions, landscape ecology of invasions, and landscape genetics.

Organisms and Landscape Pattern LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT OF ORGANISM-SPACE INTERACTIONS

Ecologists have long observed that habitat can be isolated in patches, like "islands" in an inhospitable "ocean" of other land uses. David Lack (1942), for example, noted that remote British islands had fewer bird species than nearer islands. A. S. Watt (1947) pointed out that the isolated patches of vegetation on the heterogeneous landscape were fundamental to understanding community structure. Andrewartha and Birch (1954) discussed the importance of spatial relationships among largely isolated local populations, noting that local extinction of populations was a common phenomenon and that these sites may subsequently become reoccupied. Huffaker (1958) demonstrated how spatial pattern could create stable or unstable dynamics in a predator-prey system. Some of the earliest theoretical work on spatial of dispersal of organisms made analogies to physical diffusion (Skellam 1951). The *diffusion model*, first applied to biological systems by population geneticists (e.g., Fisher 1937; Dobzhansky and Wright 1947), was clearly presented by Andow et al. (1990) and Holmes et al. (1994). Texts by Okubo (1980) and Turchin (1998) also provide a comprehensive discussion of the theory, application, and measurement of diffusion. The basic equation for diffusion of a population of size N is given by:

$$\frac{\partial N}{\partial t} = f(N) + D\nabla^2 N \tag{7.1}$$

This equation states that the change in number, N, with time, t, can be estimated by two functions: the description of local population growth f(N), and the diffusion of organisms from the surrounding region. The description of population growth f(N) is dependent on the biology of the organism and the objectives of the investigator, and might be as simple as a linear function of net population growth (i.e., birth minus death) or a complex nonlinear function that can account for density-dependent or competitive effects on growth. The diffusion coefficient Ddescribes how rapidly the population moves in space, and ∇^2 is the "diffusion operator," which describes the rate of change of N with distance (the density gradient). In spite of its simplicity, Eq. (7.1) has had remarkable success in explaining the rates at which species have invaded new environments (Lewis 1997).

Diffusion theory showed that if organisms invade a uniform landscape, the rate of spread, *V*, will reach an asymptote equal to:

$$V = \sqrt{4rD} \tag{7.2}$$

where r is the intrinsic rate of population growth. Andow et al. (1990) tested the adequacy of Eq. (7.2) against observed rates of spread for three different species. The results showed that Eq. (7.2) adequately explained the invasion process of
muskrats in Europe and the cabbage white butterfly in North America. In general, Eq. (7.2) can give a good approximation of spread across the landscape, providing the data are gathered at sufficiently broad scales. The complexities of actual landscapes are included as the average value of D and, as long as spatial patterns and environmental conditions affecting population growth remain relatively constant, may provide an adequate description of invasion at landscape scales.

The theory of island biogeography (MacArthur and Wilson 1963, 1967; MacArthur 1972) was an important influence on how ecologists think about organisms and spatial pattern, and for some time, it was the prevailing paradigm guiding the design of conservation reserves (Haila 2002). Island biogeography was developed as a general theory to predict the number of species found on oceanic islands. The theory predicts that the number of species on an island will reach an equilibrium that is positively related to island size (larger islands would contain more species) and negatively related to distance from the mainland (fewer species on islands far from the mainland, which is the source of new colonists). The number of species on an island depends on the immigration rate of species to the island and the extinction rate of species from the island. Immigration to the island is assumed to be a linear function of distance, d, and also depends on the size of the mainland "source community." Early field studies provided empirical support for the theory (Simberloff and Wilson 1969, 1970). The basic concept was expanded to include alpine zones (Vuilleumier 1970) which have communities isolated on the tops of mountains much like oceanic islands. The theory was also applied to cave communities (Culver 1970; Vuilleumier 1973) for which the landscape separating the mouths of caves functions very much like an inhospitable ocean.

With growing concern about habitat fragmentation, drawing the analogy between habitat fragments and islands was easy, and island biogeography was embraced readily by ecologists. The theory was applied to the design of nature preserves in terrestrial landscapes, generating a long debate among ecologists about whether a single large preserve would be better than having several smaller preserves spaced such that organisms could move among them. The argument centered on the fact that a single preserve might hold more total species, but it could be wiped out with a single catastrophic event. In contrast, the smaller preserves would each contain fewer species, but some preserves would be likely to survive any particular catastrophic event. If even a single small reserve escaped the catastrophe, it would provide a source for recolonization of the damaged areas (Burkey 1989; Soule and Simberloff 1986).

Island biogeography theory was subjected to a number of criticisms (Carlquist 1974; Gilbert 1980), and many modifications have been suggested. Perhaps the primary criticism has been the assumption of equilibrium (Diamond 1972; Terborgh 1975). An island system would require a very long period of time to reach such an equilibrium number of species (Simpson 1974), perhaps best measured in geologic time units during which climate and many other factors change. In many ecosystems,

233

Organisms and Landscape Pattern

234

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

chronic disturbance (Villa et al. 1992) would also invalidate the assumption, because the next disturbance would occur long before the system reached equilibrium. It also has been pointed out that islands close to the shore will experience very large immigration rates (Brown and Kodric-Brown 1977). Immigration could overwhelm the extinction rate so that effects of island size would not be evident, although some models incorporated size-dependent immigration. In addition, island size and distance become less important as dispersal ability increases (Roff 1974). Despite these (and other) criticisms, island biogeography theory was important in highlighting effects of the size and isolation of natural areas on their effectiveness in meeting conservation objectives; indeed, these factors remain important considerations in conservation planning. There is overwhelming evidence that species richness increases with area, whether on islands or on the mainland. However, metapopulation models emerged in the late 1980s as another way of thinking about fragmented habitats and heterogeneous terrestrial environments in general; some authors have referred to this as a paradigm shift (Hanski 1989; Merriam 1991), but it can also be considered as a switch to questions at finer spatial scales than those considered by island biogeography.

Richard Levins (1969, 1970) observed that all populations have a finite probability of extinction, m, which is measurably greater than zero and implies that populations will eventually go extinct. However, if the population exists as a patchwork of subpopulations, and the probability of local extinction remains small, then recolonization from neighboring populations may lead to persistence at broader scales. The interconnected set of subpopulations that function as a larger demographic unit was termed a metapopulation by Levins (1969). The concepts and terms used in metapopulation theory (Table 7.1) have been readily incorporated into landscape ecology, in part because metapopulation concepts seem to be an apt description of population dynamics in natural or artificially fragmented landscapes. However, it is notable that the Levins' model of metapopulations is spatially *implicit*; i.e., the process of colonization and extinction of suitable habitat patches is independent of their actual spatial locations. Patches that are large or small, or that are a long distance from neighbors, will all have the same probability of colonization and extinction as sites closer to neighbors. This simple formulation also implies that organisms can easily locate all unoccupied patches no matter how far away they may be or how hostile the intervening landscape matrix. Levins' simple metapopulation model has provided important insights but has been notoriously difficult to apply to actual organisms living in real landscapes. The life-history details of each species that govern reproduction and dispersal and the unique spatial patterns of each landscape cause realized dynamics to diverge significantly from those predicted by Levins' simple three-parameter model. Nevertheless, Levins model provided an important starting point for the development of more complex metapopulation models (e.g., Moilanen and Hanski 1998; Wilcox et al. 2006; Graniero 2007).

TABLE 7.1. Definitions and synonyms of terms used in metapopulation studies

Term	Synonyms	Definition
Patch	Habitat patch, habitat island, site, locality	A continuous area of space with all necessary resources for the persistence of a local population and separated by unsuitable habitat from other patches (at any given time, a patch may be occupied or empty)
Local population	Population, subpopulation, deme	Set of individuals that live in the same habitat patch and therefore interact with each other; most naturally applied to "populations" living in such small patches that all individuals practically share a common environment
Metapopulation	Composite, population, assemblage (of populations, when local populations are called subpopulations)	Set of local populations within some larger area, where typically migration from one local population to at least some other patches is possible
Levins metapopulation	Classical metapopulation	Metapopulation structure assumed in the Levins model: a large network of similar small patches, with local dynamics occurring at a much faster time scale than metapopulation dynamics
Source–sink metapopulation	-	Metapopulations in which there are patches in which the population growth rate at low density and in the absence of immigration is negative (sinks) and patches in which the growth rate at low density is positive (source)
Turnover	Colonization-extinction events; dynamics	Extinction of local populations and establishment of new local populations in empty habitat patches by migrants from existing local populations
Patch model	Occupancy model, presence–absence model	A metapopulation model in which local population size is ignored and the number (or fraction) of occupied habitat patches is modeled
Spatially implicit metapopulation model	Island model	Model in which all local populations are equally connected; patch models are spatially implicit models
Spatially explicit metapopulation model	Lattice model, grid model, cellular automata model, stepping-stone model	Model in which migration is distance dependent, often restricted to the nearest habitat patches; the patches are typically identical cells on a regular grid, and only presence or absence of the species in a cell is considered (the model is called a coupled map lattice model if population size in a patch is a continuous variable)

Adapted from Hanski and Simberloff (1997)

236

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

Metapopulation theory assumes that all patches are of equal quality across the landscape and therefore that birth and death rates are the same in each patch. Ron Pulliam (1988) proposed the special situation of source-sink dynamics in which, in a mosaic of habitats, local populations have unique demographic responses to local variation in habitat characteristics (Fig. 7.2). When demographics (birth and death rates) respond to variation in habitat quality, source-sink dynamics emerge (Dias 1996). Sources are habitat areas where local reproductive success is greater than local mortality. Populations in source patches produce an excess of individuals who must disperse from where they were born to settle and breed. In contrast, sinks are poor habitats where local mortality exceeds reproductive success. Without a new supply of immigrants from nearby sources, these sink populations would go locally extinct. A key insight from this work was that migration of the surplus organisms from the source to the sink could maintain the populations in an apparent demographic equilibrium. Studies of presence only (and even population density) would not detect the negative effect of poor-quality habitat on the population dynamics. Further, removal of patches that were serving as sources for a larger population could lead to catastrophic decline of the population—so patches are not all equal.

FIGURE 7.2.

Illustration of a metapopulation with source (*dark patches*) and sink (*light patches*) subpopulations. A few source habitats provide excess individuals which then emigrate and colonize sink habitats. *Arrows* indicate the primary directions of movement between patches.

Adapted from Pulliam and Dunning (1994)



Further, if sink habitat patches are too abundant relative to source habitat patches, the landscape would be unable to support a viable population (Pulliam and Danielson 1991). The maintenance of high-quality habitat on a landscape is important, and the effects of habitat loss cannot be mitigated by the preservation of sink habitat.

There is clearly much common ground between metapopulation biology and landscape ecology, yet Wiens (1997) identified several important differences. Metapopulation models are typically focused on idealized habitat patches in a featureless landscape and emphasize local extinction, interpatch movement, and recolonization. Four features that characterize landscape ecology are largely missing from metapopulation models: (1) variation in patch quality, (2) variation in the quality of the surrounding environment, (3) boundary effects, and (4) how the landscape influences connectivity between patches (Wiens 1997). The interpatch matrix becomes important in landscape ecology because dispersal between patches occurs through the matrix. If the matrix is inhospitable, like the ocean surrounding an island, then isolation becomes more important because the "habitat islands" become isolated from one another (Kennedy et al. 2011). For example, Bolger et al. (1997a) found that the urban matrix was essentially impervious to native rodents in southern California, as animals did not cross even short distances between remnant habitat fragments. If the matrix has relatively low contrast with the habitat patches, complete isolation is much less likely. Metapopulation models also assumed a landscape in which suitable habitat patches occupy only a small proportion of the landscape, whereas landscape ecologists are often concerned with a wide range of proportions of suitable habitat. It is also important to keep in mind that the matrix and the edges of the patches are themselves habitat for other species (McCollin 1993).

What Is Habitat?

A conceptual development in landscape ecology has been a shift toward recognizing habitat as a continuous rather than binary or categorical variable. In a "standard" ecological metapopulation study, an initial task is to distinguish suitable from unsuitable habitat and delimit patches of suitable habitat in a study area (Hanski and Simberloff 1997). Suitable habitat includes areas defined as having the conditions required for a given species to meet its needs for resources, shelter, and successful reproduction. In some instances, the simplifying binary assumption of suitable and unsuitable habitat—sometimes necessary to keep models reasonably simple—is very clear and straightforward. However, in other cases, it can be difficult to partition the landscape into patches of suitable habitat embedded in an unsuitable matrix because habitat quality may vary continuously rather than discretely across the landscape. Thus, landscape ecologists began to expand their view of habitat. Organisms and Landscape Pattern

238

LANDSCAPE Ecology in

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

One of the first landscape-level analyses to consider continuous variation in habitat focused on potential habitat for eastern timber wolves (*Canis lupus lycaon*) in the upper midwestern US (Mladenoff et al. 1995). Although driven nearly to extinction during the early part of the century, wolves were gradually expanding their range, moving eastward from Minnesota into northern Wisconsin and the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. Analyses of data from radiocollared wolves revealed that suitable habitat was a function not only of vegetation type and deer density (deer are commonly preyed upon by wolves) but also of land ownership, road density, and human population density across the landscape (Mladenoff et al. 1995). Wolves were moving throughout the landscape and often crossing unsuitable areas. Although successful establishment of a wolf pack was restricted to high-quality habitat, suitable habitat was not simply a binary category but rather a continuous probability surface (Fig. 7.3). While there are areas where the probability of suitable habitat was quite high, there were also extensive areas with moderate probabilities that could provide habitat to sustain wolves.

Another complexity of identifying suitable habitat in a landscape is that a population may require *complementary* or *supplementary resources* from different types



FIGURE 7.3.

Map of the probability of occurrence of suitable wolf habitat across the upper Midwest, USA, based on spatial extrapolation of a logistic regression model.

Adapted from Mladenoff et al. (1995)

of habitats or patches (Dunning et al. 1992). Thus, areas of a landscape may need to meet multiple criteria to be considered suitable habitat. For example, wintering birds may use some patches for foraging and others for shelter during storms (Petit 1989). The checkerspot butterfly needs cool slopes for prediapause larvae, but warmer slopes for postdiapause larvae and pupae (Weiss et al. 1988). Barred Owls and Pileated Woodpeckers will supplement their diet from surrounding, suboptimal patches (Whitcomb et al. 1977). In these examples, the populations respond to the spatial patterning of different patches on the landscape, complicating the distinction between suitable and unsuitable habitat. Lastly, landscape ecologists have continued to recognize and demonstrate that habitat definitions will vary among species in a scale-dependent manner (e.g., Wiens 1989; Pearson et al. 1999; Miller and Swihart 2004; Girvetz and Greco 2007). Consequently an organism-centered view of the landscape is required to understand the response of each population to the unique patterns of each landscape.

Landscape ecologists now routinely use sophisticated analyses of habitat use that consider multiple characteristics of the environment and are not based on simplistic patch definitions. Habitat selection is the act of choosing the combination of available abiotic and biotic elements that best fulfills the life-history needs of the organism. Habitat selection implies choice among multiple alternatives. What is usually observed is *habitat use*, which refers only to occurrence or presence of an organism at a location and may or may not have been by choice (e.g., a bird might be blown into a habitat by a strong wind rather than having chosen that location). Direct observations (visual or auditory), trapping, and evidence of animal presence (e.g., scat or tracks) provide data on where organisms are found. Advancements in telemetry, such as radio collars or implanted transmitters that provide high-resolution locational data, have catalyzed new studies of how animals use landscapes. Researchers generally document habitat use (i.e., presence or abundance) and infer habitat selection by comparing observed habitat use to available habitat. The gist of these analyses is the expectation that animals will be observed more frequently than expected by chance in their preferred habitats and less frequently than expected in the habitats they choose to avoid (Fig. 7.4). Models that incorporate resource selection functions (RSF) are commonly used to identify the predictor variables (i.e., resource and habitat conditions) that affect habitat use and the spatial scales of these relationships (Manly et al. 2002; Boyce 2006). Indeed, a value of the RSF approach is the ability to incorporate multiple scales and types of predictor variables, which can include the abundance of other species (e.g., predators or prey) as well as conspecifics (Moorcroft 2012). The RSF models estimate the probability of an organism being present on the landscape, given the characteristics of the site. RSF models can then be extrapolated to the landscape to produce a spatially explicit representation of the probability of space use, which may be considered a continuous rather than categorical map of habitat quality (e.g., Fig. 7.5, Boyce et al. 2003).

Organisms and Landscape Pattern

LANDSCAPE FIGURE 7.4. (a) Schematic illustration of the ECOLOGY IN pathway of an animal as it THEORY AND moves through an idealized PRACTICE heterogeneous landscape with three habitat types that are equally abundant (a). The observed and expected frequency of use can be compared (b). In the absence of any preference, animals would be expected **b** to use the habitats in proportion to their availability. Here, the actual Frequency distribution of locations would indicate that animals preferred the habitat indicated by the *darkest* shading. Habitat type Adapted from Moorcroft (2012)Observed Expected

As advances in telemetry facilitated studies of habitat use, they created new opportunities for studying actual movement pathways and understanding finescale habitat selection in heterogeneous landscapes. The high sampling frequency of telemetry data made possible by global positioning systems (GPS)-based telemetry systems made it possible to resolve animal spaces use along a path of relocations, leading to step-selection analyses (e.g., Gustafson and Gardner 1996; Morales et al. 2004; Lookingbill et al. 2010). *Step-selection* evaluates habitat selection based on what is available to an individual animal given its current position, rather than in the landscape overall, and on the individual's physiological or behavioral state (Morzillo et al. 2011; Moorcroft 2012). Step selection recognizes that organisms choose where to go next based on what is accessible from where they are, and it is a fine-scale assessment of habitat use and selection. FIGURE 7.5. Seasonal maps of the relative probability of elk occurrence in Yellowstone National Park in summer (a) and winter (b) based on telemetry data and a resource selection function that was extrapolated spatially. FROM BOYCE ET AL. (2003)



241

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Analysis of movement trajectories and step selection can produce different and complementary insights compared to landscape-level RSF analyses. For example, in a study of elk habitat use in Yellowstone National Park, landscape-level analyses revealed strong habitat selection by elk (Boyce et al. 2003). Fine-scaled analyses of movement trajectories of individual elk were consistent with the landscape analyses, although the importance of different predictors varied among individuals (Forester et al. 2007). However, the movement analyses revealed that landscape-level patterns of movement were driven by animals moving frequently among preferred locations, rather than staying for extended periods of time within preferred habitat (Forester 2005; Forester et al. 2007). This behavior could be part of a predator–prey *shell game* (Mitchell and Lima 2002), in which prey (elk) move purposefully about the landscape patterns of habitat selection could not be used to infer fine-scale habitat use and movement dynamics (Forester et al. 2007). This example also illustrates habitat selection at multiple scales and variation among individuals of the same species.

Behavioral Landscape Ecology

Predicting how animals will respond to climate and land-use change is increasingly important in ecology, and this requires knowledge of how animals behave in real landscapes—how individuals move through a landscape, how they select habitat, and how these choices affect reproductive success (Knowlton and Graham 2010). Movement, dispersal, and habitat selection are well-represented themes in animal ecology, and animal decision-making has been studied by behavioral ecologists for a long time (Lima and Zollner 1996; Moorcroft 2012). However, until recently, there was surprisingly little overlap between behavior and landscape ecology. In their article identifying the need for "a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes," Lima and Zollner (1996) attributed this divergence to vast differences in the scales of thought and study. The emerging field of *behavioral landscape ecology* bridges this divide to explore how behavior of a particular species responds to landscape heterogeneity and changing landscape patterns (Knowlton and Graham 2010). Behavioral landscape ecology seeks to understand the mechanisms that underpin landscape distributions of animals and to develop methods for predicting how animals will respond to changes in their landscapes. For many animals, the movements of individuals are influenced not only by their current environment but also by the history of their past movements. Thus, the role of memory is also key for understanding animal movement and home ranges (Moorcroft 2012).

Although the integration of behavior and landscape ecology is relatively new, Knowlton and Graham (2010) identified general trade-offs between movement and mortality risk from studies to date, including: (1) movement is usually faster and more directional in unfamiliar or suboptimal habitats, (2) movement appears to be augmented for most taxa when corridors were present, (3) movement patterns depend not only on patch characteristics but also on the surrounding landscape, and (4) movement behavior differs between habitat generalists and specialists. A variety of different behaviors or traits can be incorporated directly into studies of organisms in heterogeneous landscapes (Table 7.2). Continued research in behavioral landscape ecology promises to improve the ability to anticipate animal responses to changing landscapes and is important for understanding species interactions.

Studies of organism movements in heterogeneous landscapes and the consequences of movement for population dynamics remain challenging. A review of >400 studies of movement among habitat patches found that most studies did not report rates of interpatch movement and even fewer attempted to determine population consequences of these movements (Bowne and Bowers 2004). It is inherently difficult to measure movement, yet population density and even occupancy or habitat selection can be poor substitutes for actual movement. Further, despite the increased availability of GPS-telemetry data, significant challenges in working with these data remain to be addressed (see Hebblewhite and Haydon 2010).

Models complement field studies in behavioral landscape ecology. For example, computer simulation of movement can provide insight into functional connectivity (e.g., Vogt et al. 2008; Lookingbill et al. 2010), which can be depicted using network models that incorporate nodes, links, and components that are individually scaled for each species. New approaches based on social networks (e.g., Fletcher et al. 2012) are helpful for evaluating scale-dependent connectivity patterns based on movement abilities of different species. These analyses are particularly useful for defining attributes of the matrix that either promote or prevent movement (Lookingbill et al. 2010), as well as identifying smaller patches that serve as stepping stones connecting larger areas that may sustain species within the landscape (Vogt et al. 2008; Saura et al. 2011; Hodgson et al. 2012).

Scale Matters

Recognition that species interactions with landscape pattern were scale dependent evolved concurrently with landscape ecology (Wiens 1989). As with landscape level and step selection of habitat, conclusions about how species respond to pattern at one scale are difficult to translate to another species at another scale. Similarly, a resource patch for one species is not necessarily a resource patch for another, which implies that descriptions of patchiness are species and process specific (Fig. 7.6); a beetle does not relate to its environment on the same scales as a vulture, even though both are scavengers. Returning once again to John Wiens (1976) review article, we read:

First, it is essential that the fabric of spatial scales on which patchiness is expressed be unraveled, and the structure of spatial heterogeneity be related to the variations in environmental states on diverse time scales. The key to achieving this is in shedding our own conceptions of environmental scale and instead concentrating on the perceptions of the organisms, attempting to view environmental structure through their senses.—(Wiens 1976:110) Organisms and Landscape Pattern

LANDSCAPE TABLE 7.2. Behavioral measures or traits that can be quantified and are useful ECOLOGY IN IN STUDIES OR MODELS FOCUSED ON UNDERSTANDING HOW ORGANISMS USE HETEROGENEOUS LANDSCAPES THEORY AND PRACTICE Example of usefulness in landscape studies Behavior or trait Definition Distance at which features Perceptual range Can be used to create a buffer, (such as habitat elements) or probability boundary, in can be detected by the species which an organism can perceive a particular feature or resource

		in the surrounding landscape
Homing ability	The species' ability to return to its home range when it is away from its home range	Can help to define maximum dispersal distances and least- cost movement pathways
Habitat or matrix permeability	The probability an individual will move through habitat or matrix; crossing probability is high in areas that are more permeable	Can be used to define resistance or friction level for a landscape and to identify least-cost pathways of movement
Habitat selection	An individual detects differences in habitat or resources and chooses one area over others	Can identify preferences for different patches or areas of the landscape and locations where organisms are most likely to occur
Gap-crossing ability	The species' ability or willingness to traverse areas of matrix vegetation or suboptimal habitat	Can help to define least-cost pathways and dispersal abilities and to set scales that determine relative patch isolation
Corridor use	Ability or willingness of a species to move through a narrow stretch of habitat that connects larger areas of habitat	Helps to define least-cost pathways of movement and dispersal capacity in varying landscapes
Con-hetero-specific attraction/repulsion	Alteration of movement behavior when members or the same species are detected, or as a function of local population density	Population density can change the attractiveness of different habitat patches and may influence reproductive success
Perceived predation risk	An animal's sense of danger from predators; responsiveness to landscape of fear	May change the attractiveness of different habitat types or landscape positions; may have consequences for fitness

244



There is a strong imperative to focus on the scales that are appropriate for the organism, and to recognize that our human-based perception of scale and pattern may not be the right one. But why do appropriate scales differ among taxa, and how is the "right" scale determined?

Some scale dependencies are due to functional traits, or attributes, of the species, especially those related to mobility or dispersal capability. For example, vagile species may be less sensitive to fine-scale patterns of adjacency than sedentary species or those with limited dispersal distances. In the species-rich mesic forests of the Southern Appalachians, studies of forest herbs have demonstrated that native herbaceous species with good dispersal (e.g., maidenhair fern, *Adiantum pedatum*) are found in small, isolated forest patches, but species with limited dispersal (e.g., the ant-dispersed bellwort, *Uvularia grandiflora*) are absent from small, isolated forest patches (Pearson et al. 1998). Similarly, in a cross-continental synthesis of published studies of how butterflies and moths respond to habitat area and isolation, Ockinger et al. (2010) found that species with low mobility, a narrow feeding niche, and low reproduction were most strongly affected by habitat loss. Body mass may also be important, and strong relationships between body size and habitat-selection scale imply evolutionary adaptation to landscape heterogeneity (Fisher et al. 2011).

To test experimentally for among-species differences in scales of interaction with patch structure, With (1994b) studied three grasshopper species of different body size using "microlandscapes" (Wiens and Milne 1989; Johnson et al. 1992). The study was conducted in grassland habitat, and 25-m² microlandscapes were established in which the heterogeneity of shortgrass cover was varied by establishing replicated treatments with different amounts of grass and arrangements of grassy habitat. With (1994) recorded the movement patterns of the grasshopper species in these different landscape mosaics and applied fractal analysis to compare the landscape

LANDSCAPE perceptions of the different species in the same environments. Results demonstrated that the largest of the grasshopper species moved up to six times faster than the two ECOLOGY IN smaller species, and the species responded differently to micro-landscape structure THEORY AND in the 25-m² plots. The two smaller species also had more complex movement patterns than the larger species, suggesting that these species were interacting with PRACTICE patch structure at a finer scale of resolution than the larger species (With 1994). She concluded from these studies that the grasshopper species were scaling the landscape differently, and suggested that the scale independence of fractal analysis provides a useful tool for identifying such differences among taxa. Thus, the scale of pattern interacts with the scale at which an organism operates to determine its dynamics on a given landscape, and it follows that connectivity is a scale-dependent phenomenon. Whether habitat is connected or not depends on both habitat abundance and spatial arrangement, as well as the movement or dispersal characteristics of the organism.

It is easy to say that interactions between species and spatial heterogeneity are scale dependent, but it can be very difficult to identify the "right" scales in practice. Without a reasonable means of resolving issues of scale, comparisons across species and landscapes are more likely to be misleading than useful. Even different life stages within a species may operate at different scales on the landscape, especially if the life stages differ in vagility and size [e.g., nymphal (flightless) and adult (flighted) grasshoppers; With 1994]. The concept of *ecological neighborhoods* (Addicott et al. 1987) offered a practical and useful way of identifying scales.

Addicott et al. (1987) proposed that ecological neighborhoods for an organism be empirically defined by using three criteria: (1) a particular ecological process (e.g., foraging, reproduction), (2) a time scale appropriate to the process (e.g., day, week, season, year), and (3) the organism's activity or influence during that time period. By tracking the space the organism uses during the time period and focusing on the process, the spatial extent used can be estimated by applying a criterion, e.g., the 95 % of the activity is included in a particular area (Fig. 7.7). This then is the organism's neighborhood. Note that specifying a particular process is important because the ecological neighborhood of an individual's daily foraging may be quite different from that of its annual reproductive activities. The distribution of patches, their isolation, and their temporal duration can then be assessed relative to the size of the neighborhood by defining the following metrics: (1) rp = relative patch size = patch size $(m^2)/neighborhood$ size (m^2) , (2) ri = relative isolation = interpatch distance (m)/neighborhood radius (m), and (3) rd = relative patch duration = patch duration (t)/neighborhood duration (t). By using relative metrics the effect of scale is removed (note that rp, ri, and rd are all dimensionless) and dynamics of different species may be compared. For example, a 10-ha habitat patch for a grizzly bear foraging over a 1000-ha landscape may be functionally similar to a 0.10-habitat patch for a raccoon that forages over a 10-ha area; in both cases, the rp = 0.01, even though the resource patches themselves were quite different.



FIGURE 7.7.

Hypothetical examples of the relationship between cumulative distribution of movement or influence against spatial unit as a means of identifying the ecological neighborhood of an organism. (a) *Dotted lines* at arbitrary points on the cumulative distribution indicate different neighborhood sizes for different decision criteria. (b) Each curve represents a cumulative distribution with an associated neighborhood size for a different ecological process using a decision criterion of 95 %.

Modified from Addicott et al. (1987)

An organism's perception of heterogeneity clearly depends on its scale of activity, and this approach offers a practical way to identify and compare patchiness across a range of different species.

Given that the scale at which organisms use their environment may differ greatly among species, how do we best determine the optimum scale for relating population responses to the structure of the surrounding landscape? Simulation analyses that incorporated the effects of dispersal distance, reproductive rate, and movement behavior offer some guidance (Jackson and Fahrig 2012). Modeling results indicated that dispersal distance has a strong, positive influence on the scale of effect (i.e., species with longer dispersal distance respond to landscape patterns at larger scales); Jackson and Fahrig (2012) suggest using a radius of 4–9 times the median dispersal distance when assessing population responses to the surrounding landscape. Organisms

Landscape

Pattern

and

248

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

An added complexity to the problem of identifying appropriate scales is that many organisms respond to heterogeneity at multiple scales rather than at a single scale. A variety of authors (e.g., Addicott et al. 1987; Senft et al. 1987; Wiens 1976, 1989; Kotliar and Wiens 1990; Pearson et al. 1995) suggested that animals make scale-dependent choices in habitat use and/or foraging, and many studies have since documented such relationships. For example, elk in Yellowstone National Park respond to environmental heterogeneity at multiple scales (Pearson et al. 1995; Boyce et al. 2003). A study of Eurasian lynx (Lynx lynx) in southern Norway used spatial variation in human disturbance and its consequences for lynx survival to test a hierarchical habitat selection hypothesis (Rettie and Messier 2000) and found strong evidence of scale-specific heterogeneity driving individual spatial behavior (Basille et al. 2013). Patterns of plant occurrences may also reflect heterogeneity at multiple scales. For example, species richness in grassland communities in Estonia was related to scale-dependent factors (Gazol et al. 2012). At the landscape scale, species richness was positively related to historical habitat availability, whereas at fine scales, species richness was related to light heterogeneity, shrub cover, and soil depth heterogeneity (Gazol et al. 2012). The multiple scales at which species perceive or respond to their environment, and the fact that these scales often differ from our own, must be recognized in any attempt to understand or predict the response of organisms to spatial heterogeneity. Because species differ in their scales of resource use, studies of species interactions are particularly sensitive to scale (Wiens 1989). Understanding the organism responses to spatial pattern at multiple scales remains a fundamental component of landscape ecology.

EFFECTS OF ORGANISMS ON LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY

The effects of spatial pattern on organisms get the lion's share of attention in landscape ecology, but organisms can also create pattern. Organisms can produce or maintain spatial heterogeneity through physical alteration of the environment and by feeding activities. The concept of organisms as *ecosystem engineers* was proposed by Jones et al. (1994, 1997) to describe organisms that directly or indirectly modulate the availability of resources to other species by causing state changes in biotic or abiotic materials. In so doing, ecosystem engineers modify, maintain, or create habitats. All organisms modify their environment to some extent, but the concept of ecosystem engineering emphasizes physical modifications that are relatively large within the focal landscape (Wright and Jones 2004, 2006). Examples include organisms as diverse as elephants, beavers, bison, deer, trees, and earthworms, all of which physically modify the environment. Despite some differing opinions over semantics (e.g., whether organisms create patterns intentionally or inadvertently), the concept is useful in landscape ecology when thinking about causes of spatial pattern.

A classic example of an ecosystem engineer is the dam-building beaver (Castor canadensis), whose influence in structuring landscapes has been well recognized in landscape ecology (Johnston and Naiman 1990a, b; Little et al. 2012). These animals create ponds and wetlands by damming streams, and they initiate secondary succession when dams are abandoned and ponds drain (e.g., Remillard et al. 1987; Johnston et al. 1995). Beaver dams not only retain water, but they also trap large volumes of sediment that would normally erode downstream. These activities create a mosaic of temporally and spatially variable habitat patches, which have profound long-term consequences for the whole drainage network (Naiman et al. 1994). The "beaver meadows" resulting from dam abandonment can persist for over 50 years (Pastor et al. 1999); on Mount Desert Island, Maine (USA), the variation in wetland communities was driven by gradients of time since beaver dams collapsed (Little et al. 2012). Variation in beaver-created habitats has consequences for species diversity. For example, in the central Adirondack Mountains (New York, USA), beaver increased the number of herbaceous plant species in the riparian zone by 33 % by increasing habitat heterogeneity (Wright et al. 2002). By modifying the plant community, other taxa, such as insects, may be indirectly maintained in the landscape by beaver (Bartel et al. 2010), and biogeochemical cycling is also affected (Naiman et al. 1994). Ecosystem engineers will increase species richness at the landscape scale whenever there are species present in a landscape that are restricted to the engineered habitats during at least some stage of their life cycle (Wright et al. 2002).

Other large animals also modify habitat structure and/or function (Naiman and Rogers 1997). Along river corridors in southern Africa, hippopotamus make nightly feeding forays between rivers and surrounding riparian zones and create a maze of trails and canals that provide movement corridors for many other species (Fig. 7.8; Naiman and Rogers 1997). During the daytime, hippopotamus also deepen pools and create habitat for crocodiles and large fishes. In North American grasslands, *Bison bison* create unvegetated patches (wallows) that provide habitat for fugitive species (Knapp et al. 1999). Smaller animals may also be effective engineers. For example, grazing by Lesser Snow Geese (*Chen caerulescens*) and the activities of earthworms (Holdsworth et al. 2007) produce fundamental changes in soil profiles (Johnston et al. 1971; Hedde et al. 2013). From a landscape perspective, organisms can be key causes of altered physical habitat conditions and landscape heterogeneity.

The concept of *foundation species* (Dayton 1972; Ellison et al. 2005) recognized the fundamental role of dominant (abundant) organisms that provide the physical structure for the rest of the community. Foundation species alter the abiotic conditions and provide a resource base and substrate for the other populations in the ecosystem. Often times, a dominant plant species occupies this role. For example,

Organisms

-

and

Landscape Pattern



FIGURE 7.8.

Activities of large animals, such as hippopotamus, act as ecosystem engineers by physically modifying their environment, as shown here for riparian corridors in African rivers.

Modified from Naiman and Rogers (1997)

Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) dominates young and old-growth forests in many areas of the Pacific Northwest of North America. The live trees, standing snags, and downed logs provide unique habitats for many other species, including the Northern Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis*). In coastal landscapes in the tropics, dense often-monospecific mangrove (*Rhizophora* spp.) forests provide habitat for myriad other species (e.g., Bishop et al. 2012) and play a key functional role with respect to carbon storage (Donato et al. 2011). Multiple foundation species assemblages also can drive landscape-scale patterns of communities and ecosystem function (Angelini et al. 2011).

The loss of foundation species can trigger an unexpected cascade of consequences throughout a landscape (Ellison et al. 2005). In the southern Appalachian Mountains, widespread mortality of eastern hemlock (*Tsuga manadensis*) due to the nonnative hemlock woolly adelgid (*Adelges tsugae*) is changing forest structure (Ford et al. 2012) and prompting land managers to plan for short- and long-term effects of substantial decline in hemlock, the foundation species (Vose et al. 2013). Widespread drought-induced mortality of *Juniperus monosperma* in a northern Arizona woodland resulted in major changes in plant population dynamics and ecosystem function, and increased the presence of cheatgrass (*Bromus tectorum*), a highly invasive graminoid (Kane et al. 2011).

Although this overview of organisms as agents of landscape change and pattern generation is brief, it is important to remember that the interaction between organisms and landscapes is always reciprocal. Some authors are now considering interactions between ecosystem engineers and foundation species, as exemplified by studies of *Organisms* grazing by waterfowl (ecosystem engineers) that affects the distribution of a foundation seagrass (*Zostera noltii*) that increases the spatial complexity of a coastal land-scape (van der Heide et al. 2012). However, organism-based studies in landscape ecology to date have primarily focused on how organisms respond to, rather than generate, spatial patterns, making this a rich area for future research. *Organisms*

RESPONSE OF ORGANISMS TO LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY

Landscape patterns are continually altered by natural disturbances and human activities, resulting in changes in the relative abundance and spatial arrangement of different habitats and/or changes in habitat quality. There is strong interest in how such changes affect the distribution, abundance, and persistence of species across landscapes. The number and diversity of studies that address this topic is truly overwhelming, and our treatment cannot even attempt to be comprehensive. Rather, we briefly summarize general insights that emerged from landscape ecological studies about organisms and space that are now widely recognized. This section ends with a synthesis, suggesting the conditions for which spatial pattern will be important for organisms.

General Insights, from Patch to Landscape

In general, larger more heterogeneous patches contain more species and often a greater number of individuals than smaller more homogeneous patches of the same habitat. Patch size is an important characteristic of landscape structure. There is overwhelming evidence from many taxa and geographic locations that larger patches support a greater number of species (Joshi et al. 2006; Kappes et al. 2009), and that an increase in within-patch heterogeneity (e.g., vertical complexity, microsite variety) will generally increase species richness. This is not surprising based upon the well-documented relationship between species and area (Huston 1994; He and Legendre 2002), and it occurs for several reasons. The larger the habitat patch, the more local environmental variability is contained within it, such as differences in microclimate, structural variation in plants, and diversity of topographic positions. This variability provides more opportunities for organisms with different requirements and tolerances to find suitable sites within the patch.

The relative abundance of edge and interior habitat affects species diversity within a patch. Patch edges and interiors may have different conditions that favor some species but not others, and the relative abundance of edge versus interior habitats varies with patch size. Smaller patches have a greater perimeter:area ratio than larger patches, which means that smaller patches will have a greater proportion of "edge habitat," and larger patches will have a greater proportion of "interior habitat" (Fletcher et al. 2007). Edge effects can extend to variable distances within a patch depending on the habitat type and the measured response (e.g., temperature, humidity, light, species presences or use). Floristic studies in ancient forests (i.e., forests that have never been cleared for agriculture) in northern France indicate that edge effects can be detected at distances in excess of 500 m (Berges et al. 2013). Related to the effect of patch size on edge habitat is the effect of patch shape on the boundary, or *ecotone*, between two cover types. Simple shapes (like circles) have a lower perimeter:area ratio than do complex shapes of the same area. Human activities often simplify boundary shapes, changing complex patch boundaries that may follow topographic variability or result from natural disturbance into straight lines (Krummel et al. 1987).

A review of theoretical and empirical studies of species interactions with habitat edges (Fagan et al. 1999) suggested four general classes of effects: (1) edges may be barriers or filters to movement, (2) agents which alter mortality rates, (3) areas providing energetic subsidies or refuge, and (4) as regions where novel interspecies interactions may occur. The wide differences in response of different species to edges can result in very different effects. Fagan et al. (1999) noted that knowledge of "edge-mediated dynamics place(s) severe limitations" on our understanding of processes leading to species colonization or extinction, which comprise the conceptual core of island biogeography and species–area relations.

Despite many observations of species richness increasing with patch size, the effect of patch size alone is not easily determined. Patch characteristics may fail to predict species occurrence in a particular patch because the conditions of the surrounding landscape also play an important role. In an analysis of *occupancy* (i.e., presence or occurrence) data from 1015 bird, mammal, reptile, amphibian, and invertebrate populations on six continents, Prugh et al. (2008) found that patch area and isolation were surprisingly poor predictors of occupancy for most species. Their analysis highlighted the importance of characteristics of the intervening or surrounding matrix (Prugh et al. 2008)—which we consider in greater detail.

Characteristics of the surrounding landscape can strongly influence local populations within a patch. The presence or abundance of organisms at a given location or within a particular patch is often explained by characteristics of the focal patch and by *landscape context*, i.e., attributes of the surrounding landscape, although the relative importance of these two levels of influence varies among taxa. An early paper by Jerry Franklin (1993) argued that understanding attributes of the matrix, which allow species to move through landscapes, was essential when designing habitat reserves. One of the first field studies designed to evaluate effects of the landscape matrix on populations was conducted by Scott Pearson (1993), who studied wintering birds in powerline rights-of-way (ROW) in the Georgia piedmont. These ROWs are corridors in which the vegetation is maintained in an open state, usually

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE



FIGURE 7.9.

Illustration of different spatial extents at which landscape patterns were characterized by Pearson (1993) and used in statistical models of bird species presence and abundance in powerline right-of-way sample plots.

Adapted from Pearson (1993)

by mowing, so that shrubs and herbaceous plants dominate. The areas surrounding the ROW may also be open, forested, or in cultivation. Pearson recorded the abundance of different bird species and the characteristics of the vegetation (such as height, density, and species composition) within each ROW, and quantified the types of habitats in the surrounding landscape based on aerial photography (Fig. 7.9). He found that variability in the presence and abundance of certain wintering birds [e.g., Parids (titmice) and Rufous-sided Towhee (*Pipilo erythrophthalmus*)] was best explained by the habitats in the surrounding landscape (Table 7.3). Other species [e.g., Northern Cardinal (*Pyrrhuloxia cardinalis*) and White-throated Sparrow (*Zonotrichia albicollis*)] responded only to the characteristics of the local habitat, and yet other species [e.g., Carolina Wren (*Thryothorus ludovicianus*)] responded both to local conditions and to the landscape context (Table 7.3).

Many, many subsequent studies have tested for the influence of landscape context and patch-level habitat variables on biodiversity measures. Lindenmayer and Nix (1993) found that the occupancy of corridors by arboreal marsupials in Australia could not be predicted by habitat features within the corridor; information on the composition of the surrounding landscape was required. Winter foraging patterns of elk and bison in northern Yellowstone National Park were explained in part by landscape context (Pearson et al. 1995). Models explaining breeding bird

LANDSCAPE TABLE 7.3.

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Matrix r^2 Model r^2 Response variable Community measures Total number of birds 0.24 0.73 Species richness 0.74 0.74 Shannon diversity 0.82 0.82 Functional groups 0.57 Forest species 0.84 Early successional species 0.18 0.18 Generalists 0.13 0.73 Parids 0.65 0.76 Selected species Carolina wren 0.48 0.83 Field sparrow 0.24 0.24 0.24 Dark-eyed junco 0.24 0.31 Northern cardinal 0.83 Rufous-sided towhee 0.54 0.83 Song sparrow 0.19 0.19 White-throated sparrow 0.00 0.83

Results of stepwise regression models of bird response variables as explained

BY WITHIN-HABITAT VARIABLES AND CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SURROUNDING LANDSCAPE

MATRIX r^2 reflects the amount of variation explained only by the landscape matrix variables. Model r^2 is the coefficient of determination for the entire regression equation. Amount of variation explained only by within-habitat variables can be computed by difference. From Pearson (1993)

abundance in an urban southern California landscape were significantly improved when landscape variables were added (Bolger et al. 1997). Landscape context also was needed to explain the species richness and abundance of wild bees in southern Lower Saxony, Germany, which were positively associated with the proportion of seminatural habitats and diversity of habitats in the surrounding landscape, and the scale of the effect varied among taxa (Steffan-Dewenter et al. 2002). In general, occupancy or visits to habitat patches are more likely when that habitat type is abundant in the surrounding landscape (Pearson 1993; Lewis et al. 2011); this effect has been documented in many mobile animals, such as mammals, birds, and flying insects that easily move among patches. For species that require a diversity of habitats in the surrounding landscape, patch occupancy or species density may be explained by the mix of patch types that provide supplementary or complementary resources (Dunning et al. 1992).

Landscape heterogeneity also been shown to promote population stability. Empirical data on 35 British butterfly species at 166 different sites revealed that the butterfly populations were more stable in heterogeneous landscapes with a variety of habitat types (Oliver et al. 2010). Furthermore, topographic heterogeneity also appeared to promote stability. As with larger patch sizes, landscapes that have greater heterogeneity may provide a wider range of resources and microclimates that may buffer population fluctuations (Oliver et al. 2010). The key take-home point from these (and many other studies) is that the surrounding landscape often has a strong influence on local populations.

Given the vast number of studies that have been published, have generalities emerged among taxa regarding when and why landscape context matters? Thornton and colleagues reviewed 122 focal patch studies to determine whether the probability of a species responding to the landscape, patch, and within-patch factors varied among taxa and with body size, landscape type, and study methods (Thornton et al. 2011). They found birds to be the most common study species, followed closely by mammals, and herpetofauna were the least common study species. Over half (56 %) of the species included in their review responded to at least one measure of landscape context, similar to the 59 % reported in an earlier study by Mazerolle and Villard (1999). Mammals were more likely to respond to landscapelevel variables than were birds, and studies that included a large number of focal patches (i.e., high sample size) were best able to detect such a response. Studies that evaluated characteristics of the surrounding landscape in buffers (e.g., Fig. 7.9) were more likely to detect an effect of landscape context than studies that only used metrics of patch isolation, but the use of multiple buffers did not increase the likelihood of detecting an effect (Thornton et al. 2011), although the magnitude of effects can vary with buffer distance. Species also had a high probability of response to within-patch variables, supporting the influence of fine-scale features of the environment with which species interact most directly (Cushman and McGarigal 2004; Thornton et al. 2011). Interestingly, measures of species density or abundance were more sensitive to within-patch variables than was presence-absence.

Collectively, these examples demonstrate that landscape variables are often key determinants of species' distributions and abundances. This insight is very important for land management because it suggests that what happens in small, local areas is often influenced by the surrounding landscape. Therefore, conservation efforts must consider the characteristics of the surrounding landscape or matrix. For future studies, Thornton et al. (2011) offered several recommendations that merit attention. They argued for (1) reporting standardized effect sizes in focal Organisms and Landscape Pattern

256

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

patch studies to facilitate comparisons among different studies; (2) narrowing the vast set of landscape metrics to a few that are particularly relevant and can be readily applied across studies and ecosystems; and (3) consistent use of a variance partitioning approach that would enable the relative amount of variance explained by predictors at different levels to be compared. Following these guidelines would lead to an enhanced ability to derive generalities from the growing library of empirical studies, which would also feed directly into management recommendations.

The effect of landscape composition on organisms is often stronger than the effect of landscape configuration. As studies of different species in fragmented landscapes accumulated, the question of whether habitat loss or habitat arrangement was driving species' responses came to the fore. Answers differed among taxa and organism responses (e.g., occupancy, abundance, movement, or persistence), but answers also depended on how "habitat fragmentation" was assessed. Many early studies did not separate the effects of composition from those of configuration (see Chap. 4), and as a result, the effect of habitat arrangement relative to overall habitat availability was overestimated. These issues are well described by Lenore Fahrig in an excellent review of habitat fragmentation (Fahrig 2003). As a process that transforms a large expanse of continuous habitat, four effects of habitat fragmentation on habitat pattern are implied: (1) reduction in habitat amount, (2) increase in the number of habitat patches, (3) decrease in the sizes of habitat patches, and (4) increase in the isolation of patches (Fahrig 2003). Fahrig argued persuasively that determining whether habitat fragmentation per se has a direct effect on biodiversity depends on whether or not changes in habitat pattern (i.e., an increase in the number of patches with a decrease in patch size) influence species independent of habitat loss within the landscape. Because measures of fragmentation are made at the landscape scale, data at the level of individual patches (i.e., focal patch studies) do not capture the effects of landscape fragmentation. Distinguishing the effects of patch size from the effects of landscape-level habitat fragmentation is difficult but essential (Fig. 7.10), but because these two variables are naturally confounded inappropriate study designs (and analysis) can lead to incorrect conclusions. The merging of composition and configuration effects in many habitat fragmentation studies has obscured the fact that the effects of total habitat loss far outweigh the effects of fragmentation per se (Fahrig 2003).

The studies reviewed by Fahrig (2003), as well as many other studies, have clearly demonstrated negative effects of habitat loss on biodiversity metrics including species richness, population abundance and distribution, genetic diversity, and even breeding success and population growth rate. The question is then how fragmentation of habitat affects biodiversity independent of habitat loss. *Fragmentation* per se refers to the effects of breaking apart of a given amount of habitat, or in other words, a change in spatial configuration after controlling for habitat amount (Fig. 7.11). Negative effects of habitat fragmentation can be attributed primarily to two effects. First, fragmentation implies a larger number of smaller patches, and at some point, patches get so small that a local population cannot be sustained.



FIGURE 7.10.

(a) Patch-scale study. Each observation is represented by a single patch in a single landscape, so landscape-scale inference has n=1. (b) Landscape-scale study. Each observation represents information from a single landscape, and multiple landscapes are studied. Here, n=4.

Adapted from Fahrig (2003)

Second, edge effects can have a negative influence on populations, such as the wellknown increase in predation and nest parasitism on forest birds along patch edges (Gates and Gysel 1978). Surprisingly, Fahrig (2003) also found evidence for positive effects of habitat fragmentation, which may emerge from the stabilizing influence of spatial heterogeneity may have on species interactions or single-species populations.

Large field experiments complement observational studies by providing appropriate controls for pattern variables (e.g., patch number, area, and size) that are naturally confounded when fragmentation occurs (Ewers et al. 2011). For instance, the Savannah River Site Corridor Experiment manipulated landscape pattern to compare isolated versus connected designs while controlling for total habitat area (Haddad 1999a, b; Damschen et al. 2006). Results found that habitat patches connected by corridors retain more native plant species, but edge effects determine movement of air-borne plant pathogens (Johnson and Haddad 2011). An experiment studying insect dispersal was conducted at finer scales by With et al. (1999) using landscape-level designs based on fractal algorithms to vary edge effects while holding the overall proportions of grass and bare ground constant. The results showed a threshold response of dispersal based on insect body size, with grassy areas providing cover and sandy areas allowing rapid dispersal. Ewers et al. (2011) described the



design criteria for a new forest fragmentation experiment to be initiated in lowland tropical forests of Borneo that will allow discrimination of landscape-level forest cover from patch-level processes, facilitate collection of a wide range of data types, increase replication relative to existing experiments, include manipulation of riparian corridors, and embed the study in a wide gradient of land-use intensity. While experimental approaches are essential, relatively few large experimental studies have been conducted because they are costly to perform and difficult to replicate.

Landscape composition strongly influences landscape connectivity. Landscape connectivity refers to the degree to which the landscape facilitates or impedes movement among resource patches (Dunning et al. 1992). While conceptually simple, quantifying landscape connectivity continues to be a challenge (Calabrese and Fagan 2004). Although connectivity metrics abound (e.g., Kindlmann and Burel 2008; Prugh 2009), direct observation of movement is difficult for many species and often impossible when large areas must be monitored. Thus, many studies have relied on assessments of *structural connectivity*, the degree to which landscape elements are contiguous, or physically linked, to one another. *Functional connectivity* considers the actual movement or dispersal of organisms and is the degree to

258

259

which movement occurs. It is important to distinguish potential or structural connectivity from actual or functional connectivity (Bélisle 2005). As with patch occupancy, connectivity in the landscape can be strongly influenced by the surrounding matrix, that is, the areas that are not the habitat of interest. There are at least three important roles of the matrix on connectivity (Murphy and Lovett-Doust 2004). (1) The matrix may either reduce or enhance dispersal and colonization rates. (2) The matrix may provide alternative, though perhaps suboptimal, habitat for the population. (3) The matrix may be a source of novel invading species that compete with the focal population for patch space, prey on the focal species, or provide a resource.

An example of how land-cover change can affect organism movement and alter landscape connectivity comes from studies of the poison-dart frog, Oophaga pumilio, in and near the La Selva Biological Station in Costa Rica (Nowakowski et al. 2013). As a group, amphibians can be especially sensitive to landscape changes, such as forest clearing, which increase their vulnerability to dessication or predation risk and/or alter the physical permeability of the vegetation to movement. The colorful poison-dart frog is a common species often found in lowland and wet forests, including tree plantations. Experimental studies of the poison-dart frog revealed increased resistance to movement (i.e., reduced connectivity) in pastures compared to secondary forests (Nowakowski et al. 2013). Pastures are hotter and drier, providing inhospitable microclimate conditions for the frog, and the authors suggest predation rates are also higher in pastures. Further, movement orientation was strongly directional toward forest and away from open habitat when frogs were placed in pasture locations that were within 50 m of a forest edge. Movement orientation was random in undisturbed forests and in pastures >50 m from forest, which was probably beyond the perceptual range of the frog (Nowakowski et al. 2013). In this fragmented forest landscape, the poison-dart frog must often travel across a matrix of semipermeable pastures to move among forest habitat patches.

A study of a Neotropical understory frugivorous bat (*Rhinophylla pumilio*) in French Guiana provides an excellent example showing the relative importance of functional landscape connectivity and local resources on bat abundance (Henry et al. 2007). Using a 10-year bat mist-net survey coupled with local estimates of food availability, Henry et al. monitored bat use of 18 sampling sites ranging from undisturbed forest communities to small, remote forest fragments. They assessed connectivity based on the amount of forest cover in the landscape surrounding each site and used radio-tracking data to weight these forest areas by the probability that bats would use them. The results of the study showed that abundance of *R. pumilio* was positively correlated with landscape connectivity, but not correlated with local food availability (Henry et al. 2007).

Habitat connectivity is related to habitat abundance and can be a threshold phenomenon (see Chap. 3). Andren (1994) reviewed the empirical evidence for birds and mammals that could be used to test predictions derived from neutral landscape models regarding habitat connectivity. He examined habitat fragmentation,

Organisms and Landscape

Pattern

260

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

including the combined effects of loss of habitat, reductions in patch sizes, and increased distances between patches. His results led to the conclusion that the relative importance of these three habitat characteristics differs as a function of the total abundance of suitable habitat in a landscape. When landscapes have >30 % suitable habitat, the primary effect on habitat connectivity is habitat loss. This is because in landscapes with relatively high proportions of suitable habitat, the habitat is reasonably well connected while its configuration is less important. In experimental landscapes designed to study beetle movement, Wiens et al. (1997) found threshold effects when grassy habitat was less than 20 %. Simulations conducted by Fahrig (1997) also demonstrated that the effects of habitat loss could outweigh the effects of habitat fragmentation on population extinction. In landscapes with low proportions of suitable habitat (10-30 %), the spatial arrangement of patches was very important. Further reduction in habitat resulted in an exponential increase in distances between patches, that is, rapid decreases in connectivity; With and King (1999a) found evidence for a strong effect of gap structure on dispersal success. Moreover, the effect of patch size and isolation depends not only on the proportion of original habitat in the landscape, but also on the suitability of the surrounding habitats (e.g., the matrix, areas between "patches") for movement. Indeed, the results from both the theory and empirical studies suggest that conservation actions, such as adding habitat or protecting key locations, are most likely to have substantial effects on habitat connectivity when the suitable habitat is relatively low in abundance (Andren 1994; Pearson et al. 1996; Fahrig 1997). It is in this range where small changes in habitat abundance are likely to cause the threshold of connectivity to be passed. It is important to recognize that the effects of habitat loss cannot be mitigated simply by connecting remaining habitat fragments-but enhancing connectivity can help, and corridors have become cornerstones of modern conservation (Chetkiewicz et al. 2006).

Corridor creation can both add habitat and promote movement. Corridors are regions of the landscape (typically narrow strips of habitat) that connect otherwise isolated habitat patches and facilitate the flow or movement of individuals, genes, and ecological processes. The primary purpose of corridors was to counter the consequences of habitat loss and fragmentation, although corridors were also thought to provide routes and habitats for organisms moving in response to climate change (Chetkiewicz et al. 2006). Corridors are assumed to increase population persistence by providing for an exchange of individuals among a population that was previously connected but which is now fragmented. Because corridors may be strongly influenced by edge effects, interior habitat is often minimal and may even be absent completely in corridors. Corridors are intuitively appealing, but empirical evidence that documented whether and how corridors function lagged behind implementation, and there has been much discussion regarding their effectiveness (e.g., Simberloff and Cox 1987; Saunders and Hobbs 1991; Hobbs 1992; Beier and Noss 1998; Damschen et al. 2006).

Rosenberg et al. (1997) provided a useful distinction between two functions of linear landscape features: (1) corridors may themselves provide habitat, containing the resources needed for survival, reproduction, and movement, and thus augment habitat area; or (2) corridors may augment connectivity, providing for movement between habitat patches but not necessarily for population persistence. Rosenberg et al. (1997) synthesized the literature and identified a set of common patterns about corridor effectiveness. First, when confronted by a choice, individual animals were likely to select pathways for movement that included components of their habitat, and this behavior was most pronounced for individuals moving within their home range. Second, the relative use of the matrix for movement depended on its contrast with the organism's suitable habitat. Third, animal behavior could change in areas of less favorable habitat; e.g., animals may move more rapidly when traversing low-quality habitat than in high-quality habitat. Many questions remained, however, and subsequent studies have yielded more understanding of the function of landscape corridors (e.g., see Chetkiewicz et al. 2006; Gilbert-Norton et al. 2010).

Recent experimental studies have been particularly instructive. For example, Sharon Collinge (2000) conducted an experimental study of grassland patches within a matrix of mowed vegetation and tested for effects of corridors on arthropod communities. Corridor effects on insect diversity were weak, perhaps because the patch and matrix habitats had relatively low contrast, and the insect species had relatively high capacity for dispersal, suggesting a broader scaling of the landscape. In a forest matrix, the Corridor Experiment at the Savannah River Site in Aiken, South Carolina, has tested for effects of corridors on a wide range of species and responses while controlling for habitat area and patch shape (e.g., Haddad 1999b; Haddad et al. 2003; Fig. 7.12). The first experiment examined the effect of connecting habitat patches, which were openings in the forest matrix, by nonforest corridors of different length. There was increased movement of birds, plants, butterflies in open patches that were connected by a corridor, along with increased density and gene flow for some butterfly species. These studies suggested that corridors do indeed promote movement or organisms among patches, and a recent review indicated that corridors increased interpatch movement by about 50 % compared to movement between isolated patches (Gilbert-Norton et al. 2010).

The second experiment at the Savannah River Site was designed to evaluate the mechanisms of movement along corridors joining adjacent patch areas, i.e., were effects due to habitat area, patch shape, or connectivity? Eight experimental land-scapes were established with each centered on a 1-ha open habitat patch. By adding the area included in corridors to unconnected patches, the effect of area alone could be considered. By extending dead-end "wings" from the central patch, the effect of additional edge habitat that did not lead to another patch could be considered. The results showed that corridors increased the movement of birds, plants, and butterflies (e.g., Levey et al. 2005; Tewksbury et al. 2002; Haddad and

Organisms and Landscape Pattern



FIGURE 7.12.

Aerial view of the corridor experiment that was established at the Savannah River Site, Aiken, NC (Photo by Ellen Damschen)

Tewksbury 2005); increased density of three butterfly species (Haddad and Baum 1999); and enhanced gene flow for one butterfly species (*Junonia coenia*) (Wells et al. 2009). Interspecific interactions were also affected. For example, seed predation by small mammals increased in connected patches, but seed predation by invertebrates increased. The fate of wind-dispersed seeds was affected by both patch shape and connectivity. The net effect of corridors on plant community diversity was an increase in plant species richness in connected vs. unconnected patches, and the difference increased over time (Damschen et al. 2006). Current research priorities include elucidating the roles of corridor quality and the habitat matrix on movement, and understanding how corridor width may influence functional connectivity (Damschen 2013).

Synthesis: when is spatial pattern important? The effect of spatial heterogeneity on organisms, while interesting in its own right, certainly adds a substantial degree of complexity to population or community studies. But when is space really important and when might spatial relationships be prudently ignored? It is absolutely critical to account for habitat amount when considering the effect of habitat configuration (including edge effects) on any population response. Spatial pattern (i.e., configuration) is likely to matter most when habitat is relatively scarce and matter less when habitat is abundant. Spatial pattern will also matter when edge effects

influence organisms (e.g., Johnson and Haddad 2011) because edge:area ratios Organisms vary with patch size and shape. Spatial patterns will also be important if habitat and arrangements limit organism movements between patches and if a population is characterized by metapopulation dynamics. From this, we can infer that spatial Landscape considerations may not be needed if habitat is very abundant or if movement is Pattern relatively unlimited, allowing organisms to reach nearly all areas containing suitable habitat. Finally, it is essential to recognize the limitations of a strictly patchbased view of the world that ignores the nature of the landscape matrix and to know when a more complete or continuous view of spatial heterogeneity is required. Spatial pattern will matter if landscape context explains variation in population metrics among sites. Franklin (1993) argued that conservation considerations should include both a patch-based component, such as the design (size and spacing) of nature reserves, as well as assessments of the condition (and management) of the matrix, i.e., the intervening areas between patches or reserves. For an excellent summary that includes hypotheses for when landscape heterogeneity influences biodiversity (Table 7.4), we also refer readers to Tscharntke et al. (2012).

TABLE 7.4.

Eight hypotheses proposed by Tscharntke et al.	(2012)) FOR HOW	LANDSCAPE	HETEROGENEI	TY MAY
INFLUENCE BIODIVERSITY PATTERNS AND PROCESSES					

Hypothesis name	Hypothesis statement
Landscape species pool	The size of the landscape-wide species pool moderates local (alpha) biodiversity
Dominance of beta diversity	The landscape-moderated dissimilarity of local communities determines landscape-wide biodiversity and overrides negative local effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity
Cross-over habitat spillover	Landscape-moderated spillover of energy, resources, and organisms across habitats, including between managed and natural ecosystems, influences landscape-wide community structure and associated processes
Landscape-moderated concentration and dilution	Spatial and temporal changes in landscape composition can cause transient concentration or dilution of populations with functional consequences
Landscape-moderated functional trait selection	Landscape moderation of species functional trait selection shapes the functional role and the trajectory of community assembly
Landscape-moderated insurance	Landscape complexity provides spatial and temporal insurance, i.e., higher resilience and stability of ecological processes in changing environments
Intermediate landscape-complexity hypothesis	Landscape-moderated effectiveness of local conservation management is highest in structurally simple, rather than in clears (i.e., extremely simplified) or in complex landscapes
Landscape-moderated biodiversity vs. ecosystem service management	Landscape-moderated biodiversity conservation of endangered species will not optimize functional diversity and related ecosystem services in production systems

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY AND SPECIES INTERACTIONS

Early work in landscape ecology elucidated how species presence, richness, and abundance varied with landscape composition and configuration. More recently, researchers have extended this line of inquiry by delving into how biotic interactions and community distributions may be influenced by landscape heterogeneity. For instance, in fragmented forests of the Pacific Northwest, elevated densities of deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*) in clear-cuts were associated with reduced recruitment of trillium (*Trillium ovatum*) because of greater seed predation by these mice within clear-cuts (Tallmon et al. 2003). Thus, a prescribed cutting pattern of forested landscapes resulted in shifts in biotic interactions that subsequently altered population dynamics. We next consider research that moves beyond single populations.

Predator-Prey Interactions

One exciting research topic is determining how landscape heterogeneity mediates *predator-prey interactions*, which affect population dynamics and community structure in many landscapes (Abrams et al. 1996; Schmitz 1998). Although this topic has long been a focus in theoretical population ecology, predator-prey interactions in the real world take the form of a dynamic game played in spatially complex landscapes. Outcomes for the prey and the predator—being eaten or getting a meal—are affected by what other players do and the setting in which interactions occur. Thus, empirical predator—prey studies expanded to consider explicit space (e.g., Fauchald et al. 2000; Kunkel and Pletscher 2001; Phillips et al. 2004; Hernández and Laundré 2005). Studies have evaluated patterns of space use and movements of predators and prey in concert to explain their co-occurrence on the landscape and the patterns of predation that result. But why does space matter?

Landscape patterns can influence the probability of prey encounters and kills (Hebblewhite et al. 2005) and the effectiveness of antipredator strategies (Andruskiw et al. 2008). Landscape attributes (such as habitat type, habitat connectivity, patch size, and topographic setting) can render prey more or less susceptible to predation, and effects of the landscape can differ between the encounter and attack stages of predation (Hebblewhite et al. 2005). Further, landscape locations where prey are most likely to be encountered by predators may not coincide with areas where prey are most likely to be killed. Using a wolf–elk study system in Banff National Park, Canada, Hebblewhite et al. (2005) found strong evidence for an influence of the landscape—for example, the odds of elk being encountered by wolves were 1.3 times higher in pine forest and 4.1 times less in grasslands than in other habitats. They then combined the probability of encounter and conditional probability of death into a spatially explicit function of predation risk. However, prey may need to use risky locations because safe patches may not provide adequate food or other

resources. This need for prey to use high-risk patches ultimately drives the predator-prey system in a heterogeneous landscape, and it is in those high-risk areas that "the deadly game of stealth and fear is played out" (Laundré 2010).

A 16-year telemetry study of a one-predator-one-prey system of pumas (Puma concolor) and mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) in southern Idaho and northwestern Utah, USA, provides a useful example of predator-prey dynamics in a complex landscape. Laundré (2010) tested a set of predictions regarding predator-prey distributions and patch use by the predator. The landscape consisted of various-sized forest and open areas with low shrubs and grasses. The open areas are rich in mule deer forage and relatively safe from puma predation, as pumas require stalking cover and are more successful along forest edges and within forest patches. However, forest patches can provide mule deer with protection from heat during summer and from wind and cold during winter; thus, deer move between relatively safe open patches and riskier forest patches. The study clearly showed that pumas and deer do not use forest patches at random. Pumas used large forest patches more than expected, revisited individual large patches more than smaller ones, and remained longer in larger patches than in smaller ones. Deer spent more time farther from the forest edge than along the edge, and at night, when deer were feeding and pumas were hunting, deer spent most of their time in the low-risk open areas. The results demonstrated a negative relationship in the spatial distribution of the predator and prey, with each player selecting habitat elements that give it the advantage (Laundré 2010). Laundré concluded that, within a heterogeneous landscape, who "wins" the predator-prey game depends on where you are; deer "win" in open areas; pumas "win" in forest edges. The overall outcome will depend on the relative amounts and arrangements of safe and risky habitats. Laundré (2010) posits that, if a landscape is predominantly safe habitat, the prey's response will dominate, and high prey densities and prey:predator ratios are expected. If risky habitat predominates, then prey densities and prey:predator ratios will be lower (Laundré 2010). These and other studies are generating exciting new insights into how the composition and configuration of landscapes can have a surprisingly strong influence on the interactions between species.

In many locations, prey face multiple predators and must evaluate complex patterns of predation risk as they use the landscape. In the Karongwe Game Reserve, South Africa, Thaker et al. (2011) examined the distribution of seven African ungulate species as a function of predation risk from all larger carnivore species (lion, leopard, cheetah, African wild dog, and spotted hyena). They used kill data to generate predictions, for each species of ungulate, of the relative predation risk of different habitats. They tested five different hypotheses of strategies that would reduce the probability of encountering predators and the probability of being killed (Table 7.5). Results demonstrated that ungulates distinguished among different potential predators and were distributed across the landscape in ways that simultaneously minimized predation risk from multiple predators (Thaker et al. 2011). Organisms and Landscape

Pattern

LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY IN THEORY AND	TABLE 7.5. Hypotheses of how ungulates can avoid predation risk in a landscape of multiple predators that were tested for South African ungulates and their predators				
PRACTICE	Hypotheses	Ungulates found to use this strategy			
	Strategies that reduce the probability of encountering predators				
	1. Ungulates avoid areas that are heavily used by their main predators (those with the highest contribution to prey mortality)				
	2. Ungulates avoid areas that are heavily used by all predators	Warthog, impala, waterbuck, kudu			
	3. Ungulates avoid areas that are heavily used by sit-and-pursue predators (lion, leopard), more than they avoid areas used by less predictable cursorial predators (African wild dog, cheetah)	Wildebeest, giraffe, zebra			
	Strategies that reduce the probability of being killed				
	4. Ungulates avoid risky habitats, where the probability of kills is high	Warthog, impala, wildebeest, giraffe, zebra			
	5. Ungulates select safer habitats, where the probability of kills is low	Wildebeest, giraffe, zebra, waterbuck			

Adapted from Thaker et al. (2011)

Prey selected locations that reduced the probability of encounter with a predator as well as the probability of being killed. Ungulate antipredator strategies also varied with body size; smaller prey avoided areas used by all predators, whereas larger prey avoided areas that were often used by lions and leopards (Thaker et al. 2011).

Nonlethal interactions between species can be as important as predation events in affecting how species use a landscape (Peacor 2002; Schmitz et al. 2004; Creel et al. 2005; Werner and Peacor 2006). Prey may perceive the presence of predators through various senses (hearing, smelling, seeing), even in the absence of actual kills, and thus respond to *landscapes of fear* (Brown et al. 1999; Laundré 2010). In landscapes where predators are territorial, prey can avoid areas of high predator activity by using portions of the landscape that are outside or near the boundaries of predator territories. In a reintroduced and expanding population of elk (*Cervus elaphus*) in northern Wisconsin, elk home-range establishment during summer was largely explained by the spatial distribution of wolf territories; elk established home ranges at the boundaries of wolf territories and avoided the centers (Anderson et al. 2005), even though the wolves were preying upon deer rather than elk.

Understanding the spatial context of predation has important implications for conservation. Landscape conservation strategies that do not account for landscape

266

influences on predator behavior and subsequent sifts in predator-prey dynamics may be ineffective at protecting the prey species. For example, various landscape management strategies have been developed to mitigate the effects of human activities, such as forest harvesting, on woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus caribou) populations, but most plans do not account for wolves, their primary predator. One management plan developed in Quebec, Canada, protected large areas of forest and spatially aggregated forest harvests. To determine how that landscape plan might affect wolf predation on caribou, Courbin et al. (2009) modeled the spatial relationships of each species with their habitat, then estimated their co-occurrence in the landscape. The highest probability of wolf-caribou co-occurrence during winter and spring was in the protected forests. The authors recommended that management consider habitat selection by both species and, to conserve caribou, protect areas that included mature conifer forests with lichen, minimized mixed and deciduous forest stands, and were distant from roads and cut blocks (Courbin et al. 2009). More generally, they emphasized the need to incorporate predator behavior into management plans for longterm persistence of prey that are strongly affected by top-down control.

The spatial implications of trophic cascades (Pace et al. 1999) also suggest the potential for spatially dependent consequences of altered behavior and/or numbers of herbivores to affect plant communities. When top-down control operates, the presence of predators may reduce herbivore numbers and release plants from herbivory. In a landscape, such responses would be expected to occur in high-risk locations that might be avoided by foragers. For example, researchers hypothesized that elk herbivory on preferred woody species, such as aspen and willow in Yellowstone National Park, would be reduced by a numerical decline in elk population size or a behavioral response following the reintroduction of wolves in 1995 (National Research Council 2002). Many studies were initiated to evaluate this potential trophic cascade at the landscape level. Although a behaviorally mediated trophic cascade (BMTC) leading to aspen and willow recovery is intuitively appealing, different studies have reported different outcomes (Kauffman et al. 2010; Ripple and Beschta 2012; Winnie 2012). After 10 years, an analysis of kill-site locations in northern Yellowstone showed a strong influence of landscape factors on predation (Kauffman et al. 2007). However, whether these patterns translate to recovery of vegetation is less clear. For example, Creel and Christianson (2009) found increased willow consumption in the presence of wolves, but Beyer et al. (2007) found increased willow growth in the presence of wolves. For aspen, Ripple and Beschta (2012) argue for a BMTC, whereas other authors suggest not (e.g., Kaufmann et al. 2010). Winnie (2012) evaluated specific hypotheses associated with a BMTC involving predation risk, elk and aspen, and found no evidence that aspen were responding to risk factors in ways consistent with the BMTC. His thorough review of published literature focused on vegetation dynamics following wolf reintroduction in Yellowstone (Winnie 2012) also underscores the critical need to develop and testing competing hypotheses consistent with the mechanisms that underpin landscapelevel responses along with the need for rigorous, long-term study.

Organisms and Landscape Pattern LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Predator-prey interactions in heterogeneous landscapes have also been considered for insects, particularly in agricultural landscapes where predators may be *natural enemies* that help to keep crop pests in check (Tscharntke et al. 2007). Noncrop habitat can provide alternative foods and shelter for mobile arthropods that prey on crop pests, and thus conserving noncrop habitats may enhance beneficial species interactions in heterogeneous agricultural landscapes. Research has demonstrated that natural enemies are more diverse and numerous in landscapes with abundant natural or seminatural habitat compared to more homogeneous, intensively cultivated landscapes (e.g., Chaplin-Kramer et al. 2011). However, relatively few studies have assessed the effect of landscape context on such trophic interactions.

Natural Enemies and Pollination in Agricultural Landscapes

To evaluate the relative effect of local and landscape factors on pest predation, Werling and Gratton (2010) studied predation of two insect pests of potatoes, the Colorado potato beetle (Leptinotarsa decemlineata) and green peach aphids (Myzus persicae). These are important pests of potatoes in Wisconsin, USA, and both are attacked by a diverse assemblage of arthropod predators. These authors quantified predation in 50 widely distributed potato fields and evaluated the influence of local grassy field margins and landscape composition within 1.5 km of each potato field. The results varied between the pest species. Predation on the Colorado potato beetle was affected by grassy field margins but was unaffected by landscape context. In contrast, predation on green peach aphid was affected by landscape context, increasing with the amount of noncrop habitat in the surrounding landscape, but was less affected by habitat along field margins (Werling and Gratton 2010). The different responses for the two pest species suggest the importance of conserving noncrop habitats at a variety of scales in agricultural landscapes (Werling and Gratton 2010). Research on cavity-nesting bees, wasps, and their enemies in 30 farmland sites in the Swiss Plateau yielded similar findings (Schüepp et al. 2011). Their study focused on cherry orchards embedded in landscapes that varied in composition within a 500-m radius and were isolated to varying degrees. The species richness of wasps increased with more woody habitat in the surrounding landscape, but wasps and natural enemies were reduced in abundance with increasing patch isolation. There was no significant effect of landscape variables on species richness of bees. Parasitism rates declined with increasing isolation, suggesting that isolation could release arthropods from control by natural enemies (Schüepp et al. 2011).

Landscape pattern can also affect the interactions among natural enemies, leading to unexpected consequences for pest predation. In an experimental study that included three natural enemy guilds (birds, flying insects, and ground-dwelling arthropods), Martin et al. (2013) evaluated the role of landscape context on pest densities and crop yield. Their results seemed surprising at first because herbivore (pest) pressure was *greater* rather than less in landscapes with more seminatural habitats. However, this response resulted from interactions among the natural-enemy guilds. Landscape context had no effect on pest predation by birds
or ground-dwelling insects, but it did influence predation by flying insects. Pest predation by flying insects increased with the percentage of seminatural habitat in the surrounding landscape (Martin et al. 2013). When looking at the trends more closely, when there was >25 % seminatural habitat in the surrounding landscape and birds were present, there was a decline in pest reduction by flying insects (Fig. 7.13). These results suggest that bird predation on flying insects increased in the more diverse landscapes, which in turn reduced pest control by the flying insects (Martin et al. 2013). Thus, complex landscapes may benefit generalist, fourth-trophic-level enemies more than specialist third-trophic-level enemies. This study also highlights opportunities for further unraveling complex trophic cascades in heterogeneous landscape.

Pollination is another biotic interaction that can show strong effects of landscape heterogeneity (Kremen et al. 2007). In coffee plantations in Costa Rica, species richness of bees, visitation rate, and pollen deposition rate were greater in sites within 100 m of forest fragments than in sites that were farther away



FIGURE 7.13.

Summary of landscape effects on trophic interactions between natural enemies and their consequences for plant herbivory. (a–c) Damage in complex landscapes with >25 % seminatural habitat where herbivore pressure is strong. (d–f) Damage in simple landscapes where herbivore pressure is low. See text for explanation.

FROM MARTIN ET AL. (2013)

Organisms and Landscape Pattern

LANDSCAPE(Ricketts 2004). In organic and conventional watermelon (*Citrullus lanatus*) farms
situated along a gradient of isolation from natural habitat in California, USA, pol-
lination services from native bees increased with the proportion of upland natural
habitats surrounding farms (Kremen et al. 2004). Honeybees are the dominant pol-
linator of watermelon in that landscape, and the scale of the relationship matched
honeybee foraging ranges. Furthermore, the stability and predictability of pollina-
tion services increase with the natural habitats in the surrounding landscape. A
practical application of this kind of information is that land-use planners could
establish conservation targets for natural habitats that would help to maintain pol-
lination in the agricultural landscape.

Community Structure

Population interactions imply community-level responses, and landscape ecology studies have indeed begun to evaluate landscape influences on biotic community structure. Such studies grew out of earlier patch-based analyses of species richness and a growing appreciation of how landscape context can influence species interactions. At the community level, these questions focus on how community composition varies with landscape and local influences.

Along a transect extending from France to Estonia, Carsten Dormann along with many colleagues asked whether species turnover and community similarity were affected by landscape structure and local land-use intensity (Dormann et al. 2007). They measured the similarity of plant, bird, wild bee, true bug, carabid beetle, hoverfly, and spider communities sampled along gradients of landscape composition (such as the amount of seminatural habitat), landscape configuration, and land-use intensity. Their results showed a strong effect of the extent of seminatural habitat in the landscape on plant, bird, and bee communities (Fig. 7.14). Plant communities were most similar in homogenous and more fragmented landscapes, whereas bird community similarity increased and wild bee community similarity decreased in landscapes with more seminatural habitats. Furthermore, more intensive local land use led to more homogenous bee, bug, and spider communities within sites, indicating an interaction between landscape and local conditions. The overall patterns for these different biotic communities indicated reduced exchange of species between communities in landscapes dominated by agriculture (Dormann et al. 2007). Interestingly, and related to the discussion of corridors, Dormann et al. (2007) suggested that planting linear elements (e.g., hedgerows) in intensively used landscapes will yield little benefit because they produce little increase in the total area of seminatural habitat. In such landscapes, increasing the total area of seminatural habitat is more important. In contrast, in less intensively used landscapes with more seminatural habitat, increasing connectivity per se would be more advantageous.

Research on plant-community change has produced novel insights about the relative importance of landscape drivers in shaping community structure and whether FIGURE 7.14.

Community similarity in different taxa as a function of percent seminatural habitat in European landscapes from France to Estonia.

Adapted from Dormann et al. (2007)



Percent of semi-natural habitat

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

the role of landscape drivers changes over time. Remeasurement of permanent vegetation plots can be used to track temporal changes in the abundance and distribution of species and to evaluate changes in the variables that explain patterns of change in community assemblages. In Wisconsin, USA, the eminent plant ecologist, John Curtis, sampled hundreds of vegetation plots ca. 1950 to develop a quantitative description of the state's plant communities (Curtis 1959). By 1950, much of this landscape had already been converted to agriculture, and forest fragments were patchily distributed in a matrix of crops, pasture, and urban development (Curtis 1959; see Fig. 4.1) The Curtis data archive has provided a baseline for assessing long-term (40-55 years) vegetation change in a variety of plant communities. Plant ecologists relocated upland forest plots that Curtis originally sampled between 1948 and 1951 and followed identical methods to resample the vegetation between 2002 and 2005 (Rogers et al. 2008, 2009). Between 1950 and 2005, the forest canopy shifted from mostly oaks (Quercus spp.) to more mesic, shade-tolerant species, primarily maples (Acer spp.; Rogers et al. 2008). Understory species diversity declined substantially (~25 %), woody species increased relative to herbaceous species, and the plant communities became more homogenous. These data were then analyzed to determine whether patch size, isolation, and urbanization predicted shifts in native species richness, heterogeneity, and composition (Rogers et al. 2009). Landscape variables were calculated within buffers of 1, 2, and 5 km around each vegetation plot (Fig. 7.15). Results were striking; for the herbaceous community, the strength of correlation with local environmental factors declined sharply from 1950 to 2005 while correlations with landscape variables increased. Patch characteristics of size, proximity, and percent forest cover within 5 km were not correlated with native species in 1950, but all were correlated in 2005. Species losses were greatest in small patches with less forest in the surrounding landscape (Rogers et al. 2009). Further, colonization by new species was lower in sites surrounded by high road densities and more urban cover. The study demonstrated that local site conditions may be insufficient to predict current (or future) plant community composition, and that the relative importance of landscape structure in explaining community composition can shift over time.

Historical land use can shape contemporary plant communities, even altering the among-site variability in plant communities. Declines in local (alpha) diversity in forest growing on former agricultural lands has been well described (cf. Chap. 2), but few studies had examined composition differences among sites (beta diversity). In a study using 11 distinct data sets of forest plant distributions in ancient and recent forests in Europe and North America, Vellend et al. (2007) demonstrated decreases in beta diversity and a weakening of the species–environment relationships in recent forests. Because environmental variability did not differ between the forest types, the authors attributed the declines in beta diversity to constraints on dispersal into the recent forests (Vellend et al. 2007). Thus, the "ghost of land use past" was influencing community diversity not only within but also among sites, long after agricultural land use had ceased.



FIGURE 7.15.

Locations of 82 sites in Wisconsin, USA, and views of single site with 1-km buffers used to calculate 2000-era road and housing density (*black and white aerial image*) and land cover (*lower color image*) to explain changes in species composition.

FROM RODGERS ET AL. (2009)

In sum, species interact with each other in heterogeneous landscapes, and such interactions and the community structure they produce are dependent on landscape composition and configuration. We have touched on several examples here, but there are many more—including seed predation (Tallmon et al. 2003) and seed dispersal (Garcia et al. 2009). And as a reminder that these concepts apply in aquatic ecosystems, fish community assembly can also respond to patch and landscape-level habitat features. Using experimental artificial reefs constructed across a gradient of seagrass cover in the Bahamas, Yeager et al. (2011) found that cover of seagrass at the landscape scale was the most important variable explaining the abundance of benthic fishes and their community structure. Biotic interactions play out in spatially complex landscapes, and this is an active area of research that is likely to yield more and more understanding.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY OF SPECIES INVASIONS

Many landscape features may affect a species' ability to disperse, establish, acquire resources, grow, and reproduce; native and nonnative species alike must contend with spatially heterogeneous environments. However, the increased prevalence of nonnative, invasive species in many landscapes and the growing number of landscape-level studies that are concerned with biological invasions prompted us to highlight these issues here. Understanding the distribution and spread of invasive species relates to many of the issues already discussed in this chapter, including the effect of habitat amount and configuration on dispersal and movement, habitat quality on establishment and population growth, and the degree to which the landscape mediates interactions with other species, including the native community. Invasive species have long been an issue of concern in applied ecology (e.g., Elton 1958), and a variety of hypotheses have been proposed to explain invasions (e.g., see review by Hierro et al. 2005). Spatial heterogeneity per se had received little explicit attention (e.g., Melbourne et al. 2007), but studies of landscape influences on nonnative invasive species have increased in recent years.

Kim With raised awareness of "the landscape ecology of invasive spread" in her 2002 paper, which laid out different ways through which landscape structure could affect the spread of invasive species and the invasibility of communities (Fig. 7.16). These included (1) enhancing spread above some threshold level either directly or indirectly via landscape effects on dispersal vectors; (2) affecting stages of the invasion process, such as dispersal or population growth, in different ways; (3) interacting with the distribution of the invasive species to facilitate spread, as through nascent foci; (4) promoting or altering species interactions in ways that enhance invasibility of communities; (5) compromising or enhancing the adaptive potential of native species to fluctuate, which can enhance invasibility. She explored these ideas with a set of simulations using neutral landscape models in which the abundance and configuration of suitable habitat was varied, and this paper laid the groundwork for subsequent studies that explored the role of landscape pattern on different aspects of the invasion process.

Many empirical studies have since documented relationships between landscape heterogeneity and invasion pattern. Some studies have explored species richness of native and nonnative species to determine whether these groups respond differentially to local predictors and landscape context. In the central part of Rocky Mountain National Park, USA, the species richness of native and nonnative plants were positively correlated with several landscape metrics, including edge density, Simpson's diversity index, and interspersion/juxtaposition index, but negatively correlated with mean patch size (Kumar et al. 2006). Analyses were performed at multiple spatial scales, and the best landscape-level models explained 70 % of the variation in nonnative species richness. Inclusion of landscape metrics always improved models of nonnative species richness but explained relatively



FIGURE 7.16.

Stages of invasion by nonnative species and different ways each stage can be influenced by landscape structure.

Adapted from With (2002)

little variation in native species richness (Kumar et al. 2006). This finding suggested that landscape heterogeneity mattered more for the exotic than for the native plant species in this landscape (Kumar et al. 2006).

Relationships involving landscape predictors and native and nonnative species may change with scale, as illustrated by a study of a nonnative invasive shrub,

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

common buckthorn (*Rhamnus cathartica*), in Minnesota, USA. This shrub species is native to Europe but invasive in North America, where its range and abundance have increased throughout the midwestern USA. In a multiscale study, Knight and Reich (2005) found that the buckthorn cover was negatively related to species richness and cover at fine (1-m) scales. However, the relationship changed with spatial scale: buckthorn cover was positively related to native species cover at the landscape level (Knight and Reich 2005). Species-rich communities have been hypothesized to be more resistant to invasion than species-poor communities, and this was observed at fine scales. However, at broad scales, buckthorn was more likely to occur in landscapes that supported more native species. Another study, which focused on invasion patterns of a nonnative vine, Oriental bittersweet (*Celastrus orbiculatus*), in the Southern Appalachian Mountains, reported different factors predicting presence in areas where the invader was well established and areas where the population was expanding (Albright et al. 2009). These studies again underscore the importance of scale and the potential for relationships to change as scales vary.

Humans can be important facilitators of nonnative species dispersal. Humans move species around both purposefully and accidentally, with land-use altering landscape heterogeneity in ways that increase opportunities for invasion (Kuhman et al. 2011). For example, in the Baraboo Hills of southern Wisconsin, USA, the number of houses in a 1-km buffer around forest plots was strongly and positively associated with the abundance of nonnative invasive plants (Gavier-Pizarro et al. 2010a). In New England, USA, nonnative invasive plant species richness was strongly and positively affected by the area of wildland–urban interface, lowdensity residential areas, and housing growth (Gavier-Pizarro et al. 2010b). Mechanistically, land-use development can provide suitable habitat for invasives and increase propagule pressure. Land-use history can leave persistent difference in habitat quality that enhance invasibility (Van Holle and Motzkin 2007; Brown and Boutin 2009). In Southern Appalachian forest understories, forest sites that were previously cultivated and abandoned ca. 1905 had more invasives than sites that were not previously cultivated (Kuhman et al. 2010).

Roadsides offer potential habitat and movement conduits for invasive plants, allowing populations in these habitats to serve as local foci for invasive spread into adjacent habitats. In deciduous forests of southeastern Ohio, USA, nonnative species were most abundant along roadsides, and seed-sowing experiments found that road-sides and open areas were better locations for germination and growth of one exotic, *Microstegium vimineum*, than nonroadside sites (Christen and Matlack 2009). Road corridors were also associated with the movement of nonnative plant species into national parks in south-central Chile (Pauchard and Alaback 2004). In a study of seed transport that also differentiated the effect of local vs. distant seed sources, vehicles traveling through tunnels in the vicinity of Berlin, Germany, were found to transport large numbers of seeds and to be responsible for long-distance dispersal events (Von der Lippe and Kowarik 2006).

A key issue in invasive species management at the landscape level is the relative effectiveness of strategies based on offense (containing invaders at their source patches) versus defense (protecting uninvaded destinations from invasion). A modeling study based on the spread of an aquatic invasive species through a network of lakes nicely illustrates this idea (Drury and Rothlisberger 2008). Results showed that offense was better early in invasions, when the goal is to reduce overall spread rates, but defense was better after half the lakes are invaded. When the goal is to protect areas of high conservation value, defensive site protection lowers the per-site rate of introduction. Although developed for lakes, these findings may well apply to other settings (Drury and Rothlisberger 2008). For example, in a study of an ongoing invasion of black cherry (Prunus serotina) into forests in Flanders, Belgium, priority control efforts (i.e., offense) were recommended for landscapes with relatively few invaded stands (Verheyen et al. 2007). Spatially explicit predictions of hotspots of invasion under future scenarios offer opportunities to anticipate regional invasion patterns and plan accordingly (e.g., Ibánez et al. 2009). Of particular importance in management of the spread of invasive species is the need to pay attention to interactions of landscape pattern with different aspects of the invasion process (Eschtruth and Battles 2009).

Have general findings emerged from studies of the landscape ecology of species invasions? The relationship between predictor and response variables is clearly scale dependent. Relationships may vary with the type of response variable examined. The presence, abundance, species richness, or spread rate of nonnative species is not controlled by the same drivers-and life-history characteristics of invader and native species must be jointly considered. There is some evidence that habitat configuration may be more strongly associated with the presence or occupancy of invasive species (because it will interact with propagule pressure to influence establishment) but habitat quality may be more associated with the abundance (e.g., cover or biomass) of invasive species (e.g., Predick and Turner 2008). Melbourne et al. (2007) proposed an environmental heterogeneity hypothesis of invasions, whereby heterogeneity increases invasion success and reduces the impact to native species in the community, because heterogeneity promotes invasion and coexistence mechanisms that are not possible in homogenous environments. Although invasive species within native habitats are widely regarded as undesirable perturbations, studying the nature of the invasive process and its dependence on landscape pattern provides new insights into these important pattern-process dependencies.

LANDSCAPE GENETICS

A call for integrating landscape ecology and population genetics (Manel et al. 2003) opened up many new opportunities for understanding how geographical and environmental features structure genetic variation within and among populations,

277

Organisms and Landscape Pattern

and for reconstructing the spatial movements and spread of populations. The term was coined by Manel et al. (2003), who defined landscape genetics as an amalgamation of molecular population genetics and landscape ecology that aims to understand the interaction between landscape features and microevolutionary processes, such as gene flow, genetic drift, and selection. Manel et al. (2003) further defined key components to include detection of genetic discontinuities and correlation of these discontinuities with landscape or environmental features. Landscape genetics generally considers *microevolution*, i.e., evolution within a given species, rather than processes that lead to speciation. Landscape genetics is distinct from other areas of genetic inquiry because its approach is spatially explicit and considers how landscape composition, configuration, and matrix quality influence gene flow and spatial genetic variation (Storfer et al. 2007). The appeal of landscape genetics is the potential for investigating a process through genetic data and for analyzing this process in the real world using landscape ecological data (Holderegger and Wagner 2006). Landscape genetics can be an especially valuable tool for understanding functional connectivity and metapopulation structure.

Landscape genetics considers two principal forms of genetic variation. Neutral genetic variation refers to variation in genes that have no effect on fitness, that is, they are "neutral," having no adaptive value, and natural selection does not act on these alleles. Large parts of an organism's DNA are effectively neutral (Holderegger et al. 2006), and neutral variation is useful in landscape genetics studies to detect spatial relationships among individuals and populations and trace dispersal or movement pathways. Neutral genetic markers are used to estimate gene flow, independent of selective forces, but not to estimate selection. In contrast, adaptive genetic *variation* refers to variability in genes (or quantitative traits) that do affect fitness and are selected by environmental conditions. Thus, studies of selection in heterogeneous landscapes must address adaptive variation. It is rarely possible to directly study the genes responsible for adaptive genetic variation, and researchers often focus on variation in quantitative traits that are of potential adaptive value, such as a plant's production of chemical defenses to herbivory (Lindroth and St. Clair 2013). To evaluate the adaptive potential of a population or the influence of landscape heterogeneity on fitness, quantitative traits and adaptive variation must be studied.

Early landscape genetics studies examined the effect of putative boundaries (e.g., mountain ranges, rivers, roads) to population movement in landscape, often for a single vertebrate species, and were largely confirmatory (Sork and Waits 2010; Storfer et al. 2010). That is, observers expected populations to be isolated by movement barriers in the landscape, and analyses of genetic structure confirmed that they were. Some studies, however, revealed surprising results. In Yellowstone National Park, USA, rivers were thought to be barrier to movement and gene flow among populations of blotched tiger salamanders (*Ambystoma tigrinum melanostictum*), but genetic analyses revealed that rivers actually facilitated gene flow because recurrent floods mixed the population (Spear et al. 2005). Topographic relief restricts

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

gene flow in many terrestrial species, and drainage structure and currents influence gene flow in many aquatic and marine species (Storfer et al. 2010). Studies have also revealed an influence of *cryptic barriers* to gene flow (i.e., barriers that are not visually conspicuous and may have been unanticipated), such as climate gradients that may relate to a species' environmental limits of tolerance. Genetic studies have confirmed effects of habitat fragmentation on gene flow in some species, most likely because of restricted dispersal among habitat fragments, but other studies have revealed instances where habitat loss and fragmentation did not influence gene flow. For example, gene flow remained high for a mobile, generalist Neotropical seeddispersing bat, *Artibeus lituratus*, in fragmented Atlantic forest in South America (McCulloch et al. 2013). As with other kinds of landscape legacies, historical landscape patterns may leave a legacy in genetic structure (Keyghobadi et al. 2005).

Some of the unique insights that landscape genetic studies can provide are illustrated by studies linking landscape features with the genetic structure and movement pathways of black bears (Urus americanus). Using nondestructive hair-sampling methods, the effects of landscape connectivity on patterns of genetic similarity were assessed among 146 black bears in a 3000-km² study region in the mountains of northern Idaho, USA (Cushman et al. 2006). The objective was to understand bear movement patterns and how these were shaped by the landscape. Potential relationships between the bear movement costs and landscape features including land cover, slope, elevation, Euclidian distance, and a putative movement barrier were explored by testing a set of 110 alternative hypotheses (testing alternative hypotheses is a key strength of this analysis). Partial Mantel tests, which measure the degree of associate between two dissimilarity matrices (here, hypothetical least-cost distances and the genetic differences among bears) were used to assess the differential influence of barriers, distance, and landscape features. Genetic structure in the black bear population was primarily related to land cover and elevation; gene flow was facilitated by contiguous forest cover at middle elevations and inhibited by nonforest cover types (Cushman et al. 2006).

A subsequent study then developed a direct linkage between the behavior of individual bears and the genetic structure across the landscape. Using GPS telemetry data, Cushman and Lewis (2010) predicted bear movement paths as a function of elevation, roads, human development, and forest cover. Gene flow is determined by movement during the breeding and dispersal seasons, so the authors hypothesized that movements observed during those seasons would be a function of the same landscape factors identified in the landscape genetic analysis. This hypothesis was supported (Cushman and Lewis 2010). They hypothesized further that landscape resistance maps developed for breeding and dispersal season movements would be highly correlated with the landscape resistance map produced from landscape genetic analysis, but correlations would be weaker for maps produced from movements at other times of year (Cushman and Lewis 2010). Results also supported this hypothesis, showing high similarity between the resistance surface predicted from

Organisms and Landscape

Pattern

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

landscape genetics and that produced by early season movements. The late-season model was very different, with road effects dominating late-season bear movements. The results also suggested that if road density and residential development were concentrated in the elevation zone preferred by bears, the effects on bear population connectivity might be much greater than expected (Cushman and Lewis 2010).

As with many landscape-level studies, among-landscape replication in landscape genetic studies can be difficult. However, the landscape resistance hypotheses for gene flow in black bears were tested in each of 12 different study areas in the north central U.S. Rocky Mountains—thereby providing replication among different landscapes (Short Bull et al. 2011). Among landscape replicates, isolation by landscape resistance was more supported than isolation by distance, but the particular features that influenced gene flow in a given landscape varied. An extremely important implication of this replicated study is that researchers should not automatically conclude that features are unimportant to movement and gene flow of a species if the features are unimportant in a particular landscape (Short Bull et al. 2011).

Landscape genetics is an exciting field that offers much promise for advancing understanding of evolutionary processes in spatially complex landscapes. Landscape genetics has grown exponentially in the past decade concurrent with tremendous advancement in molecular techniques and data analysis tools. The tools and concepts of landscape ecology enable the ecological pressures that influence the genetic structure of populations to be evaluated within the context of large, spatially heterogeneous landscapes (Manel et al. 2003; Guillot et al. 2005; Joost et al. 2007; Storfer et al. 2007; Kozak et al. 2008). Recent studies emphasize the power of landscape genetic approaches for identifying ecological correlates of genetic variation and detecting adaptive genetic variation and trade-offs among different traits (e.g., Manier and Arnold 2006; Kozak et al. 2008; Eckert et al. 2009). Landscape genetics is yielding new insights about the expansion of invasive species, revealing that multiple introductions are common (Handley et al. 2011), and of native species, such as top predators, recovering from earlier extirpation and dispersing in heterogeneous landscapes (Lucchini et al. 2002) or responding to landscape change (e.g., Keyghobadi et al. 1999). Landscape genetics becomes increasingly important as we look forward to rapid changes in the global environment and anticipate how species populations will respond to such change. Understanding evolutionary processes in spatially complex landscapes is critical to understanding the adaptive capacity of populations in spatially heterogeneous and variable environments (Reusch and Wood 2007). Spatial genetic structure results from evolutionary, behavioral, ecological, and stochastic processes operating at different scales, and landscape genetics studies must address scale dependencies (Balkenhol et al. 2009). For greater detail and excellent overviews of landscape genetics, readers are referred to Holderegger and Wagner's review in BIOSCIENCE (Holderegger and Wagner 2008) and the special issue of MOLECULAR ECOLOGY on landscape genetics (Sork and Waits 2010). More integration of landscape ecology and evolutionary ecology could be especially productive.

SUMMARY SUMMARY

Organisms exist in spatially heterogenous environments. Landscape ecologists are particularly interested in how organisms utilize resources that are distributed across a heterogeneous landscape and how organisms live, reproduce, disperse, and interact with each other in space. While studies in population ecology have always been cognizant of spatial issues, wide recognition of the importance of spatial factors affecting population dynamics and community structure became prominent in landscape ecology. Early studies that focused on the diffusion of organisms across homogeneous landscapes were able to predict rates of spread and the number of sites that would be occupied under various conditions. However, it was the development of island biogeography and metapopulation theory that fueled much research on the dynamics of populations in heterogeneous landscapes.

In the late 1980s, interest in Levins' metapopulation model revised and replaced equilibrium island biogeography as a way of thinking about fragmented habitats and heterogeneous terrestrial environments in general. A metapopulation was considered as a collection of subpopulations, each occupying a suitable patch of habitat in a landscape of otherwise unsuitable habitat, forming an interconnected set of subpopulations that function together as a demographic unit. The two key premises in the metapopulation approach are that (1) populations are spatially structured into assemblages of local breeding subpopulations, and (2) migration among subpopulations results in a recolonization following local extinction producing regionally stable metapopulation dynamics. The development of source-sink models resulted when differences between patches were considered. Patches with excess reproduction are source patches, and sink patches occur when local mortality exceeds reproductive success. Source-sink dynamics allow migration of the surplus organisms from the source to the sink patches, maintaining populations in an apparent demographic equilibrium. Landscape ecology adds several features to the consideration of how populations interact with spatial pattern. These include: (1) variation in patch quality, (2) variation in the quality of the surrounding environment, (3) boundary effects, and (4) how the landscape influences connectivity between patches. A main difference between the metapopulation view of nature and that embraced by landscape ecologists revolves around the degree of complexity that is considered.

Many approaches to studying populations in heterogeneous space require identification of suitable and unsuitable habitat. In some instances, this simplification is clear, but in other cases, it is difficult to partition the landscape into "patches" embedded in an unsuitable "matrix." Furthermore, some populations require complementary or supplementary resources from different type of habitat. Landscape and population ecologists have incorporated more continuous representations of habitat suitability or quality into their conceptual frameworks. Many of these approaches use observations of habitat use or occupancy to infer habitat selection, which implies choice among multiple alternatives. Advances in telemetry and analytical methods (e.g., resource selection functions) have produced new ways of Organisms

and

Landscape

Pattern

LANDSCAPEassessing habitat patterns and detecting scale-depending effects of landscape pat-
tern on how organisms use their environment. Behavioral landscape ecology seeks
to understand the mechanisms that underpin animal distributions and use of het-
erogeneous landscapes. Movement ecology (Nathan 2008) is a growing research
area that may provide an ideal opportunity for improved integration of behavioral
ecology and landscape ecology.

There are important concepts relating to scale when the interactions between organisms and spatial pattern are considered because the "appropriate" scales vary among taxa—and among questions. There is a strong imperative to focus on the scales that are appropriate for the organism, recognizing that our human-based perception of scale and pattern may not be the right one. Some differences in appropriate scales are due to various attributes of the organisms, such as differences in body mass. While it is easy to acknowledge that interactions between organisms and spatial heterogeneity must be scale dependent, it is difficult to identify the "right" scales in practice. The concept of ecological neighborhoods offers one practical approach to this thorny issue. Related to the concept of ecological neighborhoods is the notion that organisms may respond to heterogeneity at multiple scales. In addition, the structure of the landscape itself may dictate the scales at which organisms must operate.

The interaction between organisms and landscape pattern can be reciprocal. That is, organisms can both create and respond to landscape pattern. Ecosystem engineers are organisms that physically alter the environment and thus modify, maintain, or create habitat. Foundation species are dominant organisms that provide the physical structure for the rest of the community. The loss of ecosystem engineers or foundation species can trigger large changes in landscape patterns. However, most organism-based studies in landscape ecology have focused on how organisms respond to spatial pattern. There is a vast (and overwhelming) literature on this topic.

A number of insights that have emerged from patch-based studies of organisms and space are presented with examples. These include:

- In general, larger more heterogeneous patches contain more species and often a greater number of individuals than smaller patches of the same habitat.
- The relative abundance of edge and interior habitat affects species diversity within a patch.
- Characteristics of the surrounding landscape (landscape context) can strongly influence local populations within a patch.
- The effect of landscape composition on organisms is often stronger than the effect of landscape configuration.
- ✤ Landscape composition strongly influences landscape connectivity.
- ◆ Corridors can both add habitat and promote movement.

282

Spatial considerations may not be needed if habitat is very abundant or if movement is relatively unlimited, and organisms can reach all or most areas of suitable habitat. However, it is important to recognize the limitations of a patch-based view of the world and to know when a more continuous view of spatial heterogeneity is needed.

Research on how species respond to landscape pattern has been extended to consider biotic interactions among species and overall community structure. Predator-prey dynamics have received much attention, with many studies focused on wildlife interactions in seminatural landscapes and on natural enemies of crop pests in agricultural landscapes. Pollination has also been well studied. Many field studies have now demonstrated significant influences (and at multiple scales) of landscape composition and configuration on species interactions. Understanding the spatial setting of species interactions has important implications for conservation and landscape management. At the community level, landscape structure can also influence species turnover and community similarity.

The landscape ecology of invasive spread is another burgeoning topic, and again, many studies now document a strong influence of landscape structure on the presence and pattern of nonnative invasive species. Landscape features can influence a species' ability to disperse, establish, acquire resources, grow, and reproduce; historical land use can also be important. Native and nonnative species alike contend with spatially heterogeneous environments. There is some evidence that habitat configuration may be more strongly associated with the presence of invasive species, and habitat quality may be more strongly associated with the abundance of invasive species.

Landscape genetics has opened up new opportunities for understanding how geographical and environmental features structure populations. Landscape genetics seeds to understand the interaction between landscape features and microevolutionary processes, such as gene flow, genetic drift, and selection. Neutral genetic variation is especially useful for detecting spatial relationships among individuals and populations, but adaptive genetic variation must be studied to evaluate selection in a landscape context. Researchers are beginning to consider the role of spatial heterogeneity by considering spatial selection and spatial inheritance (Schauber et al. 2007). There is much room to explore the links between ecology and evolution in an explicit spatial context, and landscape genetics offers much promise for advancing understanding of evolutionary processes in spatially complex landscapes. Landscape genetics become increasingly important for anticipating species responses to global change.

As ecologists continue to grapple with how organisms respond to spatial pattern, there will be many opportunities for synthesis among population ecology, conservation biology, and landscape ecology. Organisms and Landscape Pattern

LANDSCAPE	\sim DISCUSSION QUESTIONS		
ECOLOGY IN	1. What species attributes determine the spatial and temporal scales needed to characterize		
THEORY AND	 the species' abundance and distribution at landscape scales? 2. Habitat connectivity is often measured as a function of the geometry of land cover. Discuss the limitations and uncertainties that these methods based on structural connectivity pose for diverse species groups. How might measures of connectivity be improved? 		
PRACTICE			
	3. How do corridors promote the persistence of a population within a heterogeneous landscape? When might corridors cause population declines? How are your answers dependent on the spatial scale of analysis?		

- **4.** How does landscape heterogeneity influence predator-prey population dynamics and patterns of habitat use? Describe at least three effects and provide examples.
- 5. How can the effectiveness of corridors for species movement be measured by landscape genetic techniques?
- 6. What similar scientific principles unite landscape genetics, metapopulation dynamics, and landscape fragmentation studies?

~ FURTHER READING

- Chaplin-Kramer R, O'Rourke ME, Blitzer EJ, Kremen C (2011) A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. Ecol Lett 14:922–932
- Dormann CF, Schweiger O, Augenstein I et al (2007) Effects of landscape structure and land-use intensity on similarity of plant and animal communities. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 16:774–787
- Fahrig L (2003) Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 34:487-515
- Haila Y (2002) A conceptual genealogy of fragmentation research: from island biogeography to landscape ecology. Ecol Appl 12:321–334
- Kauffman MJ, Brodie JF, Jules ES (2010) Are wolves saving Yellowstone's aspen? A landscape-level test of a behaviorally mediated trophic cascade. Ecology 91:1742–1755
- Knowlton JL, Graham CH (2010) Using behavioral landscape ecology to predict species' responses to land-use and climate change. Biol Conserv 143:1342–1354
- Kumar S, Stohlgren TJ, Chong GW (2006) Spatial heterogeneity influences native and non-native plant species richness. Ecology 87:3186–3199
- Manel S, Schwartz MK, Luikart G, Taberlet P (2003) Landscape genetics: combining landscape ecology and population genetics. Trends Ecol Evol 18:189–197
- Moorcroft PR (2012) Mechanistic approaches to understanding and predicting mammalian space use: recent advances, future directions. J Mammal 93:903–916

Sork VL, Waits L (2010) Contributions of landscape genetics-approaches, insights, and future	Organisms	
potential. Mol Ecol 19:3489-3495	and	
Steffan-Dewenter I, Munzenberg U, Burger C, Thies C, Tscharntke T (2002) Scale-dependent effects of		
landscape context on three pollinator guilds. Ecology 83:1421–1432		
Thaker M, Vanak AT, Owen CR, Ogden MB, Niemann SM, Slotow R (2011) Minimizing predation risk		
in a landscape of multiple predators: effects on the spatial distribution of African ungulates. Ecology		
92:398-407		

Wiens JA (1976) Population responses to patchy environments. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 7:81–120

285

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes

nderstanding the patterns, causes, and consequences of spatial heterogeneity for ecosystem function remains a research frontier in both landscape and ecosystem ecology (Lovett et al. 2005; Chapin et al. 2012). The term, ecosystem, was introduced by Tansley (1935) to describe the characteristic and persistent interactions of organisms (plants, animals, and microbes) with their abiotic environment (e.g., water, temperature, radiation) within well-defined landscape boundaries (Likens 1995). Although ecosystems may appear to be discrete (e.g., ponds and watersheds), they do not exist in isolation. Interactions among ecosystems occur as a function of the heterogeneity of the landscape. Ecosystem ecology focuses on the flow of energy and matter between organisms and their environment, thus emphasizing pools (i.e., amounts or stocks), fluxes (i.e., rates), and the factors that control pools and fluxes. The spatial dimensions of ecosystem ecology may encompass bounded systems like watersheds, complex landscapes of diverse habitats, or even the biosphere itself; temporally, ecosystem science may cross scales ranging from seconds to millennia (Carpenter and Turner 1998). Ecosystem process rates vary across landscapes at multiple scales, and this variation can be difficult to quantify, explain, and predict. Transfers of matter and energy THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPEamong patches (i.e., losses from donor ecosystems and subsidies to recipient
ecosystems) are often important to long-term ecosystem sustainability (Polis and
Hurd 1995; Naiman 1996; Carpenter et al. 1999; Chapin et al. 2012).

Ecosystem studies address questions about the capture of light energy by plants, its conversion into organic matter, and its transfer to other organisms; and questions about nutrient cycling, in which essential elements such as phosphorus and nitrogen cycle repeatedly between living and nonliving parts of ecosystems (Golley 1993; Carpenter 1998). From initial descriptions of the structure and function of diverse ecosystems, ecosystem ecology moved toward increasingly sophisticated analyses of function, including food web dynamics, biogeochemistry, regulation of productivity, and structure–function relationships (Golley 1993; Pace and Groffman 1998). Ecosystem ecology cannot be exhaustively reviewed here; interested readers are referred to Frank Golley's history of ecosystem research (1993) and two outstanding ecosystem ecology texts (Chapin et al. 2012; Weathers et al. 2013). From ecosystem studies, ecology has gained an excellent understanding of the mechanisms underlying many processes and how ecosystems develop and change through time. However, understanding patterns, causes, and consequences of spatial heterogeneity in ecosystem function remains a frontier.

When landscape ecologists study ecosystem processes, they often emphasize the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity in the rates of ecosystem processes (e.g., net primary productivity or nitrogen mineralization), and how land-scape composition and configuration may influence the horizontal movement of materials such as water, nutrients, or sediments. The landscape also provides an ideal template for exploring linkages between organisms and ecosystem processes because the transfer of nutrients within and between ecosystems is often mediated by the actions of organisms (e.g., Jones and Lawton 1995; Seagle 2003; Holtgrieve et al. 2009). In spite of its importance, ecosystem function has received somewhat less attention in landscape ecology relative to other foci, such as disturbance dynamics and organism distributions, but a growing number of studies are now filling this gap.

Why has spatial heterogeneity in ecosystem function remained a research frontier? Determining the patterns, causes, and effects of ecosystem function across landscapes is conceptually young (Jenerette and Wu 2004; Lovett et al. 2005; Massol et al. 2011). In part, this is because of scale complexity; many rates are controlled by microbial dynamics that operate at extremely fine spatial and temporal scales and are difficult to measure (e.g., see discussion of nitrogen mineralization by Schimel and Bennett 2004). It is challenging to work across such a wide range of scales, and process studies are also technically demanding and expensive. Linking microbial mechanisms to landscape patterns of ecosystem processes is particularly difficult (Smithwick 2006). Further, landscape-level estimates of ecosystem function may require integration of multiple types of ecosystem, such as upland forests, wetlands, and lakes (e.g., Burcher et al. 2007; Buffam et al. 2011), which
are often studied independently by scientists trained in different disciplines (e.g.,
freshwater or terrestrial ecology). Nonetheless, understanding ecosystem function
in heterogeneous landscapes is important for many aspects of global change, and it
offers the potential to enhance linkages between species and ecosystem dynamics
for a more complete understanding of landscape function.EcosystemEcosystemProcesses in
HeterogeneousIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapesEcosystemIndscapeEco

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORKS: ECOSYSTEM PROCESSES IN HETEROGENEOUS LANDSCAPES

Theoretical Development

Clearly, ecosystem processes are spatially heterogeneous. The basic causes of this variation have been well known for a long time (Jenny 1941); a primary factor driving heterogeneity is the abiotic template, which includes climate, topography, and substrate. In addition, ecosystem processes vary with the species assemblage, disturbance events (including their long-term legacies), and the activities of humans (Chapin et al. 1996; Amundson and Jenny 1997). As with other topics covered in this text, pattern-process interactions are reciprocal. Ecosystem processes affect landscape patterns, as when nutrient mineralization rates influence plant distributions, or patterns of net primary production influence the amount, quality, and location of suitable habitat for an animal population. Landscape patterns also affect ecosystem processes, as when the composition and configuration of land cover in a watershed influence nutrient loadings to wetlands, streams, and lakes, or when the landscape mosaic of habitats affects the redistribution of nutrients by mobile animals. Despite recognizing these reciprocal interactions, ecology has lacked a general theory of ecosystem function that is spatially explicit.

An early conceptual approach for considering interactions among different ecosystem types identified the importance of boundaries—their permeability and/or resistance to the flow of material and energy—on spatial fluxes within complex landscape (Wiens et al. 1985). *Boundaries* were defined as locations where the rates or magnitudes of ecosystem transfers (e.g., energy flow, nitrogen exchange) could change abruptly in relation to those within individual patches (Wiens et al. 1985). Fluxes of materials, energy, and organisms may be driven by resource gradients or by active vectors (e.g., wind, herbivores, etc.) that move materials or energy against existing gradients (Wiens et al. 1985). This seminal paper touched on many themes, including ecosystem–community interactions, which have received considerable subsequent theoretical attention.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

by Polis et al. (1997), who observed that subsidies of nutrients and detritus from one habitat to another could increase productivity. This forward-thinking review explicitly recognized the role of landscape variables and boundary features. Polis et al. (1997) noted, "the movement of nutrients, detritus, prey, and consumers among habitats is ubiquitous in diverse biomes and is often a central feature of population, consumer-resource, food web and community dynamics.... The message is clear: Ecosystems are closely bound to one another, be they stream and lake, pelagic and intertidal zones, farms and the sea, forest and river, or ocean and desert."

The importance of integrating food webs and landscape ecology was recognized

A conceptual framework based on metapopulation and metacommunity concepts was introduced by Loreau et al. (2003). The meta-ecosystem was defined as a set of ecosystems connected by spatial flows of energy, materials, and organisms across ecosystem boundaries. Loreau and colleagues were motivated by the need for a theoretical framework for a spatial ecology that would link community and ecosystem dynamics, and they distinguished a meta-ecosystem from a landscape in several ways. First, they considered that meta-ecosystems need not be continuous and occurring within the same physical, geographic space; in other words, the local ecosystems that comprised a meta-ecosystem could be discrete and distant from each other, as islands surrounded by a sea with which they have few interactions. Second, they argued that a landscape is a physical entity with a characteristic spatial scale, whereas meta-ecosystems can be defined at different scales depending on the organisms, ecosystems, and processes considered. However, landscapes may also be defined across a wide range of scales depending on the processes being considered (see Chap. 1), so this distinction seems artificial. Third, they asserted that a landscape can be studied from a variety of perspectives, including one that is purely descriptive and centered on pattern, whereas the meta-ecosystem concept focused on "the properties of the higher-level, spatially extended dynamic system that emerges from movements at landscape to global scales" (Loreau et al. 2003:675). Again, this distinction seems a bit artificial, although it recognizes that landscape ecology is a broader field. Loreau et al. (2003) then presented a simple metaecosystem model of source-sink dynamics among ecosystems, assuming a closed system; results demonstrated strong constraints on local ecosystems because of the spatial coupling among ecosystems. A subsequent body of work has extended these ideas into theoretical frameworks for spatial ecosystem ecology (e.g., Loreau and Holt 2004; Gravel et al. 2010; Massol et al. 2011; Leroux and Loreau 2012). This work is valuable for its ability to apply theory that is well developed in population ecology to material fluxes between ecosystems, although it remains somewhat disconnected from the landscape ecology literature and the large body of empirical work in ecosystem ecology.

A significant theoretical study of spatial linkages between nutrient dynamics and biotic communities was conducted by Jenerette and Wu (2004), who modeled

plant–nitrogen interactions. They linked biogeochemistry and plant-community dynamics to assess these interactions on ecosystem function and to understand why nitrogen fixers may be unable to alleviate sustained nitrogen limitation in terrestrial ecosystems. The landscape was represented as a grid, and the spatial model included three layers of data for each grid cell: (1) vegetation type, which could be nitrogen fixers, nonfixers, or unvegetated; (2) nitrogen content, which summed the nitrogen concentration in vegetation and soils; and (3) net primary production, which was determined by the vegetation and nitrogen content. Results demonstrated that these interactions could generate self-organizing spatial patterns, and that the system could regulate productivity and nitrogen content independently of external nitrogen supplies. Importantly, the fine-scale dynamics (cell to cell) could be very different from behavior of the whole, spatially integrated system (Jenerette and Wu 2004).

Increasing recognition of the need to strengthen the conceptual foundation for ecosystem processes in landscapes led to the 10th biennial Cary Conference, organized in 2003 by ecosystem ecologists at the Institute for Ecosystem Studies (Lovett et al. 2005). The central question of this conference was, when do we need to deal with spatial heterogeneity as it affects ecosystem processes, and when can we safely ignore it? Strayer et al. (2003a) had presented a logical approach to answer this question for ecosystem modeling. However, the many different types of entity (e.g., mass, energy, information, organisms) that move simultaneously within and among ecosystems (Reiners and Driese 2001, 2004), and the many different ecosystems juxtaposed in different landscapes, continue to make it difficult to identify general principles.

A Practical Framework

Given these difficulties, it is not surprising the ecologists have approached ecosystem function across heterogeneous landscapes in two general ways (Turner and Chapin 2005) that differ conceptually and practically. One is focused on understanding landscape patterns of biomass and process rates, such as net primary production, decomposition, and nutrient cycling rates. Such studies aim to explain why rates are high in some places and low in others and to predict how these patterns might respond to changing drivers. A second approach emphasizes lateral (i.e., horizontal) fluxes of matter, recognizing that the composition and configuration of the landscape play key roles in mediating these fluxes. Land–water interactions are good examples of such lateral fluxes, and many landscape studies have asked how nutrients derived from land are transported to aquatic systems. Both approaches relate to ecosystem processes in heterogeneous landscapes, but they differ in their relative emphasis on vertical or horizontal fluxes, and practically, they differ in how they are studied.

Thus, two general classes of ecosystem process can be considered (Turner and Chapin 2005). *Point processes* represent rates measured at a particular location

Ecosystem

Processes in

Heterogeneous

Landscapes



FIGURE 8.1.

Schematic illustration of two general classes of ecosystem processes (a) point processes and (b) lateral transfers. Adapted from Turner and Chapin (2005).

(Fig. 8.1a), ignoring lateral transfers if they can be assumed to be small relative to the measured response. Examples of point processes include site-specific measurements of net primary production, net ecosystem production, denitrification, or nitrogen mineralization. *Lateral transfers* are flows of materials, energy, or information from one location to another represented in a two-dimensional space (Fig. 8.1b). Examples of lateral transfers include the flow of nitrogen or phosphorus from land to water, or the movements of nutrients across a landscape by herbivores.

Spatial heterogeneity can also be considered from the perspective of the *drivers* of ecosystem processes (biotic and abiotic forces external to the ecosystem) and/or for the ecosystem response variables (e.g., pools or fluxes of materials and energy) altered by changes in ecosystem drivers (Fig. 8.2). Drivers, which vary in space and time, may include soils, topography, climate, and disturbances, which act together to alter pools or fluxes of matter or energy. The combined effect of variation in drivers may be measured by spatial variation in *occurrence* of ecosystem processes, i.e., presence or absence of denitrification (Fig. 8.2a) or spatial variation in the magnitude of process rates, i.e., whether denitrification is high or low (Fig. 8.2b, columns). The term, *hot spot*, is often used to identify locations where the magnitude of a flux is especially high (McClain et al. 2003). For lateral transfers, one can also consider the actual pathways of flow (Fig. 8.2b, arrows), much as movement trajectories are tracked for an animal. For both point processes and lateral transfers, an aggregate measure of the function of the heterogeneous system (e.g., average net primary production across the landscape or the total amount of phosphorus delivered from a watershed to a lake) can be assessed. Because many different facets of spatial variation can be considered, it is important to be explicit about the ecosystem process as well as the driver or response for which spatial heterogeneity



FIGURE 8.2.

Spatial heterogeneity can be considered in: (a) the occurrence of a process, (b) the magnitude of the rate or flux (columns), the actual flow paths (arrows) and the template, which is usually multivariate. Adapted from Turner and Chapin (2005).

is being considered. Using this framework, we next consider a variety of point processes (those related to biomass, carbon cycling, landscape biogeochemistry, landscape limnology) and lateral fluxes (wind-driven transport, land–water interactions, mobile animals) in heterogeneous landscapes.

→ POINT PROCESSES (VERTICAL FLUXES)

Biomass, Net Primary Production, and Carbon

EARLY APPROACHES AND INSIGHTS

Global and regional variation in *net primary production* (the rate at which organic matter, or carbon, is produced by plants; see Table 8.1 for key terms) on land and in water has long been appreciated by biologists (Leith and Whittaker 1975; Box 1978). Ecologists gained tremendous insights into patterns of biomass and net primary production (NPP) with the advent of remote imagery. Since the first Landsat satellite was launched in 1972, estimation of terrestrial plant production has been an important application of satellite remote sensing (Running 1990). Understanding and predicting such patterns became more urgent as scientists strived to understand the global carbon cycle; tried to quantify carbon sinks, sources, and fluxes; and began to grapple with predicting possible consequences of global warming.

New views of spatiotemporal patterns of vegetation and NPP that were produced in the 1980s by remote sensing scientists caught the attention of ecologists. For example, data from the Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR)

TABLE 8.1.

Terms used in studies of carbon cycling and their definitions (based on Chapin et al. 2006 and Hicke et al. 2012a).

Term	Sample units	Definition
Carbon stock or density	g C, g C m ⁻² or Mg C ha ⁻¹	Reservoirs of carbon in vegetation and soil pools, including live and dead tree stems, foliage, roots, and soil organic matter
Carbon fluxes	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹ or Mg C ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	Rates of transfer among carbon pools, including those in the ecosystem and atmosphere
Gross primary production (GPP)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	Total amount of atmospheric C fixed by plants
Autotrophic respiration (R_a)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	Release of C to the atmosphere by plants
Net primary production (NPP)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	GPP – R_a ; the net amount of C fixed by plants and available for subsequent use by heterotrophs. Sometimes distinguished by above- or below-ground (ANPP or BNPP, respectively)
Heterotrophic respiration (R_b)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	Release of C by microbes through decomposition of organic matter
Net ecosystem production (NEP)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	NPP – R_b ; the net rate of C accumulated by the ecosystem or lost to the atmosphere. NEP is positive when an ecosystem is a carbon sink and negative when an ecosystem is a carbon source
Net ecosystem exchange (NEE)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	Exchange of C between the ecosystem and the atmosphere; NEE is positive when there is a net transfer of C to the atmosphere and may be the same magnitude (but opposite in sign) as NEP
Net biome production (NBP)	g C m ⁻² year ⁻¹	Rate of flux of C to and from ecosystems; NBP includes NEP as well as losses of C through such processes as combustion and leaching (e.g., of dissolved inorganic or organic carbon)

CARBON STOCK OR DENSITY REPRESENTS AN AMOUNT; ALL OTHER TERMS BELOW ARE RATES AND THUS REQUIRE TIME.

satellite, which provided daily images of the earth at a resolution of 1.1 km, were used to generate vegetation maps for Africa (Tucker et al. 1985), North America (Goward et al. 1985), and the globe (Justice et al. 1985). These maps relied on the dimensionless *normalized difference vegetation index* (*NDVI*), a ratio of the difference between near-infrared (NIR, 0.725–1.1 m) and red (RED, 0.58–0.68 m) portions of the spectrum: NDVI=(NIR – RED)/(NIR + RED). The value of the NDVI is directly related to the presence of photosynthesizing vegetation, providing an indirect measure for mapping vegetation status and growth (Jensen 1996). NDVI has

294

proven to be quite useful, as it relates well to *leaf area index (LAI)* (Sellers 1985, 1987) and, in turn, to NPP (Goward et al. 1987). LAI—the ratio of leaf area to ground area, usually reported as m²/m²—is a useful index for a variety of ecosystem processes, including the interception of light and water by the vegetation, attenuation of light through the canopy, transpiration, photosynthesis, and nitrogen content. Ecologists estimating ecosystem processes across landscapes routinely measure LAI, in part because it can be well estimated for large areas by satellite imagery (Running 1990).

Vegetation indices derived from satellite data offered new ways of exploring spatial variation in ecosystem structure and function at broad scales. For example, Riera et al. (1998) hypothesized that variability in vegetation cover and biomass should be related to topographic relief and to land use/land cover at the spatial extent of full Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) images (~185 km swath). The *simple ratio vegetation index* (*SR*) [defined as the ratio between TM3 (the reflectance in band 3, 0.63– 0.69 m, corresponding to the red portion of the spectrum), and TM4 (the reflectance in band 4, 0.76–0.90 m, the near-infrared) of the Landsat TM sensor] and the NDVI were compared across 13 study sites representing a wide range of biomes in North America. Marked differences in landscape heterogeneity were observed among the landscapes. Desert and grassland landscapes had low mean NDVI but also low overall heterogeneity, whereas forested landscapes had high mean NDVI but also low overall heterogeneity. Spatial heterogeneity was greatest for those landscapes that had intermediate values of the vegetation indices (Riera et al. 1998).

Ecologists began combining remote imagery and other spatial data with ecosystem simulation models to predict spatiotemporal patterns of NPP in the late 1980s. Early advances were driven by the need to link global models, such as the general circulation models (GCMs) used to simulate the global climate, with changes in vegetation. Running et al. (1989) were among the first to integrate biophysical data obtained from many sources and use these data to execute an ecosystem model over a large landscape. They used a 28×55 -km coniferous forest landscape in western Montana, USA, and built a simple GIS in which climate and soil data were stored. The model required an LAI estimate for each grid cell, and this estimate was obtained from satellite imagery. In addition, the model required soil water-holding capacity for each grid cell and daily meteorological data. The ecosystem model FOREST-BGC (Running and Coughlan 1988) was then run in each of the 1200 grid cells representing the landscape to predict spatial patterns of annual evapotranspiration and net photosynthesis. The resulting estimates of LAI, evapotranspiration, and photosynthesis (Fig. 8.3) demonstrated the power of these new integrative methods for producing spatially explicit projections of variation in ecosystem processes and offered insights into interactions among the controls on these processes (Running et al. 1989).

Extensive empirical studies were also conducted during the 1980s and 1990s on regional patterns of primary production, the accumulation of soil organic matter, and

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes FIGURE 8.3.

(a) Schematic diagram showing prominent physiographic features of a 1540-km² study area in western Montana in which Running et al. (1989) combined satellite imagery, GIS, and an ecosystem simulation model to predict patterns of ecosystem processes. Maps of (b) leaf area index (LAI), (c) annual evapotranspiration, and (d) annual net photosynthesis for the 28×55 km study area using 1.1-km grid cells. LAI was estimated by satellite, microclimate data were extrapolated from a model, and ecosystem processes were simulated with the FOREST-BGC model. From Running et al. (1989) and reproduced with permission from the Ecological Society of America.



biogeochemical cycling; studies from the Great Plains region of North America nicely illustrate this approach. Using an extensive data set containing measurements of aboveground net primary production (ANPP) from 9500 sites throughout the Central Grassland region of the United States, Sala et al. (1988) evaluated (1) the spatial and temporal pattern of annual production for the region and (2) the importance of climatic variables as determinants of the pattern of ANPP when the site-level data were aggregated to major land resource areas. Results demonstrated that general trends in

296

processes like net primary productivity and decomposition could be predicted reasonably well by broad-scale variability in temperature, precipitation, and soils (Sala et al. 1988). The analyses by Sala et al. (1988) confirmed the importance of water availability as a control on ANPP, with the regional spatial pattern of production reflecting the east-west gradient in annual precipitation. ANPP was lower in the drier western part of the region and higher in the more moist eastern areas, but the spatial pattern shifted eastward during dry years and westward during wet years (Fig. 8.4). The analyses revealed an interaction between precipitation and soil-water holding capacity. When annual precipitation was <370 mm, sandy soils with low soil-water holding capacity were predicted to be more productive than loamy soils with high water-holding capacity. The opposite pattern was predicted when precipitation was >370 mm. This occurs because bare-soil evaporation is lower in sandy soils than in loamy soils because water penetrates more deeply into the soil; runoff is also lower in the sandy soils. Sala et al. (1988) also observed from their empirical analysis that a model will need to include a larger number of variables to account for the spatial pattern of the same process as the scale of analysis becomes finer. The pattern of the process at the coarse scale constrained the pattern at the finer scale; thus, variability at the finer scale will be accounted for by factors at that scale plus the factors that determine the pattern at the coarse scale. Temporal relationships between precipitation and ANPP in arid regions also show promise for mapping changes in shrub canopy cover and other ecological state changes characterized by shifts in plant functional types and/or ANPP (Williamson et al. 2012).

Many landscape studies of biomass and productivity now integrate data from multiple sources, including forest inventories, intensive plot measurements, and remote sensing (e.g., Van Tuyl et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2007), in an attempt to understand ANPP and carbon fluxes at regional scales. For example, landscape studies have become increasingly important for understanding how carbon storage and fluxes vary with climate warming. Using Landsat imagery and high-resolution repeat aerial photography, Fraser et al. (2014) found evidence that the "greening" of the western Canadian arctic between 1985 and 2011 was driven by increased temperature. This greening was driven by increased cover of erect dwarf and tall shrubs and decreased cover of lichens. A 4 °C increase in winter temperature over the past 30 years was associated with warmer soils and enhanced nutrient mineralization rates and explained this vegetation change. However, multiple drivers were important; local increases in shrub growth were also attributable to disturbances caused by wildfire, exploratory gas wells, and drained lakes (Fraser et al. 2014).

Spatially extensive field measurements of biomass or ANPP may be combined with statistical models to explain variability and extrapolate patterns to the landscape. For example, in the western portion of the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem, aboveground net primary production (ANPP) was sampled in 90 forest stands stratified by forest type, stand age, and elevation class (Hansen et al. 2000). Forest type and elevation explained 89 % of the variation in ANPP. The landscape Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE



FIGURE 8.4.

Isopleths of aboveground net primary production (ANPP, g/m²) for the Central Grassland region of the USA (a) during years of average precipitation, (b) during relatively dry years, (c) during relatively wet years. (d) Isopleths show the relative variability in production between favorable and unfavorable years, estimated as: (ANPP_{wet} – ANPP_{dry})/ANPP_{average}. Adapted FROM SALA ET AL. (1988).

extrapolation revealed that most (72 %) of the landscape was relatively low in ANPP, but hotspots of ANPP (>4.5 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) occupied about 6 % of the study landscape (Fig. 8.5a). In another study in Yellowstone, areas that burned in the 1988 Yellowstone Fires were sampled in 1999 to determine how ANPP varied



FIGURE 8.5.

Landscape maps of aboveground net primary production (ANPP) in (a) the western portion of Greater Yellowstone in forests of different type and age, and (b) in young postfire forested areas of Yellowstone National Park that burned in the 1988 Yellowstone Fires.

Adapted from Hansen et al. (2000) and Turner et al. (2004B).

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

.....

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

across the landscape in young postfire stands of the same age (Turner et al. 2004b). This study found a fine-grained mosaic of variability in ANPP in the 10-year-old forests (Fig. 8.5b); about 68 % of the burned landscape had relatively low ANPP (<2.0 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), but areas of high ANPP (>4 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) occupied 10 % of the burned landscape. The spatial variability in this essential ecosystem process rate was striking, given that these were young forests of the same age, and strongly related to landscape patterns of tree density, which was a legacy of the fire (see Chap. 6).

LANDSCAPE HETEROGENEITY AND REGIONAL CARBON DYNAMICS

Understanding the influence of landscape heterogeneity for regional estimates of carbon cycling is an important area of research. Studies of how primary productivity and carbon fluxes are responding to rapid recent warming in the Arctic provide a nice example of the need to understand landscape patterns of driving variables. Permafrost structures much of the boreal landscape and exerts strong control on carbon fluxes (e.g., Turetsky 2004). Future carbon stores in high-latitude ecosystems will depend on the mosaic of permafrost persistence and thaw across the landscape because processes like photosynthesis and respiration are enhanced by permafrost thaw (Belshe et al. 2012). To assist with upscaling of ecosystem process measurements in tundra, Lee et al. (2011) characterized the spatial heterogeneity of carbon fluxes created by permafrost thaw and *thermokarst* development (i.e., the irregular surface of marshy areas and small hummocks that forms as permafrost thaws). Using replicated sampling grids, they found relationships between carbon flux measurements (annual gross primary production, annual respiration, and annual net ecosystem exchange) and surface subsidence, soil thaw depth, and aboveground biomass, along with spatial structure in all variables. This information informed a model for predicting carbon exchange of the entire landscape and within particular patches (Belshe et al. 2012). Such studies also highlight the danger of quantifying regional carbon fluxes in heterogeneous landscapes from single flux-tower sites because vegetation and topoedaphic conditions may drive variability in fluxes (Emanuel et al. 2011; Sturtevant and Oechel 2013). Even in urban settings, carbon fluxes depend on the surrounding land-use matrix (Groffman et al. 2006a). Carbon fluxes can and do vary with landscape context; incorporating landscape variability into regional estimates of biomass, productivity, and carbon flux remains an important research challenge.

As drivers of landscape pattern and change, disturbance and recovery are fundamentally linked to regional carbon balance and must be considered in regional carbon studies (Bradford et al. 2008; Kurz et al. 2008; Flannigan et al. 2009). Disturbances release carbon stored in biomass to the atmosphere, either quickly, as with combustion during a fire, or over decades, as trees killed by insects, disease, or drought decompose. Forests again become carbon sinks as the vegetation recovers from disturbance, and net losses and gains of carbon over a region may balance

over long time periods. For example, much of the carbon lost during fire is regained once a stand has recovered (e.g., Kashian et al. 2006; Campbell et al. 2012), with little net effect on atmospheric carbon over the fire cycle. In subalpine conifer forests of western North America, carbon is usually recovered in about 100 years (Bradford et al. 2008; Smithwick et al. 2009). Moreover, significant amounts of stable carbon (e.g., charcoal) remain in the ecosystem following fire and can persist for centuries, suggesting that wildland fires could be a significant long-term sink for some carbon that would otherwise cycle back to the atmosphere (DeLuca and Aplet 2008). Soil charcoal plays other roles, as well, such as stimulating nitrification, which can enhance growth of vegetation following fire (DeLuca et al. 2006). Because fire regimes are changing in many places, understanding effects of increased fire frequency, size, and severity on net carbon storage is of importance. If fires reoccur before carbon stocks have recovered, a forest that used to store carbon over the long term may switch from a sink to a source (Kashian et al. 2006; Smithwick et al. 2009). For example, a short-interval fire in Alaska eliminated the accumulated dead wood biomass in a black spruce forest and substantially reduced forest carbon storage (Brown and Johnstone 2011). Understanding how future fire regimes may affect landscape carbon dynamics is an important research priority.

Biotic disturbances like forest pathogens and insect outbreaks also affect carbon cycling, and Hicke et al. (2012a) provide an excellent review of disease-induced changes in carbon stocks and fluxes. Forest primary productivity is reduced immediately following insect or pathogen attack, and repeated growth reductions can lead to tree mortality. However, in the years following the attack, primary productivity can increase rapidly because growth of surviving vegetation is enhanced (Hicke et al. 2012a). Across landscapes, there is great uncertainty about net effects on carbon cycling because consequences depend on the type of pest or pathogen, the severity of the outbreak or attack (such as the amount of tree mortality), time since disturbance, and spatial extent of the disturbed area. Progress in understanding how carbon stocks and fluxes vary over space and time and how they respond to disturbances is sorely needed.

Landscape ecologists also recognized that primary production changes with land-use change. For example, annual net primary production in the Georgia, USA, landscape increased from 2.5 to 6.4 Mg ha⁻¹ between 1935 and 1982 (Turner 1987b). These changes were associated with widespread abandonment of croplands followed by natural succession to pine and increased urbanization in some areas. Low NPP through the 1960s reflected persistent effects of poor agricultural practices, which had caused fertility of the land to decline (Turner 1987b). The importance of spatial and temporal variation in NPP for regional and global patterns of carbon dynamics has also been recognized. Secondary forests in regions that experienced widespread cropland abandonment could serve as important terrestrial sinks for global carbon (Delcourt and Harris 1980), although ongoing land-use changes may counter this effect. Levy et al. (2004) simulated global carbon Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

balance between 1770 and 1990 with and without land-use change. In the absence of land-use change, terrestrial carbon storage was predicted to increase by 145 Pg carbon. However, when land-use change was represented, the terrestrial system became a net source of 97 Pg carbon. Thus, land use shifted the terrestrial system from a sink to a source of carbon (Levy et al. 2004). Understanding how future climate and land use will interact to influence carbon balance is of high priority.

Estimates of regional carbon storage and fluxes should account for the entire mosaic of different ecosystem types within a region, but this is not always done. In regional studies, terrestrial ecologists often consider only the terrestrial ecosystems, aquatic ecologists focus on the surface waters, and wetlands may be few and ignored by both groups. However, these ecosystems process and store carbon differently, and the whole suite of systems must be considered to understand the function of intact landscapes. One study that integrated aquatic and terrestrial components to generate a complete regional carbon budget was done for the 6400 km² Northern Highlands Lake District of northern Wisconsin (Buffam et al. 2011). Estimates of carbon stocks and fluxes were obtained from field surveys, tower-based CO₂ flux measurements, modeling, and published literature. Results found that landscape C storage was dominated by peat-containing wetlands and lake sediments, which covered only 20 % and 13 % of the landscape, respectively, but stored >80 % of the total carbon on the landscape. The largest regional carbon flux, however, was an accumulation of carbon into aggrading forests that were still recovering from nineteenth and twentieth century harvest, but C fluxes into wetlands and from surface waters were still of consequence (Buffam et al. 2011). Carbon pools and fluxes were spatially heterogeneous but showed strikingly different landscape patterns, as locations of greatest C density are not necessarily the locations where annual fluxes are greatest (Fig. 8.6), underscoring the need to consider both stocks and flux rates when studying landscape C cycling.

The potential role of landscape configuration in regional carbon studies is intriguing. Productivity and carbon fluxes are often predicted at points (or grid cells) because the vertical flux is usually dominant. However, several studies have reported interesting effects when landscape pattern and patch characteristics are considered. It is commonly assumed that carbon dynamics can be measured or modeled within homogenous patches, then summed to predict over broader scales, but Smithwick et al. (2003) found that might not always be the case. Edge-induced variation in light levels, wind exposure, and tree mortality in fragmented forest landscapes lead to errors in the additive approach (Smithwick et al. 2003). Similarly, Robinson et al. (2009) used field data and Biome-BGC to demonstrate that within-patch and landscape heterogeneity, as well as habitat fragmentation, had a strong effect of forest carbon cycling and storage. Vitousek et al. (2009), using advances in remote sensing, found that fine-scale patterns of topography affected community structure and N concentration levels as a consequence of human disturbance and the recent



FIGURE 8.6.

Map of spatial variation in carbon pools and fluxes for an 18×18 km region of the Northern Highlands Lake District in northern Wisconsin, USA. (a) Land cover. (b) Pool sizes of carbon. (c) Average annual surface-atmosphere fluxes of carbon.

Adapted from Buffam et al. (2011).

introduction of invasive plants. Together these results show that point-specific studies can identify key ecosystem processes, but additional studies are required to understand the often-unexpected effects of landscape heterogeneity.

Landscape Biogeochemistry

Interest in obtaining broad-scale estimates of other biogeochemical process rates and their spatial variability increased with the emergence of landscape ecology, in part because of human intrusions into global nutrient cycles, which often make more of a given element available in a biologically active form (Mooney et al. 1987; Groffman et al. 1992; Vitousek et al. 1997b). Nitrogen (N) is a useful indicator of ecosystem function for several reasons. Nitrogen often limits primary productivity in temperate ecosystems (Vitousek and Howarth 1991; Reich et al. 1997), and the presence of nitrate in soil water and streamwater can be used as an indicator of disturbances that lead to N leaching (Bormann and Likens 1979; Vitousek and

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE

Melillo 1979; Parsons et al. 1994). Nitrogen influences the quality of water and air, and anthropogenic modifications of the global N cycle have profound effects on the form and function of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Vitousek et al. 1997b). The unprecedented production of industrially fixed N has resulted in massive global inputs of N that have resulted in N no longer limiting NPP in many ecosystems. As with carbon, N dynamics are affected by abiotic gradients and biotic interactions. For example, temperature and soil type explained a considerable amount of variation in both N mineralization rates and ANPP in cool temperate forests (Reich et al. 1997). *Nitrogen mineralization* (the production of ammonium by aerobic soil bacteria) and *nitrification* (conversion of ammonium to nitrate by aerobic soil bacteria) produce the inorganic forms of nitrogen available for plant uptake.

Spatially explicit studies of biogeochemistry were few in early landscape studies, but they quickly increased in number and began to provide insights into scaledependent relationships between ecosystem pattern and process. For instance, Morris and Boerner (1998) quantified nitrogen mineralization and nitrification potentials in soils of hardwood forests in southern Ohio at three spatial scales: (1) the regional scale, represented by four study areas of 90-120 ha separated by 3-65 km; (2) the local scale, represented by three contiguous watersheds within each study area; and (3) the topographic scale, represented by different landscape positions within each watershed. Their results underscored the importance of understanding the patterns of variation manifested at different spatial scales. They observed no effect of spatial scale for nitrification potential in their study area, suggesting extrapolation from plot to region should be relatively easy. However, this was not the case for nitrogen mineralization potential or storage of organic carbon, which varied significantly with topographic position making this variable an important element of any extrapolation from plots to regions. Studies in other locations have confirmed the importance of topographic effects on soil nitrogen dynamics.

A regional study in southern Michigan, USA, used soil texture and natural drainage class to extrapolate rates of denitrification obtained from a landscape study (Groffman and Tiedje 1989) to an even larger area using a GIS (Groffman et al. 1992). *Denitrification* is the production of gaseous nitrogen from nitrate by soil bacteria in the absence of oxygen and is a critical process for reducing nitrate pollution in groundwater. Results from Groffman et al. (1992) revealed that spatial patterns of soil texture strongly influenced regional patterns of denitrification. Loam-textured soils occurred under 47 % of the forests in the region but accounted for 73 % of the denitrification. Sandy soils occurred under 44 % of the regional forest but produced only 5 % of the regional denitrification, and clay loam soils, which underlie 9 % of the regional forest, produced 22 % of the denitrification (Groffman et al. 1992).

Since these early studies, numerous researchers have attempted to quantify and explain spatial variability in pool size or cycling rates of different elements, and these studies span a wide range of spatial scales. Ecologists have made substantial progress in quantifying landscape patterns of process rates, but the spatial heterogeneity of the multiple factors responsible for such patterns is challenging to study and poorly understood (Turner and Chapin 2005). Nutrient pools and fluxes are influenced by multiple drivers that may differ in importance and/or interact across a wide range of scales (e.g., Reich and Oleksyn 2009). Landscape ecologists have assessed spatial dependence in nutrient pools and fluxes over a wide range of scales, from within single stands (e.g., Smithwick et al. 2005; Turner et al. 2011) to large regions (e.g., Vasquez et al. 2012).

In addition to local habitat and soil conditions, landscape configuration may influence some biogeochemical process rates. In an experimentally fragmented landscape in Kansas (USA), laboratory measurements of N-related fluxes in soils obtained from forest patches of different size revealed interesting differences attributed to patch size (Billings and Gaydess 2008). Rates of net N mineralization and gross nitrification were substantially greater in soils collected from small vs. large patches. The differences were associated with greater root biomass and root N concentration in the small patches compared to the large patches (Billings and Gaydess 2008). Results suggested that N cycling may differ in small vs. large patches, and furthermore, that gaseous losses of N from the ecosystem may relate to forest patch size (Billings and Gaydess 2008). Given the extent of habitat fragmentation worldwide, these intriguing results bear testing in other landscapes to determine how general patch size-related differences in nutrient cycling may be and to understand the causal pathways involved.

In landscapes that have a strong imprint of human activity, land-use legacies influence biomass, productivity, and nutrient pools and fluxes. Thus, landscape history matters when interpreting contemporary ecosystem process rates. In secondary forests that developed after agriculture was abandoned, soil organic matter can be substantially reduced. For example, soils in secondary forests of central New York (USA) had 15 % less organic matter and 16 % less carbon in the top 10 cm of soil than adjacent primary forest (Flinn and Marks 2007). Stand history also influences the mass, C, and N in downed coarse wood (Currie and Nadelhoffer 2002). Land-use effects are not only observed in forests. In an agricultural watershed in southern Wisconsin (USA), soil phosphorus concentrations varied with land use and showed spatial scale dependence (Bennett et al. 2005). Fertilizer applications and pasturing increased mean soil P and variance in soil P and shifted the spatial scale of variation to larger extents, and these alterations persisted through time (Bennett et al. 2005). As discussed in Chap. 2, historical agriculture can homogenize fine-scale variation in soils, thereby changing the spatial scale of variability in nutrient pools and fluxes.

Recent studies have demonstrated an important role of species interactions in structuring spatial patterns of soil nutrients and foliar nitrogen. Species interactions play out spatially on landscapes, creating opportunities to influence heterogeneity of process rates. For example, wolves can modulate landscape patterns of Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes
306

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

nutrients by configuring the distribution of ungulate carcasses (Bump et al. 2009a). Using a 50-year record that included >3600 moose carcasses from Isle Royale National Park, Michigan (USA), Bump et al. (2009a) found elevated soil nutrients, microbial biomass, and foliar nitrogen at kill sites for at least 2–3 years (Fig. 8.7). The locations of wolf-killed moose deposition varied in space and time with wolf hunting behavior, but the activities of this top predator structured the patterns of important ecosystem processes in the landscape (Bump et al. 2009a) and changed competitive dynamics between herbs and trees (Bump et al. 2009b). These and other studies of how trophic dynamics and carcasses can influence landscape patterns of ecosystem processes in soils and vegetation (e.g., Danell et al. 2002) are providing exciting new insights about ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes.

Identifying spatially and temporally explicit nutrient cycling rates remains challenging because the processes and the drivers vary so much in both space and time. Consider *denitrification*, a key process that removes excess nitrate from ecosystems, returning reactive nitrogen to the stable pool of nitrogen in the atmosphere. Denitrification is often highest in wetlands and inundated floodplains. However, denitrification is difficult to measure and model, in part because small areas (hotspots) and brief time periods (hot moments) can account for a high percentage of the denitrification activity that occurs in a landscape. The process is relatively well understood, but mapping and modeling spatial hotspots in the environment are difficult; it is challenging to predict the spatial pattern of drivers, such as nitrate availability and carbon substrate, along with the timing and location of the anoxic conditions required for the process. Many scientists and land managers are interested in predicting this microbial process at the landscape level because the effects of nitrate on soils, water quality, and air chemistry are substantial. Predicting rates and patterns of methanogenesis (anaerobic production of methane, a potent greenhouse gas) presents similar challenges. In addition, the technical training and high cost of labor and the laboratory analyses required to assess nutrient cycling in space and time can be prohibitive for many researchers.

With new sensors and rapid methodological advances, remote sensing data offer tremendous promise for scaling field measurements to the landscape and detecting evidence of nutrient limitation on net primary productivity over large areas. The biophysical and biochemical characteristics of canopy foliage are important indicators of forest ecosystem patterns and processes. Spectroscopy has long been used to develop linkages between narrow-band indices and leaf-level physiology for nondestructive measurements of foliar properties such as structure (e.g. leaf thickness), biochemistry (i.e., chlorophylls and accessory pigments, nitrogen), and water content (e.g., Carter 1998; Gao and Goetz 1994; Knapp and Carter 1998). Satellitebased spectrometers can now make many of these measurements remotely with high spectral resolution. Imaging spectroscopy (i.e., hyperspectral imagery) can be used to assess forest ecosystem function (Asner and Martin 2008) and to infer soil



FIGURE 8.7.

Illustration of how predator–prey dynamics in Yellowstone National Park, USA, are associated with spatial heterogeneity in ecosystem function. The hunting behavior of wolves influences the spatial and temporal distribution of carcasses on the landscape. *Top* and *center* photos show wolf-killed elk carcass sites in spring. Decomposing carcasses release nutrients that enhance tissue quality in grasses (*bottom*), which creates preferred grazing patches at carcass sites. PHOTOS BY JOSEPH K. BUMP.

308

LANDSCAPE processes from canopy spectral reflectance (Martin and Aber 1997; Wessman et al. 1989, 1998; Ollinger et al. 2002; Ollinger and Smith 2005). For example, predic-ECOLOGY IN tion of foliar nitrogen using hyperspectral imagery is now well established (Smith THEORY AND et al. 2003; Townsend et al. 2003). Continued advances in measurement technology in the future will likely open new avenues for understanding landscape patterns PRACTICE of nutrient stocks and fluxes.

Landscape Limnology

Spatial variability is also observed among the aquatic systems embedded in landscapes. Limnologists have long considered lakes as discrete units of study, owing in part to the natural boundary of the lake shoreline (Forbes 1887). Understanding the spatial patterns within individual lakes (e.g., patterns and processes in stratified lakes) occupied early limnologists (Forel 1892; Birge and Juday 1911; Soranno et al. 1999). Recognition of the interactions between lakes and their watershed and airshed lead to a broader view of lake ecosystems in which atmospheric inputs and catchment characteristics such as geology, land use/land cover, and topography were recognized as important influences on the chemical and trophic status of lakes (Likens 1985). Lake ecologists began to recognize spatial variation among lakes at landscape scales (Kratz et al. 1997), and the importance of the regional spatial scale for explaining variation among lakes (Cheruvelil et al. 2013). We focus here on aggregate measures of individual lakes and how lakes vary from one another, then consider land-water interactions in the next section in the chapter.

Landscape limnology refers to the spatially explicit study of lakes, streams, and wetlands and the effects of these spatial patterns on ecosystem processes across temporal and spatial scales (Soranno et al. 2010). The core principles of landscape ecology provide the foundation for landscape limnology, building on earlier arguments that landscape ecology can be usefully applied to aquatic ecosystems (e.g., Stanford 1998; Wiens 2002). Landscape limnology treats the freshwater landscape as embedded in a terrestrial and human mosaic and considers a variety of landscape ecological variables as they apply to freshwater ecosystems: (1) patch characteristics, (2) patch context, (3) patch connectivity and directionality, and (4) spatial scale and hierarchy (Soranno et al. 2010).

Some landscapes are dominated by presence of many lakes that cover a substantial proportion of the land surface (e.g., northern Sweden; northern Minnesota and Wisconsin in the US). The glacial processes that created these landscapes result in lakes that generally lie within the same geologic setting, experience the same weather, and, therefore, might be expected to be similar in their biological and chemical properties. However, lakes within such a *lake district* (regions of similar geomorphology and climate that contain many lakes) often show remarkable differences from one another, even though they are in close proximity. The many factors that can contribute to differences between lakes include lake size and depth,

internal processes such as nutrient cycling and/or trophic dynamics, and the characteristics of the surrounding landscape.

A lake's *landscape position* can be measured by its hydrologic position in the regional flow system that connects adjacent lakes within a given landscape (Kratz et al. 1997) (Fig. 8.8). Many hydrologic properties of a given lake will be determined directly by landscape position. In northern Wisconsin, groundwater is an important component of the water balance of lakes; some lakes have no inflow of surface water. The amount of groundwater that enters a lake is directly influenced by the position of the lake in the landscape. Lakes higher in the flow system (which may differ in elevation by only a few meters in northern Wisconsin) have different relative sources of water than lakes lower in the flow system (Webster et al. 1996). Precipitation comprises a greater proportion of the water input to lakes higher in the landscape than to the lower lakes, which receive a greater proportion of their water input from groundwater. Groundwater typically has greater ionic strength than precipitation because of its contact with the soils and substrate; thus landscape position influences ionic concentrations in lakes (Fig. 8.9).

Soranno et al. (1999) analyzed long-term data from nine *lake chains* (lakes in a series, connected through surface or groundwater flow) from seven lake districts of diverse hydrogeomorphic setting in North America. The study asked: (1) are there predictable spatial patterns in chemical, algal, and water quality variables along lake chains, and (2) do lakes that are closer together in a chain behave more similarly through time? Results indicated that spatial and temporal patterns of lakes

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes



FIGURE 8.8.

Illustration of the concept of landscape position applied to lakes.

Modified from Webster et al. (1996).



FIGURE 8.9.

The relationship between landscape position and the calcium plus magnesium and dissolved reactive silica concentrations in the five clearwater lakes of the North Temperate Long-term Ecological Research site in northern Wisconsin, USA. These five lakes lie within the same groundwater flow system. Crystal Lake is highest (i.e., headwater) and Trout Lake is lowest in the flow system.

Landscape position (high \rightarrow low)

Adapted from Kratz et al. (1997).

within a lake district were organized along gradients of geology (depth of glacial till and spatial heterogeneity in soil characteristics), hydrology (water residence time and whether lakes were dominated by surface or groundwater flow), and some measure of landscape influence (e.g., ratio of watershed area to lake area). The spatial patterns along lake chains for a wide range of variables were surprisingly similar across lake districts. For example, weathering variables, alkalinity, conductivity, and calcium generally increased along lake chains, but these patterns were weaker in regions situated in calcium-rich tills or having high local heterogeneity in geologic substrate. Concentrations of particulate nutrients and measures of algal biomass increased along lake chains in drainage lakes, but not in the groundwaterdominated lakes. Regarding temporal patterns, landscape position was important in determining **synchrony** (a measure of the degree to which lake pairs within a lake district behave similarly through time [Magnuson et al. 1990]) between lake pairs only for variables related to weathering. For most variables, synchronous behavior in lakes within a lake chain was unrelated to lake spatial position.

Landscape processes that influence the amount of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) entering a lake can affect the magnitude and vertical distribution of primary production within the lake. Lakes with high concentrations of DOC tend to be tea colored, and the brown color reduces the clarity of the water and hence the light penetration. Colored DOC is derived mainly from the soils or wetlands rich in organic matter within the landscape surrounding a lake. Therefore, the position of

310

the lake relative to sources of allochthonous (i.e., from external sources) DOC inputs can be a dominant factor determining net primary productivity within the lake (Kratz et al. 1997; Gergel et al. 1999). Interestingly, many existing lake data sets emphasize large lakes, which are often important for the human populations in a given region, but this may bias regional estimates of lake properties. In the Northern Highlands Lake District of northern Wisconsin, Hanson et al. (2007) selected a random sample of 168 lakes that spanned the full size distribution of lakes and measured a broad suite of limnological variables in each lake. The results demonstrated that most lakes were small (median lake area was 1.1 ha), although half of the surface area of water was in relatively few large lakes. Small lakes had high concentrations of DOC and lower concentrations of dissolved inorganic carbon compared to large lakes. Including small lakes in the lake survey resulted in a median DOC concentration that was about 50 % higher than it would have been without the smaller lakes (Hanson et al. 2007). Thus, all lakes will introduce bias.

Results from these studies suggest that a landscape perspective for lakes is informative and robust. This perspective argues that lakes are not isolated ecosystems but rather are embedded in a landscape matrix, with lakes interacting with one another and with the terrestrial environment. Soranno et al. (1999) argued further for an expansion of this view to encompass the set of lakes, streams, and wetlands that occur within a landscape; these aquatic systems are often treated separately (and as independent entities), yet they are often connected spatially and functionally. A landscape perspective fosters such integration, which is among the goals of landscape limnology (Soranno et al. 2010).

Studies of how lakes vary and change are also being aided by the increased availability of remotely sensed data. Indices derived from satellite data provide insights into patterns and trends in lake water clarity, which can be strongly related to lake trophic status. Landsat imagery has been used to map water clarity lakes in Wisconsin (Chipman et al. 2004), Minnesota (Olmanson et al. 2008), Maine (McCullough et al. 2012), and New Zealand (Hicks et al. 2013), although relatively few studies have yet explored the regional drivers of such patterns (Soranno et al. 2010). Understanding the drivers of interannual and among-lake variation in water clarity in lake-rich landscapes remains a key challenge in landscape limnology (Soranno et al. 2010).

LATERAL FLUXES (HORIZONTAL TRANSPORT)

Several common *vectors* (factors that facilitate transport of matter and energy across landscapes against existing gradients) often dominate ecosystem processes (see Reiners and Driese 2004 for in-depth discussion). For instance, wind (aeolian) and water (fluvial) effectively move organic matter, soils, and nutrients across many

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes 312

LANDSCAPElandscapes. Soluble nutrients are often moved by gravity-driven fluvial transport,
and nutrients adsorbed to soils are translocated by erosion and colluvial transport.
Animal locomotion is also important for moving matter and nutrients from one
place to another. Within heterogeneous landscapes, nutrient pools and fluxes vary
spatially, and landscape composition and configuration may affect lateral fluxes.
Most examples of lateral transfers involve the transmission of matter (Reiners and
Driese 2004). Here, we use three examples to illustrate these principles.

Redistribution of Litter and Organic Matter

Nutrient fluxes via litter redistribution can be extensive in some landscapes. For example, redistribution of leaf litter in a topographically and edaphically complex landscape on the Allegheny Plateau in Ohio was substantial, with some landscape positions (ridgetops and upper slopes) serving as a net source of litter, and others (side and lower slopes) serving as a net sink (Boerner and Kooser 1989). Litter movements from one cover type may even provide enough nutrients to subsidize productivity in another. Over a 3-year period in an agroforestry landscape in Guangdong Province, southeastern China, about 11 % of the litterfall in an *Acacia mangium* plantation was transported to a *Dimocarpus longan* orchard (Shen et al. 2011). The influx of windblown litter accounted for 9–59 % of the total nutrient inputs in the orchard, depending on the element. Thus, the transfer of nutrients could potentially enhance fruit production in the orchard.

Nutrient redistribution from croplands to remnant patches of natural vegetation in agricultural landscapes may lead to nutrient overenrichment in the remnants (Duncan et al. 2008). In areas of grain production in Australia, soils are nutrient poor and formerly supported semiarid woodland. Conversion to agricultural land uses was accompanied by crop fertilization and manure associated with sheep farming. Nutrients accumulated in remnant patches, but the effect varied with patch size and configuration. Small (<3 ha) patches of remnant vegetation were nutrient accumulation zones, as were the edges of large patches, especially on the windward sides of the patches (Duncan et al. 2008). Results were consistent with two different transport mechanisms. Enrichment in small remnants resulted from livestock sheltering, and enrichment in large remnants was due to wind and water movement of nutrients in soil and litter.

In lake ecosystems, airborne fluxes of nutrients represent additional important transfers of matter between ecosystems (Vander Zanden and Gratton 2011). Lakes occupy lower spots on the landscape and often receive gravity-driven inputs of matter, organisms, and nutrients. The influx of *terrestrial particulate organic carbon (TPOC)*, such as windblown leaf litter, twigs, pollen, or insects derived from surrounding terrestrial ecosystems, can be important sources of organic matter that support lake metabolism. Many lakes are net heterotrophic systems, meaning that they require carbon inputs from outside the system (e.g., Hanson et al. 2003). The

relative importance of such allochthonous inputs is greater for smaller lakes, which have higher perimeter:area ratios, than for larger lakes (Vander Zanden and Gratton 2011). Most leaf litterfall inputs occur within 10 m of the shoreline (France and Peters 1995), suggesting there will be strong effects of lake size and shape on litter inputs (Vander Zanden and Gratton 2011).

Long-range transport of soil, smoke, and dust particles from one ecosystem to another—sometimes from one continent to another—has long been recognized as a significant process capable also of transporting important nutrients around the globe (e. g., Perry et al. 1997; Prospero 1999). Dust plumes that originate in Africa are often visible in remote imagery and provide significant inputs to the landscapes of southeastern USA (Prospero 1999). Intercontinental transfers have been identified as important nutrient inputs to a variety of ecosystems.

Nutrient Loading to Aquatic Ecosystems

Land-water interactions are perhaps the best studied examples of lateral fluxes of nutrients across landscapes because problems associated with *eutrophication* (excess nutrients) are so widespread in aquatic ecosystems. A common theme underlying many studies of land-water interactions is the degree to which land uses in the uplands, and the spatial arrangement of these land uses, influence water quality (Strayer et al. 2003b). Freshwater and estuarine ecosystems act as integrators and centers of organization within the landscape, touching nearly all aspects of the natural environment and human culture (Naiman et al. 1995; Naiman 1996; Boynton et al. 1995; Correll et al. 1992). Noel Hynes, widely regarded as the father of modern stream ecology, stated, "We must not divorce the stream from its valley in our thoughts at any time. If we do, we lose touch with reality" (Hynes 1975). Land-water interactions are apparent even in relatively undisturbed landscapes. For example, studies along a toposequence of tundra, sedge, and shrub communities along a slope in Alaska revealed the importance of ecosystem adjacencies to nutrient transformation and movement (Shaver et al. 1991). The entire sequence of community types occurred along a few hundred meters, but large differences were observed in the rates of plant uptake, mineralization, and transport between ecosystems.

Improving understanding of the complex relationships between the land and water is an important goal of basic and applied research in landscape ecology. Freshwaters are degraded by increasing inputs of silt, nutrients, and pollutants from agriculture, forest harvest, and cities (Carpenter et al. 1995, 1998). Consider a watershed containing croplands or pastures. Farmers often apply fertilizers high in nitrogen and phosphorus (P) to their fields, but not all of the added N and P is taken up by the plants. When it rains, some of these nutrients are leached from the soil and transported through the watershed and into the stream by both surface and subsurface water flow. Like agricultural areas, cities and suburbs are important

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes

contributors to such "nonpoint source" pollution-that is, pollution that does LANDSCAPE not come from a single source, like a pipe, but rather is delivered from wide-ECOLOGY IN spread areas of the landscape. Homeowners often apply as much fertilizer and THEORY AND pesticides per unit area to their lawns as farmers do to their crop fields, and a portion of these nutrients end up in nearby aquatic systems. Lakes and reservoirs PRACTICE fill more rapidly with mud from agricultural and urban land uses, and the growth of nuisance plants including toxic blue-green algae is promoted by the increased silt and nutrients. Regional changes in land use cause widespread eutrophication of many lakes on the landscape. Eutrophication also makes lakes more similar to one another, because the lakes are all dominated by species that can tolerate eutrophic conditions. Therefore, the diversity of lake types within a landscape is reduced as all lakes become eutrophic and converge to have similar species (Carpenter et al. 1995).

The nutrients most often considered in studies of land-water interactions are nitrogen and phosphorus. Economic and health concerns about excess nitrogen inputs into aquatic ecosystems are growing throughout the world (e.g., Cole et al. 1993; Mueller and Helsel 1996; Vitousek et al. 1997a, b). In rivers, nitrogen biogeochemistry is sensitive to land-use patterns, the structure of the riparian zone, and river flow regimes (Cirmo and McDonnell 1997). Coastal "*dead zones*," such as the extensive zone of hypoxia that develops each year in the Gulf of Mexico (Rabalais et al. 2002; Dodds 2006), result from excess inputs of nitrogen, mostly derived from anthropogenic activities in the watershed. Accumulation of excess phosphorus in lakes has long been recognized as a driver of eutrophication, and again, this is largely derived from human land use (e.g., Carpenter et al. 1998; Wagner et al. 2011).

Understanding the effects of land-use patterns on water quality and the spatial scales over which these effects are manifest has been an important goal of land-scape ecological studies since the mid-1980s. For example, Osborne and Wiley (1988) analyzed the nitrogen and phosphorus concentration of streams in the Salt River Basin, Illinois, and used regression analysis to determine whether there was a relationship to land-use patterns mapped from aerial photos. Results demonstrated that the amount of urban land cover and its distance from the stream were the most important variables in predicting nutrient concentrations in the streamwater. Numerous studies have found significant relationships between land use and concentrations of nutrients in lakes and streams (Strayer et al. 2003b).

The impacts of human activities on sediment and nutrient budgets of watersheds are well documented (Carpenter et al. 1998). Historically, broad-scale forest clearing and conversion to agriculture or residential land use has led to increased erosion and transport of sediments and nutrients into estuaries and the lower portions of river systems. In the Chesapeake Bay basin (USA), such impacts have been documented for postsettlement times (1700s—present) both broadly for the entire Bay (e.g., Brush 1984, 1986, 1989, 1997) and specifically for selected tributaries (e.g., Jordan et al. 1997a, b). An extensive analysis of land-cover effects on stream ecosystems revealed that land cover was significantly correlated with numerous aquatic response variables, including annual nitrate flux (Strayer et al. 2003b). In a study of 210 lakes in Denmark, Nielsen et al. (2012) found that the proportion of agricultural land use in the entire watershed was best in explaining variation in lake water quality, suggesting that transport mechanisms within entire catchments are important for nutrient export to lakes. However, the spatial scale that is best for predicting ecological responses varies among response variables (Strayer et al. 2003b); predictive power declined in small watersheds, suggesting that the spatial arrangement of land-cover patches may be critical at these smaller scales.

Landscape patterns are also important for water quality in urban areas, as illustrated for Minneapolis-St. Paul by Detenbeck et al. (1993). In 33 lake watersheds in the Minneapolis-St. Paul area, landscape and vegetation patterns were obtained from aerial photographs and then compared with measured lake water quality. When lakes were embedded in a forest-dominated watershed, they were less eutrophic and had lower levels of chloride and lead. In contrast, lakes with substantial agriculture in their watersheds were more eutrophic; percent urban land use in the watershed was also positively correlated with lake phosphorus (Detenbeck et al. 1993). Wetlands were also important; when wetlands remained intact in the watersheds, less lead was present in the lake water. Along an urban to rural gradient in the Chesapeake Bay watershed, phosphorus exports were low in small, forestdominated watersheds with low-density residential land use, and greatest in the lower watershed that was dominated by urban land use (Duan et al. 2012).

The increasing number of studies of land-water interactions that consider urban land uses also has led to a greater emphasis on the role of impervious surfaces. With increasing area devoted to roads, parking lots, and buildings, the ability of water to percolate through the soil is impeded. This decrease in perviousness of the catchment leads to a decrease in infiltration and an increase in surface runoff (Paul and Meyer 2001). As the percentage of impervious cover increases to 10–20 %, runoff doubles; with 35–50 % impervious cover, runoff triples (Paul and Meyer 2001). Understanding ecosystem processes in urban landscapes remains a topic of keen interest, as models developed in unmanaged or agricultural systems do not translate well to the urban setting (Kaye et al. 2006). Human influences such as impervious surfaces, engineered water-flow paths, landscaping choices, and irrigation all have important influences on urban biogeochemistry and land–water interactions (Kaye et al. 2008).

Problems associated with nonpoint pollution have stimulated a variety of modeling studies designed to relate runoff and nutrient loading in aquatic systems to upland dynamics. In an early modeling study examining spatial variability in the loss, gain, and storage of total nitrogen, Kesner and Meentemeyer (1989) combined a simple mass-balance model with a GIS database to study N dynamics in an 11,490-ha agricultural watershed in southern Georgia, USA. Results demonstrated Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

that it was possible to quantify and map source and sink regions of N in a watershed and that the riparian zone was critically important in buffering this watershed against excessive losses of N.

A simple model of phosphorus transformation and transport for the Lake Mendota watershed, Wisconsin, provided useful insights into the effects of land use on water quality (Soranno et al. 1996). The watershed of Lake Mendota is dominated by agricultural and urban land uses, and the lake itself has a long history of limnological study (Brock 1985; Kitchell 1992). Soranno et al. (1996) developed a GIS-based model of phosphorus loading in which phosphorus-export coefficients varied among land uses. Phosphorus is usually bound to sediments, and phosphorus delivery to the lake is attenuated by the terrestrial landscape. Soranno et al. (1996) accounted for this by weighting the contribution of phosphorus to the lake by a given grid cell by its distance from the lake. Because of the network of storm sewers serving the urban areas of Madison, Wisconsin and surrounding communities, urban areas were treated as though they were adjacent to streams. The model was then used to compare phosphorus loadings in Lake Mendota under current patterns of land use, presettlement land use, and projected future land use in which the urban area increased nearly twofold. Because rainfall events drive runoff, simulations were conducted for both high- and low-precipitation years. Results demonstrated that most of the watershed did not contribute phosphorus loading to the lake; most P came from a relatively small proportion of the watershed, ranging from 17 % of the watershed contributing during low-precipitation years to 50 % during high-precipitation years. A sixfold increase in phosphorus loading was estimated to have occurred since settlement. Results also demonstrated the importance of riparian vegetation in attenuating phosphorus runoff (Soranno et al. 1996). Ongoing research in this well-studied lake continues to yield new insights about how changes in land use and land cover influence lake hydrology, nutrient loading, and eutrophication (Carpenter et al. 2007).

Riparian corridors, including wetlands and floodplain forests, are conspicuous elements of many landscapes and important mediators of land-water interactions (Naiman and DeCamps 1997). Freshwaters are especially sensitive to changes in these adjacent lands. *Riparian buffers*—areas of relatively undisturbed vegetation along streams or adjacent to lakes—generally slow the transport of nutrients and sediments from upland agricultural-urban areas to adjacent aquatic ecosystems. Because riparian vegetation and associated microbial communities can take up large amounts of water, sediment, and nutrients from surface and groundwater draining agricultural areas within a catchment, they act as temporary storage areas that substantially reduce net discharges of nutrients into aquatic ecosystems. Disturbances to riparian zones can quickly release stored nutrients and sediments making the structure and dynamics of these landscape units an important component of management and restoration of streams in developed landscapes (Bernhardt and Palmer 2007; Craig et al. 2008; Kaushal et al. 2008).

Wetlands, floodplains, and riparian vegetation zones have been extensively altered by agricultural and urban development (Turner et al. 1998a) (Fig. 8.10).



Wetland losses from the United States.

Adapted from Turner et al. (1998a).

318

LANDSCAPE Woody riparian vegetation once covered an estimated 30-40 million ha in the contiguous United States (Swift 1974). At least two-thirds of that area has been ECOLOGY IN converted to nonforest land uses, and only 10-14 million ha remained in the early THEORY AND 1970s. Floodplain clearing for agriculture, urbanization, and water resource development has been responsible for much of the loss of riparian forests. Since the PRACTICE 1970s, the total amount of forest and natural vegetation in riparian buffers has remained similar, declining by <1 % (Jones et al. 2010). A classic example of the loss of riparian forest has been described for the Willamette River, Oregon (Sedell and Froggatt 1984). Prior to 1850, the streamside forest extended up to 3 km on either side of a river characterized by multiple channels, sloughs, and backwaters. By 1967, government-sponsored programs for forest clearing, snag removal, and channelization (channel deepening and straightening) reduced the Willamette River to a single uniform channel that had lost over 80 % of its forest and land-water edge habitats. For an excellent review of the function of riparian zones, interested readers are referred to Naiman and DeCamps (1997).

In the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, studies of nutrient dynamics in mixed agricultural watersheds have nicely demonstrated the nutrient-removal function of riparian vegetation. Substantial quantities of particulate materials, organic nitrogen, ammonium-N, nitrate-N, and particulate phosphorus were removed in an agricultural watershed when waters flowing from a corn field passed across approximately 50 m of riparian forest (Peterjohn and Correll 1984) (Fig. 8.11). The effectiveness of vegetated riparian buffer strips (forest and grass) in retaining nutrients moving from adjacent agricultural lands was also examined by Osborne and Kovacic (1993). Results demonstrated that nitrogen runoff was reduced by 90 % for both forest and grassy riparian buffers, but that forest vegetation retained more nitrogen whereas grassy vegetation retained more phosphorus. This process of nutrient removal is ecologically important because it can substantially reduce cultural eutrophication. Thus, the presence and location of particular vegetation types can strongly affect the movements of materials across the landscape and help to regulate the quality of surface waters within the landscape.

The spatial pattern of riparian vegetation—i.e., variation in length, width, and gaps—influences its effectiveness as a nutrient sink. Weller et al. (1998) developed and analyzed models predicting landscape discharge based on material release by an uphill source area, the spatial distribution of riparian buffer along a stream, and retention of material within the buffer (Fig. 8.12). The buffer was modeled as a grid of cells, with each cell transmitting a fixed fraction of the material received. Variability in the riparian buffer width reduced total buffer retention and increased the width needed to meet a management goal (Weller et al. 1998). Variable-width buffers were less efficient than uniform-width buffers because transport through gaps dominated discharge, especially when buffers were narrow; average buffer width was the best predictor of landscape discharge for unretentive buffers, while the frequency of gaps was best for narrow, retentive buffers (Weller et al. 1998).



FIGURE 8.11.

Diagram of total-N flux and cycling (**a**) and total-P flux and cycling (**b**) in a study watershed from March 1981 to March 1982. All values are kg/ha of the respective habitats.

Adapted from Peterjohn and Correll (1984).



FIGURE 8.12.

Conceptual model of a landscape with a riparian buffer. The landscape is divided into a grid, and cells along the stream are occupied by the buffer ecosystem. Water and materials flow downhill from the source ecosystem, through the buffer, and to the stream. Weller et al. (1998) developed models in which the width (w) and length of the riparian buffer were varied, along with the width (w_{max}) of the entire simulated landscape, to evaluate the effectiveness of the buffer at retaining nutrients.

Adapted from Weller et al. (1998).

This heuristic model offered predictions that were amenable for testing in a variety of riparian systems.

Riparian zones have a significant effect on water quality, but the spatial extent of that effect remains unclear (Fig. 8.13). That is, is it only the riparian zone that is important in maintaining water quality, or must adjacent land uses across the entire watershed be considered? Studies of such scale-dependent relationships between landscape characteristics and water chemistry have yielded mixed results. Johnson et al. (1997) found that total phosphorus in streamwater was better explained by land-use patterns within a 100-m buffer of a stream than by land use or other variables at the extent of the catchment. However, other studies have demonstrated that more distant upland land uses were as important as riparian land uses in larger watersheds (e.g., Omernik et al. 1981), or that whole-watershed predictors performed best (e.g., Nielsen et al. 2012). Responses may also differ between lotic and lentic systems. Gergel et al. (1999) found that landscape characteristics (especially proportion of wetlands) within 50-m of lakes in northern Wisconsin explained significant variability in concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC); in contrast, measurements from the whole watershed always explained more variability for DOC in rivers than did measurements from the nearshore area. Within the Chesapeake Bay watershed, Weller et al. (2011) demonstrated that models that included riparian buffers better explained stream nitrate concentrations than models using only land-cover proportions. Among physiographic regions, the expected reduction in average stream nitrate concentration due to riparian buffers was greatest in the Coastal Plain (50 % of the inputs from cropland) and Piedmont





FIGURE 8.13.

Illustration of different spatial extents considered in studies of land–water interactions. (a) Hypothetical hierarchical drainage network with subwatersheds; numbers refer to stream order; (b) subwatersheds considered separately; (c) illustration of fixed-width buffer; and (d) larger fixed-width riparian buffer.

(11 %; Weller et al. 2011). In a tropical landscape in Puerto Rico, the spatial scale over which land use and land cover influenced indicators of stream water quality differed across indicators (Uriarte et al. 2011). Turbidity and dissolved oxygen respond to land use and land cover at the watershed scale, in-stream phosphorus concentration and fecal matter content responded at the subwatershed scale, and in-stream nitrogen concentration responded to riparian buffers (Uriarte et al. 2011). The variety of results from studies of watersheds and buffers in different regions underscores the need to better understand the interactions between land and water and the scales over which they are manifest.

The relative importance of spatial configuration (vs. composition) for estimating or managing nutrient loadings to lakes or streams remains unresolved. In general,

LANDSCAPEconfiguration per se appears to be more important for explaining nutrient loading
or concentrations in smaller watersheds than in larger watersheds, where effects of
spatial arrangement seem to average out. A study using a grid-based surface-flow
simulation model and thousands of simulated watersheds also suggested that the
configuration of cover types would be most important in landscapes with interme-
diate relative abundances of nutrient sources or sinks (Gergel 2005). These simula-
tions suggested an interesting set of hypotheses that relate to percolation thresholds
(see Chap. 3) and could be tested empirically (Gergel 2005):

- ✤ In watersheds with <30 % source area: Increasing fertilizer application rates, increasing heterogeneity, or altering spatial configuration will only slightly alter variability in nutrient loading among different watersheds.</p>
- In watersheds with >65 % source area: Spatial location has little impact on nutrient loading; fine-scale heterogeneity in nutrient outputs from source areas markedly affect total loading as the percentage of source area increases.
- In watersheds with intermediate percentages of source area: Landscape heterogeneity in sources is expected to influence loading most. Spatial configuration of sources and sinks will matter most, and source output relative to sink uptake will determine the range of source percentages for which this is true.

In sum, land–water interactions are important and complex landscape processes. Components of the landscape surrounding a lake, stream, or river strongly influence water quality. Landscape elements may serve as sources, sinks, or transformers for nutrient, sediment, and pollution loads. Land cover—such as agricultural or urban—is only part of the equation because the actual management practices used on a parcel of land can have very strong effects. Topography also influences the rate of delivery from landscape components to water bodies. When watersheds are steeply sloped and soils are highly erodible, the flux or export of nutrients and sediments to surface waters will increase. In both urban and agricultural landscapes, native vegetation can reduce nonpoint pollution and help maintain satisfactory quality of surface waters.

Mobile Animals and Species Interactions

To understand functional dynamics of entire landscapes, and especially lateral fluxes, interactions between species and ecosystem processes must be considered (Lundberg and Moberg 2003). Grazers can enhance mineral availability by increasing nutrient cycling in patches of their waste (McNaughton et al. 1988) and transport nutrients from one habitat to another (Augustine and Frank 2001; Seagle 2003). Landscape ecology offers a conceptual arena for integrating species and ecosystems that also can help unite the traditionally distinct subdisciplines of

population and ecosystem ecology. In an introductory chapter in the book, <i>Linking</i>	Ecosystem
Species and Ecosystems (Jones and Lawton 1995), Grimm (1995) wrote:	Processes in

Interactions between population/community and ecosystem ecologists would be facilitated by adopting, *as a starting point*, a spatially based conception of units of study. ... Whatever the scale of the investigation, a spatially based perspective places species interactions (the traditional focus of community ecology) into a context in which their effect on ecosystem processes may be assessed. Interactions between patches may be critical to larger-scale processes and include biotic interactions that occur within component subsystems.

Species and ecosystems are inherently linked, but studies in population ecology and ecosystem ecology often ignore this linkage. Landscape studies of lateral nutrient fluxes via animal movement or species interactions provide a clear mandate to bridge this divide.

A considerable body of work has identified animal-mediated movements of materials and nutrients from aquatic to terrestrial communities. Some of these involve large charismatic animals, but aquatic insects can also play important roles. The emergence of midges (Diptera: Chironomidae) and their deposition along the shorelines of Icelandic lakes offer an excellent example of lake-to-land linkages (Gratton et al. 2008). Annual midge input rates were as high as 1200–2500 kg midges ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. As midges are about 9.2 % total N, the infall of midges was sufficient to fertilize the terrestrial vegetation along some lakes, although this effect declined with distance from the lakeshore. Further, many terrestrial consumers depended on midge-derived trophic pathways (Gratton et al. 2008; Dreyer et al. 2012). In general, insect deposition to terrestrial ecosystems shows a negative exponential decline with distance from shore (Gratton and Vander Zanden 2009), indicating a strong spatial dynamic to this interaction.

Large animals are also important nutrient transfers from water to land. Willson et al. (1998) described an expanded perspective on interactions between fish and wildlife in the Pacific coastal region of North America. Each year, millions of anadromous fish (e.g., salmon, char, and smelt) move from the ocean into numerous freshwater streams to spawn. These fishes provide an important seasonal resource base for a variety of terrestrial predators and scavengers, including bald eagles (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus* and brown and black bears (*Ursus arctos* and *Ursus americanus*, respectively). The anadramous fishes typically die after spawning, and the nutrient subsidies provided by their carcasses to the streams are well recognized. What was surprising, however, was the potential fertilization effects of salmon carcasses on the terrestrial ecosystems (Willson et al. 1998). The predators congregate and feed along the spawning streams in great numbers, then carry salmon, living or dead, onto stream banks and tens of meters into the forests (Fig. 8.14). Marine-derived nutrients, which can be identified by isotopic markers,

Heterogeneous

Landscapes



FIGURE 8.14.

Illustration of the movement of nutrients from a stream to fish, bears, and then deposited in the uplands and absorbed into the terrestrial biota.

pass from the bodies of the salmon into the soil and then into the riparian and upland vegetation, with the nutrients probably then moving up the terrestrial food chain. Willson et al. (1998) reported potential additions of P from bear-carried fishes of approximately 6.7 kg/ha, which is similar to the P application rate of commercial fertilizers for evergreens and trees! In southwestern Alaska, bears feeding on salmon increased soil ammonium concentration threefold and nitrous oxide fluxes by 32-fold (Holtgrieve et al. 2009). The consequences of this waterto-land fertilizer effect for terrestrial food webs could have substantial implications for the spatial patterns of ecosystem processes in these forested landscapes. Large mobile consumers can be very important in generating landscape heterogeneity in nutrient cycling.

In terrestrial landscapes, animals that feed in one place but excrete wastes in another location can be important vectors of nutrient transport. The movement of nutrients by large grazers has been recognized for some time, particularly in landscapes such as the Serengeti that harbor large numbers of native ungulates (McNaughton et al. 1988; Seagle and McNaughton 1992). Significant nutrient transfers from croplands to nearby forests by grazers have also been documented (Seagle 2003; Murray et al. 2013). The central-place foraging of birds and bats also results in high concentrations of guano in caves and nesting areas and caves (Stoker 1926; Bird et al. 2007).

Feeding activities of mobile animals can cascade through ecosystems to influence landscape patterns. A set of studies in the boreal forest landscape has demonstrated fascinating links among spatial patterns of plant species distributions and biomass, the foraging dynamics of moose (*Alces alces*), and rates of nutrient cycling (McInnes et al. 1992; Jeffries et al. 1994; Pastor et al. 1997). Studies on Isle Royale, an island

located in Lake Superior and well known for long-term studies of moose and wolves, demonstrated how selective foraging by moose on hardwood species allows unbrowsed or lightly browsed conifers to dominate the boreal landscape (McInnes et al. 1992). Moose prefer to browse upon deciduous tree species such as birch (*Betula lutea*) and aspen (*Populus tremuloides*), as well as balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*), rather than on white spruce (*Picea glauca*). In areas of Isle Royale where fences (exclosures) were built to prevent moose from browsing, the deciduous trees have persisted and grown larger. However, outside the exclosures, where moose were allowed to browse, white spruce was the only tree species that could grow above the browsing height of a moose. Moose browsing on balsam fir and the deciduous trees prevented saplings of these preferred forage species from growing into full-sized trees. The browsing of moose also opened up the forest canopy and reduces tree biomass, allowing more light to reach the forest floor and stimulating more production of shrubs and herbaceous species.

Understanding the spatial heterogeneity of ecosystem processes in this boreal landscape requires forging a linkage between the feeding ecology and population dynamics of moose and the function of the ecosystem, all within the context of a landscape. By selectively foraging on specific plant species, moose and other large herbivores influence ecosystem dynamics—changing plant community composition, biomass, production, and nutrient cycling (McInnes et al. 1992). Soils in areas dominated by spruce received less litter, and the nutritional quality of the litter, especially its nitrogen content, declined for the decomposers. This decrease in litter quantity and quality leads to a decline in microbial processes that in turn determine nitrogen availability for the living plants. Conifer litter depresses the availability of soil nitrogen, which limits net primary production in boreal forests.

Moen et al. (1997, 1998) developed a simulation model to predict how alternative moose foraging strategies affect the net annual energy balance and density of moose, and the spatial distribution of browse across the landscape. Simulations were conducted at fine resolution (grid cells of 1 m² over an 8-ha landscape), and results have demonstrated how moose "create" their own landscape by their patterns of foraging and the feedbacks of those patterns on vegetation structure and composition. Because moose are highly mobile and can forage all around the landscape, interactions between moose and vegetation create a mosaic of nutrient cycling regimes in these boreal forests resulting in complex spatial and temporal patterns of browsing, conifer density, and soil nitrogen distribution across the landscape (Pastor et al. 1999).

Continued study of this system included a recent decline in the moose population and how that affected browse availability and consumption and soil fertility over an 18-year time frame (De Jager and Pastor 2009). When the moose population declined rapidly, patterns of available and consumed browse became decoupled, in contrast to earlier years. Soil nitrogen availability shifted from repeated to random patterns (De Jager and Pastor 2009). Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

......

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

In sum, species interactions produce strong and persistent patterns of nutrient cycling and accumulation in the landscape. Continued study of spatial interactions of plants and animals is both interesting and necessary if we are to understand ecosystem dynamics at landscape scales.

STATE OF THE SCIENCE: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Empirical and modeling studies of spatial heterogeneity in ecosystem processes have demonstrated several important points. First, spatial variation in abiotic variables (temperature, precipitation, soils, and topographic position) often produces substantial spatial variation in ecosystem processes. This heterogeneity must be understood because the abiotic template is a powerful driver and constraint of ecosystem dynamics. Second, abiotic factors vary over multiple spatial scales, and ecologists are still striving to determine the scales that are appropriate for developing predictive relationships. Considering these factors hierarchically may enhance our understanding of how they vary. Third, understanding the implications of the dynamic landscape mosaic for ecosystem processes remains a frontier in ecosystem and landscape ecology.

Many empirical studies have taken a comparative approach using integrative measurements, such as nutrient concentrations in aquatic ecosystems, as indicators of how spatial heterogeneity influences the end result of lateral fluxes (Strayer et al. 2003b). Most of these studies focus on nutrients, such as nitrogen or phosphorus, related to surface water quality. Variation in topography, the amount of impervious surfaces (e.g., pavement), and the extent of agricultural and urban land uses have all been related to the concentration or loading of nutrients in waters. However, the particular aspects of spatial heterogeneity that are significant or the spatial scales over which that influence is most important have varied among studies (Gergel et al. 2002). The lack of consistency among the comparative studies may arise, in part, from the need to measure multiple variables changing in space and time and from our limited understanding about how materials actually flow laterally across heterogeneous landscapes.

Additional challenges remain. Scaling microbially regulated processes to entire landscapes remains especially difficult (e.g., Smithwick 2006). Understanding feedbacks from changing vegetation to water, carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus cycles is an important research need in landscape and global ecology (Wassen et al. 2013). In similar vein, understanding interactions among different vectors remains limited; in semiarid African savannas, nitrogen and phosphorus delivery to riparian zones and the subsequent fate of those nutrients is affected not only by seasonality, hillslope hydrology, but also by fire, flooding, herbivory, and physical disturbance by animals (e.g., wallows; Jacobs et al. 2007). Understanding spatial interactions among interacting drivers and ecosystem elements remains limited.

A landscape perspective continues to offer the opportunity to better link populations and ecosystem processes and services (Lundberg and Moberg 2003); organisms exist in heterogeneous space and they use, transform, and transport matter and energy. Augustine and Frank (2001) demonstrated such an effect by grazers redistributing soil N at every spatial scale from individual plants to landscapes. Seagle (2003) hypothesized that the juxtaposition of land uses with different forage nutrient concentrations interacts nonlinearly with deer behavior to effect nutrient transport of sufficient magnitude to alter ecosystem nutrient budgets. Terrestrial predators, herbivores, and piscivores have all been shown to influence spatial patterns of nutrient pools and fluxes. Considering habitat use and movement patterns of species in a spatial context will continue to provide a wealth of opportunities for enhancing the linkage between species and ecosystems and enhance functional understanding of landscape mosaics.

What can be concluded about when space matters for ecosystem function? Strayer et al. (2003a) proposed a useful conceptualization of model complexity relative to inclusion of spatial and temporal heterogeneity. However, a general understanding of lateral fluxes in landscape mosaics has remained elusive, despite promising conceptual frameworks developed for particular systems (e.g., semiarid landscapes; Ludwig et al. 2000). Spatial heterogeneity is expected to be important for ecosystem processes under several conditions (Turner and Chapin 2005). For point processes, spatial heterogeneity must be considered when it is necessary to know the average rate of a process over an area that is spatially heterogeneous. This is of particular importance when there is a nonlinear relationship between the process and a driver that is spatially variable. Although this is largely a sampling issue-knowing how to stratify measurements spatially based on the important driver(s)—it is not trivial. Spatial heterogeneity also matters when one wants to understand or predict the spatial pattern of process rates. One may want to identify locations that are qualitatively different in their processing rates from other areas, or use the spatial pattern or spatial scale of variation as a response variable of direct interest. For lateral transfers, spatial pattern (composition and configuration) is a required predictor variable if the occurrence or rate of a lateral transfer responds directly to spatial heterogeneity. That is, the transfer of materials from one location or patch to another location or patch is modified by the spatial structure of the landscape. Spatial heterogeneity also matters if the spatial patterns themselves generate lateral transfers, as when differences in land cover alter local energy and water balances and influence weather. Finally, lateral transfers may produce, amplify, or moderate heterogeneity in patterns, as when the movement of nutrients from one place to another produces different species distributions or process rates.

Ecosystem Processes in Heterogeneous Landscapes



FIGURE 8.15.

Decision tree for deciding whether space should be included in studies of ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes that lead to three different general approaches to dealing with spatial heterogeneity: (*left*) assume spatial homogeneity, (*center*) consider composition only using a mosaic approach, which is often multivariate; and (*right*) consider composition, configuration and interacting elements.

Configuration

Adapted from Turner and Chapin (2005) and Lovett et al. (2005).

A decision tree that emerged from the Cary Conference on ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes can provide a useful guideline for ecologists seeking to determine whether a spatially explicit approach is needed for studies of ecosystem dynamics (Fig. 8.15; Lovett et al. 2005). If there are no lateral fluxes, no spatially variable drivers, and no nonlinearities, then perhaps spatial heterogeneity can be safely ignored. If there are nonlinearities, then at a minimum, differences in landscape composition must be considered. And if lateral fluxes are important, both composition and configuration will be required (Fig. 8.15). Much still remains to be learned about ecosystem processes in heterogeneous landscapes. The successful integration of ecosystem ecology with landscape ecology promises a much more complete understanding of how landscapes function than has been developed to date.

328

SUMMARY SUMMARY

Determining the patterns, causes, and effects of ecosystem function across landscapes is a key topic in ecosystem and landscape ecology because transfers of nutrients and energy among patches are often important for ecosystem sustainability. When landscape ecologists study ecosystem processes, they typically emphasize the causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity in determining rates of ecosystem processes (e.g., net primary productivity, nitrogen mineralization); the influence of landscape position on ecosystem function; and the horizontal movement of materials (such as water, nutrients, or sediments) across the landscape and how these movements might differ with alternative spatial arrangements of land cover.

The abiotic template is a powerful constraint on ecosystem function, but ecology has lacked a general theory of ecosystem function that is spatially explicit. From a landscape perspective, conceptual frameworks have been proposed that emphasize the importance of boundaries, including their permeability and resistance to flows; subsidies of nutrients and detritus from one habitat to another; extensions of metapopulation and metacommunity concepts to metaecosystems; and distinctions between explaining variation in process rates that are largely vertical fluxes vs. processes that are lateral transfers. In all studies, it is important to be explicit about the ecosystem process as well as the driver or response for which spatial heterogeneity is being considered.

For point processes (i.e., vertical fluxes), much research in landscape ecology has focused on patterns of biomass, net primary production, and carbon, as well as landscape patterns of nutrient biogeochemistry. Strong influences of natural disturbance and land-use/land-cover change on the spatial structure of many nutrient pools and fluxes have been identified. Biotic interactions are also important. Many studies integrate data from a multiple sources and often combine empirical study with modeling. Spatial variability is also observed among the aquatic systems embedded in landscapes, and landscape limnology refers to the spatially explicit study of lakes, streams, and wetlands and the effects of these spatial patterns on ecosystem processes across temporal and spatial scales. Landscape limnology treats the freshwater landscape as embedded in a terrestrial and human mosaic and considers a variety of landscape ecological variables as they apply to freshwater ecosystems: (1) patch characteristics, (2) patch context, (3) patch connectivity and directionality, and (4) spatial scale and hierarchy (Soranno et al. 2010). A landscape perspective also fosters a view of land-water interactions that encompasses sets of lakes, streams, and wetlands occurring together as a connected unit within a landscape.

For lateral fluxes (horizontal transport), research has emphasized aeolian fluxes, such as litter redistribution, land-water interactions, and nutrient transport by mobile animals. Land-water interactions are perhaps the best studied examples of lateral fluxes of nutrients across landscapes because problems associated with

LANDSCAPE eutrophication are so widespread in aquatic ecosystems. Components of the landscape surrounding a lake, stream, or river directly determine water quality and availability—a critical concern as natural landscapes continue to be affected by THEORY AND agricultural and urban development. Elements of the landscape may serve as sources, sinks, or transformers for nutrient, sediment, and pollution loads. A common theme underlying many studies of land-water interactions is the degree to which land uses in the uplands, and the spatial arrangement of these land uses, affect water quality in streams and lakes. Riparian vegetation zones, including wetlands and floodplain forests, are conspicuous elements of many landscapes and important mediators of land-water interactions. The primary emphasis of studies of land-water interactions has been the movement of materials from the terrestrial components of the landscape influences the aquatic components. However, recent studies also have shown that movements of materials and nutrients from the water into terrestrial communities are also significant. These observations provide a strong imperative for ecologists to better understand the reciprocal interactions between land and water and the scales over which they are manifest.

> Species and ecosystems are inherently linked, but studies in population ecology and ecosystem ecology often ignore this linkage. Landscape studies of lateral nutrient fluxes as a function of animal movement or species interactions effectively bridge this divide. In terrestrial landscapes, animals that feed in one place but excrete wastes in another location can be important vectors of nutrient transport. Species interactions produce strong and persistent patterns of nutrient cycling and accumulation in the landscape. Continued study of spatial interactions of plants and animals is both interesting and necessary if we are to understand ecosystem dynamics at landscape scales.

> Understanding the implications of the dynamic landscape mosaic for ecosystem processes remains a frontier in ecosystem and landscape ecology. We do not have a well-developed theory of ecosystem function that is both spatially explicit and general enough to be widely applicable. However, the library of empirical studies has grown tremendously. New empirical studies are still needed to test hypotheses about nutrient pools, fluxes, and transfers among diverse landscape elements and for upscaling process rates. These challenging issues reinforce the importance of landscape ecology as a conceptual framework for understanding ecosystem function.

∼ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. A daunting challenge in studying spatial variation in ecosystem function and the factors that control the rates of ecosystem processes is balancing data needs (e.g., spatial extent of the study and the ideal number of measurements) with logistical difficulties

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

and actual cost (e.g., person-hours required for collecting and processing samples and the costs of running laboratory analyses). Consider an extensive landscape of your choice. Develop a field sampling design to describe the spatial variation of an ecosystem attribute or process rate (e.g., NPP, LAI, nitrogen mineralization, denitrification, phosphorus accumulation) of your choice. Then answer the questions below.

- (a) Response variables. What variables did you decide to measure, and what variables were excluded? How will the choice of variables affect the generality of your results (i.e., application to other landscapes and situations)?
- (b) Sampling design. Stratified sampling often reduces effort and cost. Did you use stratified sampling in your design? Why or why not? If yes, by what variables did you stratify, and why?
- (c) Spatial autocorrelation. Many landscape and ecosystem variables are correlated in space and time. Did you consider spatial autocorrelation in your design? How might autocorrelation among variables reduce costs and increase the generality of results?
- (d) Cost. Estimate the cost of implementing your design in terms of person-hours and laboratory costs (if any). Could costs be reduced by combining remotely sensed data with field measurements? Why or why not?
- 2. Describe how the processes associated with the release, uptake, and storage of carbon would change in the following scenarios over a period of 100 years (graphical representations may be helpful): (1) a temperate deciduous forest is affected by small-gap disturbances that affect 1 % of the landscape each year and initiate succession within the gaps; (2) a temperate deciduous forest is cleared for agriculture and farmed continuously for 50 years. Farming is then abandoned, and the land undergoes natural succession for the next 50 years; (3) a mature boreal forest landscape experiences wildfire that burns 60 % of the landscape and initiates forest succession. Ten years later, a second fire burns 50 % of the previously burned area and eliminates the newly established trees, resulting in the area of double-burn being dominated by herbaceous vegetation for the next 80 years.
- **3.** Consider an agricultural watershed in which fertilizers are applied to upland crop fields. A management goal for this watershed is to maintain acceptable water quality while producing agricultural products. Under what conditions might a riparian buffer help to maintain water quality? Under what conditions would reduction in the nutrient source (e.g., fertilizers or manure) be needed to maintain water quality?
- 4. Ecosystem vectors can move materials rapidly and against a gradient. For instance, wind moves dust from Africa to the South of the USA—something that could hardly happen by diffusion alone. Can you develop a set of principles (or "rules of thumb") to determine for landscape-scale studies of different ecosystem processes when vectors of movement should be considered?

Ecosystem

Processes in

Heterogeneous

Landscapes

332

LANDSCAPE5. Chose an ecosystem function of interest (e.g., carbon loss or accumulation). How do
you expect the statistical relationships between a measurement of this ecosystem func-
tion and the abiotic variables that control that function to change with spatial scale?THEORY ANDAre the changes with scale linear? Why or why not? How does a nonlinear function
determine our ability to measure and predict?

- BUFFAM I, TURNER MG, DESAI A, HANSON PJ, RUSAK J, LOTTIG N, CARPENTER SR (2011) Integrating aquatic and terrestrial components to construct a complete carbon budget for a north temperate lake district. Glob Chang Biol 17:1193–1211
- BUMP JK, PETERSON RO, VUCETICH JA (2009) Wolves modulate soil nutrient heterogeneity and foliar nitrogen by configuring the distribution of ungulate carcasses. Ecology 90:3159–3167
- EMANUEL RE, RIVEROS-IREGUI DA, MCGLYNN BL, EPSTEIN HE (2011) On the spatial heterogeneity of net ecosystem productivity in complex landscapes. Ecosphere 2(7). Article 86
- GERGEL SE (2005) Spatial and non-spatial factors: when do they affect landscape indicators of watershed loading? Landsc Ecol 20:177–189
- GROFFMAN PM, BUTTERBACH-BAHL K, FULWEILER RW, GOLD AJ, MORSE JL, STANDER EK, TAGUE C, TONITTO C, VIDON P (2009) Challenges to incorporating spatially and temporally explicit phenomena (hotspots and hot moments) in denitrification models. Biogeochemistry 93:49–77
- LOVETT GM, JONES CG, TURNER MG, WEATHERS KC (eds) (2005) Ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes. Springer, New York
- NIELSEN A, TROLLE D, SONDERGAARD M, LAURIDSEN TL, BIERRING R, OLESEN JE, JEPPESEN E (2012) Watershed land use effects on lake water quality in Denmark. Ecol Appl 22:1187–1200
- STRAYER DL, EWING HA, BIGELOW S (2003) What kind of spatial and temporal details are required in models of heterogeneous systems? Oikos 102:654–662

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

umerous practical applications of landscape ecology can help to define effects of change on ecological systems and prescribe possible solutions. Natural resource managers face many challenges that emerge over entire landscapes. Because these challenges often involve spatial interdependencies among diverse landscape components at multiple scales, comprehensive solutions continue to be pressing needs. Demand for the scientific underpinnings of managing and monitoring landscapes, understanding landscape implications of climate change, considering spatial heterogeneity in land-management decisions, and potentially even designing landscapes to meet ecological and societal goals are widely recognized as essential for conservation and resource management. Consequently, many resource managers are shifting their goals from specific resources such as fish, wildlife, and water to the integrity of entire systems. Research related to ecosystem management (Christensen et al. 1996), sustainability science (Kates et al. 2001), and ecosystem services-the benefits provided to people by nature-involves landscape ecology. Ecological effects of land and resource management are sensitive to the temporal scales and spatial configuration of the activity (e.g., timber harvesting or land development). Indeed, nearly all land management agencies in the U.S. have recognized that informed resource-management decisions cannot be made exclusively

at the level of habitat units or local sites. The demand for applications of landscape ecology has increased so much that it often outpaces the basic science.

Applications of landscape ecology require integration of the many facets of the discipline that have been considered in this book. In managing a particular landscape, consideration must be given to the configuration of the landscape mosaic and how it changes with time, the disturbance regime and its likely consequences for patterns and processes, the responses of many different species that operate at a variety of scales, and effects of landscape change on ecosystem function. Many applications of landscape ecology depend on establishing a cause–effect relation-ship between landscape composition and/or configuration and a response variable of interest. These relationships can then be used to design landscape mosaics to minimize undesirable impacts. Increasingly, attention is also placed on feedbacks between landscape change and other patterns or processes.

Applied resource management questions were instrumental in catalyzing the development of landscape ecology, and they continue to stimulate both basic and applied research in landscape ecology. For example, understanding the effects of landscape pattern on stream and lake ecosystems was driven by the practical problem of how to reduce non-point-source pollution and maintain healthy aquatic ecosystems. Concern over impacts of habitat loss and fragmentation on biodiversity similarly drove many studies of the effects of landscape pattern on populations and communities. Concern about how climate change, altered disturbance regimes, and land-use change will interact and affect landscape structure and function is driving much current landscape ecological research. The distinction between basic and applied research is often arbitrary; applied problems have basic components, and basic questions have relevant applications. In this chapter, we survey several current environmental challenges in which landscape ecology is playing an important role. We begin with landscape indicators, as they are used in many landscape ecology applications, then consider climate change, land-use change, landscape scenarios, ecosystem services, and landscape sustainability.

LANDSCAPE INDICATORS

Indicators are designed to provide clear signals about something of interest and to communicate information about the status of some property and how it varies over time and/or space (National Research Council 2000). It is often impractical or impossible to measure all of the responses or qualities that may be of interest, and indicators serve as proxies that can be measured more readily. Most of us are familiar with indicators in our everyday lives. Body temperature and blood pressure are indicators of wellness, and gross national product and stock market indices are indicators of economic condition. Similarly, *environmental or ecological indicators* capture

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

information about conditions and trends in the environment and are of practical use in environmental monitoring (National Research Council 2000). For example, the widely used Index of Biotic Integrity (IBI; Karr 1981) incorporates species richness, composition, trophic structure, abundance, and fish condition into a summary index related to the state of aquatic ecosystems. Lake water clarity is another easily measured and well-established indicator of lake water quality that has been incorporated into many citizen-science monitoring efforts (Lottig et al. 2014) and mapped using remotely sensed data (e.g., McCullough et al. 2013) to track regional lake status and trends. Many international organizations have also developed indicators to measure different aspects of biodiversity and assess changes and threats (e.g., UNCED 2007). Indicators can be extremely useful for monitoring environmental trends, detecting changes that might require intervention, tracking the effectiveness of management, and conveying information about environmental conditions and trends to a nonscientific audience. An entire academic journal, ECOLOGICAL INDICATORS, is even devoted to the development, use, and interpretation of indicators.

Here, we focus on *landscape indicators*, which quantify the amount and arrangement of land cover and the physical structure of vegetation on the land surface (Gergel et al. 2002), and their application for broad-scale monitoring of landscape state and change. Landscape indicators are typically a subset of landscape metrics (see Chap. 4) that correlate well with other ecological properties of interest, such water quality or wildlife habitat. Time-series data of Earth's surface are now widely available, and repeated imagery can be analyzed to establish baseline conditions and track landscape change. Such analyses can help detect environmental problems as they develop and identify places that may benefit from action. Landscape indicators that emphasize the amount of human-dominated versus natural land covers (Jones et al. 1997) or "distance to nature" (Rüdisser et al. 2012) may be especially useful in tracking landscape status over time.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency was an early developer of landscape indicators as part of a national Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Program (O'Neill et al. 1994; National Research Council 2000). The program combined available data sets, such as land cover, major roads, topography, and population density, to quantify landscape changes through time. These changes were then related to ecological variables to determine the potential impact or risk of landscape change. A prototype was developed initially for watersheds in the Chesapeake Bay region (Riitters and Wickham 1995) then expanded to the entire United States. Some analyses emphasized variation from place to place, such as the variation across the continental U.S. in forest fragmentation (Riitters et al. 2002). Kurt Riitters and collaborators calculated the amount of forest along with the amount of "interior" forest in 56-km² cells that covered the conterminous U.S., using area of interior forest as a useful indicator of suitable habitat for many area-sensitive species. They identified locations with relatively intact interior forest, but found that most forests had at least moderate levels of fragmentation (Fig. 9.1; Riitters

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World



FIGURE 9.1.

Spatial distribution of (**a**) forest and (**b**) interior forest in the United States. *Shading* represents the relative amount of forest area in 56.25-km² grid cells with low forest abundance in red and higher forest abundance in *green*.

FROM RIITTERS ET AL. (2002).

et al. 2002). Interior forest was concentrated mostly on publicly owned lands and on lands not well suited for agriculture or urban development. Broad-scale forest patterns have been the subject of many other landscape studies (e.g., Riitters et al. 2000; Heilman et al. 2002; Theobald et al. 2011). A global analysis indicated that over 50 % of the temperate broadleaf and mixed forest biomes and nearly 25 % of the tropical rainforest biomes have been fragmented by human activities, compared to only 4 % of the boreal forest (Wade et al. 2003); forests of Europe were most fragmented, and forests of South America were least fragmented. Research in forests of northeastern Australia highlighted the need to align the scales at which fragmentation is managed with those at which it is measured (Cattarino et al. 2014).

As data availability and analysis capacity continued to increase, other groups began to advocate for using landscape indicators to monitor regional change. For example, as part of its 2008 report on the STATE OF THE NATION'S ECOSYSTEMS, the H. John Heinz III Center for Science, Economics and the Environment (a nonprofit organization that operated from 1995 to 2013) convened a task force chaired by Norm Christensen to develop a suite of indicators for describing broad-scale landscape patterns across the U.S. (Heinz Center 2008). The task force evaluated many potential indicators of landscape pattern and ultimately recommended a set of indicators that quantify landscape composition and configuration and relate closely to known drivers of pattern (i.e., they are sensitive to human development) and expected ecological consequences. The European Biodiversity Observation Network (EBONE; http://www.wageningenur.nl/en/Expertise-Services/Research-Institutes/alterra/Projects/EBONE-2.htm) has also focused on terrestrial monitoring and tracks change in land cover and land-use intensity to relate landscape changes to biodiversity. Securing funding for regular monitoring and reporting of landscape indicators over the long term remains problematic.

A reasonable array of promising landscape indicators has been proposed and demonstrated. To assess effects of agricultural policies on biodiversity in the Austrian landscape, Rüdisser et al. (2012) developed a "simple but smart" set of three indicators: degree of naturalness (N_d) , distance to natural habitat (D_n) , and its combination in the index, distance to nature (D_2N) . The set was designed to measure and describe anthropogenic influences related to land use on ecosystems and habitats and was applied at 25-m spatial resolution across Austria, resulting in a map of naturalness for the country for one point in time (Rüdisser et al. 2012). To assess effects of urbanization in a rural landscape surrounding Columbus, Georgia (USA), Styers et al. (2010) applied a set of landscape indicators expected to relate to ecological condition of soils, streams, riparian zones, and forests. Results were used to rank regional areas based on their overall degree of cumulative environmental impact (Styers et al. 2010). To assess consequences of changing land use and land cover on forests and watersheds in the highlands of New York and New Jersey, USA, Lathrop et al. (2007) used four landscape indicators, each based on landscape composition: percent of altered and unaltered land cover, percent impervious

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

LANDSCAPE surface cover; percent of riparian zones in altered land covers, and percent interior forest. These were purposefully simple to calculate and easy to communicate. The

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

forest. These were purposefully simple to calculate and easy to communicate. The analyses detected increased impervious surface cover between 1984 and 2000, with the potential for degrading water quality in watersheds that include major reservoirs for drinking water, along with a decline in total and interior forest cover (Lathrop et al. 2007). Notably, this study offered science-based information that actually contributed to passage of legislation aimed at protecting water resources within the region.

Strong relationships between landscape pattern and freshwater quality, along with government directives for sustaining water quality, led to a set of landscape indicators that could assess human impacts on aquatic ecosystems. After reviewing traditional ecological indicators of riverine systems, Gergel et al. (2002) suggested a complementary suite of landscape indicators that related to different aspects of riverine condition, including nutrient concentrations, biotic diversity, channel widening, and woody habitat (Table 9.1). The early work by the US EPA also included indicators related to water quality (Jones et al. 2007). Given the importance of sustaining freshwater resources, and the tight coupling of lakes and streams with their surrounding watershed, metrics that are correlated with water quality and are easy to track over time should be an important component of landscape monitoring.

Terrestrial landscape patterns also can influence coastal ecosystems, and an index of landscape development intensity (LDI; Brown and Vivas 2005) was applied by Oliver et al. (2011) to relate land use/land cover patterns to coral reef condition on St. Croix, US Virgin Islands. Coral reefs are productive, diverse ecosystems that are being degraded in many locations worldwide. Land-use change in coastal landscapes can contribute to this degradation through a variety of mechanisms. Oliver et al. (2011) related the condition of stony corals to LDI values mapped for by watershed and evaluated the strength of the LDI indicator relative to other indicators of human activity. They found the LDI values to be an effective index of human land-use intensity that was significantly correlated with many coral response variables (Fig. 9.2).

The usefulness of any landscape indicator depends on the strength of relationship between the indicator and response or quality of interest; the indicator must be clearly linked to an underlying ecological process. All of the issues of data quality, scale effects, and classification scheme that affect calculation of landscape metrics (see Chap. 4) also come into play for landscape indicators; the analyst or user must be aware of how these sensitivities influence the ability of the indicator to detect real trends over time or differences across space. To guide this process, Rüdisser et al. (2012) suggested several criteria for landscape indicators to be useful in development of sustainable land-use policies:

(A) The indicator set should be a surrogate for anthropogenic impact on biodiversity and not a measure for species richness or biodiversity itself.

TABLE 9.1.

Comparison of different general types of ecological indicators used to quantify human impacts on rivers.

Indicator	Advantages	Disadvantages
Chemical indicators	Direct measure of in-stream attribute May be variable among seasons Citizen monitoring may be	Can be difficult to collect, store, and analyze Citizen-based monitoring may be prone to error Event-based delivery may be missed by routing campling
Biotic indicators	Biotic indicators may be able to integrate across a variety of taxa and changes in watershed condition Indicators based on fish are relatively easy to use in the field	Sampling for invertebrate indicators can be difficult, labor intensive, and samples challenging to process Provides qualitative or relative measure May not provide any indication of why stream is degraded Identification of reference sites can be difficult
Hydrological/hydraulic indicators	Long-term flow data are often readily available Indicators can relate physical flows to fish, invertebrate habitat Have been expanded to include variables beyond fish habitat	Index of Hydrologic Alteration has not been tested in a variety of ecoregional settings Wetted perimeter has no explicit representation of habitat Considerable field/analytic work needed for hydraulic measures
Physical habitat	Can provide long-term assessment of geomorphic changes Can be assessed at multiple scales	Labor intensive Measures may not be biologically relevant
Landscape indicators	Can be linked to other types of indicator Provide direct measures of human uses in a watershed Can assess very large areas	Requires some training in the use of GIS and spatial data sources, analyses Limited to finest resolution of the data The most informative spatial extent of
	Data widely available for many areas Data can be stored indefinitely	indicators still needs to be established

Adapted from Gergel et al. (2002).



FIGURE 9.2.

Landscape patterns on St. Croix, US Virgin Islands, were related to status of coral reefs. Pattern of (a) land use/land cover on St. Croix and (b) watershed landscape development intensity (LCI) values with *green* indicate lowest human disturbance and *red* the highest. Relationship of LDI and (c) coral colony density, (d) taxa richness, (e) average colony surface area, and (f) three-dimensional cover (3DTC). Pearson correlation coefficients are indicated with accompanying p values, and bold coefficient is the result if the outlier is removed. Maps and data reprinted with permission from Oliver et al. (2011). Photo from US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, licensed through Creative Commons.



Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

FIGURE 9.2. (continued)
342

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

- THEORY AND
- PRACTICE
- (B) The indicator set should serve to evaluate and compare biodiversity relevant land-use characteristics at a small-scaled spatial resolution while covering an extensive area.
- (c) Indicator estimation should be spatially comprehensive, independent from reporting units and based on already existing data ensuring comparability at different spatial scales (regional to international).
- (D) To ensure international comparability, indicator estimation based on landuse data with different thematic and spatial resolution should be proportional, even though less detailed.
- (E) The design should be comprehensible, facilitating interpretation and communication of indicator results.

As we've seen throughout this book, landscape pattern affects many ecological attributes and human values, and rapid changes are expected in the twenty-first century as climate warms, population grows, and resource consumption patterns change. As part of the toolkit of applied landscape ecology, landscape indicators should remain a part of any monitoring program to detect and quantify regional ecological change.

CLIMATE CHANGE

The *climate* of a region is measured as the long-term average of the suite of meteorological variables used to describe weather—measurements of temperature, humidity, precipitation, wind, and atmospheric pressure. *Weather* variables, in turn, are short-term measures of the energy and water availability within a given region. When climate variables are combined with a description of regional landforms it is possible to predict the potential ecosystem types one may expect to find within that region (Bailey 2009). Consequently, changes in climate and/or landscape structure are expected to change the type, distribution, and structure of ecosystems around the globe (Blois et al. 2013; Moritz and Agudo 2013).

Climate may change slowly with periodic shifts in solar radiation and geophysical forces that alter the physical properties of a landscape (e.g., soil development and erosion, river formation, volcanos and tectonic events, etc.). More rapid changes in climate are now being produced by a variety of human activities (Diffenbaugh and Field 2013; Melillo et al. 2014) with the primary drivers being the release of greenhouse gases (Allen et al. 2010) and land-use change (Feddema et al. 2005; Pielke 2005). The potential variety and severity of biological effects resulting from climate change include shifts in species distributions and changes in ecosystem processes and services. Although the agents of accelerated climate change are generally understood, the rates of change and severity of impacts remain uncertain (Heal and Kriström 2002; IPCC 2013; Knutti and Sedláček 2013) making this subject area both important and controversial. We limit our discussion here to a few examples that are highly relevant to landscapes ecology.

The two principle anthropogenic agents of change-increased levels of solids and greenhouse gases in the atmosphere (Molina et al. 2014) and rapid changes in land use and cover (Pielke 2005)—have together increased the heat-absorbing capacity of the atmosphere, altered hydrologic cycles (Pyke 2004), and shifted the landscape's albedo, i.e., the reflectivity of the earth's surface (Feddema et al. 2005). Records show that changes in temperature and shifts in water availability have already caused detectable shifts in species distributions (Crimmins et al. 2011), threatened agricultural production (Fedoroff et al. 2010; Wheeler and von Braun 2013), and raised concerns for the sustainability of water supplies for human consumption (Vorosmarty et al. 2000). Near-term projections of climate shifts are expected to affect the location and extent of critical habitat areas, such as wetlands in the Northern Prairie, which are expected to decline in size and may locally disappear (Johnson et al. 2005). Species residing at higher elevations are at risk due to warming, with a ~60 % loss of endemic birds expected in mountain areas of Indonesia (Harris et al. 2014). Protected areas may be drastically altered by climate change, requiring changes in conservation strategies to protect migrating birds (Bellisario et al. 2014). Because forests cover ~30 % of land surfaces and store ~45 % of terrestrial carbon (Bonan 2008), and are a significant source of fuel and fiber, changes to forested ecosystems due to climate change have long been of concern (e.g., Solomon 1986; Pastor and Post 1988). The direct effect of increased temperatures and atmospheric CO₂ may enhance productivity in some areas while altering species compositions and causing a northward shift of temperate and boreal forest zones (Kirilenko and Sedjo 2007; Boyd et al. 2013). Indirect effects on forests are more difficult to anticipate, but changes in water availability and increases in disturbances, especially fire and insect pests (Boyd et al. 2013; Diffenbaugh and Field 2013), have already affected many forested areas (Littell et al. 2010). Paradoxically, reduced levels of outbreaks of the spruce bud worm may occur in eastern Canada if climate change causes minimum temperatures to increase with time (Zhang et al. 2014).

Potential impacts of climate change on agricultural production are of serious concern, especially for regions of the globe where food shortages currently exist (Wheeler and von Braun 2013). Projections from climate models show that crop yields are likely to be negatively affected in tropical areas where relatively small increases in temperature may exceed tolerance limits for photosynthesis (Wheeler and von Braun 2013). Temperate zones that experience significant levels of warming are expected to have equally dire effects. We know that warmer temperatures in Europe in the summer of 2003, when average temperatures were ~3.5 °C higher than normal, resulted in crop yield reductions of 20–30 % (Fedoroff et al. 2010). However, the nature and severity of effects of climate change are crop dependent,

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing

World

with some crops in some regions benefiting from increased levels of atmospheric CO₂ (e.g., barley in East Africa and sugarcane in Central America, Lobell et al. 2008) while crops grown in drought-prone regions may be negatively affected by increasing limits of available water (Field et al. 2007). These positive and negative THEORY AND effects are expected to cause significant shifts in agricultural practices and geographical locations where specific crops may be grown, threatening food security for millions of people (Lobell et al. 2008). The continued loss of productive lands to urbanization will, however, make the geographical relocation of agricultural areas problematic (Fedoroff et al. 2010).

> Crops grown in regions currently near climatic thresholds are most likely to suffer from climate change. Winegrapes in California are a particularly good example of crop-dependent vulnerabilities (Hayhoe et al. 2004): the values of wine production in California exceed \$23 billion per year (Wine Institute, www.wineinstitute. org) creating an industry-wide interest in the economics of climate change with detailed weather records providing insights into potential climate change effects on winegrape production. Wine production is also of broad interest because highvalued wines are produced in the Mediterranean climate region that is a global biodiversity hotspot (Hannah et al. 2013) making climate-induced changes in viticulture an economic indicator of associated risks for many other species and crops (Hannah et al. 2013).

> Assessments of future climate trends indicate a projected 25 % decrease in area for winegrape production in Chile and as much as 73 % decrease in Australia (Hannah et al. 2013). However, detailed weather and wine production records over the period 1951–1997 in California's Napa and Sonoma Valley (NSV), where premium wines are grown, have shown counterintuitive effects. There has been a 1.13 °C increase in average temperatures in NSV with a significant reduction in frost frequency associated with a 2.06 °C increase in spring temperatures (Nemani et al. 2001). These small changes have had an impact on plant phenology with more successful flowering, earlier harvests, and larger crops. In addition, measures of wine quality at harvest improved significantly over the period 1963-1996 (Nemani et al. 2001).

> This "good news" is tempered by climate projections for the next 50 years, which show dramatic changes in suitable winegrape areas throughout California (Diffenbaugh et al. 2011). Moving vineyards to new places in the landscape as climate conditions continue to change is likely because demand for wine is expected to continue growing, in part due to increasing wine exports to China (Anderson and Wittwer 2013). In California, vineyards would likely shift to more moderate climates at higher elevations and/or along the Pacific coast (Diffenbaugh et al. 2011). However, moving vineyards is economically and ecologically expensive due to habitat loss and increased water demands required to establish new vineyards (Hannah et al. 2013).

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

PRACTICE

Migration in Response to Climate Change

The evolution of physiological traits that has occurred over 1000s of years determines the ecological conditions where plants and animals may flourish. When changing climate modifies local environmental conditions (e.g., light, temperature, moisture, etc.), a species must either relocate to remain within its optimal environment or adapt to altered environmental conditions to avoid local extirpation (Pitelka et al. 1997). Knowledge of these processes has allowed us to explain current patterns of the distribution of the earth's biota (Richardson and Bond 1991; Pitelka et al. 1997). The accelerating rate of climate change makes the possibility of species adaptation or movement uncertain (Davis and Shaw 2001; Corlett and Westcott 2013; Renton et al. 2013).

Paleoecological records clearly show that some species may move quickly over long distances (Clark et al. 1998). However, extensive habitat fragmentation makes the probability of successful migration difficult to estimate (Travis 2003). A variety of theoretical methods—including percolation theory (Chap. 3) and network theory (Urban and Keitt 2001; Baranyi et al. 2011)—show that thresholds exist where small changes in landscape pattern can have disproportionate effects on dispersal success (Fig. 9.3). Although these studies are based on theoretical principles, simulation studies with empirically derived, species-specific parameters have



FIGURE 9.3.

Habitat alteration can constrain the movement of plants through a landscape dependent on the pattern of suitable sites that may support plant growth. This neutral model example (Chap. 3) contrasts movement of an annual plant species whose propagules are spread according to an exponential distribution (mean distance of 1 m and a maximum range of 6 m) through a random (*blue line*) and patterned landscape (*yellow line*). A fractal algorithm was used to generate the patterned map. The rate of invasion (with bars representing 95 % confidence intervals from ten iterations) slows more rapidly in patterned maps because connectance between habitat patches is easily disrupted.

Landscape



Changing

World

LANDSCAPEverified the existence of these thresholds (e.g., Bunn et al. 2000; Lookingbill et al.
2010). The good news is that simulation methods have also demonstrated specific
pathways that may allow species movement through disrupted landscapes. The
maintenance and/or restoration of these pathways can be shown to maintain viable
populations via dispersal and establishment processes as the climate alters the loca-
tions of suitable habitat (Renton et al. 2012).

Migratory species in general, and birds in particular, already require a network of suitable habitats for feeding and nesting. Effects of climate change that alter any of these widely distributed resources threaten even these organisms that are capable of dispersing quickly over large distances (Bellisario et al. 2014). A recent review and synthesis of climate effects indicates that the majority of North American bird species (314 of 588 species) will be forced to find new places to live, feed, and breed over the next 65 years (Nijhuis 2014). Indirect effects through climate-induced changes to food webs may be a critical factor for many species (Wolf et al. 2010). For instance, puffins successfully reintroduced off the Maine coast now show declining numbers perhaps due to changes in the ocean food web (http://blog.nwf. org/2013/06/climate-change-spells-peril-for-puffins/). The threats of increased extinctions are real, although the rate and degree of change remains uncertain.

Empirical verification of changing climate effects on species' distributions is difficult to obtain when landscapes change in response to multiple drivers. However, empirical information generally does support the results obtained by simulation methods. For example, records for 30 years of rapid climate warming in the UK and distributions for a variety of animal species (Fig. 9.4) showed that most species'



FIGURE 9.4.

Shifts at the northern range boundaries of southerly distributed animal species in Britain. Northwards shifts are positive values, and southwards shifts are negative, with distances moved over approximately 25 years.

Adapted from Thomas (2010).

boundaries have shifted northward as climate warmed (Thomas 2010). These observed shifts were attributed to both the direct effects of climate change and indirect effects associated with species interactions (Thomas 2010).

Climate Effects on Disturbances

The frequency, severity, and extent of disturbances are likely to be altered dramatically by climate change (Littell et al. 2010; Turner 2010; Iverson et al. 2011). Climate-induced changes in disturbance regimes will in turn produce immediate and long-lasting shifts in ecosystems with associated changes in ecosystem services (Bonan 2008; Turner 2010). The interaction of different disturbance types, such as drought and insect disturbances, is already affecting large areas of mountain forests in the western United States making disturbed forests a short-term net carbon source (Kurz et al. 2009), although regional carbon balance must be considered over an entire disturbance cycle. Consequently, understanding future disturbance regimes will be increasingly critical for managing and adapting to the effects of climate change (Turner 2010). This important topic has been more fully discussed in Chap. 6, and we touch on it later in this chapter with regard to interacting drivers.

○ LAND-USE CHANGE AND LANDSCAPE SCENARIOS

Throughout the world, land cover today is being directly altered by human activities, including agriculture, raising of livestock, forest harvesting, settlement, construction, mining, and energy production (Dale et al. 2000). As human populations and their demands for resources increase, natural ecosystems are sequentially transformed to meet increasing societal demands that follow a predictable sequence called the *land-use transition* (Foley et al. 2005). At the outset, frontier clearings perforate natural ecosystems, and then urban areas and intensive agriculture grad-ually increase as populations grow and resource demands increase (Fig. 9.5; Foley et al. 2005). The extent of unmodified ecosystems declines as the landscape becomes dominated by human uses, although some areas may be set aside for conservation or recreation. This sequence has been observed worldwide, although timing, location, and rates of transition differ. Over the past two centuries, the total land area dedicated to human uses has grown dramatically, and increasing production of goods and services has intensified both use and control of the land (Richards 1990).

Land-use activities change landscape structure by altering the relative abundances of natural habitats and introducing new land-cover types. Introduction of new cover types can increase biodiversity by providing unique habitats, but the amount and connectivity of natural habitats are often reduced, leaving less area Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World



FIGURE 9.5.

Stages in the land-use transition are observed in a given region over time. Land-use regimes vary from presettlement natural vegetation, to frontier clearing, subsistence agriculture, and then more intensive agriculture, urban lands, and protected areas.

Adapted from Foley et al. (2005).

available for native species. For example, land-use change has reduced forest connectivity in the western US, where only about one-fourth of forested lands remain in core patches (Theobald et al. 2011). Loss and fragmentation of once-continuous habitat often results in reduced diversity of native species. Understanding land-use changes and their ecological implications presents a fundamental challenge to ecologists and one in which landscape ecology clearly must play a role.

The rate of land-cover change has accelerated worldwide, particularly in regions with rapid population growth. Forests and grasslands have undergone especially large alterations (Houghton 1995). For example, between 1700 and 1980, the area of forests and woodlands decreased globally by 19 %, and grasslands and pastures diminished by 8 % while world croplands increased by 466 % (Richards 1990). The pace of change continues to accelerate, with greater loss of forests and grasslands during the 30 years from 1950 to 1980 than in the 150 years between 1700 and 1850. Croplands and pastures now occupy roughly 40 % of the land surface (Foley et al. 2005), and the terrestrial biosphere is now mostly anthropogenic (Ellis et al. 2010b).

Because land-use activities have transformed such a large proportion of the land surface on Earth, the global consequences of changing patterns of land use and land cover (LULC) are profound (DeFries et al. 2004; Foley et al. 2005). Accordingly, the Ecological Society of America, as part of the Sustainable Biosphere Initiative,

348

sponsored an in-depth discussion of principles and guidelines for land use (Dale et al. 2000). Land is transformed intentionally to provide resources for human consumption, but unintended consequences for water, human health, and biodiversity also result—and balancing these demands is not easy. LULC patterns directly affect local areas, but their influence via consequences of landscape context for ecological responses can be very large.

Land use is an outcome of human–environment interactions, and dealing with causes or consequences of land use thus requires treating landscapes as coupled *social–ecological systems* (SES). Land use offers a common ground for integrating natural and social sciences, which often seem to diverge because of their different research tradition. Billie Turner and Paul Robbins (2008) provided a very insightful comparison of land-change science and political ecology, capturing key similarities and differences in natural and social science approaches to landscape change; we highly recommend this paper for interested readers.

Understanding the ecology of urban landscapes is a topic of much current interest, and research on urban ecology has burgeoned in the past decade (Wu 2014). The land area dominated by cities is a small percentage of the global land surface, but more than half of the world's population now lives in urban areas (Wu 2008), and cities account for a very large share of global resource use. Cities are socioecological systems that are built by and for humans. Although urban land cover is included in landscape analyses and urban ecology does have a long history, cities were not traditional settings for most ecological research because of the view that cities were "ecologically unnatural" or impaired. This exclusive emphasis on natural systems has changed with increased attention to urban landscapes, and it now seems imperative to study ecological dynamics where people live and work. Much research on urban sustainability focuses on human well-being, but urban ecological studies emphasize biodiversity, ecological processes, and ecosystem services (Wu 2014). Richard Forman, a pioneer and long-time leader in landscape ecology, devoted an entire book to urban ecology (Forman 2014); he includes spatial aspects and presents a very comprehensive look at cities.

A recent assessment of urban areas in the United Kingdom identified a number of explicitly spatial aspects of cities that are important but challenging to manage (Gaston et al. 2013). The type and arrangement of *green space* (which they define as any area of land not covered by impermeable surface, including remnant vegetation, public parks, public and private landscaping, domestic gardens, playing fields, cemeteries, nature reserves) is very important for providing ecosystem services to urban dwellers. However, most urban green spaces are small and heterogeneous because of the many different uses to which these parcels are put and the variety of land ownerships (e.g., public or private; Gaston et al. 2013). Even if seminatural habitats are scant, urban areas can offer some surprising benefits with respect to their role in the landscape. In the conterminous US, human settlements can store as much carbon (23–42 kg C m⁻² in urban areas, and 7–16 kg C m⁻² in exurban areas) Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing

World

LANDSCAPE as tropical forests, which have the highest carbon density of natural ecosystems (Churkina et al. 2010)!

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Urbanization may be a homogenizing force, producing ecosystems and landscapes that are more similar to each other than to the natural ecosystems that they have replaced. In a comparative study of six urban areas, Groffman et al. (2014) hypothesized that similarity in people's decision-making processes would promote convergence and homogenization in urban ecosystem structure and function, even if the biophysical landscape settings were different. In other words, the lawns, yards, and impervious features that are common elements in different cities would be more similar to each other than to the desert, prairie, or forest ecosystems that were replaced by urban development. Indeed, this was the case. Urban areas in Miami, Florida, and Phoenix, Arizona, which are subtropical and desert locations, respectively, were very similar, despite the stark differences in their natural landscapes (Fig. 9.6.) This similarity also suggested the potential for convergence in landscape functions including ecohydrology (Groffman et al. 2014).

Rural landscapes are changing in many parts of the world. Ancient Chinese agricultural village landscapes, which cover about 20 % of China's land area, have been greatly transformed in the past 50 years by social, technological, and ecological changes (Ellis et al. 2009). Between 1945 and 2002, village populations nearly doubled, and per capita housing density declined in China's rural areas. These were accompanied by a 7 % increase in built surface areas, a 9 % increase in cover of closed-canopy trees, and an 11 % decline in annual crops (Ellis et al. 2009). What is particularly interesting is that these changes were driven by fine-scale land-use changes that included tree planting, improved forestry, abandonment of some cropland, and adoption of perennial crops. Analyses based only on coarse-resolution data would miss these important land transformations (Ellis et al. 2009); because they cover such a large area, these local landscape changes can be of global import.

Low-density rural housing development has been the fastest-growing land use in the US since 1950. The conterminous US had about 5 % of land at exurban housing densities in 1950, and exurban areas increased to occupy 25 % of the landscape by 2000 (Brown et al. 2005). By comparison, urban area increased from 1 to 2 % of the land area during the same interval. Most exurbanization occurred outside but near existing metropolitan areas, and this housing growth was often associated with declines in cropland. The ecological implications of increased exurbanization and the associated increase in wildland–urban interface (WUI; Radeloff et al. 2005) have garnered considerable attention, especially evaluation of associated effects on biodiversity.

Landscape ecologists were among the first scientists to recognize the need for more holistic approaches to understand and conserve habitats across the rural-tourban development gradient (e.g., Miller and Hobbs 2002), and they continue to advance this field (e.g., McDonnell and Hahs 2008). Across taxa, responses to development density are species specific, and species richness for some taxa can be



FIGURE 9.6.

In Miami, Florida and Phoenix, Arizona, Urban homogenization makes cities more similar to each other than they are to the native vegetation that is replaced by urbanization. Examples shown for subtropical Miami, FL, and desert Phoenix, AZ.

FROM GROFFMAN ET AL. (2014), REPRINTED WITH PERMISSION.

high at moderate levels of development because of contrasting biodiversity response patterns along the rural-to-urban gradient. Native species may decline as development proceeds, but nonnative species often increase (Hansen et al. 2005); species richness, if considered alone, is unlikely to be the best indicator of how biodiversity is changing.

Hansen et al. (2005) hypothesized that different guilds of organisms would respond to increasing rural residential development in different ways (Fig. 9.7), and a large body of research is helping to guide development in ways that reduce



negative effects on native species. In Colorado, wildlife cameras were used to assess mammalian habitat use with varying densities and configurations of housing development (Goad et al. 2014). Results were used to inform development planning so that impacts to mammals could be reduced. In the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem (GYE), low-density residential development creates sink habitats for grizzly bears (*Ursos arctos*; Schwartz et al. 2012), and future expansion of exurban development was projected to impact many wildlife populations. However, spatial policies that clustered development near towns and avoided development in sensitive habitats, such as riparian areas, could mitigate impacts on native wildlife (Gude et al. 2007).

Expansion of development into disturbance-prone landscapes is continuing to increase the conflict between human and natural values. This is especially evident in locations where low-density housing has crept into conifer forests that burn regularly. Although not ecologically catastrophic, infrequent, severe fires can lead to substantial property loss, and fire-fighting efforts to protect developments in fire-prone regions endanger the lives of responders. Future land-use choices must be informed by expectations for how landscapes are likely to change in the future, but increased conflict between land-use patterns and changing disturbance regimes seems likely (Turner 2010).

Land-use changes outside the boundaries of national parks and protected areas may alter biodiversity and ecological processes within such reserves (Hansen and DeFries 2007). In concert with climate change, human activities on surrounding lands often endanger the biodiversity of those protected areas. Protected areas can become "islands" in a "sea" of development, and thus conservation activities cannot ignore the regional landscapes in which those reserves are embedded. The landscapes around most US national parks have experienced substantial changes, including increased housing density, temperatures, and nonnative plant species (Hansen et al. 2014). Some national parks benefit from a buffer zone of additional wildland protection outside their boundaries, but development or extractive resource use go right to the edge of others. Cumming et al. (2014) have recognized this trend by considering protected areas in a social–ecological systems framework, emphasizing the importance of maintaining functional landscapes for long-term sustainability of protected areas and reserves.

Of course, landscapes are not affected by single factors acting individually and independently. Rather, landscapes respond to multiple factors acting across a wide range of scales and which may interact. Effects on landscape structure must be considered when decisions about development locations, densities, and uses of the land are made. However, understanding the relative importance of different drivers and their potential to interact to change our landscapes in surprising ways is scant. In a study that considered both climate and land-use change, Ordonez et al. (2014) assessed the combined speeds of climate and land-use change for the conterminous US from 2001 to 2051. Climate speeds were substantially higher than land-use speeds in most regions, but land-use speed was high in north-central forests and in the Appalachian Mountains. The analysis identified areas that were expected to be most vulnerable to changes in biodiversity and ecosystem function over the 5-year study period in response to these drivers. Further, the study underscored the need for different adaptation programs in different landscapes and clearly showed that considering single drivers will be insufficient for achieving conservation goals (Ordonez et al. 2014). Nassauer and Opdam (2008) raised the importance of *design*—any intentional change of landscape pattern for the purpose of sustainably providing ecosystem services while recognizably meeting societal needs and respecting societal values-to bridge the gap between knowledge and practice in landscape ecology. A key challenge-and opportunity-for landscape ecologists is to elucidate the relative influence of different drivers and the degree to which LULC patterns can be purposefully designed to mitigate environmental problems.

Landscape Scenarios

Determining what patterns of land use will be in the future or should be to optimize oft-competing goals is not easy, and predicting future LULC is fraught with difficulty. As we saw in Chap. 2, the pattern of any given landscape is but one of many possible outcomes (Phillips 2007), and landscape patterns reflect multivariate causation, multiscale drivers, and numerous contingencies. Blithely extrapolating past trends into the future is dangerous because so many unpredictable factors can influence future outcomes. Confounding the issue, known drivers of LULC change often cannot be measured directly, or they may not be measured at scales relevant for predicting emerging patterns. External drivers, for example, include commodity prices, global markets, macroeconomic trends, and social preferences. Events that are inherently unpredictable, such as the onset, magnitude, and timing of recessions; structural changes in job markets; boom-and-bust cycles in housing markets; and even disease outbreaks, may be important drivers determining future landscapes. Many drivers are also not stationary over time (e.g., Wear et al. 1996), thus making it risky to extrapolate past trends into the future, although extrapolation can be use-

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World LANDSCAPE Ecology in Theory and

PRACTICE

ful for exploring the logical consequences of such continued trends. For example, using only a single 5-year window of time for estimating rates of change, Radeloff et al. (2012) found that 36 % of the US land area would change by 2051 if these rates were linearly extrapolated. These extrapolations can be useful, but rates rarely remain constant over time and, therefore, such extrapolations should never be regarded as functional predictions of the future state of a landscape.

In response to the need to anticipate future conditions in the face of tremendous uncertainty, scenarios have proven very useful for exploring implications of changes in land use and other drivers of landscape pattern. Scenarios are plausible accounts of possible futures (Peterson et al. 2003; Polasky et al. 2011), and their aim is not to predict what will happen in the future. Rather, the role of scenarios is to define important cause-effect variables, to explore their uncertainties, and to shed light on the possible consequences of decisions and consider trajectories that encompass both desirable and undesirable outcomes. Alcamo et al. (2005) called scenarios descriptions of how the future may unfold based on alternative if-then propositions. Quantitative landscape scenarios are common tools in landscape ecology studies. They are usually spatially explicit representations of future or alternative LULC patterns that allow landscape structure to be quantified and potential ecological consequences assessed. Quantitative landscape scenarios compare the composition, configuration, and location of different LULC classes among scenarios at a specified time or endpoint (e.g., 50 years into the future), or they may compare actual trajectories of change (i.e., the time series).

Different types of quantitative landscape scenario serve different purposes; readers might consult Nassauer and Corry (2004) and Houet et al. (2010) for more detail. Briefly, *projective scenarios* describe what the future is likely to be, with a confidence interval of uncertainty. If current trends continue, what will the landscape look like in the future? In essence, projective scenarios extend the past into the future and are useful for demonstrating longer-term consequences of recent or current decisions (Table 9.2). In contrast, *prospective scenarios* describe how the future could be, and what might be a reachable future. Prospective scenarios may be forecasts that use quantitative, dynamic models to project future outcomes of alternative policies or rules, and *explorative scenarios* evaluate the consequences of different decisions. Prospective scenarios may also be *normative*, in that they evaluate alternative solutions to suggest what should be done to reach a desirable goal. The purpose of normative scenarios is to inspire policy, to suggest pathways to reach desired outcomes (Nassauer and Corry 2004; Houet et al. 2010).

In the remainder of this section, we present examples that integrate landscape ecology with future scenarios that include LULC change. Selected case studies illustrate the range of approaches currently being used and insights emerging from them. They also emphasize coupled social–ecological systems: humans respond to TABLE 9.2.

Strengths and weaknesses of different approaches to landscape scenarios.

Scenario approach	Strengths	Weaknesses
Projective	 Empirically based Quantitatively rigorous Best over shorter time intervals Useful to ask "what if past or current uses continue into the future?" 	 Assumes stationarity Past rates and relationships may have little to do with the future Conservative; difficult to "think outside the box"
Prospective	 Can incorporates many viewpoints Preferred when uncertainty is high and uncontrollable Useful to as, "what are the future consequences of different decisions or policies?" 	 May get so complicated that models are less useful Time consuming, resource intensive to do well

cues from the physical environment and from sociocultural contexts (Riebsame et al. 1994; Turner and Robbins 2008). Given the extensive influence of human land use on landscape structure and function, it is folly to consider the future of any landscape in isolation from the humans that inhabit or manage it.

NATIONAL SCENARIOS

In many countries, there is tremendous interest in assessing future scenarios of climate and land-cover change because of the need to consider different strategies that may affect greenhouse gas fluxes and carbon sequestration, to plan for needed infrastructure, and anticipate where future resource demands are likely to compete. Two major programs in the US have developed prospective scenarios for future land cover in association with IPCC scenarios. As part of the US Geological Survey program to assess carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas fluxes for US ecosystems, researchers developed methods for downscaling (to 250-m resolution) global LULC change projections from the IPCC third Assessment Special Report on Emission Scenarios (SRES) to ecoregions of the US (Sleeter et al. 2012). They developed an approach for spatial downscaling that first determined the amount of land that would be dedicated to different uses, and then determined how the land uses would be allocated spatially in a given landscape. Drivers of LULC change included globalization, regulation, technological development and innovation, population growth, economic development environmental protections, energy consumption, and social attitudes. From national demand, ecoregions were assigned different LULC conversions, and a patch-based spatial allocation model Landscape

Dynamics

apidly

inq

356

LANDSCAPEwas used to position the LULC conversions within each ecoregion. Expert knowl-
edge was used to translate socioeconomic scenarios into equations that would
simulate change. The resulting scenarios offered contrasting patterns, as shown for
forest and grassland/shrubland covers (Fig. 9.8; Sleeter et al. 2012). This study was
the first to regionalize future changes in the US such that they were consistent with
global assessments.

The US Environmental Protection Agency (2009) developed a complementary set of housing density scenarios that were also based on IPCC SRES storylines but used demographic models to project housing allocation at the county level throughout the US. Called the Integrated Climate and Land-use Scenarios (ICLUS; http://www.epa.gov/ncea/global/iclus/), the models projected the area of urban, suburban, and exurban housing density and the land-cover types (forest, shrubland, grassland, cropland, and wetland) that would be converted to built areas through 2100. County-level population estimates were distributed to 1-ha resolution housing density by a spatial allocation model, and results were output at a decadal scale. Among scenarios, the models projected between 60 % (for B1) and 164 % (for A2) increases in urban and suburban land areas by 2050. The scenarios were also linked with indicators of ecological effects, such as the area of impervious surface, so that differences in effects among scenarios could be compared. The scenarios exercise found that many watersheds could experience future stress because impervious cover would increase to at least 5 % of the watershed (US EPA 2009), which could lead to increased runoff and nutrient delivery to surface waters.

Regional Scenarios

Spatial models that compare alternative future scenarios of landscape change can help researchers and managers visualize and evaluate alternative choices for a particular region, and a nice example is provided by studies in the agricultural Midwest, USA (Santelmann et al. 2004). A normative scenario exercise was designed to help determine what should be done within the region. The Midwest was subjected to extensive land conversion, largely to intensive agriculture, starting in the mid-1800s (Curtis 1959; Baker et al. 1996). Much of the region is now in row crops, primarily a rotation of corn and soybeans. A variety of ecological problems have ensued, including fragmentation of remaining natural habitat, loss of soil carbon, and deterioration of water quality (e.g., Curtis 1959; Burgess and Sharpe 1981; Carpenter et al. 2007). Land-use patterns that minimize deleterious effects on terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems while maintaining agricultural productivity in the Midwest are desired.

Three alternative future scenarios were designed for two agricultural watersheds in Iowa, USA, to represent their potential landscape composition ~25 years into the future (Santelmann et al. 2004). In consultation with a range of disciplinary experts, a team of landscape architects led the development of the scenarios.



FIGURE 9.8.

Projected change in forest and grassland cover in the conterminous USA from 2000 to 2100 under four IPCC fourth assessment emissions scenarios. Units are the percent of Level III ecoregions that change.

Reprinted with permission from Sleeter et al. (2012).

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Scenarios included (1) continuation of present trends in which food production and economic profit receive highest priority, (2) an effort to preserve biodiversity and improve water quality using conventional methods, and (3) incorporation of a greater range of innovative agricultural practices coupled with effort to preserve and restore native biodiversity and improve water quality (Fig. 9.9). To help people understand the scenarios, visualizations were developed for each (Fig. 9.10). The future landscapes were linked with a constellation of different modeling approaches to explore consequences for water quality; aquatic, wetland, and terrestrial biodiversity; and economic impact on farmers (Santelmann et al. 2004). In addition, farm planning was addressed to incorporate input from local farmers and decision-makers and to explore how socioeconomic constraints translated into land-use and management decisions. The long-term significance of this approach rests in its ability to inform landowners and policy-makers (e.g., those crafting legislation that affects agricultural policy) about ecological and social effects of land-use and management in agricultural landscapes like those in the Midwest. Use of a wide array of ecological consequences allowed for a comprehensive evaluation of the scenarios.

Another regional example, this time illustrating a prospective scenarios approach, comes from the Willamette River Basin, Oregon, located in the Pacific Northwest region of the USA. This example also contrasts participatory and expert approaches to scenario development (Baker et al. 2004; Hulse et al. 2009). First, LULC changes in the basin were generated by producing maps of the basin from 1850 to 1990; these maps provided the baseline conditions. Next, a 30-month long process of citizen involvement was undertaken to generate three alternative scenarios for 2050. These three participatory scenarios were alternative 2050 endpoints (i.e., single maps rather than alternative trajectories), and they contrasted goals of achieving short-term wealth vs. long-term ecological function, as well as an intermediate that was similar to business as usual. A quantitative landscape model (Evoland) based on expert opinion and rule-based methods was also developed. Evoland represented "agents" (who have decision-making authority over parcels of land), the landscape (which is changed as decisions are made), and policies (which guide and constrain decisions). The model was probabilistic, and 75 replicates were simulated for two of the citizen-generated scenarios (Development 2050 and Conservation 2050, Fig. 9.11.) In contrast to the single map generated for each scenario by the stakeholders, the expert approach using Evoland identified multiple possible outcomes for some parts of the landscape (white areas in Fig. 9.11). By identifying areas of future uncertainty, the quantitative landscape model located specific places where strategic planning could be focused to nudge the landscape toward a more desirable state. Interestingly Evoland simulations also predicted that more of the landscape would change land-cover state compared to the participatory scenarios, suggesting that people may be somewhat conservative in envisioning future change.



Present and future scenarios for Buck Creek watershed

FIGURE 9.9.

Maps of alternative future scenarios for a watershed in Iowa, USA. Maps show present landscape patterns (*top left*) and three scenarios that emphasize agricultural production (*top right*), agricultural management innovations to improve water quality (*lower left*), and efforts to preserve biodiversity (*bottom right*).

Reprinted with permission from Santelmann et al. (2004).

360



FIGURE 9.10.

Alternative future scenarios for a watershed in Iowa, USA. (a) Present conditions. (b) Continuation of current trends. (c) Effort to preserve biodiversity and improve water quality using conventional methods. (d) Incorporation of more innovative agricultural techniques to restore biodiversity and improve water quality.

Courtesy of Joan Nassauer.

Lastly, a study of the Mallee region, Lower Murray River in southeastern Australia illustrates how different types of scenario can be combined (Bryan et al. 2011). The Murray originates in the Australian Alps and flows through this is semiarid region dominated by agriculture en route to the Southern Ocean. Bryan and colleagues combined four future climate scenarios with four spatial policy options for natural resource management in a factorial design. Climate scenarios came from the IPCC. Spatial policy options included random allocation; selection based on minimizing economic cost (cheapest); select spatial units based on maximizing environmental benefits (best), including biodiversity, reduced wind erosion and salinization; and selection of spatial units that were most cost-effective for meeting multiple environmental objectives (most cost-effective). Impacts from each combination (n=16) were calculated for a range of environmental,



(75 modeled outcomes)

FIGURE 9.11.

Alternative future landscape trajectories for the Willamette River Basin, Oregon, from 2000 to 2050 that emphasize either development or conservation goals. *Upper maps* show stakeholder-driven projections. *Lower maps* result from a simulation model, Evoland. Locations that do not change are in *light gray*, those that definitely change are in *dark gray*. Areas in *white* may have multiple outcomes, which only occurs in Evoland.

Reprinted with permission from Hulse et al. 2009.

economic, and social indicators. Results revealed interesting interactions in which the land-use outcomes differed substantially under different future climates (Bryan et al. 2011). Most importantly, the study demonstrated that environmental goals could be achieved more cost effectively through spatial planning. In other words, paying attention to the spatial allocation of land uses could lead to "win-win" outcomes.

As these examples demonstrate, exploring alternative future scenarios is proving to be extremely useful in landscape ecology. Quantitative landscape scenarios can identify the range of conditions that produce either desirable or undesirable outcomes, and if a desirable condition is identified, scenarios can help determine how to achieve them. In all cases, it is important to know thy landscape, know thy patches, and know thy drivers. Outcomes depend on initial conditions, and a small number of sites may have been "keystones" that have disproportionate influence on outcomes. Among drivers, it is especially important to distinguish the influence of external factors versus factors internal to the landscape (e.g., policy options, agent action) that drive LULC change.

Many important questions in applied landscape ecology could benefit from a scenarios-based approach. For example, scenarios may help to determine: Are there LULC patterns, or designs, that minimize deleterious effects? How many different LULC pathways may arrive at the same endpoint? Under what conditions can LULC patterns amplify or dampen the effects of other drivers, such as climate? How much can be gained by manipulating LULC patterns within a landscape? There are many opportunities for improving quantitative landscape scenarios, as these methods remain much in development. Improvements in algorithms are needed to blend quantitative and qualitative information in scenarios, to visualize and summarize the voluminous data that result from scenario analyses, to capture uncertainty in spatial data and temporal variation, and to better develop the functional consequences of LULC change.

Land Use: Synthesis

The question about land use is not whether we should or should not use land, but rather how we can best use the land (Turner et al. 1998a). The answer is not straightforward; there are no "cook book" approaches for identifying optimal arrangements, no guarantees that what works in one social–ecological setting will work in another. Landscape ecology contributes principles and techniques for considering how to arrange human structures spatially and identify potential ecological implications of alternative arrangements. Although land use is one driver that is controllable (at least, in theory), it has also been called a "wicked problem" because of the complexities involved. Santelmann et al. (2004) identified five conditions

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

that must be met for practical application of ecological principles in land-use Landscape decision-making:

- 1. Decision-makers must understand the need and share the goal.
- 2. Abstract principles must be translated into specific land-use decisions.
- 3. Responsibility for associated costs and labor (which tend to occur up front and are specific to place) must be assigned and accepted (i.e., made economically feasible).
- 4. Benefits (which tend to be realized in the longer term and diffuse in space) must be understood and shown to have value.
- 5. Practices must be culturally acceptable (this includes respect for the rights of property owners).

To date, studies of LULC change point to several interesting observations. One is that initial conditions may strongly shape the future—existing landscape patterns have a strong influence on future conditions. Another is disproportionality, as in many examples of LULC change, a comparatively small number of pivotal parcels may have surprisingly large effects on outcomes, either positive or negative. Understanding how current conditions constrain future options and identifying "keystone elements" in the landscape seem especially important.

Many research frontiers remain within land-change science. Deciding how best to visualize and analyze scenarios, given the multiple ways to characterize landscape patterns, changes and effects, can be overwhelming. Land-use changes are often not considered jointly with other processes that alter land cover, such as natural disturbances, and spatially explicit scenarios still need better ways to incorporate surprise into modeled futures. From a practical standpoint, there is much to be learned regarding how much the decisions about how much and where to arrange different LULC elements affect the ability to reach some desirable goal, and the degree to which landscape patterns may mitigate or amplify the effects of other drivers.

Interdisciplinary studies are often complex (e.g., Turner and Carpenter 1999; Naiman 1999; Wear 1999; Pickett et al. 1999), but there should be strong encouragement to develop the integration required for more effective modeling of social–ecological systems. Riebsame et al. (1994) made several suggestions for improved land-use/land-cover modeling. These include: (1) improved methods and approaches for integrating sociocultural factors, as social driving forces must be coupled with their ecological effects and feedbacks to society; (2) modeling interactions among multiple resources, not just one or two; (3) modeling cumulative effects, particularly when a threshold response (e.g., sudden disconnection of habitat) may be likely; (4) dealing with surprise—that is, unusual conditions, rapid change, and potential surprises that may come from the environment or society. Dynamics

in a Rapidly

Changing

World

LANDSCAPEAlthough these were written 20 years ago and progress has been substantial,
especially with respect to representing human decision-making in land-change
models (see Brown et al. 2013 and National Research Council 2013), these needs
remain timely. Riebsame et al. (1994) also wrote, "Our limited ability to simulate
realistic land-use patterns is not just a modeling problem, but a reflection of the real
world." As in the first edition of this book, we concur with this evaluation and sug-
gest that this area of applied research presents a compelling challenge to landscape
ecology that will persist for the coming years.

COSYSTEM SERVICES AND LANDSCAPE SUSTAINABILITY

A key reason for considering future climate and land-use change in landscape ecology, and for using scenarios to explore plausible future conditions, is the shared goal of sustaining the structure and function of landscapes for decades to come. One way to approach this goal is by considering *ecosystem services*, or the benefits that people obtain from ecosystems, which were well articulated in a classic book by Gretchen Daily (Daily 1997). Since then, and largely because of the international Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005), ecosystem services have become a nexus for environmental research and policy. Ecosystem services are increasingly included in policy decisions related to sustainability, and government programs in the US and Europe focus on their management and sustainability (e.g., Schröter et al. 2005; Gaston et al. 2013). Understanding how the resilience of landscapes and their ability to sustain ecosystem services in the face of changing drivers, such as climate and land use, is an important goal. Resilience refers to the capacity of a system to tolerate disturbance without shifting to a qualitatively different state that is controlled by a different set of processes (Resilience Alliance 2012). In other words, resilience is the ability of a system to retain its function, structure, identity, and feedbacks in the face of disturbance and environmental change (Walker et al. 2004).

There is no generally accepted definition of landscape sustainability. *Sustainability* refers to use of the environment and resources to meet current needs without compromising the ability of a system to provide for future generations. Here, we emphasize the capacity of landscapes to deliver desired ecosystem services in the face of human land use and a fluctuating environment, now and in the future (Chapin et al. 2009b), which we call *landscape sustainability*. This aligns fairly well with use of the term by others. For example, landscape sustainability was described as a desirable trajectory and condition that scientists can document, people can perceive, and nature can exist within (Musacchio 2009). However, the concept can be applied in subtly different ways depending on whether it is the landscape itself

that is emphasized or its influence on other goods or services. Wiens (2013) distinguished between using landscape sustainability for the degree to which the patterns and processes that characterize a landscape will persist into the future, versus how landscape features affect the sustainability of things that matter to people or to organisms. As Wiens noted, the second definition is strongly dependent on the first. Because of the strong relationships between landscape heterogeneity and ecosystem structure and function, spatial heterogeneity does affect ecosystem services, and landscape ecology can make key contributions to sustainability science (e.g., Musacchio 2009; Cumming 2011; Turner et al. 2013).

Ecosystem services are commonly grouped into broad categories (provisioning, regulating, cultural, and supporting) that reflect different kinds of benefits derived from nature (Table 9.3; Millenium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). These services are provided by spatially heterogeneous landscapes and seascapes. Some services can be measured directly, for example, crop yield and timber harvest, whereas others are more difficult to quantify. Many ecosystem services are assessed using biophysical indicators, often based on empirical relationships or simulation models. The Natural Capital Project (www.naturalcoapitalproject.org) developed a software

TABLE 9.3.

Ecosystem service categories, as defined by the Millenium Ecosystem Assessment (2005).

Category	Definition	Examples
Provisioning services	Products people obtain from ecosystem and use directly	Food, fuel, wood, fiber, fresh water, genetic resources
Regulating services	Benefits people obtain from the regulation of ecosystem processes	Air quality maintenance, climate regulation, erosion control, regulation of human diseases, water purification, pollination, pest control
Cultural services	Nonmaterial benefits people obtain from ecosystems through spiritual enrichment, cognitive development, reflection, etc.	Esthetic experience, religious value, education, recreation, wildlife viewing
Supporting services (i.e., natural capital)	Services that provide the foundation for all other ecosystem services; because of this, they are sometimes not considered an ecosystem service per se because they do not benefit people directly	Primary production, soil formation, biogeochemical cycling, oxygen production

These benefits to people from nature are key constituents of human well-being and ecological

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

366

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPEsystem, called InVEST, that is widely used to quantify ecosystem services acrossECOLOGY INland- and seascapes and explore consequences of different management alternatives on the economy, the environment, and human well-being.

Assessing, projecting, and managing the flows of ecosystem services across spatially heterogeneous landscapes are important topics in sustainability science (e.g., Carpenter et al. 2009; Turner et al. 2013; Wiens 2013). However, the spatial ecology of ecosystem services is not well understood. We do not attempt a comprehensive review of the ecosystem services literature, nor do we address the economic valuation of ecosystem services; we refer readers to existing literature [e.g., Kremen 2005; Kremen and Ostfeld 2005; Daily and Matson 2008 and the rest of special feature on ecosystem services in PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES; Daily et al. 2009]. Rather, we emphasize spatial patterns and dynamics of ecosystem services in the context of landscape sustainability. We begin by providing illustrative examples of how landscape heterogeneity influences a few different ecosystem services, then discuss spatial relationships among multiple ecosystem services, how biodiversity is treated in ecosystem services assessments, and priorities for research.

Landscape Heterogeneity and Ecosystem Services

Hydrologic ecosystem services are freshwater benefits to people generated by terrestrial ecosystems, including freshwater supply, water quality, flood mitigation, and cultural services related to freshwater (Brauman et al. 2007). Freshwater services are of particular concern in agricultural and urban landscapes, as they are especially sensitive to landscape changes associated with the amount and pattern of impervious surfaces, such as roofs, roads and parking lots; nutrient additions, such as fertilizer application; and water extraction, as for irrigation (Kepner et al. 2012). Urbanization and agricultural intensification can alter ecohydrological processes and introduce contaminants (DeFries and Eshleman 2004; Brauman et al. 2007; Kepner et al. 2012). Intensive agriculture accompanied by excessive nutrient inputs from commercial fertilizer and manure applications can trigger eutrophication and groundwater contamination. Growing urban impervious surface can increase "flashiness" of runoff from heavy rainfall events, resulting in more frequent and severe floods. Even in less-developed landscapes, excess water extraction for hydrologic fracturing associated with fossil fuel extraction can alter the water table and stream flows. These landscape changes may interact with other drivers such as changing climate to challenge the sustainability of hydrologic ecosystem services.

In the Yahara Watershed, Wisconsin, USA, four different ecosystem services related to water quality and quantity were quantified using biophysical indicators and mapped at 30-m resolution for the entire watershed for a single year (Qiu and Turner 2013). The hydrologic services were provided by different parts of the land-scape, with some locations contributing to groundwater recharge, others to flood

mitigation, and still others to surface and groundwater quality. The study showed that management to sustain the portfolio of freshwater services in the landscape will not be simple (Qiu and Turner 2013).

Pollination is an ecosystem service that is critical for food production. Pollination is especially sensitive to landscape composition and configuration, in part because it is often provided by mobile organisms (Lundberg and Moberg 2003). About onethird of crop production depends on animal pollinators, and 60-90 % of plant species rely on animals for pollination (Kremen et al. 2007). Sustaining local pollination services requires a landscape that provides the foraging resources needed for the pollinators at spatial scales aligned with their foraging ranges and dispersal distances. For example, Priess et al. (2007) found a strong influence of the extent and location of deforestation on pollination of coffee in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia, and identified a critical role for remnants of native forest. In coffee plantations, pollinator diversity and fruit set of coffee decline with increasing distance to intact forest. Thus, pollination services decline as deforestation progresses and remnant forests become fewer and more isolated. When the mean distance between coffee plantations and forest increases to 150 m, coffee yield and pollination services are 95 % and 69 %, respectively, of their values right at the forest edge. As habitat loss and fragmentation continue and this mean distance increases to 400 m, these percentages for yield and pollination drop to 85 % and 48 %, respectively (Priess et al. 2007). The monetary value of the pollination services provided by forests in the study area was estimated €46 ha⁻¹ (Priess et al. 2007). Thus, landscape pattern matters a lot for pollinations services and coffee production, and remnant forests play a critical role in these human-dominated tropical landscapes.

Forest fragments are important for many ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes besides pollination. In an agricultural landscape in Quebec, Canada, a study of six different ecosystem services in relation to forest fragments reported significant effects of distance-from-forest, fragment isolation and fragment size on crop production, insect pest regulation, and decomposition (Mitchell et al. 2014). Structurally complex agricultural landscapes generally tend to enhance local biodiversity, and landscape heterogeneity may help offset some consequences of local high-intensity management (Tscharntke et al. 2005). Having a mixture of natural and seminatural cover types in the agricultural landscape can enhance resilience by maintaining high diversity of different functional groups, and patches of native vegetation also may enhance dispersal of beneficial organisms by providing stepping stones across the landscape (Tscharntke et al. 2005). Indeed, some authors (e.g., Swift et al. 2004) have suggested that promoting regional land-use diversity is the major opportunity for maintaining ecosystem services and biodiversity outside of conservation areas.

Recent decades have seen a push for increasing use of renewable energy, including bioenergy, in local, regional, and national energy budgets. Different kinds of biomass, including corn, herbaceous vegetation (e.g., switchgrass, *Panicum virgatum*),

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

368

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

and short-rotation woody crops (e.g., Populus species), have been promoted as renewable sources of energy feedstocks and thus another potential ecosystem service to be supplied from a landscape. Corn is the dominant biofuel crop in North America, and acreage in corn has been increasing. In the US, the 2007 Energy Independence and Security Act called for up to 15 billion gallons per year of cornbased ethanol, most of which is made from corn grain, by 2015. Because ecosystem disservices are associated with intensive row-crop agriculture, the potential for perennial cropping systems to produce biomass for bioenergy has been explored, in part because these are expected to produce net benefits for grassland wildlife (Fargione et al. 2009; Fletcher et al. 2010; Meehan et al. 2010). Landscape ecology can contribute to the bioenergy discussion by exploring the consequences of alternative amounts and arrangements of different bioenergy crops on energy production and other services. For example, Dale et al. (2011) suggest a variety of specific roles for landscape ecology at the nexus of land use, energy development, and climate change. Included among their suggestions are the need for case studies that use relevant indicators across the full life cycle of energy production, models that allow the consequences of alternative landscape designs to be evaluated, and identification of the appropriate scales for assessing landscape sustainability.

Landscape connectivity is a key spatial attribute that may influence the supply of ecosystem services because lateral movements of organisms and matter are components of many ecosystem services. Mitchell et al. (2013) provided a semiquantitative review of the landscape connectivity-ecosystem services literature, which we briefly summarize here. Landscape connectivity is expected to influence services such as pollination, pest regulation, seed dispersal, and disease regulation, which depend on the movement of organisms across landscapes. Whether connectivity of a particular habitat is associated with increased or decreased service supply depends on the service. Increased connectivity of crop fields may facilitate movement of crop pests across the landscape, whereas increased connectivity of seminatural habitats may facilitate movement of natural enemies that help to regulate crop pests. However, such relationships may be surprisingly complex, as when landscape complexity alters the interactions among natural enemies. For example, in experimental plots in South Korea, interactions among birds, flying insects, and grounddwelling arthropods varied with landscape complexity and led to different levels of pest control (Martin et al. 2013).

Landscape connectivity is also expected to influence services that relate to movement of matter, such as fresh water provision, regulation of air and water quality, erosion, and mitigation of natural hazards. However, assessment of the published literature revealed that most studies did not provide empirical evidence that ecosystem service provisioning was altered as landscape connectivity changes (Mitchell et al. 2014). Functional connectivity (vs. structural connectivity) was generally unmeasured, with only three studies, all involving birds and seed dispersal services, measuring actual animal movement across landscapes and relating movements to

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

ecosystem services. Pollination was well studied, with many studies linking the presence and pattern of natural ecosystems to pollination (Mitchell et al. 2013). Overall, the review found that the view that landscape connectivity should affect ecosystem services was widely held, but there was surprisingly little empirical evidence or well-developed theory. Thus, there are a number of key opportunities for future research (see Table 1 in Mitchell et al. 2013).

Interactions Among Ecosystem Services

Most landscapes produce multiple services—for example, they may produce food or wood products while also providing drinking water and recreational opportunities. The degree to which different ecosystem services are spatially concordant (produced at the same locations in a given landscape) or spatially disjunct (with different locations producing different services) has not been widely studied in different kinds of landscape (but see Naidoo et al. 2008; Nelson et al. 2009). Some sets of ecosystem services—called *bundles*—always appear together across space or time (Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2010). However, attempts to maximize the production of one ecosystem service or bundle often results in substantial declines in other ecosystem services, which argues for the need to understand the relationships among multiple services and the mechanisms underpinning these relationships (Bennett et al. 2009).

Synergies arise when multiple services are enhanced simultaneously (Bennett et al. 2009), and *trade-offs* occur when the provision of one service is reduced as a consequence of increased use of another (Rodriguez et al. 2006). Thus, synergies occur with positive correlations among ecosystem services, and trade-offs occur with negative correlations. Agricultural landscapes have received much attention because there are often trade-offs between crop production and other services; depending on management, agriculture may produce disservices, such as habitat loss, nutrient and sediment runoff, pesticide poisoning of nontarget species, and greenhouse gas emissions (Fig. 9.12; Power 2010). Synergies and trade-offs may vary with scale, but a distinct trade-off at the field scale may obscure synergies at other scales.

Agricultural landscapes provide opportunities for studying interactions among competing ecosystem services. In the Yahara Watershed study mentioned earlier, Qiu and Turner (2013) studied the production, spatial distribution, and interactions among ten provisioning, regulating, and cultural ecosystem services. In this agricultural landscape, spatial patterns of high supply for multiple ecosystem services often were not spatially concordant; locations where six or more services were produced at high levels (upper 20th percentile) occupied only 3.3 % of the landscape and often coincided with nature preserves, parks, and riparian zones. Half of the landscape produced high values of one or no ecosystem service; these locations were primarily croplands or developed lands. The study identified three FIGURE 9.12.

Landscape and farm management affect the flow of ecosystem services and disservices in an agricultural landscape.

Adapted from Power (2010).



370

distinct groups of ecosystem services that revealed synergies and trade-offs among the ten services (Qiu and Turner 2013). Most relationships among ecosystem services were synergies (i.e., positive correlations), but trade-offs occurred between crop production and water quality. The spatial patterns of synergies and trade-offs among ecosystem services were complex (Fig. 9.13). Different areas of the landscape supplied different suites of ecosystem services. Hotspots were rare on the landscape, indicating the difficulty of obtaining high supplies of multiple services from the same parcel in a landscape dominated by agriculture and urban land. However, hotspots could be very important because areas of high supply of multiple ecosystems services may coincide with greater species and functional diversity (Lavorel et al. 2011). The spatial heterogeneity of different ecosystem services and their interactions indicate that sustainability of ecosystem service production requires regional-scale management that accounts for the geographic position and spatial distribution of services (Qiu and Turner 2013). It is not possible to obtain high values of all services from the same parcel of land, and so, for example,

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World



FIGURE 9.13.

Spatial interactions among ecosystem services in the Yahara Watershed of southern Wisconsin, USA. Mapped values are factor scores that represent synergies and trade-offs among ecosystem services: (a) Factor 1, forest and water synergies. *Red* represents areas where carbon storage, surface water quality, forest recreation, and soil retention are high, whereas *green* represents areas where all these services are low. (b) Factor 2, pasture and water synergies. *Red* represents locations where pasture production, flood regulation, and freshwater supply are all high, whereas *green* represents locations where all these services are low. (c) Factor 3, crop and water quality trade-offs. *Red* represents where crop production is high, and surface and ground water quality are both low.

FROM QIU AND TURNER (2013).

LANDSCAPE locations producing food may need to be complemented by other locations that can store carbon.

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

Anticipating future production and delivery of multiple ecosystem services as various drivers change is a critical component of landscape sustainability. Interdisciplinary research teams are beginning to address this by modeling alternative future landscape conditions and their potential consequences for multiple ecosystem services. For example, increased urban land cover was modeled for Britain, UK, based on an anticipated 16 % increase in human population by 2031 (Eigenbrod et al. 2011b). Spatially, the increased urbanization bracketed alternative arrangements: a "densification" scenario that minimized the expansion of urban areas, and a "sprawl" scenario that expanded urban land cover following current suburban patterns. Consequences were modeled for three different ecosystem services: flood mitigation, agricultural production, and carbon storage. These services responded differently to each scenario. The densification scenario led to 1.7 million people living within 1 km of rivers with at least 10 % increases in peak flows, but the sprawl scenario had little effect on flooding. In contrast, losses of agricultural production and carbon storage were more than three times as high in the sprawl scenario as in the densification scenario. This study underscores the challenge of managing the landscape to provide multiple services-the optimal arrangement for one ecosystem service may be very different from the optimal arrangement for another. This also points to the need for managing larger areas for multiple ecosystem services, as different parts of the landscape will produce high values of different ecosystem services (Qiu and Turner 2013). Bundles of services may be optimized together, but larger areas will be needed to sustain a diverse suite of multiple services.

Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity

Ecosystem services and biodiversity are both of interest in landscape ecology and management, but integrating these two has been challenging. Inclusion of biodiversity in assessments of ecosystem services is inconsistent, and indicators of biodiversity and ecosystem services seldom follow a common monitoring scheme (Feld et al. 2009). Following what Mace et al. (2012)) refer to as a "conservation perspective," biodiversity is considered in parallel with other services, and conservation often ends up as a trade-off. For example, species richness and conservation value is usually low in row crops, but crop yields may be high, resulting in a trade-off between biodiversity and food production at the field scale (Power 2010; Fletcher et al. 2010). Globally, areas selected for conservation of biodiversity often do not coincide with areas producing high values of multiple ecosystem services such as carbon storage, carbon sequestration, and water provision (Naidoo et al. 2008). By often focus-ing on species, the "conservation perspective" may ignore the role of biodiversity as a supporting service, providing the underpinning ecosystem processes.

Confusion about how to consider biodiversity and ecosystem services jointly has also ensued because biodiversity can be a regulator of important ecosystem services as well as a final ecosystem service in its own right (Mace et al. 2012). Genetic and species diversity can contribute directly to some ecosystem services, as when particular strains of crops, biofuels, or livestock are selected to enhance production. But, biodiversity can also directly provide important cultural ecosystem services, as when recreational experiences are enhanced by the presence of watchable wildlife or flowering plants. Mace et al. (2012)) advocate for recognizing that diversity per se contributes directly to delivery of some services but not others, and that biodiversity likely contributes more to regulating and cultural services and less to provisioning services. Across Europe, habitats that were in conservation status supplied more regulating services, provided more water, and higher recreation potential than other habitats (Maes et al. 2012).

Understanding the sensitivity of different ecosystem services to the types and levels of biodiversity in different landscapes, and how these relationships vary with scale, remains limited. Mace et al. (2012) note that effective ecosystem management requires identifying and analyzing ways to optimize ecosystem service delivery and conserve species, habitats, and landscapes. Carpenter et al. (2009) also state that future research should focus on the controls on ecosystem services themselves, addressing the effects of multiple drivers, structural factors including biodiversity, and human feedbacks. Developing more effective ways to integrate biodiversity and conservation concerns with sustainability of ecosystem services remains an important goal.

Ecosystem Services: Synthesis

Ecosystem services and landscape sustainability offer rich opportunities for landscape ecology research and applications. Are relevant principles yet emerging from landscape ecology? Lindenmayer and Cunningham (2013) suggest six principles to be considered for managing forests as ecologically sustainable systems, and these seem like a broadly applicable set that bear consideration. These principles are: (1) Landscape management problems are often derived from human-use drivers that overcommit natural resources and undermine the ecosystem services that support and replenish these resources. In other words, human demand is typically driving the problems. (2) Not all parts of a landscape are equal in their contribution to species persistence and ecological processes. There are spatial disproportionalities, hot spots and cold spots, and spatially variable trade-offs. (3) Managing connectivity is critical, but it is essential to determine what kind of connectivity is desirable, and for what species and processes. Connectivity per se is neither good nor bad; rather, its value depends on what is being connected. (4) Land-use practices can produce spatial and temporal cumulative effects with negative impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem processes. Thus, actions and interventions ought not to be Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World LANDSCAPEassessed in isolation. (5) Land-use decisions on the land sparing-land sharingECOLOGY INspectrum are highly scale and context dependent. As seen throughout this book,
scale matters! (6) Our understanding of landscape-scale processes is shaped by our
conceptual model of the landscape.

The landscape ecology of ecosystem services is a rich area of research, but caveats are appropriate, as well. Although the wide availability of land-cover data make it tempting to use land-cover proxies to map ecosystem services, such proxies have proven to be poor fits to primary data on biodiversity, carbon storage, and recreation (Eigenbrod et al. 2010), indicating the better biophysical indicators and process-based models are needed. Correlations between ecosystem services also change depending on whether primary or proxy data are used (Eigenbrod et al. 2010), which means that assessments of trade-offs and synergies will be sensitive to the selection of indicators. As with modeling and landscape analysis, uncertainty must be assessed when ecosystem services are estimated; Hou and Müller (2013) provide a useful summary of sources of uncertainty and approaches for estimating uncertainty.

Ecosystem services and landscape sustainability will continue to be exciting areas of policy-relevant research, offering tremendous opportunities for contributions from landscape ecologists. Where is this field headed? In prioritizing questions designed to move from theory to practice, Carpenter et al. (2009) included several with clear landscape context: What combinations of ecosystem services can flow sustainably from particular landscapes? How do changing land use, nutrient mobilization, species composition, and climate affect flows of ecosystem services? For a given landscape, what drivers can be managed, and how? Five research questions at the frontier of landscape sustainability science were highlighted by Turner et al. (2013) and are summarized below. These questions also integrate much of the material that has been covered in this book (reproduced with some modification from Turner et al. 2013):

(1) What types and levels of spatial heterogeneity contribute to sustained production of ecosystem services and what types and levels do not? Landscapes are dynamic, all landscapes are unique (Phillips 2007), and there is no optimal landscape mosaic that can increase all ecosystem services. Rather, the composition and configuration of a landscape may enhance or sustain one bundle of ecosystem services and leave others vulnerable to degradation. Understanding the relationships between landscape heterogeneity and the provisioning of ecosystem services within different kinds of landscapes is the foundation from which trade-offs, synergies, trajectories, and management alternatives can be considered. How are the types and amounts of spatial heterogeneity that promote sustainability to be defined? If maintaining a set of ecosystem services within set bounds is desired, what kinds of alternative patterns promote those levels of production? Spatial heterogeneity may allow adaptation to future environmental change and help to sustain some ecosystem services, but humans often rescale or reshape natural heterogeneity. How can

PRACTICE

land managers determine the types of spatial heterogeneity that will enhance or impede production of different ecosystem services? The science of landscape ecology can help to sort out the consequences of different kinds of spatial heterogeneity, including those that mimic natural patterns, for ecosystem services.

(2) Where on the landscape do suites of ecosystem services respond similarly or in opposite directions to anticipated changes, and what are the mechanisms behind such synergies and trade-offs? Understanding the kind, amount, distribution, and patterning of multiple ecosystem services on the landscape is critical for evaluating synergies and trade-offs among ecosystem services. By quantifying and mapping different ecosystem services, "hot spots" of ecosystem services can be readily identified, along with areas where conflicts over provision of differing ecosystem services are likely to occur (Steffen 2009; Qiu and Turner 2013) or thresholds may be exceeded (Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2010). In forested landscapes, hot spots of ecosystem services often coincide with higher species and functional diversity (Lavorel et al. 2011). Managing spatially explicit relationships among different ecosystem services, and help avoid catastrophic shifts (i.e., abrupt losses or declines) in ecosystem service production (Bennett et al. 2009).

(3) What are the implications for resilience and vulnerability of ecosystem services of anticipated trajectories of landscape change? Anticipating landscape changes and how the benefits people derive from a region will be affected by such changes are difficult, but methods from landscape ecology can contribute to addressing this challenge. Landscape ecology offers well-developed methods for projecting alternative landscape patterns probabilistically and for evaluating the consequences of landscape composition and configuration for different responses (e.g., Perry and Enright 2006; Gude et al. 2007; Berland et al. 2011). These methods can be incorporated into studies that explore future scenarios for ecosystem services. Trajectories of change that lead to sustained or enhanced ecosystem services can then be distinguished from those that cause ecosystem services to decline.

(4) To what degree can landscape pattern be purposefully managed to enhance the resilience of ecosystem services in the face of changing drivers? This, perhaps, is one of the largest challenges for landscape sustainability—maintaining the capacity for the landscape to produce ecosystem services in the face of change. Just how much leverage can be gained from "smart" management of land-use or strategic interventions to alter landscape patterns? Understanding the mechanisms behind synergies and trade-offs among ecosystem services can help identify ecological leverage points where small management investments can yield substantial benefits (Bennett et al. 2009; Qiu and Turner 2013). But how much can be gained by manipulating landscape patterns, and under what conditions will the magnitude of changes in some drivers overwhelm the importance of landscape heterogeneity? Landscape managers can intervene in some drivers to sustain ecosystems services (e.g., land-use planning can minimize effects on biodiversity) but have little influence Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

on others (e.g., society may have to simply adapt to climate-induced changes in fire regimes). Managers must know when landscape management can and cannot mitigate undesirable changes.

(5) How well will understanding of past landscape dynamics and ecosystem services inform the future? For many regions, predicted future conditions differ vastly from past and current conditions. Some studies suggest that "no-analog" communities will develop in the future (Williams and Jackson 2007), and others indicate that disturbance frequency may exceed that documented throughout the Holocene (Westerling et al. 2011). Concepts such as the historical range of variability (HRV; Keane et al. 2009) provide a baseline characterization of past landscape structure, function, and dynamics, from which we will be able to detect when a given landscape has moved beyond the historical condition as a result of changing climate, disturbance, and land-use drivers. However, the historical condition may not be a suitable restoration target if these drivers move landscapes well outside their HRV (Thompson et al. 2009). Will the relationship between future landscape patterns and production of ecosystem services change fundamentally from that of the past? Can approaches from landscape ecology help scientists and managers anticipate or avoid undesirable surprises?

Guaranteeing the continued provision of ecosystem services in the face of environmental change—maintaining functional landscapes that ensure human well-being—is the most pressing challenge in sustainability science, and contemporary landscape ecology has much to offer. As Daily et al. (2009) state, we must develop an ecosystem services framework that is credible, replicable, scalable, and sustainable. The role of landscape heterogeneity in buffering environmental variation, enhancing ecosystem resilience, and forestalling transitions past threshold to alternative states may be key to landscape sustainability, but it has been relatively little explored (Wiens 2013). How successful we are at steering our landscapes onto sustainable pathways may well determine our collective future.

SUMMARY

Landscape ecology has become essential for a variety of problems in applied ecology. Natural resource professionals have shifted their emphasis from management of separate resources to management focused on the integrity of entire ecosystems and landscapes. This shift in management has revealed the importance of spatial interdependencies among landscape components and created a demand for the inclusion of landscape ecology into resource management decisions at a broad range of spatial and temporal scales.

The expansion of resource management to regional scales prompted the development of landscape indicators, which can simplify analysis while quantifying the ecological effects of changes in the amount and arrangement of land cover. A reasonable array of landscape indicators has been proposed and their utility has been demonstrated in a number of settings. Useful indicators must meet several criteria, and landscape indicators should be part of any monitoring program to detect and quantify regional ecological change.

Among the applied challenges facing contemporary landscape ecologists, understanding and anticipating the effects climate and land-use change on landscape structure, function and sustainability are perhaps the most important. The potential impact of climate change on species and habitat distributions, agricultural production, water resources, and disturbance regimes is profound. The maintenance and/or restoration of pathways that facilitate species movements are important to maintain viable populations via dispersal and establishment processes as climate alters the locations of suitable habitat. Land-use activities change landscape structure by altering the relative abundances of natural habitats and introducing new land-cover types. A predictable land-use transition is observed as natural ecosystems are transformed by human activities. The rate of land-cover change has accelerated worldwide, particularly in regions with rapid population growth. Land-use change is affecting urban and rural landscapes alike, and research on urban landscapes has increased in recent years. Low-density rural housing development has increased substantially in the US, driven in part by people's desire for environmental amenities. Landscape ecologists were among the first scientists to recognize the need for more holistic approaches to understand and conserve habitats across the rural-to-urban development gradient, and they continue to advance this field.

Landscapes are not affected by single factors acting individually and independently. Rather, landscapes respond to multiple factors acting across a wide range of scales and which may interact. A key challenge—and opportunity—for landscape ecologists is to elucidate the relative influence of different drivers and the degree to which LULC patterns can be purposefully designed to mitigate environmental problems. Determining what patterns of land use will be in the future or should be to optimize oft-competing goals is not easy. In response to the need to anticipate future conditions in the face of tremendous uncertainty, scenarios have proven very useful for exploring implications of changes in land use and other drivers of landscape pattern. Different approaches to scenario development serve different purposes, but they have been used effectively at national and regional scales to explore plausible futures. From a practical standpoint, there is much to be learned regarding how much the decisions about how much and where to arrange different LULC elements affect the ability to reach some desirable goal, and the degree to which landscape patterns may mitigate or amplify the effects of other drivers.

A key reason for considering future climate and land-use change in landscape ecology, and for using scenarios to explore plausible future conditions, is the shared goal of sustaining the structure and function of landscapes for decades to come. One way to approach this goal is by considering ecosystem services or the benefits Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World
that people obtain from ecosystems. Sustainability refers to use of the environment LANDSCAPE and resources to meet current needs without compromising the ability of a system ECOLOGY IN to provide for future generations. We emphasize the capacity of landscapes to deliver desired ecosystem services in the face of human land use and a fluctuating THEORY AND environment, now and in the future, which we call landscape sustainability. PRACTICE Assessing, projecting, and managing the flows of ecosystem services across spatially heterogeneous landscapes are important topics in sustainability science, but the spatial ecology of ecosystem services is not well understood. Studies to date now suggest that promoting regional land-use diversity is the major opportunity for maintaining ecosystem services and biodiversity outside of conservation areas. Spatial analyses have shown that landscape connectivity is another key attribute that must be maintained because lateral movements of organisms and matter are essential components of many ecosystem services. Anticipating future production and delivery of multiple ecosystem services as various drivers change is a critical component of landscape sustainability. Interdisciplinary research teams are beginning to address this by modeling alternative future landscape conditions and their potential consequences for multiple ecosystem services. Managing the landscape to provide multiple services is challenging because the optimal arrangement for one ecosystem service may be very different from the optimal arrangement for another.

Parting Comments

Are there lessons that can be extracted thus far from applications of landscape ecology? We think so. First, determining what is "optimal" for any given landscape is not straightforward. "Optimal" is a value judgment, and the development of a consensus opinion is often an arduous process. It is difficult to balance the multiple criteria by which a landscape may be considered sustainable—economic output, human well-being, persistence of biodiversity, maintenance of water quality, and adequate land for human development. Even when "naturalness" is identified as a goal for landscape condition, implementing such an objective is not straightforward. The landscape ecologist can provide a rigorous analysis of alternative landscapes, including the potential implications for various ecological processes. However, the science still stumbles when an optimal target condition must be unambiguously identified—in part, because such a decision requires more than science. This is where scenario approaches play an especially important role.

Second, applied landscape ecology is most effective as a team approach; indeed, none of the work highlighted in this chapter has resulted from single-investigator science! This means that landscape ecologists must be attentive to the requirements of building effective teams; Likens (1998) nicely summarized many of the factors that so strongly influence the effectiveness and productivity of collaborative (and often interdisciplinary) research (Table 9.4). We strongly recommend that collaborative research be encouraged—and rewarded—at all levels, and that graduate training include opportunities for team research and interdisciplinary study. Furthermore,

Table 9.	4.	Landscape
CHARACTERISTICS NEEDED FOR BUILDING AN EFFECTIVE TEAM TO CONDUCT EFFECTIVE RESEARCH IN ECOSYSTEM		Dynamics
SCIENCE	(Likens 1998).	in a Rapidly
1.	Brightness	Changing
2.	Trusting/trustworthy	World
3.	Abundant common (or good) sense	
4.	Creativity and willingness to share	
5.	Appropriately trained	
6.	Collective ability to make up deficiencies	
	Shared experiences	
7.	Willing to give team time.	
8.	Personality	
	• Ability and willingness to listen	
	• Enjoy working with other people	
	Curiosity and interested	
	Openness of mind	
9.	Keeping eyes open (serendipity reigns)	
10.	Liking each other	
	[Luck helps!]	

Applications of landscape ecology also usually require a team approach, and these factors should be helpful when building an effective team.

practical applications of landscape ecology involve communication between scientists and decision-makers. It is increasingly important that scientists and practitioners develop communication skills geared toward policy makers and the public.

Third, there is an urgent need for landscape ecologists to be trained in advanced analytical methods, including modeling, spatial statistics, and remote sensing. Modeling offers a means for exploring the causes and consequences of alternative spatial patterns. But the integration of models, and their evaluation, is a technologically challenging process. Greater exposure to the development, parameterization, and interpretation of models should be required in the training of landscape ecologists. Landscape ecologists must have more than a passing familiarity with model development and interpretation, as well as techniques for quantitative spatial analysis. Fourth, there will never be "enough" data upon which to base management recommendations. GIS databases are now very common in land and resource management, and so some of the tedious work required to build databases for landscape analysis and applications has been reduced. However, there are still never enough spatially explicit data—for species occurrence, demography, or dispersal; water quality; productivity or nutrient dynamics; and the like. As is true for other areas of ecology, landscape ecologists should recognize that decisions must and will be made in the face of uncertainty, and that "the data" represent only one of the inputs to the decision-making process. The best current science and data must be brought to bear upon applied questions, with full recognition that our understanding may well change in the future.

Finally, applications of landscape ecology require integration and synthesis. Throughout this book, and as students are typically taught, concepts are separated into seemingly discrete units—e.g., species responses to landscape patterns, disturbance dynamics, or spatial patterns of nutrient cycling. In landscape ecology applications, however, these separate concepts must be considered synthetically. Therefore, thinking across traditional boundaries must be encouraged. We are optimistic that applications of landscape ecology will continue to develop, and that applied problems will continue to stimulate progress in our basic understanding of the relationship between pattern and process at multiple scales.

Guaranteeing the continued provision of ecosystem services in the face of environmental change—maintaining functional landscapes that ensure human wellbeing—is the most pressing challenge in sustainability science, and contemporary landscape ecology has much to offer. The role of landscape heterogeneity in buffering environmental variation, enhancing ecosystem resilience, and forestalling transitions past threshold to alternative states may be key to landscape sustainability.

\sim DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- Define, compare, and contrast "basic" and "applied" research in landscape ecology. Do you think the distinction is useful? Why or why not?
- 2. You have been named the director of the newly created Agency for Monitoring Landscape Change (AMLC). Your charge is to develop a set of landscape indicators that can be used to detect change through time and differences among landscapes in a region (*select a regional landscape of your choice*). Develop a set of at least five landscape indicators that will constitute your initial monitoring plan for the AMLC. For each indicator, describe: (a) what attributes of the pattern and process of the landscape the index measures, and (b) the advantage and limitations affecting its use. Explain why the set that you have selected will best meet the needs of the AMLC, i.e., justify your choices based on what the set will accomplish in to.

LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

- 3. For the landscape you selected above, describe how climate and land use may change in the future. State expectations for how your set of landscape indicators will change in the future. Explain the significance of those changes in terms understandable to regional land managers and citizens.
- 4. Climate change may have immediate as well as long-term effects on ecosystem services delivered by diverse ecosystems. List 2–3 key services provided by temperate forests, streams, and lakes. Speculate on those aspects of climate change (e.g., changes in temperature and precipitation, frequency of storm events, etc.) which may have immediate (discernable) effects or cause long-term changes in ecosystem attributes.

Landscape Dynamics in a Rapidly Changing World

∼ FURTHER READING

- EIGENBROD F, BELL VA, DAVIES HN, HEINEMEYER A, ARMSWORTH PR, GASTON KJ (2011) The impact of projected increases in urbanization on ecosystem services. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 278:3201–3208
- GROFFMAN PM, CAVENDER-BARES J, BETTEZ ND, GROVE JM, HALL SJ, HEFFERNAN JB, HOBBIE SE, LARSON KL, MORSE JL, NEILL C, NELSON K, O'NEIL-DUNNE J, OGDENT L, PATAKI DE, POLSKY C, CHOWDHURY RR, STEELE MK (2014) Ecological homogenization of urban USA. Front Ecol Environ 12:74–81
- IVERSON LR, PRASAD AM, MATTHEWS SN, PETERS MP (2011) Lessons learned while integrating habitat, dispersal, disturbance, and life-history traits into species habitat models under climate change. Ecosystems 14:1005–1020
- MITCHELL MGE, BENNETT EM, GONZALEZ A (2013) Linking landscape connectivity and ecosystem service provision: current knowledge and research gaps. Ecosystems 16:894–908
- PRIESS JA, MIMLER M, KLEIN A-M, SCHWARZE S, TSCHARNTKE T, STEFFAN-DEWENTER I (2007) Linking deforestation scenarios to pollination services and economic returns in coffee agroforestry systems. Ecol Appl 17:407–417
- TSCHARNTKE T, KLEIN AM, KRUESS A, STEFFAN-DEWENTER I, THIES C (2005) Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity—ecosystem service management. Ecol Lett 8:857–874
- TURNER BL II, ROBBINS P (2008) Land-change science and political ecology: similarities, differences and implications for sustainability science. Annu Rev Environ Res 33:295–316

Conclusions and Future Directions

A swe reflect on the advances, topics, and wide range of studies included in this second edition of *Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice*, it is gratifying to see how landscape ecology has matured. Motivated by broad-scale environmental challenges and facilitated by rapid developments in computing power and technology, landscape ecology has emerged as a synthetic discipline that has generated new concepts, theory, and methods that reveal the importance of spatial pattern in ecological systems. Landscape ecology is now a well-recognized subdiscipline in ecology as well as an interdisciplinary area of research and application that embraces social–ecological systems and extends well beyond ecology. The many landscape studies published in a diverse array of journals also speak to the importance and impact of landscape ecology. In this book, we have emphasized current ecological understanding of the causes of spatial pattern, reciprocal interactions between spatial patterns and ecological processes, and how these patterns and processes change through time. In this final chapter, we summarize some general lessons from landscape ecology and suggest several promising directions for future research. LANDSCAPE

ECOLOGY IN

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

WHAT HAS BEEN LEARNED FROM LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY?

It is difficult to distill from an entire book, which is already a distillation of a vast primary literature, summary statements about what has been learned from landscape ecology. Recognizing the potential pitfall of superficiality, we nonetheless suggest a few general insights that emerged directly from the growth and development of the discipline.

First and foremost, landscape ecology has clearly demonstrated that spatial heterogeneity is an important influence on a wide range of ecological patterns and processes. It is now expected that ecologists meaningfully consider spatial pattern as a potential factor influencing ecological responses, regardless of whether they study individual organisms, populations, communities, or entire ecosystems. Consideration is expected at all phases of a study: research initiation, when questions and hypotheses are formulated; experimental design, when sampling protocols and scales are established; and analysis, when spatial autocorrelation and generalizability must be addressed. Second, landscape ecology has also demonstrated the unambiguous influence of scale on analyses and interpretations and provided quantitative methods for addressing scale issues. Third, landscape ecology has provided tremendous insight into ecological dynamics over areas of broad spatial extent, and much of that understanding laid the groundwork for continentalscale environmental science (Peters et al. 2008, 2014) and current frameworks such as *macrosystems ecology* (Heffernan et al. 2014).

In an early essay (Turner et al. 1995a), we summarized insights relating to ecological dynamics at broad scales with a particular emphasis on biodiversity. In the first edition of this book, we extended that list to consider contributions of landscape ecology more broadly, and here, we augment that list once again.

- All landscape have a history. The complex patterns observed on today's landscape result from many causes, including variability in the abiotic template, biotic interactions, natural disturbances, and both past and present patterns of human settlement and land use. However, every landscape is unique, and spatial and temporal contingencies are of remarkable importance in shaping the current state of any given landscape. Multicausality and interacting drivers are the rule, not the exception.
- ✤ There is no single "right" scale for all landscape ecological studies. The appropriate scale depends on the question being asked and the processes being studied; pattern-process interactions involving organisms must be studied at scales appropriate for the organism or process of interest. Therefore, scale effects must be considered carefully in all studies. Mismatches in scale often result in misleading, contradictory, or wrong answers.

- Many metrics are available for quantifying landscape patterns, but many are correlated with one another. One metric is insufficient to characterize a land-scape, but determining how many and which ones to use must be based on the questions or objectives of a study and well justified by the analyst.
- ✤ Landscape pattern includes both composition and configuration. When using any metric of landscape configuration, it is critically important to account first for effects of landscape composition because the amount of different cover types in a landscape constrains the possible types and arrangements of spatial pattern.
- Landscape structure does not equate to landscape function. Although it is tempting to make that assumption, it is necessary to demonstrate and test pattern-process relationships.
- Disturbances create and respond to landscape heterogeneity, and landscapes are strongly shaped by their disturbance regimes. Shifting disturbance regimes and interactions among disturbances may lead to abrupt changes in landscape patterns and processes. Spatial effects of disturbance on succession become stronger when residuals are few or sparse and disturbance patches are large.
- Characteristics of the surrounding landscape can strongly influence local populations. Thus, it is important to consider local conditions as well as landscape context when explaining the presence and abundance of organisms in a landscape.
- ✤ Populations and a wide range of interactions among species produce important feedbacks to ecosystem processes and landscape patterns.
- ✤ Elements of the landscape may serve as sources or sinks for nutrients that move between ecosystems, including transfers—in both directions—between terrestrial and aquatic systems.
- ✤ Human influences (e.g., land-use change) are dominant factors controlling ecological dynamics at broad scales. Land use may amplify or dampen the effects of other drivers, and it is increasingly important to understand such interactions.
- Maintaining ecologically functional landscapes is critical for sustaining human well-being. Landscape ecology plays an important role in managing for the capacity of landscapes to deliver desired ecosystem services in the face of human land use and a fluctuating environment, now and in the future.

Another perspective on lessons learned from landscape ecology was offered by Jingle Wu, current editor-in-chief of *Landscape Ecology*, who synthesized the field to mark the 30-year anniversary of the Allerton Park Workshop (Wu 2013). The workshop was held in April 1983 (Risser et al. 1984) and established, in part, the foundation for modern landscape ecology. Wu's analysis led to his top-10 list of topics for which advances in landscape ecology are especially notable: (1) pattern-process–scale relationships, including hypothesis development and testing;

Conclusions and Future Directions

LANDSCAPE(2) landscape connectivity and fragmentation; (3) scale and scaling; (4) spatial
analysis and landscape modeling; (5) land-use and land-cover change; (6) land-
scape history and legacy effects; (7) landscape and climate change interactions; (8)
ecosystem services in changing landscape; (9) landscape sustainability; (10) accu-
racy assessment and uncertainty analysis. Indeed, advances are obvious in all of
these areas. As Wu (2013) asserted, progress in landscape ecology has been swift,
and the field remains dynamic and vibrant. We wholeheartedly agree!

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

With its emphasis on spatial pattern and scale, a landscape focus in ecology is here to stay. Contemporary landscape ecology continues to build on many themes that are at the core of the discipline while also embracing new directions and challenges. What frontiers are likely to drive research and lead to new insights during the coming decade? In the first edition of this book, we identified six pressing research directions. Here, we revisit those topics and comment on progress since that time. We then offer thoughts on current research challenges and priorities and comment on additional skills we think are important for meeting the needs of future landscape ecologists.

Future Directions Revisited from the First Edition

Spatial heterogeneity and ecosystem processes. When we wrote the first edition, understanding of ecosystem processes in the landscape—how rates vary over space and at different spatial scales, and what controls this variation—was in its infancy (Carpenter and Turner 1998). We suggested that the integration of landscape and ecosystem ecology should be a high priority, and as is evident in Chap. 8, progress has been substantial. This remains an exciting area of research, especially as the implications of multiple environmental drivers (e.g., climate change, land-use change, and shifting disturbance regimes) for ecosystem processes receive continued attention.

Relating landscape metrics to ecological processes. Following the very rapid development of landscape pattern metrics through the 1990s, we had identified three major areas in which further understanding was sorely needed: (1) the statistical properties and behavior of metrics needed to be better understood, (2) the relative sensitivity of different metrics to detecting changes in the landscape was not known, and (3) the empirical relationships between landscape patterns and ecological processes of interest needed to be better documented and the underlying mechanisms understood. Progress has been made in each of these three research areas, which has helped landscape ecologists determine what is worth measuring and why, and

understand when a change in a metric is statistically and ecologically significant. Conclusions The set of metrics has largely stabilized, and most practitioners are knowledgeable about their appropriate use. However, spatial statistics have advanced tremendously through the 2000s, and integrating different approaches to quantifying spatial heterogeneity—especially the degree to which they provide complementary and/or unique insights about landscape pattern—remains a priority.

Thresholds, nonlinearities, and rules for scaling. Critical thresholds in landscape pattern have important implications for understanding relationships between spatial patterns and processes, and we advocated for more work on this topic. Thresholds in ecology are now widely recognized (Groffman et al. 2006b), and consequences of suddenly connecting or disconnecting landscape elements have been explored in a range of systems. Effects of scale are also well recognized, although the need for improved quantitative understanding remains critical. Nonlinear dynamics and scaling are topics that will continue to motivate a considerable volume of basic and applied research in landscape ecology.

Feedbacks between organisms and ecosystems in space. Identifying spatial interactions and feedbacks between organisms and ecosystem processes was identified as an important goal for landscape ecology. Empirical understanding of such interactions has grown tremendously, particularly because of major advances and increased affordability of technologies for monitoring movement in real time. In addition, the library of empirical studies that quantify how organisms affect patterns of ecosystem process rates has also grown. Extending these approaches to consider how species–ecosystem interactions respond to environmental change will be important in the future.

Causes and consequences of land-use change. We noted previously that the size of the human population on earth had reached six billion during the fall of 1999, and that humans were transforming much of the surface of the earth and co-opting much of the world's resources (Vitousek et al. 1997a). The size of the human population reached seven billion in 2011 and continues to increase, though the rate of increase is declining. Indeed, the age in which we live has been called the Anthropocene (Ellis et al. 2010b). Human land use is primary drivers of landscape change worldwide, and understanding causes and consequences of land-use change was and still is a high priority topic in landscape ecology. Land-use patterns and their changes are spatial phenomena, and landscape ecologists must contribute toward understanding and predicting these patterns and their ecological consequences. This area should continue to receive attention from landscape ecologists and should include understanding land-use legacies and how choices made today will impact landscapes long into the future.

Sampling. Landscape ecology is not constrained to asking questions over large areas, but many landscape ecological studies do so. The problems inherent in sampling

LANDSCAPE across large regions in a way that permits inference of the effects of spatial heterogeneity remain challenging. We called out the need to develop improved ways ECOLOGY IN of sampling over large areas, using appropriate (and possibly new) statistical meth-THEORY AND ods for data analysis, and creative combinations of methods, including field sampling, experimentation, remote sensing, and modeling. Progress has been substantial, but the need remains great, particularly as ecological studies emphasize regional to continental extents, and new broad-scale monitoring programs are anticipated.

> Collectively, these six research directions contribute toward furthering knowledge of what Wiens (1999) summarized as the four central themes of landscape ecology: spatial variation, scaling, boundaries, and flows. Progress in each area has been substantial, and landscape ecology research has complemented understanding obtained from research at other levels in ecology. A spatially explicit view of ecological systems has enhanced integration across traditional boundaries in ecology.

Looking Ahead

After looking back, what directions now seem most promising? While it is gratifying to reflect on how much progress has been made in landscape ecology over the past 15 years, it is also exciting to think about new avenues of research that have emerged and the role that landscape ecology can continue to play in the future. There is no shortage of questions to be addressed, and we hope that this book provides a foundation and motivation for the development of new studies in landscape ecology. We have organized questions into several general themes (Table 10.1). While landscape ecology has clearly matured, many exciting challenges and opportunities lie ahead.

Interactions among multiple drivers. Landscape patterns result from multivariate causes operating over many scales, and they can still be difficult to predict. Much progress has been made in understanding the consequences of single drivers, but elucidating interacting drivers remains a challenge. Drivers interacting at different scales of space and time can produce surprising and sudden changes in landscapes, but a general understanding of such dynamics is lacking.

Climate change. Climate change is a reality, and it will influence landscapes in myriad ways in the decades ahead. Understanding these changes and how to mitigate undesirable consequences or adapt our landscapes to enhance resilience is of paramount importance. Landscape patterns will influence ecological responses to climate change, and landscape patterns will themselves change.

Changing disturbance regimes. Disturbance has been a prominent theme in landscape ecology for 25 years, and much has been learned regarding the pattern-process dynamics of disturbances. However, disturbance regimes are changing, and understanding the ecological consequences of such regime shifts is more important than ever.

PRACTICE

TABLE 10.1.

An illustrative set of research questions that represent some of the current frontiers in landscape ecology.

Conclusions

and Future

Theme	Questions	Directions
Interactions among multiple drivers	What is the relative importance of different factors in producing landscape patterns? How well can we explain the patterns we observe?	
	How do relationships among drivers vary with scale?	
	How do different causes of pattern (abiotic template, climate, biotic interactions, disturbance, human land use, sociocultural factors) interact?	
	Under what conditions are cross-scale interactions among drivers of particular importance? For example, when do interactions lead to tipping points?	
Climate change	How, when, where, and why will landscapes change qualitatively as climate warms?	
	How does landscape composition and configuration interact with climate change and influence future distributions of species? What conditions will enhance spread of nonnative invasive species? When are no-analog communities likely?	
	To what degree can landscape management be used to mitigate undesirable consequences of climate change?	
	What are the critical feedbacks and time lags in climate–landscape interactions?	
Changing disturbance regimes	How will changing disturbance regimes affect landscape patterns and processes? Where are surprises likely?	
	How do altered landscapes influence disturbance regimes?	
	How will postdisturbance trajectories in the future differ from those of the past?	
	How should management anticipate changes in disturbance regimes? Where will changes be of greatest magnitude? How can landscapes be designed or managed to enhance resilience to disturbance?	
Behavioral landscape ecology	How much do individuals of the same species vary in their behavioral responses to landscape heterogeneity?	
	What are the effects of natal vegetation type, edge types, and matrix conditions on intraspecific differences in behavioral decisions and movement ability?	
	How do cues from conspecifics influence dispersal and habitat selection?	

(continued)

LANDSCAPE	TABLE 10.1. (continued)		
ECOLOGY IN THEORY AND PRACTICE	Theme Questions		
	Species interactions and biotic communities	How does landscape heterogeneity influence interactions between species? What components of species interactions (e.g., detections, encounter, chase, escape) are affected by pattern?	
		Do some landscapes disrupt species interactions? Do other landscapes facilitate species interactions? To what degree can landscapes be managed to influence species interactions?	
		How does spatial heterogeneity influence entire biotic communities? How are changes in species assemblages affected by landscape heterogeneity?	
		What features of landscapes promote homogenization vs. diversification of community structure?	
	Landscape genetics and evolution	What is the role of landscape features in driving genetic variation, and is the landscape influence overrated?	
		How does the past shape contemporary genetic variation?	
		How does spatial heterogeneity contribute to microevolution, and what are the implications of rapid changes in landscape pattern for adaptive genetic variation?	
		Which statistical methods should be used for explaining landscape effects on genetic variation? What are the pros and cons of different approaches?	
	Ecosystem processes	How do rates of ecosystem processes vary over space and at different spatial scales, and what controls this variation?	
		When must spatial contingencies be considered?	
		How can landscape/regional dynamics be captured in global models?	
		How can/should models be scaled up or scaled down?	
	Land-use change	What are the future legacies of contemporary land-use patterns and decisions for patterns, processes, and options?	
		What types of land-use patterns enhance landscape resilience and/ or buffer landscapes from undesirable consequences of other environmental drivers?	
		How can landscape ecology contribute to a good Anthropocene?	

(continued)

Theme	Questions	
Spatial aspects of social–ecological	What spatial patterns enhance resilience in social–ecological systems?	Directions
systems	How do the spatial scales of institutional policies and individual decision making align with landscape patterns and processes, and what are the consequences of mismatches in scale?	
	What events or conditions elicit societal (or individual) responses? Do people respond in time to prevent undesirable or irreversible ecological change?	
Ecosystem services and landscape sustainability	What types and levels of spatial heterogeneity contribute to sustained production of ecosystem services and what types and levels do not?	
	Where on the landscape do suites of ecosystem services respond similarly or in opposite directions to anticipated changes, and what are the mechanisms behind such synergies and trade-offs?	
	What are the implications for resilience and vulnerability of ecosystem services of anticipated trajectories of landscape change?	
	To what degree can landscape pattern be purposefully managed to enhance the resilience of ecosystem services in the face of changing drivers?	
	How well will understanding of past landscape dynamics and ecosystem services inform the future?	

Adapted from Knowlton and Graham (2010), Turner et al. (2013), Bolliger et al. (2014) and Turner (2015).

Behavioral landscape ecology. Populations have been well studied in landscape ecology, but the richness of variation in behavior among individuals (among whom responses to spatial patterns can differ a lot) and how these spatial interactions translate into dynamics at higher levels of organization is only beginning to be explored and understood.

Species interactions and biotic communities. Much has been learned about the dynamics of single species in heterogeneous landscapes. However, species interactions (e.g., competition, herbivory, predation, mutualism) in heterogeneous landscapes, and how spatial patterns influence entire biotic communities remains a frontier. Furthermore, few studies have explored reciprocal, iterative interactions between organisms and landscape patterns over the long term.

Landscape genetics and evolution. Landscape genetics offers exciting new directions for examining within-species variation and bridging to evolution. This is Conclusions

LANDSCAPEespecially important for understanding adaptive variation, as selective forces playECOLOGY INout on heterogeneous landscapes. The preservation of genetic diversity of popula-
tions within fragmented landscapes is a new challenge for conservation of threat-
ened and endangered species.

PRACTICE Ecosystem processes. Despite early representation of ecosystem ecology within landscape ecology, explaining and predicting heterogeneity in ecosystem processes across landscapes remains a challenge. In part, this is because of scaling challenges: many ecosystem processes are microbially mediated and operate at very fine scales, yet we may wish to predict the broad-scale patterns that result. At the other end of the spectrum, global-scale models do not incorporate the regional variation that is often at the core of landscape studies.

Land-use change. Humans will continue to alter landscapes. Landscape ecology can provide crucial information about the consequences of those alterations and how land can be managed for enhanced sustainability. We have many opportunities to understand the degree to which land use can be guided in ways that buffer landscapes from other environmental drivers.

Spatial aspects of social–ecological systems. Humans have always been recognized in landscape ecology as important components of the system. The emergence of widespread interest in social–ecological systems should provide an opportunity for landscape ecology to contribute in meaningful ways.

Ecosystem services and landscape sustainability. Ecosystem services, the benefits that people obtain from ecosystems, are often affected by spatial heterogeneity. Again, landscape ecology has an opportunity to make important contributions to ongoing research in sustainability science.

Training the Next Generation of Landscape Ecologists

When training the next generation of landscape ecologists, what should be emphasized in addition to high-quality science and application? Learning to ask and answer good questions—those that are of general interest and importance, and answerable—and disseminate that new knowledge is arguably the most important goal of graduate training. However, that alone is not sufficient to be effective in basic and applied landscape ecology. Here, we highlight areas that we consider especially important when looking toward the future.

Build effective collaborations. Practically speaking, much effort in landscape ecology involves collaborative teams. We encourage landscape ecologists to think carefully and be deliberate in organizing collaborative teams so that they reach their potential. Successful collaborations produce outcomes that surpass the accomplishments of any one individual, but this does not happen by accident. High-performing teams share a set of characteristics that include positive interdependence of team

members, effective communication, and accountability as individuals and groups (Cheruvelil et al. 2014). We have both had the experience of being members of highly effective collaborations, and in a good team, the whole is definitely greater than the sum of the parts. New communication technologies have afforded many new channels for interactions among team members, which is very helpful. However, there remains no substitute for the quality of interaction gained from face-to-face meetings. As we train future landscape ecologists, we must set good examples, provide opportunities for junior scientists to develop collaborative tools, and nurture the skills needed for effective participation in local to global research teams.

Encourage interdisciplinary thinking. Humans have always had a place at the landscape ecology table, but anticipating and managing future landscapes requires embracing the linkage between social and ecological systems and the properties that make such systems resilient or vulnerable in the face of change (Chapin et al. 2009b). The goal of establishing functional landscapes that are sustainable of the long term motivates much work in landscape ecology. Most ecologists are not trained in the social sciences, and most social scientists are not trained in the natural and physical sciences. The academic cultures differ substantially, but the challenges faced by society require us to work together. Recognizing that our students need disciplinary depth in their training, we must nonetheless encourage a much greater appreciation for the linkages among disciplines.

Understand models and modeling. Quantitative models are widely used in landscape ecology (and in all of science), yet a general decline in the training of ecology students in modeling has been noted for some time (Canham et al. 2003). This is problematic. Models serve so many important purposes, from formalizing understanding to produce testable hypotheses, to exploring a wider range of conditions than can be studied empirically. We provided an overview of landscape modeling in Chap. 3, but much deeper understanding of how to build, use, and interpret models is needed in landscape ecology. We encourage faculty to train students in modeling, and students to seek opportunities to learn these approaches.

Welcome big data, but use responsibly. The amount and variety of data that are now readily available is opening up whole new questions and ways to answer those questions. Just think about how open access to the entire archive of Landsat imagery, or the advent of Google Earth[™], has influenced landscape studies. Many other data sources are now readily available, and this trend will likely continue. While traditional scientific methods will not be supplanted, new approaches to using *big data* will become part of our toolbox in landscape ecology. This is likely to involve working with new kinds of infrastructure and networks (Peters et al. 2014) in which landscape ecologists should participate. For established scientists, this will mean training our students differently from how were trained, but ways that prepare them to be leaders in emerging frontiers. However, big data is not a panacea for broad-scale ecology. The old computer maxim, "garbage in, garbage out" also Conclusions and Future Directions

LANDSCAPEapplies here, and it is incumbent upon the user to fully understand the data sourcesECOLOGY INand their quality, limitations, and appropriate use.

THEORY ANDDon't hide behind the computer. Although quantitative methods and simulation
modeling are widely used in landscape ecology, landscape ecologists must be inti-
mately familiar with the systems they study and manage. Thus, make it a priority
to spend time "in the field," regardless of the type of landscape you study. Stay well
grounded in the real world! Exploring and collecting data in your study landscape
often yields new questions; it also provides a reality check on computer-based anal-
yses. Further, many landscape studies involve interacting with people. Listen to
stakeholders, land owners, and land managers, and discuss your science with them.
This will also yield new questions and valuable insights, while hopefully building
understanding and appreciation among the public for science.

Communicate effectively. As is true for scientists in all fields, the next generation of landscape ecologists will be expected to communicate effectively to diverse audiences. It is not enough to communicate only within the discipline or to other specialists. Communication channels have proliferated as new media have emerged, and these multiple channels present opportunities and challenges. There are myriad ways to reach an audience, but doing so effectively and budgeting time take effort. Funding sources may diversify in the future, as well, and depend on more than just technical excellence. We must provide opportunities for students to hone their abilities to communicate effectively across multiple platforms to diverse public audiences (e.g., Baron 2010).

CONCLUSION

Landscapes are characterized by complexity, change, and scale dependencies. We remain very excited about the basic questions and applied challenges that face landscape ecologists (Table 10.1) and optimistic that significant progress will continue in the coming decades. Simple cause–effect relationships are unlikely in landscape systems, and this argues for a pluralism of approaches that embraces this complexity and recognizes the complementary roles of different research methods. Landscape ecologists must continue to learn about the causes of spatial heterogeneity in landscapes and how these patterns and their dynamics influence ecological processes. Instruction of the next generation of ecologists, resource managers, and landscape architects requires that landscape ecological principles be clearly defined and articulated. The potential contribution of landscape ecology (and landscape ecologists) to addressing the serious consequences of landscape change is enormous.

In conclusion, landscape ecology should lead the next generation of studies that take a comprehensive look at ecological dynamics in heterogeneous landscapes. The themes of landscape ecology—reciprocal interactions between pattern and process, heterogeneity, scaling, critical thresholds, and boundaries and flows have enriched the discipline of ecology. Landscape ecology should continue to refine knowledge of when spatial heterogeneity is fundamentally important in ecology (and thus the inverse, when it can be ignored), rigorously test the generality of its conceptual frameworks, and focus on developing more mechanistic understanding of the reciprocal relationships between pattern and process. We trust that this text will be a stimulus for critical and productive discussion about how spatial pattern and ecological processes interact, and we hope it provides a foundation upon which new ideas, approaches, and applications of landscape ecology can continue to build.

∼ DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

- How has landscape ecology made *unique* contributions to ecology? In what ways is landscape ecology distinct vs. integral to ecology and/or other disciplines in which you work? Explain your rationale.
- 2. Some authors have suggested that landscape ecology catalyzed a paradigm shift within ecology. Do you agree? Define "paradigm shift," then provide the rationale for your assessment.
- 3. You are the program officer in charge of \$25 million of new funds targeted for cutting-edge research in landscape ecology. Write the one-page "Request for Proposals" (RFP) that identifies the areas for which you would want to see proposals submitted.
- 4. Table 10.1 includes many different research questions that are stated in very general terms but amenable to being answered specifically in particular landscape settings. Choose 1–3 questions and translate these into answerable questions in a landscape of your choice. Develop expectations or hypotheses for each.

$~\sim~ F ~U ~R ~T ~H ~E ~R ~R ~E ~A ~D ~I ~N ~G$

- BARON N (2010) Escape from the ivory tower: a guide to making your science matter. Island Press, Washington, DC
- CHAPIN FS III, KOFINAS GP, FOLKE C (2009) Principles of ecosystem stewardship: resilience-based natural resource management in a changing world. Springer, New York

Conclusions

and Future

Directions

- LANDSCAPE
 CHERUVELIL KS, SORANNO PA, WEATHERS KC, HANSON PC, GORING SJ, FILSTRUP CT, READ EK (2014)

 ECOLOGY IN
 Creating and maintaining high-performing collaborative research teams: the importance of diversity and interpersonal skills. Front Ecol Environ 12:31–38
- THEORY AND
 GROFFMAN PM, BARON JS, BLETT T, GOLD AJ, GOODMAN I, GUNDERSON LH, LEVINSON BM, PALMER

 PRACTICE
 MA, PAERL HW, PETERSON GD, POFF NL, REJESKI DW, REYNOLDS JF, TURNER MG, WEATHERS KC, WIENS JA (2006) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental management or an important concept with no practical application? Ecosystems 9:1–13
 - TURNER MG, DONATO DC, ROMME WH (2013) Consequences of spatial heterogeneity for ecosystem services in changing forest landscapes: priorities for future research. Landsc Ecol 28:1081–1097
 - Wu JG (2013) Key concepts and research topics in landscape ecology revisited: 30 years after the Allerton Park workshop. Landsc Ecol 28:1–11

References

- Abella SR (2007) Quantifying ecosystem geomorphology of the southern Appalachian Mountains. Phys Geogr 24:488–501
- Abrams PA, Mittlebach GG, Spiller D, Yodzis P (1996) The role of indirect effects in food webs. In: Polis GA, Winemiller KO (eds) Food webs: integration of patterns and dynamics. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 371–395
- Addicott JF, Aho JM, Antolin MF, Padilla DK, Richardson JS, Soluk DA (1987) Ecological neighborhoods: scaling environmental patterns. Oikos 49:340–346
- Ahern J (1999) Spatial concepts, planning strategies, and future scenarios: a framework method for integrating landscape ecology and landscape planning. In: Klopatek JM, Gardner RH (eds) Landscape ecological analysis: issues and applications. Springer, New York, pp 175–201
- Albright TP, Anderson DP, Keuler NS, Pearson SM, Turner MG (2009) The spatial legacy of introduction: *Celastrus orbiculatus* in the southern Appalachians, USA. J Appl Ecol 46:1229–1236
- Alcamo J, van Vuuren D, Ringler C, Cramer W, Masui T, Alder J, Schulze K (2005) Changes in nature's balance sheet: model-based estimates of future worldwide ecosystem services. Ecol Soc 10(2):19, http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol10/iss2/art19/
- Allan BF, Keesing F, Ostfeld RS (2003) Effect of forest fragmentation on Lyme disease risk. Conserv Biol 17:267–272

LANDSCAPE	Allen TFH (1998) The landscape "level" is dead: persuading the family to take it off the
	respirator. In: Peterson DL, Parker VL (eds) Ecological scale. Columbia University Press,
ECOLOGY IN	New York, pp 35–54

- THEORY AND Allen TFH, Hoekstra TW (1992) Toward a unified ecology. Columbia University Press, New York
- PRACTICE

Allen CD (2007) Interactions across spatial scales among forest dieback, fire, and erosion in northern New Mexico landscapes. Ecosystems 10:797–808

- Allen TFH, Starr TB (1982) Hierarchy: perspectives for ecological complexity. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Allen CD, Macalady AK, Chenchouni H, Bachelet D, McDowell N, Vennetier M, Kitzberger T, Rigling A, Breshears DD, Hogg EH, Gonzalez P, Fensham R, Zhang Z, Castro J, Demidova N, Lim JH, Allard G, Running SW, Semerci A, Cobb N (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. For Ecol Manage 259:660–684
- Amundson R, Jenny H (1997) On a state factor model of ecosystems. Bioscience 47:536–543
- Anderson K, Wittwer G (2013) Modeling global wine markets to 2018: exchange rates, taste changes, and China's import growth. J Wine Econ 8:131–158
- Anderson JR, Hardy EE, Roach JT, Witmer RE (1976) A land use and land cover classification system for use with remote sensor data. Geological Survey professional paper 964.U.S. Government Printing Office for the U.S. Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, Washington
- Anderson DP, Turner MG, Forester JD, Zhu J, Boyce MS, Beyer HL, Stowell L (2005) Scale-dependent summer resource selection by reintroduced elk in Wisconsin, USA. J Wildl Manage 69:298–310
- Anderson DP, Turner MG, Pearson SM, Albright TP, Peet RK, Wieben A (2013) Predicting Microstegium vimineum invasion in natural plant communities of the southern Blue Ridge Mountains, USA. Biol Invasions 15:1217–1230
- Ando A, Camm J, Polasky S, Solow A (1998) Species distributions, land values, and efficient conservation. Science 279:2126–2128
- Andow DA, Kareiva PM, Levin SA, Okubo A (1990) Spread of invading organisms. Landsc Ecol 4:177–188
- Andren H (1994) Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. Oikos 71:355–366
- Andrewartha HG, Birch LC (1954) The distribution and abundance of animals. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Andruskiw M, Fryxell JM, Thompson ID, Baker JA (2008) Habitat-mediated variation in predation risk by the American marten. Ecology 89:2273–2280
- Angelini C, Altieri AH, Sillman BR, Bertness MD (2011) Interactions among foundation species and their consequences for community organization, biodiversity, and conservation. Bioscience 61:782–789
- Araújo MB, Guisan A (2006) Five (or so) challenges for species distribution modeling. J Biogeogr 33:1677–1688
- Arce-Nazario JA (2007) Human landscapes have complex trajectories: reconstructing Peruvian Amazon landscape history from 1948-2005. Landsc Ecol 22:89–101
- Arieira J, Karssenberg D, de Jong SM, Addink EA, Couto EG, da Cunha CN, Skoien JO (2011) Integrating field sampling, geostatistics and remote sensing to map wetland vegetation in the Pantanal, Brazil. Biogeosciences 8:667–686

Arrhenius O (1921) Species and area. J Ecol 9:95-99

- Asner GP, Martin RE (2008) Spectral and chemical analysis of tropical forests: scaling from leaf to canopy levels. Remote Sens Environ 112:3958–3970
- Attiwill PM (1994) The disturbance of forest ecosystems: the ecological basis for conservative management. For Ecol Manage 63:247–300
- Augustine DJ, Frank DA (2001) Effects of migratory grazers on spatial heterogeneity of soil nitrogen properties in a grassland ecosystem. Ecology 82:3149–3162
- Baddeley A, Turner R (2005) Spatstat: an R package for analyzing spatial point patterns. J Stat Softw 12:1–42
- Baguette M, Mennechez G (2004) Resource and habitat patches, landscape ecology and metapopulation biology: a consensual viewpoint. Oikos 106:399–403
- Bailey RG (2009) Ecosystem geography, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
- Baker WL (1989a) A review of models of landscape change. Landsc Ecol 2:111-131
- Baker WL (1989b) Landscape ecology and nature reserve design in the Boundary Waters Canoe Area, Minnesota. Ecology 70:23–35
- Baker WL (1989c) Effect of scale and spatial heterogeneity on fire-interval distributions. Can J Forest Res 19:700–706
- Baker WL, Cai Y (1992) The r.le programs for multiscale analysis of landscape structure using the GRASS geographical information system. Landsc Ecol 7:291–302
- Baker WL, Walford GM (1995) Multiple stable states and models of riparian vegetation succession on the Animas River, Colorado. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 85:320–338
- Baker RG, Bettis EA, Schwert DP, Horton DG, Chumbley CA, Gonzalez LA, Reagan MK (1996) Holocene paleoenvironments of northeast Iowa. Ecol Monogr 66:203–234
- Baker JP, Hulse DW, Gregory SV, White D, Van Sickle J, Berger PA, Dole D, Schumaker NH (2004) Alternative futures for the Willamette River Basin, Oregon. Ecol Appl 14: 313–324
- Balkenhol N, Gugerli F, Cushman SA, Waits LP, Coulon A, Arntzen JW, Holderegger R, Wagner HH (2009) Identifying future research needs in landscape genetics: where to from here? Landsc Ecol 24:455–463
- Baranyi G, Saura S, Podani J, Jordan F (2011) Contribution of habitat patches to network connectivity: redundancy and uniqueness of topological indices. Ecol Indic 11: 1301–1310
- Barnosky CW, Anderson PM, Bartlein PJ (1987) The northwestern U.S. during deglaciation: vegetational history and paleoclimatic implications. In: Ruddiman WF, Wright HE Jr (eds) North America and adjacent oceans during the last deglaciation, vol K-3. The Geological Society of North America, Boulder, pp 289–321
- Barnsley MF, Devaney RL, Mandelbrot BB, Peitgen HO, Saupe D, Voss RF (1988) The science of fractal image. Springer, New York
- Baron N (2010) Escape from the ivory tower: a guide to making your science matter. Island Press, Washington
- Baron JS, Hartman MD, Kittel TGF, Band LE, Ojima DS, Lammers RB (1998) Effects of land cover, water redistribution, and temperature on ecosystem processes in the South Platte Basin. Ecol Appl 8:1037–1051
- Barrell J, Grant J (2013) Detecting hot and cold spots in a seagrass landscape using local indicators of spatial association. Landsc Ecol 28:2005–2018
- Barrett K, McGuire AD, Hoy EE, Kasischke ES (2011) Potential shifts in dominant forest cover in interior Alaska driven by variations in fire severity. Ecol Appl 21:2380–2396
- Bartel RA, Haddad NM, Wright JP (2010) Ecosystem engineers maintain a rare species of butterfly and increase plant diversity. Oikos 119:883–890

References

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE	Basille M, Van Moorter B, Herfindal I, Martin J, Linnell JDC, Odden J, Andersen R, Gaillard
	J-M (2013) Selecting habitat to survive: the impact of road density on survival in a large
ECOLOGY IN	carnivore. PLoS One 8(7):e65493. doi:10.1371/journal/pone.0065493

- THEORY AND Bebi P, Kulakowski D, Veblen TT (2003) Interactions between fire and spruce beetles in a subalpine Rocky Mountain forest landscape. Ecology 84:362–371
 - Beier P, Noss R (1998) Do habitat corridors provide connectivity? Conserv Biol 12:1242–1252
 - Bélisle M (2005) Measuring landscape connectivity: the challenge of behavioral landscape ecology. Ecology 86:1988–1995
 - Bellemare J, Motzkin G, Foster DR (2002) Legacies of the agricultural past in the forested present: an assessment of historical land-use effects on rich mesic forests. J Biogeogr 29:1401–1420
 - Bellisario B, Cerfolli F, Nascetti G (2014) Climate effects on the distribution of wetland habitats and connectivity in networks of migratory waterbirds. Acta Oecol 58:5–11
 - Belshe EF, Schuur EAG, Bolker BM, Bracho R (2012) Incorporating spatial heterogeneity created by permafrost thaw into a landscape carbon estimate. J Geophys Res Biogeosci 117:G01026. doi:10.1029/2011JG001836
 - Benedetti-Cecchi L (2003) The importance of variance around the mean effect size of ecological processes. Ecology 84:2335–2346
 - Bennett EM, Carpenter SR, Clayton MK (2005) Soil phosphorus variability: scale-dependence in an urbanizing agricultural landscape. Landsc Ecol 20:389–400
 - Bennett EM, Peterson GD, Gordon LJ (2009) Understanding relationships among multiple ecosystem services. Ecol Lett 12:1394–1404
 - Bergeron Y, Dansereau PR (1993) Predicting the composition of Canadian southern boreal forest in different fire cycles. J Veg Sci 4:827–832
 - Berges L, Pellissier V, Avon C, Verheyen K, Dupouey J-L (2013) Unexpected long-range edge-to-forest interior environmental gradients. Landsc Ecol 28:439–453
 - Berland A, Shumna B, Manson SM (2011) Simulated importance of dispersal, disturbance, and landscape history in long-term ecosystem change in the Big Woods of Minnesota. Ecosystems 14:398–414
 - Bernhardt ES, Palmer MA (2007) Restoring streams in an urbanizing world. Freshw Biol 52:738–751
 - Bessie WC, Johnson EA (1995) The relative importance of fuels and weather on fire behavior in subalpine forests. Ecology 76:747–762
 - Beven K (2002) Towards a coherent philosophy for modelling the environment. Proc R Soc Math Phys Eng Sci 458:2465–2484
 - Beyer HL, Merrill EH, Varley N, Boyce MS (2007) Willow on Yellowstone's northern range: evidence for a trophic cascade? Ecol Appl 17:1563–1571
 - Billings SA, Gaydess EA (2008) Soil nitrogen and carbon dynamics in a fragmented landscape experiencing forest succession. Landsc Ecol 23:581–593
 - Bird MI, Boobyer EM, Bryant C, Lewis HA, Paz V, Stephens WE (2007) A long record of environmental change from bat guano deposits in Makangit Cave, Palawan, Philippines. Earth Environ Sci Trans R Soc Edinb 98(01):59–69
 - Birge EA, Juday C (1911) The inland lakes of Wisconsin: the dissolved gases of the water and their biological significance. Wisconsin Geological and Natural History Bulletin No. 22
 - Bishop MJ, Byers JE, Marcek BJ, Gribben PE (2012) Density-dependent facilitation cascades determine epifaunal community structure in temperate Australian mangroves. Ecology 93:1388–1401

- Bissonette JA, Storch I (eds) (2003) Landscape ecology and resource management. Island References Press, Washington
- Black AE, Morgan P, Hessburg PF (2003) Social and biophysical correlates of change in forest landscapes of the interior Columbia Basin, USA. Ecol Appl 13:51–67
- Blois JL, Zarnetske PL, Fitzpatrick MC, Finnegan S (2013) Climate change and the past, present, and future of biotic interactions. Science 341:499–504
- Boerner REJ, Kooser JG (1989) Leaf litter redistribution among forest patches within an Allegheny Plateau watershed. Landsc Ecol 2:81–92
- Bolger DT, Alberts AC, Sauvajot RM, Potenza P, McCalvin C, Tran D, Mazzoni S, Soule ME (1997) Response of rodents to habitat fragmentation in coastal southern California. Ecol Appl 7:552–563
- Bolliger J, Lander T, Balkenhol N (2014) Landscape genetics since 2003: status, challenges and future directions. Landsc Ecol 29:361–366
- Bolstad P (2012) GIS fundamentals, 4th edn. Atlas Books, Ashland
- Bolstad PV, Swank W, Vose J (1998) Predicting southern Appalachian overstory vegetation with digital terrain data. Landsc Ecol 13:271–283
- Bonan GB (2008) Forests and climate change: forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. Science 320:1444–1449
- Boose ER, Foster DR, Fluet M (1994) Hurricane impacts to tropical and temperate forest landscapes. Ecol Monogr 64:369–400
- Booth RK, Jackson ST, Sousa VA, Sullivan ME, Minckley TA, Clifford MJ (2012) Multidecadal drought and amplified moisture variability drove rapid forest community change in a humid region. Ecology 93:219–226
- Bormann FH, Likens GE (1979) Pattern and process in a forested ecosystem. Springer, New York
- Boström C, Jackson EL, Simenstad CA (2006) Seagrass landscapes and their effects on associated fauna: a review. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 68:383–403
- Botkin DB, Sobel MJ (1975) Stability in time-varying ecosystems. Am Nat 109:625-646
- Bowers MA, Matter SF, Dooley JL, Dauten JL, Simkins JA (1996) Controlled experiments of habitat fragmentation: a simple computer simulation and a test using small mammals. Oecologia 108:182–191
- Bowman DM, Balch JK, Artaxo P, Bond WJ, Carlson JM, Chchrane MA, D'Antonio CM, DeFries RS, Doyle JC, Harrison SP, Johnston FH, Keeley JE, Krawchuk MA, Kull CA, Marston JB, Moritz MA, Prentice IC, Roos CI, Scott AC, Swetnam TW, van der Werf GR, Pyne SJ (2009) Fire in the earth system. Science 324:481–484
- Bowne DR, Bowers MA (2004) Interpatch movements in spatially structured populations: a literature review. Landsc Ecol 19:1–20
- Box EO (1978) Geographical dimensions of terrestrial net and gross primary productivity. Radiat Environ Biophys 15:305–322
- Box GEP (1979) Robustness in the strategy of scientific model building. In: Launer RL, Wilkinson GN (eds) Robustness in statistics: proceedings of a workshop. Academic, New York, pp 201–236
- Boyce MS (2006) Scale for resource selection functions. Divers Distrib 12:269-276
- Boyce MS, Mao JS, Merrill EH, Fortin D, Turner MG, Fryxell J, Turchin P (2003) Scale and heterogeneity in habitat selection by elk in Yellowstone National Park. EcoScience 10: 421–431
- Boychuk D, Perera AH, Ter-Mikaelian MT, Martell DL, Li C (1997) Modeling the effect of spatial scale and correlated fire disturbances on forest age distribution. Ecol Model 95:145–164

LANDSCAPE	Boyd IL, Freer-Smith PH, Gilligan CA, Godfray HC (2013) The consequence of tree pests
	and diseases for ecosystem services. Science 342(6160):1235773. doi:10.1126/science.
ECOLOGY IN	1235773

- THEORY ANDBoynton WR, Garber JH, Summers R, Kemp WM (1995) Inputs, transformations, and
transport of nitrogen and phosphorus in Chesapeake Bay and selected tributaries.PRACTICEEstuaries 18:285–314
 - Bradford E, Philip JR (1970) Stability of steady state distributions of asocial populations dispersing in one dimension. J Theor Biol 29:13–26
 - Bradford JB, Birdsey RA, Joyce LA, Ryan MG (2008) Tree age, disturbance history, and carbon stocks and fluxes in subalpine Rocky Mountain forests. Glob Chang Biol 14:2882–2897
 - Brauman KA, Daily GC, Duarte TK, Mooney HA (2007) The nature and value of ecosystem services: an overview highlighting hydrologic services. Annu Rev Environ Resour 32: 67–98
 - Braun-Blanquet J (1932) Plant sociology, the study of plant communities (trans: Fuller GD, Conard HS). McGraw-Hill, New York
 - Breckling B, Muller F (1994) Current trends in ecological modeling and the 8th ISEM conference on the state-of-the-art. Ecol Model 75:667–675
 - Brinkerhoff RJ, Haddad NM, Orrock JL (2005) Corridors and olfactory predator cues affect small mammal behavior. J Mammal 86:662–669
 - Brock TD (1985) A eutrophic lake: Lake Mendota, Wisconsin. Springer, New York
 - Brock WA, Carpenter SR (2006) Variance as a leading indicator of regime shift in ecosystem services. Ecol Soc 11(2):9
 - Brooks HE, Carbin GW, Marsh PT (2014) Increased variability of tornado occurrence in the United States. Science 346:349–352
 - Brown CD, Boutin C (2009) Linking past land use, recent disturbance, and dispersal mechanism to forest composition. Biol Conserv 20:385–391
 - Brown CD, Johnstone JF (2011) How does increased fire frequency affect carbon loss from fire? A case study in the northern boreal forest. Int J Wildland Fire 20:829–837
 - Brown CD, Johnstone JF (2012) Once burned, twice shy: repeat fires reduce seed availability and alter substrate constraints on *Picea mariana* regeneration. For Ecol Manage 266:34-41
 - Brown JH, Kodric-Brown A (1977) Turnover rates in insular biogeography: effects of immigration on extinction. Ecology 58:445–449
 - Brown MT, Vivas MB (2005) Landscape development intensity index. Environ Monit Assess 101:289–309
 - Brown JS, Laundré JW, Gurling M (1999) The ecology of fear: optimal foraging, game theory, and trophic interactions. J Mammal 80:385–399
 - Brown DG, Johnson KM, Loveland TR, Theobald DM (2005) Rural land-use trends in the conterminous United States, 1950-2000. Ecol Appl 15:1851–1863
 - Brown DG, Verburg PH, Pontius RG Jr, Lange MD (2013) Opportunities to improve impact, integration, and evaluation of land change models. Curr Opin Environ Sustain 5: 452–457
 - Brownstein JS, Skelly DK, Holford TR, Fish D (2005) Forest fragmentation predicts local scale heterogeneity of Lyme disease risk. Oecologia 146:469–475
 - Brudvig LA, Damschen EI (2011) Land-use history, historical connectivity, and land management interact to determine longleaf pine woodland understory richness and composition. Ecography 34:257–266

- Bruinderink GG, Van Der Sluis T, Lammertsma D, Opdam P, Pouwels R (2003) Designing a coherent ecological network for large mammals in northwestern Europe. Conserv Biol 17:549–557
- Brush GS (1984) Patterns of recent sediment accumulation in Chesapeake Bay (Virginia-Maryland, USA) tributaries. Chem Geol 44:227–242
- Brush GS (1986) Geology and paleoecology of the Chesapeake Bay: a long-term monitoring tool for management. J Wash Acad Sci 76(3):146–160
- Brush GS (1989) Rates and patterns of estuarine sediment accumulation. Limnol Oceanogr 34:1235–1246
- Brush GS (1997) History and impact of human activities on the Chesapeake Bay. In: Simpson RD, Christensen NL (eds) Ecosystem function and human activities. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 125–145
- Bryan BA, Crossman ND, King D, Meyer WS (2011) Landscape futures analysis: assessing the impacts of environmental targets under alternative spatial policy options and future scenarios. Environ Model Software 26:83–91
- Buffam I, Turner MG, Desai A, Hanson PJ, Rusak J, Lottig N, Carpenter SR (2011) Integrating aquatic and terrestrial components to construct a complete carbon budget for a north temperate lake district. Glob Chang Biol 17:1193–1211
- Bump JK, Peterson RO, Vucetich JA (2009a) Wolves modulate soil nutrient heterogeneity and foliar nitrogen by configuring the distribution of ungulate carcasses. Ecology 90: 3159–3167
- Bump JK, Webster CR, Vucetich JA, Peterson RO, Shields JM, Powers MD (2009b) Ungulate carcasses perforate ecological filters and create biogeochemical hotspots in forest herbaceious layers allowing trees a competitive advantage. Ecosystems 12:996–1007
- Bunn AG, Urban DL, Keitt TH (2000) Landscape connectivity: a conservation application of graph theory. J Environ Manage 59:265–278
- Burcher CL, Valett HM, Benfield EF (2007) The land-cover cascade: relationships coupling land and water. Ecology 88:228–242
- Burgan RE, Hartford RA (1988) Computer mapping of fire danger and fire locations in the continental United States. J For 86:25–30
- Burgess RL, Sharpe DM (eds) (1981) Forest island dynamics in man-dominated landscapes. Springer, New York
- Burrows SN, Gower ST, Clayton MK, Mackay DS, Ahl DE, Norman JM, Diak G (2002) Application of geostatistics to characterize leaf area index (LAI) from flux tower to landscape scales using a cyclic sampling design. Ecosystems 5:667–679
- Bürgi M, Turner MG (2002) Factors and processes shaping land cover and land cover changes along the Wisconsin River, USA. Ecosystems 5:184–201
- Bürgi M, Hersperger AM, Schneeberger N (2004) Driving forces of landscape change—current and new directions. Landsc Ecol 19:857–868
- Burke IC, Schimel DS, Parton WJ, Yonker CM, Joyce LA, Lauenroth WK (1990) Regional modeling of grassland biogeochemistry using GIS. Landsc Ecol 4:45–54
- Burke IC, Kittel TGF, Lauenroth WK, Snook P, Yonker CM, Parto WJ (1991) Regional analysis of the central great plains. Bioscience 41:685–692
- Burke IC, Lauenroth WK, Riggle R, Brannen P, Madigan B, Beard S (1999) Spatial variability of soil properties in the shortgrass steppe: the relative importance of topography, grazing, microsite, and plant species in controlling spatial patterns. Ecosystems 2:422–438
- Burkey TV (1989) Extinction in nature reserves: the effect of fragmentation and the importance of migration between reserve fragments. Oikos 55:75–81

- LANDSCAPE Burnicki AC (2012) Impact of error on landscape pattern analyses performed on land-cover change maps. Landsc Ecol 27:713–729
- ECOLOGY IN
 Burrough PA (1986) Principles of geographic information systems for land resources assessment. Oxford University Press, Oxford

 THEORY AND
 Theory and the system of t
- PRACTICE Busing RT, White RD, Harmon ME, White PS (2009) Hurricane disturbance in a temperate deciduous forest: patch dynamics, tree mortality, and coarse woody detritus. Plant Ecol 201:351–363
 - Cain DH, Riitters K, Orvis K (1997) A multi-scale analysis of landscape statistics. Landsc Ecol 12:199–211
 - Cain ML, Subler S, Evans JP, Fortin M-J (1999) Sampling spatial and temporal variation in soil nitrogen availability. Oecologia 118:397–404
 - Calabrese JM, Fagan WF (2004) A comparison-shopper's guide to connectivity metrics. Front Ecol Environ 2:529–536
 - Calef MP, McGuire AD, Chapin FS III (2008) Human influences on wildfire in Alaska from 1988 through 2005: an analysis of the spatial patterns of human impacts. Earth Interact 12:1–17. doi:10.1175/2007E1220.1
 - Campbell JB (2006) Introduction to remote sensing. Guilford Press, New York
 - Campbell JL, Harmon ME, Mitchell SR (2012) Can fuel-reduction treatments really increase forest carbon storage in the western US by reducing future fire emissions? Front Ecol Environ 10:83–90
 - Campbell ID, McAndrews JH (1993) Forest disequilibrium caused by rapid Little Ice Age cooling. Nature 334:233–235
 - Canham CD, Cole JJ, Lauenroth WK (eds) (2003) Models in ecosystem science. Princeton University Press, Princeton
 - Cardille JA, Lambois M (2010) From the redwood forest to the Gulf Stream waters: human signature nearly ubiquitous in representative US landscapes. Front Ecol Environ 11:111–127
 - Cardille JA, Bolgrien DW, Wynne RH, Chipman JW (1996) Variation in landscape metrics derived from multiple independent classifications. In: Proceedings, eco-informa '96: global networks for environmental information. Environmental Research Institute of Michigan, Ann Arbor, pp 749–754
 - Cardille JA, Ventura SJ, Turner MG (2001) Environmental and social factors influencing wildfires in the upper Midwest, USA. Ecol Appl 11:111–127
 - Cardille JA, Turner MG, Clayton M, Price S, Gergel SE (2005) METALAND: characterizing spatial patterns and statistical context of landscape metrics. Bioscience 55:983–988
 - Carlile DW, Skalski JR, Batker JE, Thomas JM, Cullinan VI (1989) Determination of ecological scale. Landsc Ecol 2:203–213
 - Carlquist S (1974) Island biology. Columbia University Press, New York
 - Carpenter SR (1998) Ecosystem ecology. In: Dodson SI (ed) Ecology. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 123–162
 - Carpenter SR, Turner MG (1998) At last: a journal devoted to ecosystem science. Ecosystems 1:1–5
 - Carpenter SR, Kitchell JF, Hodgson JR (1985) Cascading trophic interactions and lake productivity. Bioscience 35:634–639
 - Carpenter SR, Frost T, Persson L, Power M, Soto D (1995) Chapter 12: Freshwater ecosystems: linkages of complexity and processes. In: Mooney HA (ed) Functional roles of biodiversity: a global perspective. Wiley, New York

- Carpenter SR, Caraco NF, Correll DL, Howarth RW, Sharpley AN, Smith VH (1998) References Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecol Appl 8: 559-568
- Carpenter SR, Ludwig D, Brock WA (1999) Management of eutrophication for lakes subject to potentially irreversible change. Ecol Appl 9:751–771
- Carpenter SR, Benson BJ, Biggs R, Chipman JW, Foley JA, Golding SA, Hammer RB, Hanson PC, Johnson PTJ, Kamarainen AM, Kratz TK, Lathrop RC, McMahon KD, Provencher B, Rusak JA, Solomon CT, Stanley EH, Turner MG, Vander Zanden MJ, Wu C-H, Yuan H (2007) Understanding regional change: comparison of two lake districts. Bioscience 57:323–335
- Carpenter SR, Mooney HA, Agard J, Capistrano D, DeFries R, Diaz S, Dietz T, Duriappah A, Oteng-Yeboah A, Pereira HM, Perrings C, Reid WV, Sarukhan J, Scholes RJ, Whyte A (2009) Science for managing ecosystem services: beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:1305–1312
- Carter GA (1998) Reflectance wavebands and indices for remote estimation of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance in pine canopies. Remote Sens Environ 63:61–72
- Castello JD, Leopold DJ, Smallidge PJ (1995) Pathogens, patterns, and processes in forest ecosystems. Bioscience 45:16–24
- Caswell H (1976) Community structure: a neutral model analysis. Ecol Monogr 46: 327–354
- Caswell H, Cohen JE (1995) Red, white and blue: environmental variance spectra and coexistence in metapopulations. J Theor Biol 176:301–316
- Cattarino L, McAlpine CA, Rhodes JR (2014) Land-use drivers of forest fragmentation vary with spatial scale. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 23:1215–1224
- Chapin FS III, Torn MS, Tateno M (1996) Principles of ecosystem sustainability. Am Nat 148:1016–1037
- Chapin FS III, Woodwell GM, Randerson JT, Rastetter EB, Lovett GM, Baldocchi DD, Clark DA, Harmon ME, Schimen DS, Valentini R et al (2006) Reconciling carbon-cycle concepts, terminology, and methods. Ecosystems 9:1041–1050
- Chapin FS III, Trainor SF, Huntington O, Lovecraft AL, Zavaleta E, Natcher DC, McGuire AD, Nelson JL, Ray L, Calef M, Fresco N, Huntington H, Rupp TS, Dewilde L, Naylo R (2008) Increasing wildfire in Alaska's boreal forest: pathways to potential solutions of a wicked problem. Bioscience 58:531–540
- Chapin FS III, Carpenter SR, Kofinas GP, Folke C, Abel N, Clark WC, Olsson P, Stafford Smith DM, Walker B, Young OR, Berkes F, Biggs R, Grove JM, Naylor RL, Pinkerton E, Steffen W, Swanson FJ (2009a) Ecosystem stewardship: sustainability strategies for a rapidly changing planet. Trends Ecol Evol 25:241–249
- Chapin FS III, Kofinas GP, Folke C (2009b) Principles of ecosystem stewardship: resiliencebased natural resource management in a changing world. Springer, New York
- Chapin FS III, Matson PA, Vitousek PM (2012) Principles of terrestrial ecosystem ecology. Springer, New York
- Chaplin-Kramer R, O'Rourke ME, Blitzer EJ, Kremen C (2011) A meta-analysis of crop pest and natural enemy response to landscape complexity. Ecol Lett 14:922–932
- Chave J, Norden N (2007) Changes of species diversity in a simulated fragmented neutral landscape. Ecol Model 207:3–10
- Chen I-C, Hill JK, Ohlemuller R, Roy DB, Thomas CD (2011) Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333:1024–1026

- LANDSCAPECheruvelil KS, Soranno PA, Webster KE, Bremigan MT (2013) Multi-scaled drivers of eco-
system state: quantifying the important of the regional spatial scale. Ecol Appl 23:
1603–1618
- THEORY ANDCheruvelil KS, Soranno PA, Weathers KC, Hanson PC, Goring SJ, Filstrup CT, Read EK
(2014) Creating and maintaining high-performing collaborative research teams: the
importance of diversity and interpersonal skills. Front Ecol Environ 12:31–38
 - Chetkiewicz C-LB, St. Clair CC, Boyce MS (2006) Corridors for conservation: integrating pattern and process. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:317–342
 - Chipman JW, Lillesand TM, Schmaltz JE, Leale JE, Nordheim MJ (2004) Mapping lake water clarity with Landsat images in Wisconsin, USA. Can J Remote Sens 30:1–7
 - Chou YH, Minnich RA, Chase RA (1993) Mapping probability of fire occurrence in San Jacinto Mountains, California, USA. Environ Manage 17:129–140
 - Christen DC, Matlack GR (2009) The habitat and conduit functions of roads in the spread of three invasive plant species. Biol Invasions 11:453–465
 - Christensen NL (2014) An historical perspective on forest succession and its relevance to ecosystem restoration and conservation practice in North America. For Ecol Manage 330:312–322
 - Christensen NL, Agee JK, Brussard PF, Hughes J, Knight DH, Minshall GW, Peek JM, Pyne SJ, Swanson FJ, Thomas JW, Wells S, Williams SE, Wright HA (1989) Interpreting the Yellowstone fires of 1988. Bioscience 39:678–685
 - Christensen NL, Bartuska AM, Brown JH, Carpenter SR, D'Antonio C, Francis R, Franklin JF, MacMahon JA, Noss RF, Parsons DJ, Peterson CH, Turner MG, Woodmansee RG (1996) The scientific basis for ecosystem management. Ecol Appl 6:665–691
 - Churkina G, Brown DG, Keoleian G (2010) Carbon stored in human settlements: the conterminous United States. Glob Chang Biol 16:135–143
 - Cilliers SS, Williams NSG, Barnard FJ (2008) Patterns of exotic plant invasions in fragmented urban and rural grasslands across continents. Landsc Ecol 23:1243–1256
 - Cirmo CP, McDonnell JJ (1997) Linking the hydrologic and biogeochemical controls of nitrogen transport in near-stream zones of temperate forested catchments: a review. J Hydrol 199:88–120
 - Cissel JH, Swanson FJ, McKee WA, Burdigg AL (1994) Using the past to plan the future in the Pacific Northwest. J For 92:46
 - Clark WC (1980) Witches, floods, and wonder drugs, R-22. Institute of Resource Ecology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver
 - Clark JS (1988) Effect of climate change on fire regimes in northwestern Minnesota. Nature 334:233–235
 - Clark JS (1989) Ecological disturbance as a renewal process: theory and application to fire history. Oikos 56:17–30
 - Clark JS (1990) Fire and climate change during the last 750 years in northwestern Minnesota. Ecol Monogr 60:135–159
 - Clark PJ, Evans FC (1954) Distance to nearest neighbour as a measure of spatial relationships in populations. Ecology 35:445–453
 - Clark WC, Jones DD, Holling CS (1978) Patches, movements, and population dynamics in ecological systems: a terrestrial perspective. In: Steele JS (ed) Spatial pattern in plankton communities. Plenum Press, New York, pp 105–126
 - Clark WC, Jones DD, Holling CS (1979) Lessons for ecological policy design: a case study of ecosystem management. Ecol Model 7:1–53
 - Clark JS, Fastie C, Hurtt G, Jackson ST, Johnson C, King GA, Lewis M, Lynch J, Pacala S, Prentice C, Schupp EW, Webb T, Wyckoff P (1998) Reid's paradox of rapid plant migra-

tion: dispersal theory and interpretation of paleoecological records. Bioscience 48: *References* 13-24

- Clements FE (1915) Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation. Carnegie Institute of Washington, Washington. 512 p
- Cohen AE, Gonzalez A, Lawton JH, Petchey OL, Wildman D, Cohen JE (1998) A novel experimental apparatus to study the impact of white noise and 1/f noise on animal populations. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 265:11–15

Cole LC (1951) Population cycles and random oscillations. J Wildl Manage 15:233–252

- Cole LC (1954) Some features of random cycles. J Wildl Manage 18:107-109
- Cole JJ, Peierls CL, Caraco NF, Pace ML (1993) Nitrogen loading of rivers as a humandriven process. In: McDonnell MJ, Pickett STA (eds) Humans as components of ecosystems. Springer, New York, pp 141–157
- Collinge SK (2000) Effects of grassland fragmentation on insect species loss, colonization, and movement patterns. Ecology 81:2211–2226
- Collinge SK (2009) Ecology of fragmented landscapes. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore
- Collins SL, Knapp AK, Briggs JM, Blair JM, Steinhauer EM (1998) Modulation of diversity by grazing and mowing in native tallgrass prairie. Science 280:745–747
- Collins BM, Kelly M, van Wagtendonk JW, Stephens SL (2007) Spatial patterns of large natural fires in Sierra Nevada wilderness areas. Landsc Ecol 22:545–557
- Comins HN, Blatt DWE (1974) Pre-predation models in spatially heterogeneous environments. J Theor Biol 48:75-83
- Connell JH, Slatyer RO (1977) Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. Am Nat 111:1119–1144
- Connell JH, Sousa WP (1983) On the evidence needed to judge ecological stability or persistence. Am Nat 121:789–824
- Cooper WS (1913) The climax forest of Isle Royale, Lake Superior, and its development. I. Bot Gaz 55:1–44
- Coops NC, Waring RC (2011) Estimating the vulnerability of fifteen tree species under changing climate in northwest North America. Ecol Model 222:2119–2129
- Coops NC, Gillanders SN, Wulder MA, Gergel SE, Nelson T, Goodwin NR (2010) Assessing changes in forest fragmentation following infestation using time series Landsat imagery. For Ecol Manage 259:2355–2365
- Corlett RT, Westcott DA (2013) Will plant movements keep up with climate change? Trends Ecol Evol 28:482–488
- Correll DL, Jordan TE, Weller DE (1992) Nutrient flux in a landscape: effects of coastal land use and terrestrial community mosaic on nutrient transport to coastal waters. Estuaries 15:431–442
- Costanza R, Voinov A (2004) Landscape simulation modeling: a spatially explicit, dynamic approach. Springer, New York
- Coulson RN, Lovelady CN, Flamm RO, Spradling SL, Saunders MC (1991) Intelligent geographic information systems for natural resource management. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 77–103, 153–172
- Courbin N, Fortin D, Dussault C, Courtois R (2009) Landscape management for woodland caribou: the protection of forest blocks influences wolf-caribou co-occurrence. Landsc Ecol 24:1375–1388
- Craig LS, Palmer MA, Richardson DC, Filoso S, Bernhardt ES, Bledsoe BP, Doyle MW, Groffman PM, Hassett BA, Kaushal SS, Mayer PM, Smith SM, Wilcock PR (2008)

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPE Stream restoration strategies for reducing river nitrogen loads. Front Ecol Environ 6:529-538
- ECOLOGY IN Crawley MJ (2007) The R book. Wiley, Chichester
- THEORY AND Creel S, Christianson D (2009) Wolf presence and increased willow consumption by Yellowstone elk: implications for trophic cascades. Ecology 90:2454–2466
 - Creel S, Winnie J, Maxwell B, Hamlin K, Creel M (2005) Elk alter habitat selection as an antipredator response to wolves. Ecology 86:3387–3397
 - Cressie NAC (1991) Statistics for spatial data. Wiley, New York
 - Criminale WO, Winter DF (1974) The stability of steady-state depth distributions of marine phytoplankton. Am Nat 108:679–687
 - Crimmins MA, Comrie AC (2004) Interactions between antecedent climate and wildfire variability across southeastern Arizona. Int J Wildland Fire 13:455–466
 - Crimmins SM, Dobrowski SZ, Greenberg JA, Abatzoglou JT, Mynsberge AR (2011) Changes in climatic water balance drive downhill shifts in plant species' optimum elevations. Science 331:324–327
 - Crk T, Uriarte M, Corsi F, Flynn D (2009) Forest recovery in a tropical landscape: what is the relative importance of biophysical, socioeconomic, and landscape variables? Landsc Ecol 24:629–642
 - Cronin TM, Schneider CE (1990) Climatic influences on species: evidence from the fossil record. Trends Ecol Evol 5:275–279
 - Cronon W (1982) Changes in the land. Yale University Press, New Haven
 - Crowley TJ, Kim KY (1994) Milankovitch forcing of the last interglacial sea level. Science 265:1566–1568
 - Culver DC (1970) Analysis of simple cave communities. I. Caves as islands. Evolution 29:463-474
 - Cumming GS (2007) Global biodiversity scenarios and landscape ecology. Landsc Ecol 22:671-685
 - Cumming GS (2011) Spatial resilience: integrating landscape ecology, resilience and sustainability. Landsc Ecol 26:899–909
 - Cumming GS, Allen CR, Ban NC, Biggs D, Biggs HC, Cumming DHM, De Vos A, Epstein G, Etienne M, Maciejewski K, Mathevet R, Moore C, Nenadovic M, Schoon M (2014) Understanding protected area resilience: a multi-scale social-ecological approach. Ecol Appl 25:299–319. doi:10.1890/13-2113.1
 - Currie WS, Nadelhoffer KJ (2002) The imprint of land-use history: patterns of carbon and nitrogen in downed woody debris at the Harvard Forest. Ecosystems 5:446–460
 - Curtis JT (1956) The modification of mid-latitude grasslands and forests by man. In: Thomas WL (ed) Man's role in changing the race of the earth. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp 721–736
 - Curtis JT (1959) The vegetation of Wisconsin. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison
 - Cushman SA, Lewis JS (2010) Movement behavior explains genetic differentiation in American black bears. Landsc Ecol 25:1613–1625
 - Cushman SA, McGarigal K (2004) Hierarchical, multi-scale decomposition of species-environment relations. Landsc Ecol 17:636–646
 - Cushman SA, McKelvey KS, Hayden J, Schwartz MK (2006) Gene flow in complex landscapes: testing multiple hypotheses with causal modeling. Am Nat 168:486–499
 - Cushman SA, McGarigal K, Neel MC (2008) Parsimony in landscape metrics: strength, universality and consistency. Ecol Indic 8:691–703
 - Cwynar LC (1987) Fire and the forest history of the North Cascade Range. Ecology 68: 791–802

- da Silva JM, Uhl C, Murray G (1996) Plant succession, landscape management, and the *References* ecology of frugivorous birds in abandoned Amazonian pastures. Conserv Biol 10:491-503
- Daily GC (1997) Nature's services. Island Press, Washington
- Daily GC, Matson PA (2008) Ecosystem services: from theory to implementation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:9455–9456
- Daily GC, Polasky S, Goldstein J, Kareiva PM, Mooney HA, Pejchar L, Ricketts TH, Salzman J, Shallenberger R (2009) Ecosystem services in decision making: time to deliver. Front Ecol Environ 7:21–28
- Dale MRT, Zbigniewicz MW (1995) The evaluation of multi-species pattern. J Veg Sci 6:391-398
- Dale VH, Brown S, Haeuber R, Hobbs NT, Huntly N, Naiman RJ, Riebsame WE, Turner MG, Valone T (2000) Ecological principles and guidelines for managing the use of land. Ecol Appl 10:639–670
- Dale VH, Kline KL, Wright LL, Perlack RD, Downing M, Graham RL (2011) Interactions among bioenergy feedstock choices, landscape dynamics, and land use. Ecol Appl 21:1039–1054
- Damschen EI (2013) Landscape corridors. In: Levin S (senior ed) Encyclopedia of biodiversity, 2nd edn. Academic, San Diego
- Damschen EI, Haddad NM, Orrock JL, Tewksbury JJ, Levey DJ (2006) Corridors increase plant species richness at large scales. Science 313:1284–1286
- Damschen EI, Brudvig LA, Haddad NM, Orrock JL, Tewksbury JJ, Levey DJ (2008) The movement ecology and dynamics of plant communities in fragmented landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:19078–19083
- Damschen EI, Harrison S, Ackerly DD, Fernandez-Going BM, Anacker BL (2012) Endemic plant communities on special soils: early victims or hardy survivors of climate change? J Ecol 100:1122–1130
- Danell K, Berteaux D, Brathen KA (2002) Effect of muskox carcasses on nitrogen concentration in tundra vegetation. Arctic 55:389–392
- Dankers R, Feyen L (2009) Flood hazard in Europe in an ensemble of regional climate scenarios. J Geophys Res Atmos 114. doi:10/1029/2008JD011523
- Davies KW, Svejcar TJ, Bates JD (2009) Interaction of historical and nonhistorical disturbances maintains native plant communities. Ecol Appl 19:1536–1545
- Davis MB (1983) Quaternary history of deciduous forests of eastern North America and Europe. Ann Mo Bot Gard 70:550–563
- Davis MB, Shaw RG (2001) Range shifts and adaptive responses to Quaternary climate change. Science 292:673–679
- Dayton PK (1972) Toward an understanding of community resilience and the potential effects of enrichments to the benthos at McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. In: Parker BC (ed) Proceedings of the colloquium on conservation problems in Antarctica. Allen Press, Lawrence, pp 81–95
- De Jager NR, Pastor J (2009) Declines in moose population density at Isle Royle National Park, MI, USA and accompanied changes in landscape patterns. Landsc Ecol 24: 1389–1403
- DeAngelis DL, Waterhouse JC (1987) Equilibrium and nonequilibrium concepts in ecological models. Ecol Monogr 57:1–21
- Debinski DM, Holt RD (2000) A survey and overview of habitat fragmentation experiments. Conserv Biol 14:342–355

LANDSCAPE	DeFries RS, Eshleman KN (2004) Land-use change and hydrologic processes: a major focus
	for the future. Hydrol Process 18:2183–2186

- ECOLOGY INDeFries RS, Foley JA, Asner GP (2004) Land-use choices: balancing human needs and eco-
system function. Front Ecol Environ 2:249–257THEORY ANDTHEORY AND
- PRACTICE Delcourt HR (1987) The impact of prehistoric agriculture and land occupation on natural vegetation. Trends Ecol Evol 2:39–44
 - Delcourt HR, Delcourt PA (1987) Long-term forest dynamics of the temperate zone. Springer, New York
 - Delcourt HR, Delcourt PA (1991) Quaternary ecology. Chapman and Hall, New York
 - Delcourt PA, Delcourt HR (1996) Quaternary paleoecology of the Lower Mississippi Valley. Eng Geol 45:219–242
 - Delcourt HR, Harris WF (1980) Carbon budget of the southeastern US biota: analysis of historical change in trend from source to sink. Science 210:321–323
 - Delcourt HR, Delcourt PA, Webb T (1983) Dynamic plant ecology: the spectrum of vegetational change in space and time. Quat Sci Rev 1:153–175
 - Delong SC, Tanner D (1996) Managing the pattern of forest harvest: lessons from wildfire. Biodivers Conserv 5:1191–1205
 - DeLuca TH, Aplet GH (2008) Charcoal and carbon storage in forest soils of the Rocky Mountain West. Front Ecol Environ 6:18–24
 - DeLuca TH, MacKenzie MD, Gundale MJ, Holben WE (2006) Wildfire-produced charcoal directly influences nitrogen cycling in forest ecosystems. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:448-453
 - Denevan WM (1992) The pristine myth: the landscape of the Americas in 1492. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 82:369–385
 - Denslow JD (1980a) Gap partitioning among tropical trees. Biotropica 12(Suppl):47-55
 - Denslow JD (1980b) Patterns of plant species diversity during succession under different disturbance regimes. Oecologia 46:18–21
 - Denslow JS (1987) Tropical rain forest gaps and tree species diversity. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 18:431–451
 - Derose RJ, Long JN (2009) Wildfire and spruce beetle outbreak: simulation of interacting disturbances in the central Rocky Mountains. Ecoscience 16:28–38
 - Despommier D, Ellis BR, Wilcox BA (2007) The role of ecotones in emerging infectious diseases. Ecohealth 3:281–289
 - Detenbeck N, Johnston CA, Niemi G (1993) Wetland effects on lake water quality in the Minneapolis/St. Paul metropolitan area. Landsc Ecol 8:39–61
 - Deutsch CV, Journel AG (1998) GSLIB: geostatistical software library and user's guide. Oxford University Press, New York
 - Diamond JM (1972) Biogeographic kinetics: estimation of relaxation times for avifauna of southwestern Pacific Islands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 69:3199–3203
 - Diamond JM, May RM (1976) Island biogeography and the design of natural reserves. In: Diamond J, Case TJ (eds) Theoretical ecology: principles and applications. Harper and Row, New York, pp 163–186
 - Dias PC (1996) Sources and sinks in population biology. Trends Ecol Environ 11:326-329
 - Diaz H, Markgraf V (eds) (2000) El Nino and the southern oscillation: multiscale variability and global and regional impacts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
 - Diffenbaugh NS, Field CB (2013) Changes in ecologically critical terrestrial climate conditions. Science 341:486–492
 - Diffenbaugh NS, White MA, Jones GV, Ashfaq M (2011) Climate adaptation wedges: a case study of premium wine in the western United States. Environ Res Lett 6:024024. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/6/2/024024

Diggle PJ (2003) Statistical analysis of spatial point patterns, 2nd edn. Arnold, London

- Dixon MD, Turner MG, Jin C (2002) Distribution of riparian tree seedlings on Wisconsin River sandbars: controls at different spatial scales. Ecol Monogr 72:465–485
- Dobzhansky T, Wright S (1947) Genetics of natural populations. XV. Rate of diffusion of a mutant gene through a population of *Drosophila pseudoobscura*. Genetics 31:303–324
- Dodds WK (2006) Nutrients and the "dead zone": the link between nutrient ratios and dissolved oxygen in the northern Gulf of Mexico. Front Ecol Environ 4:211–217
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Campbell JL, Robinson WD, Kauffman JB, Law BE (2009) Conifer regeneration in stand-replacement portions of a large mixed-severity wildfire in the Klamath-Siskiyou Mountains. Can J Forest Res 39:823–838
- Donato DC, Kauffman JB, Kurnianto S, Stidham M, Murdiyarso D (2011) Mangroves among the most carbon-rich forests in the tropics. Nat Geosci 4:293–297
- Donato DC, Campbell JL, Franklin JF (2012) Multiple successional pathways and precocity in forest development: can some forests be born complex? J Veg Sci 23:576–584
- Donato DC, Harvey BJ, Simard M, Romme WH, Turner MG (2013) Bark beetle effects on fuel profiles across a range of stand structures in Douglas-fir forests of Greater Yellowstone, USA. Ecol Appl 23:3–20
- Dormann CF, Schweiger O, Augenstein I et al (2007) Effects of landscape structure and land-use intensity on similarity of plant and animal communities. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 16:774–787
- Dreyer J, Hoekman D, Gratton C (2012) Lake-derived midges increase abundance of shoreline terrestrial arthropods via multiple trophic pathways. Oikos 121:252–258
- Drury KLS, Rothlisberger JD (2008) Offense and defense in landscape-level invasion control. Oikos 117:182–190
- Duan SW, Kaushal SS, Groffman PM, Band LE, Belt KT (2012) Phosphorus export across an urban to rural gradient in the Chesapeake Bay watershed. J Geophys Res Biogeosci 117:G01025. doi:10.1029/2011JG001782
- Dubois DM (1975) A model of patchiness for prey-predator plankton populations. Ecol Model 1:67–80
- Duncan DH, Dorrough J, White M, Moxham C (2008) Blowing in the wind? Nutrient enrichment of remnant woodlands in an agricultural landscape. Landsc Ecol 23:107–119
- Dunning JB, Danielson BJ, Pulliam HR (1992) Ecological processes that affect populations in complex landscapes. Oikos 65:169–175
- Dunwiddie PW (1986) A 6000-year record of forest history on Mount Rainier, Washington. Ecology 67:58–68
- Dupouey JL, Dambrine E, Laffite JD, Moares C (2002) Irreversible impact of past land use on forest soils and biodiversity. Ecology 83:2978–2984
- Dyer JM, Baird PR (1997) Wind disturbance in remnant forest stands along the prairieforest ecotone, Minnesota, USA. Plant Ecol 129:121–134
- Eckert AJ, Bower AD, Wegrzyn JL, Pande B, Jermstad KD, Krutovsky KV, St. Clair JB, Neale DB (2009) Association genetics of coastal Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* var. *menziesii*, Pinaceae). I. Cold-hardiness related traits. Genetics 182:1289–1302
- Edelstein-Keshet L (1986) Mathematical models in biology. Random House, New York
- Egerton FN (1973) Changing concepts of the balance of nature. Q Rev Biol 48:322-350
- Eigenbrod F, Armsworth PR, Anderson BJ, Heinemeyer A, Gillings S, Roy DB, Thomas CD, Gaston KJ (2010) The impact of proxy-based methods on mapping the distribution of ecosystem services. J Appl Ecol 47:377–385
- Eigenbrod F, Hecnar SJ, Fahrig L (2011a) Sub-optimal study design has major impacts on landscape-scale inference. Biol Conserv 144:298–305

References

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE	Eigenbrod F, Bell VA, Davies HN, Heinemeyer A, Armsworth PR, Gaston KJ (2011b) The
	impact of projected increases in urbanization on ecosystem services. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci
ECOLOGY IN	278:3201–3208

THEORY AND Ellis EC, Ramanukutty N (2008) Putting people in the map: anthropogenic biomes of the world. Front Ecol Environ 6:439–447

- Ellis EC, Neerchal N, Peng K, Xiao HS, Wang H, Zhuang Y, Li SC, Wu JX, Jiao JG, Ouyang H, Cheng X, Yang LZ (2009) Estimating long-term changes in China's village landscapes. Ecosystems 12:279–297
 - Ellis AM, Váckavík T, Meentemeyer RK (2010a) When is connectivity important? A case study of the spatial pattern of sudden oak death. Oikos 119:485–493
 - Ellis EC, Goldewijk KK, Siebert S, Lightman D, Ramankutty N (2010b) Anthropogenic transformation of the biomes, 1700 to 2000. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 19:589–606
 - Ellison AM, Bank MS, Clinton BD et al (2005) Loss of foundation species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. Front Ecol Environ 3:479–486
 - Elmore AJ, Kaushal SS (2008) Disappearing headwaters: patterns of stream burial due to urbanization. Front Ecol Environ 6:308–312
 - Elton CS (1958) The ecology of invasions by animals and plants. Methuen, London
 - Emanuel RE, Riveros-Iregui DA, McGlynn BL, Epstein HE (2011) On the spatial heterogeneity of net ecosystem productivity in complex landscapes. Ecosphere 2(7):art86
 - Ernoult A, Freire-Diaz S, Langlois E, Alard D (2006) Are similar landscapes the results of similar histories? Landsc Ecol 21:631–639
 - Eschtruth AK, Battles JJ (2009) Assessing the relative importance of disturbance, herbivory, diversity, and propagule pressure in exotic plant invasion. Ecol Monogr 79:265–280
 - Everson DA, Boucher DH (1998) Tree species-richness and topographic complexity along the riparian edge of the Potomac River. For Ecol Manage 109:305–314
 - Ewers RM, Didham RK, Fahrig L, Ferraz G, Hector A, Holt RD, Kaos V, Reynolds G, Sinun W, Snaddon JL, Turner EC (2011) A large-scale forest fragmentation experiment: the Stability of Altered Forest Ecosystems Project. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366:3292–3302
 - Fabos JG (1985) Land-use planning: from global to local challenge. Chapman and Hall, New York
 - Fagan WE, Cantrell RS, Cosner C (1999) How habitat edges change species interactions. Am Nat 153:165–182
 - Fahrig L (1997) Relative effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on population extinction. J Wildl Manage 61:603–610
 - Fahrig L (2003) Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 34:487–515
 - Fahrig L, Nuttle WK (2005) Population ecology in spatially heterogeneous environments. In: Lovett GM, Jones CG, Turner MG, Weathers KC (eds) Ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes. Springer, New York, pp 95–118
 - Fahrig L, Baudry J, Brotons L, Burel FG, Crist TO, Fuller RJ, Sirami C, Siriwardena GM, Martin J-L (2011) Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Ecol Lett 14:101–112
 - Fall A, Fortin M-J, Manseau M, O'Brien D (2007) Spatial graphs: principles and applications for habitat connectivity. Ecosystems 10:448–461
 - Fargione JE, Cooper TR, Flaspohler DJ, Hill J, Lehman C, McCoy T, McLeod S, Nelson EJ, Oberhauser KS, Tilman D (2009) Bioenergy and wildlife: threats and opportunities for grassland conservation. Bioscience 59:767–777
 - Farina A (2006) Principles and methods in landscape ecology. Springer, Dordrecht

Fastie CL (1995) Causes and ecosystem consequences of multiple pathways of primary succession at Glacier Bay, Alaska. Ecology 76:1899–1916

- Fauchald P, Erikstad KE, Skarsfjord H (2000) Scale-dependent predator-prey interactions: the hierarchical spatial distribution of seabirds and prey. Ecology 81:773–783
- Feddema JJ, Oleson KW, Bonan GB, Mearns LO, Buja LE, Meehl GA, Washington WM (2005) The importance of land-cover change in simulating future climates. Science 310:1674–1678

Feder J (1988) Fractals. Plenum Press, New York

- Fedoroff NV, Battisti DS, Beachy RN, Cooper PJM, Fischhoff DA, Hodges CN, Knauf VC, Lobell D, Mazur BJ, Molden D, Reynolds MP, Ronald PC, Rosegrant MW, Sanchez PA, Vonshak A, Zhu JK (2010) Radically rethinking agriculture for the 21st century. Science 327:833–834
- Feld CK, da Silva PM, Sousa JP, de Bello F, Bugter R, Grandin U, Hering D, Lavorel S, Mountford O, Pardo I, Pärtel M, Römbke J, Sandin L, Jones KB, Harrison P (2009) Indicators of biodiversity and ecosystem services: a synthesis across ecosystems and spatial scales. Oikos 118:1862–1871
- Ferrari JR, Lookingbill TR, McCormick B, Townsend PA, Eshleman KN (2009) Surface mining and reclamation effects on flood response of watersheds in the central Appalachian Plateau region. Water Resour Res 45:W04407
- Field CB, Mortsch LD, Brklacich M, Forbes DL, Kovacs P, Patz JA, Running SW, Scott MJ (2007) North America. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Climate Change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability, Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 617–652
- Finegan B (1984) Forest succession. Nature 312:109-114
- Fisher RA (1935) The design of experiments. Oliver and Boyd, London
- Fisher RA (1937) The wave of advance of advantageous genes. Ann Eugen 7:355-369
- Fisher JG, Anholt B, Volpe JP (2011) Body mass explains characteristic scales of habitat selection in terrestrial mammals. Ecol Evol 1:517–528
- Fitzpatrick MC, Preisser EL, Porter A, Elkinton J, Waller LA, Carlin BP, Ellison AM (2010) Ecological boundary detection using Bayesian areal wombling. Ecology 91:3448–3455
- Flannigan MD, Krawchuk MA, de Groot WJ, Wotton BM, Gowman LM (2009) Implications of changing climate for global wildland fire. Int J Wildland Fire 18:483–507
- Flately WT, Lafon CW, Girssino-Mayor HD (2011) Climatic and topographic controls on patterns of fire in the southern and central Appalachian Mountains, USA. Landsc Ecol 26:195–209
- Fletcher RJ, Ries L, Battin J, Chalfoun AD (2007) The role of habitat area and edge in fragmented landscapes: definitively distinct or inevitably intertwined? Can J Zool 85: 1017–1030
- Fletcher RJ Jr, Robertson BA, Evans J, Doran PJ, Alavalapati JRR, Schemske DW (2010) Biodiversity conservation in the era of biofuels: risks and opportunities. Front Ecol Environ 9:161–168
- Fletcher RJ Jr, Acevedo MA, Reichers BE, Pias KE, Kitchens WM (2011) Social network models predict movement and connectivity in ecological landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:19282–19287
- Flinn KM, Marks PL (2007) Agricultural legacies in forest environments: tree communities, soil properties, and light availability. Ecol Appl 17:452–463
- Flinn KM, Vellend M (2005) Recovery of forest plant communities in post-agricultural landscapes. Front Ecol Environ 3:243–250

LANDSCAPE	Foley JA, DeFries R, Asner GP, Barford C, Bonan G, Carpenter SR, Chapin FS, Coe MT,
5001 00V IN	Daily GC, Gibbs HK, Helkowski JH, Holloway T, Howard EA, Kucharik CJ, Monfreda
ECULUGY IN	C, Patz JA, Prentice IC, Ramankutty N, Snyder PK (2005) Global consequences of land
THEORY AND	use. Science 309:570–574
	Forbes SA (1887) The lake as a microcosm. Bull Sci Assoc 1887:77–87
PRACTICE	Ford CR, Elliott KJ, Clinton BD, Kloeppel BD, Vose JM (2012) Forest dynamics following
	eastern hemlock mortality in the southern Appalachians. Oikos 121:523–536
	Forel FA (1892) Lac Leman: monographie limnologique. Lausanne, Rouge
	Forester JD (2005) Animal movement and habitat use in heterogeneous landscapes: elk
	(Cervus elaphus) responses to forage, predation and disturbance in Yellowstone National
	Park, USA. PhD Dissertation, University of Wisconsin, Madison
	Forester JD, Ives AR, Turner MG, Anderson DP, Fortin D, Beyer H, Smith DW, Boyce MS
	(2007) Using state-space models to link patterns of elk (<i>Cervus elaphus</i>) movement to
	landscape characteristics in Yellowstone National Park. Ecol Monogr 7/:285–299
	Forman RTT (1983) An ecology of the landscape. Bioscience 33:535
	Forman RT1 (1990) The beginnings of landscape ecology in America. In: Zonneveld IS,
	Forman RTT (eds) Changing landscapes: an ecological perspective. Springer, New York,
	pp 35–41
	Forman RTT (1993) Land mosaics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
	Forman RTT Codron M (1981) Databas and structural components for a landscape acalegy
	Bioscience 31:733–740
	Forman RTT, Godron M (1986) Landscape ecology. Wiley, New York
	Forman RTT, Sperling D, Bissonette JA, Clevenger AP, Cutshall CD et al (2003) Road ecol-
	ogy: science and solutions. Island Press, Washington
	Fortin M-J, Agrawal AA (2005) Landscape ecology comes of age. Ecology 86:1965–1966
	Fortin MJ, Dale MRT (2005) Spatial analysis: a guide for ecologists. Cambridge University
	Press, Cambridge
	Fortin MJ, Payette S (2002) How to test the significance of the relation between spatially
	autocorrelated data at the landscape scale: a case study using fire and forest maps.
	Ecoscience 9:213–218
	Fortin M-J, Boots B, Csillag F, Remmel TK (2003) On the role of spatial stochastic models in understanding landscape indices. Oikos 102:203–212
	Foster DR (1983) Fire history and landscape patterns in southeastern Labrador. Can J Bot 61:2459–2471
	Foster DR (1988a) Disturbance history, community organization and vegetation dynamics
	of the old-growth Pisgah Forest, southwestern New Hampshire, USA. J Ecol 76:
	Foster DR (1988b) Species and stand response to catastrophic wind in central New England
	USA. I Ecol 76:135–151
	Foster DR (1992) Land-use history (1730-1990) and vegetation dynamics in central New
	England, USA. J Ecol 80:753–772
	Foster DR (2002) Insights from historical geography to ecology and conservation: lessons
	from the New England landscape. J Biogeogr 29:1269–1275
	Foster DR, Boose ER (1992) Patterns of forest damage resulting from catastrophic wind in
	central New England, USA. J Ecol 80:79–98
	Foster DR, King GA (1986) Vegetation pattern and diversity in S. E. Labrador, Canada:
	<i>Betula papyrifera</i> (birch) forest development in relation to fire history and physiography. J Ecol 74:465–483
	<i>Betula papyrifera</i> (birch) forest development in relation to fire history and physiog J Ecol 74:465–483
- Foster DR, Knight DH, Franklin JF (1998) Landscape patterns and legacies resulting from *References* large infrequent forest disturbances. Ecosystems 1:497–510
- Foster D, Swanson F, Aber J, Burke I, Brokaw N, Tilman D, Knapp A (2003) The importance of land-use legacies to ecology and conservation. Bioscience 53:77–88
- France RL, Peters RH (1995) Predictive model of the effects on lake metabolism of decreased airborne litterfall through riparian deforestation. Conserv Biol 9:1578–1586
- Franklin JF (1993) Preserving biodiversity: species, ecosystems, or landscapes. Ecol Appl 3:202–205
- Franklin JF, Forman RTT (1987) Creating landscape patterns by forest cutting: ecological consequences and principles. Landsc Ecol 1:5–18
- Franklin RB, Mills AL (2003) Multi-scale variation in spatial heterogeneity for microbial community structure in an eastern Virginia agricultural field. FEMS Microbial Ecol 44:335–346
- Fraser R, Lantz T, Oithof I, Kokelj S, Sims R (2014) Warming-induced shrub expansion and lichen decline in the western Canadian Arctic. Ecosystems 17(7):1151–1168
- Fraterrigo JM, Rusak JA (2008) Disturbance-driven changes in the variability of ecological patterns and processes. Ecol Lett 11:756–770
- Fraterrigo JM, Turner MG, Pearson SM, Dixon P (2005) Effects of past land use on spatial heterogeneity of soil nutrients in southern Appalachian forests. Ecol Monogr 75: 215–230
- Fraterrigo JM, Turner MG, Pearson SM (2006a) Plant allocation and growth in the herb layer of historically altered forests. J Ecol 94:548–557
- Fraterrigo JM, Balser TC, Turner MG (2006b) Microbial community variation and its relationship with nitrogen mineralization in historically altered forests. Ecology 87:570–579
- Frelich LE, Lorimer CG (1991) Natural disturbance regimes in hemlock-hardwood forests of the Upper Great Lakes region. Ecol Monogr 61:145–164
- Frelich LE, Reich PB (1999) Neighborhood effects, disturbance severity, and community stability. Ecosystems 2:151–166
- Frelich LE, Reich PB (2010) Will environmental changes reinforce the impact of global warming on the prairie-forest border of central North America? Front Ecol Environ 8:371–378
- Friedman SK, Reich PB, Frelich LE (2001) Multiple scale composition and spatial distribution patterns of the north-eastern Minnesota presettlement forest. J Ecol 89:538–554
- Fries C, Carlsson M, Dahlin B, Lamas T, Sallnas O (1998) A review of conceptual landscape planning models for multiobjective forestry in Sweden. Can J Forest Res 28:159–167
- Fry JA, Coan MJ, Homer CG, Meyer DK, Wickham JD (2009) Completion of the National Land Cover Database (NLCD) 1992–2001 land cover change retrofit product. US Geological Survey Open-File Report 2008–1379, 18 pp
- Fryer GI, Johnson EA (1988) Reconstructing fire behavior and effects in a subalpine forest. J Appl Ecol 25:1063–1072
- Fu B, Lu Y (2006) The progress and perspectives of landscape ecology in China. Prog Phys Geogr 30:232–244
- Galipeau C, Kneeshaw D, Bergeron Y (1997) White spruce and balsam fir colonization of a site in the southeastern boreal forest as observed 68 years after fire. Can J Forest Res 27:139–147
- Gao B-C, Goetz AFH (1994) Extraction of dry leaf spectral features from reflectance spectra of green vegetation. Remote Sens Environ 47:369–374
- Garcia D, Rodriguez-Cabal MA, Amico GC (2009) Seed dispersal by a frugivorous marsupial shapes the spatial scale of a mistletoe population. J Ecol 97:217–229

- LANDSCAPE Gardner RH (1999) RULE: a program for the generation of random maps and the analysis of spatial patterns. In: Klopatek JM, Gardner RH (eds) Landscape ecological analysis: issues and applications. Springer, New York, pp 280–303
- THEORY ANDGardner RH (2011) Neutral models and the analysis of landscape structure. In: Jopp F,
Reuter H, Breckling B (eds) Modelling complex ecological dynamics. Springer, New York,
pp 215–229PRACTICEpp 215–229
 - Gardner RH, Engelhardt KAM (2008) Spatial processes that maintain biodiversity in plant communities. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 9:211–228
 - Gardner RH, O'Neill RV (1990) Pattern, process and predictability: the use of neutral models for landscape analysis. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. The analysis and interpretation of landscape heterogeneity. Springer, New York, pp 289–307
 - Gardner RH, Urban DL (2007) Neutral models for testing landscape hypotheses. Landsc Ecol 22:15–29
 - Gardner RH, O'Neill RV, Mankin JB, Carney JH (1981) A comparison of sensitivity analysis and error analysis based on a stream ecosystem model. Ecol Model 12:177–194
 - Gardner RH, Cale WG, O'Neill RV (1982) Robust analysis of aggregation error. Ecology 63:1771–1779
 - Gardner RH, Milne BT, Turner MG, O'Neill RV (1987) Neutral models for the analysis of broad-scale landscape pattern. Landsc Ecol 1:19–28
 - Gardner RH, Turner MG, O'Neill RV, Lavorel S (1992) Simulation of the scale-dependent effects of landscape boundaries on species persistence and dispersal. In: Holland MM, Risser PG, Naiman RJ (eds) The role of landscape boundaries in the management and restoration of changing environments. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 76–89
 - Gardner RH, O'Neill RV, Turner MG (1993) Ecological implications of landscape fragmentation. In: Pickett STA, McDonnell MJ (eds) Humans as components of ecosystems: the ecology of subtle human effects and populated areas. Springer, New York, pp 208–226
 - Gardner RH, Hargrove WW, Turner MG, Romme WH (1996) Climate change, disturbances and landscape dynamics. In: Walker B, Steffen W (eds) Global change and terrestrial ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 149–172
 - Gardner RH, Romme WH, Turner MG (1999) Predicting forest fire effects at landscape scales. In: Mladenoff DJ, Baker WL (eds) Spatial modeling of forest landscapes: approaches and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 163–185
 - Gardner RH, Lookingbill TR, Townsend PA, Ferrari J (2008) A new approach for rescaling land cover data. Landsc Ecol 15:513–526
 - Garrabou J, Riera J, Zabala M (1998) Landscape pattern indices applied to Mediterranean subtidal rocky benthic communities. Landsc Ecol 13:225–247
 - Gaston KJ, Avila-Jimenez ML, Edmonson JL (2013) The UK National Ecosystem Assessment. Managing urban ecosystems for goods and services. J Appl Ecol 50:830–840
 - Gates JE, Gysel LW (1978) Avian nest dispersion and fledging success in field-forest ecotones. Ecology 59:871-883
 - Gause GF (1934) The struggle for existence. Williams and Wilkin, Baltimore
 - Gavier-Pizarro GI, Radeloff VC, Stewart SI, Huebner CD, Keuler NS (2010a) Rural housing is related to plant invasions in forests of southern Wisconsin, USA. Landsc Ecol 25: 1505–1518
 - Gavier-Pizarro GI, Radeloff VC, Stewart SI, Huebner CD, Keuler NS (2010b) Housing is positively associated with invasive exotic plant species richness in New England, USA. Ecol Appl 20:1913–1925

- Gazol A, Tamme R, Takkis K, Kasari L, Saar L, Helm A, Partel M (2012) Landscape- and small-scale determinants of grassland species diversity: direct and indirect influences. Ecography 35:944–951
- Gergel SE (2005) Spatial and non-spatial factors: when do they affect landscape indicators of watershed loading? Landsc Ecol 20:177–189
- Gergel SE, Turner MG (eds) (2016) Learning landscape ecology, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
- Gergel SE, Turner MG, Kratz TK (1999) Scale-dependent landscape effects on north temperate lakes and rivers. Ecol Appl 9:1377–1390
- Gergel SE, Turner MG, Miller JR, Melack JM, Stanley EH (2002) Landscape indicators of human impacts to river-floodplain systems. Aquat Sci 64:118–128
- Gilbert FS (1980) The equilibrium theory of island biogeography: fact or fiction? J Biogeogr 7:209–235
- Gilbert-Norton L, Wilson R, Stevens JR, Beard KH (2010) A meta-analytic review of corridor effectiveness. Conserv Biol 24:60–668
- Gillies CS, St. Clair CC (2008) Riparian corridors enhance movement of a forest specialist bird in fragmented tropical forest. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:19774–19779
- Gillman M, Hails R (1997) An introduction to ecological modeling. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford
- Gilmanov TG, Parton WJ, Ojima DS (1997) Testing the 'CENTURY' ecosystem level model on data sets from eight grassland sites in the former USSR representing a wide climatic/ soil gradient. Ecol Model 96:191–210
- Girardin MP, Ali AA, Carcaillet C, Mudelsee M, Drobyshev I, Hely C, Bergeron Y (2009) Heterogeneous response of circumboreal wildfire risk to climate change since the early 1900s. Glob Chang Biol 15:1365–2486
- Girvetz EH, Greco SE (2007) How to define a patch: a spatial model for hierarchically delineating organism-specific habitat patches. Landsc Ecol 22:1131–1142
- Givnish TJ (1981) Serotiny, geography, and fire in the pine barrens of New Jersey. Evolution 35:101–123
- Glenn SM, Collins SL (1992) Disturbances in tallgrass prairie: local and regional effects on community heterogeneity. Landsc Ecol 7:243–251
- Glenn SM, Collins SL (1993) Experimental-analysis of patch dynamics in tallgrass prairie plant-communities. J Veg Sci 4:157–162
- Glenn-Lewin DC, van der Maarel E (1992) Patterns and processes of vegetation dynamics.In: Glenn-Lewin DC, Peet RK, Veblen TT (eds) Plant succession. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 11–59
- Glenn-Lewin DC, Peet RK, Veblen TT (eds) (1992) Plant succession. Chapman and Hall, New York
- Glitzenstein JS, Platt WJ, Strong DR (1995) The effects of fire regime and habitat on tree dynamics in North Florida longleaf pine savannas. Ecol Monogr 65:441–476
- Gluck MJ, Rempel RS (1996) Structural characteristics of post-wildfire and clearcut landscapes. Environ Monit Assess 39:435–450
- Goad EH, Pejchar L, Reed SE, Knight RL (2014) Habitat use by mammals varies along an exurban development gradient in northern Colorado. Biol Conserv 176:172–182
- Golley FB (1993) A history of the ecosystem concept in ecology: more than the sum of its parts. Yale University Press, New Haven
- Goward SN, Tucker CJ, Dye DG (1985) North American vegetation patterns observed with the NOAA-7 advanced very high resolution radiometer. Vegetatio 64:3014
- Goward SN, Kerber A, Dye DG, Kalb V (1987) Comparison of North and South American biomes from AVHRR observations. Geocarto Int 2:27–40

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPE Graniero PA (2007) The influence of landscape heterogeneity and local habitat effects on the response to competitive pressures in metapopulations. Ecol Model 203:349–362
- ECOLOGY INGrant WE, Pedersen EK, Marin SL (1997) Ecology and natural resource management.
Systems analysis and simulation. Wiley, New YorkTHEORY ANDSystems analysis and simulation. Wiley, New York
 - Grant EHC, Lowe WH, Fagan WF (2007) Living in the branches: population dynamics and ecological processes in dendritic networks. Ecol Lett 10:165–175
 - Gratton C, Vander Zanden MJ (2009) Flux of aquatic insect productivity to land: comparison of lentic and lotic ecosystems. Ecology 90:2689–2699
 - Gratton C, Donaldson J, Vander Zanden MJ (2008) Ecosystem linkages between lakes and the surrounding terrestrial landscape in northeast Iceland. Ecosystems 11:764–774
 - Gravel D, Guichard F, Loreau M, Mouquet N (2010) Source and sink dynamics in metaecosystems. Ecology 91:2172–2184
 - Green DG (1982) Fire and stability in the postglacial forests of southwest Nova Scotia. J Biogeogr 9:29-40
 - Green DG (1989) Simulated effects of fire, dispersal and spatial pattern on competition within forest mosaics. Vegetatio 82:139–153
 - Green DG, Klomp N, Rimmington G, Sadedin S (2006) Complexity in landscape ecology. Springer, Dordrecht
 - Greg-Smith P (1952) The use of random and contiguous quadrats in the study of the structure of plant communits. Ann Bot 16:293–316
 - Greig-Smith P (1979) Pattern in vegetation. J Ecol 67:755–779
 - Grilli MP (2010) The role of landscape structure on the abundance of a disease vector planthopper: a quantitative approach. Landsc Ecol 25:383–394
 - Grimm NB (1995) Why link species and ecosystems? In: Jones CG, Lawton JH (eds) Linking species and ecosystems. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 5–15
 - Grimm V, Wissel C (1997) Babel, or the ecological stability discussions: an inventory and analysis of terminology and a guide for avoiding confusion. Oecologia 109:323–334
 - Groffman PM, Tiedje JM (1989) Denitrification in north temperate forest soils: spatial and temporal patterns at the landscape and seasonal scales. Soil Biol Biochem 21:613–620
 - Groffman PM, Tiedje JM, Mokma DL, Simkins S (1992) Regional scale analysis of denitrification in north temperate forest soils. Landsc Ecol 7:45–53
 - Groffman PM, Pouyat RV, Cadenasso ML et al (2006a) Land use context and natural soil controls on plant community composition and soil nitrogen and carbon dynamics in urban and rural forests. For Ecol Manage 236:177–192
 - Groffman PM, Baron JS, Blett T, Gold AJ, Goodman I, Gunderson LH, Levinson BM, Palmer MA, Paerl HW, Peterson GD, Poff NL, Rejeski DW, Reynolds JF, Turner MG, Weathers KC, Wiens JA (2006b) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental management or an important concept with no practical application? Ecosystems 9:1–13
 - Groffman PM, Butterbach-Bahl K, Fulweiler RW, Gold AJ, Morse JL, Stander EK, Tague C, Tonitto C, Vidon P (2009) Challenges to incorporating spatially and temporally explicit phenomena (hotspots and hot moments) in denitrification models. Biogeochemistry 93:49–77
 - Groffman PM, Cavender-Bares J, Bettez ND, Grove JM, Hall SJ, Heffernan JB, Hobbie SE, Larson KL, Morse JL, Neill C, Nelson K, O'Neil-Dunne J, Ogdent L, Pataki DE, Polsky C, Chowdhury RR, Steele MK (2014) Ecological homogenization of urban USA. Front Ecol Environ 12:74–81
 - Gross KL, Pregitzer KS, Burton AJ (1995) Spatial variation in nitrogen availability in three successional plant communities. J Ecol 83:357–367

- Gude PH, Hansen AJ, Jones DA (2007) Biodiversity consequences of alternative future land *References* use scenarios in Greater Yellowstone. Ecol Appl 17:1004–1018
- Guillot G, Estoup A, Mortier F, Cosson JF (2005) A spatial statistical model for landscape genetics. Genetics 170:1261–1280
- Guisan A, Thuiller W (2005) Predicting species distribution: offering more than simply habitat models. Ecol Lett 8:993–1009
- Guisan A, Zimmerman NE (2000) Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecol Model 135:147–186
- Gundale MJ, Metlen KL, Fiedler CE, DeLuca TL (2006) Nitrogen spatial heterogeneity influences diversity following restoration in a ponderosa pine forest, Montana. Ecol Appl 16:479–489
- Gustafson EJ (1998) Quantifying landscape spatial pattern: what is the state of the art? Ecosystems 1:143–156
- Gustafson EJ, Crow TR (1996) Simulating the effects of alternative forest management strategies on landscape structure. J Environ Manage 46:77–94
- Gustafson EJ, Gardner RH (1996) The effect of landscape heterogeneity on the probability of patch colonization. Ecology 77:94–107
- Gustafson EJ, Parker GR (1992) Relationships between landcover proportion and indexes of landscape spatial pattern. Landsc Ecol 7:101–110
- Haas SE, Hooten MB, Rizzo DM, Meentemeyer RK (2011) Forest species diversity reduces disease risk in a generalist plant pathogen invasion. Ecol Lett 14:1108–1116
- Habeck JR, Mutch RW (1973) Fire-dependent forests in the northern Rockies. Quatern Res 3:408–424
- Haber W (1990) Using landscape ecology in planning and management. In: Zonneveld IS, Forman RTT (eds) Changing landscapes: an ecological perspective. Springer, New York, pp 217–232
- Haddad NM (1999a) Corridor and distance effects on interpatch movements: a landscape experiment with butterflies. Ecol Appl 9:612–622
- Haddad NM (1999b) Corridor use predicted from behaviors at habitat boundaries. Am Nat 153:215–227
- Haddad NM, Baum KA (1999) An experimental test of corridor effects on butterfly densities. Ecol Appl 9:623–633
- Haddad NM, Tewksbury JJ (2005) Low-quality habitat corridors as movement conduits for two butterfly species. Ecol Appl 15:250–257
- Haddad NM, Bowne DR, Cunningham A, Danielson BJ, Levey DJ, Sargent S, Spira T (2003) Corridor use by diverse taxa. Ecology 84:609–615
- Haefner JW (1988a) Assembly rules for Greater Antillean Anolis lizards: competition and random models compared. Oecologia 74:551–565
- Haefner JW (1988b) Niche shifts in Greater Antillean *Anolis* communities: effects of niche metric and biological resolution on null model tests. Oecologia 77:107–117
- Haefner JW (2005) Modeling biological systems: principles and applications, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
- Hahn MB, Gurley ES, Epstein JH, Islam MS, Patz JA, Daszak P, Luby SP (2014a) The role of landscape composition and configuration on *Pteropus giganteus* roosting ecology and Nipah virus spillover risk in Bangladesh. Am J Trop Med Hyg 90:247–255
- Hahn MB, Epstein JH, Gurley ES, Islam MS, Luby SP, Daszak P, Patz JA (2014b) Roosting behavior and habitat selection of *Pteropus giganteus* reveal potential links to Nipah virus epidemiology. J Appl Ecol 51:376–387

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE Haila Y (2002) A conceptual genealogy of fragmentation research: from island biogeography to landscape ecology. Ecol Appl 12:321–334

ECOLOGY INHaines-Young R, Chopping M (1996) Quantifying landscape structure: a review of land-
scape indices and their application to forested landscapes. Prog Phys Geogr 20:418–445THEORY ANDScape indices and their application to forested landscapes. Prog Phys Geogr 20:418–445

- Halpern CB (1988) Early successional pathways and the resistance and resilience of forest communities. Ecology 69:1703–1715
 - Halpern CB (1989) Early successional patterns of forest species: interactions of life history traits and disturbance. Ecology 70:704–720

Hamilton WD, May RM (1977) Dispersal in stable habitats. Nature 269:578-581

- Handley LJL, Estoup A, Evans DM, Thomas CE, Lombaert D, Facon B, Aebi A, Roy HE (2011) Ecological genetics of invasive alien species. BioControl 56:409–428
- Hannah L, Roehrdanz PR, Ikegami M, Shepard AV, Shaw MR, Tabor G, Zhi L, Marquet PA, Hijmans RJ (2013) Climate change, wine, and conservation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:6907–6912
- Hansen AJ, DeFries R (2007) Ecological mechanisms linking protected areas to surrounding lands. Ecol Appl 17:974–988
- Hansen AJ, Rotella JJ, Kraska MPV, Brown D (2000) Spatial patterns of primary productivity in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem. Landsc Ecol 15:505–522
- Hansen AJ, Knight RL, Marzluff JM, Powell S, Brown K, Gude PH, Jones K (2005) Effects of exurban development on biodiversity: patterns, mechanisms, and research needs. Ecol Appl 15:1893–1905
- Hansen AJ, Piekielek N, Davis C, Haas J, Theobald DM, Gross JE, Monahan WB, Olliff T, Running SW (2014) Exposure of U.S. National Parks to land use and climate change 1900-2100. Ecol Appl 24:484–502
- Hanski I (1989) Metapopulation dynamics: does it help to have more of the same? Trends Ecol Evol 4:113–114
- Hanski I (1998) Metapopulation dynamics. Nature 396:41-49
- Hanski I, Simberloff D (1997) The metapopulation approach, its history, conceptual domain, and application to conservation. In: Hanski IA, Gilpin ME (eds) Metapopulation biology. Academic, New York, pp 5–26
- Hanson PC, Bade DL, Carpenter SR, Kratz TK (2003) Lake metabolism: relationships with dissolved organic carbon and phosphorus. Limnol Oceanogr 48:1112–11119
- Hanson PC, Carpenter SR, Cardille JA, Coes MT, Winslow LA (2007) Small lakes dominate a random sample of regional lake characteristics. Freshw Biol 52:814–822
- Harding JS, Benfield EF, Bolstad PV, Helfman GS, Jones EBD (1998) Stream biodiversity: the ghost of land use past. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:14843–14847
- Hargis CD, Bissonette JA, David JL (1998) The behavior of landscape metrics commonly used in the study of habitat fragmentation. Landsc Ecol 13:167–186
- Hargrove WW, Pickering J (1992) Pseudoreplication: a sine qua non for regional ecology. Landsc Ecol 6:251–258
- Harrington RA, Fownes JH, Scowcroft PG, Vann CS (1997) Impact of Hurricane Iniki on native Hawaiian Acacia koa forests: damage and two-year recovery. J Trop Ecol 13: 539–558
- Harrison GW (1979) Stability under environmental stress: resistance, resilience, persistence and variability. Am Nat 113:659–669
- Harris LD (1984) The fragmented forest. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Harris GP (1998) Predictive models in spatially and temporally variable freshwater systems. Aust J Ecol 23:80–94

- Harris JBC, Putra DD, Gregory SD, Brook BW, Prawiradilaga DM, Sodhi NS, Wei D, *References* Fordham DA (2014) Rapid deforestation threatens mid-elevational endemic birds but climate change is most important at higher elevations. Divers Distrib 20:773–785
- Hartshorn GS (1980) Neotropical forest dynamics. Biotropica 12(Suppl):23-30
- Harvey BJ, Donato DC, Turner MG (2014) Recent mountain pine beetle outbreaks, wildfire severity, and postfire tree regeneration in the US Northern Rockies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:15120–15125
- Hassim MEE, Walsh KJE (2008) Tropical cyclone trends in the Australian region. Geochem Geophys Geosyst 9(7). doi:10.1029/2007GC001804
- Hastings A (1977) Spatial heterogeneity and the stability of predator-prey systems. Theor Popul Biol 12:37–48
- Hastings A (1996) Population biology: concepts and models. Springer, New York
- Hayhoe K, Cayan D, Field CB, Frumhoff PC, Maurer EP, Miller NL, Moser SC, Schneider SH, Cahill KN, Cleland EE, Dale L, Drapek R, Hanemann RM, Kalkstein LS, Lenihan J, Lunch CK, Neilson RP, Sheridan SC, Verville JH (2004) Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:12422–12427
- He FL, Legendre P (2002) Species diversity patterns derived from species-area models. Ecology 83:1185–1198
- He HS, Mladenoff DJ (1999) Spatially explicit and stochastic simulation of forest-landscape fire disturbance and succession. Ecology 80:81–99
- Heal G, Kriström B (2002) Uncertainty and climate change. Environ Resour Econ 22:3-39
- Hebblewhite M, Haydon DT (2010) Distinguishing technology from biology: a critical review of the use of GPS telemetry data in ecology. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 365: 2303–2312
- Hebblewhite M, Merrill EH, McDonald TL (2005) Spatial decomposition of predation risk using resource selection functions: an example in a wolf-elk predator-prey system. Oikos 111:101–111
- Hedde M, Bureau F, Delporte P, Cecillon L, Decaens T (2013) The effects of earthworm species on soil behaviour depend on land use. Soil Biol Biochem 65:264–273
- Heffernan JB, Soranno PA, Angilletta MJ Jr, Buckley LB, Gruner DS, Keitt TH, Kellner JR, Kominoski JS, Rocha AV, Xiao J, Harms TK, Goring SJ, Koenig LE, McDowell WH, Powell H, Richardson AD, Stow CA, Vargas R, Weathers KC (2014) Macrosystems ecology: understanding ecological patterns and processes at continental scales. Front Ecol Environ 12:5–14
- Heilman GE, Strittholt JR, Slosser NC, Dellasala DA (2002) Forest fragmentation of the conterminous United States: assessing forest intactness through road density and spatial characteristics. Bioscience 52:411–422
- Heinselman MR (1996) The boundary waters wilderness ecosystem. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis
- Heinz Center (2008) Landscape pattern indicators for the nation: a report from the Heinz Center's landscape pattern task group. The John Heinz III Center for Science, Economics and the Environment, Washington, http://www.heinzctr.org/publications/index.shtml
- Hemstrom MA, Franklin JF (1982) Fire and other disturbances of the forests in Mount Rainier National Park. Quatern Res 18:32–51
- Henry M, Pons J-M, Cosson J-F (2007) Foraging behavior of a frugivorous bat helps bridge landscape connectivity and ecological processes in a fragmented rainforest. J Anim Ecol 76:801–813
- Hernández L, Laundré JW (2005) Foraging in the 'landscape of fear' and its implications for habitat use and diet quality of elk (*Cervus elaphus*) and bison (*Bison bison*). Wildl Biol 11:215–220

LANDSCAPE	Heyerdahl EK, Brubaker LB, Agee JK (2001) Spatial controls of historical fire regimes: a
	multi-scale example from the interior west, USA. Ecology 82:660–678
ECOLOGY IN	Hicke JA, Allen CD, Desai AR, Dietze MC, Hall RJ, Hobb EH, Kashian DM, Moore D,
	Raffa KF, Sturrock RN, Vogelmann J (2012a) Effects of biotic disturbances on forest
Incont AND	carbon cycling in the United States and Canada. Glob Chang Biol 18:7-34
PRACTICE	Hicke JA, Johnson MC, Hayes JL, Preisler HK (2012b) Effects of bark beetle-caused tree

Hicke JA, Johnson MC, Hayes JL, Preisler HK (2012b) Effects of bark beetle-caused tree mortality on wildfire. For Ecol Manage 271:81–90

Hicks BJ, Stichbury GA, Brabyn LK, Allan MG, Ashraf S (2013) Hindcasting water clarity from Landsat satellite images of unmonitored shallow lakes in the Waikato region, New Zealand. Environ Monit Assess 185:7245–7261

Hierro JL, Maron JL, Callaway RM (2005) A biogeographical approach to plant invasions: the importance of studying exotics in their introduced and native range. J Ecol 93:5–15

Higgins SI, Richardson DM (1999) Predicting plant migration rates in a changing world: the role of long-distance dispersal. Am Nat 153:464–475

Higuera PE, Whitlock C, Gage JA (2010) Linking tree-ring and sediment-charcoal records to reconstruct fire occurrence and area burned in subalpine forests of Yellowstone National Park, USA. Holocene 21:327–341

Hilborn R (1975) The effect of spatial heterogeneity on the persistence of predator-prey interactions. Theor Popul Biol 8:346-355

Hobbs RJ (1992) The role of corridors in conservation: solution or bandwagon? Trends Ecol Evol 7:389–392

Hodgson JA, Thomas CD, Dytham C, Travis JMJ, Cornell SJ (2012) The speed of range shifts in fragmented landscapes. PLoS One 7(10):e47141. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047141

Hohn ME, Liebhold AM, Gribko LS (1993) Geostatistical model for forecasting spatial dynamics of defoliation caused by the gypsy moth (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae). Environ Entomol 22:1066–1075

Holdenrieder O, Pautasso M, Weisberg PJ, Lonsdale D (2004) Tree diseases and landscape processes: the challenge of landscape pathology. Trends Ecol Evol 19:446–452

Holderegger R, Wagner HH (2006) A brief guide to landscape genetics. Landsc Ecol 21:793-796

Holderegger R, Wagner HH (2008) Landscape genetics. Bioscience 58:199-207

Holdo RM, Holt RD, Fryxell JM (2009) Grazers, browsers and fire influence the extent and spatial pattern of tree cover in the Serengeti. Ecol Appl 19:95–109

Holdsworth AR, Frelich LE, Reich PB (2007) Regional extent of an ecosystem engineer: earthworm invasion in northern hardwood forests. Ecol Appl 17:1666–1677

Holling CS (1978) Adaptive environmental assessment and management. Wiley, New York

- Holling CS (1992) Cross-scale morphology, geometry and dynamics of ecosystems. Ecol Monogr 62:447–502
- Holmes EE, Lewis MA, Banks JE, Veit RR (1994) Partial differential equations in ecology: spatial interactions and population dynamics. Ecology 75:17–29
- Holtgrieve GW, Schindler DE, Jewett PK (2009) Large predators and biogeochemical hotspots: brown bear (*Ursos arctos*) predation on salmon alters nitrogen cycling in riparian soils. Ecol Res 24:1125–1135
- Homan RN, Windmiller BS, Reed JM (2004) Critical thresholds associated with habitat loss for two vernal pool-breeding amphibians. Ecol Appl 14:1547–1553
- Hou Y, Müller F (2013) Uncertainties in landscape analysis and ecosystem service assessment. J Environ Manage 127:S117–S131

Houet T, Loveland TR, Hubert-Moy L, Gaucherel C, Napton D, Barnes CA, Sayler K (2010) Exploring subtle land use and land cover changes: a framework for future landscape studies. Landsc Ecol 25:249–266 Houghton RA (1995) Land-use change and the carbon cycle. Glob Chang Biol 1:275–287

- Huang YX, Schmitt FG, Lu ZM, Liu YL (2009) Analysis of daily river flow fluctuations using empirical mode decomposition and arbitrary order Hilbert spectral analysis. J Hydrol 373:103–111
- Hubbell SP (2001) The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Hubbell SP (2006) Neutral theory and the evolution of ecological equivalence. Ecology 87:1387–1398
- Hudak AT, Fairbanks DHK, Brockett BH (2004) Trends in fire patterns in a southern African savanna under alternative land use practices. Agric Ecosyst Environ 101:307–325
- Huffaker CB (1958) Experimental studies on predation: dispersion factors and predatorprey oscillations. Hilgardia 27:343-383
- Huffaker CB, Shea KP, Herman SG (1963) Experimental studies on predation: complex dispersion and levels of food in an acarine predator-prey interaction. Hilgardia 34:305–330
- Hulse D, Branscomb A, Enright C, Bolte J (2009) Anticipating floodplain trajectories: a comparison of two alternative futures approaches. Landsc Ecol 24:1067–1090
- Hunt RJ, Doherty J, Tonkin MJ (2007) Are models too simple? Arguments for increased parameterization. Groundwater 45:254–262
- Hunter ML Jr (1993) Natural fire regimes as spatial models for managing boreal forests. Biol Conserv 65:115–120
- Hurlbert SH (1984) Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecol Monogr 54:187–211
- Huston MA (1994) Biological diversity: the coexistence of species on changing landscapes, vol 40. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Hynes HBN (1975) The stream and its valley. Verh Int Ver Theor Ang Limnol 19:1-15
- Ibánez I, Silander JA Jr, Allen JM, Treanor SA, Wilson A (2009) Identifying hotspots for plant invasions and forecasting focal points of further spread. J Appl Ecol 46:1219–1228
- Imes RA, Rolstad J, Wegge P (1993) Predicting space use responses to habitat fragmentation: can foles *Microtus oeconomus* serve as an experimental model system (EMS) for capercaillie grouse in boreal forest. Biol Conserv 63:261–268
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2013) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2014) Climate change 2014: synthesis report, IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (AR5). http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/
- Ishihama F, Takeda T, Oguma H, Takenaka A (2010) Comparison of effects of spatial autocorrelation on distribution predictions of four rare plant species in the Watarase wetland. Ecol Res 25:1057–1069
- Istock CA, Scheiner SM (1987) Affinities and high-order diversity within landscape mosaics. Evol Ecol 1:11–29
- Iverson LR (1991) Forest resources of Illinois: what do we have and what are they doing for us? Ill Nat Hist Surv Bull 34:361–374
- Iverson LR, Prasad AM, Matthews SN, Peters MP (2011) Lessons learned while integrating habitat, dispersal, disturbance, and life-history traits into species habitat models under climate change. Ecosystems 14:1005–1020
- Ives AR, Turner MG, Pearson SM (1998) Local explanations of landscape patterns: can analytical approaches approximate simulation models of spatial processes? Ecosystems 1:35–51

References

ECOLOGY INphy. New directions in the geography of nature. Sinauer, Sunderland, pp 47–65	of
	of
THEORY AND Jackson ST (2006) Vegetation, environment and time: the origination and termination ecosystems. J Veg Sci 17:547–557	
PRACTICE Jackson HB, Fahrig L (2012) What size is a biologically relevant landscape? Landsc Ec 27:929–941	col
Jackson DA, Somers KM, Harvey HH (1992) Null models and fish communities: eviden of nonrandom patterns. Am Nat 139:930–951	nce
Jackson LE, Hilborn ED, Thomas JC (2006) Towards landscape design guidelines for reduing Lyme disease risk. Int J Epidemiol 35(2):315–322	uc-
Jacobs SM, Bechtold JS, Biggs HC, Grimm NB, Lorentz S, McClain ME, Naiman RJ, Perak SS, Pinay G, Scholes MC (2007) Nutrient vectors and riparian processing: a review wi special reference to African semiarid savanna ecosystems. Ecosystems 10:1231–1249	kis vith
Jacquemyn H, Brys R (2008) Effects of stand age on the demography of a temperate fore herb in post-agricultural forests. Ecology 89:3480–3489	est

- Jager HI, King AW (2004) Spatial uncertainty and ecological models. Ecosystems 7:841–847
- Jantz CA, Goetz SJ, Shelley MK (2004) Using the SLEUTH urban growth model to simulate the impacts of future policy scenarios on urban land use in the Baltimore-Washington metropolitan area. Environ Plann B Plann Des 31:251–271
- Jeffries RL, Klein DR, Shaver GR (1994) Vertebrate herbivores and northern plant communities: reciprocal influences and responses. Oikos 71:193–206
- Jenerette DG, Wu J (2004) Interactions of ecosystem processes with spatial heterogeneity in the puzzle of nitrogen limitation. Oikos 107:273–282
- Jenkins MJ, Hebertson E, Page WG, Jorgensen CA (2008) Bark beetles, fuels, fires and implications for forest management in the Intermountain West. For Ecol Manage 254: 16–34
- Jenkins MJ, Page WG, Hebertson EG, Alexander ME (2012) Fuels and fire behavior dynamics in bark beetle-attacked forests in Western North America and implications for fire management. For Ecol Manage 275:23–34
- Jenny H (1941) Factors of soil formation. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Jensen JR (1996) Introductory digital image processing: a remote sensing perspective. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River
- Jensen JR (2009) Remote sensing of the environment. Pearson Education, New Delhi
- Jentsch A (2007) The challenge to restore processes in face of nonlinear dynamics—on the crucial role of disturbance regimes. Restor Ecol 15:334–339
- Johnson EA (1979) Fire recurrence in the subarctic and its implications for vegetation composition. Can J Bot 57:1374–1379
- Johnson EA (1992) Fire and vegetation dynamics: studies from the North American boreal forest. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Johnson EA, Gutsell SL (1994) Fire frequency models, methods, and interpretations. Adv Ecol Res 25:239–287
- Johnson BL, Haddad NM (2011) Edge effects, not connectivity, determine the incidence and development of a foliar fungal plant disease. Ecology 92:1551–1558
- Johnson EA, Miyanishi K (eds) (2001) Forest fires: behavior and ecological effects. Academic, San Diego
- Johnson EA, Van Wagner CE (1985) The theory and use of two fire history models. Can J Forest Res 15:214–220

- Johnson WC, Sharpe DM, DeAngelis DL, Fields DE, Olson RJ (eds) (1981) Modeling seed *Re* dispersal and forest island dynamics. Springer, New York
- Johnson AR, Milne BT, Wiens JA (1992) Diffusion in fractal landscapes: simulations and experimental studies of tenebrionid beetle movements. Ecology 73:1968–1983
- Johnson LB, Richards C, Host G, Arthur JW (1997) Landscape influences on water chemistry in Midwestern streams. Freshw Biol 37:193–208
- Johnson WC, Millett BV, Gilmanov T, Voldseth RA, Guntenspergen GR, Naugle DE (2005) Vulnerability of northern prairie wetlands to climate change. Bioscience 55:863–872
- Johnston C, Naiman RJ (1990a) Aquatic patch creation in relation to beaver population trends. Ecology 71:1617–1621
- Johnston CA, Naiman RJ (1990b) The use of a geographic information system to analyze long-term landscape alteration by beaver. Landsc Ecol 4:5–19
- Johnston A, Dormaar JF, Smoliak S (1971) Long-term grazing effects on fescue grassland soils. J Range Manage 24:185–188
- Johnston CA, Pinay G, Arens C, Naiman RJ (1995) Influence of soil properties on the biogeochemistry of a beaver meadow hydrosequence. Soil Sci Soc Am J 59:1789–1799
- Johnstone JF, Chapin FS (2003) Non-equilibrium succession dynamics indicate continued northern migration of lodgepole pine. Glob Chang Biol 9:1401–1409
- Johnstone JF, Hollingsworth TN, Chapin FS III, Mack MC (2009) Changes in fire regime break the legacy lock on successional trajectories in Alaskan boreal forest. Glob Chang Biol 16(4):1281–1295. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02051.x
- Johnstone JF, Chapin FS III, Hollingsworth TN, Mack MC, Romanovsky V, Turetsky M (2010) Fire, climate change and forest resilience in interior Alaska. Can J Forest Res 40:1302–1312
- Jollineau M, Wilson H, Howarth P (2008) Heterogeneity characteristics of an inland wetland environment through spatio-spectral analysis. Can J Remote Sens 34:206–219
- Jolly WM, Parsons RA, Hadlow AM, Cohn GM, McAllister SS, Popp JB, Hubbard RM, Negron JJ (2012) Relationships between moisture, chemistry, and ignition of *Pinus contorta* needles during the early stages of mountain pine beetle attack. For Ecol Manage 269:52–59
- Jones DD (1975) Stability implications of dispersal linked ecological models. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis Report 75–44
- Jones CG, Lawton JH (eds) (1995) Linking species and ecosystems. Chapman and Hall, New York
- Jones CG, Lawton JH, Schachak M (1994) Organisms as ecosystem engineers. Oikos 69: 373–386
- Jones CG, Lawton JH, Schachak M (1997) Positive and negative effects of organisms as physical ecosystem engineers. Ecology 78:1946–1957
- Jones KB, Neale AC, Nash MS, Van Remortel RD, Wickham JD, Riitters KH, O'Neill RV (2001) Predicting nutrient and sediment loadings to streams from landscape metrics: a multiple watershed study from the United States Mid-Atlantic Region. Landsc Ecol 16:301–312
- Jones KB, Riitters KH, Wickham JD, Tankersley RD, O'Neill RV, Chaloud DJ, Smith ER, Neale AC (2007) An ecological assessment of the United States Mid-Atlantic Region: a landscape atlas. EPA/600/r-97/130. US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington
- Jones KB, Slonecker ET, Nash MS, Neale AC, Wade TG, Hamann S (2010) Riparian habitat changes across the continental United States (1972-2003) and potential implications for sustaining ecosystem services. Landsc Ecol 25:1261–1275

References

THEORY AND

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE	Joost S, Bonin A, Bruford MW, Despres L, Conord C, Erhardt G, Taberlet P (2007) A spatia
	analysis method (SAM) to detect candidate loci for selection: towards a landscape genom-
ECOLOGY IN	ics approach to adaptation. Mol Ecol 16:3955–3969

Jordan TE, Correll DL, Weller DE (1997a) Nonpoint source discharges of nutrients from Piedmont watersheds of Chesapeake Bay. J Am Water Resour Assoc 33(3):631–645

Jordan TE, Correll DL, Weller DE (1997b) Relating nutrient discharges from watersheds to land use and streamflow variability. Water Resour Res 33:2579–2590

Joshi J, Stoll P, Rusterholz HP, Schmid B, Dolt C, Baur B (2006) Small-scale experimental habitat fragmentation reduces colonization rates in species-rich grasslands. Oecologia 148:144–152

Jules ES, Kauffman MJ, Ritts WD, Carroll AL (2002) Spread of an invasive pathogen over a variable landscape: a nonnative root rot on Port Orford cedar. Ecology 83:3167–3181

Justice C, Townshend J, Holben B, Tucker C (1985) Analysis of the phenology of global vegetation using meteorological satellite data. Int J Remote Sens 6:1271–1318

Kalivas DP, Vlachos CE, Economou G, Dimou P (2012) Regional mapping of perennial weeds in cotton with the use of geostatistics. Weed Sci 60:233–243

Kalkhan MA, Stohlgren TJ (2000) Using multi-scale sampling and spatial cross-correlation to investigate patterns of plant species richness. Environ Monit Assess 64:591–605

Kalkhan MA, Stafford EJ, Woodly PJ, Stohlgren TJ (2007) Assessing exotic plant species invasions and associated soil characteristics: a case study in eastern Rocky Mountain National Park, Colorado, USA, using the pixel nested plot design. Appl Soil Ecol 35:622–634

Kane JM, Meinhardt KA, Chang T, Cardall BL, Michalet R, Whitham TG (2011) Droughtinduced mortality of a foundation species (*Juniperus monosperma*) promotes positive afterlife effects in understory vegetation. Plant Ecol 212:733–741

Kappes H, Jordaens K, Hendrickx F, Maelfait JP, Lens L, Backeljau T (2009) Response of snails and slugs to fragmentation of lowland forests in NW Germany. Landsc Ecol 24:685–697

Kareiva PM (1983) Influence of vegetation texture on herbivore populations: resource concentration and herbivore movements. In: Denno RF, McClure M (eds) Variable plants and herbivores in natural and managed systems. Academic, New York, pp 259–289

Kareiva PM (1990) Population dynamics in spatially complex environments: theory and data. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B 33:175–1990

- Kareiva P (1994) Space: the final frontier for ecological theory. Ecology 75:1
- Karr JR (1981) Assessment of biotic integrity using fish communities. Fisheries 6:21-26
- Karr JR (1991) Biological integrity: a long-neglected aspect of water resource management. Ecol Appl 1:66–84
- Kashian DM, Turner MG, Romme WH (2005a) Changes in leaf area and stemwood increment with stand development in Yellowstone National Park: relationships between forest stand structure and function. Ecosystems 8:48–61
- Kashian DM, Turner MG, Romme WH, Lorimer CJ (2005b) Variability and convergence in stand structure with forest development on a fire-dominated landscape. Ecology 86: 643–654
- Kashian DM, Romme WH, Tinker DB, Turner MG, Ryan MG (2006) Carbon storage on landscapes with stand-replacing fires. Bioscience 56:598–606
- Kates RW, Clark WC, Correll R, Hall JM, Jaeger CC, Lowe I, McCarthy JJ, Schellnhuber HJ, Bolin B, Dickson NM, Faucheux S, Gollopin GC, Grübler A, Huntley B, Jäger J, Jodha NS, Kasperson RE, Mabogunje A, Matson P, Mooney H, Moore B III, O'Riordan T, Svedin U (2001) Sustainability science. Science 292:641–642

- Kauffman NJ, Brodie JF, Jules ES (2010) Are wolves saving Yellowstone's aspen ? A landscape-level test of a behaviorally mediated trophic cascade. Ecology 91:2742–2755
- Kauffman MJ, Varley N, Smith DW, Stahler DR, MacNulty DR, Boyce MS (2007) Landscape heterogeneity shapes predation in a newly restored predator-prey system. Ecol Lett 10:690–700
- Kauffman MJ, Brodie JF, Jules ES (2010) Are wolves saving Yellowstone's aspen? A landscape-level test of a behaviorally mediated trophic cascade. Ecology 91:1742–1755
- Kaushal SS, Groffman PM, Mayer PM, Striz E, Gold AJ (2008) Effects of stream restoration on denitrification in an urbanizing watershed. Ecol Appl 18:789–804
- Kaye JP, Groffman PM, Grimm NB, Baker LA, Pouyat RV (2006) A distinct urban biogeochemistry? Trends Ecol Evol 21:192–199
- Keane RE, Morgan P, Running SW (1996a) FIRE-BGC—a mechanistic ecological process model for simulating fire succession on coniferous forest landscapes of the northern Rocky Mountains. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-RP-484
- Keane RE, Ryan KC, Running SW (1996b) Simulating effects of fire on northern Rocky Mountain landscapes with the ecological process model FIRE-BGC. Tree Physiol 16:319–331
- Keane RE, Cary GF, Davies ID, Flannigan MD, Gardner RH, Lavorel S, Lenihan JM, Li C, Rupp TS (2007) Understanding global fire dynamics by classifying and comparing spatial models of vegetation and fire dynamics. In: Canadell J, Pataki D, Pitelka L (eds) Terrestrial ecosystems in a changing world. Springer, Berlin, pp 129–148
- Keane RE, Agee JK, Fulé P, Keeley JE, Key C, Kitchen SG, Miller R, Schulte LA (2008) Ecological effects of large fires on US landscapes: benefit or catastrophe? Int J Wildland Fire 17:696–712
- Keane RE, Hessburg PF, Landres PB, Swanson FJ (2009) The use of historical range and variability (HRV) in landscape management. For Ecol Manage 258:1025–1037
- Keitt TH (2000) Spectral representation of neutral landscapes. Landsc Ecol 15:479-493
- Keitt TH, Urban DL (2005) Scale-specific inference using wavelets. Ecology 86:2497-2504
- Kellner JR, Asner GP, Vitousek PM, Tweiten MA, Hotchkiss S, Chadwick OA (2011) Dependence of forest structure and dynamics on substrate age and ecosystem development. Ecosystems 14:1156–1167
- Kellogg LKB, McKenzie D, Peterson DL, Hessl AE (2008) Spatial models for inferring topographic controls on historical low-severity fire in the eastern Cascade Range of Washington, USA. Landsc Ecol 23:227–240
- Kelly M, Meentemeyer RK (2002) Landscape dynamics of the spread of sudden oak death. Photogramm Eng Remote Sens 68:1001–1009
- Kennedy AD (1997) Bridging the gap between general circulation model (GCM) output and biological microenvironments. Int J Biometeorol 40:119–122
- Kennedy CM, Grant EHC, Neel MC, Fagan WF, Marra PP (2011) Landscape matrix mediates occupancy dynamics of Neotropical avian insectivores. Ecol Appl 21:1837–1850
- Kepner WG, Ramsey MM, Brown ES, Jarchow ME, Dickinson KJM, Mark AF (2012) Hydrologic futures: using scenario analysis to evaluate impacts of forecasted land use change on hydrologic services. Ecosphere 3(7):69
- Kesner BT, Meentemeyer B (1989) A regional analysis of total nitrogen in an agricultural landscape. Landsc Ecol 2:151–164
- Key CH, Benson NC (2006) Landscape assessment: ground measure of severity, the composite burn index, and remote sensing of severity, the normalized burn ratio. In: Lutes DC, Keane RE, Caratti JF, Key CH, Benson NC, Sutherland S, Gangi LG (eds) FIREMON: fire effects monitoring and inventory system. General Technical Report

LANDSCAPE RMRS-GTR-164-CD: LA 1-51. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Ogden

- ECOLOGY INKeyghobadi N, Roland J, Strobeck C (1999) Influence of landscape on the population
genetic structure of the alpine butterfly Parnassius smintheus (Papilionidae). Mol Ecol
8:1481-1495
- PRACTICE Keyghobadi N, Roland J, Matter SF, Strobeck C (2005) Among- and within-patch components of genetic diversity respond at different rates to habitat fragmentation: an empirical demonstration. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 272:553–560
 - Khan MS, Coulibaly P, Dibike Y (2006) Uncertainty analysis of statistical downscaling methods using Canadian Global Climate Model predictors. Hydrol Process 20: 3085-3104
 - Kierstad H, Slobodkin LB (1953) The size of water masses containing plankton blooms. J Mar Res 12:141–147
 - Kiester AR, Scott JM, Csuti B, Noss RF, Butterfield B, Sahr K, White D (1996) Conservation prioritization using GAP data. Conserv Biol 10:1332–1342
 - Killilea ME, Swei A, Lane RS, Briggs CJ, Ostfeld RS (2008) Spatial dynamics of Lyme disease: a review. Ecohealth 5:167–195
 - Kimball DS, Tyers DB, Robison-Cox J, Sowell BF (2011) Aspen recovery since wolf reintroduction on the northern Yellowstone winter range. Rangeland Ecol Manage 64: 119–130
 - Kindlmann P, Burel F (2008) Connectivity measures: a review. Landsc Ecol 23:879-890
 - King AW (1991) Translating models across scales in the landscape. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 479–517
 - Kinzig AP, Ryan P, Etienne M, Allison H, Elmqvist T, Walker BH (2006) Resilience and regime shifts: assessing cascading effects. Ecol Soc 11(1):20, http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss1/art20/
 - Kirilenko AP, Sedjo RA (2007) Climate change impacts on forestry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:19697–19702
 - Kitchell JF (ed) (1992) Food web management: a case study of Lake Mendota, Wisconsin. Springer, New York
 - Kitching RL (1983) Systems ecology. University of Queensland Press, St. Lucia
 - Kittel TG, Rosenbloom FNA, Painter TH, Schimel DS, Fisher HH, Grimsdell A, Participants V, Daly C, Hunt ER Jr (1996) The VEMAP Phase I database: an integrated input dataset for ecosystem and vegetation modeling for the conterminous United States. CDROM and World Wide Web. http://www.cgd.ucar.edu/vmap/
 - Knapp AK, Carter GA (1998) Variability in leaf optical properties among 26 species from a broad range of habitats. Am J Bot 85:940–946
 - Knapp AK, Blair JM, Briggs JM, Collins SL, Hartnett DC, Johnson LC, Towne EG (1999) The keystone role of bison in north American tallgrass prairie: bison increase habitat heterogeneity and alter a broad array of plant, community, and ecosystem processes. Bioscience 49:39–50
 - Knight KS, Reich PB (2005) Opposite relationships between invasibility and native species richness at patch vs. landscape scales. Oikos 109:81–88
 - Knowlton JL, Graham CH (2010) Using behavioral landscape ecology to predict species' responses to land-use and climate change. Biol Conserv 143:1342–1354
 - Knutti R, Sedláček J (2013) Robustness and uncertainties in the new CMIP5 climate model projections. Nat Clim Chang 3:369–373

Koestler A (1967) The ghost in the machine. Macmillan, New York

- Kotliar NB, Wiens JA (1990) Multiple scales of patchiness and patch structure: a hierarchical framework for the study of heterogeneity. Oikos 59:253–260
- Kozak KH, Graham CH, Wiens JJ (2008) Integrating GIS-based environmental data into evolutionary biology. Trends Ecol Evol 23:141–148
- Kramer MG, Hansen AJ, Taper ML, Kissinger EJ (2001) Abiotic controls on long-term windthrow disturbance and temperate rain forest dynamics in southeast Alaska. Ecology 82:2749–2768
- Kratz TK, Webster KE, Bowser CJ, Magnuson JJ, Benson BJ (1997) The influence of landscape position on lakes in northern Wisconsin. Freshw Biol 37:209–217
- Kremen C (2005) Managing ecosystem services: what do we need to know about their ecology? Ecol Lett 8:468–479
- Kremen C, Ostfeld RS (2005) A call to ecologists: measuring, analyzing, and managing ecosystem services. Front Ecol Environ 3:540–548
- Kremen C, Williams NM, Bugg RL, Fay JP, Thorp RW (2004) The area requirements of any ecosystem service: crop pollination by native bee communities in California. Ecol Lett 7:1109–1119
- Kremen C, Williams NM, Aizen MA, Gemmill-Herren B, LeBuhn G, Minckley R, Packer L, Potts SG, Roulston T, Steffan-Dewenter I, Vázquea DP, Winfree R, Adams L, Crone EE, Greenleaf SS, Keitt TH, Klein A-M, Regetz J, Ricketts TH (2007) Pollination and other ecosystem services produced by mobile organisms: a conceptual framework for the effects of land-use change. Ecol Lett 10:299–314
- Krummel JR, Gardner RH, Sugihara G, O'Neill RV, Coleman PR (1987) Landscape patterns in a disturbed environment. Oikos 48:321–324
- Kuhman TR, Pearson SM, Turner MG (2010) Effects of land-use history and the contemporary landscape on non-native plant invasion at local and regional scales in the forestdominated southern Appalachians. Landsc Ecol 25:1433–1445
- Kuhman TR, Pearson SM, Turner MG (2011) Agricultural land-use history increases nonnative plant invasion in a southern Appalachian forest a century after abandonment. Can J Forest Res 41:920–929
- Kuhn TS (1996) The structure of scientific revolutions, 3rd edn. University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Kulakowski D, Veblen TT (2007) Effect of prior disturbances on the extent and severity of wildfire in Colorado subalpine forests. Ecology 88:759–769
- Kumar S, Stohlgren TJ, Chong GW (2006) Spatial heterogeneity influences native and nonnative plant species richness. Ecology 87:3186–3199
- Kunkel K, Pletscher DH (2001) Winter hunting patterns of wolves in and near Glacier National Park, Montana. J Wildl Manage 65:520–530
- Kupfer JA (2012) Landscape ecology and biogeography: rethinking landscape metrics in a post-FRAGSTATS landscape. Prog Phys Geogr 36:400–420
- Kupfer JA, Myers AT, McLane SE, Melton GN (2008) Patterns of forest damage in a southern Mississippi landscape caused by Hurricane Katrina. Ecosystems 11:45–60
- Kurz WA, Stinson G, Rampley GJ, Dymond CC, Neilson ET (2008) Risk of natural disturbances makes future contribution of Canada's forests to the global carbon cycle highly uncertain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:1551–1555
- Kurz WA, Dymond CC, White TM, Stinson G, Shaw CH, Rampley GJ, Smyth C, Simpson BN, Neilson ET, Tyofymow JA, Metsaranta J, Apps MJ (2009) CBM-CFS3: a model of

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPE carbon-dynamics in forestry and land-use change implementing IPCC standards. Ecol Model 220:480–504
- ECOLOGY INKuuluvainen T, Kimmo S, Kalliola R (1998) Structure of a pristine Picea abies forest in
northeastern Europe. J Veg Sci 9:563–574THEORY ANDIntermediate Sci 9:563–574
 - Lack D (1942) Ecological features of the bird fauna of British small islands. J Anim Ecol 11:9-36
 - Lain EJ, Haney A, Burris JM, Burton J (2008) Response of vegetation and birds to severe wind disturbance and salvage logging in a southern boreal forest. For Ecol Manage 256:863-871
 - Lambin EF (1997) Modelling and monitoring land-cover change processes in tropical regions. Prog Phys Geogr 21:375–393
 - Landhäusser SM, Deshaies D, Lieffers VJ (2010) Disturbance facilitates rapid range expansion of aspen into higher elevations of the Rocky Mountains under a warming climate. J Biogeogr 37:68–76
 - Landres PB, Morgan P, Swanson FJ (1999) Overview of the use of natural variability concepts in managing ecological systems. Ecol Appl 9:1179–1188
 - Lane DR, BassiriRad H (2005) Diminishing spatial heterogeneity in soil organic matter across a prairie restoration chronosequence. Restor Ecol 13:403–412
 - Lange R, Diekotter T, Schiffmann LA, Wolters V, Durka W (2012) Matrix quality and habitat configuration interactively determine functional connectivity in a widespread bush cricket at a small spatial scale. Landsc Ecol 27:381–392
 - Langford WT, Gergel SE, Dietterich TG, Cohen W (2006) Map misclassification can cause large errors in landscape pattern indices: examples from habitat fragmentation. Ecosystems 9:474–488
 - Lathrop RG, Tulloch DL, Hatfield C (2007) Consequences of land use change in the New York-New Jersey Highlands, USA: landscape indicators of forest and watershed integrity. Landsc Urban Plan 79:150–159
 - Laundré JW (2010) Behavioral response races, predator-prey shell games, ecology of fear, and patch use of pumas and their ungulate prey. Ecology 91:2995–3007
 - Laundre JW, Hernandez L, Attendorf KB (2001) Wolves, elk, and bison: reestablishing the "landscape of fear" in Yellowstone National Park, USA. Can J Zool 79(8):1401–1409
 - Laurance WF (2008) Theory meets reality: how habitat fragmentation research has transcended island biogeographic theory. Biol Conserv 141:1731–1744
 - Laurance WF, Curran TJ (2008) Impacts of wind disturbance on fragmented tropical forests: a review and synthesis. Austral Ecol 33:399–408
 - Laurance WF, Goosem M, Laurance SGW (2009) Impacts of roads and linear clearings on tropical forests. Trends Ecol Evol 24:659–669
 - Lavorel S, Chesson P (1995) How species with different regeneration niches coexist in patchy habitats with local disturbances. Oikos 74:103–114
 - Lavorel S, Garnier E (2002) Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. Funct Ecol 16:545–556
 - Lavorel S, Grigulis K, Lamarque P, Colace MP, Garden D, Girel J, Pellet G, Douzet R (2011) Using plant functional traits to understand the landscape distribution of multiple ecosystem services. J Ecol 99:135–147
 - Law R, Illian J, Burslem D, Gratzer G, Gunatilleke CVS, Gunatilleke I (2009) Ecological information from spatial patterns of plants: insights from point process theory. J Ecol 97:616–628

- Lee H, Schuur EAG, Vogel JG, Lavoie M, Bhadra D, Staudhammer CL (2011) A spatially *References* explicit analysis to extrapolate carbon fluxes in upland tundra where permafrost is thawing. Glob Chang Biol 17:1379–1393
- Legendre P (1993) Spatial autocorrelation: trouble or new paradigm. Ecology 74: 1659–1673
- Legendre P, Fortin M-J (1989) Spatial pattern and ecological analysis. Vegetatio 80:107-138
- Legendre L, Legendre P (1998) Numerical ecology. Elsevier Scientific, Amsterdam
- Legendre P, Dale MRT, Fortin MJ, Gurevitch J, Hohn M, Myers D (2002) The consequences of spatial structure for the design and analysis of ecological field surveys. Ecography 25:601–615
- Legendre P, Dale MRT, Fortin MJ, Casgrain P, Gurevitch J (2004) Effects of spatial structures on the results of field experiments. Ecology 85:3202–3214
- Leith H, Whittaker RH (eds) (1975) Primary productivity of the biosphere. Springer, New York
- Lenoir J, Gegout JC, Pierrat JC, Bontemps JD, Dhote JF (2009) Differences between tree species seedling and adult altitudinal distribution in mountain forests during the recent warm period (1986-2006). Ecography 32:765–777
- Lenton TM, Heid H, Kriegler E, Hall JW, Lucht W, Rahmstorf S, Schellnhuber HJ (2008) Tipping elements in the Earth's climate system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 1786–1793
- Leopold AS (1933) Game management. Scribner's, New York
- Lertzman K, Fall J (1998) From forest stands to landscapes: spatial scales and the roles of disturbances. In: Peterson EL, Parker VT (eds) Ecological scale: theory and applications. Columbia University Press, New York, pp 339–367
- Leroux S, Loreau M (2012) Dynamics of reciprocal pulsed subsidies in local and meta-ecosystems. Ecosystems 15:48–59
- Levey DJ, Bolker BM, Tewksbury JJ, Sargent S, Haddad NM (2005) Bird foraging behaviors scale up to predict corridor effects on seed dispersal. Science 309:146–148
- Levin SA (1976a) Spatial patterning and the structure of ecological communities. Lect Math Life Sci 8:1–35
- Levin SA (1976b) Population dynamics models in heterogeneous environments. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 7:287–310
- Levin SA (1978) Population models and community structure in heterogeneous environments. In: Levin SA (ed) Studies in mathematical biology series—studies in mathematics (Mathematical Association of America), vol 2. Populations and Communities, Mathematical Association of America, Washington, pp 439–476
- Levin SA (1992) The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73:1943–1967
- Levin SA, Paine RT (1974a) The role of disturbance in models of community structure. In: Levin SA (ed) Ecosystem analysis and prediction. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, pp 55–63
- Levin SA, Paine RT (1974b) Disturbance, patch formation and community structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 71:2744–2747
- Levin SA, Powell TM, Steele JH (eds) (1993) Patch dynamics. Lecture notes in biomathematics. Springer, New York
- Levins R (1966) The strategy of model building in population biology. Am Sci 54:421-431
- Levins R (1969) Some demographic and genetic consequences of environmental heterogeneity for biological control. Bull Entomol Soc Am 15:237–240

 LAUDSTAFF Levins R (1970) Extinctions. In: Some mathematical questions in biology (Lectures on mathematical society, Providence, pp 77-107 EVIDRY IN EVIN R, Culver D (1971) Regional coexistence of species and competition between rare species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 68:1246-1248 Levy PE, Friend AD, White A, Cannell MGR (2004) The influence of land use change on global-scale fluxes of carbon from trenstrial cocystems. Clim Change 67:185–209 Lewis MA (1997) Variability, patchiness, and jump dispersal in the spread of an invading population. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P (eds) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 46–69 Lewis CW, Hodges KE, Koehler GM, Mills LS (2011) Influence of stand and landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1993) A new contagion index to quantify spatial patterns of landscape. Lands: Ecol 8155–162 Li H, Reynolds JF (1993) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity in categorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Kennolds JF (1993) Constraints and state and segate matrix. Sinter Recognit 38:2626–2638 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Li XH (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape matrics. Neutrem Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landse Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1992) Gocostraitistics and geographic information	432	
 EPOLIST IN Levins R, Culver D (1971) Regional coexistence of species and competition between rare species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 68:1246–1248 Levy PE, Friend AD, White A, Cannell MGR (2004) The influence of land use change on global-scale fluxes of carbon from terrestrial ecosystems. Clim Change 67:185–209 Lewis MA (1997) Variability, patchiness, and jump dispersal in the spread of an invading population. In: Tilman D, Karciva P (eds) Spatial coology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 46–69 Lewis CW, Hodges KE, Koehler GM, Mills LS (2011) Influence of stand and landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1993) A new contagion index to quantify spatial patterns of landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity in categorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landse Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Fauluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent areal landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and a	LANDSCAPE	Levins R (1970) Extinctions. In: Some mathematical questions in biology (Lectures on mathematics in the life sciences). American Mathematical Society Providence, pp. 77–107
 THEORY AND Species, Proc. Natl Acad Sci U S A 68:1246–1248 Levy PE, Friend AD, White A, Cannell MGR (2004) The influence of land use change on global-scale fluxes of carbon from terrestrial ecosystems. Clim Change 67:185–209 Lewis MA (1997) Variability, patchiness, and jump dispersal in the spread of an invading population. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P (eds) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 46–69 Lewis CW, Hodges KE, Kochler GM, Mills LS (2011) Influence of stand and landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial patterns of landscapes. Landsc Ecol 81:557–162 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Tanklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spis TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autorgressive models. In ecology. Lou Mongr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entonol 38:303–327 Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: tis use and abuse.	ECOLOGY IN	Levins R, Culver D (1971) Regional coexistence of species and competition between rare
 PRACIDE Lewis MA (1997) Variability, patchiness, and jumg dispersal in the spread of an invading population. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P (eds) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 46–69 Lewis CW, Hodges KE, Kochler GM, Mills LS (2011) Influence of stand and landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1993) A new contagion index to quantify spatial patterns of landscape. Landsc Ecol 8:155–162 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity in categorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y. (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autorogressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (1985) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pa	THEORY AND	species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 68:1246–1248 Levy PE, Friend AD, White A, Cannell MGR (2004) The influence of land use change on global scale fluxes of carbon from terrestrial ecosystems. Clim Change 67:185–209
 Landse Ecol 8:155–162 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity in categorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape	PRACTICE	 Lewis MA (1997) Variability, patchiness, and jump dispersal in the spread of an invading population. In: Tilman D, Kareiva P (eds) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 46–69 Lewis CW, Hodges KE, Koehler GM, Mills LS (2011) Influence of stand and landscape features on snowshoe hare abundance in fragmented forests. J Mammal 92:561–567 Li H, Reynolds JF (1993) A new contagion index to quantify spatial patterns of landscapes.
 Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity in categorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollher PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. E		Landsc Ecol 8:155–162
 Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape connectivity affects as ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologi		Li H, Reynolds JF (1994) A simulation experiment to quantify spatial heterogeneity in cat- egorical maps. Ecology 75:2446–2455
 Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2003) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology. Mirror Lake and its environnment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach is use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer D (2006) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Pres		Li H, Reynolds JF (1995) On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73:280–284
 Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting patterns: a simulation approach. Landsc Ecol 8:63–75 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–11		Li H, Wu J (2004) Use and misuse of landscape indices. Landsc Ecol 19:389–399
 Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Li H, Franklin JF, Swanson FJ, Spies TA (1993) Developing alternative forest cutting
 neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Li XZ, He HS, Wang XG, Bu RC, Hu YM, Chang Y (2004) Evaluating the effectiveness of
 Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1995) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		neutral landscape models to represent a real landscape. Landsc Urban Plan 69:137–148 Li XZ, He HS, Bu RC, Wen QC, Chang Y, Hu YM, Li YH (2005) The adequacy of different landscape metrics for various landscape patterns. Pattern Recognit 38:2626–2638
 Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1995) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Liang JJ (2012) Mapping large-scale forest dynamics: a geospatial approach. Landsc Ecol 27:1091–1108
 Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Lichstein JW, Simons TR, Shriner SA, Franzreb KE (2002) Spatial autocorrelation and autoregressive models in ecology. Ecol Monogr 72:445–463
 Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Liebold AM, Rossi RE, Kemp WP (1993) Geostatistics and geographic information systems in applied insect ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 38:303–327
 Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Likens GE (ed) (1985) An ecosystem approach to aquatic ecology: Mirror Lake and its environment. Springer, New York
 Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Likens GE (1995) The ecosystem approach: its use and abuse. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf Likens GE (1998) Limitations to intellectual progress in ecosystem science. In: Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York, pp 247–271
 Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant spe- cies diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and con- servation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Lima SL, Zollner PA (1996) Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol Evol 11:131–135
 Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant species diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Lin GF, Chen GR (2005) Quantifying uncertainty of the semivariogram of transmissivity of an existing groundwater monitoring network. Hydrol Process 19:2023–2034
 Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and conservation synthesis. Island Press, Washington Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Lindborg R, Eriksson O (2004) Historical landscape connectivity affects present plant spe- cies diversity. Ecology 85:1840–1845
 Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110 		Lindenmayer D (2006) Habitat fragmentation and landscape change: an ecological and con- servation synthesis. Island Press, Washington
Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110		Lindenmayer DB (2009) Large-scale landscape experiments: lessons from Tumut. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 287 pp
		Lindenmayer DB, Cunningham SA (2013) Six principles for managing forests as ecologically sustainable ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 28:1099–1110

- Lindenmayer DB, Hobbs RJ (eds) (2007) Managing and designing landscapes for conservation: moving from perspectives to principles. Blackwell, Oxford
- Lindenmayer DB, Nix HA (1993) Ecological principles for the design of wildlife corridors. Conserv Biol 7:627–630
- Lindenmayer D, Hobbs RJ, Montague-Drake R et al (2008) A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. Ecol Lett 11:78–91
- Linder P, Elfving B, Zackrisson O (1997) Stand structure and successional trends in virgin boreal forest reserves in Sweden. For Ecol Manage 98:17–33
- Lindroth RL, St. Clair SB (2013) Adaptations of quaking aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.) for defense against herbivores. For Ecol Manage 299:14–21
- Littell JS, McKenzie D, Peterson DL, Westerling AL (2009) Climate and wildfire area burned in western U.S. ecoprovinces, 1916-2003. Ecol Appl 19:1003–1021
- Littell JS, Oneil EE, McKenzie D, Hicke JA, Lutz JA, Norheim RA, Elsner MM (2010) Forest ecosystems, disturbance, and climatic change in Washington State, USA. Clim Change 102:129–158
- Little AM, Guntenspergen GR, Allen TFH (2012) Wetland vegetation dynamics in response to beaver (*Castor canadensis*) activity at multiple scales. Ecoscience 19:246–257
- Liu J, Hull V, Morzillo AT, Wiens JA (2011) Sources, sinks and sustainability. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Lobell DB, Burke MB, Tebaldi C, Mastrandrea MD, Falcon WP, Naylor RL (2008) Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. Science 319:607–610
- LoGiudice K, Ostfeld RS, Schmidt KA, Keesing F (2003) The ecology of infectious disease: effects of host diversity and community composition on Lyme disease risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:567–571
- Long JN (2009) Emulating natural disturbance regimes as a basis for forest management: a North American view. For Ecol Manage 257:1868–1973
- Longley P (2005) Geographic information systems and science. Wiley, Chichester
- Lookingbill TR, Minor ES (In press) Assessing multi-scale landscape connectivity using network analysis. In: Gergel SE, Turner MG (eds) Learning landscape ecology, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
- Lookingbill TR, Urban DL (2003) Spatial estimation of air temperature differences for landscape-scale studies in montane environments. Agr Forest Meteorol 114:141–151
- Lookingbill TR, Gardner RH, Wainger LA, Tague CL (2008) Landscape modelling. In: Jorgensen SE, Fath BD (eds) Encyclopedia of ecology. Elsevier B.V., Oxford, pp 2108–2116
- Lookingbill TR, Kaushal SS, Gardner RH, Elmore AJ, Morgan RP, Hilderbrand RH, Eshleman KN, Boynton WR, Palmer MA, Dennison WC (2009) Altered ecological flows blur boundaries in urbanizing watersheds. Ecol Soc 14:10
- Lookingbill TR, Gardner RH, Ferrari JR, Keller CE (2010) Combining a dispersal model with network theory to assess habitat connectivity. Ecol Appl 20:427–441
- Loreau M, Holt RD (2004) Spatial flows and the regulation of ecosystems. Am Nat 163:606-615
- Loreau M, Mouguet N, Holt RD (2003) Meta-ecosystems: a theoretical framework for a spatial ecosystem ecology. Ecol Lett 6:673–679
- Lottig NR, Stanley EH, Hanson PC, Kratz TK (2011) Comparison of regional stream and lake chemistry: differences, similarities, and potential drivers. Limnol Oceanogr 56: 1551–1562

LANDSCAPE	Lottig NR, Wagner T, Henry EH, Cheruvelil KS, Webster KE, Downing JA, Stow CA (2014) Long-term citizen-collected data reveal geographical patterns and temporal trends in lake
ECOLOGY IN	water clarity. PLoS One 9(4):395769. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0095769
THEORY AND	10:17–25
PRACTICE	Lovett GM, Jones CG, Turner MG, Weathers KC (eds) (2005) Ecosystem function in hetero- geneous landscapes. Springer, New York
	 Lowe WH, McPeek MA (2014) Is dispersal neutral? Trends Ecol Evol 29:444–450 Lucchini V, Fabbr E, Marucco F, Ricci S, Boitani L et al (2002) Noninvasive molecular tracking of colonizing wolf (<i>Canis lupus</i>) packs in the western Italian Alps. Mol Ecol 11:857–868
	Ludwig JA, Wiens JA, Tongway DJ (2000) A scaling rule for landscape patches and how it applies to conserving soil resources in savannas. Ecosystems 3:84–97
	Lundberg J, Moberg F (2003) Mobile link organisms and ecosystem functioning: implica- tions for ecosystem resilience and management. Ecosystems 6:87–98
	Lynch HJ, Renkin RA, Crabtree RL, Moorcroft PR (2006) The influence of previous moun- tain pine beetle (<i>Dendroctonus ponderosae</i>) activity on the 1988 Yellowstone fires. Ecosystems 9:1318–1327
	Lynn BH, Rind D, Avissar R (1995) The importance of mesoscale mirculations generated by subgrid-scale landscape heterogeneities in general-circulation models. J Climate 8: 191–205
	Mabry KE, Barrett GW (2002) Effects of corridors on home range sizes and interpatch movements of three small mammal species. Landsc Ecol 17:629-636
	MacArthur RH (1972) Geographical ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton
	MacArthur RH, Wilson EO (1963) An equilibrium theory of insular zoogeography. Evolution 17:373–387
	MacArthur RH, Wilson EO (1967) The theory of island biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton
	Mace GM, Norris K, Fitter AH (2012) Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. Trends Ecol Evol 27:19–26
	Macilwain C (1996) Biosphere 2 begins fight for credibility. Nature 380:275
	Maes J, Paracchini ML, Zulian G, Dunbar MB, Alkemade R (2012) Synergies and trade-offs between ecosystem service supply, biodiversity, and habitat conservation status in Europe. Biol Conserv 155:1–12
	Magnuson JJ (1990) Long-term ecological research and the invisible present. Bioscience 40:495-501
	Magnuson JJ, Benson BJ, Kratz TK (1990) Temporal coherence in the limnology of a suite of lakes in Wisconsin, USA. Freshw Biol 23:145–159
	Magnuson JJ, Kratz TK, Frost TM, Bowser CJ, Benson BJ, Nero R (1991) Expanding the temporal and spatial scales of ecological research and comparison of divergent ecosystems: roles for LTER in the United States. In: Risser PG (ed) Long-term ecological research. Wiley, New York, pp 45–70
	Malanson GP (1984) Intensity as a third factor of disturbance regime and its effect on spe- cies diversity. Oikos 43:411–413
	Mandelbrot BB (1983) The fractal geometry of nature. Freeman, New York
	Mandelbrot BB (1985) Self-affine fractals and fractal dimension. Phys Scr 32:257–260 Manel S, Schwartz MK, Luikart G, Taberlet P (2003) Landscape genetics: combining land-

- Manier MK, Arnold SJ (2006) Ecological correlates of population genetic structure: a comparative approach using a vertebrate metacommunity. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 273:3001-3009
- Mankin JB, O'Neill RV, Shugart HH, Rust BW (1975) The importance of validation in ecosystem analysis. In: New directions in the analysis of ecological systems, part 1. Simulation councils proceedings series. Simulation Councils, LaJolla, pp 63–71
- Manly BFJ, McDonald L, Thomas DL, McDonald TL, Erickson WP (2002) Resource selection by animals: statistical design and analysis for field studies. Kluwer Academic, Norwell
- Marrou J, Quiot JB, Dueil M, Labonne G, Leclant F, Renoust M (1979) Ecology and epidemiology of cucumber mosaic virus: effects of natural windbreaks and surrounding vegetable crops on cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) epidemics. Ann Phytopathol Soc Jpn 11:375–392 (cited in Plantegenest et al. 2004)
- Marsh GP (1864) Man and nature; or, physical geography as modified by human action. Reprinted 1965. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Martin ME, Aber JD (1997) High spectral resolution remote sensing of forest canopy lignin, nitrogen, and ecosystem processes. Ecol Appl 7:431–443
- Martin ML, Soranno PA (2006) Lake landscape position: relationships to hydrologic connectivity and landscape features. Limnol Oceanogr 51:801–814
- Martin EA, Reineking B, Seo B, Steffan-Dewenter I (2013) Natural enemy interactions constrain pest control in complex agricultural landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:5534–5539
- Mas J-F, Gao Y, Pacheco JAN (2010) Sensitivity of landscape pattern metrics to classification approaches. For Ecol Manage 2010:1215–1224
- Massol F, Gravel D, Mouquet N, Cadotte MW, Fukami T, Liebold MA (2011) Linking community and ecosystem dynamics through spatial ecology. Ecol Lett 14:313–323
- Mather P, Koch M (2011) Computer processing of remotely sensed images: an introduction. Wiley, Oxford
- May RM (1973) Stability and complexity in model ecosystems. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Mayor SJ, Schaefer JA, Schneider DC, Mahoney SP (2007) Spectrum of selection: new approaches to detecting the scale-dependent response to habitat. Ecology 88:1634–1640
- Mazerolle MJ, Villard MA (1999) Patch characteristics and landscape context as predictors of species presence and abundance: a review. Ecoscience 6:117–124
- McClain ME, Boyer EW, Dent CL, Gergel SE, Grimm NB, Groffman PM, Hart SC, Harvey JW, Johnston CA, Mayorga E, McDowell WH, Pinnay G (2003) Biogeochemical hot spots and hot moments at the interface of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems 6:301–312
- McClanahan TR (1986) The effect of seed source on primary succession in a forest ecosystem. Vegetatio 65:175–178
- McCollin D (1993) Avian distribution patterns in a fragmented wooded landscape (North Humberside, UK): the role of between patch and within-patch structure. Glob Ecol Biogeogr Lett 3:48–62
- McCulloch ES, Tello JS, Whitehead A, Rolon-Mendoza CMJ, Maldonado-Rodriguez MCD, Stevens RD (2013) Fragmentation of Atlantic forest has not affected gene flow of a widespread seed-dispersing bat. Mol Ecol 22:4619–4633
- McCullough IM, Loftin CS, Sader SA (2012) Combining lake and watershed characteristics with Landsat TM data for remote estimation of regional lake clarity. Remote Sens Environ 123:109–115

LANDSCAPE	McCullough IM, Loftin CS, Sader SA (2013) Landsat imagery reveals declining clarity of
	Main's lakes during 1995-2010. Freshw Sci 32:741–752
ECOLOGY IN	Mcdonald RI, Forman RTT, Kareiva P, Neugarten R, Salzer D, Fisher J (2009) Urban effects,
	distance, and protected areas in an urbanizing world. Landsc Urban Plan 93:63–75
THEORY AND	McDonnell MI Habs AK (2008) The use of gradient analysis studies in advancing our
	Webolinen Wij, Hans AK (2008) The use of gradient analysis studies in advancing our
PRACTICE	tions. Landsc Ecol 23:1143–1155
	McGarigal K. Marks BI (1995) FRAGSTATS. Spatial analysis program for quantifying land-
	scape structure. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-351
	McGarigal K, McComb WC (1995) Relationships between landscape structure and breed-
	ing birds in the Oregon Coast Range. Ecol Monogr 65:235–260
	McGarigal K, Tagil S, Cushman SA (2009) Surface metrics: an alternative to patch metrics
	for the quantification of landscape structure. Landsc Ecol 24:433-450
	McHarg IL (1969) Design with nature. Natural History Press, Garden City
	McInnes PF, Naiman RJ, Pastor J, Cohen Y (1992) Effects of moose browsing on vegetation
	and litter of the boreal forest, Isle Royale, Michigan, USA, Ecology 75:478-488
	McKenzie D. Hessl AF. Kellogg I KB (2006) Ilsing neutral models to identify constraints on
	low severity for regimes Landes Fool 21:129-152
	N L LIVE DE L L L (1004) D L L LIVE L L LIVE L L L LIVE
	McLaughlin JF, Roughgarden J (1991) Pattern and stability in predator-prey communities:
	how diffusion in spatially variable environments affects the Lotka-Volterra model. Theor
	Popul Biol 40:148–172
	McNah WH (1992) A topographic index to quantify the effect of message land form on

McNab WH (1993) A topographic index to quantify the effect of mesoscale land-form on site productivity. Can J Forest Res 23:1100–1107

McNaughton SJ, Reuss RW, Seagle SW (1988) Large mammals and process dynamics in African ecosystems. Bioscience 38:794–800

Meddens AJH, Hicke JA, Ferguson CA (2012) Spatiotemporal patterns of observed bark beetle-caused tree mortality in British Columbia and the western United States. Ecol Appl 22:1876–1891

Meehan TD, Hurlbert AH, Gratton C (2010) Bird communities in future bioenergy landscapes of the Upper Midwest. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:18533–18538

Meentemeyer V (1984) The geography of organic decomposition rates. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 74:551–560

Meentemeyer V, Box EO (1987) Scale effects in landscape studies. In: Turner MG (ed) Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Springer, New York, pp 15–34

Meentemeyer RK, Haas SE, Vaclavik T (2012) Landscape epidemiology of emerging infectious diseases in natural and human-altered ecosystems. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50:379–402

Meisel JE, Turner MG (1998) Scale detection in real and artificial landscapes using semivariance analysis. Landsc Ecol 13:347–362

Melbourne BA, Cornell HV, Davies KF, Dugaw CJ, Elmendorf S, Freestone AL, Hall RJ, Harrison S, Hastings A, Holland M, Holyoak M, Lambrinos J, Moors K, Yokomizo H (2007) Invasion in a heterogeneous world: resistance, coexistence or hostile takeover? Ecol Lett 10:77–94

Melillo JM, Richmond TC, Yohe GW (2014) Climate change impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. US Global Change Research Program, Washington

Mermoz M, Kitzberger T, Veblen TT (2005) Landscape influences on occurrence and spread of wildfires in Patagonian forests and shrublands. Ecology 86:2705–2715

- Merriam G (1991) Corridors and connectivity: animal populations in heterogeneous environments. In: Saunders DA, Hobbs RJ, Ehrlich PR (eds) Nature conservation 3: reconstruction of fragmented ecosystems. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, pp 133–142
- Metzgar JN, Fjeld RA, Hammonds JS, Hoffman FO (1998) Evaluation of software for propagating uncertainty through risk assessment models. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 4:263–290
- Meyer WB (1995) Past and present land use and land cover in the USA. Consequences 1:25-33
- Meyn A, White PS, Buhk C, Jentsch A (2007) Environmental drivers of large, infrequent wildfires: the emerging conceptual model. Prog Phys Geogr 31:287–312
- Miao S, Zou CB, Breshears DB (2009) Vegetation responses to extreme hydrological events: sequence matters. Am Nat 173:113–118
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) Ecosystems and human wellbeing: synthesis. Island Press, Washington
- Miller TE (1982) Community diversity and interactions between the size and frequency of disturbance. Am Nat 120:533–536
- Miller JR, Hobbs RJ (2002) Conservation where people live and work. Conserv Biol 16:330-337
- Miller MS, Swihart RK (2004) Ecologically scaled recognition of patches within a GIS environment. In: Swihart RK, Moore JE (eds) Conserving biodiversity in agricultural land-scapes. Purdue University Press, West Lafayette, pp 103–120, 336 pp
- Miller JR, Turner MG, Smithwick EAH, Dent CL, Stanley EH (2004) Spatial extrapolation: the science of predicting ecological patterns and processes. Bioscience 54:310–320
- Miller JD, Safford HD, Crimmins M, Thode AE (2009) Quantitative evidence for increasing forest fire severity in the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascade Mountains, California and Nevada, USA. Ecosystems 12:16–32
- Millspaugh SH, Whitlock C, Bartlein PJ (2000) Variations in fire frequency and climate over the past 17 000 yr in central Yellowstone National Park. Geology 28:211–214
- Millward AA, Kraft CE, Warren DR (2010) Ice storm damage greater along the terrestrialaquatic interface in forested landscapes. Ecosystems 13:249–260
- Milne BT (1991a) Lessons from applying fractal models to landscape patterns. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 199–235
- Milne BT (1991b) The utility of fractal geometry in landscape design. Landsc Urban Plan 21:81–90
- Milne BT (1992) Spatial aggregation and neutral models in fractal landscapes. Am Nat 139:32-57
- Minnich RA (1983) Fire mosaics in southern California and northern Baja California. Science 219:1287–1294
- Minor ES, Urban DL (2008) A graph-theory framework for evaluating landscape connectivity and conservation planning. Conserv Biol 22:297–307
- Minor ES, McDonald RI, Treml EA, Urban DL (2008) Uncertainty in spatially explicit population models. Biol Conserv 141:956–970
- Miranda BR, Sturtevant BR, Yang J, Gustafson EJ (2009) Comparing fire spread algorithms using equivalence testing and neutral landscape models. Landsc Ecol 24:587–598
- Mitchell MG, Bennett EM, Gonzalez A (2013) Linking landscape connectivity and ecosystem service provision: current knowledge and research gaps. Ecosystems 16:894–908
- Mitchell WA, Lima SL (2002) Predator-prey shell games: large-scale movement and its implications for decision-making by prey. Oikos 99:249–259

- LANDSCAPE Mitchell CE, Turner MG, Pearson SM (2002) Effects of historical land use and forest patch size on myrmecochores and ant communities. Ecol Appl 12:1364–1377
- ECOLOGY INMitchell MGE, Bennett EM, Gonzalez A (2014) Forest fragments modulate the provision of
multiple ecosystem services. J Appl Ecol 51:909–918THEORY ANDImage: State S
 - Mladenoff DJ (2004) LANDIS and forest landscape models. Ecol Model 180:7–19
- PRACTICE Mladenoff DJ, Baker WL (eds) (1999) Spatial modeling of forest landscape change: approaches and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
 - Mladenoff DJ, He HS (1999) Design, behavior and application of LANDIS, an object-oriented model of forest landscape disturbance and succession. In: Mladenoff DJ, Baker WL (eds) Spatial modeling of forest landscapes: approaches and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 125–162
 - Mladenoff DJ, Stearns F (1993) Eastern hemlock regeneration and deer browsing in the northern great-lakes region: a reexamination and model simulation. Conserv Biol 7: 889–900
 - Mladenoff DJ, White MA, Pastor J, Crow TR (1993) Comparing spatial pattern in unaltered old-growth and disturbed forest landscapes. Ecol Appl 3:294–306
 - Mladenoff DJ, White MA, Crow TR, Pastor J (1994) Applying principles of landscape design and management to integrate old-growth forest enhancement and commodity use. Conserv Biol 8:752–762
 - Mladenoff DJ, Sickley TA, Haight RG, Wydeven AP (1995) A regional landscape analysis and prediction of favorable gray wolf habitat in the northern great-lakes region. Conserv Biol 9:279–294
 - Mladenoff DJ, Host GE, Boeder J, Crow TR (1996) LANDIS: a spatial model of forest landscape disturbance, succession, and management. In: Goodchild MF, Steyaert LT, Parks BO (eds) GIS and environmental modeling. National Center for Geographic Information and Analysis, Santa Barbara, pp 175–180
 - Moen RJP, Cohen Y (1997) A spatially explicit model of moose foraging and energetics. Ecology 78:505–521
 - Moen R, Pastor J, Cohen Y (1998) Linking moose population and plant growth models with a moose energetics model. Ecosystems 1:52–63
 - Moilanen A, Hanski I (1998) Metapopulation dynamics: effects of habitat quality and landscape structure. Ecology 79:2503–2515
 - Moilanen A, Nieminen M (2002) Simple connectivity measures in spatial ecology. Ecology 83:1131–1145
 - Molina M, McCarthy J, Wall D, Alley R, Cobb K, Cole J, Das S, Diffenbaugh N, Emanuel K, Frumkin H, Hayhoe L, Parmesan C, Sheppard M (2014) What we know: the reality, risk and response to climate change. American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS) Climate Science Panel, Washington
 - Molofsky J (1994) Population dynamics and pattern formation in theoretical population. Ecology 75:30–39
 - Moody A, Woodcock CE (1995) The influence of scale and the spatial characteristics of landscapes on land-cover mapping using remote sensing. Landsc Ecol 10:363–379
 - Mooney HAP, Vitousek M, Matson PA (1987) Exchange of materials between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. Science 238:926–932
 - Moorcroft PR (2012) Mechanistic approaches to understanding and predicting mammalian space use: recent advances, future directions. J Mammal 93:903–916
 - Morales JM, Haydon DT, Frair J, Holsner KE, Fryxell JM (2004) Extracting more out of relocation data: building movement models as mixtures of random walks. Ecology 85:2436–2445

- Morgan P, Heyerdahl EK, Gibson CE (2008) Multi-season climate synchronized forest fires *References* throughout the 20th century, Northern Rockies, USA. Ecology 89:717–728
- Moritz C, Agudo R (2013) The future of species under climate change: resilience or decline? Science 341:504–508
- Moritz MA, Batllori E, Bradstock RA, Gill AM, Handmer J, Hessburg PF, Leonard J, McCaffrey S, Odion DC, Schoennagel T, Syphard AD (2014) Learning to coexist with wildfire. Nature 515:10–18
- Morris SJ, Boerner REJ (1998) Landscape patterns of nitrogen mineralization and nitrification in southern Ohio hardwood forests. Landsc Ecol 13:215–224
- Morzillo AT, Ferrari JR, Liu JG (2011) An integration of habitat evaluation, individual based modeling, and graph theory for a potential black bear population recovery in southeastern Texas, USA. Landsc Ecol 26:69–81
- Mueller DK, Helsel DR (1996) Nutrients in the nation's waters: too much of a good thing? U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1136
- Murphy HT, Lovett-Doust J (2004) Context and connectivity in plant metapopulations and landscape mosaics: does the matrix matter? Oikos 105:3–14
- Murray JD (1989) Mathematical biology. Springer, New York
- Murray BD, Webster CB, Bump JK (2013) Broadening the ecological context of ungulateecosystem interactions: the importance of space, seasonality, and nitrogen. Ecology 94:1317–1326
- Murwira A, Skidmore AK (2005) The response of elephants to the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation in a southern African agricultural landscape. Landsc Ecol 20:217–234
- Musacchio LR (2009) The scientific basis for the design of landscape sustainability: a conceptual framework for translational landscape research and practice of designed landscape and the six Es of landscape sustainability. Landsc Ecol 24:993–1013
- Musick HB, Grover HD (1991) Image textural measures as indices of landscape pattern. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 77–103
- Myers JH (1976) Distribution and dispersal in populations capable of resource depletion. Oecologia 23:255–269
- Naidoo R, Balmford A, Costanza R, Fisher B, Green RE, Lehner B, Malcolm TR, Ricketts TH (2008) Global mapping of ecosystem services and conservation priorities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:9495–9500
- Naiman RJ (1996) Water, society and landscape ecology. Landsc Ecol 11:193-196
- Naiman RJ (1999) A perspective on interdisciplinary science. Ecosystems 2:292-295
- Naiman RJ, Decamps H (1997) The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 28:621–658
- Naiman RJ, Rogers KH (1997) Large animals and system-level characteristic in river corridors. Bioscience 47:521–529
- Naiman RJ, Pinay G, Johnston CA, Pastor J (1994) Beaver influences on the long-term biogeochemical characteristics of boreal forest drainage networks. Ecology 75:905–921
- Naiman RJ, Magnuson JJ, McKnight DM, Stanford JA (eds) (1995) The freshwater imperative: a research agenda. Island Press, Washington
- Nassauer JI, Corry RC (2004) Using normative scenarios in landscape ecology. Landsc Ecol 19:343–356
- Nassauer JI, Opdam P (2008) Design in science: extending the landscape ecology paradigm. Landsc Ecol 23:633–644
- Nathan R (2008) An emerging movement ecology paradigm. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:19050–19051

- LANDSCAPE National Research Council (2000) Ecological indicators for the Nation. National Academy Press, Washington
- ECOLOGY IN
 National Research Council (2002) Ecological dynamics on Yellowstone's Northern Range.

 National Academy Press, Washington
- PRACTICE National Research Council (2013) Advancing land change modeling: needs and research requirements. National Academy Press, Washington
 - Naveh Z (1982) Landscape ecology as an emerging branch of human ecosystem science. In: MacFadyen A, Ford ED (eds) Advances in ecological research. Academic, New York, pp 189–237
 - Naveh Z, Lieberman AS (1984) Landscape ecology, theory and application. Springer, New York
 - Naveh Z, Lieberman AS (1990) Landscape ecology, theory and application, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
 - Neilson RP, Wullstein LH (1983) Biogeography of two southwest American oaks in relation to atmospheric dynamics. J Biogeogr 10:275–297
 - Nelson R, Keller CC, Ratnaswamy MJ (2005) Locating and estimating the extent of Delmarva fox squirrel habitat using an airborne LiDAR profiler. Remote Sens Environ 96:292–301
 - Nelson E, Mendoza G, Regetz J, Polasky S, Tallis H, Cameron DR, Chan KMA, Daily GC, Goldstein J, Kareiva PM, Lonsdorf E, Naidoo R, Ricketts TH, Shaw MR (2009) Modeling multiple ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, commodity production, and tradeoffs at landscape scales. Front Ecol Environ 7:4–11
 - Nemani RR, White MA, Cayan DR, Jones GV, Running SW, Coughlan JC, Peterson DL (2001) Asymmetric warming over coastal California and its impact on the premium wine industry. Climate Res 19:25–34
 - Nepstad D, Uhl C, Serrao EA (1990) Surmounting barriers to forest regeneration in abandoned, highly degraded pastures: a case study from Paragominas, Para, Brazil. In: Anderson AB (ed) Alternatives to deforestation: steps toward sustainable use of the Amazon rainforest. Columbia University Press, New York, pp 215–229
 - Nero RW, Magnuson JJ (1992) Effects of changing spatial scale on acoustic observations of patchiness in the Gulf Stream. Landsc Ecol 6:279–291
 - Nesslage GM, Maurer BA, Gage SH (2007) Gypsy moth response to landscape structure differs from neutral model predictions: implications for invasion monitoring. Biol Invasions 9:585–595
 - Newton TJ, Woolnough DA, Strayer DL (2008) Using landscape ecology to understand and manage freshwater mussel populations. J North Am Benthol Soc 27:424–439
 - Newton AC, Hill RA, Echeverria C, Golicher D, Rey Benayas JM, Cayuela L, Hinsley SA (2009) Remote sensing and the future of landscape ecology. Prog Phys Geogr 33: 528–546
 - Nicholson MC, Mather TN (1996) Methods for evaluating Lyme disease risks using geographic information systems and geospatial analysis. J Med Entomol 33:711–720
 - Nielsen A, Trolle D, Sondergaard M, Lauridsen TL, Bierring R, Olesen JE, Jeppesen E (2012) Watershed land use effects on lake water quality in Denmark. Ecol Appl 22:1187–1200
 - Nielsen-Gammon JW (2011) The 2011 Texas drought. OSC Report, Office of the State Climatologist, College of Geosciences, Texas A&M University, College Station. http:// atmo.tamu.edu/osc/. Accessed 4 Nov 2011
 - Nijhuis M (2014) The Audubon report: a storm gathers. National Audubon Society, New York, pp 24-32

Nir D (1983) Man, a geomorphological agent. D. Reidel, Boston

- Nitecki MH, Hoffman A (eds) (1987) Neutral models in biology. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Noble IR, Slatyer RO (1980) The use of vital attributes to predict successional changes in plant communities subject to recurrent disturbances. Vegetatio 43:5–21
- Nowakowski AJ, Otero Jimenez B, Allen M, Diaz-Escobar M, Donnelly MA (2013) Landscape resistance to movement of the poison frog, *Oophaga pumilio*, in the lowlands of northeastern Costa Rica. Anim Conserv 16:188–197
- Nuttle T, Haefner JW (2007) Design and validation of a spatially explicit simulation model for bottomland hardwood forests. Ecol Model 200:20–32
- O'Neill RV (1973) Error analysis of ecological models. In: Radionuclides in ecosystems. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, pp 898–908
- O'Neill RV (1979a) Natural variability as a source of error in model predictions. In: Innis GS, O'Neill RV (eds) Systems analysis of ecosystems. International Cooperative Publishing House, Fairland, pp 23–32
- O'Neill RV (1979b) Transmutation across hierarchical levels. In: Innis GS, O'Neill RV (eds) Systems analysis of ecosystems. International Cooperative Publishing House, Fairland, pp 58–78
- O'Neill RV (1989) Perspectives in hierarchy and scale. In: Roughgarden J, May RM, Levin SA (eds) Perspectives in ecological theory. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 140–156
- O'Neill RV, DeAngelis DL, Waide JB, Allen TFH (1986) A hierarchical concept of ecosystems. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- O'Neill RV, Krummel J, Gardner RH, Sugihara G, Jackson B, DeAngelis DL, Milne B, Turner MG, Zygmutt B, Christensen S, Graham R, Dale VH (1988a) Indices of landscape pattern. Landsc Ecol 1:153–162
- O'Neill RV, Milne BT, Turner MG, Gardner RH (1988b) Resource utilization scales and landscape pattern. Landsc Ecol 2:63–69
- O'Neill RV, Gardner RH, Milne BT, Turner MG, Jackson B (1991) Heterogeneity and spatial hierarchies. In: Kolasa J, Pickett STA (eds) Ecological heterogeneity. Springer, New York, pp 85–96
- O'Neill RV, Gardner RH, Turner MG, Romme WH (1992) Epidemiology theory and disturbance spread on landscapes. Landsc Ecol 7:19–26
- O'Neill RV, Jones KB, Riitters KH, Wickham JD, Goodman IA (1994) Landscape monitoring and assessment research plan. U.S. EPA 620/R-94/009. Environmental Protection Agency, Las Vegas
- O'Neill RV, Hunsaker CT, Timmins SP, Jackson BL, Jones KB, Riitters KH, Wickham JD (1996) Scale problems in reporting landscape pattern at the regional scale. Landsc Ecol 11:169–180
- Ockinger E, Schweiger O, Crist TO, Debinski DM, Krauss J, Kuussaari M, Petersen JD, Poyry J, Settele J, Summerville KS, Bommarco R (2010) Life-history traits predict species responses to habitat area and isolation: a cross-continental synthesis. Ecol Lett 13:969–979
- Okubo A (1974) Diffusion-induced instability in model ecosystems: another possible explanation of patchiness. Chesapeake Bay Institute, Technical report 86
- Okubo A (1975) Ecology and diffusion. Tsukiji Shokan, Tokyo
- Okubo A (1980) Diffusion and ecological problems: mathematical models. Springer, Berlin
- Oliver T, Roy DB, Hill JK, Brereton T, Thomas CD (2010) Heterogeneous landscapes promote population stability. Ecol Lett 13:473–484

- LANDSCAPEOliver LM, Lehrter JC, Fisher WS (2011) Relating landscape development intensity to coral
reef condition in the watersheds of St. Croix, US Virgin Islands. Mar Ecol Prog Ser
427:293-302
- THEORY ANDOllinger SV, Smith ML (2005) Net primary production and canopy nitrogen in a temperate
forest landscape: an analysis using imaging spectroscopy, modeling and field data.PRACTICEEcosystems 8:760–778
 - Ollinger SV, Smith ML, Martin ME, Hallett RA, Goodale CL, Aber JD (2002) Regional variation in foliar chemistry and N cycling among forests of diverse history and composition. Ecology 83:339–355
 - Olmanson LG, Bauer ME, Brezonik PL (2008) A 20-yr Landsat water clarity census of Minnesota's 10,000 lakes. Remote Sens Environ 112:4086–4097
 - Omernik JM, Abernathy AR, Male LM (1981) Stream nutrient levels and proximity of agricultural and forest land to streams: some relationships. J Soil Water Conserv 36: 227–231
 - Opdam P (1987) De metapopulatie, model van een populatie in een versnipperd landschap. Landschap 4:289–306
 - Opdam P, Schotman A (1987) Small woods in rural landscape as habitat islands for woodland birds. Acta Oecol 8:269–274
 - Opdam P, Foppen R, Vos C (2001) Bridging the gap between ecology and spatial planning in landscape ecology. Landsc Ecol 16:767–779
 - Ordonez A, Martinuzzi S, Radeloff VC, Williams JW (2014) Combined speeds of climate and land-use change of the conterminous US until 2050. Nat Clim Chang 4:811–816
 - Orzack SH, Sober E (1993) A critical-assessment of Levins's "The strategy of model-building in population biology" (1966). Q Rev Biol 68:533–546
 - Osborne LL, Kovacic DA (1993) Riparian vegetated buffer strips in water quality restoration and stream management. Freshw Biol 29:243–258
 - Osborne LL, Wiley MJ (1988) Empirical relationships between land use/land cover and stream water quality in an agricultural watershed. J Environ Manage 26:9–27
 - Ostapowicz K, Vogt P, Eiirrwea KH, Kozak J, Estreguil C (2008) Impact of scale on morphological spatial pattern of forest. Landsc Ecol 23:1107–1117
 - Ostfeld RS, Glass GE, Keesing F (2005) Spatial epidemiology: an emerging (or re-emerging) discipline. Trends Ecol Evol 20:328–336
 - Overpeck JT, Whitlock C, Huntley B (2003) Terrestrial biosphere dynamics in the climate system: past and future. In: Alverson K, Bradley R, Pedersen T (eds) Paleoclimate, global change and the future. Springer, Berlin, pp 81–111
 - Pace ML, Groffman PM (eds) (1998) Successes, limitations and frontiers in ecosystem science. Springer, New York
 - Pace ML, Cole JJ, Carpenter SR, Kitchell JF (1999) Trophic cascades revealed in diverse ecosystems. Trends Ecol Evol 14:483–488
 - Page WG, Jenkins MJ (2007a) Mountain pine beetle-induced changes to selected lodgepole pine fuel complexes within the Intermountain region. Forest Sci 53:507–518
 - Page WG, Jenkins MJ (2007b) Predicted fire behavior in selected mountain pine beetleinfested lodgepole pine. Forest Sci 53:662-674
 - Paine RT (1974) Intertidal community structure: experimental studies on the relationship between a dominant competitor and its principal predator. Oecologia 15:93–120
 - Paine RT (1976) Size limited predation: an observational and experimental approach with the *Mytilus-Pisaster* interaction. Ecology 57:858–873
 - Paine RT, Tegner M, Johnson EA (1998) Compounded perturbations yield ecological surprises: everything else is business as usual. Ecosystems 1:535–545

Palmer MW (1992) The coexistence of species in fractal landscapes. Am Nat 139:375–397

- Palmer MW, McGlinn DJ (2015) Scale detection using semivariograms and autocorrelograms. In: Gergel SE, Turner MG (eds) Learning landscape ecology, 2nd edn. Springer, New York, pp xxx-xxx
- Palmer MW, McGlinn DJ (2016) Scale detection using semivariograms and autocorrelograms. In: Gergel SE, Turner MG (eds) Learning landscape ecology, 2nd edn. Springer, New York (In press)
- Pan WW, Tatang MA, McRae GJ, Prinn RG (1998) Uncertainty analysis of indirect radiative forcing by anthropogenic sulfate aerosols. J Geophys Res Atmos 103:3815–3823
- Parisien M-A, Parks SA, Miller C, Krawchuk MA, Heathcott M, Moritz MA (2011) Contributions of ignitions, fuels, and weather to the burn probability of a boreal landscape. Ecosystems 14:1141–1155
- Parker VT, Pickett STA (1998) Historical contingency and multiple scales of dynamics within plant communities. In: Peterson EL, Parker VT (eds) Ecological scale: theory and applications. Columbia University Press, New York, pp 171–193
- Parks SA, Parisien M-A, Miller C (2012) Spatial bottom-up controls on fire likelihood vary across western North America. Ecosphere 3(1). doi:10.1890/ES11-00298.1
- Parmesan C, Yohe G (2003) A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421:37-42
- Parsons WFJ, Knight DH, Miller SL (1994) Root gap dynamics in lodgepole pine forest: nitrogen transformation in gaps of different size. Ecol Appl 4:354–362
- Parsons M, McLoughlin CA, Kotschy KA, Rogers KH, Rountree MW (2005) The effects of extreme floods on the biophysical heterogeneity of river landscapes. Front Ecol Environ 3:487–494
- Parton WJ, McKeown B, Kirchner V, Ojima D (1992) Users guide for the CENTURY model. Colorado State University, Fort Collins
- Pasqual-Hortal L, Saura S (2006) Comparison and development of new graph-based landscape connectivity indices: towards the prioritization of habitat patches and corridors for conservation. Landsc Ecol 21:959–967
- Pastor J, Post WM (1988) Response of northern forests to CO₂-induced climate change. Nature 334:55–58
- Pastor J, Moen R, Cohen Y (1997) Spatial heterogeneities, carrying capacity, and feedbacks in animal–landscape interactions. J Mammal 78:1040–1052
- Pastor J, Cohen Y, Moen R (1999) Generation of spatial patterns in boreal forest landscapes. Ecosystems 2:439–450
- Patten B (ed) (1971) Systems analysis and simulation in ecology. Academic, New York
- Patterson WA, Foster DR (1990) Tabernacle pines: the rest of the story. J For 88:23-25
- Pauchard A, Alaback PB (2004) Influence of elevation, land use, and landscape context on patterns of alien plant invasions along roadsides in protected areas of south-central Chile. Conserv Biol 18:238–248
- Paul MJ, Meyer JL (2001) Streams in the urban landscape. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 32: 333-365
- Peacor SD (2002) Positive effects of predators on prey growth rate through induced modifications of prey behavior. Ecol Lett 5:77–85
- Pearson SM (1993) The spatial extent and relative influence of landscape-level factors on wintering bird populations. Landsc Ecol 8:3–18
- Pearson SM, Gardner RH (1997) Neutral models: useful tools for understanding landscape patterns. In: Bisonnette JA (ed) Wildlife and landscape ecology: effects of pattern and scale. Springer, New York, pp 215–230

References

LANDSCAPE	Pearson SM, Turner MG, Wallace LL, Romme WH (1995) Winter habitat use by large ungu-
	lates following fires in northern Yellowstone National Park. Ecol Appl 5:744–755
ECOLOGY IN	Pearson SM, Turner MG, Gardner RH, O'Neill RV (1996) An organism-based perspective
	of habitat fragmentation. In: Szaro RC (ed) Biodiversity in managed landscapes: theory
INCONT AND	and practice. Oxford University Press, Covelo, pp 77-95
PRACTICE	Pearson SM, Smith AB, Turner MG (1998) Forest fragmentation, land use, and cove-forest

- herbs in the French Broad River Basin. Castanea 63:382–395 Pearson SM, Turner MG, Drake JB (1999) Simulating land-cover change and species' habi
 - tats in the southern Appalachian Highlands and the Olympic Peninsula. Ecol Appl 9:1288–1304

Pedroli B, Pinto-Correia T, Cornish P (2006) Landscape—what's in it? Trends in European landscape science and priority themes for concerted research. Landsc Ecol 21:421–430

Peet RK, Christensen NL (1980) Succession: a population process. Vegetatio 43:131–140 Pellissier L, Pottier J, Vittoz P, Dubuis A, Guisan A (2010) Spatial pattern of floral morphol-

- ogy: possible insight into the effects of pollinators on plant distributions. Oikos 119: 1805-1813
- Perera AH, Buse LJ, Weber MG (eds) (2004) Emulating natural forest landscape disturbances. Columbia University Press, New York
- Perera AH, Buse LJ, Crow TR (eds) (2006) Forest landscape ecology. Springer, New York
- Perez KT, Morrison GE, Davey EW, Lackie NF, Johnson RL, Murphy PG, Heltshe JF (1991) Influence of size on fate and ecological effects of kepone in physical models. Ecol Appl 1:237–248
- Perovich DK (2011) The changing arctic sea ice cover. Oceanography 24:162-173
- Perry GLW (2002) Landscapes, space and equilibrium: shifting viewpoints. Prog Phys Geogr 26:339–359
- Perry GLW, Enright NJ (2006) Spatial modelling of vegetation change in dynamic landscapes: a review of methods and applications. Prog Phys Geogr 30:47–72
- Perry KD, Cahill TA, Eldred RA, Dutcher DD (1997) Long-range transport of North African dust to the eastern United States. J Geophys Res Atmos 102:11225–11238
- Perry GLW, Miller BP, Enright NJ (2006) A comparison of methods for the statistical analysis of spatial point patterns in plant ecology. Plant Ecol 187:59–82
- Perry DA, Hessburg PF, Skinner CN, Spies TA, Stephens SL, Taylor AH, Franklin JF, McComb B, Riegel G (2011) The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. For Ecol Manage 262:703–717
- Peterjohn WT, Correll DL (1984) Nutrient dynamics in an agricultural watershed: observations on the role of a riparian forest. Ecology 65:1466–1475
- Peters DPC, Herrick JE, Urban DL, Gardner RH, Breshears DD (2004a) Strategies for ecological extrapolation. Oikos 106:627–636
- Peters DPC, Pielke RA Sr, Bestelmeyer BT, Allen CD, Munson-McGee S, Havstad KM (2004b) Cross-scale interactions, nonlinearities, and forecasting catastrophic events. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:15130–15135
- Peters DPC, Groffman PM, Nadelhoffer KJ, Grimm NB, Collins SL, Michener WK, Huston MA (2008) Living in an increasingly connected world: a framework for continental-scale environmental science. Front Ecol Environ 5:229–237
- Peters DP, Lugo AE, Chapin FS III, Pickett STA, Duniway M, Rocha AV, Swanson FJ, Laney C, Jones J (2011) Cross-system comparisons elucidate disturbance complexities and generalies. Ecosphere 2(7):art81. doi:10.1890/ES11-00115.1
- Peters DPC, Loescher HW, SanClemente MD, Havstad KM (2014) Taking the pulse of a continent: expanding site-based research infrastructure for regional- to continental-scale ecology. Ecosphere 5(3):art29

- Petersen JE, Kemp WM, Boynton WR, Chen CC, Cornwell JC, Gardner RH, Hinkle DC, References Houde ED, Malone TC, Mowitt WP, Murray L, Roman MR, Sanford LP, Stevenson JC, Sundberg KL, Suttles SE (2003) Multi-scale experiments in coastal ecology: improving realism and advancing theory. Bioscience 53:1181–1197
- Peterson GD (2002) Contagious disturbance, ecological memory, and the emergence of landscape pattern. Ecosystems 5:329–338
- Peterson CJ, Carson WP (1996) Generalizing forest regeneration models: the dependence of propagule availability on disturbance history and stand size. Can J Forest Res 26:45–52
- Peterson CJ, Pickett STA (1995) Forest reorganization: a case study in an old-growth forest catastrophic blowdown. Ecology 76:763–774
- Peterson GD, Cumming GS, Carpenter SR (2003) Scenario planning: a tool for conservation in an uncertain world. Conserv Biol 17:358–366
- Petit DR (1989) Weather-dependent use of habitat patches by wintering birds. J Field Ornithol 60:241–247
- Phillips JD (2007) The perfect landscape. Geomorphology 84:159-169
- Phillips ML, Clark WR, Nusser SM, Sovada MA, Greenwood RJ (2004) Analysis of predator movements in prairie landscapes with contrasting grassland composition. J Mammal 85:187–195
- Pickett STA (1976) Succession: an evolutionary interpretation. Am Nat 110:107-119
- Pickett STA, Cadenasso ML (1995) Landscape ecology: spatial heterogeneity in ecological systems. Science 269:331–334
- Pickett STA, Thompson JN (1978) Patch dynamics and the design of nature reserves. Biol Conserv 13:27–37
- Pickett STA, White PS (eds) (1985) The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic, New York
- Pickett STA, Collins SC, Armesto JJ (1987a) Models, mechanisms and pathways of succession. Bot Rev 53:335–371
- Pickett STA, Collins SC, Armesto JJ (1987b) A hierarchical consideration of causes and mechanisms of succession. Vegetatio 69:109–114
- Pickett STA, Kolasa J, Armesto JJ, Collins SL (1989) The ecological concept of disturbance and its expression at various hierarchical levels. Oikos 54:129–136
- Pickett STA, Kolasa J, Jones CG (1994) Ecological understanding. The nature of theory and the theory of nature. Academic, New York
- Pickett STA, Burch WR Jr, Grove JM (1999) Interdisciplinary research: maintaining the constructive impulse in a culture of criticism. Ecosystems 2:302–307
- Pickett STA, Cadenasso ML, Grove JM, Groffman PM, Band LE, Boone CG, Burch WR, Grimmond CSB, Hom J, Jenkins JC et al (2008) Beyond urban legends: an emerging framework of urban ecology, as illustrated by the Baltimore Ecosystem Study. Bioscience 58:139–150
- Pielke RA (2005) Land use and climate change. Science 310:1625–1626
- Pielou EC (1969) An introduction to mathematical ecology. Wiley, New York
- Pitelka LF, Gardner RH, Ash J, Berry S, Gitay H, Noble IR, Saunders A, Bradshaw RHW, Brubaker L, Clark JS, Davis MB, Sugita S, Dyer JM, Hengeveld R, Hope G, Huntley B, King GA, Lavorel S, Mack RN, Malanson GP, McGlone M, Prentice IC, Rejmanek M (1997) Plant migration and climate change. Am Sci 85:464–473
- Plantegenest M, Le May C, Fabre F (2007) Landscape epidemiology of plant diseases. J R Soc Interface 4:963–972
- Platt JR (1964) Strong inference. Science 146:347-353
- Platt T, Denman KL (1975) Spectral analysis in ecology. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 6:189-210

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPEPlotnick RE, Gardner RH (1993) Lattices and landscapes. In: Gardner RH (ed) Lectures on
mathematics in the life sciences: predicting spatial effects in ecological systems. American
Mathematical Society, Providence, pp 129–157
- THEORY AND Plotnick RE, Prestegaard KL (1993) Fractal analysis of geologic time series. In: Lam N, DeCola L (eds) Fractals in geography. Prentice Hill, New York, pp 207–224
 - Plotnick RE, Gardner RH, O'Neill RV (1993) Lacunarity indexes as measures of landscape texture. Landsc Ecol 8:201–211
 - Plotnick RE, Gardner RH, Hargrove WW, Prestegaard K, Perlmutter M (1996) Lacunarity analysis: a general technique for the analysis of spatial patterns. Phys Rev E 53:5461-5468
 - Plowright EK, Eby P, Hudson PJ, Smith IL, Westcott D, Bryden WL, Middleton D, Reid PA, McFarlane RA, Martin G, Tabor GM, Skerratt LF, Anderson DL, Crameri G, Quammen D, Jordan D, Freeman P, Wang L-F, Epstein JH, Marsh GA, Kung NY, McCallum H (2015) Ecological dynamics of emerging bat virus spillover. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 282(1798):20142124. doi:10.1098/rspb.2014.2124
 - Plue J, Hermy M, Verheyen K, Thuiller P, Saguez R, Decocq G (2008) Persistent changes in forest vegetation and seed bank 1,600 years after human occupation. Landsc Ecol 23:673–688
 - Podur J, Martell DL, Csillag F (2003) Spatial patterns of lightning-caused forest fires in Ontario, 1976-1998. Ecol Model 164:1–20
 - Polasky S, Carpenter SR, Folke C, Keeler B (2011) Decision-making under great uncertainty: environmental management in an era of global change. Trends Ecol Evol 26:398–404
 - Polis GA, Hurd SD (1995) Extraordinarily high spider densities on islands: flow of energy from the marine to terrestrial food webs and the absence of predation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:4382–4386
 - Polis GA, Anderson WB, Holt RD (1997) Toward an integration of landscape and food web ecology: the dynamics of subsidized food webs. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 28:289–316
 - Power AG (2010) Ecosystem services and agriculture: tradeoffs and synergies. Philos Trans R Soc B 365:2959–2971
 - Predick KI, Turner MG (2008) Landscape configuration and flood frequency influence invasive shrubs in floodplain forests of the Wisconsin River (USA). J Ecol 96:91–102
 - Priess JA, Mimler M, Klein A-M, Schwarze S, Tscharntke T, Steffan-Dewenter I (2007) Linking deforestation scenarios to pollination services and economic returns in coffee agroforestry systems. Ecol Appl 17:407–417
 - Prospero JM (1999) Long-range transport of mineral dust in the global atmosphere: impact of African dust on the environment of the southeastern United States. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3396–3403
 - Proulx R, Fahrig L (2010) Detecting human-driven deviations from trajectories in landscape composition and configuration. Landsc Ecol 25:1479–1487
 - Prugh LR (2009) An evaluation of patch connectivity measures. Ecol Appl 19:1300–1310
 - Prugh LR, Hodges KE, Sinclair ARE, Brasheres JS (2008) Effect of habitat area and isolation on fragmented animal populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:20770–20775
 - Pulliam HR (1988) Sources, sinks, and population regulation. Am Nat 132:652-661
 - Pulliam HR, Danielson BJ (1991) Sources, sinks, and habitat selection: a landscape perspective on population dynamics. Am Nat 137:S50–S56
 - Pulliam HR, Dunning JB (1994) Demographic processes: population dynamics on heterogeneous landscapes. In: Meffe GK, Carroll CR (eds) Principles of conservation biology. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, pp 179–205

- Pyke CR (2004) Habitat loss confounds climate change impacts. Front Ecol Environ *References* 2:178–182
- Qiu J, Turner MG (2013) Spatial interactions among ecosystem services in an urbanizing agricultural watershed. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:12149–12154
- Qui J (2009) Tundra's burning. Nature 461:34-36
- Quinn JF, Dunham AE (1983) On hypothesis testing in ecology and evolution. Am Nat 122:602-617
- R Development Core Team (2010) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Development Core Team, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna
- Rabalais NN, Turner JE, Wiseman WJ (2002) Gulf of Mexico hypoxia, A.K.A. "The dead zone". Annu Rev Ecol Syst 33:235–263
- Radeloff VC, Hammer RB, Stewart SI, Fried JS, Holcomb SS, McKeefry JF (2005) The wildland-urban interface in the United States. Ecol Appl 15:799–805
- Radeloff VC, Nelson E, Plantinga AJ, Lewis DJ, Helmers D et al (2012) Economic-based projections of future land use in the conterminous United States under alternative policy scenarios. Ecol Appl 22:1036–1049
- Raffa KF, Aukema BH, Bentz BJ, Carroll AL, Hicke JA, Turner MG, Romme WH (2008) Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: the dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. Bioscience 58:501–517
- Rastetter EB, King AW, Cosby BJ, Hornberger GM, O'Neill RB, Hobbie JE (1992) Aggregating fine-scale ecological knowledge to model coarser-scale attributes of ecosystems. Ecol Appl 2:55–70
- Raudsepp-Hearne C, Peterson GD, Bennett EM (2010) Ecosystem service bundles for analyzing tradeoffs in diverse landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5242–5247
- Reddingius J, Den Boer PJ (1970) Simulation experiments illustrating stabilization of animal numbers by spreading of risk. Oecologia 5:240–284
- Reich PB, Oleksyn J (2009) Global patterns of plant leaf N and P in relation to temperature and latitude. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:11001–11006
- Reich PB, Grigal DF, Aber JD, Gower ST (1997) Nitrogen mineralization and productivity in 50 hardwood and conifer stands on diverse soils. Ecology 78:335–347
- Reiners WA, Driese KL (2001) The propagation of ecological influences through heterogeneous environmental space. Bioscience 51:939–950
- Reiners WA, Driese KL (2004) Transport processes in nature: propagation of ecologica influences through environmental space. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Reiners WA, Lang GE (1979) Vegetational patterns and processes in the balsam fir zone, White Mountains, New Hampshire. Ecology 60:403–417
- Reisen WK (2010) Landscape epidemiology of vector-borne diseases. Annu Rev Entomol 55:461–483
- Reitkerk M, Dekker SC, de Ruiter PC, van de Koppel J (2004) Self-organized patchiness and catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. Science 306:1926–1929
- Remillard MM, Gruendling GK, Bogucki DJ (1987) Disturbance by beaver (*Castor canadensis* Kuhl) and increased landscape heterogeneity. In: Turner MG (ed) Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Springer, New York, pp 103–123
- Remmel TK, Csillag F (2003) When are two landscape pattern indices significantly different? J Geogr Syst 5:331–351
- Renkin RA, Despain DG (1992) Fuel moisture, forest type and lightning-caused fire in Yellowstone National Park. Can J Forest Res 22:37–45
- Renton M, Shackelford N, Standish RJ (2012) Habitat restoration will help some functional plant types persist under climate change in fragmented landscapes. Glob Chang Biol 18:2057–2070

-	
LANDSCAPE Ecology in	Renton M, Childs S, Standish R, Shackelford N (2013) Plant migration and persistence under climate change in fragmented landscapes: does it depend on the key point of vul-
	Paciliance Alliance (2012) http://www.recelliance.org/ Accessed 2 Jap 2015
THEORY AND	Rettie WJ, Messier F (2000) Hierarchical habitat selection by woodland caribou: its rela-
PRACTICE	tionship to limiting factors. Ecography 23:466–478
	Reusch TBH, Wood TE (2007) Molecular ecology of global change. Mol Ecol 16: 3973–3992
	Rhemtulla JM, Mladenoff DJ, Clayton MK (2009) Historical forest baselines reveal poten- tial for continued carbon sequestration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:6082–6087
	Richards JF (1990) Land transformation. In: Turner BL II et al (eds) The Earth as trans- formed by human action. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 163–178
	Richards JA, Jia X (2006) Remote sensing digital image analysis: an introduction. Springer, New York
	Richardson DM, Bond WJ (1991) Determinants of plant distribution: evidence from pine invasions. Am Nat 137:639–668
	Ricketts TH (2004) Tropical forest fragments enhance pollinator activity in nearby coffee crops. Conserv Biol 18:1523–1739
	Riebsame WE, Meyer WB, Turner BL II (1994) Modeling land use and cover as part of global environmental change. Clim Change 28:45–64
	Riera JL, Magnuson JJ, Vande Castle JR, MacKenzie MD (1998) Analysis of large-scale spatial heterogeneity in vegetation indices among North American landscapes. Ecosystems 1:268–282
	Rietkerk M, Dekker SC, de Ruiter PC, van de Koppel J (2004) Self-organized patchiness and catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. Science 305:1926–1929
	Riitters KH, Wickham JD (1995) A landscape atlas of the Chesapeake Bay watershed. Environmental Research Center, Tennessee Valley Authority, Norris
	Riitters KH, O'Neill RV, Hunsaker CT, Wickham JD, Yankee DH, Timmons SP, Jones KB, Jackson BL (1995) A factor analysis of landscape pattern and structure metrics. Landsc Ecol 10:23–40
	Riitters KH, Wickham JD, O'Neill R, Jones B, Smith E (2000) Global-scale patterns of forest fragmentation. Conserv Ecol 4(2):3
	 Riitters KH, Wickham JD, O'Neill RV, Jones KB, Smith ER, Coulston JW, Wade TG, Smith JH (2002) Fragmentation of continental United States forests. Ecosystems 5:815–822 Ripley BD (1977) Modeling spatial patterns. J R Stat Soc Ser B Methodol 39:172–212
	Ripley BD (1978) Spectral analysis and the analysis of pattern in plant communities. J Ecol 66:965–981
	Ripley BD (1979) Tests of 'randomness' for spatial point patterns. J R Stat Soc Ser B 41:368-374
	Ripley BD (1988) Statistical inference for spatial processes. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
	Ripley BD (2005) Spatial statistics. Wiley, New York
	Ripple WJ, Beschta RL (2012) Trophic cascades in Yellowstone: the first 15 years after wolf reintroduction. Biol Conserv 145:205–213

Risch AC, Heiri C, Bugmann H (2005) Simulating structural forest patterns with a forest gap model: a model evaluation. Ecol Model 181:161–172

Risser PA (1995) The Allerton Park workshop revisited—a commentary. Landsc Ecol 10: 129–132

- Risser PG, Karr JR, Forman RTT (1984) Landscape ecology: directions and approaches. *References* Special Publication Number 2. Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaign
- Roberts MR (2004) Response of the herbaceous layer to natural disturbance in North American forests. Can J Bot 82:1273–1283
- Robertson GP, Huston MA, Evans FC, Tiedje JM (1988) Spatial variability in a successional plant community: patterns of nitrogen availability. Ecology 69:1517–1524
- Robinson DT, Brown DG, Currie WS (2009) Modelling carbon storage in highly fragmented and human-dominated landscapes: linking land-cover patterns and ecosystem models. Ecol Model 220:1325–1338
- Rodriguez JP, Beard TJ, Bennett EM, Cumming GS, Cork SJ, Agard J, Dodbson AP, Peterson GD (2006) Trade-offs across space, time and ecosystem service. Ecol Soc 11:28
- Roff DA (1974) The analysis of a population model demonstrating the importance of dispersal in a heterogeneous environment. Oecologia 15:259–275
- Rogers DA, Rooney TP, Olson D, Waller DM (2008) Shifts in southern Wisconsin forest canopy and understory richness, composition, and heterogeneity. Ecology 89(9):2482–2492
- Rogers DA, Rooney TP, Hawbaker TJ, Radeloff VC, Waller DM (2009) Paying the extinction debt in southern Wisconsin forest understories. Conserv Biol 23:1497–1506
- Roland J (1993) Large-scale forest fragmentation increases the duration of tent caterpillar outbreak. Oecologia 93:25–30
- Romero-Calcerrada R, Novillo CJ, Millington JDA, Gomez-Jimenez I (2008) GIS analysis of spatial patterns of human-caused wildfire ignition risk in the SW of Madrid (Central Spain). Landsc Ecol 23:341–354
- Romme WH (1982) Fire and landscape diversity in subalpine forests of Yellowstone National Park. Ecol Monogr 52:199–221
- Romme WH, Despain DG (1989) Historical perspective on the Yellowstone fires of 1988. Bioscience 39:695–699
- Romme WH, Knight DH (1981) Fire frequency and subalpine forest succession along a topographic gradient in Wyoming. Ecology 62:319–326
- Romme WH, Knight DH (1982) Landscape diversity: the concept applied to Yellowstone Park. Bioscience 32:664–670
- Romme WH, Everham EE, Frelich LE, Moritz MA, Sparks RE (1998) Are large, infrequent disturbances qualitatively different from small, frequent disturbances? Ecosystems 1:524–534
- Rose KA, Smith EP, Gardner RH, Brenkert AL, Bartell SM (1991) Parameter sensitivities, Monte Carlo filtering, and model forecasting under uncertainty. J Forecast 10:117–133
- Rosenberg MS, Anderson CD (2011) PASSaGE: pattern analysis, spatial statistics and geographic exegesis. Version 2. Methods Ecol Evol 2:229–232
- Rosenberg DK, Noon BR, Meslow EC (1997) Biological corridors: form, function, and efficacy. Bioscience 47:677–687
- Rossi RE, Mulla DJ, Journel AG, Franz EH (1992) Geostatistical tools for modeling and interpreting ecological spatial dependence. Ecol Monogr 62:277–314
- Rossiter DG (2012) Co-kriging with the gstat package of the R environment for statistical computing. University of Twente, Enschede
- Rowan R, Knowlton N, Baker A, Jara J (1997) Landscape ecology of algal symbionts creates variation in episodes of coral bleaching. Nature 388:265–269
- Rowe JS (1961) The level-of-integration concept and ecology. Ecology 42:420-427
- Ruddiman WF (2008) Earth's climate: past and future. W. H. Freeman, New York

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPE Rüdisser J, Tasser E, Tappeiner E (2012) Distance to nature—a new biodiversity relevant environmental indicator set at the landscape level. Ecol Indic 15:208–216
- ECOLOGY INRule S, Brook BW et al (2012) The aftermath of megafaunal extinction: ecosystem transfor-
mation in Pleistocene Australia. Science 335:1483–1486THEORY ANDThe optimized and the second secon
 - Runkle JR (1985) Disturbance regimes in temperate forests. In: Pickett STA, White PS (eds) The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic, New York, pp 17–34
 - Runkle JR (1991) Gap dynamics of old-growth eastern forests: management implications. Nat Areas J 11:19–25
 - Running SW (1990) Remote sensing of terrestrial primary productivity. In: Hobbs RJ, Mooney HA (eds) Remote sensing of biosphere functioning. Springer, New York, pp 65–85
 - Running SW, Coughlan JC (1988) A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regional applications. I. Hydrologic balance, canopy gas exchange and primary production processes. Ecol Model 42:125–154
 - Running SW, Nemani RR, Peterson DL, Band LE, Potts DF, Pierce LL, Spanner MA (1989) Mapping regional forest evapotranspiration and photosynthesis by coupling satellite data with ecosystem simulation. Ecology 70:1090–1101
 - Russo JM, Zack JW (1997) Downscaling GCM output with a mesoscale model. J Environ Manage 49:19–29
 - Ruzicka M, Miklos L (1990) Basic premises and methods in landscape ecological planning and optimization. In: Zonneveld IS, Forman RTT (eds) Changing landscapes: an ecological perspective. Springer, New York, pp 233–260
 - Rykiel EJ (1996) Testing ecological models: the meaning of validation. Ecol Model 90:229-244
 - Sala OE, Parton WJ, Joyce LA, Lauenroth WK (1988) Primary production of the central grassland region of the United States. Ecology 69:40–45
 - Sang A, Teder T, Helm A, Pärtel M (2010) Indirect evidence for an extinction debt of grassland butterflies half century after habitat loss. Biol Conserv 143:1405–1413
 - Santelmann MV, White D, Freemark K, Nassauer JI, Eilers JM, Vaché KB, Danielson BJ, Corry RC, Clark ME, Polasky S, Cruse RM, Sifneos J, Rustigian H, Coiner C, Wu J, Debinski D (2004) Assessing alternative futures for agriculture in Iowa, USA. Landsc Ecol 19:357–374
 - Saunders D, Hobbs RJ (eds) (1991) Nature conservation 2: the role of corridors. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton
 - Saupe D (1988) Algorithms for random fractals. In: Petigen H-O, Saupe D (eds) The science of fractal images. Springer, New York, pp 71–113
 - Saura S, Torné J (2009) Conefor Sensinode 2.2: a software package for quantifying the importance of habitat patches for landscape connectivity. Environ Model Software 24:135–139
 - Saura S, Vogt P, Valázquez J, Hernando A, Tejera R (2011) Key structural forest connectors can be identified by combining landscape spatial pattern and network analyses. For Ecol Manage 262:150–160
 - Schauber EM, Goodwin BJ, Jones CG, Ostfeld RS (2007) Spatial selection and inheritance: applying evolutionary concepts to population dynamics in heterogeneous space. Ecology 88:1112–1118
 - Scheffer M, Boer RJD (1995) Implications of spatial heterogeneity for the paradox of enrichment. Ecology 76:2270–2277
 - Scheller RM, Mladenoff DJ (2004) A forest growth and biomass module for a landscape simulation model, LANDIS: design, validation, and application. Ecol Model 180:211–229
- Scheller RM, Mladenoff DJ (2007) An ecological classification of forest landscape simulation models: tools and strategies for understanding broad-scale forested ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 22:491-505
- Scheller RM, Domingo JB, Sturtevant BR, Williams JS, Rudy A, Gustafson EJ, Mladenoff DJ (2007) Design, development, and application of LANDIS-II, a spatial landscape simulation model with flexible temporal and spatial resolution. Ecol Model 201:409–419
- Schimel JP, Bennett J (2004) Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. Ecology 85:591–602
- Schmitz OJ (1998) Direct and indirect effects of predation and predation risk in old-field interaction webs. Am Nat 151:327–342
- Schmitz OJ, Krivan V, Ovadia O (2004) Trophic cascades: the primacy of trait-mediated indirect interactions. Ecol Lett 7:153–163
- Schneider DC (1994) Quantitative ecology: spatial and temporal scaling. Academic, San Diego
- Schneider DC (1998) Applied scaling theory. In: Peterson DL, Parker VL (eds) Ecological scale. Columbia University Press, New York, pp 253–269
- Schneider DC, Platt JF (1986) Scale-dependent correlation of seabirds with schooling fish in a coastal ecosystem. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 32:237–246
- Schoennagel T, Veblen TT, Romme WH (2004) The interaction of fire, fuels, and climate across Rocky Mountain forests. Bioscience 54:661–676
- Schoennagel T, Veblen TT, Romme WH, Sibold JS, Cook ER (2005) ENSO and PDO variability affect drought-induced fire occurrence in Rocky Mountain subalpine forests. Ecol Appl 15:2000–2014
- Schoennagel T, Veblen TT, Kulakowski D, Hotz A (2007) Multidecadal climate variability and climate interactions affect subalpine fire occurrence, western Colorado (USA). Ecology 88:2891–2902
- Schoennagel T, Veblen TT, Negrón J, Smith JM (2012) Effects of mountain pine beetle on fuels and expected fire behavior in lodgepole pine forests, Colorado, USA. PLoS One 7(1):e300002
- Schooley RL, Wiens JA (2001) Dispersion of kangaroo rat mounds at multiple scales in New Mexico, USA. Landsc Ecol 16:267–277
- Schreiber KF (1990) The history of landscape ecology in Europe. In: Zonneveld IS, Forman RTT (eds) Changing landscapes: an ecological perspective. Springer, New York, pp 21–33
- Schreiber SJ, Lloyd-Smith JO (2009) Invasions dynamics in spatially heterogeneous environments. Am Nat 174:490–505
- Schröter D, Cramer W, Leemans R, Prentice IC et al (2005) Ecosystem service supply and vulnerability to global change in Europe. Science 310:1333–1337
- Schüepp C, Herrmann JD, Herzog F, Schmidt-Engling MH (2011) Differential effects of habitat isolation and landscape composition on wasps, bees, and their enemies. Oecologia 165:713–721
- Schulte LA, Mladenoff DJ, Crow TR, Merrick LC, Cleland DT (2007) Homogenization of northern U.S. Great Lakes forests due to land use. Landsc Ecol 22:1089–1103
- Schumaker NH (1996) Using landscape indices to predict habitat connectivity. Ecology 77:1210–1225
- Schwartz CC, Gude PH, Landenburger L, Haroldson MA, Podruzny S (2012) Impacts of rural development on Yellowstone wildlife: linking grizzly bear Ursos arctos demographics with projected residential growth. Wildl Biol 18:246–257
- Schwarz PA, Fahey TJ, McCulloch CE (2003) Factors controlling spatial variation of tree species abundance in a forested landscape. Ecology 84:1862–1878

452	
LANDSCAPE	Scott JM, Davis F, Csuti B, Noss R, Butterfield B, Groves C, Anderson H, Caicco S, Derchia F Edwarde TC, Ullimon L, Wright RG (1993) GAP analysis: a geographic approach to
ECOLOGY IN	protection of biological diversity. I Wild! Manage 57:11673
THEORY AND	Seagle SW (2003) Can deer foraging in multiple-use landscapes alter forest nitrogen bud- gets? Oikos 103:230–234
PRACTICE	Seagle SW, McNaughton SJ (1992) Spatial variation in forage nutrient concentrations and the distribution of Serengeti grazing ungulates. Landsc Ecol 7:229–241
	Sedell JR, Froggatt JL (1984) Importance of streamside forests to large rivers: the isolation of the Willamette River, Oregon, USA, from its floodplain by snagging and streamside forest removal. Verhandlungen des Internationalen Vereins der Limnologie
	Segal LA, Levin SA (1976) Applications of nonlinear stability theory to the study of the effects of diffusion on predator-prey interactions. In: Topics in statistical mechanics and biophysics. Proceedings of the AIP conference 27, pp 123–152
	Seidl R, Schelhaas M-J, Lexer MJ (2011a) Unraveling the drivers of intensifying forest dis- turbance regimes in Europe. Glob Chang Biol 17:2842–2852
	Seidl R, Fernandez PM, Fonseca TF, Gillet F, Jönsson AM, Merganicová K, Netherer S, Arpaci A, Bontemps J-D, Bugmann H, González-Olabarria JR, Lasch P, Meredieu C, Moreira F, Schelhaas M-J, Mohren F (2011b) Modelling natural disturbances in forest ecosystems: a review. Ecol Model 222:903–924
	Sellers PJ (1985) Canopy reflectance, photosynthesis and transpiration. Int J Remote Sens 6:1335–1372
	Sellers PJ (1987) Canopy reflectance, photosynthesis and transpiration. II. The role of bio- physics in the linearity of their interdependence. Remote Sens Environ 21:143–183
	Senft RL, Coughenour MB, Bailey DW, Rittenhouse LR, Sala OE, Swift DM (1987) Large herbivore foraging and ecological hierarchies. Bioscience 37:789–799
	Shafer JM, Varljen MD (1990) Approximation of confidence-limits on sample semivario- grams from single realizations of spatially correlated random-fields. Water Resour Res 26:1787–1802
	Shaver GR, Knadelhoffer KJ, Giblin AE (1991) Biogeochemical diversity and element trans- port in a heterogeneous landscape, the north slope of Alaska. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 105–125
	Shen W, Lin Y, Jenerett GD, Wu J (2011) Blowing litter across a landscape: effects on eco- system nutrient flux and implications for landscape management. Landsc Ecol 26: 629–644
	Shi YS, Xiao JY, Shen YJ, Yamaguchi Y (2012) Quantifying the spatial differences of landscape change in the Hai River Basin, China, in the 1990s. Int J Remote Sens 33:4482–4501
	Short RA, Cushman SA, Mace R, Chilton T, Kendall KC, Landguth EL, Schwartz MK, McKelvey K, Allendort FW, Luikart G (2011) Why replication is important in landscape genetics: American black bear in the Rocky Mountains. Mol Ecol 20:1092–1107
	Shugart HH Jr, West DC (1981) Long-term dynamics of forest ecosystems. Am Sci 69:647-652
	Siemann E, Brown JH (1999) Gaps in mammalian body size distributions reexamined. Ecology 80:2788-2792
	Simard M, Powell EN, Raffa KF, Turner MG (2012) What explains landscape patterns of bark beetle outbreaks in Greater Yellowstone? Glob Ecol Biogeogr 21:556–567
	Simard M, Romme WH, Griffin JM, Turner MG (2011) Do mountain pine beetle outbreaks

change the probability of active crown fire in lodgepole pine forests? Ecol Monogr 81:3-24

- Simberloff D (1974) Equilibrium theory of island biogeography and ecology. Annu Rev Ecol *References* Syst 5:161–182
- Simberloff D, Cox J (1987) Consequences and costs of conservation corridors. Conserv Biol 1:63–71
- Simberloff D, Wilson EO (1969) Experimental zoogeography of islands. The colonization of empty islands. Ecology 50:278–296
- Simberloff D, Wilson EO (1970) Experimental zoogeography of islands. A two-year record of colonization. Ecology 50:278–316
- Simpson JB (1974) Glacial migration of plants: island biogeography evidence. Science 185:698-700
- Sisk TD, Haddad NM, Ehrlich PR (1997) Bird assemblages in patchy woodlands: modeling the effects of edge and matrix habitats. Ecol Appl 7:1170–1180
- Skellam JG (1951) Random dispersal in theoretical populations. Biometrika 38:196-218
- Sklar FH, Costanza R (1990) The development of dynamic spatial models for landscape ecology: a review and prognosis. In: Turner MG, Gardner RH (eds) Quantitative methods in landscape ecology. Springer, New York, pp 239–288
- Sleeter BM, Sohl TL, Bouchard MA, Reker RR, Soulard CE et al (2012) Scenarios of land use and land cover change in the conterminous United States: utilizing the special report on emissions scenarios at ecoregional scales. Glob Environ Chang 22:896–914
- Smith M, Keevin T, Mettler-McClure P, Barkau R (1998) Effect of the flood of 1993 on Boltonia decurrens, a rare floodplain plant. Regul River Res Manage 14:191–202
- Smith ML, Martin ME, Plourde L, Ollinger SV (2003) Analysis of hyperspectral data for estimation of temperate forest canopy nitrogen concentration: comparison between an airborne (AVIRIS) and a spaceborne (Hyperion) sensor. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens 41:1332–1337
- Smithwick EAH (2006) Editorial: role of microbial communities in mediating ecosystem response to disturbance. Plant Soil 289:1–3
- Smithwick EAH, Harmon ME, Domingo JB (2003) Modeling multiscale effects of light limitations and edge-induced mortality on carbon stored in forest landscapes. Landsc Ecol 18:701–721
- Smithwick EAH, Mack MC, Turner MG, Chapin FS III, Zhu J, Balser TC (2005) Spatial heterogeneity and soil nitrogen dynamics in a burned black spruce forest stand: distinct controls at different scales. Biogeochemistry 76:517–537
- Smithwick EAH, Ryan MG, Kashian DM, Romme WH, Tinker DB, Turner MG (2009) Modeling the effects of fire and climate change on carbon and nitrogen storage in lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) stands. Glob Chang Biol 15:535–548
- Smithwick EAH, Naithani KJ, Balser TC, Romme WH, Turner MG (2012) Post-fire spatial patterns of soil nitrogen mineralization and microbial abundance. PLoS One 7(11):e50597 Smuts JC (1926) Holism and evolution. Macmillan, New York
- Sollins P, Spycher G, Topik C (1983) Processes of soil organic matter accretion at a mudflow chronosequence, Mt. Shasta, California. Ecology 64:1273–1282
- Solomon AM (1986) Transient response of forests to CO₂-induced climate change: simulation modeling experiments in eastern North America. Oecologia 68:567–579
- Soranno PA, Hubler SL, Carpenter SR, Lathrop RC (1996) Phosphorus loads to surface waters: a simple model to account for spatial pattern of land use. Ecol Appl 6:865–878
- Soranno PA, Webster KE, Riera JL, Kratz TK, Baron JS, Bukaveckas PA, Kling GW, White DS, Caine N, Lathrop RC, Leavitt PR (1999) Spatial variation among lakes within landscapes: ecological organization along lake chains. Ecosystems 2:395–410

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPESoranno PA, Cheruvelil KS, Webster KE, Bremigan MT, Wagner T, Stow CA (2010) Using
landscape limnology to classify freshwater ecosystems for multi-ecosystem management
and conservation. Bioscience 60:440–454
- THEORY AND Sork VL, Waits L (2010) Contributions of landscape genetics: approaches, insights, and future potential. Mol Ecol 19:389–3495
 - Soule ME, Simberloff D (1986) What do genetics and ecology tell us about the design of nature reserves? Biol Conserv 2:75–92
 - Sparks RE, Nelson JC, Yin Y (1998) Naturalization of the flood regime in regulated rivers. Bioscience 48:706–720
 - Spear SF, Peterson CR, Matocq MD, Storfer A (2005) Landscape genetics of the blotched tiger salamander (*Ambystoma tigrinum melanostictum*). Mol Ecol 14:2553–2564

Spies TAW, Ripple J, Bradshaw GA (1994) Dynamics and pattern of a managed coniferous forest landscape in Oregon. Ecol Appl 4:555–568

- Sprugel DG (1976) Dynamic structure of wave-generated *Abies balsamea* forests in the north-eastern United States. J Ecol 64:889–911
- Sprugel DG (1985) Natural disturbance and ecosystem energetics. In: Pickett STA, White PS (eds) The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic, New York, pp 335–352
- Sprugel DG, Bormann FH (1981) Natural disturbance and the steady state in high-altitude balsam fir forests. Science 211:390–393
- Stanford JA (1998) Rivers in the landscape: introduction to the special issue on riparian and groundwater ecology. Freshw Biol 40:402–406

Stauffer D, Aharony A (1992) Introduction to percolation theory. Taylor & Francis, London

- Steele JS (1974a) Stability of plankton ecosystems. In: Usher MB, Williamson MH (eds) Ecological stability. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 179–191
- Steele JS (1974b) Spatial heterogeneity and population stability. Nature 248:83
- Steffan-Dewenter I, Munzenberg U, Burger C, Thies C, Tscharntke T (2002) Scale-dependent effects of landscape context on three pollinator guilds. Ecology 83:1421–1432
- Steffen W (2009) Interdisciplinary research for managing ecosystem services. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:1301–1302
- Steiner FR (2008) The living landscape: an ecological approach to landscape planning, 2nd edn. Island Press, Washington
- Stephens SL, Agee JK, Fulé PZ, North MP, Romme WH, Swetnam TW, Turner MG (2013) Managing forests and fire in changing climates. Science 342:41–42
- Stewart RIA, Dossena M, Bohan DA, Jeppesen E, Kordas RL, Ledger ME, Meerhoff M, Moss B, Mulder C, Shurin JB, Suttle B, Thompson R, Trimmer M, Woodward G (2013) Mesocosm experiments as a tool for ecological climate-change research. In: Woodward G, Ogorman EJ (eds) Advances in ecological research: global change in multispecies systems, Pt 3, pp 71–181
- Stoker TI (1926) Bats, bat towers and mosquitoes. J Mammal 7:85-90
- Storfer A, Murphy MA, Evans JS, Goldberg CS, Robinson S, Spear SF, Dezzani R, Delmelle E, Vierling L, Watts LP (2007) Putting the 'landscape' in landscape genetics. Heredity 98:128–142
- Storfer A, Murphy MA, Spear SF, Hoderegger R, Waits LP (2010) Landscape genetics: where are we now? Mol Ecol 19:3496–3514
- Strand L (1972) A model for stand growth. In: IUFRO third conference advisory group of forest statisticians. INRA, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, Paris, pp 207–216

- Strayer DL, Ewing HA, Bigelow S (2003a) What kind of spatial and temporal details are *References* required in models of heterogeneous systems? Oikos 102:654–662
- Strayer DL, Beighley RE, Thompson LC, Brooks S, Nilsson C, Pinay G, Naiman RJ (2003b) Effects of land cover on stream ecosystems: roles of empirical models and scaling issues. Ecosystems 6:407–423
- Strong DR (1980) Null hypotheses in ecology. Synthese 43:271-285
- Sturtevant CS, Oechel WC (2013) Spatial variation in landscape-level CO2 and CH4 fluxes from arctic coastal tundra: influence from vegetation, wetness, and the thaw lake cycle. Glob Chang Biol 19:2853–2866
- Sturtevant BR, Miranda BR, Yang J, He HS, Gustafson EJ, Scheller RM (2009) Studying fire mitigation strategies in multi-ownership landscapes: balancing the management of firedependent ecosystems and fire risk. Ecosystems 12:445–461
- Styers DM, Chappelka AH, Marzen LJ, Somers GL (2010) Scale matters: indicators of ecological health along the urban-rural interface near Columbus, Georgia. Ecol Indic 10:224–233
- Sukachef VN (1944) Principles of genetical classification in biogeocoenology (Russ). Zh Obshch Biol (USSR) 6
- Sukachef VN (1945) Biogeocoenology and phytocoenology. Read Acad Sci USSR 4:g (Russ)
- Sullivan LL, Johnson BL, Brudvig LA, Haddad NM (2011) Can dispersal mode predict corridor effects on plant parasites? Ecology 92:1559–1564
- Sutherland JP (1974) Multiple stable points in natural communities. Am Nat 108:859-873
- Swanson FJ, Kratz TK, Caine N, Woodmansee RG (1988) Landform effects on ecosystem patterns and processes. Bioscience 38:92–98
- Swanson ME, Franklin JF, Beschta RL, Crisafulli CM, DellaSala DA, Hutto RL, Lindenmayer DB, Swanson FJ (2011) The forgotten stage of forest succession: early successional ecosystems on forest sites. Front Ecol Environ 9:117–125
- Swartzman GL, Kaluzny SP (1987) Ecological simulation primer. Macmillan, New York
- Swetnam TW, Lynch AM (1993) Multicentury, regional-scale patterns of western spruce budworm outbreaks. Ecol Monogr 63:399–424
- Swift BL (1974) Status of riparian ecosystems in the United States. Water Resour Bull 20:223-228
- Swift MG, Izac A-MN, van Noordwijk M (2004) Biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes—are we asking the right questions? Agric Ecosyst Environ 104:113–134
- Tallmon DA, Jules ES, Radke NJ, Mills LS (2003) Of mice and men and trillium: cascading effects of forest fragmentation. Ecol Appl 13(5):1193–1203
- Tansley AG (1935) The use and abuse of vegetational concepts and terms. Ecology 16: 284–307
- Taylor AD (1990) Metapopulation, dispersal, and predator-prey dynamics: an overview. Ecology 71:429-433
- Taylor SW, Carroll AL (2004) Disturbance, forest age, and mountain pine beetle outbreak dynamics in BC: a historical perspective. In: Shore TL, Brooks JE, Stone JE (eds) Mountain pine beetle symposium: challenges and solutions. Information Report BC-X-399. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Center, Victoria, pp 41–56
- Teixido N, Garrabou J, Arntz WE (2002) Spatial pattern quantification of Antarctic benthos communities using landscape indices. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 242:1–14
- Teixido N, Garrabou J, Gutt J, Arntz WE (2007) Iceberg disturbance and successional spatial patterns: the case of the shelf Antarctic benthic communities. Ecosystems 10: 142–157

LANDSCAPE	Terborgh J (1975) Faunal equilibria and the design of wildlife preserves. In: Golley FB,
	Medina E (eds) Tropical ecology systems. Springer, New York, pp 369–380
ECULUUT IN	Tewksbury JJ, Levey DJ, Haddad NM, Sargent S, Orrock JL, Weldon A, Danielson BJ,
THEORY AND	Brinkerhoff J, Damschen El, Townsend P (2002) Corridors affect plants, animals, and their interactions in fragmented landscapes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:12923–12926
PRACTICE	Thaker M, Vanak AT, Owen CR, Ogden MB, Niemann SM, Slotow R (2011) Minimizing predation risk in a landscape of multiple predators: effects on the spatial distribution of African ungulates. Ecology 92:398–407
	Theobald DM, Romme WH (2007) Expansion of the US wildland-urban interface. Landsc Urban Plan 83:340–354
	Theobald DM, Crooks KR, Norman JB (2011) Assessing effects of land use on landscape connectivity: loss and fragmentation of western U.S. forests. Ecol Appl 21:2445–2458Thies C, Steffan-Dewenter I, Tscharntke T (2003) Effects of landscape context on herbivory
	and parasitism at different spatial scales. Oikos 101:18–25
	Thomas CD (2010) Climate, climate change and range boundaries. Divers Distrib 16: 488-495
	Thomaz SM, Bini LM, Bozelli RL (2007) Floods increase similarity among aquatic habitats in river-floodplain systems. Hydrobiologia 579:1–13
	Thompson JR, Duncan SL, Johnson KN (2009) Is there potential for the historical range of variability to guide conservation given the social range of variability? Ecol Soc 14(1):18, http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol14/iss1/art18/
	Thornton DH, Branch LC, Sunquist ME (2011) The influence of landscape, patch, and within-patch factors on species presence and abundance: a review of focal patch studies. Landsc Ecol 26:7–18
	Thornton PK, Ericksen PJ, Herrero M, Challinor AJ (2014) Climate variability and vulner- ability to climate change: a review. Glob Chang Biol 20:3313–3328
	Thurston J, Moore JP, Poiker TK (2003) Integrated geospatial technologies: a guide to GPS, GIS, and data logging. Wiley, New York
	Tilman D, Kareiva P (eds) (1997) Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Monographs in population biology. Princeton University Press, Princeton
	Tilman D, May RM, Lehman CL, Nowak MA (1994) Habitat destruction and the extinc- tion debt. Nature 371:65–66
	Tinker DB, Romme WH, Despain DG (2003) Historic range of variability in landscape structure in subalpine forests of the Greater Yellowstone Area, USA. Landsc Ecol 18: 427–439
	Tischendorf L, Fahrig L (2000) On the usage and measurement of landscape connectivity. Oikos 90:7–19
	Tjallingii SP, de Veer AA (eds) (1982) Perspectives in landscape ecology. Proceedings of the International Congress of the Netherlands Society for Landscape Ecology. PUDOC, Wageningen
	Tobler WF (1970) A computer movie simulating urban growth in the Detroit region. Econ Geogr 46:234–240
	Tongway DJ, Ludwig JA (2011) Restoring disturbed landscapes. Island Press, Washington Townsend PA, Foster JR, Chastain RA, Currie WS (2003) Application of imaging spectros- copy to mapping canopy nitrogen in the forests of the central Appalachian Mountains using Hyperion and AVIRIS. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens 41:1347–1354 Travis IMI (2003) Climate change and habitat destruction: a deadly anthropogenic cocktail
	Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 270:467–473

- Troll C (1939) Luftbildplan und okologische Bodenforschung. Zeitschrift der Gesellschaft References für Erdkund, Berlin, pp 241–298
- Troll C (1950) Die geographische Landschaft und ihre Erforschung. Stud Gen 3
- Tscharntke T, Klein AM, Kruess A, Steffan-Dewenter I, Thies C (2005) Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity—ecosystem service management. Ecol Lett 8:857–874
- Tscharntke T, Bommarco R, Clough Y, Crist TO, Kleijn D, Rand TA, Tylianakis J, van Nouhuys S, Vidal S (2007) Conservation biological control and enemy diversity on a landscape scale. Biol Control 43:294–309
- Tscharntke T, Tylianakis JM, Rand TA, Didham RK, Fahrig L et al (2012) Landscape moderation of biodiversity patterns and processes—eight hypotheses. Biol Rev 87:661–685
- Tucker DJ, Townshend JRG, Goff TE (1985) African land cover classification using satellite data. Science 227:369–374
- Turchin P (1998) Quantitative analysis of movement: measuring and modeling population redistribution in animals and plants. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland
- Turetsky MR (2004) Decomposition and organic matter quality in continental peatlands: the ghost of permafrost past. Ecosystems 7:740–750
- Turner MG (ed) (1987a) Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Springer, New York
- Turner MG (1987b) Land use changes and net primary production in the Georgia, USA, landscape: 1935-1982. Environ Manage 11:237–247
- Turner MG (1989) Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 20:171–197
- Turner MG (1990) Spatial and temporal analysis of landscape patterns. Landsc Ecol 4:21-30
- Turner MG (2005) Landscape ecology: what is the state of the science? Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:319–344
- Turner MG (2010) Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. Ecology 91:2833-2849
- Turner MG (2015) Twenty-five years of US landscape ecology: looking back and forging ahead. In: Barrett GW, Barrett T, Wu J (eds) History of landscape ecology in the United States. Springer, New York, p 45–54
- Turner MG, Bratton SP (1987) Fire, grazing and the landscape heterogeneity of a Georgia barrier island. In: Turner MG (ed) Landscape heterogeneity and disturbance. Springer, New York, pp 85–101
- Turner MG, Carpenter SR (1999) Tips and traps in interdisciplinary research. Ecosystems 2:275–276
- Turner MG, Chapin FS III (2005) Causes and consequences of spatial heterogeneity in ecosystem function. In: Lovett GM, Jones CG, Turner MG, Weathers KC (eds) Ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes. Springer, New York, pp 9–30
- Turner MG, Dale VH (1998) Comparing large, infrequent disturbances: what have we learned? Introduction for special feature. Ecosystems 1:493–496
- Turner MG, Gardner RH, O'Neill RV (1995) Ecological dynamics at broad scales. BioScience 45:S29–S35
- Turner BL II, Meyer WB (1993) Environmental change: the human factor. In: McDonnell MJ, Pickett STA (eds) Humans as components of ecosystems. Springer, New York, pp 40–50
- Turner BL II, Robbins P (2008) Land-change science and political ecology: similarities, differences and implications for sustainability science. Annu Rev Environ Resour 33: 295–316

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE Turner MG, Romme WH (1994) Landscape dynamics in crown fire ecosystems. Landsc Ecol 9:59–77

 ECOLOGY IN
 Turner MG, Ruscher CL (1988) Changes in landscape patterns in Georgia, USA. Landsc

 Ecol 1:241–251

- Turner MG, Simard M (2015) Disturbance and landscape structure. In: Gergel SE, Turner MG (eds) Learning landscape ecology, 2nd edn. Springer, New York, pp xxx–xxx
 - Turner MG, Gardner RH, Dale VH, O'Neill RV (1989a) Predicting the spread of disturbance across heterogeneous landscapes. Oikos 55:121–129
 - Turner MG, O'Neill RV, Gardner RH, Milne BT (1989b) Effects of changing spatial scale on the analysis of landscape pattern. Landsc Ecol 3:153–162
 - Turner MG, Romme WH, Gardner RH, O'Neill RV, Kratz TK (1993) A revised concept of landscape equilibrium: disturbance and stability on scaled landscapes. Landsc Ecol 8: 213–227
 - Turner MG, Hargrove WH, Gardner RH, Romme WH (1994a) Effects of fire on landscape heterogeneity in Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming. J Veg Sci 5:731–742
 - Turner MG, Romme WH, Gardner RH (1994b) Landscape disturbance models and the long-term dynamics of natural areas. Nat Areas J 14:3–11
 - Turner MG, Arthaud GJ, Engstrom RT, Hejl SJ, Liu J, Loeb S, McKelvey K (1995a) Usefulness of spatially explicit animal models in land management. Ecol Appl 5:12–16
 - Turner MG, Wear DN, Flamm RO (1996) Land ownership and land-cover change in the southern Appalachian Highlands and the Olympic Peninsula. Ecol Appl 6:1150–1172
 - Turner MG, Dale VH, Everham EE III (1997a) Fires, hurricanes and volcanoes: comparing large-scale disturbances. Bioscience 47:758–768
 - Turner MG, Romme WH, Gardner RH, Hargrove WW (1997b) Effects of patch size and fire pattern on early post-fire succession on the Yellowstone Plateau. Ecol Monogr 67: 411–433
 - Turner MG, Baker WL, Peterson C, Peet RK (1998a) Factors influencing succession: lessons from large, infrequent natural disturbances. Ecosystems 1:511–523
 - Turner MG, Carpenter SR, Gustafson EJ, Naiman RJ, Pearson SM (1998b) Land use. In: Mac MJ, Opler PA, Doran P, Haecker C (eds) Status and trends of our nation's biological resources, vol 1. National Biological Service, Washington, pp 37–61
 - Turner MG, Pearson SM, Bolstad P, Wear DN (2003a) Effects of land-cover change on spatial pattern of forest communities in the southern Appalachian Mountains (USA). Landsc Ecol 18:449–464
 - Turner MG, Romme WH, Tinker DB (2003b) Surprises and lessons from the 1988 Yellowstone fires. Front Ecol Environ 1:351–358
 - Turner MG, Gergel SE, Dixon MD, Miller JR (2004a) Distribution and abundance of trees in floodplain forests of the Wisconsin River: environmental influences at different scales. J Veg Sci 15:729–738
 - Turner MG, Tinker DB, Romme WH, Kashian DM, Litton CM (2004b) Landscape patterns of sapling density, leaf area, and aboveground net primary production in postfire lodgepole pine forests, Yellowstone National Park (USA). Ecosystems 7:751–775
 - Turner MG, Romme WH, Smithwick EAH, Tinker DB, Zhu J (2011) Variation in aboveground cover influences soil nitrogen availability at fine spatial scales following severe fire in subalpine conifer forests. Ecosystems 14:1081–1095
 - Turner MG, Donato DC, Romme WH (2013) Consequences of spatial heterogeneity for ecosystem services in changing forest landscapes: priorities for future research. Landsc Ecol 28:1081–1097

- UNCED, Division for Sustainable Development (2007) Indicators of sustainable development. In: Guidelines and methodologies, 3rd edn. United Nations, New York, 93 pp
- Urban D, Keitt T (2001) Landscape connectivity: a graph-theoretic perspective. Ecology 82:1205–1218
- Urban DL, O'Neill RV, Shugart HH (1987) Landscape ecology. Bioscience 37:119-127
- Uriarte M, Yackulic CB, Lim Y, Arce-Nazario JA (2011) Influence of land use on water quality in a tropical landscape: a multi-scale analysis. Landsc Ecol 26:1151–1164
- US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2009) Land-use scenarios: national-scale housing-density scenarios consistent with climate change storylines. EPA/600/R-08/076F. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, Washington. http://www.epa.gov/ncea
- van der Heide T, Eklof JS, van Nes EH, van der Zee EM, Donadi S, Weerman EJ, Olff H, Eriksson BK (2012) Ecosystem engineering by seagrasses interacts with grazing to shape an intertidal landscape. PLoS One 7(8):e42060
- van der Maarl E (1993) Some remarks on disturbance and its relations to diversity and stability. J Veg Sci 3:733–736
- Van Dyne GM (1969) The ecosystem concept in natural resource management. Academic, New York
- Van Holle B, Motzkin G (2007) Historical land use and environmental determinants of nonnative plant distribution in coastal southern New England. Biol Conserv 136:33–43
- van Nes EH, Scheffer M (2005) Implications of spatial heterogeneity for catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems. Ecology 86:1797–1807
- Van Tuyl S, Law BE, Turner DP, Gitelman AI (2005) Variability in net primary production and carbon storage in biomass across Oregon forests—an assessment integrating data from forest inventories, intensive sites, and remote sensing. For Ecol Manage 209: 273–291
- Van Wagner CE (1978) Age-class distribution and the forest fire cycle. Can J Forest Res 8:220–227
- Vander Zanden MJ, Gratton C (2011) Blowin' in the wind: reciprocal airborne carbon fluxes between lakes and land. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 68:170–182
- Vandermeer JH (1973) On the regional stabilization of locally unstable predator-prey relationships. J Theor Biol 41:161–170
- Vasquez GM, Grunwald S, Myers DB (2012) Associations between soil carbon and ecological landscape variables at escalating spatial scales in Florida, USA. Landsc Ecol 27: 355–367
- Vecchi GA, Swanson KL, Soden BJ (2008) Whither hurricane activity? Science 322: 687–689
- Vellend M, Verheyen K, Flinn KM, Jacquemyn H, Kolb A, Van Calster H, Peterken G, Graae BJ, Bellemare J, Honnay O, Brunet J, Wulf M, Gerhardt F, Hermy M (2007) Homogenization of forest plant communities and weakening of species-environment relationships via agricultural land use. J Ecol 95:565–573
- Verheyen K, Vanhellemont M, Stock T, Hermy M (2007) Predicting patterns of invasion by black cherry (*Prunus serotina* Ehrh.) in Flanders (Belgium) and its impact on the forest understorey community. Divers Distrib 13:487–497
- Villa F, Rossi O, Sartore F (1992) Understanding the role of chronic environmental disturbance in the context of island biogeographic theory. Environ Manage 16:653–666
- Vitousek PM, Farrington H (1997) Nutrient limitation and soil development: experimental test of a biogeochemical theory. Biogeochemistry 37:63–75

PRACTICE

- LANDSCAPE Vitousek PM, Howarth RW (1991) Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: how can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13:87–115
- ECOLOGY IN
 Vitousek PM, Melillo JM (1979) Nitrate losses from disturbed forests: patterns and mechanisms. Forest Sci 25:605–619

 THEORY AND
 THEORY AND
 - Vitousek PM, Mooney HA, Lubchenco J, Melillo JM (1997a) Human domination of earth's ecosystems. Science 277:494–499
 - Vitousek PM, Aber JD, Howarth RW, Likens GE, Matson PA, Schindler DW, Schlesinger WH, Tilman DG (1997b) Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycles: sources and consequences. Ecol Appl 7:737–750
 - Vitousek P, Asner GP, Chadwick OA, Hotchkiss S (2009) Landscape-level variation in forest structure and biogeochemistry across a substrate age gradient in Hawaii. Ecology 90:3074–3086
 - Vogelmann JE, Howard SM, Yang L, Larson CR, Wylie BK, VanDriel NJ (2001) Completion of the 1990s national land cover dataset for the conterminous United States. Photogramm Eng Remote Sens 67:650–662
 - Vogt P, Riitters KH, Estreguil C, Kozak J, Wade TG (2007) Mapping spatial patterns with morphological image processing. Landsc Ecol 22:171–177
 - Vogt P, Ferrari JR, Lookingbill TR, Gardner RH, Riitters KH, Ostapowicz K (2008) Mapping functional connectivity. Ecol Indic 9:64–71
 - Von Bertalanffy L (1968) General system theory, foundations, development and applications. George Braziller, New York
 - Von Bertalanffy L (1969) Change or law. In: Koestler A, Smythies JR (eds) Beyond reductionism: the Alpbach symposium. George Braziller, New York, pp 56–84
 - Von der Lippe M, Kowarik I (2006) Long-distance dispersal of plants by vehicles as a driver of plant invastions. Conserv Biol 21:986–996
 - von Humbold A (1807) Ideen zu einer geographie der pflanzen nebst einem gemalde der tropenlaender. Tubingen
 - Vorosmarty CJ, Green P, Salisbury J, Lammers RB (2000) Global water resources: vulnerability from climate change acid population growth. Science 289:284–288
 - Vos CC, Opdam P (1993) Landscape ecology of a stressed environment. Chapman and Hall, London
 - Vose JM, Wear DN, Mayfield AE, Nelson CD (2013) Hemlock woolly adelgid in the southern Appalachians: control strategies, ecological impacts, and potential management responses. For Ecol Manage 291:209–219
 - Vuilleumier F (1970) Insular biogeography in continental regions. I. The northern Andes of South America. Am Nat 104:373–388
 - Vuilleumier F (1973) Insular biogeography in continental regions. II. Cave faunas from Tesin, southern Switzerland. Syst Zool 22:64–76
 - Wade TG, Riitters KH, Wickham JD, Jones KB (2003) Distribution and causes of global forest fragmentation. Conserv Ecol 7(2):7
 - Wagner HH, Fortin MJ (2005) Spatial analysis of landscapes: concepts and statistics. Ecology 86:1975–1987
 - Wagner T, Soranno PA, Webster KE, Cheruvelil KS (2011) Landscape drivers of regional variation in the relationship between total phosphorus and chlorophyll in lakes. Freshw Biol 56:1811–1824
 - Waldram MS, Bond WJ, Stock WD (2008) Ecological engineering by a mega-grazer: white rhino impacts on a South African savanna. Ecosystems 11:101–112
 - Walker LR, del Moral R (2003) Primary succession and ecosystem rehabilitation. Cambridge University Press, New York

- Walker B, Holling CS, Carpenter SR, Kinzig A (2004) Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. Ecol Soc 9(2):art 5
- Walters S (2007) Modeling scale-dependent landscape pattern, dispersal, and connectivity from the perspective of the organism. Landsc Ecol 22:867–881
- Wang XL, Cumming SG (2010) Configuration dynamics of boreal forest landscapes under recent fire and harvesting regimes in western Canada. Landsc Ecol 25:1419–1432
- Wang Q, Malanson GP (2007) Patterns of correlation among landscape metrics. Phys Geogr 28:170–182
- Wang HQ, Hall CAS, Cornell JD, Hall MHP (2002) Spatial dependence and the relationship of soil organic carbon and soil moisture in the Luquillo Experimental Forest, Puerto Rico. Landsc Ecol 17:671–684
- Warming E (1925) Oecology of plants: an introduction to the study of plant-communities. Oxford University Press, London
- Warren DL (2012) In defense of 'niche modeling'. Trends Ecol Evol 27:497-500
- Wassen MJ, de Boer HJ, Fleischer K, Rebel KT, Dekker SC (2013) Vegetation-mediated feedback in water, carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus cycles. Landsc Ecol 28:599–614
- Watt AS (1947) Pattern and process in the plant community. J Ecol 35:1-22
- Watt KEF (1968) Ecology and resource management. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Wear DN (1999) Challenges to interdisciplinary discourse. Ecosystems 2:299-301
- Wear DN, Turner MG, Flamm RO (1996) Ecosystem management with multiple owners: landscape dynamics in a southern Appalachian watershed. Ecol Appl 6:1173–1188
- Weathers KC, Strayer DL, Likens GE (2013) Fundamentals of ecosystem science. Academic, New York
- Webster KE, Kratz TK, Bowser CJ, Magnuson JJ, Rose WJ (1996) The influence of landscape position on lake chemical response to drought in northern Wisconsin, USA. Limnol Oceanogr 41:977–984
- Weiss SB, Murphy DD, White RR (1988) Sun, slope, and butterflies: topographic determinants of habitat quality for *Euphydryas editha*. Ecology 69:1486–1496
- Weller DE, Jordan TE, Correll DL (1998) Heuristic models for material discharge from landscapes with riparian buffers. Ecol Appl 8:1156–1169
- Weller DE, Baker ME, Jordan TE (2011) Effects of riparian buffers on nitrate concentrations in watershed discharges: new models and management implications. Ecol Appl 21: 1679–1695
- Wells CN, Williams RS, Walker GL, Haddad NM (2009) Effects of corridors on genetics of a butterfly in a landscape experiment. Southeast Nat 8:709–722
- Werling BP, Gratton C (2010) Local and broadscale landscape structure differentially impact predation of two potato pests. Ecol Appl 20:1114–1125
- Werner EE, Peacor SD (2006) Lethal and nonlethal predator effects on an herbivore guild mediated by system productivity. Ecology 87:347–361
- Wessman CA, Aber JD, Peterson DL (1989) An evaluation of imaging spectrometry for estimating forest canopy chemistry. Int J Remote Sens 10:1293–1316
- Wessman CA, Aber JD, Peterson DL, Melillo JM (1998) Remote-sensing of canopy chemistry and nitrogen cycling in temperate forest ecosystems. Nature 335:154–156
- Westerling AL, Hidalgo HG, Cayan DR, Swetnam TW (2006) Warming and earlier spring increase western U.S. forest wildfire activity. Science 313:940–943
- Westerling AL, Turner MG, Smithwick EAH, Romme WH, Ryan MG (2011) Continued warming could transform Greater Yellowstone fire regimes by mid-21st century. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:13165–13170

- LANDSCAPE Wheeler T, von Braun J (2013) Climate change impacts on global food security. Science 341:508–513
- ECOLOGY INWhitcomb BL, Whitcomb RF, Bystrak D (1977) Island biogeography and 'habitat islands' of
eastern forests: III. Long-term turnover and effects of selective logging on the avifauna of
forest fragments. Am Birds 31:17–23
- PRACTICE
- White PS (1979) Pattern, process, and natural disturbance in vegetation. Bot Rev 45: 229–299
- White PS, Jentsch A (2001) The search for generality in studies of disturbance and ecosystem dynamics. Prog Bot 62:399–450
- White MA, Mladenoff DJ (1994) Old-growth forest landscape transitions from pre-European settlement to present. Landsc Ecol 9:191–205
- White PS, Pickett STA (1985) Natural disturbance and patch dynamics: an introduction. In: Pickett STA, White PS (eds) The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic, New York, pp 3–13
- Whittaker RH (1952) A study of summer foliage insect communities in the Great Smoky Mountains. Ecol Monogr 22:1–44
- Whittaker RH (1956) Vegetation of the Great Smoky Mountains. Ecol Monogr 26:1-80
- Whittaker RH, Levin SA (1977) The role of mosaic phenomena in natural communities. Theor Popul Biol 12:117–139
- Wickham JD, Riitters KH (1995) Sensitivity of landscape metrics to pixel size. Int J Remote Sens 16:3585–3594
- Wickham JD, O'Neill RV, Riitters KH, Wade TG, Jones KB (1997) Sensitivity of selected landscape pattern metrics to land-cover misclassification and differences in land-cover composition. Photogramm Eng Remote Sens 63:397–402
- Wiens JA (1976) Population responses to patchy environments. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 77: 81–120
- Wiens JA (1984) On understanding a nonequilibrium world: myth and reality in community patterns and processes. In: Strong DR Jr, Simberloff D, Abele LG, Thistle AB (eds) Ecological communities: conceptual issues and the evidence. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 439–457
- Wiens JA (1989) Spatial scaling in ecology. Funct Ecol 3:385–397
- Wiens JA (1995) Landscape mosaics and ecological theory. In: Hansson L, Fahrig L, Merriam G (eds) Mosaic landscapes and ecological processes. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 1–26
- Wiens JA (1997) Metapopulation dynamics and landscape ecology. In: Hanski I, Gilpin ME (eds) Metapopulation biology. Academic, New York, pp 43–62
- Wiens JA (1999) The science and practice of landscape ecology. In: Klopatek JM, Gardner RH (eds) Landscape ecological analysis: issues and applications. Springer, New York, pp 372–383
- Wiens JA (2002) Riverine landscapes: taking landscape ecology into the water. Freshw Biol 47:501–515
- Wiens JA (2008) Allerton Park 1983: the beginnings of a paradigm for landscape ecology? Landsc Ecol 23:125–128
- Wiens JA (2013) Is landscape sustainability a useful concept in a changing world? Landsc Ecol 28:1047–1052
- Wiens JA, Milne BT (1989) Scaling of 'landscapes' in landscape ecology, and landscape ecology from a beetle's perspective. Landsc Ecol 3:87–96
- Wiens JA, Crawford CS, Gosz JR (1985) Boundary dynamics—a conceptual framework for studying landscape ecosystems. Oikos 45:421–427

- Wiens JA, Stenseth NC, Van Horne B, Ims RA (1993) Ecological mechanisms and landscape References ecology. Oikos 66:369–380
- Wiens JA, Crist TO, With KA, Milne BT (1995) Fractal patterns of insect movement in microlandscape mosaics. Ecology 76:663–666
- Wiens JA, Schooley RL, Weeks RD (1997) Patchy landscapes and animal movements: do beetles percolate? Oikos 78:257–264
- Wiens JA, Moss MR, Turner MG, Mladenoff DJ (eds) (2007) Foundation papers in landscape ecology. Columbia University Press, New York
- Wilcox C, Cairns BJ, Possingham HP (2006) The role of habitat disturbance and recovery in metapopulation persistence. Ecology 87:855–863
- Williams M (1989) Americans and their forests: a historical geography. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Williams MA, Baker WL (2011) Testing the accuracy of new methods for reconstructing historical structure of forest landscapes using GLO survey data. Ecol Monogr 81:63–88
- Williams JW, Jackson ST (2007) Novel climates, no-analog communities and ecological surprises. Front Ecol Environ 5:475–482
- Williamson J, Bestelmeyer B, Peters DC (2012) Spatiotemporal patterns of production can be used to detect state change across an arid landscape. Ecosystems 15:34–47
- Willson MF, Gende SM, Marston BH (1998) Fishes and the forest. Bioscience 48:455-462
- Wilson JB (1995) Null models for assembly rules—the Jack Horner effect is more insidious than the narcissus effect. Oikos 72:139–144
- Wimberly MC (2006) Species dynamics in disturbed landscapes: when does a shifting habitat mosaic enhance connectivity? Landsc Ecol 21:35–46
- Winnie JA Jr (2012) Predation risk, elk, and aspen: tests of a behaviorally mediated trophic cascade in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem. Ecology 93:2600–2614
- Wirth C, Lichstein JW, Dushoff J, Chen A, Chapin FS III (2008) White spruce meets black spruce: dispersal, postfire establishment, and growth in a warming climate. Ecol Monogr 78:489–505
- With KA (1994) Ontogenetic shifts in how grasshoppers interact with landscape structure: an analysis of movement patterns. Funct Ecol 8:477–485
- With KA (1997) The application of neutral landscape models in conservation biology. Conserv Biol 11:1069–1080
- With KA (2002) The landscape ecology of invasive spread. Conserv Biol 16:1192–1203
- With KA (2004) Assessing the risk of invasive spread in fragmented landscapes. Risk Anal 24:803-815
- With KA, King AW (1997) The use and misuse of neutral landscape models in ecology. Oikos 79:219–229
- With KA, King AW (1999a) Dispersal success on fractal landscapes: a consequence of lacunarity thresholds. Landsc Ecol 14:73–82
- With KA, King AW (1999b) Extinction thresholds for species in fractal landscapes. Conserv Biol 13:314–326
- With KA, King AW (2004) The effect of landscape structure on community self-organization and critical biodiversity. Ecol Model 179:349–366
- With KA, Gardner RH, Turner MG (1997) Landscape connectivity and population distributions in heterogeneous environments. Oikos 78:151–169
- With KA, Cadaret SJ, Davis C (1999) Movement responses to patch structure in experimental fractal landscapes. Ecology 80:1340–1353
- Wohl DL, Wallace JB, Meyer JL (1995) Benthic macroinvertebrate community structure, function and production with respect to habitat type, reach and drainage basin in the southern Appalachians (USA). Freshw Biol 34:447–464

PRACTICE

LANDSCAPE	Wolf EC, Cooper DJ, Hobbs NT (2007) Hydrologic regime and herbivory stabilize an alter-
	native state in Yellowstone National Park. Ecol Appl 17:1572–1587

ECOLOGY INWolf SG, Snyder MA, Sydeman WJ, Doak DF, Croll DA (2010) Predicting population con-
sequences of ocean climate change for an ecosystem sentinel, the seabird Cassin's Auklet.
Glob Chang Biol 16:1923–1935

- Wood SW, Murphy BP, Bowman DMJS (2011) Firescape ecology: how topography determines the contrasting distribution of fire and rain forest in the southwest of the Tasmanian Wilderness World Heritage Area. J Biogeogr 38:1807–1820
 - Woodall CW, Nagel LM (2007) Downed woody fuel loading dynamics of a large-scale blowdown in northern Minnesota. For Ecol Manage 246:194–199

Wotton BM, Nock CA, Flannigan MD (2010) Forest fire occurrence and climate change in Canada. Int J Wildland Fire 19:253–271

Wright JP, Jones CG (2004) Predicting effects of ecosystem engineers on patch-scale species richness from primary productivity. Ecology 85:2071–2081

Wright JP, Jones CG (2006) The concept of organisms as ecosystem engineers ten years on: progress, limitations, and challenges. Bioscience 56:203–209

Wright JP, Jones CG, Flecker AS (2002) An ecosystem engineer, the beaver, increases species richness at the landscape scale. Oecologia 132:96–101

Wu J (2004) Effects of changing scale on landscape pattern analysis: scaling relations. Landsc Ecol 19:125–138

Wu J (2008) Making the case for landscape ecology: an effective approach to urban sustainability. Landsc J 27:41–50

Wu J (2013) Key concepts and research topics in landscape ecology revisited: 30 years after the Allerton Park workshop. Landsc Ecol 28:1–11

Wu J (2014) Urban ecology and sustainability: the state-of-the-science and future directions. Landsc Urban Plan 125:209–221

- Wu JG, David JL (2002) A spatially explicit hierarchical approach to modeling complex ecological systems: theory and applications. Ecol Model 153:7–26
- Wu J, Hobbs RJ (2002) Key issues and research priorities in landscape ecology: an idiosyncratic synthesis. Landsc Ecol 17:355–365
- Wu J, Levin SA (1994) A spatial patch dynamic modeling approach to pattern and process in an annual grassland. Ecol Monogr 64:447–464
- Wu J, Loucks OL (1995) From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. Q Rev Biol 70:439–466

Wu J, Jones KB, Li H, Loucks OL (eds) (2006) Scaling and uncertainty analysis in ecology. Springer, Dordrecht

- Xiao XY, Gertner G, Wang GX, Anderson AB (2005) Optimal sampling scheme for estimation landscape mapping of vegetation cover. Landsc Ecol 20:375–387
- Yamamura N (1976) A mathematical approach to spatial distribution and temporal succession in plant communities. Bull Math Biol 38:517–526
- Yang J, He HS, Sturtevant BR, Miranda BR, Gustafson EJ (2008) Comparing effects of fire modeling methods on simulated fire patterns and succession: a case study in the Missouri Ozarks. Can J Forest Res 38:1290–1302
- Yarie J (1981) Forest fire cycles and life tables: a case study from interior Alaska. Can J Forest Res 11:554–562
- Yeager LA, Layman CA, Allgeier JE (2011) Effects of habitat heterogeneity at multiple spatial scales on fish community assembly. Oecologia 167:157–168
- Zackrisson O (1977) Influence of forest fires on the North Swedish boreal forest. Oikos 29:22-32

- Zhang N, Yu Z, Yu G, Wu J (2007) Scaling up ecosystem productivity from patch to landscape: a case study of Changbai Mountain Nature Reserve, China. Landsc Ecol 22: 303-315
- Zhang XQ, Lei YC, Ma ZH, Kneeshaw D, Peng CH (2014) Insect-induced tree mortality of boreal forests in eastern Canada under a changing climate. Ecol Evol 4:2384–2394
- Zheng L, Silliman SE (2000) Estimating the theoretical semivariogram from finite numbers of measurements. Water Resour Res 36:361–366
- Zipkin EF, Dewan A, Royle JA (2009) Impacts of forest fragmentation on species richness: a hierarchical approach to community modelling. J Appl Ecol 46:815–822
- Zonneveld IS (1982) Land(scape) ecology, a science or a state of mind. In: Tjallingii SP, de Veer AA (eds) Perspectives in landscape ecology. Proceedings of the International Congress of the Netherlands Society of landscape ecology. PUDOC, Wageningen, pp 9–15
- Zonneveld IS (1990) Scope and concepts of landscape ecology as an emerging science. In: Zonneveld IS, Forman RTT (eds) Changing landscapes: an ecological perspective. Springer, New York, pp 1–20

Zonneveld IS (1995) Land ecology. SPB Academic, Amsterdam

INDEX

A

Abies balsamea, 327 Aboveground net primary production (ANPP), 298, 299, 301 Acacia mangium, 314 Acer pensylvanicum, 212 Acer saccharum, 50 Adelges tsugae, 252 Adiantum pedatum, 247 Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR) satellite, 295-296 Aerial photography, 2, 46, 101, 102, 255, 299 Aerial survey, 194 Aggregation errors, 70, 85, 157, 207 Agroforestry, 314 Allerton Park workshop, 8, 387 Ambystoma tigrinum melanostictum, 280 Anderson classification system, 102 Anisotropy, 119, 162, 170 Anthrome, 53

Anthropocene, 389 Aphis sambuci, 72 Applied resource management, 336 Aquatic ecosystems agricultural and urban development, 318, 319 dead zones, 316 DOC, 322 eutrophication, 315 heuristic model, 322 human activities, 316 landscape patterns, 317 land-water interactions, 315, 317, 324 limnological study, 318 lotic and lentic systems, 322 nitrogen and phosphorus, 315 nonpoint source pollution, 316 nutrient removal, 320 percolation thresholds, 324 riparian buffer, 318, 320 riparian zones, 322 urban setting, 317

© Springer-Verlag New York 2015 M.G. Turner, R.H. Gardner, *Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice*, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2794-4

LANDSCAPE	Artibeus lituratus, 281
	Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation (AMO),
ECOLOGY IN	37–38
	Autecology, 211
THEORY AND	Autocorrelation, 77, 84-86, 115, 133,
	147-152, 157-163, 165, 167, 173,
PRACTICE	175, 333, 386

В

Bark beetles, 24, 178, 193, 197, 198, 200, 203, 225, 226 Bayesian statistics, 173 Behavioral landscape ecology, 284, 393 mechanisms, 244 models, 245 population dynamics, 245 predictions, 244 trade-offs, 244-246 Betula lutea, 327 Big data, 395 Biodiversity, 76, 255, 258, 265, 336, 337, 339, 340, 344, 346, 349, 351, 353-355, 360-362, 368, 369, 374-377, 380, 386 definition, 231 Biogeochemical cycling, 251, 298 Biogeography, 10–12, 35, 69, 227, 233, 235, 236, 254 Biomass, 25, 56, 94, 145, 167, 173, 218, 219, 279, 293, 295, 297, 299, 302, 303, 307, 308, 312, 326, 327, 369, 370 Biome, 17, 21, 36, 53, 54, 227, 292, 297, 304, 339 Biotic interactions, influence on landscape pattern, 34, 285, 386 Biotic legacies, definition, 211 Biotic residuals, 211, 213 Borrelia burgdorferi, 202 Boundary shape, 121, 254 Bouteloua gracilis, 5 Bromus tectorum, 252 Buchloe dactyloides, 5

С

Cadiz Township, Wisconsin, USA, 98 Calcium, 312 California, 348 Canopy gap, 24, 173 Carbon, 20, 56, 150, 164, 173, 252, 295, 296, 299, 302, 306, 308, 312–314, 322, 328, 333, 334, 345, 349, 351, 352, 357, 358, 373, 374, 376, 432, 448 Carbon dioxide, 304, 345, 346 Cartographic scale, 18, 19 Celastrus orbiculatus, 278 Cellular automata models, 237 Cervus elaphus, 46-47, 148 Chelinidea vitiger, 130–131 Choristoneura occidentalis, 196 Climate definition, 36 influence on landscape pattern, 36-41 Climate change, 390 agricultural production, 345 anthropogenic agents, 345 assessments, 346 disturbances, 223-227, 349 fire regimes, 226 forests, 345 long-lived mature trees, 227 meteorological variables, 344 migration, 347-349 potential variety and severity, 344 retrospective studies, 227 Climate warming, 38, 40 Wyoming, USA, 38, 40 Clusters formation, 80 number, 79, 82, 83 size, 80, 81, 85, 91 Co-kriging, 167, 168 Colorado, 4–6 Communication channels, 396 Community structure, 178, 234, 265, 266, 272, 275, 283, 285, 304, 392 Conefor Sensinode, 111 Connectivity. See also Habitat connectivity definition, 127 and percolation, 88 Conservation design, 14, 91 planning, 74, 236 Conservation biology, 29, 66, 232, 233, 285 Constancy, 218–220, 222 Contagion, 5, 83, 87, 88, 115, 116, 118-120, 133, 136-138 Contingency, 35, 36, 58, 61, 182, 355, 386, 392 Coral, 29, 46, 340, 342 Correlogram, 158-161, 165-167, 171, 175, 176 Corridor corridor experiment, 259, 263, 264 definition of, 36, 246 Co-variogram, 148, 154, 164, 167, 171, 173

Cover type, 107, 109–114, 116–120, 122, 124, 137, 138, 140, 157, 200, 228, 254, 281, 314, 324, 349, 358, 369, 379, 387 definition, 3, 111 Crawford Lake, Ontario, Canada, 50 Critical threshold, 20, 80–83, 85, 87, 90, 190, 192, 197, 389, 397

definition of, 18 Cross-scale interaction, 24, 185, 192, 193, 391 Cryptic barrier, 281

D

Decomposition, 22, 23, 293, 296, 299, 369 Deforestation, in the USA, 50, 369 Delphacodes kuscheli, 202 Dendroctonus ponderosae, 197 Denitrification, 294, 306, 308, 333 Desert landscape, 34 in Dubai, 34 Diffusion coefficient, 234 Diffusion model, 45, 234 measurement, 234 population geneticists, 234 population size, 234 uniform landscape, 234-235 Diffusive instability, 45 Dimocarpus longan, 314 Dispersal, 13, 41, 43, 56, 71, 77, 81, 86, 127, 130, 149, 157, 176, 193, 196, 201, 212, 213, 215, 216, 229, 234, 236, 239, 244, 246, 247, 249, 259-263, 274-276, 278, 280, 281, 347, 348, 369, 370, 379, 382, 391 Direct extrapolation, 25 Dissolved organic carbon (DOC), 312, 313, 322 Disturbance, 3, 9, 13, 23, 25, 33, 37, 40-46, 48, 53, 55, 57, 60, 61, 66, 69, 76, 81, 85, 87, 91, 93, 99, 105, 145, 146, 149, 177-229, 236, 250, 253, 254, 276, 290, 291, 294, 299, 302-305, 318, 328, 331, 336, 342, 345, 349, 354, 365, 366, 378, 379, 382, 386-388, 390, 391 Disturbance dynamics components, 182 configuration, 184 consequences, 181 definition, 177, 181 disaggregated view, 182 disturbance-generated mosaic

burned and unburned areas, 204 dNBR index, 209 fire pattern, 207 forest fragmentation, 205 harvesting, 210 hurricanes, 206 infrequent disturbances, 205 management strategies, 210 seasonal flooding, 207 variability, 205 wildfires, 210 empirical studies aerial survey data, 194 bark beetle outbreaks, 197 broad-scale climatic influences, 197 budworm outbreak, 196 caterpillar outbreak, 194 fire spread, 197, 199 reconstructions, 196 epidemiology bat viruses, 203 cucumber mosaic virus, 201 dieback of oaks, 202 disease risk/incidence, 200 disease-causing bacterium, 203 habitat fragmentation and edges, 202 host taxa, 201 Lyme disease, 202, 203 Nipah virus, 203 sudden oak death (SOD), 202 tick density and infection, 203 equilibrium absolute constancy, 219 composition vs. structural attributes, 218 ecological thinking, 218 in frequency, 222 nonequilibrium paradigm, 218, 223 quasi-steady-state, 220 stability vs. instability, 223 shifting-mosaic steady-state, 219-221 spatial-temporal scales, 221 stationary process, 220 stochastic nature, 220 historical range of variability (HRV), 217 interaction and changing regimes climate change, 226, 227 compound disturbances, 224 linked disturbances, 225 landscape position and vulnerability coastal temperate rainforest, 186 cove forests, 184 human influences, 187

Index

LANDSCAPE	Disturbance dynamics (cont.)	ecology, 289, 290, 292, 325, 330, 332,
	hurricane damage, 186	380, 394
ECOLOGY IN	ice-storm effects, 187	engineer, 46, 47, 250–253, 284
	old-growth forests, 185, 187	management, 14, 217, 337, 375
IHEURY AND	proximity, 187	models, 73, 292, 293, 297
	susceptibility, 184	processes, 9, 30, 46, 91, 180, 227,
PKALIILE	topography, 188	289–334, 344, 374, 375, 387–389,
	Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 180	392, 394
	patch dynamics, 178	science, 289, 381
	position influences susceptibility,	Ecosystem services
	188–189	alternative amounts and arrangements,
	seral stages, 178, 179	370
	space and time	benefits, 367
	integrated models, 215	biodiversity, 374–375
	LANDIS, 215, 216	environmental research and policy, 366
	spatial patterns	forest fragments, 369
	abiotic legacies, 211	freshwater services, 368
	burn-severity mosaic, 213	functional connectivity, 370
	legacies and residuals, 211	habitat loss and fragmentation, 369
	life history traits, 211	hydrologic services, 368
	residual plants, 212	interactions
	successional process, 211, 213	agricultural landscapes, 3/1
	theoretical development	bundles, 3/1, 3/4
	catastrophic events, 192	hotspots, 373
	cross-scale interactions, 193	synergies, 3/1
	neutral landscape model, 189	trade-offs, 3/1, 3/2
	self-organized patchiness and	landscape connectivity, 3/0
	catastrophic shifts, 193	natural and seminatural cover types, 369
	tipping point, 193	Natural Capital Project, 367
	windthrow susceptibility, 189	pollination, 369
	fragment 181 221 222 224 279	renewable energy, 369
	frequency, 181, 221, 222, 224, 578	resilience, 566
	intensity, 211, 214, 215, 228	synthesis
	return interval, 181	assessments, 576
	rotation period, 181	raciliance and vulnarshility 277
	severity, 181, 203, 206, 212, 213, 226	trada affa 277
	SIZC, 101 Diversity 27 29 56 57 66 75 83 87	urbanization and agricultural
	$107 \ 109 \ 116 \ 118 \ 125 \ 138 \ 170$	intensification 368
	107, 109, 110-110, 123, 130, 170, 178, 182, 202, 203, 251, 253, 256	Ecotope 37 45 47 202 216 254
	257 $263_{-}265$ 274 276 284 340	Ecotonic, 57, 45, 47, 202, 210, 254
	257, 205-205, 274, 270, 204, 540, 350, 369, 373, 375, 377, 380, 394	definition of 3
	398	effects 12 86 153 157 200 213 228
	Dust-bowl sediments 2	254 259 262 264
	Dust bowr seaments, 2	Effective collaborations 394
	E	El Nino-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) 37
	Ecological memory, 215	38.40
	Ecological neighborhoods, 248–249–284	Energy flow, 291
	Economics, 6, 59, 316, 336, 339, 346	Environmental gradient 10 151 201
	360, 362, 364, 380	Environmental history. 35, 55
	Ecosystem	Epidemiology, 180, 184, 200–203, 228
	concept. 7. 292	Equilibrium, 69, 93, 218–223, 229, 235.
	definition of, 389	236, 238, 283

Eutrophication, 315, 316, 318, 320, 332, 368 Evapotranspiration, 297, 298 Evoland, 360, 362, 363 Extent, definition of, 3, 18, 20 Extinction debt, 69 Extinction rate, 235, 236 Extrapolate definition of, 18, 20 and ecosystem processes, 297, 298 Extrapolation, 9, 20, 25–28, 31, 66, 176, 240, 300, 306, 355, 356 Exurbanization, 352

F

Fagus grandifolia, 40, 50, 212 Fertilizer, 57, 307, 315, 316, 324, 326, 333, 368 Field mapped data, 101–104 Fire. See also Disturbance and carbon emission, 371–372 crown fire, 188, 197, 199, 200, 206, 220, 221 fire-dominated landscapes, 220 frequency, 199, 303 regime, 40, 199, 216, 220, 221, 226, 227, 303, 378 spread, 77, 188, 197, 199, 200, 215, 221 suppression, 187, 196, 226 Floodplain, 43, 50, 84, 205, 207, 208, 318, 320, 332 Floods, 28, 40, 55, 178, 180, 205–208, 212, 224, 268, 368, 373, 374 Florida, USA, 173 Focal species, 202, 261 Forest boreal, 33, 178, 187, 210, 213, 219, 326, 327, 333, 345 clear-cutting, 189, 190 disturbance, 205, 206 fragmentation, 194, 196, 205, 260, 337 gap, 81, 184 interior habitat, 253, 254, 262, 284 management, 217 mosaic, 4 old-growth, 52, 185, 252 FOREST-BGC, 297, 298 Foundation species, 46, 251-253, 284 Four-neighbor rule, 82, 113 Fractal dimension brownian motion, 84 fractal analysis, 247, 248

fractal landscapes, 85, 86 fractal maps, 85–87, 90 geometry, 136 use in scaling up, 25, 27 Fragmentation, definition of, 3 Fragmented landscapes, 12, 76, 236, 258, 272, 307, 394 FRAGSTATS, 111, 126, 133, 209 Fugitive species, 251

G

General circulation models (GCMs), 297 Geographic information system (GIS) raster format, 104 sources of error, 104 vector format, 104 Geography, 2, 6, 13, 19, 29, 36, 148 Geostatistics, 56, 145, 147, 162, 171, 172 Glacial-interglacial cycles, 37, 40 Global change, 35, 215, 226, 229, 285, 291 Global positioning systems (GPS), 242, 281 Global warming, 10, 22, 224, 295 Gradient analysis, 10 Grain (resolution), definition of, 18 Grassland, 10, 45, 48, 56, 57, 59, 112, 140, 156, 247, 250, 251, 263, 266, 297, 298, 300, 350, 358, 359, 370 Great Smoky Mountains, USA, 10–11, 108, 184 Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem (GYE), 354 Greenhouse gas, 37, 308, 344, 345, 357, 371 Guidos, 109, 111

Η

Habitat binary assumption, 239 connectivity, 57, 113, 128, 129, 141, 261, 262, 266 complementary/supplementary resources, 240 continuous probability surface, 240 fine-scaled analyses, 244 GPS, 242 quality, 128, 238, 239, 241, 243, 253, 276, 278, 279 RSF model, 241 selection, 241 step-selection analyses, 242 Habitat fragmentation definition of, 3 habitat loss, 81, 231, 262, 281, 336, 369 Index

LANDSCAPE	Habitat use, 4, 122, 172, 242, 244, 250,	land-
	283, 329, 354	latera
CCULUUT IN	Haliaeetus leucocephalus, 315	latera
THEORY AND	Heterogeneity, definition of, 3	light
	Heterogeneous landscapes	limno
PRACTICE	abiotic factors, 328, 331	DC
	actions of organisms, 290	fre
	aquatic ecosystems	gla
	agricultural and urban development,	gro
	318, 319	hy
	dead zones, 316	lak
	DOC, 322	lak
	eutrophication, 315	spa
	heuristic model, 322	wa
	human activities, 316	litter
	landscape patterns, 317	mana
	land–water interactions, 315, 317, 324	mobi
	limnological study, 318	an
	lotic and lentic systems, 322	an
	nitrogen and phosphorus, 315	an
	nonpoint source pollution, 316	cei
	nutrient removal, 320	tee
	percolation thresholds, 324	ma
	riparian buffer, 318, 320	sin
	riparian zones, 322	wa
	spatial configuration, 323	mode
	spatial variability, 317	point
	tropical landscape, 323	samp
	urban setting, 317	samp
	biogeochemical process	scalii
	denitrification, 306, 308	spati
	fertilizer applications and pasturing,	spati
	307	spati
	hyperspectral imagery, 310	susta
	methanogenesis, 308	theor
	nitrogen, 305, 306	an
	N-related fluxes, 307	bo
	nutrient pools and fluxes, 307	fin
	predator-prey dynamics, 308, 309	too
	small vs. large patches, 307	lay
	soil nutrients and foliar nitrogen, 307	me
	spatial scales, 306	1
	spectroscopy, 308	nu
	wolf-killed moose deposition, 308	
	biomass and carbon (see Net primary	ph
	production (NPP))	pri
	biomass and process rates, 293	SO
	denitrification, 294	topo
	dynamic landscape mosaic, 332	vecto
	ecosystem drivers, 294	Hierard
	treshwater, 331	Hierard
	landscape heterogeneity (see Regional	Hierard

carbon dynamics)

-water interactions, 293 al fluxes, 330 al transfers, 294 energy, 290 ology DC, 312, 313 eshwater ecosystems, 310 icial processes, 310 oundwater, 311 drologic position, 311 ce chains, 311 ke ecosystems, 310 atial variability, 310 ter clarity, 313 and organic matter, 314-315 agement goal, 333 ile animals and species interactions adramous fishes, 325 imal-mediated movements, 325 nual midge input rates, 325 ntral-place foraging, 326 eding activities, 326 arine-derived nutrients, 325 nulation model, 327 ter-to-land fertilizer effect, 326 el complexity, 329 t processes, 294, 295, 331 ling design, 333 oling issue, 329 ng, 328 al autocorrelation, 333 al dimensions, 289 al heterogeneity, 290 inability, 331 retical development imal population, 291 undaries, 291 e-scale dynamics, 293 od webs, 292 vers, 293 eta-ecosystem, metapopulation and metacommunity, 292 trient dynamics and biotic communities, 292 ysical entity, 292 imary factor, 291 urce-sink dynamics, 292 graphy, 328 ors, 313 chical neutral map, 91 chical structure, 20, 87 chy, 16, 17, 20–24, 30, 31, 70, 194, 203, 310, 331

Index

definition of, 18 theory, 16, 20, 21, 23, 24, 30, 70, 194 Historical range of variability (HRV), 217 Holocene, 35, 40, 48, 378 Home range, 244, 246, 263, 268 Hurricanes, 40, 43, 93, 178, 180, 185, 186, 188, 205–207, 224. See also Disturbance New England, 185

I

Infinite cluster, 81 Initial conditions, 35, 45, 92, 100, 216, 364, 365 Index of Biotic Integrity (IBI), 337 Interacting drivers, 35, 59, 61, 329, 349, 386, 390 Invasive species, 25, 55, 155, 233, 276, 279, 282, 285, 391 IPCC, 37, 41, 345, 357–359, 362 Island biogeography theory catastrophic event, 235 conservation reserves, design, 235 criticisms, 235–236 extinction probability, 236 island size, 235

J

Juniperus monosperma, 252

K

Keystone species, 46, 61 Kriging, 147, 150, 162, 167, 168, 173 methods, 165

L

Land classification, 103 Land cover classification, 77, 103 definition of, 275 type, 77, 78, 81-84, 105, 107, 137, 140, 349, 358, 379 Land evaluation, 8 Landform definition of, 41 effects on landscape pattern, 181 Land management decisions, 335 Land ownership, effect on landscape pattern, 59 Land planning, 8, 9, 14, 29 Landsat multispectral scanner (MSS), 18 thematic mapper (TM), 18, 209, 297

Landscape agricultural, 33, 140, 172, 202, 270, 272, 285, 314, 324, 360, 369, 371, 372 architecture, 6, 8, 29 composition, metrics of, 116 connectivity, 370 context, 181, 214, 254-257, 265, 270, 276, 284, 285, 302, 351, 376, 387 cultural, 7, 14, 33, 51, 172, 202, 270, 272, 285, 314, 324, 360, 369, 371, 372 definition of, 3 design, 203, 370 diversity, 109, 116-118 equilibrium, 219, 220, 222, 223, 229 fragmentation, 3, 85, 87, 258 heterogeneity, 9, 13, 26, 45, 63, 189, 194, 196, 197, 200, 201, 210, 215, 225, 228, 233, 244, 247, 251, 257, 265, 266, 271, 276-278, 280, 297, 302, 304, 305, 324, 326, 367-369, 376-378, 382, 387, 391, 392 intuitive sense, 1, 2 legacies, 35, 36, 55, 57, 281 limnology, 295, 310, 313, 331 management, 217, 269, 285, 375, 378, 391 metrics (see Metrics) mosaic, 2, 4, 6, 9, 177, 204, 209, 210, 247, 291, 328, 329, 332, 336, 376 organism's perspective, 9, 13 planning, 14 restoration, 8 structure, 44, 57, 85, 86, 90, 137-139, 194, 199, 201–203, 226, 233, 248, 253, 272, 274, 276, 277, 285, 336, 344, 349, 355, 356, 378, 379, 387 texture, 104 Landscape ecology addressing scale issues, 16, 386 applications, 30 composition and configuration, 133, 139, 141, 202, 205, 258, 266, 267, 275, 285, 290, 291, 293, 314, 323-324, 329, 330, 339, 369, 376, 377, 387 continental-scale environmental science, 386 definition, 2, 3 development, 3 geographic sciences, 13 German-speaking countries, 8

ANDSCAPE Landscape ecology (cont.)	
	island biogeography, 10, 12, 233, 235,
ECULUAT IN	236, 254
THEORY AND	nattern process relationships 20
	phytosociology 10, 11
PRACTICE	planning design and management 14
	rocky benthic communities 29
	scale and heterogeneity
	cartographic scale, 19
	cross-scale interactions, 24
	definition, 17, 18
	extrapolation, 18, 20
	grain and extent, 17, 19
	hierarchy theory, 20-23
	level of organization, 17
	measurements and recognition, 15
	selection, 16
	upscaling and downscaling, 25-29
	spatial extents, 4–7
	spatial heterogeneity, 4, 5, 12–13
	spatial patterns, 2
	spatial scales, 3
	test pattern–process relationships, 38/
	upscaling and downscaling, 27, 28
	adaptive genetic variation 280, 285, 392
	definition 280
	and evolution 393
	neutral genetic variation, 280, 285
	structure and movement pathways, 281
	Landscape indicators
	assess effects, 339
	broad-scale monitoring, 337
	coral response variables, 340, 342
	data availability and analysis capacity, 339
	degrading water quality, 340
	global analysis, 339
	human impacts, 340, 341
	Index of Biotic Integrity (IBI), 337
	land-use policies, 340, 344
	prototype, 33/
	reasonable array, 339
	Landscape metrics
	classification 102 107
	composition 116 141
	configuration, 141
	connectivity, 126–127
	contagion, 119–120
	correlated metrics, 114
	digital remote sensing, 101
	diversity and dominance, 116-118

edge length and density, 118 field mapped data, 101–103 fractals coastline/lake perimeter, 122 fractal curves, 123 fractional dimension, 124 scaling problems, 122 self-similarity, 124 fraction/proportion (p_i) , 116 indicators, 139, 140 multiple metrics, 114 multivariate analyses, 137-141 patches identification, 112-113 isolation, 122 LPI, 121 patch number, 120 perimeter-to-area ratios, 120, 121 proximity index, 122 pattern analysis, 105, 107 Conefor Sensinode, 111 expected values and variances, 133 FRAGSTATS, 111 geospatial modelling environment, 111 Guidos, 111 METALAND, 111 neutral landscape models, 133 Prince George, Canada, 133–135 **QRULE**, 111 redundancy, 135 pattern quantification, 98-100, 115, -116 published data and censuses, 101 scale-related errors, 109-112 social network models, 130 spatial configuration, 117-, 118 spatial data accuracy, 105 spatial graphs and network analyses, 127-130 state-space methods, 136-137 structural and functional heterogeneity, 141 textures, 124 Landscape model abstract models, 64, 65 classification analytical vs. simulation, 93 continuous vs. discrete time, 93 deterministic vs. stochastic, 91 diffusive processes, 94 dynamic vs. static model, 93 empirical model, 94 mechanistic model, 94 process-based model, 94

components, 92 conceptual model, 67 correlated patterns, fractal maps, 84-86 generality, precision and realism, 67-69 landscape experiments, 64, 66 logical outcomes, 64 model complexity and error, 70-71 **NLMs** applications, 88 clusters/patches, 78, 79 connectivity and scales, 88 critical threshold, 81, 83 ecology, 76-78 landscape metrics, 83 landscape patterns, 81-84 map dimensions, 87 patch structure, 87 thresholds of connectivity, 88 physical models, 64 pitfalls and problems, 68, 74-75 spatially explicit model, 71–73 strategic issues, 66, 67 tactical issues, 66, 73-74 Landscape pattern abiotic conditions, 34 abiotic template, 36 Anthropocene, 53–55 biotic interactions, 34, 44 causes of, 30, 33-61 climatic patterns biology/geography, 36 climate variability, 40 fluctuations, 38, 39 glacial and interglacial periods, 37 glaciers, 37 global-scale climate anomalies, 37, 38 landform, 41, 42 natural disturbances, 40 no-analog communities, 36 past vegetation responses, 40-41 processes, 36 temperature, 36 time scales, 41 competition, 44-47 composition and spatial configuration, 33 disturbance and succession, 55 dominant organisms, 46-47 environmental conditions, 34 environmental history, 55-58 historical and present-day effects, 51-53 historical contingencies, 35 Holocene Epoch, 35 land use change, 48 landform, 41-43

landscape legacies, 55-58 long-term changes, 34 measurement (see Metrics) mechanisms to explain, 59 multiple and contingent causation, 35 multivariate interacting drivers, 58-59 nonlinear dynamics and thresholds, 59 paleoecology, 35 perfect storm, 35 prediction, 58 prehistoric influences, 48-51 social-ecological systems, 60 soils, 43-44 state space for, 136–137 trophic cascades, 47 Landscape position definition, 245, 306, 311 and ecosystem process, 289-334 influence on lakes, 311 Landscape scenarios, 355–356 Landscape sustainability, 366, 394 Land use definition of, 48, 331 ecological implications of, 350 and ecosystem process, 394 influence on lakes, 310 and net primary production, 303 presettlement, 318 scenarios, 258 and water flow, 317 and water quality, 311 Land-use change, 389, 394 assessment, 351 biodiversity, 349 climate speeds, 355 coarse-resolution data, 352 design, 355 disturbance-prone landscapes, 354 fine-scale, 352 human populations, 349 land-cover change, 350 land-use conversion, 83 low-density rural housing, 352 models. 366 national parks and protected areas, 354 natural landscapes, 352, 353 rural-to-urban development, 352-354 SES, 351 synthesis, 364 transition, 349, 350 urbanization, 352 in the USA, 108 worldwide, 389

Index

LANDSCAPELargest patch index (LPI), 121
Leaf area index (LAI), 297ECOLOGY INLeptinotarsa decemlineata, 270
Levins model, 236THEORY ANDLife-history, 236, 241, 279
Litter redistribution, 314, 331
Little Ice Age, 37, 40, 216
Local extinction, 12, 56, 234, 236, 239, 283
Loxodonta africana, 171
Lyme disease, 202, 203

M

Macrosystems ecology, 386 Malacosoma disstri, 194 Map boundaries, 87 dimensions, 81, 87 extent, 109-112 Matrix, 3, 8, 12, 77, 119, 121, 178, 232, 236, 239, 245, 246, 254, 256, 257, 261-265, 274, 280, 283, 302, 313, 391 definition of, 3 Mechanistic model, 94 Medeival Warm Period, 37 Meligethes aeneus, 202 Mercury Mesic forests, 247 Mesic landforms, 216 Meta-ecosystem, definition of, 292 METALAND, 111, 139 Metapopulation definition of, 236–237 dynamics, 87, 237, 265, 283, 286 models, 12, 236, 237, 239, 283 Metrics, 8, 9, 30, 77, 83, 87, 90, 97–143, 145-149, 151, 153, 170, 171, 173, 174, 189, 205, 207, 209, 210, 248, 257, 258, 260, 265, 276, 337, 340, 387-389 Metrics of landscape composition, 116 Microbes, 150, 289, 296 Microevolution, 280, 285, 392 Microlandscape, 5, 64, 247 Microstegium vimineum, 278 Migration, 71, 76, 233, 235-238, 283, 347 Milankovitch Cycle, 37 Models abstract, 64 analytical vs. simulation, 93 calibration, 74 cell-based, 104, 126 cellular automata, 237 classification of, 91-94

definition of, 63 deterministic vs. stochastic, 91 disturbance, 93 documentation, 74 dynamic vs. static, 93 ecosystem simulation, 297, 298 empirical, 94 error propagation, 75 extrapolation, 66 FIRE-BGC, 216 FOREST-BGC, 297, 298 forest gap, 81, 184 for future landscape scenarios, 357 individual-based, 242 LANDIS, 73, 215, 216 landscape, 5, 30, 65-70, 110, 111, 114, 122, 133, 134, 194, 261, 276, 360, 388, 395 for land use, 331 metapopulation, 12, 236, 237, 239, 283 nonpoint pollution, 317, 324 parameter estimation, 74, 75 physical, 64 process-based, 94, 376 purposes of, 395 regional scale, 299 riparian buffer, 33, 71, 318, 320, 322, 323 role in landscape ecology, 64 simulation, 25, 60, 69, 92, 93, 217, 231, 233, 297, 298, 324, 327, 363 spatial, 15, 16, 63, 71, 72, 175, 201, 221, 293, 358 spatial, definition of, 358 spatially explicit, 71, 75 steps in building, 68 stochastic, 91 timeline of development, 65 validation, 74 verification, 74 Moran's I, 16, 161 Multiple stable states, 45 Multispectral scanner (MSS), 18 Mytilus californianus, 46 Myzus persicae, 270

Ν

National scenarios, 357–358 Native Americans, 50 land-use practices, 51 Natural experiment, 60 Nature reserves, 351 designing, 265 Nearest-neighbor rule, 78, 81

Index

Neighborhood rule, 79, 81 size, 248, 249 Neotropical, 261, 281 Net primary production (NPP) ANPP, 298–301 GCMs, 297 global and regional variation, 295 LAI, evapotranspiration and photosynthesis, 297, 298 landsat imagery and high-resolution repeat aerial photography, 299 NDVI, 296, 297 precipitation and soil-water holding capacity, 299 satellite remote sensing, 295 simple ratio vegetation index, 297 spatial variability, 302 temporal relationships, 299 vegetation indices, 297 Network analysis component, 128 degree centrality, 128 domain, 128 hub, 128 links, 128 nodes, 128 Neutral landscape models (NLMs), 77 applications, 88 clusters/patches, 78, 79 connectivity and scales, 88 critical threshold, 81, 83 ecology, 76-78 landscape metrics, 83 landscape patterns, 81-84 map dimensions, 87 patch structure, 87 thresholds of connectivity, 88 Nitrate, 305, 306, 308, 317, 320, 322 Nitrification, 303, 306 Nitrogen mineralization, 150, 290, 294, 306, 331 saturation, 212 Nonlinear dynamics, 9, 24, 31, 69, 194, 389 Nonnative species. See Invasive species Nonpoint source pollution, 31 Normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), 296 Northwestern Ontario, Canada, 210 Null hypothesis, 76, 148, 174 Nutrient cycling, 46, 290, 293, 307, 308, 311, 324, 326-328, 332, 382 Nutrient dynamics, models of, 71

0

Olea europaea, 50 Oophaga pumilio, 261 Orchis morio, 72 Organisms animal behavior, 233 biodiversity, 231 biotic community structure composition, 272, 275 environmental variability, 274 local land-use intensity, 272, 273 permanent vegetation plots, 274 conceptual development, space interactions behavioral ecology, 244-246 diffusion model, 234, 235 habitat, 239-244 island biogeography, 235-239 isolated local populations, 234 scales, 245, 247, 249 effects dam-building beaver, 251 ecosystem engineers, 250 foundation species, 251, 252 seagrass, 253 structure/function, 251, 252 forest fragments, 231, 232 habitat loss and fragmentation, 231 habitat selection, 233 heterogeneous environments, 231 landscape genetics adaptive genetic variation, 280 definition, 280 evolutionary processes, 282 GPS telemetry data, 281 landscape resistance hypotheses, 282 neutral genetic variation, 280 putative boundaries, 280, 281 structure and movement pathways, 281 movement rates and trajectories, 233 natural enemies and pollination Colorado potato beetle, 270 green peach aphids, 270 noncrop habitat, 270 pest densities and crop yield, 270, 271 patches arboreal marsupials, 255, 256 characteristics, 254-256 configuration, 258-260 connectivity, 260-262 corridor creation, 262-264 edges and interiors, 253, 254 effects, 254

LANDSCAPE	Organisms (cont.)	254, 257, 258, 262, 265, 266, 27
	landscape context, 257	276, 307, 314
ECOLOGY IN	matrix, 257	Pattern
	occupancy, 254	analysis, 97, 105, 107, 109–111, 132,
THEORY AND	population stability, 257	142, 147, 153, 155, 171
	sizes, 253	multiple scales of, 23, 24
PRACTICE	physiological/behavioral	<i>p</i> _c , 79–81, 85, 87
	state, 232	Percolating cluster, 81
	predator-prey interactions	Percolation theory, 80, 81, 347
	conservation strategies, 268	Percolation threshold, 79, 324
	nonlethal interactions, 268	Perimeter-area ratio, 137
	population dynamics and community	Permafrost, 37, 227, 302
	structure, 266	Peromyscus maniculatus, 266
	probability of prey encounters	Pesticide, 316, 371
	and kills, 266	Phosphorus, 44, 56, 290, 294, 307,
	puma predation, 267	315–318, 320, 322, 323, 328
	risks, 267, 268	Photosynthesis, 94, 296–298,
	trophic cascades, 269	302, 345
	relative abundance and spatial	Phytophthora lateralis, 201
	arrangement, 253	Phytophthora ramorum, 202
	species invasions	Phytosociology, 10-12
	native and nonnative species, 276	Pinus contorta, 6, 197
	offense vs. defense, 279	Pinus edulis, 193
	potential habitat and movement	Pinus strobus, 50
	conduits, 278	Pisaster ochraceous, 46
	predictor and response variables, 279	Pleistocene, 450
	stages of invasion, 276, 277	Pollen analysis, 39, 48, 50, 202, 271
		Population
	Р	colonization, 237
	Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO), 37,	extinction, 237
	38, 40	models, spatially explicit, 237
	Paired-quadrat technique, 207	sink, 237
	Paleoecology, definition of, 35	source, 237
	Panicum virgatum, 369	stability of, 257

Parameter, 59, 67–71, 74, 75, 84, 85, 91, 92, 94, 122–124, 133, 141, 154, 163, 165, 174, 175, 190, 220-223, 236, 347, 381 definition of, 92 Patch defining for analysis, 113 definition of, 3 density, 109, 120, 133 dynamics, 178, 179 edge, 196, 253 heterogeneity, 253 identification, 78, 113 isolation, 122, 246, 257, 270 number, 116, 120, 259 shape, 109, 137, 138, 207, 254, 263, 264 size, 77, 78, 80, 104, 109, 113, 116, 120, 121, 126, 131, 137, 178, 189, 209-211, 213, 217, 220, 248, 253,

Q

QRULE, 111 Quantitative methods, 395, 396 Quasi-steady-state landscape, 220

theory, 12, 236, 238, 283

Populus tremuloides, 146, 194, 327

Predator-prey interactions, 266, 270

Prince George, Columbia, 133-135

Predation, 34, 44, 46, 61, 233, 246, 259,

261, 264, 266-271, 275, 293

Prairie, 2, 37, 178, 216, 345, 352

Predator-prey models, 45

Pseudotsuga menziesi, 252

Pyrrhuloxia cardinalis, 255

Pteropus giganteus, 203

Prunus serotina, 279 Pseudo-replication, 106

Populus spp., 370

274,

Quaternary, 39, 40 Quercus gambelii, 5 Quercus rubra, 50 Quercus spp., 202

R

Random landscape, 76, 160, 161 Random maps, 77-82, 85, 87, 88, 90 Rangifer tarandus caribou, 172–173 Reaction-diffusion models, 45 Refuges, from predators, 13 Regional carbon dynamics carbon pools and fluxes, 304, 305 carbon stocks and fluxes, 304 disturbance and recovery, 302 edge-induced variation, 304 forest primary productivity, 303 forests, 302 high-latitude ecosystems, 302 invasive plants, 305 terrestrial system, 304 thaw and thermokarst development, 302 Regional planning, 6 Regional scenarios development, 360 environmental, economic, and social indicators, 364 landscape patterns, 360, 361 long-term significance, 360 LULC patterns, 364 natural resource management, 362 prospective scenarios approach, 360 quantitative landscape model, 360, 363, 364 spatial models, 358 Remote imagery, 13, 18, 107, 295, 297 Resolution, 17, 19, 20, 28, 30, 49, 67, 70, 82, 101, 104, 106, 109, 122-124, 134, 153, 170, 207, 241, 247, 248, 295, 296, 299, 308, 327, 339, 341, 344, 352, 357, 358, 368 definition of, 18 Resource gradients, 45 northern Wisconsin, USA, 45, 47 Resource management, 9, 15, 29, 180, 200, 336, 362, 378, 382, 397 Resource selection functions (RSF), 241 Respiration, 94, 296, 302 Rhamnus cathartica, 278 Rhinophylla pumilio, 261 Rhizophora spp., 252 Riparian buffer, 71, 318, 320, 322, 323, 333 conceptual model, 322

Riparian forest, 84, 85, 208, 320 Riparian vegetation, 46, 207, 318, 320, 332 Riparian zones, 46, 187, 251, 316, 318, 320, 322, 328, 339, 340, 371 Risk assessment, goals, 75 River-floodplain, 205, 207 Roads, 14, 51, 60, 127, 145, 187, 201, 240, 269, 274, 278, 280–282, 317, 337, 368 Roman empire, 14

S

Sabie River landscape, 207-208 Satellite imagery, 13, 104, 106, 187, 297, 298. See also Remote imagery Savannah River Site, Aiken, 263–264 Scale and abiotic variation, 61 absolute, definition of, 18 cartographic, 19, 30 cartographic, definition of, 185 concepts of, 16 defining for pattern analysis, 110 definition of, 3 extent, 3, 17, 19 and fractal geometry, 85 grain, 17, 19 identifying proper, 248 importance in landscape ecology, 279 landscape pattern and water quality, 316 large and small vs. fine and broad, 192 multiscale analysis, 278, 355 problems, 122 relative, definition of, 18 scale coverage problem, 147 scale standardization problem shift in relative importance of variables with, 31 spatial, 3, 18, 185 terminology, 18 theory of, 20 Scale dependence definition of, 19 scale-dependent threshold, 18 Scaling, 9, 24-27, 29, 84-85, 112, 122-124, 248, 263, 328, 388, 389, 394, 397 Scaling up direct extrapolation, 25 extrapolation by expected value, 25 lumping, 25 use of fractals in, 122 use of models in, 75

Index

LANDSCAPE	Seagrass, 173, 253, 275
	Self-similarity, 124
ECOLOGY IN Semivariogram, 148, 150, 154, 162,	
	164–167, 171, 173, 176
THEORY AND	Sensitivity analysis, 92
	Shell game, 244
PRACTICE	Shifting mosaic steady-state, 219, 220
	Silica, 212
	Simple ratio vegetation index (SR), 297
	Simulation
	definition of, 92
	modeling, 59, 396
	Social-ecological system (SES), 6, 24, 351,
	354, 356, 365, 385, 393, 394
	Social network models, 130
	Soil, water-holding capacity, 297
	Soil carbon, 56, 173, 358
	Soil catena, 41
	Soil organic carbon, 164
	Soil organic matter, 296, 297, 307
	Soil patterns, 125
	Source-sink, 86, 238, 283, 292
	definition of, 237
	Southern Lower Saxony, Germany, 256
	Spatial configuration, 4, 30, 33, 66, 116,
	141, 193, 233, 258, 323, 324, 335
	Spatial heterogeneity, 2, 4, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13,
	15, 30, 31, 43, 75, 88, 97, 125,
	137, 171, 172, 193, 194, 221, 223,
	231–233, 245, 248, 250, 259, 264,
	265, 276, 284–286, 289, 293–295,
	297, 302, 307, 309, 312, 327–331,
	335, 367, 373, 376, 377, 386.
	388–390, 392–394, 396, 397
	heterogeneous landscapes, 289–334
	Spatially explicit model, 71, 75
	Spatial models, 15, 16, 63, 71, 72, 75,
	173, 175, 201, 221, 293, 358
	definition of 15–16
	Spatial statistics
	autocorrelation, 151–152
	indications, 158
	Moran's I. 160, 161
	partial coefficient, 160
	Pearson correlation coefficient,
	158, 160
	valid test conditions, 158
	geostatistics, 145
	grain, 153
	independence, 148–149
	interpolation, 150-151
	interpretation, 154–155
	=

kriging method, 147 landscape ecology hypothesis testing, 174 nutrient pools and flux rates, 173 plant-animal interactions, 173 software resources, 170, 171 optimized sampling designs, 168-170 point pattern analysis description and hypothesis testing, 157 invasive species, 155 K function, 156 nearest-neighbor calculation, 156 scale-dependent changes, 155, 156 simple random processes, 155 spatstat library, 156 quantifying patterns, 146 regionalized variables, 145 software programs, 153 spatial dependence, 151, 152 stationarity, 154 structure, 149 variography confidence intervals, 165 correlograms, 167, 168 co-variograms, 167-168 empirical plots, 166 kriging methods, 165 sampling restrictions, 163 semivariance, 162, 166-167 shapes, 165 sill, range, and nugget, 162, 163 spherical, exponential, and linear models, 163 Species-area curve, 20 Species distributions, 10, 12, 15, 35, 44, 85, 257, 326, 329, 344, 345, 348 Species diversity, 56, 57, 76, 87, 178, 202, 203, 251, 253, 274, 284, 375 Species interactions and biotic communities, 201, 266-227, 266-275, 292-293, 392, 393 Species richness, 20, 57, 236, 250, 251, 253, 254, 256, 258, 264, 270-272, 274, 276-279, 337, 340, 352, 353, 374 Spectral analysis, 26, 173 Spectroscopy, 308 Stability, 13, 46, 139, 186, 202, 218, 223, 257, 265, 272 State variable, definition of, 67 Stationarity, 154, 158, 175, 357 Stationary process, 220 Statistics, multivariate, 59

Index

Storms, 35, 55, 181, 185-187, 207, 241, 318, 383 Streams, 29, 33, 46, 51, 64, 103, 140, 187, 188, 201, 211, 251, 291, 292, 305, 310, 313, 315-318, 320, 322-326, 331, 332, 336, 339-341, 368 Strix occidentalis, 252 Succession, 23, 34, 57, 61, 93, 152, 180, 181, 189, 210-216, 218, 219, 223-225, 228, 229, 251, 303, 333, 387 Successional trajectories, 214, 215 Sustainability, 9, 14, 290, 331, 335, 336, 345, 351, 355, 366-368, 370, 373-380, 382, 388, 393, 394 Synchrony, 196, 197, 312 Systems analysis, 75 Systems ecology, 63, 73, 386

Т

Taxodium distichum, 50 Temperate forest, 306, 383 Terrestrial particulate organic carbon (TPOC), 314 Theoretical ecology, 14 Thermokarst, 302 Threshold definition of, 18 ecological, 59 in habitat abundance, 5, 262 nonlinearities, and rules, 389 threshold of connectivity, 88, 190, 192, 262 Thryothorus ludovicianus, 255 Time-space state space, 16 Tipping element, 193 Tipping point, 193, 391 Tobler's law, 148 Topographic map, 85 Topographic position, 43, 184, 188, 253, 306, 328 and nitrogen dynamics, 306 Topography effect on landscape patterns, 35 effects on vegetation, 49, 93 influences on climate, 34 Trillium ovatum, 266 Trophic cascade, 47, 48, 269, 271 behaviorally mediated, 269 Truncation effect, 78, 80, 81, 87, 110, 153, 156

Truncation error, 110 Tsuga heterophylla, 227 Tsuga manadensis, 252

U

Uncertainty analysis, 388 Upper Midwest, USA, 10, 12 Urban development, 53, 274, 318, 332, 339, 352, 354, 379 Urban dynamics, 302 Urban landscapes, 1, 140, 317, 351, 368, 379 Urbanization, 53 *Ursus americanus*, 281, 315 *Ursus arctos*, 315, 354 *Uvularia grandiflora*, 247

V

Variable definition of, 31, 92 driving, 67, 71, 81, 94, 302 external, 81 output, 74, 81 Vegetation patterns, 4, 10, 17, 39, 43, 47, 108, 150, 172, 173, 317 determinants of, 108, 109 Volcanic eruption. *See* Disturbance

W

Water quality, 139, 308, 311, 315-318, 322-324, 328, 332, 333, 337, 340, 358, 360-362, 368-370, 373, 380, 382 Watershed, 4, 102, 109, 117, 219, 220, 289, 291, 294, 306, 307, 310, 312, 315-318, 320-324, 337, 339-342, 358, 360-362, 368, 371, 373 Wavelets, 152 Wetlands, 1, 2, 46, 84, 103, 116, 131, 251, 291, 304, 308, 310, 312, 313, 317-319, 322, 331, 332, 345, 360 Wetlands, losses of, 319 Wildland urban interface (WUI), 53, 278, 352 Wildlife ecology, 232 Wildlife habitat models, 337 Wisconsin, USA, 274, 275 Wyoming and Montana, USA, 26-27

Х

Xeric landforms, 216

LANDSCAPE	Y	112, 116, 159, 166, 188, 204,
	Yahara Watershed, Wisconsin,	220–221, 243, 244, 250, 255, 269,
ECOLOGY IN	101–102	280, 301, 309
	Yellowstone fires, 159, 180, 199, 204–207,	
THEORY AND	300, 301	Z
PRACTICE	Yellowstone National Park, USA, 4, 8,	Zonotrichia albicollis, 255
	26-27, 46, 48, 57, 99, 108, 110,	Zostera noltii, 253